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‘(Go, little book, God send thee good passage,
Anid gpecially let this be thy prayere

Unto them all thai thee will read or hear,
Where thou art wrong, after their help to call,
Thee to correet in any part or all’



PREFACE.

The chief object of the Handbook for London, like that of
the Editor's other Enropean and Oriental guide-books, is to
enable the traveller so to employ his time, his money, and
his energy, that he may derive the greatest possible amount
of pleasure and ingtruction from his visit to the greatest city
in the modern world.

As several excellent English guide-books to London al-
ready existed , the Editor in 1878 published the first English
edition of the present Handbook with some hesitation, not-
withstanding the encouragement he received from numerous
English and American correspondents, who were alread
familiar with the distincfive characteristics of ‘Baedeker's
Handbooks'. So favourable a reception, however, was accord-
ed to the first edition that the issue of a second became ne-
cessary in little more than aj}]fear, while seven other editions
have sinee been called for. The present yolume embodies the
most recent information, down to the month of July, 1894,
obtained in the courge of personal visite to the places deserib-
od, and from the most trustworthy sources.

In the preparation of the Handhook the Editor has re-
ceived most material assistance from several English and
American friends who are intimate]f acquainted with the
great Metropolis. His grateful acknowledgments are speciall
due to the Rev. RoserT Gwynng, B. A., who has contribute
numerous valuable corrections and interesting historical and
topographical data.

Particular attention has been devoted to the deseription
of the great ﬁuhlic collections, such as the National Gallery,
the British Museum, and the South Kensington Museum, to
all of which the utmost possible space has been allotted. The
aecounts of the pictures in the National Gallery, Buckingham
Palace, Hampton Court, the Dulwich Gallery, and the various

rivate collections, are from the pen of Dr. JEAN PAUL
Ricarer of London.

The Introduetion, which has purposely been made as
comprehensive as possible, is intended to convey all the in-
formation, preliminary, historical, and practical, which is best
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caleulated to make a stranger feel at home in London, and to
familiarise him with its manners and customs. While the de-
seriptive part of the work is topographieally arranged, so that
the reader may see at a glance which of the sights of London
may be viaiteg together, the introductory portion classifies
the principal sights according to their subjects, in order to
present the reader with a eonveniént index to their char-
acter, and to facilitate his selection of those most congenial
to his taste. As, however, it has not been the Editor's pur-

ose to write an exhaustive aceount of so stupendous a eity,
Ent merely to deseribe the most important objects of general
interest eontained in it, he need hardly observe thaf the in-
formation required by specialists of any kind can only be
given to a very limited extent in the present work. The most
noteworthy sights are indicated by asterisks.

The list of Hotels and Restaurants enumerated in the
Handbook comprises the most important establishments and
many of humbler pretension. Those restaurants which the
Editor believes to be most worthy of commendation are denot-
ed by asterisks. The same system, however, has not heen
extended to the hotels, those enumerated in the Handbook
being generally unexeceptionable. The hotels at the West
End and at the principal railyway-stations are the most expen-
sive, while the inns in the less fashionable quarters of the
Metropolis’' generally afford comfortable aceommodation at
moderate charges.

The Maps and Plans, upon which the utmost care has been
bestowed, will also, it is hoped, be found serviceable.
Those relating to London itself (one clue-map, one large plan,
four special plans of the most important quarters of the eity,
and a railway plan) have been specially revised for this
edition, and are placed at the end of the volume in a separate
cover, which may if desired be severed from the Handbhook
altogether, The subdivision of the Plan of the eity into three
sections of different colours will be found greatly to facilitate
reference, as it obviates the necessity of unfolding a large
sheet of paper at each consultation.

The Routes to places of interest in the Environs of London,
although very brief, will probably suffice for the purposes
of an ordinary visit. Some of the longer excursions that
appeared in earlier editions have now been transferred to
Baedeker's Handbook to Great Britein.
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INTRODUCTION.

1. Money. Expenses. Season. Passports. Custom
House. Time.

Money. In England alone of the more important states of Eu-
rope the ecurrency is arranged withont much reference to the
decimal system, Tlhe ordinary English Gold coins are the sovereign
or pound (I = libra) equal to 20 shillings, and the half-sovereign.
The Silver coins are the crown (D shillings), the half-crown, the
double florin (4 shillings; seldom seen), the florin (2 shillings), the
shilling (s. = solidug), and the six-penny and three-penny pieces.
The Bronse coinage consists of the penny (d., Lat. denarins), of
which 12 make a shilling, the halfpenny (1/gd.), and the farthing
{1/gd.). The Guinea, a snm of 21s., though still used in reckoning,
is mo longer in eiroulation as a coin. A sovereign is approximately
equal to b American dollars, 20 franes, 20 German marks, or
L0 Austrian forins (gold). The Bank of England issues notes for
5, 10, 20, 50, and 100 pounds, and upwards. These are useful in
paying large sums; but for ordinary use, as change is not always
readily procured, gold is preferable. The number of each note
should be taken down in a pocket-book, as there is a bare possi-
bility of its being in this way traced and reeovered, if lost or stelen.
Foreign Money does not eirculate in England, and shonld always
be exchanged on arrival. A convenient and safe mode of carrying
money from Ameriea or the Continent is in the shape of letters of
eredit, or ciroular notes, which are readily proeurable at the prin-
eipal banks, A Jarger sum than will suffiee for the day's expenses
should never be carried on the person, and gold and silver sovins of
a similar size (e.g. sovereigns and shillings) should not be kept in
the same pocket.

Expenses. The cost of a visit to London depends, of course, on
the habits and tastes of the traveller. If he lives in a first-class
hotel, dines at the table d'héte, drinks wine, frequents the theatre
and other places of amngement, and drives about in cabs or fiys
instead of msing the economisal train or omnibus, he must be
prepared to spend 30-40s. a day or upwards. Persons of moderate
requirements, however, will have litile difficulty, with the aid of
the information in the Handbook, in living comfortably and zeeing
the prineipal sights of London for 15-20s. a day or even less.

Season. The ‘London SBeason’ is chiefly comprised within the
months of May, June, and July, when Parliament is sitting, the

Barperzr, London. fth Edit, 1
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aristoeracy are at their town residences, the greatest artistes in the
world are performing at the Opera, and the Picture Exhibitions
open. Families who desire to obtain comfortable accommodation
had better be in London to secure it by the end of April; single
travellers can, of course, more easily find lodgings at any time.

Pasgports. These documents are not necessary in England,
though occasionally useful in proeuring delivery of registered and
poste restante letters (comp. p. 53). A visa is quite needless. Ameri-
can travellers, who intend to proceed from London to the Continent,
should provide themselves with passporte before leaving home.
Passports, however, may also be obtained by personal application at
the American Consulate in London (p. 49). Thewisa of the American
ambassador, and that of the minister in London of the country to
which the traveller is about to proceed, are sometimes necessary.

Custom House. Almost the only articles likely to be in the
possession of ordinary travellers on whieh dutyis charged are spirits
and tobaoeo, but a flask of the former and !/slb. of the latter are
allowed for private nuse. Three pounds of tobacco may be passed on
payment of a duty of ds. per pound, and (in the case of cigars) a
slight fine for the contravention of the law forbidding the importa-
tion of cigars in chests of fewer than 10,000. Foreign reprints of
copyright English books are liable to cenflscation, The custom-
honge examination is generally lenient.

Time, Uniformity of time throughont Great Britain is maintained
by telegraphic communieation with Greenwich Observatory (p. 315),

2. Routes to and from London. Arrival.

It may not be ont of place here to furnish a list of the prineipal
oceanio routes between the New World and England, and alse to
indieate how Transatlantic visgitors may eontinuve their European
travels by passing from London to the Continent. An enumeration
of the routes between the Continent of Europe and London may
algo prove serviceable to foreigners coming in the reverse direstion.
It should, however, be borne in mind that the times and fares
mentioned in our list are liable to alteration.

Routes to England from the United States of America and
Canada. The traveller has abundant room for choice in the mat-
ter of his oceanic passage, the steamers of any of the following
companies affording comfortable accommodation and speedy transit.

American or International Line. Every Wed. from New York
to Southampton. Cabin 80-200 dollars; return-ticket (available for
12 months) 180-460 dollars. From Southampton to New York
every Saturday. Fare 12-50L. ; return 22-901. The finest steamers
of this line are the New York and the Paris. A steamer of this
company sails from Philadelphia to Liverpool every Thuraday, and
from Liverpool to Philadelphia every Wednesday. Cabin 10 to 18gs.;
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return-ticket 20 to 30gs.; intermediate 6L London offices, 116
Leadenhall 8t., E. 0., and 8 Cockspur 8t., S.W.

Cunard Line. A steamer of this company starts every Satur-
day and every second Tuesday from New York and every Saturday
from Boston for Queenstown and Liverpool. Cabin fare 60, 80, 100,
or 125 dollars, according to accommodation ; return-ticket (available
for 12 months) 120, 144, 180, or 220 dollars, Steamers from Liver-
poal for New Yark every Saturday and every second Tuesday, for
Boston every Thursday, Fare 12,15, 18, or 21 guineas, or 261.;
return-ticket 25, 30, or 55 guineas, or 451. The Campania and the
Lucania are considered the best Cunarders. London offices at 93
Bishopsgate Street, and 13 Pall Mall.

White Star Line. Steamer every Wednesday from New York to
Queenstown and Liverpool. Cabin 60 to 140 dollars; steerage 20
dollars. From Liverpool to New York every Wednesday. Cabin
12-120¢. , return (available for one year) 24-40%.; second cabin
T7-401. The Majestic and Teutanie are at present the largest vessels
of this line. London office, 34 Leadenhall Street, E.C.

North German Lloyd Line. From New York to Southampton
every Tnesday and Saturday; from BSouthampion to New York
every Wednesday and Sunday. Main saloon from 13L ; after saloon
from 14f. The newest and finest boats of thiz company are the
Havel and the Spres. London offlees, 65 Graceehureh Street, E.C.,
and 32 Cockspur Street, W.C.

Hamburg - American Line. From New York to Southampton
every Thursday. Saloon 1121/5-275 dollars; second cabin 60-T5
dollars. From Southampton to New York on Friday.

Anehor Line. Steamer from New York to (ilasgow every Satur-
day; from Glasgow to New York every Thursday. Saloon from 9ge.,
second cabin from 6f. 10s., steerage 5Hi. or Hl. Hs. The best Anchor
liner is the City of Rome. London address, 18 Leadenhall Street,
E. 0., and 8 Regent Street, S. W.

Altan Line, From Liverpool every Thursday to Halifax and
Portland, and every alternate Tuesday to St. John's, Halifax, and
Baltimore. Saloon 10-18gs.; intérmediate 6ys. London address, 103
Leadenhall Street. Also to New York weekly (Wilson Hill Line).

Guion Line. Weekly steamers between New York and Liver-
pool. Cabin fare 10-26{. London office, b Waterloo Place.

Dominion Line. Weekly steamers from Liverpool to Halifax
and Portland ; fortnightly from and to Bristol. Saloon 10-15gs. ;

intermediate 6gs. London address, 18 Cockspur Street, W.C.

The average duration of the passsge scroas the Atlantic ia 6-10 days.
The best time for erossing is in summer. Passengers should pack cloth-
ing and other necesgaries for the voyage in small boxes or portmanfeaus,
guch ag can lie edasily in the eabin, as all bulky lugpage is stowed away
in the hold. Btate-room trunks should not exceed B ft. in length, 2 ft, in
breadth, and 1Y/s fi. in height. Dress for the voyage should be of & plain
and seryiceable deseription, and it is advisable, even in midsummer, to
be provided with warm eclothing, A deck-chair, which may be purchased

1
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at the dock or on the steamer before sailing (from Ta. upwards), is a luxury
that may almost be called a necessary. It may be lefl in charge of the
Bteamship Co.’s sgents until the relurn-journey, The Ocean Comfori Co.,
repregented on the wharves al Liverpool and New York, lets chairs at
ds. for the voyage, nnd the Infernational Steamship Co. provides the same
comyenience for 25. On going on board, the traveller should apply to the
purser or chief sieward fur seals ail table, as the same seais are retsined
throughout the vovage. It is uenal to pive & fee of 10: (21/y dollars) to
the table-atewnrd and fo the state-room steward, and small gratuities are
also expected by the boot-cleaner, the bath-ateward, ete. The state-room
ateward ghould not be “tipped’ until he has bronght all the passenger’s
small bapgage safely on to the landing-stage or tender.

At Sguthampton the steamerz of the American line (p. 2) enter the
docks, but at Liverpool landing i8 genernlly effectad with the aid of a steam-
tender, to which passengers and luggare are transferred from the Trans-
ntlantic at . The p 4 remain in & large weiting-room until all
ihe bagzage bas been placed in the custom-house shed. Here the owner
will find his property expediticusly by looking for the initial of his sur-
name on the wall. The examination is generally soom over (comp. p.2),
Porters then convey the Iuggage to a cab (8d. for small arlicles, 8d. for a
large trunk). — Bagpage may now be ‘expressed’ from New York to any
city in Hurope. Agents of the Hneglish railway companies, efe., also meet
the ateamers on arrival at Liverpool and underiake to ‘express’ baggnge
on the American gystem to any address given by the traveller,

Frosx Lrverroon To Lonpox, by railway, the iraveller may
proceed by the line of one of four different companies (202-238 M.
aceording to route, in 41/5-8 hrs. ; fares by all trains 29s., 21s. 9d.,
16s. Bd.; no second class by Midland or Great Northern Railways).

The Midland Railway to 8. Pancras rung by Matloek, Derby, and
Bedford. The route of the London and North Western Raflivay (to Euston
Square Biation) goes vid Crewe and Rugby, By the Great Weslern Rail-
way to Paddington we may iravel either vifi Chepter, Birmingham, War-
wick, snd Oxfordy or vii Hereford and Gloucester; or vii Worcester.
Or, lastly., we may take u frain of the Great Northern Railwoay to King's
Crosa Station, passing Grantham and Peterborough (with a fine cathedral).
Should the traveller make up his mind to stay overnight in Liverpool he
will find any of the following hotels comfortable: Nerth Western Hotel,
Limo Btreet Stationy Adelphd, near Central Station:; @Grand, Lime Bireets
Alerandra, Dale Street; Shaffesbury Temperance Hotel, Mount Pleasant.

Frox SovrHAMPTON To LoNnox, by South Western Railway to
Waterloo Station (79 M., in 21/;-3 hrs. ; fares 15s, 6d., 11s., Gs. 64.).
Hotels at Southampton : South Western; Radley's; Royal ; Dolphin,

Frox Prymovurs To LoNpoxn, by Great Western Railway to Pad-
dington Station, or by South Western Railway to Waterloo Station
(247 M., in 53/4-11 hrs, ; fares 46s. 6d., 324, 10d., 158s.8d.), Hotels at
Plymonth : Grand; Duke of Cornwall ; Royal ; Westminster ; Globe.

For fuller details of these routes, see Baedeker's Great Britain.

Routes from England to the Continent. Tha following are the fa-
vourite rontes belween Lomdon and the Continent: —

From Dowver to Calais thrice a day, in 11413/ hr.; cabin 10, fove-
cabin 5. (Railway from London to Dover, or vice verad, in 2:4 hra.; fares
2s. or 18s, 8d., 1bs. or {3s. Bd., B /ed.)

From Folkéstone to Boulogne, twice a day, in 2-3 hrs.s cabin Bs., lore-
cabin Bs. (Baﬂwg from London to Folkestone in 2-4 hrs.; fares same as
to Dover, except 3rd class, which ia Gs.)

From Dower to Ostend, thrice a day, in 8-5 hrsi; cabin Sa Gd., fore-
enbin Bs. Td.

From Lendon to Ostend, twice n weak, in 12hrs. (6 hre. ot sea): Ba. or s,
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From London to Rottardam. twice a week, in 10-18 hrse (12 hrs. at
sea)s 175 or 1k

From Harwich to Hoek van Holland and Rofterdam, daily, in 8- hrs. ;
railway from London to Harwich in 2-3 hra. (fares 13s. 8d., 5s. 11fed)); fare
from London to Rotterdam, 2%s. or 18s.

From London t0 Amaterdam, every Wed. and Sun., fares 28s., 165,

From Zondon to Aniwerp, thriee & week, in 17-20 hrs. (8-!) hra. of
which are on the open sen); 24s. or 1fs,

From Harivich to Antwerp, daily (Sundays axwig:ed), in 12-13 hra.
(train from London to Harwich in 2-3 hrs.); 264, or 1Bs. (from London).

From Harwich to Hamburg, twice weekly (Wed. & Bat.; train from
London in 2-3 hrs.): 225, 6d., 175 6d. (from London 27s. 8d4., 25s. 9d., 20s.).

From London to Bremerhaven, twice a week, in 38-40hra.; 20, or 11.

From London to Hamburg, thrice n week, in 36-40 hra.; 21. De. or 17. 8s.

From Queenborough to Flushing, twice daily, in 8 hra. (0 hra. at sea);
train from London to Queenborongh in 1Y: hr., from Flushing to Amster-
dam in 88 hrs.; through-fare 33s. tid. or 20s. 114,

From Newhaven to Dieppe, twice daily, in 0-8 hre.; l8s, or 11s. Gd.
{Bail from London to Newhaven, or vice versd , in 2-3 hra; fares 13, 9d.
or 11 8d., 10s. 6d. or Ts. 104., and ds 3fad.)

From Sorthampton to Bremerhaven, by North German Lloyd Transat-
lantic steamer (p. J), in 20 hrs., twice weekly; fares 2. 10s. or 11 10s.

From Sowthampton (0 Cuzhaven, by Hamburg-American steamer (p. 3,
in 23 hrs., fares BI. 10s or 2. 10s. :

From Southampton to Cherbourg, thriee & weelk, in 5-0 hra..fares 20s., 1hs.

From Southampton to St. Malo, thrice o week, in 16-18 hrs., faves 28s., 175,

Stenmers nlso sail reguluely from Hull to Norway, Sweden, Demmnark,
efe. s from Grimsdy to Hamburg, Denmark, ete.; from Leith to Norway,
Hamburyg, etc. See the advertisements in Brodshaw’s Railway Guide.

Un the longer voyages (10 hra. and upwarda), or when apecial atfention
haa Lieen required, the steward expects a gratuity of 1s. or more, atcording
to eircumstances. Food and liguors are supplied on board all the gleam-
boats at fixed charges, but the viands sre offen not very inviting.

Arrival. Those who arrive in London by water have sometimes
to land in small boats. The tariff is 6id. for each person, and 3d. for
each trunk. The traveller should take care to seleet one of the
watermen who wear a badge, as they alone are bound by the tariff,

Cabs (see p. 27) are in waiting at most of the railway-stations,
and also at the landing-stages. The stranger had beiter let the
porter at his hotel pay the fare in order to prévent an overcharge.
At the more important stations Privale Omnibuses, holding 6-10
persons, may be procured on previous application to the Railway Co.
(fare 1s. per mile, with a minimum of 3s. or 4s.).

3. Hotels. Boarding Houses. Private Lodgings.

Hotels. Charges for rooms in the London hotels vary acoording
to the situation and the floor. A difference is also made between a
simple Bed Room and a bedroom fitted up like a Sitting Room, with
writing-table, sofa, easy-chairs, etc., a higher charge being, of
oourse, made for the latter. Most of the rooms, even in the smaller
hotels, are comfortably furnished. The continental enstom of loeking
the bedroom door on leaving it is not usual, but visitors should
make their door secure at night, even in the best honses. Private sit-
ting-rooms are generally expensive. The dining-room is called the
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Coffee Roam. In some hotels the day of departure is charged for,
unless the roums are given up by noon.

Breakfast is generally taken in the hotel, the eontinental habit
of breakfagting at a eafé being almost unknown in England. The
meal consists of tea or coffee with meat, fish, and eggs, and is
charged for by tariff. Tea or coffee with bread and butter alone is, of
course, cheaper. A fixed charge per day is also made for attendance,
beyond whish no gratuity need be given. It is, however, usnal to give
the ‘boots’ (i.e. boot-cleaner and errand man) a small fee on leaving,
and the waiter who has specially attended to the traveller also ex-
peets a shilling or two. — In most hotels smoking is prohibited except
in the Smoking Reoms provided for the purpose. — An assortment of
English newspapers is provided at every hotel, but foreign journals
are rarely met with,

The ordinary charges at London hotels ave as follows: — Bed-
room 3-10s., Bitting-room 5-20s., Attendance 1s. 6d., Dreakfast
1-4s., Dinner 2. 6d.-10s. Lights (i.e. candles or gas) are seldom
charged for. Persons who make a prolonged stay at a hotel are recom-
mended to ask for their bills every two or three days to prevent
mistakes, whether accidental or designed.

Numerous ae the London hotels are, it is often difficult to
procure rooms in the Season, and it is therefore advisable to apply
in advance by letter or telegram,

The large Termixvs Horens, which have sprung up of late
years at the different railway-stations. and which belong to eom-
panies, are handsomely fitted up, and have a fixed scale of charges.
Rooms may be obtained in them at rates to suit almost every purse.
They are, however, more suitable for passing travellers, who wish
to catch an early train, than for those making a prolonged stay in
London. The following are the chief station hotels: —

Great Western Hotel, Paddington Station. — FEuston Hotel,
Euston Square Station. — Great Northern Railway Hotel, King's
Oross Station. — Cannon Street Hotel, Cannon Street Station. —
Midtand Grand Hotel, St. Paneras Station, Euston Road, — Great
Eastern Hotel, Liverpool Street Station. — Charing Cross Hotel,
Charing Cross Station. — Grosvenor Hotel, Victoria Station, Pim-
lieo. — Hothorn Viaduet Hotel, Holborn Viaduet Station.

Other extensive hotels belonging to companies are: —

Savoy Hotel, Victoria Embankment (p. 116) and Beaufort Build-
ings, Strand, with restaurant. — Grand Hoptef, Charing Cross, on
the site of Northumberland House (p. 101). — Hétel Métropole,
Northumberland Avenue, elaborately fitted up ; table-d'hite break-
fast 3s. 6d., plain breakfast 2s., lunch 2s.-3s. 6d., table d'héte dinner
(6-8.30) Bs., R.from 3s. Bd., A. 1. 6d. — Hotel Victoria, Northum-
berland Ayenue, in a similar palatial style. — Alerandra Hotel,
16-21 8t. George’s Place, Hyde Park Corner — Langham Hotel, Port-
land Place, a great American resort. — Buckingham Palace Holel,
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Buckingham Palace Gate.— Wesbminster Palace Hotel, Vietoria Street,
Westminster. — Hitel Windsor, Vicioria Street, Westminster. —
Inns of Cowrt Hotel, High Holborn, pgrand entrance from Lineoln's
Inn Fields. — First Avenue Hotel, High Holborn, lighted through-
ont with the electric light (‘pension’ 15-20s, per day).

Some of the first-class hotels at the WesT Exn only receive trav-
ellers when the rooms have been ordered beforehand, or when the
vigitors are Provided with an introduetion.

Claridge’s Hotel, 49-50 Brook Street, Grosvenor Square, long con=
sidered the first hotel in London, and patronised chiefly by royalty,
ambassadors, and the nobility, is very expensive. — Other well-
eondueted hotels of & similar character are the Albemarle, 1 Albe-
marle Street; the York, 9-11 Albemarle Street; Buckland's, 43
Brook Street.

At the W. end of Oxford Street, in Hyde Park Place, near the
Marble Arch (p. 271), is the Hyde Park Hotel.

In or near Piecadilly: — Berkeley Hotel, 77 Piccadilly and 1 Ber-
keley Street. — Bath Hotel, 25 Arlington Street, — In Dover Street
Brown's Hotel (No. 21); Cowan’s Hotel (No. 26); Batt's (No. 41);
Holloway's (Nos. 47, 48). — Sackville Hotel, 28 Sackville Street.

In Jermyn Street, Piccadilly : — British Hotel (No. 82); Water-
loo Hotel (No. 85); Brunswick Hotel (Nos. 52, 03); Cox's Holel
(No. 55); Rawlings's (Nos. 37, 38); Cavendish (No, 81).

Park Hotel, 10 Park Place, St. Jamed’s Street, is a comfortable
family house.

In or near Bond Street: — Long's Hotel, 156 New Bond Street;
Almond’s Hotel , 6 Clifford Street; Burlington, 19 snd 20 Cork
Street; Coburg Hotel, 14 Carlos Place, Grosvenor Square; Thomas's
Hotel, 25 Berkeley Square; Bristol Hotel, Burlington Gardens.

In or near Regent Street: — Hbtel Continental, 1 Regent Street ;
Marshall Thompson’s Hotel, 28 Cavendish Square; Ford's Hotel,
14 Manchester Street, Manchester Square; Limmer's Hotel, 2 George
Street, Hanover Square. — Portland Hotel, 95-99 Great Portland
Street, Portland Place.

In or near Kensington: — Queen's Gate Hotel, 98 Queen’s Gate,
near Hyde Park. — South Kensington Hotel, (usen’s Gate Terrace.
— Cadogan Hotel, 7D Sloane Street, Cadogan Place, near Hyde Park.
— Builey's Hotel. Gloucester Road Station, S.W. — Norris's Hotel,
48-53 Russell Road, Kensington, facing Addison Road Station. —
Royal Palace Hotel, High St., Kensington, new.

All these West End hotels are good in every respect, but their
terms are high: Bedroom 3s, 64.-10s., Breakfast 3-4s., Dinner
5-10s., Aftendance 1s G6d. — Charges for the best rooms are
equally high at the terminus hotels, but the attendance is inferior.

Hotels in the Crry: —

De Keyser's Royal Hotel, Victoria Embankment, Blackfriars,
conducted in the eontinental fashion, is well situated; R. and A.
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Hs. and upwards, B. 2-3a., table d'hote (at 6 p.m.) 4s,, ‘pension’
12-20s, Foreign newspapers provided. — Castle and Faleon, D
Aldersgate Street, near St. Martin's le Grand (General Post Office),
It. & A. 3s. 6d., B, 2., D. 35, 6d. — Manchester Hotel, 136-145
Aldersgate Street and Long Lane. — The Albion, 172 Aldersgate
Street, — City of London, 11 Bishopsgate Street Within, — Metro-
politan Hotel, South Place, Moorgate St., near the Great Eastern
Railway Station, — Seyd’s Hotel, 39 Finsbury Square, R. &B. 4-0s.
— Biicker's Hotel, Ohristopher Street, Finsbury Square.

In SovTEwark and LamMueTri, on the right bank of the Thames :
— Bridge House Hotel, 4 Borough High Street, London Bridge.
— Piggott's Hotel, 166 Weatminster Bridge Road.

In or near FLeeT StrERT: — Anderton’s Hotel, 162 Fleet
Street; Peele's Hotel, 177 Fleet Strect; Salishury Hotel, Salisbury
Square, Fleet Street.

In or near LEroBsTER SQuarE, at the West End, a quarter much
frequented by French visitors : — Hitel de Puris et de ' Burope, Nos.
7 & 9 Leicester Square. — Monte Carlo Hotel, 2 Leicester Street,
Leicester Square. — Challis's Royal Hotel, 59-64 Rupert Street,
Coventry Street. — Wedde's Hotel, 12 Greek Street, Soho Square.

The stranger is cautioned against going to any unrecommended
house near Leicester Square, as there are several houses of doubtinl
reputation in this locality.

Near Covent GArDEN : — Hummums, and Tavistoek Hotel (R.,
B., & A, Ts. 6d.), both in the Piazza, Covent Garden, for gentlemen
only. — Bedford Hotel, also in the Piazza, Covent Garden, com-
fortable. — Covent Garden Hotel, corner of Covent Garden and South-
ampton Street. — Mona Hotel, 13 Henrietta Street, Covent Garden,

In the Srrawp, a favourite neighbourhood for visitors: —

Somerset Hotel (No. 162); Hawrell's Hotel (Nos. 369-370), ad-
joining Exeter Hall. — Golden Cross Hotel, 4% Strand, opposite
the Charing Cross Hotel (p. 6).

The streets leading from the Strand to the Thames contain a
number of gquiet family hotels, which afford comfortable acccom-
modation at a moderate cost. Among these are the following: —
Craven Hotel, 43-46 Oraven Street (R. from 2s. 6., board 10s. 64.);
Adelphi Hotel, 1-4 John Street, Adelphi; Caledonian Hotel, 10
Adelphi Terrace, with a good view of the Thames, — In Surrey
Street: Lay's Hotel (Nos, b, 6, 5, and 9) ; Royal Surrey Hotel (Nos.
14-18); Norfolk (No. 30); Bunyard's Private Hotel (No. 31), —
In Norfolk Street: Slaughter's Private Hoiel (Nos. 16); Bunyard's
Private Hotel (No. 10); Kent's (No, 32); Bond's (No. 30; private).
— In Arundel Sireet: Arundel Hotel (No. 19; R., B., & A, from
Bs., ‘pension’ from Bs. 6d,), pleasantly situated on the Embank-
ment; Temple Hotel (No. 28; frequented by Swedes and Germans).

Near Trarancar Squans: — Morley's Hotel, Trafalgar Square,
pleasantly sitmated, and much frequented by Americans. — The
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Girand Hotel, the Hilel Métropole, and the Hitel Vietoria have been
already mentioned at p. 6. — Previtali’s Hotel, 13-19 Arundell
Street, Haymarket.

In Torrenmam Couvrr Roan: The Horseshoe (No. 264) and the
Bedford Head (No. 235; moderate), two commercial houses, suited
for gentlemen,

In Broomssury, near the British Museum : Burr's Private Hotel,
10 Queen Square (R. 25, 6d., ‘pension’ in winter 6-7s., in summer
85s.); Bedford, 93 Southampton Row.

On the N. side of Houporw, near the Farringdon Street Me-
tropolitan Station, and a few hundred paces from St. Paul's: —
Ridler's (No. 188), Wood's, in Furnival’s Inn (very quiet; good
wine). First Avenue Hotel, see p. 7. — On the Holborn Viaduet,
the Jmperial Hotel, and the Holborn Viaduel Hotel, — A little to
the N. of this point, quietly situated in Charterhouse Square, are
Cocler's Hotel (No. 19) and Brunswick Private Hotel (No. 14).

The following is a small selection of the best-known TemerR-
axce Horers in London: —

West Central Hotel, 97-106 Southampton Row, Russell Square
(R. from 1s. 6d., ‘pension’ Gs. 8d.); Devonshive, 12 Bishopsgate
Without; Armyield’s South Ploce Hotel, South Place, Finsbury (R, &
A. from 2. 9d.); Ling’s, South Street, Finsbury; Waverley, 37
King St., Cheapside, E.C.; Wild's, 30-40 Ludgate Hill ; Tranter's,
7 Béidgewater Square, Barbican, E. 0. (R. from 1¢. 6d., R, & board
3. 6d.).

Boarding Houses. The wvisitor will generally find it more
eeonomical to live in a Boarding House than at a hotel. For a sum
of 30-40s. per week or nupwards he will receive lodging, breakfast,
luncheon, dinner, and tea, taking his meals and sharing the sitting-
rooms with the other guests. This arrangement, however, is more
suitable for persons making a prolonged sojourn in London than for
those who merely intend to devote two or three weeks to seeing the
lions of the English metropolis. To a visitor of the latter class the
long distances between the different sights of London make it expe-
dient that he should not have to return for dinner to a particular
part of the town at a fixed hour. This independence of action is
sgenred, more cheaply than at a hotel, by taking —

Private Apartments, which may be hired by the week in any
part of London. Notices of *Apartments', or ‘Furnished Apartments’,
are generally placed in the windows of houses where there are rooms
to be let in this manner, but it is safer to apply to the nearest
house-agent. Rooms in the house of a respeetable private family
may often be obtained by advertisement or otherwise, and are gener-
rally much more comfortable than the professed lodging-houses.
The dearest apartments, a8 well as the dearest hotels, are at the
West End, where the charges vary from 20 to 150, a week. The best
are in the streets leading from Piceadilly — Dover Street, Half
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Moon Street, Clarges Street, Duke Street, and Sackville Street, —
and in those leading out of St. James's Street, such as Jermyn Street,
Bury Street, and King Street. Good, but less expensive lodgings
may also be obtained in the less central parts of the West End, and
in the streets diverging from Oxford Street and the Strand. In
Bloomsbury (near the British Museum) the average charge for one
room is 16-21s. per week, and breakfast is provided for 1s. a
day. Fire and light are usnally extrag, sometimes also boot-cleaning
and washing of bed-linen. Tt is advisable to have a clear under-
standing on all these points. Still cheaper apartments, varying in
rent aceording to the amenity of their situation and their distance
from the centres of business and pleasure, may be obtained in the
suburbs. The traveller who desires to be very moderate in his ex-
penditure may even procute a2 bedroom and the use of a breakfast-
parlour for 104, a week, The preparation of plain meals i8 generally
understood to be included in the charge for lodgings, but the gight-
seer will probably require nothing but breakfast and tea in his
rooms, taking luncheon and dinner at one of the pastrycooks’ shops,
oyster-rooms, or restaurants with which London abounds.

Though attendance is generally included in the weekly charge
for board and lodging, the servants expect a small weekly gra-

tuity, proportionate to the frouble given them,

Money and valuables ghould be securely locked wp in the visitor's
own trunk, as the drawers and presses of holels and boardinf—huulsa are
frequently by no means inviolable re:n‘glac!eﬂ. Large sumg of money and
ohjects of great value, however, bad hetter be enirusted to the keeping
of the landiord of the house, if & person of known respectability, or to
a banker in exchange for a receipt. 1t is bardly necessary to point out
that it would be unwise to make such a deposit with the landlord of pri-
vat:d :&uhmln or boarding-houses, which have not been specially recom-
me

4, Restaurants, Dining Rooms. Oyster Shops,
Confectioners.

English cookery, which is as inordinately praiged by some epi-
cuires and bons vivants as it is abused by others, has at least the
merit of simplieity, so that the quality of the food one is eating
is not so apt to be disguised as it is on the Continent, Meat and
fish of every kind are generally excellent in quality at all the better
restaurants, but the visitor accustomed to continental fare may
digcern a falling off in the soups, vegetables, and sweet dishes,

At the first-claga restanrants the cuigine is generally French ;
the charges are high,but everything is sure to be good of its kind.
At the smaller restaurants it is neunal to find ount from the waiter
what dishes are to be had, and to order accordingly.

The dinner hour st the best restaurants is 4-8 p. m., after which
some of them are closed, Alless pretentious establishments dinner ‘from

the joint' i2 obtsinable from 12 or 1 to 6 or 8 p.m. Beer, on dranght
or in botile, is supplied at almost all the restsuranis, and Is the baverage
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most frequently drunk. The Grill Rooms are devoted to chops, steaks,
and other dishes cooked on a gridiron. MDinner from the Joint is a plain
meal of meat, pototoes, vegetables, and cheese, At many of the following
resthurants, particularly those in the Ci ty, there are luncheon-bars, where
from 11 to 3 a chop or small plate of hot meat with bread and vegetahles
may be obtained for 6-84. Customers usually take these ‘snacks’ standing
at the bar. In dining @ fa carfe ot any of the foreign restanrants one
portion will often be found sufficient for two persons.

Good wine in England is expensive. Claret (Bordesux)is most frequent-
1y drunk, but Pori, Sherry, and Hock (s corruption of Hochheimer, used
a8 a generie term for Rhenish wines) may also be obtained at most of
the restaurants, Sume of the Ifalian restaurants hove good Italian wines.

The traveller’s thirst can at all times be conveniently guenched nt n
Public House, where a glass of bitter beer, ale, stout, or ‘half-and-half’
(f. & ale or beer, and stout or porter, mixed) is to be hed for 1'/2-2d.
(Bd. or 8d. per quart). Good German Lager Dier (3-8d. per glass) is now very
generally obtainable at the larger reglaurants, in some of which if has
almost entirely supplanted the heavier English ales. Wine (not recom-
mended) may also be obiained. Genuine Munich Beer from the cask may
be obtained at the Gambrinus Restaurants, 3 Glasshouse Street, Piccadilly
Cireus, and 18 Basinghall Street, City; also German sausages, smoked eel,
and similar ‘whets’. English-made Lager-beer ia supplied in an establish-
ment in the basement of the Café Monico, Piccadilly Cireus, Otted up in the
‘old German' style, and in the Toftenham Lager Beer Hall, 390 Strand.
Many of the more important streets also contain Wine-stores or ‘Bodegas’,
whers a good plass of wine may be obtained for 26d., a pint of Hoek
or Claret for 8d.-1a. 6d., and so on, and a few taverns (such as Shorf's, 333
8trand) have ncquired o special reputation for their wines.

BReataurants at the West End.
In and near the STraxn: —
Adelphi Restaurant (Gatti), at the Adelphi Theatre, 410 Strand.
#Simpson's Dining Rooms, in the busiest part of the Strand (Nos,
101-103); ladies’ room upstaire; dinner @ Lo earte.
Imperial Café-Restaurant (Gatti § Bodesano), 166 Strand.
*Gaiety Restaurant (Spiers & Pond), at the Gaiety Theatre, 343
and 344 Strand; table d’hote from 5,30 till 8p.m., 3s. 6.
Tivoli Grand Restaurant, 60 Strand, adjoining the Tivoli Music
Hall (German beer).
The Courts Restaurant, 222 Strand, opposite the Law Courts.
Romano's Café-Restaurant, 399 Strand (French).
*Gatti's Restaurant and Café, 436 Strand, with another entrance
in Adelaide Streat, and a third in King Willlam Street.
*Grand Hotel, Charing Oross (see p. 6) ; table d’hote at 6 p.m. Ds.;
also buffet and grill-room. — Ship Restaurant, 40 Oharing Cross.
Oid D Tavern, 60 Catherine Street, near Drury Lane
Theatre [p%}
The Albion, 26 Russell Street, opposite Drury Lane Theatrs, fre-
quented by actors and authors (not by ladies); dinner from the joint.

In and near LRICESTER SQUARB: —

Hitel de Paris, T & 9 Leicester Square.

The Cavour, 20 Leicester Bquare, hotel and eafd, French cuisine
and atfendance; table d'hite from 6 to 9, 3s.
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*Rettner's Restourant du Pavillon, French house, 28-31 Church
Street, Soho (somewhat expensive).
Wedde, 12 Greek Street, Soho; Hitel d'Italie, 52 0ld Compton
St., Sohio, Ttalian houses (table d™héte 2s. 6d.).
Hijtel de Solferino, T & 8 Rupert Street; Hitel de Florence, HT
Rupert Street, Ttalian honse (table d’hite 3., lunch 1s. 6d.).
There are many cheap and good foreign restaurants in Soho.

Near Paru Mart: — Epitauz, 9 Haymarket. — Willis’s, King
Street, St. James's.

In Preeaniuny, REeexT STREET, and the vieinity : —

The Criterion (Spiers and Fond), Regent Cirous, Piceadilly, spa-
cious, sumptnously fitted up, and adorned with tasteful decorative
paintings by eminent artists; theatre, see p. 41, — Table d'hite
from 5. 30 to 8 p.m. 3s. 6d., attendance 3d., accompanied by glees
and songs performed by a choir of men and boys; dinner from the
joint 2s. 6d. Grill-room, café and American bar, eto.

Piceadilly Restaurant, in the building of the Payilion Music Hall.

*Monieo's, 19 8haftesbury Avenue, handsomely fitted up, with re-
staurant, grill-room, café, luncheon bar, and concert room (see p. 40).

Hitel Previtali, 14-18 Arundell Street (p- 9), with table d'hite.

Berketey Hotel, TT Piccadilly.

*Bellamy’s Dining Rooms, 2 Piccadilly Place, Piccadilly, op-
posite St. James's Church, moderate.

*The Burlington (Blanchard's), 169 Regent Street, corner of
New Burlington Street; dinners on first and second floors, ground-
floor reserved for luncheons, Ladies' rooms. Dinners at b, Ts. Gd.,
and 10s. 6d. ; also & la carte.

Formaggia, 109 Regent Street.

*8t. James's Hall Restaurant, 69-T1 Regent Street, and 20, 26,
and 28 Piecadilly, Ladies' rooms and grill-room. Congert dinner,
with lady orchestra, ds. 6.

*Kiihn, 21 Hanover Street, café downstairs, restanrant upstairs,
expensive.

*Verrey, 229 Regent Street, French cuisine, somewhat high
charges (bouillabaisse to order).

*Grand Café Royal, 63 Regent Street; French dinner bs,

The table d'hite at the Hitel Continental, 1 Regent Street, is
good but high-priced (7s. 6d.); déjeuner from 12 to 3 p.m. 4s.

#*Blanchard’s Restaurant, 1-7 Beak Street, Regent Street (ladies
not after bp.m.); dinner 3s. 6d. ; @ la earte, dearer. Good wines.

Waymont's Parisian Restaurant, 185 Regent Strest.

In and near Oxrorp Sreuer and HoLsorx: —

*The Pamphilon, 17 Argyll Street, Oxford Street, near Regent
Cirens, with ladies’ rooms; unpretending, moderate charges.

Pagani, 48 Great Portland Street.

Circus Restaurant, 213 New Oxford Strest, near Regent Cirens ;
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Star and Guarter (Pecorini), 98 New Oxford Street. — Bussard
(pastry-cook), 197 Oxford Street (recommended for ladies).

*Frascati, 32 Oxford Street, a large and handsome establishment
with winter garden, café, and numerous billiard-tables.

Dorothy Restaurant (for ladies only), 448 Oxford Street.

The Radnor, T3 Chancery Lane and 311-312 High Holborn.

The Horseshoe, 2064-267 Tottenham Court Road, not far from
the British Musenum, luncheon-bar, grill-room, and dining-rooms ;
table d'hite 5.30 to 8.30 p.m., 2s. bd.

Inns of Court Restaurant, in Lincoln’s Inn Fields, N. side.

*The Holbiorn Restaurant, 218 High Holborn, an extensive and
olaborately adorned establishment, with grill-room, Iuncheon
buffets, ete.; table d'hite at separate tables in the Grand Salon
from 5.30 to 9 p.m., with musie, 3s. 6d.

#Gray's Inn Tavern, 19 High Holborn, near Chancery Lane.

Spiers and Pond's Bujffet, Holborn Viaduet Station.

Table d'hite at the First Avenue Hotel (p. T) from 5.30 to
B.80 p.m., Ds; also restaurant, grill-room, and luncheon-buffet.

#Veglio, 314 Euston Road, near the end of Tottenham Court
Road (moderate).

In the City.

In FuesT STREBT: —

The Cock, 22 Fleet Street (echops, steaks, kidneys; good stout];
with the fittings of the famouns Old Cock Tavern, pulled down
in 1886,

*The Rainbow, 15 Fleet Street (good wines); dinner (rom the
joint, chops, steaks, ete.

Old Cheshire Cheese, 16 Wine Office Court, Fleet Street (steak
and chop house; beefsteak puddings on Saturdays). Here is pre-
served Dr, Johnson's chair.

Near St. Pavi's: — Spiers and Pond's Restaurant, Ludgate
Hill Station,

Salutation Tavern, 17 Newgate Street (fish).

Girand Restaurant de Paris, T4 Ludgate Hill, table d’hfte from
D to 9, with 1/5 bottle of claret, 3s. 6d.

Near the BANk: —

The Palmerston, 34 O1d Broad Street. — *Auction-Mart (Spiers
& Pond), Tokenhouse Yard, Lothbury,— Charley's Fish Shop ( snacks
of fish), 20 Coleman St,

In Cheapside: — Lake and Turner (No. 49) and Eead's (No. 94},
good houses, with moderate charges; Cyprus Restaurant (Nos. 1 and
‘?.%, a temperance house; (ucen Anne (No. 27); Sweeting’s (No.
158 tish).

In Gresham Street: — New Gresham Dining-Rooms (No. 58);
The Castle (No, 40); Guildhall Tavern (Nos. 81-83).

City Restaurant, 34 Milk Stroet (table d'hite 12-3, 1 3d.).
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In the Poultry: — *Pimm’s (Nos. 3, 4, ).

In Bucklershury, near the Mansion House : *Reichert's ( Bargen’s;
No. 4); Ye Greshamn (No. 21), moderate.

Spiers and Pond's Buffet, Mansion House (Metropolitan) Station.

The Bay Tree, 33 8t. Swithin'’s Lane. — Windmill, 161 Cannon
Strest.

In Gracechurch Street: The Grasshopper (No. 13); Half Moon
(No. 88); Woolpack (No. 4, and 6 St. Peter’s Alley).

*London Tavern, formerly King's Head, 53 Fenchurch Street.
Queen Elizabeth here took her firat meal after her liberation from
the Tower.

*Crosby Hall (p. 107), Bishopsgate Street (waitresses). These
last two are very handsomely fitted up and contain smoking and
chess rooms.

Ye Olde Four Swans, 82 Bishopsgate Street Within,

Three Nuna, adjoining Aldgate Metropolitan Stafion.

Ship and Turtle, 129 Leadenhall Street, noted for its turtle; The
Tip Tree, Leadenhall St.

Bargen, 38 and 43 Coleman Street.

Herrmann & Birkenfeld, 41 and 42 London Wall,

In or near Cornhill: — Bireh’s (Ring & Brymer), 15 Cornhill,
the principal purveyors to eivie feasts; Buaker's, 1 Change Alley,
Cornhill, Thomas's, and Simpsons’s, both in Maidenhead Court,
Aldersgate Street, are three well-known Chop-houses in the City.

White Hart Inn, 63 Borough High Street, Southwark, described
by Dickens in ‘Pickwick’,

Waiters in restaurants expect a gratuity of about 1d. for every
shilling of the bill, but Od. per person is the most that need ever
be given. If a charge is made in the bill for attendance the visitor
is ot bound to give anything additional, though even in this case
it is customary to give the waiter a trifle for himself.

Among the chief VEeETaRTAN RESTAURANTS in London are the
Orange Grove, St. Martin's Lane, W.C.; Wheaisheaf, 13 Rathbone
Place, Oxford Street; Queen Victoria, 303 Strand; Bowverie, 63
Fleet Street; Forster & Hasell, 8 (ueen St., Cheapside; Apple-
Tree, Cheapside,

Oyster Bhops.

*Seatt (Edwin), 18 Coventry Street, exactly opposite the Hay-
market (also steaks); Blue Posts, 14 Rupert Street (American special-
ties, clams, etc.; also grill); these two in the evening for gentlemen
only; *Rule, 36 Maiden Lane, Covent Garden; Smith, 357 Strand ;
Pimm, 3 Poultry, Oity; Lynn, 70 Fleet Street, City; *Lightfoot, 3 Ar-
thur Street East, 22 Lime Street, 39 01d Change, all threein the City.

The charge for a dozen oveters is usually from 2s. to ds.8d., accord-
ing to the season and the rank of the house. Small lohster 15 6d.5
larger lobster 2¢. 6d. and upwards. Bnacks of fish 2-6d. Oysters, like

pork, ara out of senson in the month that have mo R in their name, i. e
those of summer,
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Confectioners.

Petrsywalski, 62 Regent Street, good Vienna pastry and ices;
Charbonnel § Walker, 173 New Bond Street; Bonthron, 106 Regent
Street; Dueclos, 178, Blatehley, 167, Busszard, 197, all in Oxford
Street ; Fuller, 206 Regent Street, 358 Strand, and 131 Queen’s Road,
Bayswater (American confectionery); Beadell, 8 Vere Street; Gun-
ter § Co., T Berkeley Square, good ices; Wolff, 7 Newgate Street.

5. Cafés. Billiard Rooms. Chess.
At the West End.

Simpson's Cigar Divan, 101-103 Strand, second floor, cafd for
gentlemen, containing a large selection of English and foreign
newspapers (see p. 16), and a favourite resort of lovers of chess
(admission Bd., or, including cigar and cup of coffee, 1s.). Gatii's
Café, 436 Strand, good ices (also a restaurant, p. 11); Carlo
Gatti, Villiers Street, Strand ; Grand Café Royal, 68 Regent Street
(restaurant, p. 12); *Kithn, 21 Hanover Street, Regent Street (re-
staurant, p. 12); Verrey, corner of Regent Street and Hanover
Street, noted for ices (restaurant, p. 12); R. Gunter, 23 Motcomb
Street and 15 Lowndes Sixeet, Belgrave Square; Gentlemen'’s Café,
Criterion (p. 12); Monico, 19 Shaftesbury Ave-nue (p. 12); Fras-
cati, 82 Oxford St. (restaurant, p. 13); ®*Vienna Café, corner of
Oxford Street and Hart Street, near the British Museum.

In the City.

Peele’s, 177 Fleet Street; Brown, 18 Ludgate Hill; Café de
Paris, Lndgate Hill; Holt, 63 St. Paul's Ohurchyard; Stephen,
51 Cheapside. The shops of Yz Mecca Company, in the City, are
much frequented in the afternoon for coffee.

The People’s Café Company , the Coffee Paluce Company, Lock-
hart's Coecon Rooms, and others of a similar kind, have established
a large number of cheap cafés in all parts of London. Many of
these contain first-class rooms (at inereased charges) and rooms for
ladies, The shops of the Aérated Bread Company and the Golden
Grain Company are also much frequented for tea, coffce, ete.

Bruuiarp Rooms,

‘Horseshoe', 264-267 Tottenham Court Road ; Fraseati, see above;
Roberts, 99 Regent Street; Stradwick, 182 Fleet Street; Carlo Gatti,
Villiers Street; Veglio, Euston Road ; Monico, 15 Tichborne Street;
Yardley ( Ketile), 6-10 Burleigh Street, Strand ; Princes’ Hull, Piceca-
dilly (p. 46). The usual charge is 1s. per hour (1s. 6d. by gas-light),
or 6d. per game of fifty.

Onxass,

Simpson’s Divan, 101 Strand (see sbove) and Gatti's Cafi, 436

Strand (see above) are favourite resorts of chess-players; thongh the
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game is also played in many other cafés, London contains numerous
first-clags chess-clubs, the chief being the City of London Chess Club,
92 King Street, Cheapside; the British Chess Club, 87 King Street,
Covent Garden; and the St George’s, 63 St. James's Street.

6. Reading Rooms.

Cireulating Libraries. Newspapers.

Reading Rooms. Besides Simpson’s Cigar Divan (p. 1B),
the following reading-rooms, most of which are supplied with
English and foreign newspapers, may be mentioned: American
Traveller Office, 4 Langham Place, Regent Street; Gillig's United
States Erchange, 9 Strand, also with American newspapers (4.
per week, Bs. per month, or 3i. per annum); American Register
Office, 446 Strand; Colonial Institute, Northumberland Avenue
(subs. 1-2 guineas per annum; comp. p. 74); Guildhall Free Li-
bravy; English and Foreign, 39 Lombard Street; Temple News
Roomes (adm. 1d.), 172 Fleet Street; Central News Ageney, b New
Bridge Street, Ludgate Cirons (adm. 2d.); City News Rooms, Lud-
gate Circus Buildings; City Central News Rooms, 1 Philpot Lane,
Fenchuroh Street, I, O. (adm. 1d.); Commissioners of Patents Li-
brary, 20 Southampton Buildings, Chancery Lane; Deacon's, 154
Leadenhall Street; Street's Oolonial § General Newspaper Offices,
30 Cornhill and b Serle Street, Lincoln’s Inn; Brown, Gould & Co.,
54 New Oxford Street (adm. 2d.).

Free Libraries. The various free publiv libraries, opened in differsnt
parts of London, most of which have a newspaper-room, are also, of conrae,
open to vigitors. Among these are Si. Martin's Free h'bmr'r,'ét. Martin's
Line; 8¢ Paneras Free Library, 20 Camden St.g; West ter Free Library}
Clarkenwell Fres Libravy; Peckham Free Lidrary, ete.

Circulating Libraries. Mudie's Select Library (Limited), 30-
34 New Oxford Street, a gigantic establishment pogsessing hundreds
of thousands of volumes (minimum quarterly subsoription, Ts.);
branches at 241 Brompton Road and 48 (Jueen Vietoria Street, E.C.;
W. H. S8mith § Son, 183 Strand, branch at 1 Arundel 8t., W.C.;
London Library, 14 8t. James's Square, with nearly 100,000 vols.
{annual subs. 5L, introduction by a member necessary); Rolandi,
20 Berners Strest, Oxford Street, for foreign books (monthly subs,
4s. 6d., yearly 2. 2s.): Cawthorne, Cockspur St.; Mitchell's Royal
Library Limited, 33 Old Bond St., b Leadenhall 8t., and 7 Palmer-
ston Buildings, Old Broad 8St., E.C.; Grosvenor Gallery Library,
187 New Bond 8¢.; Haas & Nutt, Great Portland St. !

Among the principal public libraries in London are the following.
British Museum Library, see p. 268; Sien College Libvary, on the Thames
Embankment, 66,000 vols,, the most valuable theological library in London,
containing portraits of Land and other bishops; Dr. Williams® Library,
University Hall, Gordon Bquare, with 40,000 vals., containing a large c¢ol-
lection of Puritsn theology and fine portraits of Baxter and other divines;
London Institution Library, Finshury Cireus, with 100,000 vols.; Lambeth
Palace Library, p. 310; Allan Library, Wesleyan Conference Office, 2 Castle
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8t., Finshury, with & fine collection of Bibles and theological works
(p. 100); Guitdhail Lidvary, p. 1025 Patmt Office Litrary, 110,000 vols., 25
g:mthnmpmn Buildings, Changeary Lame, especially rich in sclentific jour-
naly and transactions of learned societies.

Newspapers. Nearly 500 newspapers are published in London
and its environs, The principal morning papera are the Times
(3d.), in political n]l)i.nion nominally independent of party (print-
ing-offlee, see p. 118); then the Daily News (1d.; a leading
Liberal journal), Daily Telegraph (1d.), Standard (1d.; a strong
Conservative organ), Morning Post (1d.; organ of the eourt and
aristocraey) , Morning Advertiser (3d.; the organ of the licensed
victuallers), and Daily Chronicle (1d.; Radical). The Daily Grio-
phie (1d.) is illusirated. The leading evening papers are the Pail
Mall Gasette (14.), the St. James's Gasetie (1d.), the Westminster
Gasette (1d.), Evening Standard (1d.), Globe(1d.; the oldest even-
ing paper, dating from 1803), Star (1/3d.), Sun (1/sd.), Evening
News & Post (Vfod.), and Eeho (Yjod). All of these are sold at the
principal railway - stations, at newamen’s shops, and in the streeta
by newsboys, The oldest paper in the country ia the Londsn
Gazette, the organ of the Government, established in 1642 and
published twice weekly, The City Press contains eity and antiqua-
rian notices. Among the favourite weekly journals are the comie pa-
per Punch (3d.); the illustrated papers, IHiustrated London News,
Graphic, Black and White, Lady's Pictovial, Sporting and Dramatic
News, and Queen (for ladies); and the superior literary jonrnals
and reviews, Athenaeum, Aecademy, Spectator, Speaker, and Satur-
day Review. The We:k;y Dispateh, the Observer (4d.), Lloyd’s,
Reynolds’, the Sunday Times, the Weelkly Sun, and the Referee (a
sporting and theatrical organ) are Sunday papers.

The Field Sweek]y; Bd.) iz the prinecipal journal of fleld-gports and
other subjecls intoresting to the ‘country gentleman’; ‘and next is Land
and Waler, also weekly. The Sporfsman and the Spoerting Times are
the chief organs of the racing publie, snd the Era of the theatrical world,

Seience snd Art Jourpals: Jouwrnal of the Society of Aris, Popular
Seience Review, Nature, Scientific News, Knowledge, The Elecirician, Science
and Al Seientific and Mma? Roviewo, Chemical News, organ of the Inven-
tors' Institute. — Journals and Transactions of the Geological, Astronom-
ical, and other learned spciaties.

Com 1 and Professional Journals (weekly): The Feonomist (8d.)
the leading eom ial nnd f ial anthority s Agriculfural Gacette; B_om-ci
of Trade Journal; Farmer; Mark Lane Express, mainly relied upon for
market pricesy Engineer, Engineering, for meechanics, snrveyors, and con-
tractorsy Budlder, devoted th building, designs, sanifation, and domestic
comfort; Adrelitect; Colliery Guardian; Mining Jowrnel; Gardensrs' Chyo-
nicle; Bulliondst; Investors’ Guardian; Metropolitan, devoted to London
local government; Railway Neps: Money Market Reviete,

The Angle-American Times (24 Basinghall Street: 4d,) is a weekly Ame-
rican paper, published in London. The following are the London officas
of a few leading American papers: — New Fork Hergld (London edition),
&3 Cornhilly New York Tribune, 26 Bedford Btreet, W. C.y New York Asso-
ciafed Press and Western Associmbed Press, Bi. Stephen’s Chambers, Tele-
graph 8t., E. O, ; dmerican Press Association, 34 Throgmorton Street, E, C.
and 168 Tleet Strest; Boston Daily Herald, A6 Strand; Toronto Mail, 448
Strand; Toronto Globe, 80 Fleet Street.

Bagoekeg, London, $th Edit, 2
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7. Baths.
{Those markad } are or include Turkish baths.)

Hot and cold bathe of various kinds may be obtained at the baths
mentioned below at charges varying from Gd. upwards, The ugual
charge for a Turkish bath is 2s. 6d. ; some establishments haye re-
duced charges in the evening, The Public Bathe, which are plainly
but eomfortably fitted up, were instituted chiefly for the working
classes, who can obtain cold baths here for as low a price as 1d.,
from which the charges rise to 6d. or 84. Most of these establish-
ments include swimming baths, Many of the private baths have

most slegant appointments,
Albany Baths, B3 York Road, Westminster Bridge Road.
+ Argyll Baths, 10a Argyll Pla.ce] Regent Street, and b New Broad Street,
+ Beil's Baths, 24 & 28 Basinghall Street, ¥.0.
. Bloomabury and 8t Gilz Beths (public);, with swimming bath, Endell
reet,
4 Charing COross Baths, Northumberland Avenue. For ladies, in North-
umberland Passage, Oraven Street.

Cheleea Swimming Bathg, 171 King's Road, Chelsea.

ity of London Baths, 100-108 Golden Lane,

Crown Sifmming Baths, Kennington Ovalj; fid.

4 EarlPs Court Baths, Earl's Court,
4+ Edgware Road Turkish Baths, 16 Harrow Road.

Faullner's Baths, 26 Villiers §trasl, ‘bé Charing Crogs Stations 450 New-
gate Street, E.0.; 13 Pilgrim Street, . C,, cloge to Ludgate Hill Station ;
at Fenchurch Stragt Stution. These establishments;, with lavatories, hair-
cutting rooms, ete., are convenient for travellers arviving by railway.

+ Fords, 48‘,’-3 Knuainﬂnn High Street.

Galpano-Rlectric Bathe, 65 Marylebone Road,
4 Grosvenor Turkish Baths, 119 Buckinghsm Palace Rond.
+ Haley's, 182 and 184 Enston Road.

Hampstead Baths (public), 179 Finchley Road, N.W.

% King's: Oross Turkish Baths, 9 Caledonian Boad, King's Cross.

Lombeth Baths (public), 166 Westminster Bridea Road.

4 Londen and Provincial Turkish Baths (*The Hammam'), 76 Jermyn Street.
3 alfm'opolﬁan Baths, with swimming bath, 89 Shepherdess Walk, City

oad,

Old Roman Bath (adjoining bath, see p. 144), b Strand Lane (famous
for the coldness of its water).

Paddington Baths (public), Queen’s Rond, Bayswater.

Royal York Baths, 51 York Terrace, Regent's Park.

St. George’s Baths (public), 8 Davies Street, Berkeley Square, and 8§
PBuckingham Palaca Road.

8t James's Baths (publie), 15-18 Marshiall Street, Golden Square.

St Martin's Baths (public), Urunfa Street, Leicester Square.

8t Maryicbone Baths (publie), 181 Marylebone Road.

8¢, Pancras Baths (public), TUA King Street, Camden Town.

+ Savoy Turkish Baths, Savoy Street, Strand.

4+ Terminus Turkish Baths, 19 Railway Approach, London Bridge.

+ Turkish Baths, 23 Laicesier Squares.
Weniock Baths, with swimming bath, 20 Wenlock Road, City Road.
Westminster Baths (public), 34 Great Smith Street, Westminster,
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8. Shops, Bazaars, and Markets.
The Co-operative Bystem.

Shops abound everywhere. In the business-quarters usually
visited by strangers, it is rare to see a house without shops on the
ground-floor. Prices are almost invariably fixed, so that bargaining
is unnecesgary. Some of the most attractive shops are in Regent
Street, Oxford Street, Piccadilly, Bond Street, the Strand, Fleet
Strees, Uheapside, St. Paul's Churchyard, and Ludgate Hill.

The following is a brief list of some of the best (and, in many
cases, the dearest) shops in London; it is, however, to be observed
that other excellent shops abound in all parts of London, in many
¢ases 1o whit inferior to those here mentioned. Begides shops eon-
taining the articles usnally purchased by travellers for their personal
use; or as presents, we mention a few of the large depots of famous
English manufactures, such as cutlery, pottery, and water-colours.

Armisrs' (onovnMEN : — Ackermann, 191 Regent Street (water-
eolours); Netwman, 24 Soho Square; Rowney & Co., 64 Oxford
Street and 190 Piecadilly ; Winsor & Newton, 37 Rathbone Place.

BooxsinnErs : — Bedford, Y Great Newport Street, W.C. ; Kelly,
T Water Street, Strand ; Riviére, 15 Heddon Street, Regent Streat;
Zuehnsdorf, Shaftesbury Avenue, Cambridge Cireus; Burn § Co.,
36 Kirby 8t.; Bookbinders’ Co-operative Society, 17 Bury Street,
Bloomsbury.

Booxssrrmns : — Hutehards, 187 Picendilly ; Bumpus, 300 Ox-
ford Street; Butterworth § Co. (law books), T Fleet Street; Stevens
(law books), 119 Chancery Lane; Harrison & Sons, 59 Pall Mall;
Griffith ¢ Farran, Newhery House, Charing Cross Road ; Stott, 370
Oxford Street; Stanford, 26 Cockspur Street, Charing Cross (maps,

. ete.); Bain, 1 Haymarket; Bickers & Son, 1 Leicester Square; Gil-
bert & Field, 67 Moorgate Street; Stoneham, 79 & 120 Cheapside,
44 Lombard Street, 129 Fenchureh Street, 39 Walbrook, eto.;
Sotheran & Co., 37 Piccadilly and 136 Strand; Wilson, 15 Grace-
church Street; Dunn, 23 Ludgate Hill and 4 A Cheapside; Cornish,
207 High Holborn; 8. Hogg, 32 Charing Cross. — Formien
Booxssunsrs: Dulaw & Co., 37 Soho Square; Williams & Nor-
gale, 14 Henrietta Street, Covent Garden; Huchette, 18 King Wil-
liam Street, West Strand; Nuti, 270 Strand; Thimm, 24 Brook
Street, Hanover Square; Kegan Paul Triibner § Co,, 20 Charing
Cross Road ; Rolandi, 20 Derners Street; Quariteh, 15 Piccadilly; -
RBoques, 64 New Bond Street; Siegle, 30 Lime Street; Darrell &
Son, 10 Oharing Cross; Luzae, 40 Great Russell Street, — Secown-
HAND Booxssruens: Quarilch (probably the most extensive buyer
of rare books in the world), see above; Toovey, 177 Piccadilly;
Sotheran, see above; Reeves & Turner, 196 Strund; Stevens, 39
Great Russell Street, W.C.; Jones, 77 Queen Street, Cheapside;
Pickering & Chatto, 66 Haymarket.

O



20 8. SHOPS.

Oanprrs: — Gregory § Co., 212-216 Regent Street, and 44-46
King Street, Golden Square; Hampton §& Sons, 8-10 Pall Mall
East; Shoolbred & Co., 151-158 Tottenham Court Road, and 34-45
Grafton Street; Marshall & Snelgrove, 334-348 Oxford Street;
Lapworth & Harrison, 22 01d Bond Street; Cardinal & Harford
(Turkish carpets), 108 and 109 High Holborn; Bontor § Co., 30
01d Bond Street; Treloar, 68 Ludgate Hill,

Cunmisys. Prichard, 10Vigo Street, Regent Street; Cooper, 66
Oxford Street; Sguire & Soms, 413 Oxford Street; Bell § Co., 225
Oxford Street; Challice, 34 Villiers Street, Strand ; Corbyn, Stacey,
& Co., 300 High Holborn, 86 New Bond Street, 7 Poultry, and 153
Leadenhall Street; Pond, 65 Fleet Street ; Nurthen§ Co.,390 Strand ;
Savory § Moore, 143 New Bond Street; Thomas, T Upper St Mar-
tin's Lane (moderate prices).

Messrs. Buvrouphs, Wellcome, & Co., Manufacturing Chemists, Snow
Hill Buildings, Holborn Viaduet, preépare portable drugs in the form of
tablgids, which will be found exceedingly conmvenien| by travellérs. Their
small and light pocket-cages contain a selection of the most useful re-
medies in this form. These tabloid drugs may be obtained of all chemists,

Oreams: — Cigar Divan, 102 Strand; Carreras, 7 Wardour
Btreet; Fribourgd Treyer; 34 Haymarket, and 3 Leadenhall Street ;
Ponder, 48 Strand ; Marcovitehd Co., 11 Air Street, Regent Street;
Benson, 206 Oxford Street; Benson § Hedges, 13 014 Bond Street ;
Carlin, 140 Regent Str.; Wolff, Phillips, & Co., 289 Oxford Stx

Cigars in London are eather an expensive luxury, a8 at least 8d. must
be paid to obtain o really good one, while 8d. is lhu lowest price that
will secure a tolerable ‘weed’. Fair Munilla cheroots, however, may be
obtained for 2d. or 8d. Smoking i3 not so umiversal in England as in
Ameriea or on the Continent, and is prohibited in many places where it
is permitted in other countries.

CurLERY : — Asprey § Son, 166 New Bond Street, and 22 Albe-
marle Street ; Hollsapffel & Co., 64 Charing Cross, and 127 Long Acre;
Lund, 06-07 Cornhill; Mappin Brothers, 66 Cheapside and 220
Regent Streety Mappin § Webb, 158-162 Oxford Street and 18-22
Poultry ; Verinder, 174 Ludgate Hill; Rodgers & Sons, 4 Cullum
Btreet, City, and 60 Holborn Viaduct; Weiss & Son, 287 Oxford
Street. Travelling-bags, writing-cases, dispatch-boxes, ete., are
also sold at moat of these shops.

Duymists: — G, H. Jones, BT Great Russell Street; Coffin (Ame-
rican), 94 Cornwall Gardens; Pierrepoint (American), 22 Old Bur-
lington' Street, Bond Street; Fskell (American), 445 Strand; E. A.
Jones, 129 Strand; Stone & Dominy, 35 St. Martin’s Lane; Stent,
D Coventry Street, Haymarket; Crucefic Canton, 40 St. Martin's:
Lane B. L. Moseley, 312 Regent Street; Browning, 183 Oxford
gtre_at; Gabriel, 57 New Bond Street; Quarterman, 12 Glasshouse

treat.

Ixaravines : — Colnaghi. § Co., 18 and 14 Pall Mall: Bast;
Graves, 6 Pall Mall; Boussod, Valadon; § Op. (successors: of
Goupil & Co.), 116 & 117 New Bond Street; R: Dodsom; 14T
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Strand ; Maclean, T Haymarket and 5 St. James's Street; Leftvre,
1 King Street, St. James's Bquare; Ackevmann, 191 Regent Street;
Légyatt, 62 Cheapside; Agnew & Son, 39b 01d Bond Street.

Fupriers: — Back, 241 Regent Street; International Fur
Store, 163 and 198 Regent Street; Jeffs & Hurris, 244 Regent
Street:; Swan § Edgar, 39-53 Regent's Quadrant ; Marshall & Snel-
grove; 334-348, Nicholay, 170, Poland, 190, Peter Robinson, 216~
226, a1l in Oxford Street; Russ, 70 New Bond Street; Court Fur
Stores, 302 Strand ; Phillips, b2 Newgato Street.

GrLAss AND Poroenain: — Phillips, 170 Oxford Street; Cope-
land & Sons, 12 Charterhouse Street; Mortlock & Sons, 18 Regent
Street ; I)amdt & Co., 129 New Bond Street; Peﬂ&nti & Co,, 2
Nonhnmber_lxnd Avenue, Standish, b8 Baker Street; Osler, 100 Ox-
ford Street; Green, 107 Quean Victoria Strest; Pae:m:s, 39 Ludgate
Hill ; Sutvitm 213 Regent Street (mosaiss).

vass — Dent, Alleroft, & Co. (celebrated firm, wholesale
only ; Dent's gloves are abtainable at all the retail shops) 97-99
Wood Street; Wheeler, 16 Poultry and 8 (Queen Victoria Street,
City ; Pmbert}ay, 300 Oxford Street (French gloves). Also at all the
haberdashers’ and hosiers’ shops.

Gorpsmirws aND JEWELLERS: — FEmanuel, 40 Old Bond
Btreet; Gass & Co,, 166 Regent Street; Howell, Jamzs §Co., 5, T,
and 9 Hegent Street Garrard & Co., % Hay markat Lombert &
Co,, 10-12 Coventry Str-eat, Haymarket, Honeocks § (‘o 38 and
39 Bruton Street and 1562 New Bond Street; Hunt § Raskeu, 156
New Bond Street; Streeter & Co., 18 New Bond Street; Elkington
& Co.; 22 Rﬁgant Street and 42 Moorgate Street (aiectro-p!ate) ;
Pacher, 16 Regent Street; Mrs. Newman, 18 Olifford St., New Bond
8t.; Go.tdsmuhs Amancc 11 and 12 Comh111 Wﬂthcrstan & Som,
12 Pall Mall Bast.

Gun anp Rrrne Maxers: — Westley Richards, Lancaster, 178
and 161 New Bond Street; Righy & Co., 72 8t, James's Street; Pur-
dey, Audley Homse, Sonth Andley Street; Henry, 31 Cockspur
Strect ; Dougall, 8 Bennet Street, St. James's Street; Grant, 674 St.
James's Street; Colt's Fire Arms Company, 26 Glasshouse Street.

Hagproasarrs: — Hitcheock § Co., 69-T4 St, Paul’s Chureh-
yard ; Lewis & Allenby, 193-197 Regent Street ; Marshall § Snelgrave,
384-348 Oxford Btreet; Redmayne § Co., 19-20 New Bond Street:
Russell & Allen, 17-20 01d Bond Strent Shoolbred & Co., 151~
158 Tottenham Gourt Road, and 34-45 Grnitnn Street; Waterloo
House and Swan & Edgar, 39-53 Quadrant, Regent Street, and 9-11
Piceadilly ; Howell, James, & Co., b Regent Street; Peter Robin-
son, 216-226 Oxford Strest; Wallis & Co., T Holborn Cireus;
Cup;m-, 69, 70 Gracechurch Streat City; Liberty (Oriental fabrics),
142 & 28 Regent Street; Debenham & Freehody, 27-33 Wigmore
Street, Cavendish Sqnare ; Whiteley, Westbourne Grove, Bays-
water; Jay, monrning warshouse, 218253 Regent Street; Seott



23 8. BHOPS.

Adie, for Seoteh goods, 110 Regent Street; Mrs. Washington Moon,
16 New Burlington Street (baby linen); Edmonds, Orr, & Ca., 47
Wigmore Street (children) ; Swears & Wells, Regent Strect [c]nl-
dren); Hamilton § Co,, 326 Regent Street; Co-opérative Needie-
women, 34 Brooke Street, Holborn,

Harrems: — Lincoln & Bennett, 40 Piccadilly ; Heath, 107 Ox-
ford Street; Cole, 156 Strand (clerieal); Caterd Co., HG Pall Mall ;
Christy & Co., 35 Gracechurch Street, City; Woodrow, 42 Uorn-
hill, Citys Truefitt, 14 01d Bond Street and 20 Burlington Arcade,
— Lapres' Harregs: — Mrs. Heath, 25 St. George's Place , Hyde
Park Corner; Miss Lockwood, 36 South Audley Street; Colman,
172 Regent Street. Comp. Milliners.

Hosiers axp Smmmmaxsns: — Homillon & Co., 326 Regent
Street; Poole § Lord, 322 Oxford Street; Sampson § Co., 33 Queen
Victoria Streat, City. — Ladies® Hosiery, ete.: Ballriggan & Irish
Houge, 192 Piceadilly,

Lacs axp Lavirg’ Usprrenorming : — Steinmann, 180 Picca-
dilly: Mrs. Addley-Bourne, 174 Sloane Street; Mme, White, Regent
Street.

Learurr (oops(dressing-cases, dispatch-hoxes, ete.): — Needs,
100 New Bond Street; Leuchars, 38 Piceadilly; Thornhill & Co.,
144 New Bond Streét. Comp. Cutlery.

Map Serrens: — E. Stanford (agent for the Ordnance Survey
Maps), 26 Cockspur Street, Oharing Oross; €. Smith & Son, 63
Charing Cross; Baeon & Co., 127 Strand; Wyid, 11 Charing Cross;
Phitip & Sons, 32 Fleat Street.

Mrnriners: — Miehard, 2 Hanover Square; Worth et Cie., 134
New Bond Street; Colman, 172 Regent Street; FEfise, 170 Regent
Street; Lowise, 210 and 266 Regent St.; Pauline, 200 Regent St

Music-SELLERS : — Boosey & Co., 295 Regent Streat; Chappell &
Co., 49-52 New Bond Street ; Cocks & Co., 6 New Burlington Street ;
Cramer & Co., 199-209 Regent Street; Novello, Fwer, & Co., 1 Ber-
ners Street, Oxford Street; Breitkopf & Haertel: 151 Oxford Street;
Hammond & Co,, § Vigo Btreet, Regent Street; Meteler § Co.,
40-43 Great Marlborongh Street; Augener, BO Newgate Street
Keith § Prowse, 48 Cheapside, and Northumberland Avenue, Char-
ing Oross.

Oprtotans: — Elliott Brothers, 104 St. Martin's Lane; Dall-
meyer, 20 Newman Street, W. ; Negrette & Zambra, 35 Holborn Via-
duet, 45 Cornhill, and {22 Regeut Street; Callaghun, 23a New
Bond Strect ; Dollond & Oo., 35 Ludgate Hill and 62 Old Broad
Street, E.C.; Cox, 98 Newzate Stroet.

Prrrumsns : — Alkingon, 24 O1d Bond Strect; Piesse § Lubin,
2 New Bond Street; Rimmel, 96 Strand, 1580 Regent Street, and (4
Queen Victoria Street: Gattie § Peiree, 14 O1d Bond Street; Broi-
denbiuch, 157 New Bond Street.

PuoToGRATH-SRULERS : — J, (erson, D Rathbone Place (pho=
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tographs of the pictures in the National Gallery, ete.); Autotype
Fine Art Gailery, T4 New Oxford Btreet; Manselt, 271-273 Ox-
ford Street; London Stereoscopie Company, 54 Cheapside and 105
Regent Street; Spooner, 379 Strand. — PuorocrApatc MATERIALE
Fallowfield, Charing Cross Road ; Marion, 23 Soho Square,

PrANOFORTE-MANUFACTURERS : — Broadwood & Sons, 33 Great
Pulteney Street, Golden Square; Collard §& Collard, 16 Gros-
venor Street; 26 Cheapside, and Oval Road, Rezent's Park; Erard,
18 Great Marlborough Street; Hopkinson, 95 New Bond Street.

Prusunves, ete. (‘Italian Warchonses”) : — Crosse & Blackwell,
20 and 21 Soho Square, and T7 Dean Street (noted firm for pickles ;
wholesale); Fortnum, Mason, & Co., 181-183 Piccadilly ; Castell
& Brown, 33-41 Wardour Street (wholesale); Hedges § Butler, 155
Regent Street; Morel Brothers, 210 Piecadilly.

Smoemaxers. For gentlemen: — Deroy, T4 Regent Street and
7 Air Street W. ; Dowie & Marshall, 455 Strand; Fuchs, 54 Con-
duit Street; Bowley & Co., 53 Charing Cross; Parker, 145 Oxford
Street; Peal, 487 Oxford Street; Medwin, 41 Sackville Street
and 67 St. James's Street; Hoby, 20 Pall Mall; Twesek, 39 0ld
Bond Street; Waukenphast, 60 Haymarket; Franeis, 40 Mad-
dox Street; West, St. Michael's Alley, Cornhill, City.— For ladies:
— Hook, Knowles, & Co., 66 New Bond Street; Bird, 180 Oxford
Street; Gundryd Sons, 174 New Bond Street; Thierry & Sons, 202
Regent Street; Thispry, 70 Regent Street. — Boots and shoes in
London are rather dear but of excellent quality.

StarroNeRs : — Maemichael, 42 South Audley Street; Parkins
& Gotto, H4-62 Oxford Street; Partridge & Cooper, 192 Fleet Streef ;
Webster & Co., B0 Piceadilly.

TatLons : — Poole § Co., 36-39 Savile Row, Regent Street (intro-
duetion from former onstomer required); Miles, 4 Sackville Street;
Parfitt, Roberts, & Parfitt, 75 Jermyn Street; Kerslake & Co., 12
Hanover Street, Hanover Square; Radford, Jones, & Co., 32
(George Street, Hanover Square; Doré, 31 8t James's Street
(ready money tailor, moderate charges); Blamey & Som, 62 Charing
Cross; Ralph & Norton, 150 Strand; Meyer & Mortimer, 36 Con-
duit Btreet; Brown § Son, 11 Princes Street. Hanover Square;
Stohwasser ¢ Co., 39 Conduit Street; Stuls, Papé, § Son, 10 Clifford
Street; Wray & Roby, T8 Queen Street, Cheapside; Henry Keen,
144 High Holborn; Piggott, 117 Cheapside and Milk Street (also
general outiitter). — Cnerioan Tarnors: — Pratt, 23 Tavistock
Street, Covent Garden ; Cox, Sons, & Co., 28 Southampton Street;
Seary, 18 New Oxford Street. — Lavrss’ Tatror: Redfern, 26 Con-
duit Street. — Readymade clothes may be obtained very cheaply in
numerous large shops ( prices usually affixed).

Tra Murcpants: — Ridgwoy, 6 and 7 King William Street,
City; Strachan & Co., T3 Moorgate Street; Twining & Co., 216
Strand ; Dakin & Co., 47 8t. Paul's Churchyard, and 30 Shaftes-
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bury Avenue; Law, 102 & 104 New Oxford Street; Cooper & Co.,
268 Regent Clrcus, and 35 Strand,

 Tox Maxuns: — Burlington Arcade, Piccadilly; Lowther Areade,
Strand; Cremer, 210 Regent Streat; Kindergarten Emporivwm, 57
Berners Street.

Trung Magsns: — Allen, 37 Strand ; Asprey & Son, 166 New
Bond Street, and 22 Albemarle Street; Southgate, 75 and 76 Wat-
ling Street; Millard, G Lisle Street, Leicester Square,.— (Sirangers
should be on their guard against the temptation of purchasing
trunks and portmanteans in inferior leather marked ‘second hand’
— a eommon form of frand in houses of a lower class.)

TUMBRELLAS AND Panasors: — Sangster § Co., 94 Fleet Street,
140 Regent Street, 7D Cheapside, and 522 Oxford Street; Martin,
64-6D Burlington Arcade; Brigg, 23 St. James's Street; Smith,
57 Oxford Street, 1 Savile Place, Regent Street, and 47 Moorgate
Streat.

Warcamakrns: — Bennett, 60 Cheapside; Barraud & Lunds,
26 Cornhill; Benson, 25 0ld Boud Btreet, and 62 and 64 Ludgate
Hill; E. Dent § Co., 61 Strand; M. F. Dent § Co., 33 Cockapur
Street; Frodsham & Co., 84 Strand.

Warerrroor Goons: — Magintosh, 30 Fore Street, E. C.;
Matthews & Son, 68 Charing Crosa; Piggott, 117 Cheapside; Cord-
ing, 19Piccadilly ; Walkley, b Strand; Cow, 46 Cheapside.

Wive Mercmants. — There are about 2600 wine merchants in
London, most of whom can supply fairly good wine at reasomable
prices. Visitors who occnpy private apartments should procure their
wine from a dealer. The winesat hotels are generally dear and in-
different. The following are good houses: — Cockburn 4 Co., '8
Lime Btrest, City; Hedges & Butler, 150 Regent Street; Gilbey,
Pantheon, 173 Oxford Streef, besides other offlees (with a very
axtensive trade in low-priced wines; Claret from 1s. per bottle,
Hock and Mogelle from 1s. 0d.); Fortnum § Mason, 181-183
Piccadilly; Carbonelt § Co., 182 Regent Street; G. Tanqueray &
Co., b Pall Mall East; Basil Woodd § Sons, 84 New Bond Street;
Morel Bros. § Cobbeit, 210 Piccadilly, 18 Pall Mall, and 148 Regent
Street; Law, Holloway, § Co., DD Cannon Btreet, City; Payne
& Sons, 61 St. James's Street; Millbank, Leech, & Co., 101 Leaden-
hall Street, City. Most of the best-known continental wine-firms
haye agencies in London, the addresgses of which may be ascer-
tained from the Post Office Directory. Claret and other wines may
also be obtained from most of the grocers,

Bazaars. These emporiums afford pleasant coversd walks
between rows of shops abundantly stocked with all kinds of attract-
ive and useful artieles; The most important are the Soho Basaar,
B8 Oxford Street; Baker Street Basaar, 08 Baker Street; Opera
Colonnade, Haymarket; Burlinglon Arcade, Piccadilly; Lowther
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Areade, Strand (chiefly for toys and other articles at moderate pri-
ces); Royal Aroade, 28 010 Bond Btreet, — Among these the Soho
Bazaar is faeile princeps. It has been in existence for half a cen-
tnry, and is eonducted on very striet prineiples. A rental of twelve
shillings per week is paid for each stall; some holders rent three
or four contiguouns stalls,

Markets. The immense market traffle of London is among the
most impresgive sights of the Metropolis, and one with which no
stranger should fail to make himself acquainted. The chlef mar-
kets are held at early hours of the morning, when they are vigited by
vast erowds hastening to supply their commigsariat for the day.

The chief Vegetable, Fruit, and Flower Market is Covent Garden
(p. 186), where all kinds of vegetables, fruits, ornamental plants,
and eut flowers are displayed in richest profusion. The best time
to visit this market is about sunrise.

Billingsgate (p.113), the great fish-market, as interesting in its
way as Covent Garden, thongh pervaded by far less pleasant odours,
ia situated in Lower Thames Sireet, City, near London Bridge. The
covered market i8 a handsome building lately erected, with an open
front towards the street and a fagade on the river. Along the gquay
lie fishing-boats, whence the fish are landed in baskets, and sold fixat
to the wholesale, and afterwards to the retail dealers. Oysters and
other shell-fish are sold by measure, salmon by weight, and other fish
by number. Large quantities of fish are also conveyed to Billingsgate
daily by railway; salmon from Bceotland, cod and turbot from the
Doggerbank, lobsters from Norway, soles from the German Ocean,
eels from Holland, and oysters from the mouth of the Thames and
the English Channel. The market commences daily at 5 a. m.

Smithfield Marlet, Newgate Street, Uity, is the great meat-mar-
ket of London. The covered market, opened in 1868, is most ad-
mirably fitted up (eomp. p. 97). Bubterranean lines eonnect it
with the Metropolitan Railway, and thence indirectly with the Me-
tropolitan Cattle Market. 1t was once the chief ecattle market of
London, and the famous Bartholomew Fair was held here down to
1853, A Poultry Morkei was added to the meat-market in 1876,
the London Central Fish Market in 1888; and a large new Vegetable
Market, superseding Farringdon Market, was completed in 1892
(comp. p. 97).

The Metropolitan Cattle Market, Copenhagen Fields, between
Islington and Camden Town, is the largest in the world. The prin-
cipal markets are held on Mondays and Thursdaye, but on other
days the traffle is also very considerable. Around the lofty clock
tower are grouped a post-office. a telegraph station, banke, an en-
quiry office, shops, ete. At the sides are interminable rows of well-
arranged stalls for the cattle. — At Deptford isa great Foreign
Cattle Market, for cattle imported from the Continent.
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Among the other important markets of London are Leadenhall
Market (p. 109), Leadenhall Street, for ponltry and game; the
Borough Market, beside 8t. Saviour's Church (p. 807), one of the
largest wholesale fruit and vegetable markets; Spitaificlds Market,
Commercial Street, E., for vegetables, ete., the echief emporinm for
Fast London ; (reat Eastern Railway Markef, at Stratford, K., for
fish and wvegetables; and the Shadwell Market, East of London
Docks, also for fish. Columbia Market, Bethnal Green, was erected
by the muniflecence of the Baroness Burdett Coutts, at a cost of
200,000¢., for supplying meat, flish, and vegetables to one of the,
poorest quarters of London. But neither this, nor the Etephant and
Castle Market, for fish, established by Mr. Samuel Plimsoll, has
hitherto been very succesaful.

The largest Horse Market is Tattersall’s, Knightsbridge Green,
where a great number of horses are sold by anction on every Monday
thronghout the year, and in spring on Thursdays also. Tattersall's
is the centre of all businesa relating to horse-racing and betting
thronghont the country, — the Englishman’s substitute for the con-
tinental lotteries. Aldridge’s, St. Martin's Lane, i8 another im-
portant horse~mart.

The Co-operative System. The object of this system may he
deseribed as the furnighing of members of a trading association,
formed for the purpose, with genuine and moderately-priced goods
on the principle of ready-money payments, the cheapness being
secured by economy of management and by contentment with small
profits. Notwithstanding the opposition of retail and even of whole-
gale dealers, it has of late years made astonishingly rapid progress
in London, where there arée now abont thirty ‘co-operative stores’,
carrying on an immense trade. The chief companies are the Army
and Navy Co-operative Stores, 105 Vietoria Street, Westminster, the
Civil Serviee Supply Association, and the Civil Service Co-operative
Society, 28 Haymarket.

The Civil Service Supply Assnclation consists of shareholdera, of
meambers belonging to the Civil Service, and of outsiders (who, however,
miust be friends of members or shareholders), who pay Bs. the fizst year
and 22, 6d. in subsequent vears. The articles sold comprise grocerias,
wines, spirits, provisions, tobaceo, clothing, books, stationery, fancy goods,
drugs, and wotebed. The premi of the iation in Queen Victoria
Strest (No. 138) cost 27,0000., while it has others in Bedford Streel and Chan-

dos Btreet, Birand. — Btranpgers or visitors to London are, of course, upable
to make purchases &t a co-operative store except through a member.

Co-operative Working Societies. Amnother application of the
co-operative system i¢ seen in the various associations established

on the principle of the Co-Partnership of the Workers.

Among meriforions societies of this kind the following may he men-
tioned : Bookbinders” Co-operative Society, 17 Bury Street, Bloomsbury ; Hamil-
fon & Co. (shirt-makers), 538 Regent Street; Women's FPrinting Society, 2 n
Great College Stroet, Wesiminster ; Mrs. Alison (Co-operative Neadlewomen;
shirta, ef.ci, 34 Brouke Street, Holborny Afiss M. Hart (Decorative Co-
operators’ Association), 405 Oxford Street; Co-operalive Printerg, Baliabury
Court, Fleet Street.
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9, Cabs. Omnibuses. Tramways. Coaches.

Cabs. When the traveller is in a hurry, and his route does not
coincide with that of an omnibus, he had better at once engage a
cab at one of the numerons cab-stands, or hail one of those passing
along the street. The ‘Four-wheelers’, which are small and un-
comfortable, hold four persons inside, while a {ifth san be accommo-
dated begide the driver. The two-wheeled eabs, called Hansoms,
from the name of their inventor, have seats for two perscns only
(though often used by three), and drive at a much quicker rate
than the others. Persons without mueh luggage will therefore
prefer a hansom. The driver's seat is at the back, so that he drives
over the heads of the passengers sitting inside. Orders are com-
municated to him through a small trap-door in the roof. — There
are now over 11,000 cabs in London, employingnearly 20,000 horses.

3 e | B8 | 8
Cab Fares g% A & s . s
from _3_:_3 S ‘% = g E|& % 3
S =

the chief railway stations 2 = 3 |2 _né 21l&E LE|=
S I = il = e 30 8
to el E B |88 § |8 |8 (&
A8 R f 8|S |8 |E|B
Sdgs.d. s d.|s.d,|s.d|sd.|sd.sd [sd
Bank of England . . . . . . . 1-[1-(16|L-{1-0(1-]26]2-]|1-
Bond Strect, Picendilly . . . . [1-6|L-[1-[16|1-6|1-6 (18|01 -[1 -
British Museum . | o0 0 . . . |18 |- (1 {461 - |16 | 16|46 1 -
Uovent Garden . . .. . .., |168]1-|1-}118|1-|16|16]1-(1 -
Grosvenor Square, NW. , . 2-11-11-12-11612-/1-11-|16
Hyde Park Corner 2 -t -l16l2-12-12-11611-]18
Leicester Square . . . . . . . 161 -11-11-6)1-6/1-6]1-6]1-]1 -
London Bridge . . .. . . . . 1-11-6|2-11-|1-6 261681 -
Eudpate HIT . . . ., ... 1|t -{1B|L-|1-1-|2-11-6|1 -
Marhie Aveh 0] T 0L L0 Q-1 -11-62-14812-1-|1-[1-8
Oxford Cireus. L 0 00 o d G 16T -1 =181 =2 ~{L =1 -|1~
Piceadilly, Haymarket . . . . [1-|1-|1-|16|16(1-B|16|1-]1 -
Prant ORI 10, Ssaals ) whed s f-11-116(1-[1-{1-12={2=[1-
Regent Street, Piccaditly . . . |16 - |1 -[1-6|1-6 16161 -1 -
BRYPauy e ML 1 e [Rs 1-11-{16|1-[1-]1-1286|18]|1-
South Kensington Museum . . [ 26|16 [2 - |26 (2.6 |26 |16 | 1-6|2 -
Strand (Wellington Street) . . |[16|0-|1 -|1-6|8 -|L-|2-11-]|1-
TP Bar 52 WG 8y T-|1-11-|0-(0-11-{Q-[1B]|1-
Bower T VIERWT T [ =] B2 T | L e R S
Trafalgar Square . . . . . . . 16(1-11-116|1-6|1-6|1-6]1 |1 -
Westminster Palave . .. . . |16 |1 -11-6 |18 |16 182 -1 -1 -

Zoological Gardens . , ., , . '2-118/11a@g'1-'2601¢612-12

Fanes are reckoned by distance, unless the esb is expressly hired
by time. The charge for u drive of 2 M. or under is 1s.; for each ad-
ditional mile or friction of a mile 6d. For sach person above two, Bd.
additional is charged for the whole hiring, Two children under 10 years
of age are reckoned as one adult. For each large srtiele of lugpage car-
ried putside, 24, is chargedy sminller articles are fres. The cabman' is
not hound to drive more than 6 miles. Beyond the 4-mile radius from
Charing Cross the fare is 1s. for every mila or fraction of a mile. The
charge for waiting is 64, for each completed 1y hr. for four-wheslers,
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and 8d. for hansoms, The fare by fime for the first hour or part of an
hour is 2, for four-whealers, and Zs. fd. for hansoms. For each additional
&Hh., fd. and 8d. Bevond the d&-mile radins the fars is 2, 6d. for the

t hour, for both 2-wheel and d-wheal vehicles, and for each ndditional
Ify hr. 8d. The driver may decline to drive for more than one full hour,
or to be hired by time between 8 p. m. and 8 a. m.

Whether the hirer knows the proper fure or not, he is recommended
to come fo an agreement with the driver befors starting.

Each driver is bound to possess a copy of the authorised Book of
Distances, and to produece it if required. = )

Many of the London cabmen are among the most insolent and ex-
tortionate of their {raternity. The traveller, therefore, in his own and
the general intereat, shonld resist all attempts nt overcharging, and should,
in case of persistency, demsand the ecabmpn's number, or order him to
drive to the nenrest police court or station.

The driver is bound to deposit any articles left in the eab at the
nearest polies station within twenty-four hourg, to be claimed by the
owner at the Head Police Office, New Scotland Yard (p. 191).

The Fly is a vehicle of a superior deseription, resembling the
Parisian Voiture de remise, and is admitted to the parks more freely
than the cabs. Flys must be speoially ordered from a livery stable
keeper, and the charges are of course higher. These vehicles are
recommended in preference to cabs for drives into the eountry.

Omnibuses, of which there are over 200 lines, cross the Me-
tropolis in every direction from 8 a.m. till midnight. The destina-
tlon of each vehicle (familiarly known as a 'bus), and the names of
some of the principal streets through which it passes, are usually
painted on the outside, As they always keep to the left in driving
along the street, the intending passenger should walk on that side
for the purpose of hailing one. To prevent mistakes, he had better

mention his destination to the conduetor before entering,

The first omnibusés plying in London were started by Mr. George
Shilibeer in 1829, They were drawn by three horses yoked abreast, and
were much hesvier and clumsier than those now in use, At first
they were furnished with o supply of books for the use of the pass-
engars, The London service of omnibuses iz now mainly in the hands
of tha London General Omnibus Co. and the London Road Car Co, A number
of small one-horse ommnibuses have recently been started which ply for
short distances for o fare of l/gd. These vehicles have no conducior, and
passengers. place their fares in a box, Omnibuses of this kind run from
Charing Cross over Westminsgter Bridge, from Farringdon Btreet Station
over Blackfriars Bridge, elc. Special railway omnibuses ply between dif-
ferent railway-stations (on week-days only), ss from Portland Road (Metro-
politan Railway) to Charing Cross, from Baker Birect to Piceadilly Cireus,
and to Obaring Cross, from Gower Street to Edgware Road, from Farring-
don Boad to the Elephant and Castle, ete. In point of comfort the vehioles
generally still leave much to he desived, London being far behind many
provineial, Continental, and American eities in this respect.

The prineipal points of intersection of the omnihus lines nre (on the
N, of the Thames) the Bank, Charing Cross, Piccadilly Cireus, Oxford
Cirous, snd the junction of Tottenhem Court Road and Oxford Street. The
chief point in Southwark is the hostelry called the Elephani and Casile.

These who travel by omnibus should keep themselves provided with
small change to prevent delay and mistakes. The fare varies from Vad,
to Gd., and i3 in a few cages 9d. For a drive to Richmond, the Crystal
Palace, and other places several miles from the City the usual fare is 15
A table of the legal fores is placed in the inside of eiach omnibus.
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Omnrrus Lines. The following is a list of a few of the prin-

cipal routes: —

Name Colour Routa
Adslaide Yellow | Chalk Farm Road, Hampstead Road, Toiten-
i ham CourtRond, Charing Cross Road, White-
hall, Vietoring cvery 8 min.
Atlas Light |8t John's Wood, Baker Street, Oxford Street,
green Hegent Street, Charing Cross, Westminsater
Bridge, Cambarwell Gate; every 8 min,

Bayswater Green | Bayswater, Oxford Street, Holborn, Cheapside,
Bank, London Bridge, every 3-4 min. ; Bays-
water to Whitechapel, évery 8 mini; 0
Broad Street and Liverpool Street Stotions
every hour.

Biurkwall Dark | East India Road, Uommersial Road, White-

green chinpel. Cornhill, Fleel St., Sf.r:mli, Pigea-
dilly Cireus; al frequent infervals,

Baw Dark | Steatford and Bow, Whitechapel, Corahill,

green Chespside, Fleet Street, Strand, Charing
Crosss every T min,

Brizion Green | Brixton Chureh, Kennington Boad, Westmin-
ster Bridge, Charing Cross; every 10 min.

Bromplon White | Walham Green, Piecsdilly, Oharing Cross,
Strand, Fleet Street, Cheapside, Bank, Broad
Street; every 20 min.

Camberwell Yellow | Camberwell, Walworth Road, Borough, Lon-
don Bridge, Gracechurch Street, Shoreditchy
ave min;

Camden Town Yellow | Kentish Town, Camden Town;Tottenham Court
Rouad; 8t. Martin's Lunel Charing Cross, Vie-
toring every T min.

Carlton Yellow | Hampstead Hoad, Totienham Court Road,
St. Martin's Lane, Trafalzar Square; every
16 min,

Chuwying Ciross and] Red | Kilbuen, Edgéware Road, Oxford Street, Re-
Kilburn gont Street, Charing Oross; every 156 min.
Chelaea Choco | Chelsea, Slosne Street, Piccndilly, Strand,
late Fléet Street, Bank, and then by Bishopsgate

Street and Bethnal Green Bmuiy!o 0ld Fuord,
or by Moorgate Street to Hoxtons every
2 mrin, ;

ity Atlas Diark |Bwiss Cottage; 8t. John's Wood, Oxford Streat,

gréen Huolborn, Bank, London Bridges every 10min,

Clapham Choeol., | Clapham , Stockwell, Kennington, London

red, or| Bridge, Gracechurch Btreet; every 10-12 min,
grean

Clapton and Ox- | Dark | Clapton, Hackney Road, Bishopsgate Street,

Jord Circus grien Bank, Cheapside, ‘anhurn‘ Oxford Bireets
i evary 20 min;
Favorite Dark | Holloway, Pentonville Boad, Chancery Lane,
green Strand, Westminsfer Abbey, VietoriaStation
every Tmin.
Favorite Dark | Holloway , Highbury, Islington, City Road,
green | Bank, King William Street, London Bridgey
every b min!

Victorig 4 King's | Green | Vietorin, Plecadilly, Long Acre, Great Queen

Oross

Strest, Hussell Square, King’s Cross; avery

10 minutes,
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Nuame Colour Route

Hanmersmith {Red | Hammersmith, Kensington, Piceadilly, Charing
Crogs, Strand, Fleet 5t., Broad Street; every
10 min.

London Road Car | Brown | West Kensingfon, Shaflesbury Avenue, Charing

% Cross Road, Oxford Btreel, Liverpool Btreet
Station; every few minutes.

Favorite Blue |Holloway, Islington, Euston Road, Regent
Street, Piccadilly. ﬁromptun; every 8 min.

Favorite Dark |Stoke Newington, ﬁascx Road, Chanecery Lane,

green Charing Cross, Westminater, Viectoria Sta-
tion; every 20 min.,

Hampstoud Yellow | Haverstock Hill, Camden Town, Tottenham
Court Road, Charing Cross Road, Plecadilly
Circus; every 15 min.

Highgate Yellow | Kentish Town Road, Hampstead Road, Totten-
ham Court Road, Oxford Street ; every 10 min.

Islington and Kent| Dark |Now North Road, City Boad, Moorgate Street,

Road green London Bridge, Borough, 014 Kent Rooad;
every Tmin

Kennington fo(har-| Red |Kennington Park and Road, Westminster

ing Cross Bridge, Parlinment Street; every § min:

Hitburn Dark |Edgeware Road, Oxford Street, Holborn,

green Cheapside, Cornhill, Leadenhall Street,
Aldgate ; every 8 min.

Kilburn and Victo-] Red | Edgeware Road, Park Lane, Vietoria Station;

ria Station every 6 min,

King’s Cross Light | Grest College Street, King's Cross, Gray's Inn

green Road, Chancery Lane, Fleet Street, Black-
friars Bridge, Kenningtons every few min.

Ningstand Green | Dalston, Kingsland Road, Shoreditch, Bishops-
gate Street, Gracechurch, London Bridge,

. Borough, Elephant and Castle ; every 6 min.

Old Ford Yeall, or| Old Ford, Bethnal Green Rosd, Shorediteh,

choeol. Bishopsgate, Exchange; every 5 min.

Paddington Yellow | Kensal Green, Paddington, Edgeware Road,
Oxford Street, Holborn, Cheapside , London
Bridge; every 12 min.

Paddingion Yellow | Paddington, Edgeware Road, Oxford Street,
Holborn, Newgate Street, Cheapside, Lon-
don Bridge; every D min.

Paragon Green | Kennington Road, Borough, London Bridge,
Gracechurch Street; every 10 min.

Putney Bridge White |Putney Bridge, Fulham, Brompton, Piccadilly,
Strand, Fleet Street, St. Paul's, Cannon
Street, London Bridge; every 20 min.

Ruyal Blue Dark | Vietoris Station, Piecadilly, Bond Street, Ox-

bloe ford Circus; every 10 min,

Royal Oak and Red | Archer Street (Bayswater), Edgeware Road,

Charing Cross Oxford Street, Regent Street, Charing Cross;
every 8 min.

Royal Oak and Red |Prped Street, Edgeware Road, Park Lane,

Vistoria Station Viotoria Station; every 12 min.

South Hackney Red | Victoria Park, Hackney Road, Shoreditch,
Bank; every 10 min,

Waterioo Blue |Camden Town, York and Albany, Regent Street,

terloo Bridge, Elephant and Castle, Cam-
herwell Gate; every ¢ min.

Westminatar Brown | Bank, Cheapside, Fleet Street, Strand , West-

minster, Pimlco; every 6 min,
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Tramways. About 130 miles of tramways, with over 1000 cars,
are now in operation in the outlying districts of London. The ears
are comfortable, and the fares moderate (1-44.).

The earvp of the South London Tramways Co. run from Westminster
Bridge and London Bridge to Wandsworth and East Hill, and from Chelsea
Bridge to Lavender Hill snd Clapham Junction, Those of the London

s Co. run from Westminster Bridge to Brixton, Todting, New
Uross, OGreepwich, and Peckham ; from Blackfriars Br-i&ge to Br‘ixton.
New Croge, Tooting, and Greenwich; from Vietoris Station to Vauxhall
Bridge m-n* Camberwelly and from Waterloo Station to Naw Cross and
(& ich, The London Streat Tramways Co. vuns cars from King's Cross to
Kentish Town, Islington, and Finsbury Park ; from Euston Road to Kentish
Town, Hampstead Heath, Holloway , and Highgate; and from Holborn vid
Gray's Inn Rood and Kentish Town to Hampstead Heath and to Parliament
Hill, The lines of the North Metropolitan Tramways Qo. extend from Moor-
gate Street to Finsbury Park, Stamford Hill, Clapton, Highbury, New Park,
Canonbury, and Highgate; from Aldersgate Street to Hackna{ and Dal-
ston, and to Highgate Archways from Holborn to Goswell Road, Dal-
ston, and Stamford Hill; from Canuing Town Station to Green Gate; from
Stratford to Manor Park and Leytonstone; from Bloomsbury to Lea Bridge
and Poplar; and from Aldgate to Hackney, Vietoria Pork, Stratford, and
Poplar. The cars of the North Eondon Tramways Co. ply from Finsbury
Park to Edmonton and Wood Green, The ears of the London Southern
Tramways Co. run from Vauxhall Station to Camberweall Green and Nor-
wood vii Loughborough Junetion. The West Mebropolitan Tramways Co.
rung cars from 8hepherd’s Bush to Aeton and Chiswick; from Hammér-
smith to Kew; and from Kew to Richmond. The lines of the Harrow
Road and Paddington Tramways Co. extend from Amberley Road, Padd-
ington (near Royal Oak Station), to Harlesden Green, Willesden, with a
branch running towards the Paddington Recreation Ground and Maida Vale.
The Lendon, Deptford, and Gréemwich Tramways Co. maintaing eommuni-
cation between London Bridge and Deptford and between the Bricklayer's
Arms and Rotherhithe, The line of the Woohedch and Southeast London
Teamways Co. extends from Plumstead to Greenwich, vik Woolwich Ar-
senal, Woolwich Dockyard, ete,

Coaches. During the summer months well-appointed stage
eoaches run from London to various places in the vicinity, usually
starting from Northumberland Avenue between 10 and 11.45 a.m.
The fares yary from 2s. 6d. to [4s. ; return-fares one-half or two-thirds
more ; box geats ugually 2. 6d. extra, Some of these coaches are driven
by the gentlemen who own them. They afford better opportunities
in many respeets for viewing the scenery than railway-trains, and
may be recommended in fine weather. On the more popular routes
seats have often to be hooked several days in advance.

From the Hotel Vietoria (p. ) daily (execept Sun.) to Boshili SII M.);
Reigate (27 M.); St. Albans (25 M.); Firginia Water (29 M.). Also to Brighlon
(33 M,), thrice a week.

From the Hitel Métropole (p, 6) daily (except Sun.) to Hampion Court
Iégl;i}); Harrow (10 M.); Maidenhead (31 M.); Sevenoaks (26 M.j; Windsor

From 1565 Piccadilly to Guildford (28 M.), daily.
__ From 4 Northumberland Avenue to Dorking [%i M.), daily; to Oxford
(6D ML), thriee weekly; to Betchford (80 M.); to Chimgford; to Ceveniry
(94 M. three days' trip), ete.
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The principal Railway Stations in London are fifteen in num-
ber. Many of them are now lighted by the electric light. On the
left (N.) bank of the Thames are the following: —

1. Euston Square Station, the terminus of the Loxvow Axp
Norrn WeSTERN Ratnway, Enston Square, near Euston Road and
Tottenham Court Road. An additional station has been opened &
little to the W. Traine for Rugby, Crewe, Chester, Bangor, Holy-
head (whenee steamers to Ireland); Birmingham, Shrewsbury;
Stafford, Leicester, Derby, Nottingham, Lineolw, Leeds, Hull;
Liverpool, Manchester; Corlisie, Glasgow, Edinburgh, ete. Bub-
urban trains to Chalk Farm, Loudon Roud, Kitburn § Maida Vale,
Willesden Junction, Harrow, Pinner, and Walford,

11. 8t. Pancras 8tation, Euston Road, to the W. of King's Cross
Station, the terminus of the Moraxn Rammway. Traing for Bedford,
Leicester, Nottingham, Derby, Chesterfield, Normanton, Hull, York,
Leeds, Newcastle, Laneaster; Glasgow, Edinburgh, ete. Suburban
trains for Camden Road, Kentish Town, Haverstoek Hill, Hendon,

IIl. King’s Cross 8tation, Euston Road, terminus of the GrraT
Nomraery Ratnway. Trains for the N. and N.E.: York, Newoastle,
Edinburgh; Hull, Leeds, Sheffietd, Manchester, Liverpool; Cam-
bridge, Bedford, Hertford, Lineoln. Suburban trains to Holloway,
Finsbury Park, Highgate, Barnet, and Edgware; Hornsey, and
Bnfield.

IV, Paddington Station, teérminus of the GmeaT WESTERN
Ramnway for the W. and 8. W. of England (trains start from the W,
gide of the station). Trains to Windsor, Reading, Cheltenham,
Gloucester, Bath, Bristol, Ewveter; Plymouth, Falmouth; South
Wales; Oxford, Birmingham, Liverpool, Manchester, ete. Loeal
trains to Aecton, Faling, Brentford, Uzbridge; Staines; Maidenhead,
Great Marlow; Henley; Aylesbury,ete.

V. Liverpool Street Station, near Bishopsgate Street, ter-
minus of the Gmrar EasTerN RALwAY and East Lonpon Ling,
Trains to Chelmsford, Colchester, Harwich, Ipswich, Norwich, Lowe-
stoft, Yarmouth ; Cambridge, Ely, Peterborough, Lincoln, eto. Bub-
urban trains to Bethnal Green, Haekney, Clapton, Old Ford, Strat-
ford, Epping Forest, Tilbury, Southend; and through the Thames
Tunnel to New Cross, Peckham Rye, ete.

V1. Charing Cross Station, on the site of Old Hungerford
Market, close to Trafalgar Square, terminng of —

1. The Souvrs Easters Hamnway vid Redhill, Tunbridge, and
Ashford, to Folkestone aud Dopver.

2. The Grrexwion Rarnway, a viaduet borne by briek arches,
vii London Bridge Station, Spa Road, and Deptford, to Greenwich.

3. The Mo and Norte Kent Lines to New Cross, Lewisham,
Beckenham, Bromley, Blackheath, Woolwich, Dariford, Erith,
Gravesend, Rochester.
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VII. Cannon Btreet Station, Cannon Street, City, near the
Bank and 8t. Panl's Cathedral, City terminus for the same lines a8
Charing Cross. Trains from Charing Cross to Cannon Street, and
wviee versd, every 10 minutes.

VIII. Victoria Btation, the Wesi End terminus of the Loxoox,
CraTHAM, AND Dover RatnwAy, in Victoria Street, near Bucking-
ham Palace and Westminster, — The following lines issue from
this station —

1. The Loxpox, Caarmas, AND Dover RATLwAY, to Clapham,
Brizton, Herne Hill, Dulwich, Syderiham Hill, Beekenham, Brom-
ley, Dickley, Rochester, Chatham, Faversham, Canterbury, Dover,
Herne Bay, Margate, Broadstairs, Ramsgate.

2. The Cnystan Panacs branch of the London, Chatham, and
Dover Railway ; stations, Clapham, Brizton, Denmark Hill, Peckham
Rye, Honor Oak, Lovdship Lane, Crystal Palace ( High Level Station).

3. The MrrnorourraN Exrexsion, to Ludgate Hill and Holborn
Viaduet Station, vid Grosvencr Road, Buattersea Park, York Road,
Wandsworth Road, Clapham and North Stockwell, Brizton and
South Stoekwell, Loughborough Junction, Camberwell New Road,
Walworth Road, Elephant and Castle, and Borough Road.

4. The Wesr Loxvox Exrtexsiow, vii Batfersea, Chelsea, West
Brompton, and Kensington (Addison Boad), to Willesden Junetion.

H. The Brienrox Axp Sovrm Coast Ratmway, vid Clapham
Junction (a most important station for South London, through
which 1200 f{rains pass daily), Wandsworth Common, Balham,
Streatham Hill, West Norwood, Gipsy Hill, and Crystal Palace
(Low Level Station), to Norwood Junetion (see p. 34), or by
Olapham Junction , Wandsworth Common, DBalham, Streathom
Common, Norbury, Thornton Heath, and Selhurst to Croydon (gee
p. 84). At Norwood Junction and Croydon the line joins the Lon-
don Bridge and Brighton Line.

6. The Sovra Loxvox Lins, vid Grosvenor Road, York Road,
Wandsworth Road, Clapham Road, Loughborough Junetion, Denmark
Hill. Peckham Rye, Queen’s Road, Old Kent Road, and South Ber-
mondsey, to London Bridge.

IX. Broad Street Station, terminus of the Nomrm Lonpox
Rarmway. Trains to Shorediteh, Haggerston, and Dalston, where
the line forks, The rails to the W, run to Mildmay Park, Canon-
bury, Istington & Highbury, Barnsbury, Camden Town, Kentish
Tawn, Gospel Oak (for Highgate; to Chingford, see p. 34), Hamp-
stead Heath, Finchley Road, West End Lane, Brondesbury, Kensal
Rise, Willesden Junction (an important station for North London,
stopped at by all the express trains of the N.W. railway), Acton,
South Aeton (branch to Hammersmith Broadway, for Bedford Park),
Hammersmith, Gunnersbury, Kew Bridye, Kew Gardens, Richmond,
and Kingston, The line to the E, goes to Hackney, Homerion, Vie-
toria Park, Old Ford, Bow, and Poplar. Trains also run every

Bagpuxex, London. Oth Edit. 3
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g hy. from Broad Strest to Camden Town (as above) and Challk Farm,
on the L.N. W. railway; and every /s hr. to Dalston, Highbury,
Camden Town, Kentish Town; thence as above to Willesden June-
tion, and thence to St. Quintin Park & Wormwood Serubs, Urbridge
Road (for Shepherd's Bush), Kensington (Addison Road), Earls
Court, South Kensington, and thence by the ‘inner eircla’ (p. 35) to
Mansion House, — Gospel Oak is also the terminus of a line vid
Highgate Road, Junetion Road, Upper Holloway, Hornsey Road,
Croueh Hill, Horringay Pork, St. Ann's Road, South Tottenham, St.
James's Street, Hoe Street, Wood Street, and Hale End, to Chingford.

X. Ludgate Hill Station, near St. Paul's Cathedral and Black-
friars Bridge, City terminus of the MrrROPOLITAN LXTENSION
{(p. 85), and also of the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway.

XI. Holborn Viaduct Station, Holborn Viaduct, for the same
traing as Lindgate Hill Station.

XII. 8t. Paul's Station, Queen Victoria Street, s terminus of
the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway.

X1II. Fenchureh Btreet Station, near the Bank, on the 8. side
of Fenchurch Street, terminus of the Braoxwarr Ramway to
Shadwell, Stepney, Limehouse, West India Docks, Poplar, and Black-
wall, and of the Trrpvry, GRAVESEND, AND SoUTHEND RArLway,

On the right (8.) bank of the Thames: —

X1V. London Bridge Btation, the terminus of the Driexrox
axD Sovra Coast Ratnway, via New Cross, Brockley, Honor Oak
Park, Fovest Hill, Sydenham (Crystal Palace), Penge, Anerley,
Norwood Junetion (see p. 33), Croydon (where the main L. B, S, C,
line from Victoria joins; see also p. 83), Purley (junction for
Caterham), Bed Hill Junction (branch to the W, for Reigate, Box
Hill, and Dorking; to the K. for Dover), Three Bridges (for Arun-
del), and Hayward's Heath (junction for Lewes and Newhaven), to
Brighton. Also to Chichester and Portsmouth for the Isle of Wight.

XV. Waterloo Btation,; Waterloo Read, Sonthwark, terminus
of the Sovra WrsTeRy RAtnwAy, consists of three parts —

1. The Norrueex (entrance on the E. and N.E. ), for the line to
Reading by Vauchall, Queen's Road, Clapham Junction, Wands-
waorth, Putney, and Barnes. At Barnes the line forks; the branch
to the right (N.) forms a loop-line vid Chiswiek, Kew Bridge, Brent-
ford, Isleworth, and Hounslow, beyond which it rejoins the main-
line; that to the left (the main line) passes Mortlake, Riclimond,
Twickenham (branch to Strawberry Hill, Shepperton, Teddington,
Kingston, and Combe & Malden) and Staines (junction for Windsor).

2. The Cextran (entrance on the E, and W, sides), for the
main line to Southampton, Portsmouth (Isle of Wight), Salisbury,
Exeter, Piymouth, eto.

3. The Sovrures (sama entrances as the Central), for local
trains to Guildford via Eurlsfield, Wimbledon (an important junc-
tion)), and Royne's Park. At Rayne's Park a loop-line, fo the laft,
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runs vid Epsom and Leatherhead, rejoining the older line at Effing-
ham Junetion. The latter line proceeds via Combe § Malden, Surbiton,
and Long Ditton. The trains for Surbiton, Thames Ditton, and Hamp-
ton Court also start from the Sonthern station ; and also a service to
Kingston and Twickenham (zee p. 34),

[Waterloo Junetion, adjoining Waterloo terminus on the E., is

a distinet station belonging to the South Eastern Railway.]

On all the English linea the frst-class passénger is entitled lo carry
112, of luggage free, second-class 80@b., and third-class 80/b. The com-
panies, however, rarely make any chapgze for overweight unléss the excess
is exorbitant. On all inland routes the traveller should see thal his lug-
gage ia duly labelled for his destination, and put inio the vight van, as
otherwise the railways aré not resy ihle for its t port. Travellers
fo the Confinent require to book their luggage and obfain o ticket for
it, after which it gives them no farther frouble. The railway porters
are nominally forbidden to accet-t gratuiiies, bul it is 4 commin custom
to give 2d-B4. to the porter who transfers the luggage from the cab to the
train or vice versd.

Travellers aceustomed to the formalities of Continenfal railway of-
ficials may perhops consider that in England they are too much left to
themselves. Tickets are not invariably cheeked at the beginning of a journey,
and travellers should therefore make sure that they are in the proper com-
partment. The names of the stations are not always so conspicuous as
they should be (eapecially af nizht); and the way in which the porters
call them out, laying all the #tress on the last ayllable, is seldom of much
aggiatance. The officials, however, are genernlly civil in anéwering quea-
fiong and giving information. In winter foot-whrmers with hot woter are
nsually provided. It iz ‘good form’ for o pagsenger quitting a raiflway-
carriage where there ars other travellers to close the door behind him,
and to pull up the window if he has had to let it down.

B8uokinG i forbidden in all the carringes except in the compariments
myrked ‘smoking’, undér a penalty of d0s.

Bradshaw’s Railway Guide (monthly; €d.) is the most complete; but
numercus others (thé ABC Railway Guide, efe.), claiming to be easier of
reference, are also published. Each of the great railway companies pub-
lighes a monthly puide to ita own system (price 1-2d.).

" Metropolitan or Underground Railways.

An important artery of ‘intramural’ traffic iz afforded by the
Metropolitan and Metropolitan. District Railways. These lines,
whieh for the most part ran under the houses and streets by means
of tunnels, and partly also through ecuttings between high walls,
form a complete belt (the ‘inner eircle’) round the whole of the
inner part of London, while varions branch-lines diverge to the
outlying suburbs. The Midland, Great Western, Great Northern,
and other railways tun suburban traing in connection with the Me-
tropolitan lines. The Underground Railways convey over 110 mil-
lion passengers annually, or upwards of 2 million per week, at an
average rate of about twopenee per journey. Over the quadruple
part, of the line, between Farringdon street and Moorgate street,
1106 trains run every week-day, The stations on theé underground
lines are the following (see Railway Map): —

Mark Lane, for the Tower of London, the Mint, Corn Exchange,
Billingsgate, and the Docks. 4
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Aldgate, Houndsditch, corner of Leadenhall and Fenchurch
Streets, for Mineing Lane, Whitechapel, Minories, and the Kast End.

From Aldzate the line i extended to Aldgate Fast, S, Mary's (White-
chapel), and Whitechapel (Mile End), whence the District Company's traing
run on to Shadwell, Wapping, Rotherhithe, Depiford Road, and New Croes,
on the BEast London Ruilway, Throukh-trains now run between New Cross
and many of the Distriet and Metropolitan stations.

Bighopsgate, near the Liverpool Street (Great Eastern; sub-
way) and Broad Street (North London) stations.

Moorgate Street, close to Finsbvry Cireus, D min. from the
Bank, chief station for the City.

Aldersgate Street, Long Lane, near the General Post Office
and Smithfleld Market (branch-line to the latter, see p. 25) ; change
for Ludgate Hill, Crystal Palace, and London, Chatham, and Dover
Railway.

Farringdon Street, in Clerkenwell, !/ M. to the N. of Holborn
Viaduet, conneeted with Holborn Viaduet and Ludgate Hill stations
(seo p. 34); trains to and from the latter (London, Chatham, and
Dover Railway) every 10 min.

King's Cross, cornar of Pentonville Road and Gray's Tnn Road,
connested with the Great Northern and Midland Railways.

Gower Street, near Huston Square (North Western) Terminus
and about 1/s M. from the British Museum, Omnibus (2d.) to Edg-
ware Road Station (see below) in connection with the trains.

Portland Road, Park Square, at the S.E. angle of Regent's
Park, 15 M. from the 8. entrance of the Zoological Gardens (by
the Broad Walk); omnibus to Oxford Cireus (1d.) and Charing
Cross Station (24.) in connection with the trains.

Baker Btreet, corner of York Place, another station for the Bo-
tanio and Zoological Gardens. A little to the E., in Marylebone
Road, is Madame Tussaud’s (p. 43). Railway cmnibuses to Picca-
dilly Cireus (1d.) and to Charing Cross (District Railway; 24.).

Braxon Lixe to Sb Join':s Wood Read (for Lord's Cricket Ground),
Mariborough Road, Swiss Cottage, Finchiey Hoad, West Hampetead, Kilburn-
Brondesbury, Willesden Gredn, Kingsbury-Neasden (with the extensive works
of the Metropolitan Ruilway), Wembly Park, Harrow, Piuner, Northwood,
fickmanaworth, Chorley Wood, Chalfent Road, Ohesham, and Ayleshury,

E%gware Road, Chapel Street. Omnibus to Gower Street (see
above).

Braxum Lixe to Bishep's Road, Royal Oak, Westhourne Park, Notting
Hill (the a3t two stations are both near Kensal Green Cemetery), Lafimer
Road, Shepherd's Bugh, Hammersmith (trains every 1y hr.)s also lo Twrn-
ham Green (Bedford Park), Gunnersbury, Kew Gardens, Rfc-’amd (irains
every half-hour, from Bishop's load to Hichmond in 28 min.) — From
Latimer Boad bronch-ling to the left to Urbridge Hoad, Addison Road
(Eensington; for Olympin, p. M), Earl's Court, and Brompten (Gloucester
Road), see p. 874 trains every 1 hr. — Omnibus to Kilburn.

Praed Street (Paddington), opposite the Great Western Hotel
and the Paddington Station, with which it is connected by a subway.
Queen’s Road (Bayswater), N. side of Kensington Gardens.

Notting Hill Gate, Notting Hill High Street, for the E. part of
Notting Hill, Campden Hill, ete.
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EKensington High Street, Kensington, !/ M. from Holland
Hounse and Park.

Gloncester Road (Brompton).

Branon Lisgs: To Earl's Court, West Brompion, Walham Green (for
Stamford Bridge Athletic Grounds), Parson’s Green (for Hurlingham Fark),
Puiney Bridge, East Putuey, Southiields, Wimbledon Park, and Wimbledon;
to Earls Oourt. Wist Kensinglon, Hammersmith, Ravensconrt Park, Turnham
Green, Gunnersbury, Kew Gardens, and Richmond; to Farls Court, Addizon
Road, Latimer Road, ote. (see p. 88); to Farls Court, Addizon Roud,
Willesden Junction, Broad Street (see p, 33]. From Turnbiam Green a braneh
runs to (Riswick Park, Ml HIR Park, Ealing Common, and FEaling
(Broadway).

South Kensington,Cromwell Road, for South Kensington Museum
(3 min. to the N.), Natural History Museum, Albert Hall (subway,
see p. 276), Albert Memorial, and the Imperial Institute.

Sloane Bquare, near Chelsea Hospital, station for Battersea Park.

Victoria, opposite Victoria Terminus (London, Chatham, and
Dover and Brighton Railways), with which it is conuected by a
subway, and !/; M. from Buekingham Palace.

§t. James’s Park, York Street, near Birdeage Walk, to the S,
of St. James's Park.

Westminster Bridge, Viotoria Embankment, at the W, end of
Westminster Bridge, station for the Honses of Parliament, West~
minster Abbey, ete. From Westminater to Blackfriara the line runs
below the Vietoria Embankment (p. 115).

Charing Cross, for Charing Cross, Trafalgar 8qunare, National
Gallery, and West Strand.

Temple, between Somerset House and the Temple, below
Waterloo Bridge, station for the Law Courts, Somerset Honse, and
the London School Board Office.

Blackfriars, Bridge Street, adjacent to Blackiriars Bridge, con-
nected by a covered way with the St. Paul's Station of the London,
Chatham, & Dover Railway, and near Ludgate Hill Station (p. 34,

Mansion House, corner of Cannon Street and Queen Vietoria
Street, station for 8t. Paul's. Omnibus to Liverpool Streat Station.

Cannon Btreet, below the terminus of the South Eaatern Rail-
way (covered way ), the station nearest the Bank and the Exchange.

The Monument, at the corner of Eastcheap, station for the
Monument, London Bridge, the Coal Exchange, and the Electric
Railway Subway under the Thames (p. 113).

Trains run on the main line (inner circle) in both directions
from 6 a.m. to nearly midnight, at intervals of 5-10 min. during
the day, and of 15 min. before 8 a.m. or after 8 p.m.

The stations generally cceupy open sites, and are lighted from above,
many of them being roofed with ulass, At night some of them ars now
lighted with electric light. The earringes are comfortable and rvomy,
and are lighted with gas. The booking-office is gencrally om a level
with the street, at the top of the flight of stairs leading down to tha
railway. The official who cheoks the tickets points out the right plat-

form, while the tickets themselves are marked with n large red O or I
(for ‘outer’ and ‘inner' line of rails), corresponding with notices in the
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slations. Affer reaching the platform the traveller had belter enguire whe-
thar the train for his destination is the first that comes up or one of those
that follow, or consult the telegraph-board on which the destination of the
‘next train’is indieated. It may, however, He useful to know that the trains
of the *inner cirele' have one white light on the enginey traing hetween
Hammeramith and New Cross have two smaller white lights to the right
in front of the engine, between Hammersmith and Aldgate two white
lights to the left in fromt, and Detween Richmond and Aldgate two large
whité lights, The terminus townsrds which the train I8 travelling f2 also
generally placarded on the front of the engine. Ahove the platforms hang
hoards indicating the points al which the different ¢lasses of ocarriage are
drawn upy the fArgt-class carringes are in the middle of the train. The
names of the stations are called out by the porters, and are always painted
ut djﬂ'hrenldg?ﬂ.a of the platform and on the lamps and benches, though
frequently ficult to distingoish from the surrounding advertisements.
As the sfoppages are extremely brief, no time should he lost either in
foking seats or olighting. Pdssengers leave the platform by the *Way
Out', where their tickets are given up. Those who are travelling with
through-tickets to u gtation situated on one of the branch-lines show
their Hickets nt the junction where carrisges are changed, and where
the officials will indicate the proper train. — Comp. the time-tahles of
the sompanies.

The fares are extremely moderate, seldom exceeding a shilling even
for congiderable distances. Return-tickets are issued at a fare and & half,
At firat, in order to make himself acquainted with the Metropoliz, the
stranzer will nnturally prefer to make use of omnibuses and cahe, but
when his (irst curiosity is satisfied he will probably often avail himself
of the easy, ropid, snd economieal mode of travelling afforded by the
Metropolitnn Railway.

Eleotric Railway. The fivst eleciric railway in London was opened
in 1800, Stations: City (Cannon Sireet), Great Dover Bireet, Elephant and
Caatle, New Sirest Station, Kenninglon Oval, and Sitockwell (comp. p. 118).

11. Steamboats.

On the Thames between Hampton Court towards the west and
Southend and Sheerness on the east, there are about 45 piers or land-
ing-places; the larger half of which are on the north or left bank.
Above Vauxhall Bridge are Nine Elms, Pimlico, Battersea Park,
Cadogan, Chelsea, Bottersea Square, Wandsworth, Putney, Ham-
mersmith, Kew , Richmond, Teddington, and Hampton Court. Be-
tween the bridges, as the reach between Vauxhall Bridge on the
west and London Bridge on the east is sometimes called, are the
piers at Vaurhall, Lambeth, Westminster, Charing Cross, Waterloo,
Temple, Blackfriars, St. Paul's Wharf, and two at London Bridge
(one on each bank). Below all the bridges are Cherry Gardens (in
no sense corresponding with its name), Thames Tunnel, Giobe
Stairs, Limehouse, West Indin Docks, Commercial Doeks, Millwall,
Greenwich, Tsle of Dogs, Cubiti Town, Blackwall, Chavlton, Wool-
wich, North Woolwich, Erith, Greenhithe, Rosherville, Gravesend,
Southend, and Sheerness, where the Nore light-ship is reached, and
the estuary of the Thames expands into the German Ocgan. Some
of the larger steamers from London Bridge extend their trips to
Margate, Ramsgate, Clacton-on-Sea, Deal, Dover , Walton-on-the-
Nage, Harwich, Ipswich, and Yarmouth,
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Stedmers of the Viovorra Strampeoar Agsociation ply in snmmer every
ten minutes hetween London Bridge (0ld Swan Pier) and Chelsea,
ealling at intermediate stations (fares !/+-2d. according to distance), every
Ifs hr. betwedén Greenwich and Westminster (fare 3d.), and every s hr,
hetween Chelses (Cadogan Pier) snd Kew (fare 6d.). The longer tripa
(fores Gd.-Ba0d.) are advertised from time to time in the newspapers.
The steamers may also be hired for excursion-parties at prices ranging
from 10 to GBI per day.

A steamer of the ‘Brrps’ Strasars CoMmpawy leaves Lomdon Bridge
(Fresh wharf) daily except Fridays for Gresmwich, Hlachwall, Woolwich,
Gravesend, Clacton , and Southend, At Olacton atenmers are chunged for
Felizatowe, Hirwich and Ipmoich.

On Sundays and holy-days the fare is raised for most of the shorter
trips. Allhuugh the steamers cannol all be deseribed as comfortable, they
at any rate afford an excellent survey of the trafiic on the Thames *below
hridge’ and of the smiling beauties of its banks ‘above’,

12. Theatres, Music Halls, and other Entertainments.

The gerformsnce at most of the London theatres begins about
7.30 or 8 and lasts till 11 p. m. The ticket-office is usually opened
half-an-hour before the performance. Many theatres also give so-
eslled ‘morning performances’ or ‘matindes’, beginning about 2.30
or 3 p.m. For details consnlt the notices ‘nnder the clock’ (i.e. im-~
mediately before the summaries and leaders) in the daily papers.

London possesses G0-60 theaires snd about 500 music halls, which are
visited by 825,000 people nightly or nearly 100,000,000 yearly. A visit to
the whela of the theaires of London, which, however, could only he
managed in the course of pm‘lmg&d spjourn, would give the travellér
& capital insight into the social life of the people throughout all its gra-
dalions. Copies of the play are often sold sl the theatras for 64. or 1s,
At some of the better theatres all extrs fees have been abolished, but many
of them siill mainiain the objectionable custom of charging for programmes,
the care of wraps, ete. Opera glasses may be hired for 1s. or s 6d. from
the attendants; in some theatrea the glasses are placed in automatie hoxes
attaghed to the hacks of the sests and opened by dropping a shilling in
the slot, French (late Lacy), 80 Strand, is the chief theatrieal Dookseller,

The best sents are the Stalls, next to the Orchestra, and the Dress
Cirele. On the oecasion of popular performances tickets for these plices
ara often not to be had at the door on entering, but must be secured
pravioudly at the Box (ffice of the theatre, The office always confains
& plan of the theatre, showing the positions of the seats, Tickets for
the gpera and for most of the thedtres may also e obteined at Mitchell's,
a3 ()1|£I Bond Street; Lacon 4 Oliier, 168 New Bond Streety Oltivier, 85 0ld
Bond Btreet; Hays, 4 Royal Exchange Buildings; Heith, Prowse, & Co,,
4% Cheapside, 218 Hizh Holborn, Langham Hotel, 148 Fenchurch Sirest,
4 Amf and Navy Buildings, Victoria Street, and Hitel Métropole, North-
umberiand Avenue; Charing bross:. Cramer, Regent Stroet; Trees Ticket (1f fice,
St. James'a Hall, Piceadilly, and elsewhere, at charges somewhat higher
a5 a rale than at the theatres themselves, but occasionally lower. Bingle
box seats can generally be obtained at the door as well as at the box-
office, exeept when the boxes are let for the season.

Those who hava not taken their tickets in advance should be at the
door half-an-hour pefore the beginning of the performanece, with, if pes-
gible, the exaet price of their tickel in rendiness. (This is scarcely ever
necossary in regard fo the dearcst seats.) All the theatres are closed on
Good Friday and Christmas Day, and many of them throughout the whole
of Pagsion Week.

Evening dress 18 not now compulsory in any of the London theatres,
but is eustomary in the stally and dress circle and de rigueur in most
parta’ of the opera-houses during the opern sesson.
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The ¢hief London theatres are the following, but many of them
are closed in August and September.

Rovat Itaniax Orera, or Covent (GArpEN THEATRE, on the
W. side of Bow Street, Long Acre, the third theatre on the same
site, was built in 1858 by Barry. It accommodates an audience
of 3500 persons, being nearly as large as the Scala at Milan, and
has a handsome Corinthian colonnade. This house was originally
saered to Italian opera;, but is now nsed for promenade concerts in
antumn and for faney dress ballg, ete. in winter. Boxes 21/5-T gui-
neas, orchestra stalls 21s., amphitheatre stalls 10s. 64. and Bs,
amphitheatre 2s. 6d. Performance commences at 8 or 8.30 p.m,
Operas have also been given here at ‘theatre’ prices — i.e. about
50 per cent. lower than those just mentioned. In winter, stalls bs.,
stage stalls 4s., grand circle 2a, 6d., balcony stalls 2s,, promenade 1a.

Dauny Lane Tararer, between Drury Lane and Brydges
Street, near Covent Garden, where Garrick, Kean, the Kembles, and
Mrs. Siddons used to act. Shakspeare's plays, comedies, spectacular
plays, English opera, ete. Pantomime in winter. Stalls 10s., dress
cirele Ts. & Os., first circle Ds. and 4s., balcony 3s., pit 2s., gallery
1s., second gallery 6. No fees. The vestibule contains a gtatue of
Kean as Hamlet, by Carew, and others.

Lycsum Trrates, Strand, corner of Wellington Street. Shak-
spearian pieces, comedies, ete. (Mr. Henry Irving and Miss Ellen
Terry). Stalls 10s. Od., dress circle 6s. 6d., upper cirele 45, amphi-
theatre 25, 6d., pit 2s., gallery {s. No fees.

Haysmarker THEATRE, at the 8. end of the Haymarket, English
comedy. Stalls 10s., 6d., baleony stalls 7s., baleony Da., pit-cirele
2s. 6d., upper hoxes 2s., gallery 1s. No fees.

St. Jamns's TurAteE, King Street, St. James’s Square. Come-
dies and society plays. Stalls 10s. 6d., dress circle 6s. 6d., upper
cirele 4s., pit 2s. 6d., gallery {s. No fees.

Savoy Turatesr, Savoy Plave, Strand (electric light). English
comie operas and operettas, Stalls 10s, 6d., baleony Ts. 64, and
6., first cirele 4., pit2s. Od., amphitheatre 2s., gallery 1s, No fecs,

Prixenss's Tanares, 150 Oxford Street, between Oxford Circus
and Tottenham Court Road, Comedies, society plays, operettas,
ete. Stalls 10s., dress circle (5., boxes 3s., pit 25., amphitheatre
15, 6d., gallery 1s.

Rovan Averrar Taeares, 411 Strand (N. side), near Bedford
Streat. Melodramas and farces, Stalls 10s., dress circle Ds., upper
eircle 3s., pit 2s., zallery 1s.

Rovan Srraxp TeraTeE, Strand, near Somerset House. Come-
dies, opera-boufles, and burlesques. Stalls 10s, 4., dress circle Os.,
boxes 4s., pit 2s., amphitheatre 1,

Gamry Tueates, 340 Strand. Comedies, operettas, farces.
Orchestra stalls 10s. 6d., baleony stalls Gs. & Ts., upper boxes 4s.,
pit 2s. Bd., gallery 1. No fees.
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Opfma Comraug, 209 Strand. Operettas, ete. Stalls 10s. 6d.,
baleony stalls Ts. 6d. and Bs., boxes 4s., upper circle and pit 2s.
6d., gallery 15, This theatre is built end to end with the Globe
(see below), and like it is partly below the level of the strest.

Vavpevinne Tasares, 404 Strand. Comedies, farces, and bur-
lesques. Stalls 10s., dress circle Ts. & 6s., boxes 4s., upper circla
2s, Bd,, pit 2s., gallery 1s.

Grope TaraTRE, Newcastle Street, Strand., Operetias, come-
dies, ete. Stalls 10s, 6d., dress circle 6s., npper boxes 4s.; pit2s.,
gallery 1s. No fees.

Royan Covmr Tusares, Sloane Square, Chelsea. Comedies,
farces, ete. Stalls 10s. 6d., dress circle Ts. 6d., upper circle 4s.,
pit 2s. 6d., gallery 1s. No fees.

OrrrerioN TueateE, Piccadilly Kast. Comedies, society plays,
farees, ato, (Br. Charles Wyndham). Stalls 10s. 6d., dress circle
Ta., tamily cirele 3s., gallery 1a

Toore's Tuarrs, King William Street, Strand. Burlesques,
ete. (Mr. Toole). Stalls 10s., dress circle ds. & Ba., upper cirele 3s.,
pit 2s. 6d., gallery 1s.

Garnter Trearre, Charing Cross Road. Comedies and dramas
(Mr. John Hare). Stalls 10s. 6d., dress eirels Ts., upper boxes 4s.,
pit 2s. 6d.; gallery 1s.

SuarresBuRy TuEaTRE, Shaftesbury Avenune. Comedies, ete.
Stalls 10s., baleony stalls Bs., upper cirele 3s., pit 2s., amphi-
theatre 4s. Bd., gallery 1s.

Liyric TuuaTeE, Shaftesbury Avenue. Comedy-operas, Stallad0s,
6id., baleony stalls Ts. 6d. and Bs., circle 4s., pit 25, 6d.; gallery 1s.

Dary’s Tanarera, Cranbourn St., Leicester Square. Shak-
spearian pieces, comedies, ete. (Daly Company with Miss Ada
Rehan in the season). Stalls 10s. 6d., dress circle 6s., upper cirole
4s., pit 2u: 6d., gallery 1s.

Terry's THEATRE, 100 Strand. Comedies, domestic dramas, ete.
(Mr. Edward Terry). Stalls 105, 6d,, dress circle 7. 6d. and 6s.,
upper boxes 4s,, pit 2. 6d., gallery 1s.

Avexus Tanrares, Northumberland Avenue. Operettas. Stalls
10s. 6d., dress eircle Te. 6d. and Gs. (last row 4s.), upper boxes
3., pit ﬁs., gallery 1s.

TrAraLeAR TuraTrE, 8t, Martin's Lane, near Trafalgar Square.
Comedies, dramas, ete. Stalls 10s, 6d., dress circle 7s. 6d., upper
boxes 8s., pit 24. Iljd.., gallery 1s.
~ Privoes or Wares Tuuater, Coventry Street, Haymarket.
Comedies, operettas, ete. Stalls 10s. 6d., pit 2s. 6., gallery is.

Roxar Orxymerc Tesates, Wych Street, Strand. Comedies;
farces, and extravaganzas, Stalls 10s., dress cirele Be., pit 2s.

Rovarn Commpy Tasatre, Panton Street, Haymarket, Comic
operas, Prices from 1s. to 47, 4s.

Rovanty TrearTrE, 73 Dean Street, Soho. Burlesgues, farces,
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and opera-bonffes. Stalls 105 6., dress oirele Bs. and 5s., pit 2e.,
gallary 1a.

Graxp Tanatrs, High Street, Islington. Comedies, melodra-
mas, operettag, ete. ; pantomime in winter. Stalls 4a., balcony 2s.,
dreds cirele Bs., pit stalls 1s. Bd., pit 1s., gallery 6d.

Natronarn Stavvarp Trmartre, 204 Shorediteh High Street.
Popular pieces. Stalls 4s,, balcony 3s., lower circle 2s., upper
hoxes 1s. 6d., pit stalls 1s., gallery 6d.

MarynesoNe THEATRE, Church Street, near Edgware Road Sta-
tion. Dramas and farces. Stalls and boxes 2s., pit Gd., gallery 44.

Paviurony Taearer, Whitechapel, with accommodation for nearly
4000 persons. Nautical dramas, melodramas, farces. Admission 1s.
6d., 1s., 6d., and 3d.

Iyperiar, THEATES, Royal Aquarium, Westminster (see p. 225),
Comedies, burlesques, and farces. Stalls Ts., dress circle bs.,
boxes 3s., pit 2s., amphitheatre 1s.

Rovar Svarsy Tesarms, 124 Blackfriars Road. Melodramas
and farees. Admission 2s. 6d., 2., 1s., 6d., 4d.

Brirasxia Turatee, Hoxton Street, in the N.E. of London,
ho]ﬂiélg nearly 3400 persons. Melodramas. Admission 2s., 1., 6d.,
and 3d.

ELrPEANT AND Castie Trpatem, New Kent Road. Popular
performaneces. Prices 3d. to s,

Parkuvnsr Tugarrs, Camden Road, at the corner of Holloway
Road. Melodramas, comedies, eto. Adm. 6d. to fs.

Musie Halls, Variely Enterlainments, Public Gardens.

Arnuameras, Leicester Square (elaborate ballets). Begins at
7.30 p.m. Yauteuils Hs., stalls and promenade Bs., grand baleony
2s. pit stalls 1a.

Exprre Taparee or Varisrmss, Leicester Square (also with
good ballets). Prices 6s., Ba., 3a., 20, 1s., 6d.

Paracn TeeaTeE oF VARmTiRg, Cambridge Cireus, Shaftesbury
Avenue. Begins at 7.30 p.m. Prices bs., ds., 3., 2., 15, Gd.

Loxpox Paviniow, Piccadilly. Begins at 7.30 p.m. Prices 1s.,
1s. Gd., Bs., Da.

Trvort THEATRE oF Vanieries, Strand, Begins at 7,30 p.m.
Prices 4s,, 3s., 2s., 18,

Trooansro (late Argyll Rooms), Great Windmill Street, Shaf-
tesbury Avenue. Admiesion 1s., 2s., 35. Performanee at 7.30 p.m. -

Trn Oxrorp, 14 Oxford Street, Beginsat 7.16 p.m. Adm. 6d.to 2s.

MuTROPOLITAN Music Harx, 267 Edgware Road. Begins at
8 pom. Adm. 6d, to 2s.

5 EpEn PAnACE oF Varteries, Great Queen Street, Linocoln’s Inn
elds.

Savrer’s WenLs Tapatee, St. John Street Road, Clerkenwall.
Variety entertainment. Begins at 7.30 p.m. Prices 4d. to 1s. 6d.
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Rovar Musto Harn, 242 High Holborn. Begins at 7.30 p.m.
Prices from 6d,

CanterBury Tasates oF Vammeries, 143 Westminster Bridge
Road. Entertainment begins at 7.40 p.m. Adm. from 6d.

Rovar Vicroria Corren Musre Harny, Waterloo Bridge Road,
Lambeth, formerly the Vietoria Palace Theatre. Open at 7 p.m.
Prices from 3d. to 10s. 6. (private box).

Parscon Tauarre or Varigrres, Mile End Road. PBegins at
7.30 p.m. Admission from Gd. npwards.

Forusrers' Havn, 93 Cambridge Road, E.

Oamsrinee Hatn or Varieries, 136 Commereial Street, E.
Adm. from 3d.

Connixs's Music Hann, Islington Green, near the Royal Agri-
cnltural Hall,

Sours Loxnon Paracs or Asuvsemsnts, 92 London Road, St.
George’s Fields, near the Klephant and Castle. Concerts 'hnlleta,
ete. Thisisthe largest concert room in London, seating 5000 persons,
Admission 2s., 1s. 6d., 1s., 6d., and 84.

RosHERVILLE Gannmrs Gra.vesend Musie, daneing, theatre,
zoological eollection. Adrmssion 6d. Reached by rail or steamer.
Open in summer only.

WeMBLEY PARK, to the N.W. of London. Musie, boating on
artificial lake, variouns cutdoor amurements, and occasionally fire-
works. Wembley Tower now building. Admission d. Reached
by train from Baker 8t. Station (see p. 36).

WoonrousE Panrx, close to Uxbridge Road and Shepherd's Bush
stations, Rapmductwn of Stonehenge, captive balloon, illuminations,
Inwn tennis, ete. Admission Gd.

Exhibitions and Enterfainments.

Mapaus Tussavn's Waxwork Exmierrion, Marylebone Road
near Baker Street Station, a well-known and interesting collection of
wax figures of ancient and modern nofabilities. The best time for
visiting it is in the evening, by gaslight. Admission 1s. — At the
back (6d. extra) is a room with various memorials of Napoleon I.
(inelnding his travelling carriage, captured by the Prussians at
Genappe, and bought by Madame Tussaud for 25000.), and also the
‘Chamber of Hprrors', containing casta and portraits of executed
criminals, the guillotine which decapitated Louis XVI. and Mane
Antoinette, and other articles of & like ghastly nature.

Mme. Tussaud, o Swiss by birth, came to London in 1802, lost har
first colleetion of waxworks by ehlpwreu!s on the way to Iralun& started
a mew one, and died in London in 1850 at the age of ninety. 'The ex-
hibition ia still under the management of her great-grandson.

Mg. axnp Mes. GErMaAN REED's DRamaTic axp Muvsicar ExTER-
TAINMENT, St. George's Hall, 4 Langham Place. Adm. 1-5s.

Eeyerian Harn, Piceadilly, opposite Burlington Arcade, Mas-
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kelyne and Cooke's conjuring and illusionary performances (at 8
and 8 p.m.; ba., Bs., 25., 1s.), concerts, art exhibitions, eto,

Moore axp Bunreess MinstrELS, 8t. James's Hall, Regent Street
and Piceadilly. Adm. 5s., 3s., 25. and 19, At 8 p.m. daily; and on
Mondays, Wednesdays, and Saturdays at 3 p.m. also,

RovAL AQuARiUM AND SumMmeR AND WisTeRR GARDEN, DBroad
Sanctuary, Westminster (p. 226). Theatre, concerts, ballets, acro-
batie, pantomimie, and conjuring performances, Adm, 1s. Various
side-shows extra.

CrysTan Patace, Sydenham (p. 317). Occasional exhibitions,
dog-shows, cat-shows, poultry-shows, ete.; Pantomine in winter.

Ouymria, opposite the Addison Road Station, Kensington, a

huge amphitheatre, holding 10,000 people, for spectacular perform-
ances, shows, exhibitions, eto., with restaurants, ete. (In 1894,
‘Constantinople in London’; open at 12 noon and 6 p.m. ; adm. s,
2s,, 3s., 4s., Bs.).
. Agmicvrruran Hain, Liverpool Road, Islington. Cattle shows,
military tournaments (notably the Royal Military Tonrnament in
June), lectures, dioramas, concerts, ete. — The Mohowk Minstrels
(Ohristy Minstrels) also give their entertainments here.

Nragans Hanrn, York Street, Westminster (near St. James's

Park Station). Skating-rink of real ice.

The large open space hetween West Kensington, Earl’s Court, and
‘West Brompion stationg (ses P, G, 1, 2) is used for Exhibitions of various
kinda (in 1800 Industrial Erhibition).

13. Concerts and Exhibitions of Pictures.
Coneerts.

81, Jamms's Harn, with entrances from the Regent Street
Quadrant and Piccadilly, used for concerts, balls, and public meet-
ings. Among the concerts given here are those of the Musieal
Union, those of the Saered Hurmonie Society (oratorios), and the
favourite Monday and Saturday Popular Concerts, held every Monday
evening at 8 o'clock and every Saturday afternoon at 3 o'clock during
the winter season, at which clussical music is performed by eminent
artistes. Admission to the last-named concerts: stalls Hs., front
gallery 3s., other parts of the hall 1s.

Quegex’s Hatn, Langham Place W., a large hall (3000 seats),
opened in 1893, with a painted ceiling. Among the concerts given
here are the Philkarmonic Coneerts, in May and June, and the Sym-
phony Coneerds (Mr. Henschel), in winter.

Rovan Arnert Harn, South Kensington (p. 280), for musical
fétes and concerts on a large scale, but at nneertain intervals.

Orysran Paraocs, Sydenham (p. 847); numerons concerts by
a good orchestra and celebrated artistes.

Agriovuroran Hann, Islington. Oecasional concerts, which
are advertised in the daily papers.
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Sr. Grorexr's Harn, 4 Langham Place, W.

SremwAY Harn, Lower Seymour Street, Portman Square.

Srons Srrenrr Harn, Store Street, Bedford Square.

Prixomss’s Concnrr Roon, at the back of the Princess's Theatre
(p. 40); oceasional concerts.

Gravroxy Havyn, Grafion Strest, New Bond Streat.

Princns’ Hany, Piceadilly, opposite Sackville Street.

IntERNATIONAL HALL, above the Café Monico (p. 12).

Erhibitions of Pictures.

Rovar Acapemy or Frve Arts, Burlington House, Piceadilly
(p. 229). Exhibition of the works of lving Britigh painters and
seulptors , from first Monday in May to first Monday in August.
Open daily 8-7 ; admission 1s., catalogne 1s. During the last week
open also from 7.30 to 10.30 p.m.; admission Gd. Kxhibition of
the works of Ancient Masters in January and February. Diploma
and Gibson galleries, open throughout the year(see p. 220; en-
trance to the right of the main entrance).

Tre New Gartery, 121 Regent Street, Summer and winter
exhibitions. Admission 1s.

Rox¥axn Socrery or Parntems IN Warer-Covovas, D Pall Mall
East. Open from Easter to the end of July, and from Deecember to
March; admission 1s., catalogue 1s.

Rovan Ixstiture oF Pamnrers v Warse - Conovns, Pieca-
dilly Galleries, 191 Piceadilly. Exhibitions from Easter to the end
of July (9-8; 1s.) and from 1st Deec. to end of Feb. (10-4; 1s.).

Socrery or Brroisa Awnrists, 6 Suffolk Street, Pall Mall. Exhi-
bitions from st April to 1st Aug. (9-6) and from 1st Dee. to ist
March (9-D). Admission fs.

Soorery oF Lapy ArTtiars. Summer exhibition in the Egyptian
Hall, Piceadilly; admission 1s., catalogue 6d.

GravroN Garimmy, Grafton Street, Bond Street. Oeceasional
exhibitions.

Ganreny or Sacenp Awnt, 3D New Dond Street, chiefly con-
taining paintings by the late Edwin Long, E. A. Daily, 10-6; 1s.

There are also in winter and spring various exhibitions of
French, Belgian, German, and other paintings at 120 Pall Mall
{Frﬁnch Ga].lery), 39 01d Bond Street (Agnew's), 47 New Bond
Street (Hanover Gallery), 116 & 117 New Bond Street (Goupil
Gallery), 148 New Bond Strect (Fine Art Society), b Haymarket

Tooth), 7 Haymarket (Maclean’s), the Conduit Street Galleries
ENmeteanth Century Art Society), the St. James's Gallery, King
Street (Mr, Mendoza), ete. Usual charge 15,
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14, Races, Sports, and Games.

Horse- Racing. The principal race-meetings taking place
within easy distance of London are the following: —

1. The Epsom Summer Meeting, at which the Derby and Ouks
are run. The former invariably takes place on a Wednesday, and
the latter on a Friday, the date being generally within a fortnight

before or after Whitsuntide.

The Derby was instituted by the Farl of Derby in 1780, and the
vilue of the stakes now sometimes exceeds G000). The length of the
course ia {1/ M., and it wes gone over by Kettledrum in 1861 in 2 min.
A3 sec., the shortest time on record. Both horses and mares are allowed
to compete for the Derby (mares carvying 8ib. less weight), whila the
Oake is confined to mares. In both ceses the age of the horses running
must be threa yesrs, To view these races London empties itself annually
by road and rail, even Parliament suspending its sitting on Derhy Day,
in spite of the ever recurring opposition. The London and Brighton
Railway Company (London Bridse and Victoria stations) have a slation
ut Epsom close to the course, and this is the most convenient route. It
may algo be reiched by the London and Spouth Western Railway from
‘Waterloo. The incressed facilities of resching Epsom by train have
somewhat diminished the popularity of the road; bui the traveller who
would see the Derby Day &nd its charactoristic sights thoroughly swwill
not regret hia choice if he sslect the laiter. A deecently appointed open
carriage and pair, holding four persons, will eost 8106, everything in-
cluded. A hansom eab ean be bad for rather less than half that amount,
but an arrangement should be made with the driver on the previous
day. The appearsnce of Epsom Downs on Derby Day, crowded with
myrinds of human beings, is one of the most striking and onimoted
sichts ever witnessed in the neighbourhood of London, and will interest
the ordinery visitor more than the great race itself,

2. The Ascot Week is about a fortnight after the Dexby. The
Gold Cup Day ig on Thursday, when some members of the Royal
Family usually drive up the course in state, attended by the master
and huntsmen of the Royal Buekhounds. The course is reached by
train from Waterloo; or the visitor may travel by the Great Western
Railway (Paddington Station) o Windsor and drive thence to Ascot.

3. At Sandown, near Esher, and at Kempton Park, Sunbury,
races and steeplechases are held several times during the year.

4. The Epsom Spring Meeting, lasting for three days, on one of
which the City and Suburban Handicap is decided.

Besides the abgve therée are numerong smaller race-meetings near
London, but with the exception of that at Croyden they will hardly repay
the trouble of a visit, as they are largely patronised by the ‘rough’ ele-
ment. The stranper should, if possible, attend races and other public
gatherings in company with a friend who is well acquainted with the hest
method of seeing the sport. Much frouble and disappointment will be
thereby avoided.

Newmarket, 1he headgnarters of racing, is situatod on the Greal Bastern
Bailway, at some distance from London. Hacing at Newmarket is a busi-
ness, and does not offer the same afiractions fo & visitor as nt Epsom or
Aacot (comp. Baedeker’s Greal Britain). — Goodicood Races, see Baedeker’s
Greal Britain,

Hunting. This sport is carried on throughout England from
autumn to spring. Cunb- hunting generally begins in September
and continues until 31st Oct, Regular fox-hunting then takes ita
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place and lasts till about the middle of April. Hare-hunting lasts
from 28¢h Oct. to 27th Feb., and buck-hunting begins on 14th Sept.
Should the traveller be staying in the country he will probably have
but little diffienlty in seeing a meet of a pack of fox-hounds. The
Surrey fox-hounds are the nearest to London. There is a pack of
harrigrs at Brighton, The Royal Buckhounds eften meet in the
vicinity of Windeor, and when this is the case the journey can be
easily made from London. The quarry is a stag, which is allowed
to escape from a cart. The huntsmen and whippers-in wear a
scarlet and gold nniform. The followers of the hounds wear gearlet,
black, and indeed any colour, and this diversity, conpled with the
large attendance in earriages, on foot, and on horseback, makes
the scene a very lively one. For meets of hounds, see the Field.

Fishing (roach, perch, gudgeon, pike, barbel, and trout) can
be indulged in at all places on the Thames between Richmond and
Wallingford. No permission is required, except in private waters.
The services of a fisherman, who will furnish a punt and all tackle,
can be secured at a charge of about 10s. per day, the hirer provid-
ing him with dinner and beer, The Lea (p. 344), Darent, Brent,
Colne, etc., also affiord good opportunities to the London angler, See
the Angler’s Diary (Field Office, 346 Strand; 1s. 6d.) or Dickens’s
Dictionary of the Thames (1s.), and compare pp. 343, 344,

Cricket. Lord's at St. John's Wood (p. 241), the headquarters
of the Marylebone Club, is the chief cricket gromnd in London,
Here are played, in June and July, the Eton and Harrow, and the
Oxford and Cambridge matchies, besides many others. The Kenning-
ton Oval (p. 304), the headguarters of the Surrey County Club, is
also an imporcant cricket-centre. Raoxsr and Trexnis Courrs are
attached to both these grounds.

Golf, (olf, which is in season all the year round, has become
exceedingly popular in England within the last few years, Near
London there are golilng-courses at Wimbledon, Tooting, Chingford,
Northwood, and more than a score of other places.

Foothall. Football is in season from about the beginning of
Octaber to the end of March, The chief matches under the Rugby
Football Union rules are played at the Rectory Field, Blackheatly
(headquarters of the Blackheath Football Club); Brondesbury (Lon-
don Scottish Club); and Richmond Old Deer Parlk (Richmond Club),
Kennington Oval (see above) is the scene of the best matches under
the Football Agsociation rules.

Athletics, The chief scene of athletic sports of all kinds is
Slamford Bridge, on the Fulham Road, where the London Athletic
Club has its beadquarters. The Amatenr Championships of the
United Kingdom are decided here when these sports are held in
London (every third year). The University Sports, between Oxford
and Cambridge, take place at Queen’s Ground, Kensington, in the
Boat Race week (see p. 48). The card comprises nine ‘events’, and
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the university whose réepresentatives secure the majority is the
winner, The German Gymnastic Society, 26 Pancras Road, King's
(ross, takes the lead among all gymnastic clubs; about half of its
7-800 members are English. The Amateur Athletic Association
consists of representatives of the leading athletic elubs.

Boxing. Among the chief boxing clubs in London are the West
London Boging Club and the Cestus Boxing Club, and there are also
hoxing olubs in connection with the German Gymnastic Society, the
London Athletie Club, ete. Most of these are affiliated to the Ama-
teur Boxing Association. A vompetition for amatenr hoxers is held
yearly, the prizes being handsome challenge cups presented by the
Marquis of ()Jneensbezry.

Lawn Tennis. The governing and controlling body for this
pastime is the Lawn Tennis Association (sec., Mr. H. Chipp),
established in 1888, The Lawn Tennis Championship of the World
is competed for early in July on the ground of the All England
Lawn Tennis Club, Wimbledon, and other important competitions
take place at Stamford Bridge, Hyde Park (Covered Uourt Cham-
pionship), ete. Courts open tostrangers are found at the Orystal
Palace, Battersea Park, and other public gardens, drill-halls, ete.,
but as a rule this game cannot be enjoyed to perfection except in
elub or private grounds,

Cycling, There are now a great many bicyeling and tricycling
clubs in London; the oldest of which was founded in 1870, The
chief bieycle race-meetings are held at the Alexandra Park, Stam-
ford Bridge, Surbition, and the Crystal Palace. The annual muster
of the elubs sometimes attracts thonsands of eyelists.

The headquarters of the National Cyelists’ Union are at 07 Basinghall
Street, E. C. (see., Mr. Finlay Macrae), and those of the Cyelists' Touring
Ciub are ot 139 Fleet Strect (sec., My, E, R. Shipton), The chief consul for
the foreign district of the latter club is Mr, 8. A, Stead, 10 Tabley Road,
Holloway. An exhibition of bicycles, tricyeles, and their aceessories; ealled
the Staniey Show, is held in London snnuuslly, Compare the Cycling Times
(Whitefriars Street) or the Monthly Gaszefts of the Cyelists’ Touring Club.

Aquatics. The chief event in the year is the Oxford and Cam-
bridge Boat Race, usually rowed on the second Saturday before
Easter. The courge is on the Thames, from Putney to Mortlake;
the distance is just over 41/ M., and the time occupied in fowing
it varies from just under 20 min, fo 23 min., according to the
state of the wind and tide. The Londoners pour out to see the
boat-race in almost as great erowds as to the Derby, sympatheti-
cally exhibiting in some portion of their attire either the dark blue
colours of Oxford or the light blue of Cambridge. — There are also
several regattas held upon the Thames. The best are those at
Henley (at the end of June or the beginning of July), Marlow,
Staines, and Walton. To Henley crews are usually sent from the
universities of Oxford, Oambridge, and Dublin, by Eton College,
and by the London Rowing Olub, the Leander, the Thames Club,
and other clubs of more or less note. Crews from American uni-
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versities sometimes take part in the proceedings. On Aug. 1sta
boat-race takes place among young Thames watermen for Doggett's
Coat and Badye, a prize founded by Doggett, the comedian, in 1715,
The course is from Old Swan Pier, London Bridge, to the site
of the Old Swan at Chelsea, abount § miles. Yacht races are held
at the mouth of the Thames during summer. See the Rowing Al-
manack (1s. ; Field Office, 346 Strand) or Dickens's Dictionary of
the Thames (1s.).

Swimming. Among the most important of the numerous swimm-
ing clubs in London, most of which belong to the Swimming Asso-
ciation of G'reat Britain (sec., Mr. Barron, Geswell Hall, Goswell
Road, E.C.), the most important are the Ilex and the Otter. The
rages for the amateur championship of Great Britain take place at
the Welsh Harp, Hendon (p. 345), and those for the professional
championship in the Thames at Putney. The races are swum in
‘university costume’, and may be witnessed by ladies.

15. Embassies and Consulates. Bankers.

Embassies.

America, United States of. Embassy, 123 Victoria Street, 8. W.
Entﬂce—hnurs 11-3); minister, Hon. Thomas F. Bayard.
jonsulate, 12 St. Helen’s Place, Bishopsgate, E. C.; consul,
Patrick Collins, Esq.

Ausirin. Embassy, 18 Belgrave Square. Consulate, 11 Queen
Victoria Street, E.C.

Belgium. Legation, 36 Grosvenor Gardens, S.W. Consulate, 118
Bishopagate Street Within, I, 0.

Brasil. Legation, 55 Curzon Strest, W. Consulate, 6 Great Win-
chester Street, E.C.

China. Legation, 49 Portland Place, W.

Denmark. Legation, 24 Pont Street, 8.W. Consulate, 5 Muscovy
Court, Tower Hill, E. C.

France. Embassy, Albert Gate House, Hyde Park. General Con-
sulate, 38 Finshury Circus.

@ermany. Embassy, 9 Carlton House Terrace. (General Consulate,
b Blomfleld Street, London Wall, E, 0.

Greece. Legation, Albemarle Hotel, Piccadilly, W. Consulate, 19
Great Winchester Street, E.C.

Italy. Embassy, 20 Grosvenor Square, W. General Consulate,
31 01d Jewry. '

Japan, Legation, 8 Sussex Square, Hyde Park, W. Consulate,
84 Bishopsgate Street Within, E, C.

Netherlands. Legation, 40 Grosvenor Gardens. Consulate, 40 Fins-
bury Circus, E. C.

Persia. Legation, 30 Ennismore Gardens, 1 Drapers’ Gardens,
Throgmorton Avenue, E. C.

Bappkxir, London, 9th Edit, 4
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Portugal. Legation, 12 Gloucester Place, Portman Square, W.
Consulate, 3 Throgmorton Avenue, B. C.

Russia. Embassy, Chesham House, Belgrave Square. Consulate,
17 Great Winchester Street, City.

Spain. Embassy, 1 Grosvenor Gardens, W. Consulate, 21 Billiter
Street, E. 0.

Sweden and Norway. Legation, 52 Pont Street, 8.W., Consulate,
24 Great Winchester Street, K. C.

Switzerland. Legation and Consulate, 76 Vietoria Street, 8.W.

Turkey. Embassy, 1 Bryanston Square. Consulate, T Union Court,
0ld Broad Street, E. O.

Bankers.

Prrvars Banxs: — Messrs. Barelay, Bevan, & Co., b4 Lom-
bard Street and 1 Pall Mall East; Chitd, 1 Fleet Street; Coutts,
56-59 Strand ; Drummond, 49 Charing Cross; Glyn, Mills, & Co.,
67 Lombard Street; Herries, Farquhar, & Co., 16 St. James's
Street; Hoare § Co,, 37 Fleet Street; Robarts, Lubbock, & Co.,
15 Lombard Street ; Smith, Payne, & Smiths, 1 Lombard Street, ete.

Jomnt Stock Bawks: — London and County, 21 Lombard Street ;
Londan Joint Stock, & Prince’s Street, Bank; London and Provin-
cial, 7 Bank Buildings; London and South Western, 170 Fenchurch
Street; London and Westminster, 41 Lothbury; Union Bank of
London, 2 Prince's Street, Mansion House, E.C. ; Lloyds, 72 Lom-
bard Street; Williums Deucon, & Manchester & Salford Bank, 20
Birchin Lans; ete.

AMERICAN Banks: — Brown, Shipley, & Co., Founders’ Court,
Lothbury, E. C.; Baring Brothers, 7-9 Bishopsgate Street Within,
E.C.; J. 8. Morgan & Co, (Drevel & Co.), 22 Old Broad Street,
E. 0.; Knauth, Nachod, & Kiihne, at the Alliance Bank, Bar-
tholomew Lane, E. O,

All the banking companies have branch-offices in different parts
of London, some as many as fiftesn or twenty.

Money-Craxeers, Osborne§ Gall, 264 Strand ; Reinhardt & Co.,
14 Coventry Street; Whiteley, 31-6i4 Westbourne Grove; Smart,
19 Westbourne Grove; Cook's Tourist Offices, Ludgate Circus,
445 Strand, 35 Piccadilly, 82 Oxford Street, Euston Road (in front
of St, Pancras Station), and at the corner of Gracechurch Street
and Leadenhall Street; Gaze's Tourist Office, 142 Strand ; United
States Exchange (p. 16); Lady Guide Association (p. 58),

16. Divine Service.

To enable visitors belonging to different religious denominations
to attend their respective places of worship, a list is here given
of the prineipal churches in London. The denominations ave ar-
ranged in alphabetical order. The chief edifices of the Church of
England are noticed throughout the Handbook.
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There are about B00 churches of the Church of England in London
or its immediate vieinity, of which 100 are parish churches in the City,
60 parish churches in the Matrapolitan dju%r?ct beyond, and 260 ecclesi-
astical parish or district churches or chapels, some connected with asy-
fums, missions, ete. Of the Noneonformist churches, which amount to
about 600 in all, 240 are Independent, 180 Baptist, 15) Wesleyan, and 60
Roman Catholie, — The hours named after each church are those of
divine service on Sundays; when no hour is specified it iz understood
that the hours of the reguler Bunday services are 11 a.m. and 6. 30 p.m.
Many of the Baturday morping and evening papers give a list of the
principal preachers on SBunday.

Barrist Cuarens: — Metropolitan Tabernacle, Newington Butts,
close to the Elephant and Castle (p. 8U9), the church of the late
Rev. C. H. Spurgeon; services at 11 and 6.30. — Bloomsbury
Chapel, Bloomsbury Street; Oxford Street; services at 11 and 7. —
Park Square Chapel, Regent's Park; services at 11 and 7.

Caroric Avosronro Cuvnonns: — Gordon Sgnare, Euston
Road; services at 6, 10, 2, and 5. — College Street, Chelsea; ser-
vices at 6, 10, B, and 7. — Duncan Street, Islington.

CoNGRBGATIONATISTS or INDEPENDENTS ; City Temple, Holborn
Viaduet (Dr. Parker); services at 11 and 7 (lecture on Thurs. at
noon). — Union Chapel, Islington, — Westminsier Chapel, James
Street, Westminster, — Weigh House Chapel, Duke Street, Gros-
venor Square; 11 and 7. — Kensington Chapel, Allen Street, Kens-
ington. — Christ Church, Westminster Bridge Road ; the fower and
spire of this church were built by Americans in London as a mem-
orial of Abraham Lincoln.

Triexps or Quaxers: — Mesting-houses at D2 St. Martin's
Lans, Trafalgar Square, and Devonshire House, 12 Bishopsgate
Street; services at 11 and 6.

INDEPENDENTS, Bee (ongregationalists,

Invinerrss, see Catholic Apostolic Churches.

Jews: — Great Central Synagogue, 129 Great Portland Street.
— New Synagogue, Great St. Helen's, St. Mary Axe, Leadenhall
Streat. — West London Synagogue, 34 Upper Berkeley Street,
Edgware Road. — Great Synagogue (German), 52 New Bond
Street, City. — Bayswater Synagogue, Chichester Place, Harrow
Road; West End Synagogue, St. Petersburg Place, Bayswater Road.
— Service beging at sunset on Fridays.

MerHODISTS. 2. Wesleyan Methodists: — Wesley's Chapel, 47
City Road ; Great Queen Street Chapel, Lincoln's Inn Fields; Fins-
bury Park Chapel, Wilberforce Road; Hinde Strest Chapel, Man-
chester Square; Mostyn Road Chapel, Brixton Boad ; Peckham Cha-
pel, (Queen’s Road, Peckham ; Welsh Wesleyan Chapel, 57 City Road.
— b. Other Mathodists: — Brunswick Chapel (New Connexion),
456 Greal Dover Street, Southwark; Elim Chapel (Primitive Me-
thodists), Fetter Lane, Fleet Street; United Methodisi Free Chapel,
Willow Street, Tabernacle Square, Moorgate; United Free Chapel,
Queen’s Road, Bayswater.

Nrw Jerusarax or SwWEDENBORGIAN CHuncuns: — Palace

4
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Gardens Terrace, Kensington. — Argyle Square, King's Cross. —
Camden Road, Holloway. — College Chapel, Devonshire Streef,
Islington. — Flodden Road, Camberwell. Services at 11 and 7.

PruspyraniaNs: — Seottish National Chureh (Chureh of Seot-
land); Pont Street, Belgravia; 11 and 7. — Regent Square Chureh,
Regent’s Square, Gray's Inn Road ; perviees at 11 and 7. — Maryle-
bone Chureh, Upper George Street, Bryanston Square, Edgware Road,
— 8t. John's Wood Presbyterian Church, Marlborough Place, St.
John’s Wood ¢(Dr. Munro Gibson). — Weish Calvinist Chapel, Cam-
bridge Circus, Charing Cross Road. '

Roman Oarmonics: — 8t George's Catliedral, Westminster
Bridge Road (see p. 311) ; various services. — Pro-Cathedral, New-
Jand Terrace, Kensington Road ; services at 7, 8 9, 10, 11, 4, and 7,
— Oratory, Brompton Road ; services at 61/5-11, 8.80, and 7. —
Berkeley Mews Chapel (Jesuits), Farm Street, Berkeley Square, —
8t. Mary's Chapel, Moorfields. — St. Mary of the Angels, Westmore-
land Road, Bayewater. — 8t. Etheldreda’s, Ely Place, Holborn
principal services at 11.15 and 7. — St. Patrick’s, Sutton Street,
Soho Square, — St. Joseph's Retreat (Passionist Fathers), Highgate
Hill. — St. Dominic’s Priory, Southampton Road, N.W.; services
at 11 and 7. — High Mass usually begins at 11 a.m., and Vespers
at 7 p.m.

SWEnENBORGIANS, ses New Jerusalem Churchea.

Unrranians : — Bedford Chapel, Bloomsbury Street (Rev, Stop-
ford Brooke) ; services at 11 and 7. — Liltle Portland Street Chapel
(Rev. P. H. Wicksteed); Unity Church, Islington (Rev. I W. Freckel-
ton), Rosslyn Hill Chapel, Hampstead (Rev. Brook Herford); Mall
Chapel, Notting Hill ; Wandsworth Chapel.

Wesnevans, see Methodists.

The services of the South Place Ethical Sociely are held at the
Bouth Place Institute at 11.15 a.m, — The lectures of the West
London Ethical Society are given at Princes’ Hall, Piccadilly, at
11.145; those of the London Ethical Society in Essex Hall, Kssex
Street, Strand, at 7.30 p.m.

Foreign Churches: — Bavarian Chapel (Roman Cafholic), 12 Warwick
Bireet, Regent Btreet; services at 8, 8, 10, 11,15, 8.80, and 7. — Danish
Church (Lutheran), King Sireet, Poplar; service at !iU.EOn..m. — Dutch
Chureh (Reformed Calvinist), 6 .Lus_t.i.n Friars, near the Bank; serviee at
11 a.m. — French Protestant, Soho Squarey services at 11 and T. — French
Protestant  Evangelical Church, Monmouth Road, Westbourne Grove,
Bayawater; services at 11 and 7. — French Anglican Church, 36 Blooms-
bury Btreet, Oxford Street; services at 11 and 3.80. — French Roman
Catholic Chapels, Little George Street, King Btrest, Portman Bquare, and
at b Leicester Place, Leicester SBquare; various services, — German Lutheran
Chureh (lately in the Bavoy), Olaveland Sireet, Fitaroy Square; ser-
vices at 11 and B.45. — German Lutheran Churches in Little Alie Birest
Whitechapel and at Dalston. — German Reformed Churcl, Goulston Road,
Aldgate. — German Evangelical Churches, at Forest Hill, in Dacres Road
Sydenham, in Windsor Road, Camberwell, and at Fowler Road, Isling-
ton, — German Methodist Church (Bohlerkirche), Commercial Road; ser-
vices at 11 and 6.30. — German Foman Catholic Chapel, 9 Union Bireet,
Whitéchapel; services at 9, 11, 8, and 7. — German Synagogue, see Jews,
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— @reek Chapel (Russian), 32 Welbeck Street, Cavendish S8quare; service at
ilam, — Greek Church (St. Bophia), Moscow Road, Bayswaler; service at
1145 a.m. — Tulinn Roman Cathelic Church, Ulerkenwell Road, E.C. —
Spanish Roman Catholic Chapel, George Sirset, Manchester Square; nu-
merous gervices, — Swediah Protestani Church, Prince’s Syuare, 8t. George’s
Street, Shadwell; gervice at 11 am (p. 180). — Swiss Profestant Church,
78 Endell Street, Long Acre; service at 11am.

17. Post and Telegraph Offices. Parcels Companies.
Commissionnaires. Messengers. Lady Guides.

Post Office, The Gunuran Post Orricr is in St. Martin's le
Grand (p.91). The Poste Restante Office is on the 8. (right) side of
the portico (p. 81), and is open from 8 a.m. to 8 p.m. There are
also Poste Restante Offices at nine distriet offices. Letters to be
called for, which should have the words ‘Poste Restante' added to
the address, are delivered to applicants on the produetion of their
passports or other proof of identity, but it is better to give eor-
respondents a private address. Letters addressed to persons who
have not been found are kept for a month, and then sent to the
Dead Letter Office for return to the writer, or for destrustion.

Unprepaid letters are charged donble postage, but may be refused
by the addressee. The postage for the whole of Great Britain, Ireland,
and the islands in the British seas, is 1d. for letters not exceeding
1 oz. The fee for registration for a letter or other packet is 2d.;
special registered-letter envelopes are supplied at 21/;-3d. each
(according to size), to which the ordinary postage must be added.
For letters to any other part of the world the uniform rate is now
/fod. for every /s oz, Newspapers ave transmitted to any part of
Great Britain and the adjoining islands for !/5d, each. Newspapers
for abroad (/od. per 2 0z,) must be posted within eight days of publi-
cation, otherwise book postage rates must be paid. For Book Packets
1/ad. per 2 oz. is charged for Great Britain and the countries of the
SostaJ union. No inland book packet may exceed 18 in. in length,

in. in width, and 6in. in depth, or Dlbs, in weight. Patterns and
Samples may be sent at the rate of 1d. per 4 oz, within the TUnited
Kingdom, No such packet may weigh more than 8 0z, Posteards
for use in the British Islands are issued at B!/pd. or 6d. per packet
of ten (thin and thick); for countries included in the postal nnion
and some others, at 1d. each; reply postoards may be had at double
these rates, Letler-Cards, the communication on which 18 soncealed
from view, are sold at 1'/;d. each or eight for 9d. Envelopes of
two sorts, with embossed 1/5d, stamps, of three sorts, with embossed
1d. stamps, and of two sorts, with embossed 2l/od. stamps, and
newspaper wiappers with impressed !/od. or 1d. stamps, are also
sold by the post office.

The number of daily deliveries of letters in London varies from six

to twelve according to the distanes from the head office at Si. Martin's
le Grand, On Sundays there 8 no delivery, but letters posted in the pilar
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boxes within the town limits and in soma of the nearer suburbg are col-
leeted in time for the general day mails and for the first London distriet
delivery on the following day, Letters for the evening mails must be posted
in the pillara before 5.80 p.m., in Ihe central district before 6 p.m., or at
the General Post Office, with an additional lfad. stamp, up to T.fﬁtg.m‘
Foreign letters may be posted al the General Post Office till T p.m. with an
additional 1d. stampy till 716 with 2d. extray till 7.30 with 34. extra; and at
the termini for Continental trains till 8 p.m. with 44. extra, The head distriet
offices are open on Sunday for two hours. Comp. the Posi Office Guide,
published quarterly (fid.); or the Post Office Handbook (half-yearly; 1d.).

Exrress Lerrens. About 230 of the chief post-offices in London re-
ceive letiers and parcels to be delivered within the London postal area
by speeial messenger at a charge of 3d. rper mile or part of amile. Pareels
over 11, in weight are charged an extra fee of 11/sd. for cvery additional 1b.
or part of a Ib. i!_xpress letters handed in at other post-offices are forwarded
in the ordinary course oiipnat {0 the nearest Express Delivery Office, whence
they are sent on by special messenger. No express service on Sunday.

London is divided into eight Postar. Distriers, — the Fastern,
Northern, North Western, Western, South Western, South Eastern,
East Central, and West Central, — whieh are designated by the
capital letters K., N., N.W., and so on. Each has its distriet post-
office, from which letters are distributed to the surrounding district.
At these chief distriet offices letters may be posted about 1/y hr.
later than at the branches or pillars. The delivery of London letters
is facilitated by the addition to the address of the initials of the
postal district. The number of offices and pillars in London 18 up-
wards of 2000 and the number of people employed by the post-
office is about 11,000.

Pamopn Post. The rate of postage for an inland parcel is 3d.
for a weight not exceeding 11b. ; each additional pound 1t/ed. The
maximum length allowed for such a parcel is 3 ft, 6 in., and the
length and girth combined must not exceed 6 fi.; the maximum
weight is 141bs. Insurance and compensation (up to 102.) are allow-
ed. Such parcels must be handed in at a post-office, not posted
in & letter-box. — A Parcel Post Service, at varlous rates, is also
established between the United Kingdom and most foreign coun-
tries (not including the United Btates) and Dritish colonies. A
{Customs Declaration’ and a ‘Despateh Note® (forms to be obtained
at & post-offiecs) must be filled up for each foreign parcel,

Pogr Orrvioe Moxey Onrprrs are fssued forsums not exceading 107, ui the
numerons Money Order Offices connecied with the post-office, at lenst one
of which is to be found in every posi town in the United Kingdom. For
sums under Il. the charge for transmission is 2d.; over 12 and under 21,,
dd.; over 2, and under 4., 44.; over 4I. and under Ti., Bd.; over Th
and nol exceeding 101., 84, Foreign Money Orders, payable in the countries
of the postal union, are issuad uta charge of 6d. up to 20., 12, up to Bl., 1s.
Bd. up to 4., and 25, up to 104

Postan Oupers, of the value of 1s., 1s. Bd., 2s., 28, 6d., Se., 3s. 64d.,
ds., ds. 6d., Da., To.6d., 10s,, 10s. Gd., 15s., snd s, are issued at & small
charge varying from l}:d. to 11/2d., and pazs from hand to hand like ordi-
nary money. They ars payable at any Money Order Offlce in the United
Kingdom. If not presented for psyment within thres montihs from the
last day of the month of izsue, & fresh commission fs charged equal to
the original cost, By the use of not more than five 1d. stamps, affixed to
the face of the order, any broken nmount may be made up.
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TeLeerars Moy Orogrs are issued for sums not exceeding 101, by
all post-ofiices tramsacting telegraph and money order business. A charge
of not less than §d. is made for the official telegram of advice, in addition
ol which & eommission of 4d. is charged for sums under 11,4 over 11, and
under 20., 6@ 3 over 2. and under 47, Bd.; over 4. and under TI, 10d.3
larger sums, 1s. Telegraph money orders cannot be sent abroad.

Telegraphs, The whole telegraph system of Great Britain, with
the gole exception of wires for the private nse of the railway com-
panies, belongs to Government (p. 91). The present tariff for inland
telegrams is 1/5d, per word, with a minimum charge of 6d.; the
addresses are counted as part of the telegram. Replies up to 48
words may be prepaid. Telegrams are received at all railway-ata-
tionsand almost all post-offices throughout the conntry. London and
its euburbs contain 300 telegraph offices, open from 8a.m. to 8 p.m.
The following nine are always open: Oentral Station, St. Martin's
le Grand (corner of Newgate Street); London Bridge Station; Liver-
pool 8t. Station ; 8t. Pancras Station ; Paddington Station; Vigtoria
Station; West Strand 3 Willesden Junction Station; Stratford Rail-
way Station. The office at King's Cross Station is open always ex-

ocept 1.30 to 2.30 on Sun, and from 10 p.m. Sun. to 6 p.m. Mon.

Forerex Teuecrams, The tariff per word for telegroms to Baloium,
Holland, France, or Germany is 2d.; Haly or Switzerland 8d.; Norway 8'/ad.y
Bwedén or Spain Ad. ; Russin in Fuvops 0fed.y Turkey 6Yud.y Greece Td. s
Canada 1s.-15. Bd. 5 United States 1s.-1s, Bd. 5 India ds.; Ausivolia 45 Td.-
8s. bd.: Cape Colony or Natol 8Bs, 11d. The minimnm in any coae s 10a,

Telephones. The telephonie ication of London is mninlgv in
the hands of the National Telephone Co.. 1the head office of which is in
Oxford Court, Cannon 8'reet, City. There are numerous call-rooms through-
out London and district, open to the public at the rate of 3d. for each
three minutes’ conversation. — Telephonie communication with Paris waa
pstablished in 1891, The public call-offces are at ihe General Post Office
West (p. 915 always open), Weal Strand Office (always open), and Thread-
neadle Street Post Of'ee (open on week-dayvs from 8 am. to 8 p.m.).
Charga 8s. per three minutes. [Paris time is 10 min. in advance of Lon-
don time, 4 fact to be taken into account in arranging for conversations
with Paris correspondents.].

Parcols Companies, Parcels for London and the environ$ arve trans-
milted by the London Parcels Delivery Company, which has 1200 receiv-
ing offices disteibuted throughout London, usually in shops indicated by
notices, The head office ia in Rolls Buildings, Felter Lane, Fleet Street.
Within a eadiug of 3 M. o parcel under 41bs. is sent for 3d., under 11115,
Bd., under 281bs., Hd., ond 80 on up to 1120bs. for 15 2d.; beyond § M. the
charges are from dd. upwards. Parcels for all the chiel towns of Eng-
Innd are conveyed by Pickford & Co, (0T Gresham Street, H.C.) or Carfer,
Paterson, & Co. (126 Goswell Rosd, E.C.), but the Fost Office is the hest
earrier for puekages not exceeding 111be. in weight. Purcels for the Con-
tinent are forwarded by the Comtingntal Daily Parcals Erpress (03 Grace-
ehnrch Street and 94 enl Circus) and the Globe Parcels EKrpress (20 8t
Paul's Churchyard and 13 Woodstock Street, Oxford Street), which work in
connection with the continental post-offices. Parcels for America are for-
wharded by Stavaley & Co's Americon Ewropean Erpresy (H, Btarr & Col),
55 Barbican, E.C.; the Amearican Express, 18 Cannon Siveet, E.(. : the Amari-
can Agency, 10 Queen 8treet, Chenpside, and 23 Regent Street; and the
Amarican & European Exprass, B2 Lime Btreet, E.C., and 113a. Regent
Btreet. Pt & Scotf, 23 Cannom Street, Clty, and 25 Hegent Bireet, are
general shipping and parcel agents for all parts of the world.

Commissionngires. These are s corps of retired soldiers of good
eharaster, organised in 1800 by Captain Bir Edward Walter of the *Times
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newspaper, snd form eonvenient and trustworthy messengers for the
conveyance of letiers or small parcels, Their head ofilce is at Exchange
Court, 4194 Strand, but they nre also to be found in most of the chief
thoroughfares, where they may bLe recognised by their green uniform
and metal badge, Their charges are 3d. per mile or Bd. par hour; the
rata i3 a little higher if the parcel to be carried weighs more than 141bs.
The charge for & day is about 4+, 6d., and they may also be hired h’y special
arrangement for & week or a longer period, — The Avmy and Navy Pen-
sioners Employment Soctety, 20 Charing Cross, is a similar organisstion.

District Meszenger Berviee Co. I of this pany charge
3d. per half-mile, Bd. per mile; Bd. per hr., fares extra. Letters are posted
or cabs called at 2d., or dd. after 10 p.m and on Sundays. Head-oflice:
50 Lime Street, City; numerous branch-ofiices, open alwava,

Boy Messengers and Electric Call Oo. Central ofiice, Star Yard, Carey
Btreet; numerous branch-offices. Messengers 8d, per mile; 6d. per hr.;
2s. 6d. and 3s. per day. Call-boxes supplied and maintained gratis.

The Lady Guide Association, 302 Strand (Managing Directress,
Miss Davig), established in 1889, provides ladies qualified to act
as guides to the sights of London, as interpreters, as travelling com-
panions, as aids in shopping, ete. (not for gentlemen unaccom-
panied by ladies). Tt also keeps a register of boarding and lodging
honses, engages rooms at hotels, exchanges money, provides rail-
way and other tickets, and generally undertakes to give all the in-
formation and assistance required by a stranger in London. The
charge for the gnides, who are arranged in three classes and may be
engaged by the hour, day, or month, varies from 4s. to 8s. Gd. per day.

18. Outline of English History.

The visilor to the metropolis of Great Brilain, whether from the
western hemisphere, from the antipodes, or from the provinesa of that
country itself, will at almost every step meet with in'eresting historical
aggocintions; and it is to a great extenl on his acquaintance with thege
that the enjoyment and instruction to be derived from his visit will d=pend.
‘We therefore give a brief table of the chief evenls in English history,
which the tourist will often find convenient as an aid to his memory. In
the following section will be found a sketch of the rise and progresa of
London jtself.

B.CA %AM Romax Psriop.

B.C. 6554 | Of Britain before its firat invasion by Julius Ceesar in
B.C. 55 there is no authentic history. Cmsar repeais his
invasion in B.C. 54, but makes no permanent settlement.
i3 AD. Emp. Clandius undertakes the subjugation of Britain.
T8-85. Dritain, with part of Caledonia, is overrun by the Roman
general Agricola, and reduced to the form of a province.
12, Roman legions recalled from Britain by Honorius.
4§5.| The Britons, deprived of their Roman protectors, are
unable to resist the attacks of the Piefs, and summon the
Saxons, under Hengist and Horsa, to their aid.

245-1086. Axero-Saxox Prrion.

445-685. | The SBaxons, re-inforced by the Angles, Jules, and other
Germanio tribes, gradually overcome Britain on their own ac-
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eount, until the whole country, with trifling exceptions, is
divided into the seven kingdoms of the Saxon Heptarchy
(685). To thie period belong the semi-mythical exploits of
King Arthur and his knights.

Christianity re-introduced by 8t. Augustine (597). The
Venerable Bede (d. 735). Caedmon (about 630).

Contests with the Danes and Normans, who repeatedly
invade England.

Alfred the Great defeats the Danes, and compels them
to make peave. Creates navy, establishes militia, revises
laws, reorganises institutions, founds university of Oxford,
is a patron of learning, and himself an author.

Ethelred the Unready draws down upon England the
vengeance of the Danes by a massacre of those who had
settled in England.

The Danish king Sweyn conguers England.

Canute the Great, the son of Sweyn, reigns over England.

Harold Harefoot, illegitimate son of Canute, usurps the
throne.

Hardicanute, son of Canute. — The Saxon lineisrestored
in the person of —

Edward the Confessor, who makes London the capital of
England, and builds Westminster Abbey (see p. 200). His
brother-in-law and successor —

Harold loses his kingdom and hig life at the Batile of
Hastings, where he opposed the invasion. of the Normans,
under William the Conqueror.

Normanw DYNASTY.

William the Conqueror, of Normandy, establishes him-
solf as King of the Iinglish, Introduetion of Norman (F'rench)
language and gustoms.

William II., surnemed Rufus, after a tyrannical reign,
is accidentally shot by Sir Walter Tyrrell while out hunting.

Henry L., Beauclerc, defeats his elder brother Robert,
Duke of Normandy, at the battle of Tenchebrai (1106), and
adds Normandy to the possessions of the English crown.
He leaves his kingdom to his daunghter Matilda,- who,
however, is unable to wrest it from —

Stephen, of Blois, grandson of the Congueror. David, King
of Seotland, and unele of Matilda, is defeated and taken
prisoner at the Battle of the Standard, Stephen appoints as
his successor Matilda's son, Henry of Anjou or Plantagenet
(from the planta genisia or broom, the badge of this family).

House or PLANTAGENET,

Henry II. Strife with Thomas Becket, Archbishop of
Canterbury, over the respective spheres of the ecivil and
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ecclesiastical powers. The Archbishop excommunicates the
King's followers; and is murdered by four knights at Can-
terbury. Ireland is conquered by Strongbow and De Courcy.
Rabin Hood, the forest outlaw, flourishes.

Richard L., Coeur de Lion, takes a prominent part in the
Third Crusade, but is captured on his way home, and im-
prisoned in Germany for upwards of a year. He carries on
war with Philip II. of France,

John, surnamed Lackland, is defeated at Bouvines by
Philip II. of France, and loses Normandy. Magna Charta,
the groundwork of the English constitution, is extorted
from him by his Barons (comp. pp. 193, 351),

Henry III,, by hiz misrule, becomes involved in a war
with his Barons, headed by Simon de Montfort, and is de-
feated at Lewes. His son Edward gains the battle of
Evesham; whete De Montfort is slain. Hubert de Burgh de-
feats the French at sea. Roger Bacon, the philosopher.

Edward L, Longshanks, conguers the Welsh under
Llewellyn, and annexes North Wales. The heir apparent to
the English throne thenceforward bears the title of Prince of
Wales, Robert Bruce and John Baliol struggle for the erown
of Scotland. Edward espouges the canse of the latter (who
swears fealty to England), and overruns Scotland. The
Seots, led by Sir William Wallace, offer a determined
resistance. Wallace executed at London. The Scots defeated
at Fallirk and Methuen, and the country subdued. Establish-
ment of the English Parliament in its modern form.

Edward II. is signally defeated at Bannoekburn by the
Scots under Robert Bruce the younger, and is forced to
retire to England. The Queen and her paramonr Mortimer
join with the Barons in taking up arms against the King,
who is deposed, and ghortly afterwards murdered in prison.

Edward III. defeats the Scots at Halidom Hill and
Neville’'s Cross. Lays claim to the throne of France, and
invades that country, thus beginning the hundred years'
war between France and England. Vietories of Sluys
(naval), Créey (1346), and Poitiers (1356). John the Good
of France, taken prisoner by the Black Prince, dies in
eaptivity. After the death of the Black Prince, England
loses all her French possessions, except Calais and Gascony.
Order of the Garter founded. Movement against the preten-
sions and corrnption of the clergy, headed by the early
reformer John Wyeliffe. House of Commons holds its meet-
ings apart from the Honse of Lords.

Richard II. Rebellion of Wat Tyler, occasioned by in-
crease of taxation (see p. 97). Vietory over the Scots at
Otterburn or Chevy Chase. Henry of Bolingbroke, Duke of
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‘Lancaster, leads an army against the King, takes him captive,
and according to popular tradition, starves him to death in
Pontefract Castle, Geoffrey Chaueer, the father of English
poetry, flourishes.

House 0F LANCASTER.

Henry IV., Bolingbroke, now seeures his election to the
crown, in right of his descent from Henry III. Outbreak of
the nobility, under the Earl of Northumberland and his son
Henry ( Perey Hotspur), it quelled by the vietory of Shrews-
bury, at which the latter is slain.

Henry V. renews the claims of England to the French
erown, wins the battle of Agincourt, and subdues the N, of
France. Persecution of the Lollards, or followers of Wyeliffe.

Henry VI. is proclaimed King of France at Paris. The
Maid of Orleans defeats the English and recovers French
possessions, Outbreak of the eivil contest called the ¢ Wars
of the Roses’, between the houses of Lancaster (red rose)
and York (white rose). Henry becomes insane. Richard,
Dule of York, grandson of Edward I11., lays elaim to the
throne, joins himself with Warwick, the ‘King-Maker', and
wing the battle.of Northampton, but is defeated and slain at
Wakefield, His gon Edward, however, i appointed King.
Rebellion of Jack Cade,

Houvss o¥ YoREK,

Edward IV, wins the battles of Towton, Hedgley Moor,
and Hexham. Warwick takes the part of Muargaret of
Anjow, wife of Henry VI., and forces Edward to flee to
Holland, whenee, however, he soon returns and wins the
vistories of Barnet and Tewlesbury. Henry VI. dies sud-
denly in the Tower. Edward’s brother, the Duke of Clarence,
is gaid to have been drowned in a butt of malmsey.

Edward V., the youthful son of Edward IV., is declared
illegitimate, and mutdered in the Tower, along with his
brother (p. 125), by his unecle, the Duke of Gloucester, who
takes possession of the throne as —

Richard IIL., but is defeated and slain at Bosworth by
Henry Tudor, Eart of Richmond, a scion of the House of
Lancaster.

Housr or Tunog,

Henry VII. marries Elizabeth, daughter of Edward IV.,
and so puts an end to the Wars of the Roses. The pretenders
Lambert Simnel and Perkin Warbeck.

Henry VIII., married six times (to Catherine of Arragon,
Anne Boleyn, June Seymour, Anne of Cleves, Catherine
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Howard, and Catherine Parr). Battles of the Spurs and
Flodden. Separation of the Chureh of England from that of
Rome. Dissolution of monasteries and persecution of the
Papists. Cardinal Wolsey and Thomas Cromavell, all-powerful
ministers, Whitehall and 8t. James's Palace built,

Edward VI. encourages the Reformed faith.

Mary I. causes Lady June Grey, whom Edward had ap-
pointed his successor, to be executed, and imprisons her
own sister Elisabeth (pp. 120, 188). Marries Philip of Spain,
and restores Roman Catholicism. Persecution of the Pro-
testants. Calais taken by the French,

Elizabeth. Protestantism re-established. Flourishing
state of commerce. Mary, Queen of Seots, executed after a
long conflnement in England. Destruetion of the Spanish
‘Invineible Armada’. Sir Francis Drake, the celebrated
circumnavigator. Foundation of the East India Company.
Golden age of English lterature: Shakspeare, Baeon,
Spenser, Jonson, Beaumont, Fleteher, Marlows, Drayton.

Housge or STUART.

James I,, King of Seots, and son of Mary Stuart, unites
by his accession the two kingdoms of England and Seot-
land. Persecution of the Puritans and Roman Catholies. In-
fluence of Buckingham. Gunpowder Plot. Exeeution of Sir
Walter Raleigh.

Charles I, imitates his father in the arbitrary nature of
lis rule, guarrelz with Parliament on questions of taxation,
dissolves it repeatedly, and tyrannically attempts to arrest
five leading members of the House of Commons (Hampden,
Pym, ete.). Rise of the Covenantersin Scotland. Long Par-
liament. Ountbreak of civil war between the King and his ad-
herents (Cavaliers) on the one side, and the Parliament and
its friends (Roundheads) on the other. The King defeated by
Oliver Cromucell at Marston Moor and Naseby. He takes re-
fuge in the Scottish camp, but is betrayed to the Parliamen-
tary leaders, tried, and executed at Whitehall (p. 183).

Commonwealth. The Seots rise in favour of CharlesII.,
but are defeated at Dunbar and Woreester by Cromwell.

Protectorate. Oliver Cromwell now becomes Lord Pro-
teotor of England, and by his vigorous and wise government
makes England progperous at home and respected abroad.
John Milton, the poet, Thomas Hobbes, the philosopher, and
George Foz, the founder of the Quakers, live at this period.
On Cromwell's death, he is suceceded by his son Richard,
who, however, soon resigns, whereupon Charles II. is re-
stored by General Monk.

c General amnesty proclaimed, a few of the
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regicides only being excepted. Arbitrary government. The
Cabal. Wara with Holland. Persecution of the Papists
after the pretended discovery of a Popish Plot. Passing of
the Habeaz Corpus Act. Wars with the Covenanters.
Battle of Bothwell Bridge, Rye House Plot, Charles a pen-
gioner of France. Names Whig and Tory come into use.
Dryden and Butler, the poets ; Locke, the philosopher.

James IL,, a Roman Catholic, soon alienates the people
by his love for that form of religion, is guite unable to
resist the invasion of Williom of Orange, and escapes to
France, where he spends his last years at St. Germain.

William III, and Mary II, William of Orange, with his
wife, the eldest daughter of James IT., now ascends the
throne. The Declaration of Rights. Battles of Killieerankie
and The Boyne. Sir Isaae Newton,

Anne, younger daughter of James II., completes the
fugion of England and Scotland by the union of their
parliaments. Marlborough's victories of Blenheim, Ramilies,
Oudenarde, and Malplaguet, in the Spanish War of Sucees-
sion. Capture of Gibraltar. The poets Pope, Addison, Swift,
Prior, and Allan Ramsay.

HANOVERIAN DYNASTY.

CGeorgel. succeeds in right of his descent from James I.
Rebellion in Scotland (in favour of the Pretender) quelled.
Sir Robert Walpole, prime minister. Daniel Defoe.

George II. Rebellion in favour of the Young Pretender,
Charles Edward Stuart, crushed at Culloden, Canada
taken from the French. William Pitt, Lord Chatham,
prime minister; Richardson, Fielding, Smolleit, Sterne,
novelists; Thomson, Young, Gray, Collins, Gay, poets;
Hogarth, painter.

George III. American War of Independence. War with
France. Victoriea of Nelwon at Aboukir and Trafalgar, and
of Wellington in Spain and at Waterioo. The younger Pitt,
prime minister; Sheiley and Keats, poets.

George IV. Roman Catholie Emancipation Bill. Daniel
0' Cominell. The English aid the Greeks in the War of In-
dependence. Vietory of Navarino. Byron, Sir Walter Seott,
Wordsworth, Coleridge, Southey.

William 1V. Abolition of slavery. Reform Bill.

The present sovereign of Great Britain is —

Victoria;, born 24th May, 1819 ; ascended the throne in 1837 ;
married, on 10th Feb,, 1840, her cousin, Prince Albert of Saxe-
Coburg-Gotha (d. 14th Dec., 1861),
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The childrén of this marrisge are: —
(1) Victoria, born 21st Nov., 1840; married to the Crown Princs of

@Germany, 25th Jan,, 1868,
Albert Edward, Prince of Wales, Heir Apparent to the throne,

born 1&3110\!’., 1841 ; married Alexandra, Princess of Denmark, 10th
Mar, .

(.!l] Alice, horn 25th April, 1843; murried to the Grand-Duke of Hessen-
Darmstadt, 5t July, 18625 died 14th Dee., 1378

(4) Alfred, Duke of Ed’inhurgh, born 8th Aug., 4844 married the Grand
Duchess Marie of Russia, 23rd Jan., 1874,

(5) Helena, born Zith May, 1.3:46; married to Pringe Christian of
8chleswig-Holstein-SBonderburg-Augustenburg, Gth July, 1566,

() Louise, born 15th March, 1848; married to the Marquis of Lorne,
eldest son of the Duke of Argyll, 25t March, 1571,

(i) Arthur, Duke of Connaught, born 1st May, 1850; married Princess
TLouise Mnrgaret of Prussia, doaughter of Prince Frederick Charles,

18th March, 1879,
(8) Leopold, Duke of Albany, born Tth April, 1808 ; married Princess

Helen of Waldeck-Pyrmont, 2Tth April, 1882; died 28th March, 1884,
(9) Beatrice, born 14th April, 18573 married Prince Henry of Batten-
berg, 23rd July, 16885

19. Historical Sketch of London.

The most populous city in the world (which London un-
questionably is) cannot fail to have had an eventful history, in
all that concerns race, creed, institutions, culture, and general
progress. At what period the Britons, one branch of the Celtic race,
sottled on this spot, there is no authentie evidence to shew. The
many forms which the name assumes in early records have led to much
controversy ; but it is clear that ‘London’ is derived from the Latin
Londinium, the name given it in Tacitus, and that this is only an
adaptation by the Romans of the ancient British name Liyn, or Lin,
a pool, and din or dun, a high place of strength, a hill fort, or city.
The ‘pool’ was a widening of the river at this part, where it makes
a bend, and offered a convenient place for shipping. Whether the
‘dun’ or hill was the high ground reached by Ludgate Hill, and on
which St. Paul's now stands, or Cornhill, near the site of the Man-
gion House, it is difficult to decide®, Probably both these eleva-
tions were on the “pool’. The etymology of the first syllable of Lon-
don is the same as that of ‘Lin’ in Lincoln, which was called by
Ptolemy Lindon (Atvfoy), and by the Romans Lindum, the second
syllable of the modern form of the name representing the word
‘Oolonia’. The present British or Welsh name of London is Liun-
dain ; but it was formerly also known to the Welsh aa Caer-ludd,
the City of Lud, a British king said to have ruled here just before
the Roman period, and popularly supposed to be commemorated
in Lud - gatet, one of the gates of the old walled city, near the
junetion of Ludgate Hill and Farringdon Street.

* The latter alternative is that of the Rev. W. J. Loftle, London's
latest and probably best historian (see p. 80).
+ In reality from the Anglo-Baxon Lpdgeaat, a postern (Loftie).
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London, in the days of the Britons, was probably little more
than a collection of huts, on 4 dry spot in the midst of a marsh,
or in a cleared space in the midst of a wood, and encompassed
by an artificial earthwork and diteh. That there was much marsh
and forest in the immediate vieinity is proved by the character of
the deep soil when turned up in digging foundations, and by the
small gubterranean streams which still run into the Thames, as at
Dowgate, formerly Dowrgate (*water gate’, from Celtic dwr, water),
at the Fleet Ditch, at Blackfriars Bridge, ete. Such names as Fen-
chureh Street (see p, 109) are reminiscent of the former character of
the neighbourhood.

After the settlement of the Romans in Britain, quite early in
the Christian era, London rapidly grew in importance. In the time
of the Emperor Nero (62 A.D.), the city had become a resort of
merchants from various countries and the eentre of a considerable
maritime commerce, the river Thames affording ready access for
shipping. It suffered terribly during the sanguninary strugzle between
the Romans and the British queen Boadicea, and was in later cen-
turies frequently attacked and plundered by piratical bands of
Franks, Norsemen, Picts, Scots, Danes, and Saxons, who crossed
the seas to reap a ruthless harvest from a city which doubtless
possessed much commercial wealth; but it speedily recovered from
the effects of these visitations. Asa Roman settlement London was
frequently named Augusta, but it was never raised to the dignity of
being a municipium like Verulamium (p. 346) or Eboracum { York)
and was not regarded as the capital of Roman Britain. It extended
from the site of the present Tower of London on the E. to Ludgate
on the W., and inland from the Thames as far as the marshy ground
known in later times as Moorfields and Finsbury or Fensbury. Wat-
ling Street perpetuates the name of one among many roads made
throngh Londen by the Romans. Relics are still found almost annu-
ally of the foundations of Roman buildings of a substantial and
elegant character. Fragments of the Roman wall are also discernible,

This wall was mapintained in parts until modeérn times, but has almogt
entirely disappeared before the alterations and improvements which faste
and the necessities of trade have introduced. The most prominent remain-
ing piece of the Homan walls is in London Wall, betwesn Wood Btreet
and Aldermanbury, where an inseribed tablet calls attention to il. An-
other fragment may be seen in the adjacent churchyard of Bt. Giles, Crip-
plezate (see p. 97); while a third, 8 ft. thick, forms the north boundary
of the New Post Office buildings (p. 92) from Alderszate Street to King
Edward Street.

The gates of Roman London, whose walls are believed to have
been first built on such an extended secale as to include the above-
mentioned limits by the Emperor Constantine in the fourth cen-
tury, were in after times called Lund-gate, Donr-gate, Belins-gate,
Postern-gate , Ald-gate, Bishops-gate, Moor-gate, Oripple-gate,
Alders-gate and New-gate, all of which are still commemorated in
names of streets, ete., marking the localities. Roman London from
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the Tower to Ludgate was abont a mile in length, and from the
Thames to ‘London Wall' about half a mile in breadth. Its remains
at Cheapside and the Mansion House are found at about 18 feet
below the present surface. The Roman city as at first encloged
must, however, havé been smaller, as Roman sepulehres have been
found in Moorgate Street, Bishopsgate, and Smithileld, which must
then have lain beyond the walled city. The Saxons, who seldom
distingnished themselves as builders, contributed nothing to the
fortification of London; but the Normans did much, beginning with
the erection of the Tower. During the earlier ages of Saxon rule,
the great works left here by the Romans — villas, baths, bridges,
roads, temples, statuary, — were either destroyed or allowed to fall
into decay, as was the case, indeed, all over Britain.

London became the capital of one of the Anglo-Saxon kingdoms,
and eontinued to increase in size and importance. The sites of two
of modern London's most prominent buildings — Westminster
Abbey and St. Paul's Cathedral — were oceupied as early as the
beginning of the Tth cent. by the modest originals of these two
stately churohes. Bede, at the beginning of the 8th cent., speaks
of London as a great market frequented by foreign traders, and we
find it paying one-fifth of a contribution exacted by Canute from
the entire kingdom. From William the Conqueror London receiv-
ed a chartert in which he engaged to maintain the rights of the
city, but the same monarch erected the White Tower to over-
awe the citizens in the event of disaffection. At this time the
city probalily contained 30-40,000 inhabitants. A special promise is
made in Magna Charta, extorted from King John, to observe all the
ancient privileges of London ; and we may date the present form of
its Corporation, consisting of Mayor, Aldermen, and Common Coun-
cilmen, from a somewhat earlier period ++. The 13th and 14¢h centu-
ries are marked in the annals of London by several lamentable fires,
famines, and pestilences, in which many thousands of itsinhabitants
perished, The year 1381 witnessed the rebellion of Wat Tyler, who
was slain by Lord Mayor Walworth at Smithfleld. In this outbreak,
and still more in that of Jack Cade(1450), London suffered severely,
through the burning and pillaging of its houses. During the reigns of
Henry VIIL.(1509-1547) and his daughter Mary (1552-1658), London
aoquired a terrible familiarity with the fires lighted to consume un-
fortunate ‘heretics’ at the stake, while under the more beneficent

+ The following is the text of this charter sa translated by Bishop
Stubba: — *William king greets Willinm bighop and Gosfrith porireev
and all the burghers within London, French and English, friendly; an
1 do you to wit that I will that ye be all lawworthy that were in King
Edward's day. And I will that every child be his {ather's heir after his
father's day; md 1 will not endure that any man offer any wrong to you.
God keup you',

++ A deed amon tha archives of 5t. Paul’s mentions a ‘Mayor of the
City of London® in 1198,
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reign of Elizabeth (1568-1603), the capital showed its patriotic
zeil Dy its liberal eontributions of men, money, and ships, for the
purpose of resisting the threatened attack of the Armada.

A mup of London at this time wounld show the Tower stonding on
the verge of the City on the E., while on the W,., the much smaller
eity of Westminster would atill be a considerable distanece from London.
The Btrand, or river-side rond conneeting the two cities, would appear
hordered by numérous aristocratic mansiond, with gardens exlending into
the fields or down to the river, Throughont the Norman period, and
down to the times of the Plantagenets and fhe Wars of the Roses, the
eommonalty lived in poor and mean wooden dwellings; bub there waere
muny good houses for the merchants and manufacturers, and many im-
portant religious houses snd hospitals, while the Thamesg was provided
with numerons convenient (uays and landing-stages, The streefs, even
as lately ad the 17th cent., were narrow, dirly, full of ruts tnd holes,
and_ill-ndapted for teafiic. Many improvements, however, were made
at the perlod we have now reached (the end of the 16th cent.), though
thede atill left London very different from what we now ase it,

In the Civil Wars, London, which had been most exposed to the
exantions of the Star Chamber, naturally sided with the Round-
heads. Tt witnessed Charles I. beheaded at the Palace of Whitehall
in 1649, and Oliver Cromwell proclaimed Lord Protector of England
in 1653 ; and in 1660 it saw OharlesI1. placed on the throne by the
‘Restoration’. This was a period when England, and London espe-
cially, underwent dire suffering in working out the problem of eivil
and religions liberty, the snceessful solution of which Iaid the basis
of the empire's greatness. In 1664-1666 London was tnrned into
4 eity of mourning and lamentation by the ravases of the Great
Plague, by which, itis calculated, it lost the emormous number
of 100,000 eitizens. Ologely treading on the heels of one ealamity
came another — the Great Fire — which, in September, 1666,
destroyed 13,000 houses, converting a great part of the eastern half
of the city into a seene of desolation. This disaster, however, ulti-
mately proved very benefleial to the city, for London was rebuilt in
a much improved form, though not so advantageously as it would
have been if Sir Christopher Wren's plans had been fully realised.
Among the new edifices, the erection of which was necessitated by
the fire, was the present St. Panl's Cathedral. Of important build-
ings existing before the fire, Westminster Abbey and Hall, the
Temple Chureh, and the Tower are now almost the only examples.

Wren fortunately had his own way in building the 0fty odd Clty
churches, and the visitor to London should not fail to notice their great
variety and the skill with which they are grouped with 8f. Panl’s. A good

anorams of the entire group is obtsined from the tower of 8t. Saviour’s,
outhwark : the general effeet is also visible from Blackfrins Bridga (p. 117).

Tt was not, however, till the reign of Queen Anne (1702-1714),
that London began to put on anything like its present appearance.
In 1703 it was visited by a fearful storm, by which homses were
overthrown, the ships in the river driven on shore, churches un-
roofed, property to the value of at least 2,000,000¢. destroyed, and
the lives of several hundreds of persons sacrificed. The winter of
1739-1740 is memorable for the Great Frost, lasting from Christ-

Baeprxer, London. Hth Edit, ]
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mas to St. Valentine’s Day, during which a fair was held on the
frozen bosom of the Thames. Great injuries were inflicted on the
city by the Gordon No-Popery Riots of 1780. The prisons were
destroyed, the prizoners released, and mansions were burned or
pillaged, thirty-six conflagrations having been counted at one time
in different quarters ; and the rioters were not subdued till hundreds
of them had paid the penalty of their misdeeds with their lives.

Many of the handsomest streets-and finest buildings in London
date from the latter half of last century. To this period belong the
Mansion Hounse, the Horse Guards, Somerset Honse, and the Bank,
During the 19th cent. the march of improvement has been so rapid as
to defy deseription. The Mint, the Custom House, Waterloo Bridge,
London Bridge, Buckingham Palace, the Post Office, the PBritish
Mugenm, the Athenmum Club, the York Column, the National
Gallery, the Houses of Parliament, the new Law Courts, and
the whole of Belgravia and the West End beyond, have all arisen
doring the last 80 years. An important event in the domestic
higtory of the ¢ity was the commencement of gas-lighting in 1807,
(Before 1716 the provisions for street-lighting were very imper-
feot, but in that year an act was passed ordering every householder
t0 hang out a light before his door from six in the evening till
eleven.) From that time fo the present London has been ac-
tively engaged, by the laying out of spacions thoroughfares and the
eonstruotion of handsome edifices, in making good its claim to be
not only the largest, but also one of the finest cities In the world.
The electric light has hitherto been used comparatively little in the
London streets, though the Thames Embankment and a few other
thoroughfares are now lighted by elestricity.

No muthentie estimate of the population of London ean be traced
farther back than tswo centuries, 'Ngr is it easy to determine the area
covered by buildings at different periods. At one fime the ‘City within
the Walls' comprized all; afterwards was added the ‘City without the
Walls'y then the eily and liberties of Westminstery then the borough of
Southwark., 8. of the river; then numerons parishes befweéen the fwo
eities; and lastly other parishes {orming sn encircling bell around the
whole, All these component elements ot length came to be smbraced
under the name of ‘London’, The population was about 700,000 in fhe
year 1700, about §00,000 in 1800, and 1,300,000 in 1821, Each subsequent
decennial ecensus included a larger area than the one that preceded it.
The original ‘City’ of London, covering litile more than 1 square mile, has
in this way expanded to a great metropolisof fully 120 square miles, contain-
ing, in 1891, a population of 4,211,006 persons (see p. 69). Extension of
commercs has nceompanied the growth of population. Siatistica of trade
in pasl eenturies are wanting; but af the present time London supplies half
the total revenue of the kingd (ne-fourth of the whole ship
tonnage of England, and one-fourth of the entire exports, are cénired in the
port of London. (For fuller statistieal information, see balow, Bection 20.)
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20. Topography and Statistics.

Topography. The city of London is built upon a tract of un-
dulating elay soil, which extends irregularly along the valley of
the Thames from & point near Reading to Harwioh and Herne Bay
at the month of the river, a distanee of about 120 miles. It is divided
into two portions by the river Thames, which, rising in the Cotswold
Hills in Gloucestershire, is from its source down to its mouth in
the German Ocean st Sheerness 230 M. in length, and is navigable
for a distance of 50 M. — The southern and less important part of
London (Southwark and Lambeth) lies in the counties of Surrey and
Kent; the northern and principal portion in Middleser and Esser.
The latter part of the immense eity may be divided, in aceordanpe
with its general characteristics, into two great halves (not taking into
account the extensive outlying districts on the N. and the N.E.,
which are eomparatively uninteresting to strangers): —

I. The City and the East End, consisting of that part of London
which Hes to the E. of the Temple, form the commercial and
money-making guarter of the metropolis. It embraces the Port, the
Dooks, the Custom House, the Bank, the Exchange, the in-
numerable connting-honses of merchants, money-changers, brokers,
and underwriters, the General Post Office, the printing and publish-
ing offices of the Times, the legal corporations of the Inne of Court,
and the Cathedral of 8t. Paul's, towering abova them all.

I1. The West End, or that part of the town to the W. of the
Temple, is the quarter of London which spends money, makes laws,
and regulatea the fashions. It contains the Palace of the Queen, the
Mansions of the aristocrany, the Clubs, Museums, Pictnre Galleries,
Theatres, Barracks, Government Offices, Houses of Parliament, and
Westminster Abbey ; and it is the special locality for parks, squares,
and gardens, for gorgeons equipages and powdered lackeys.

Besides these great divisions, the following districts are distin-
guished by their population and leading ocenpations: —

1. On the Lerr BANx of the Thames :

(a) To the E. of the City is the so-ua.llad Long Shore, which
extends along the bauk of the Thames, and is chiefly composad of
quays, wharves, store-houses, and engme-fantonas, and inhabited
by shipwrightu, lightermen, sailors, and marine store dealers.

(b) Whitechapel, with sugar-bakeries and their German workmen.

o) Houndsditeh and the Minories, the quarters of the Jews.

Ed} Bethnal Green and Spitalfields to the N., and part of Shore-
diteh, form a manufacturing district, oceupied to s large extent
by silk-weavers, partly descended from the French Protestants (Hu-
guenots) who mok refuge in England after the Revoecation of the
Edict of Nantea in 1685,

(e) Clerkenwell, between Islington and Hatton Garden, the
distriet of wa.tdi-mu.kers and metal-workers!

ne
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(f) Paternoster Row, near St. Panl's Cathedral, the focus of the
book-trade.

(g) Chancery Lane and the Inns of Court, the headquarters of
barristers, solieitors, and law-stationers.

IL Tn Surrey, on the Riont BANE of the Thames: —

() Southwark and Lambeth, containing numerons potterios,
glass-works, machine-factories, breweries, and hop-warehouses.

(b) Bermondsey, famous for its tanneries, glue-factories, and
wool-warehouses.

() Rotherhithe, farther to the K., chiefly inhabited by sailors,
ship-carpenters, coalheavers, and bargemen.

By the Redistribution Bill of 1880 London is divided for
parliamentary purposes into the City Proper, returning two members
of parliament, and 27 metropolitan boroughs comprising 57 single
member districts. London University also returns one member.

The City Proper, which strictly speaking forms a county of
ftself and is neither in Middlesex nor Essex, i8 bhounded on the
W. by the site of Temple Bar and Southampton Buildings; on
the N. by Holborn, Smithfield, Barbiean, and Finsbury Circus; on
the H., by Bishopsgate Without, Petticoat Lane, Aldgate, and the
Minoriea; and on the 8. by the Thames,

The City is divided into 26 Wards ond 108 parishes, has a separaie
ndministration and jurisdiction of its own, and is resided over by the
Lord Mayor. At the census of 1891 it consisted of H750 inhabited houses
with 57,604 inbabitants (37,263 less than in 1871). The resident populstion
i steadily decreasing on aceount of the constant emizgration to the West
Iind and suburbs, the ground and buoildings being so valuable for com-
mercial purposes ns to preclude their use merely as dwellings. More
than 4000 houses are left empty every night under the guardisnship of
the 800 members of the City police force (p. 680). The day population of
the City in 1891 was 301,581, and the number of houses or separate teme-
ments in which persons were gefively employed during the day was 25,143,
The rateable value of property in 1882 was 4,004,835, or abont 300,6001.
more than that of Liverpool. Sitesa for building in ths City somelimes
renlise no less than 202706 per square foot. The annunl révenue of the
City of London is upwards of 500,0007, In 188 an attempt was made to esti-
mate the number of persons and vehicles entering the City precincts
within 24 bours. Enumerators were stationed at 80 different inlets, and
Ih;ili;l returns showed the enormouns totals of 1,121,705 persons and 92,488
va aa,

Westminster, to the W. of the City, bounded on the N, by
Bayswater Road and Oxford Street, onthe W. hy Chelsea, Kensing-
ton, and Brompton, and on the 8. by the Thames, comprises three of
the parliamentary boroughs (Westminster Proper or the Abbey Dis-
triot, the Strand District, and the District of St. George's, Hanover
Square), each returning one member to the House of Commons. It
contains 23,208 houses and 198,796 inhabitants.

The remaining parliamentary boroughs are Butlersea (including
Clapham), Bethnul Green, Camberwell, Chelsea, Deptford, Fins-
bury, Fulham, Greenwich, Hackney, Hi smith, Hampstead,
Islington, Kensington, bambeth, Lewisham, Marylebone, Newington,
Paddington, St. Paneras, Shovediteh, Southwark (ineluding Ber-
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mondsey and Rotherhithe), Tower Hamlets, Wandsworth, snd Woal-
wich. The population, area, and boundaries of these new boroughs
are given in & map published by Philip, 32 Fleet Street (6d.)
Statisties; The City, the West End, and the Borough, together
with the suburban villages which have been gradually absorbed,
form the great and constantly extending metropolis of London —
a eity which, in the worda of Tacitua(Ann. 14, 33), was and still
is ‘eopid negotiatorum et commeatunm maxime celebre’. It has
doubled in size within the last half-century, being now, from Strat-
ford and Blackwall on the E, to Kew Bridge and Aeton on the W.,
14 M. in length, and from Olapham and Herne Hill on the 8. to
Hornsey and Highgate on the N., 8 M. in breadth, while it covers an
area of 122 square miles. This area is, at a rough estimate, oceupied
by 7800 streets, which if laid end fo end would form a line 3000 M.
long, lighted by a million gas-lamps consuming daily 28,000,000
cbic feet of gas. The H54,000 bhuildings of this gigantie city in-
clude 1400 churches of various denominations, 7500 public houses,
1700 ooffee-houses, and D00 hotels and inns. The Metropolitan
and City Police Distriet, which extends 12-15 M, in every direction
from Charing Cross, embraces an area of 690 sq. M., with 7000 M. of
streets and roads and 800,000 inhabited houses. The anmual rate-
able valne of house property was esiimated in 1890 at 39 millions
sterling, Aceording fo the eensus of 1891, the population of London
consisted of 4,244,036 sounls (orwithin the bounds of the Metropoli-
tan Police Distriet §,633,332), showing an inerease of 866,671 over
that of 1881. The annual increase is about 70,000, Among these
there are about 3000 master-tailors, 2800 bakers, 2400 butchers
(besides many thousands of men and women in their employ), and
300,000 domestic gervants. The number of paupers was 106,670,
The population of London has been almost doubled within the last
forty years (pop. in 18561, 2,362,235), and within the same period
abont 2000 M. of new strests have been constructed, There are in
London more Scotsmen than in Aberdeen, more Irish than in Dub-
lin, more Jews than in Palestine, and more Roman Catholics than
in Rome. The number of Ameripans resident in London has been
estimated by a competent authority at 15,000, while perhaps 100,000
pass throughit annually, In Paris the Americans number about 3000.
Betweon 1856 and 1889 the imporiant MerzoroLrray InprOVE-
mENTS, undertaken for the facilitation of traffle and for the sanitary
benetfit of the population, were superintended by the Metropolitan
Baoard of Works., This body, however, ceased to exist on March
st 1889, and all its powere and duties were transferred to the
Loxpox Couxty Counerr, a body called into existence by an Act
of Parliament passed in 41888, Various new powers were also con-
farrad on the Council. The new ‘Administrative County of London'
includes the City of London and parts of the counties of Middle-
sex, Essox, Surrey, and Kent, Its electoral divisions coincide
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with the parliamentary boroughs mentioned at p. 63, two Couneil-
lors being elected by the borough franchise for each division. With
the 19 Aldermen appointed by the Couneil itself, the total number
of members is thus 137.

Though the Metropolitan Board of Works never exaelly met the idea
of & popular elective hody and though it bad practically lost the public
confidencs befors its extinetion, it is yet impossible to deny ihat it ac-
complished many public works of great magnilicence and ufility, though at
encrmous expense. The most important work of the Board was the new
ayetem of Inigrceptive Main Dyrainage, begun in 1860 under the superintend-
ence of Bir Joseph Bagalgette, 'and carried out at o cost of 6,000,000L
The system conslats of large sewers or tunnels, constructéd nearly parallel
with the Thames, as far a3 Barking Oreek, {4 M. below London, on the
left hank of the river, and fo Crossness on the right, where the drainage
is made to fow into the Thames i high water with the view of its beiny
carried out to fea by the ebb-tide. The sewsge (200 million gallons daily)
is subjected to an elaborafe process of deodorigation and predipitation
hefore its discharge into the river, while 20,000 tona of sludge areé weekly
earried out to sea by the Council's sludge-boats, greatly to the advanfage
of the purity of the Thames, thougl it can hardly be asserted that the
drainage problem hes heen finally solved. It is worthy of remark that
this pollution of the most important river in Britain is at present made
Jegal by nn exceptional clause in the River Pollution Prevention Act,
The main sewers, of which there are (hree on the N, side of the Thames,
independent of sach other and at different levels, consist of tunnels Hued
with briek, 11ft., wide and 10ft. high. Their ngeregote length amounts
to B0 M. — The Thames Embonkwment, described ad p. 11, iz another and
searcely less important undertaldng of the Bosrd of Works. — All the
Bridges over the Thumes on which toll was levied were made free by the
Board at o cost of H/s million sterling and a free ferry hag been establislied
at Woolwieh. — The formation of new Sireefs and ihe acyuisition anid
ugcm’m of Parks and other Open Spaces have also engaged the atfention
of the Board and its suceessor. There are now 3000 acres of open spaces
in London (in addition to the royal parks), 1500 scres of which were
acquired under the County Couneil.

The London Five Brigade, n well-equipped foree of 825 men, is under
the control of the County Council, It is maintnined ai an annual cost of
upwards of 130,000, Comp. p. 308

The elementary education (free since 1801) of Londen is at-
tended to by the London 8chool Board, consisting of [0 members,
elected by the City and the ten other districts into which London
is divided for the educational franchise. In the City the electors
are the voters for Common Councilmen, in the other divisions the
rate-payers. The annual income of the Board, exclusive of loans, is
about 2,000,0004. The 440 schools provided by the board accommo-
date nearly 433,000 children, out of a total of 700,000 upon the
roll of efficient schools. The office of the board is on the Yictorin

Embankment, near the Temple Station (see p. 140).
21. General Hints.

Some of the following remarks may be deemed superfluous by
many readers of this Handbook ; but a few observations on English
or London peeuliarities may not be nnacceptable to the American,

the English-speaking foreigner, or the provineial visitor.
In Englind, Bunday, ns is well known, is observed as a day of rdst
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and of public worship, Bhops, places of amusement, gallérics, and the
Qity restauranis are closed the whole day, while other restaurants are
opent from 1 to 3, and from 6 to 41 p.m. only. Many places (f business
are eloged from 1, 2, or 8 p.m. on Baturday till Monday morning. Among
these sre all the binks and insurance offices and prmt{mlly all the whole-
gale warshouges.
 Like ‘&'l vows ploit® in Parig, if you please’ or ‘please’ is genorally

uged in ordering rifreghments at a cafd or regtanrant, or in making any
request. The English forms of politeness are, however, hy no means 8o
minute or ceremonious as the French. For example, the hat is raised fo
ladies only, and is worn In all pubiic places, such as shops, cafés, music
halls, and musenms,

The fashionable bour for paying visits in London ip between 4 and
@ pom, The proper mode of delivering a letter of introduetion is in per-
son,; alons with the bearer’s vigiting-gard snd address; but when fhis ia
rendered Inconyvenient Ly the greatness of digtance or othér cause, the
lsttér may be sent by post, nceompanied by a polite explanation.

The usual dinner hour of the upper classes varies from 6 to 8 or even
9 pom. It ig eonsidered permissible for guests invited 10 n dinner-party
to arrive & few minutes late. A common form of invitation is *aight, for
half-past eight'y in which ¢ase the guest should arrive not later than (he
Iatter hour. Gentlemen remain ot fable, over their wine, for a short time
after the ladies have left.

Forelgners may oftén obfain, theough their ambassadors, permizssion
to viait private collections which are not open to the ordinary English tourist

We peed hardly caution new-comers against the artiflces of pick-
poekets and the wiles of Impostors, two fraternitics whicll are very nu-
merous in London, It is even prudent to avoid speaking to strangers in
thie street., All information desived by the traveller muy be oblained from
ong of the policemen, of whom about 15,500 (600 mounied) pernmbulnte
the streets of the metropolis. If a policeman is not readily fgn.nd, appli-
cation way be made to a postal letter carrier, to a commissionnaire, or
at @ neighbouring shop. A considerable degree of caution anid presence
of mind is often requisite in crossing a crowded thoroughfare, and in
entéring or nlighf.in% from & train or omnibug. The ‘rule of the rosd’
fur foot-passensers in busy sireets is to keep to the right. Poor neigh-
bourhoods showld bea avoided affer mightfall, Sirangers are also warned
neaingl Mock dwclions, a specivus trap for the unwary, snd indeed ghould
neithier by nor sell at any auction in London without the aid of an ex-
perienced friend or a trustworthy broker.

Avpprrsses of all kinds may be found in Kelly's Post (iffice Directory,
& thick volume of B000 papés, or in Morris's Directory. a less extensive
work, one or other of which may be seen at a1l the hotels and eafés and
at most of the principal shops. The addresses of residents at the West
End and other suburbs may also be obinined from Boyles Court Guide,
Webster'a Royal Red Hook, the Royal Blue Book, or Kelly's Suburban BDi-
reclory, and those of city men and ilrms in Collingridye’s Cily Directory.

A ugefnl adjunct to most houses in the central parts of London i3 »
Calb Whistle, one blast upon whieh summons a four-wheeler, two o hanson.

Amgng the eharncteristic sichis of London is the Lord Mapor's Show
(#th NWov.), or the prucession in which — maintaining an anclent and
picturesque, though nseless enstom — the newly-elecied Lovd Mayor moves,
amid great pomp and ceremimy, through the streets from the City to the
new Courts of Justice, in order to take the cath of office. It is f{lllowed
By the great dinner in the Guildhall (p. 101),

22. Guilds, Charities, Bocieties, Clubs.

@uilds, The City Oompanies or Guilds of London were once
upwirds of one hundred in nnmber, about eighty of which still
exist, though few exercise their ancient privileges. About forty



72 22, GUILDS, CHARITIES,

of them possess halls in which they traneact business and hold
festivities; the others meet either in rooms lent to them at Guild-
hally or at the offices of the respective elerks. All the companies
except five are called Livery Companies, and the members are en-
titled, on ceremonial oceasions, to wear the liveries (gowns, furs,
ete.) of their respective guilds. Many of the companies possess
vast estates and revenues, while others possess neither halls nor
almshouses, neither estates nor revenues, — nothing bul ancient
charters to which they reverentially cling. Some of the guildhouses
are among the most interesting buildings in London, and are no-
ticed throuwghout the Handbook. The Twelve Great Companies,
wealthier and more influential than the rest, are the Mercers,
Groeers, Drapers, Fishmongers, Goldsmiths, Skinners, Merchunt
Taylors, Haberdashers, Salters, Ironmongers, Vinlners, and Cloth-
workers. Some of the companies represent trades now quite ex-
tinet, and by their unfamiliar names strikingly illustrate the fact
how completely they have outlived their original purpose. Such
are the Bowyers, Brodevers, Girdlers, Horners, Loriners (saddler's
ironmongers), Patten Makers, and Seriveners.

Charities. Tle charities of London are on a scale commensurate
with the vastness of the city, being no fewer than 2000 in number.
They comprise hospitals, dispensaries, asylums; bible, tract, mis-
sionary, and distriet visiting societies; providenthomaes, orphanages,
ste. A tolernbly complete catalogne will be found in Fry's Guide to
the London Charities (1s. Gd.), Howe's Classified Divectory of Metro-
politan Charities (1s.), ox Low's Handbook to the Charilies of London
(1s.). The total voluntary subseriptions, donations, and bequests
to thege charitigs amount to about 5,000,000 annually, or more
than 1L, for sach man, woman, and child in the capital. The institu-
tion of ‘Hospital Sunday’, on which collections are made in all the
churches for the hospitals, produces a yearly revenue of about
40,0004, Non-churchgoers have a similar opportunity afforded them
on ‘Hospital Saturday’, when about 700 ladies station themselvees at
streat-corners to receive contributions; this produces about T000L,
while' collections made at the same time in workshops add 13,0001
or more. The following is a brief list of the shief general hospitals,
besides which there are numerouns special hospitals for eancer, small-
pox, fever, consumption, eye and ear diseases, and so forth,

Charing Cross, Agar Street, Strand. — French Hospital, 172 Shafteatury
Avenue. — German, Dalslon Lane, Dulston. — Great Northern, Culedonian
Hoad,— Guy's, Bt. Thomas Street, Southwark, — lalian, Quesn Square. —
King's College, Carey Street, Btrand. — London, Whitochapel Road, — London
Homeopathie, Oreal Ormond Street, — Mefropolitan, Kingsland Road, E, —
Middlesex, Mortimer Btreet, Bernera Strect. — North- West London, Kentigh
Town Road, — University College, or North Loendon, Gower Streel. — Royal
Free, Geay's Inn Road. — 81 Bartholoniw's, Smithfield, — S, Georgd's,
Hyde Park Cormer. — St Mary's, Combridge Place, Paddington. —
8t, Thomas's, Albert Embankment, — Temperdanes, Hampstend Hoad, —

Wegt London, Hammersmith Road., — Westminater, Broad Sancluary,
The following ave HusriTaLs For Labigs, in which patients are receiv-
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ed for muduntu charge: — Fatablishment for Gentl i, B0 Harley Stricet
(11,28, D 6 gaz week); New Hospital for Women, 111 Euston Road, with
lndy- d:.-i.wrs, Chelsea Bwpirul Jor Women, Fulham Hoad.

Bocieties, The societies for the ancou:agement of industry,
art, and science in London are extremely numerous, and many of
them possess most ample endowments. The names of o few of the
most important may be given here, some of them being described
at length in other parts of the Handbook : —

Royal Soeiety, Royal Academy, Society of Antiguaries, Geolo-
gieal Society, Royal Astronomieal Soviety, Linnuean Society, Chem~
ical Soejety, all in Burlington House, Piceadilly. — Eoyal Arehaco-
Logical Institute, 17 Oxford Mansions, Oxford Street. — Hoyal Aea-
demy of Musie, 4 Tenterden Street, Hanover Square, — Royal Col-
tege of Musie, near the Albert Hall, — Royal College of Physicians,
Pall Mall Ilast. — Royal Coliege of Surgeons, 40 Lincoln's Inn
Fields. — Royal Geographical Sceiety, 1 Savile Row, Burlington
Gardens, — Royal Asiatic Society, 22 Albemarle Street, Piceadilly.
— Royal Society of Literature, &6 Hanover Square, W. — Royal
Cotlegeof Seienee, 232 Exhibition Road, South Kensingston,— Socicly
[or the Encouragement of Arls, .Hrmufactures , and Commeree
generally known as the Soc.:e{y of Arts, John Street, Adelphi,
Strand. — Trinity College [mumc and arts), 13 Mandeville Place,
Manchester Square. — Heralds' College, Quesn Victoria Street, —
Institution of Civil Engineers, 20 Great George Street, Westminster,
— Royal Institute of British Architects, 9 Conduit Street, W, —
Sanitary Institute of Great Britain (Musenm of Hygiens), T4a Mar-
garet Street, Cavendish SBguare. — School of Elecivical Engineer-
ing and Submarine Telegraphy, 12 Prince’s Street, Hanover Square.
— Royal Institution, 21 Albemarle Street, Piceadilly. Popular
leetures on selence, art, and literature are delivered here on Friday
evenings during the Sesson (adm. by a member’s order). Six leo-
tures for children, illustrated by experiments, aré given after Clirist-
mag, — Guilds Cenlral Technival College, Txhibition Road, South
Kensington, for the advancement of technical education.

The Clubs are chiefly devoted to social purposes. Most of the
club-houses at the West End, particularly those in or near Pall Mall,
are very handsome, and admirably fitted up, affording every possible
eomfort. Toa bachelorin particular his ‘club’is a most serviceable in-
stitution. Members are admitted by ballot, butcandidates are reject-
ed by a certain small proportion of ‘black balls' or dissentient votes.
The entrance fee varies from 5 Ds, to 407, and the annual subscrip-
tion is from 3L 3s. to 104, 1Ds. The introduction of guests by a mem-
ber is allowed in some, but not in all of the elubs, The cuisine is usu-
ally admirable. The wine and viands, which are sold at little more
than cost price, often attain a pitoh of exeellence unequalled by the
most elaborate and expensive restanrants.

We append aroughly classified list of the most important clubs :—

Political, — Coxssrvativi: Brogls's, 60 81, James's Strect; Cariion, Y4
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Pall Mall, the premier Conservative Club (1800 members) s City Carlton, 24
8t. Swithin's Lane; Consereative Club, TA Bt. James's Strest (1200 memberdj;
Conatitutional, Northumberlond Avenue (8500 members)s Junior Carlton,
30-85 Pall Mall (2100 members); Junior Conservative, 43 Alhemarle Street
(4500 members); Junior Constitutional, 102 Piccadilly (4000 members)y Prim-
rose, 4 Park Place, Bf. James's (| members): Sf. Stephen's, 1 Bridse
Btreet, Westminster. — Lingnar: City Libiral Clud, Walbrooks; Devonshire
o0 8t, James's Street (1600 members); National Liberal, Whitehall Place
(T000 members); Reform, 101 Pall Mall, the ﬁ,"f“ﬂ“ Liberal Club (1400
members). — The S8t James’s Club, 108 Piccadilly, is for the diplomatic
gervice (HB0. memharsg),

llilltl%nd Naval and University Olubs. — Army and Naey Olub, BG
Pall Mall membara); Cavalry, 127 Piccadilly ; East India Uniled Ser-
wice, 10 8L, James's Square (2500 membera)s Guards' Club, 70 Pall Mall;
fsthmian , 160 Piccadilly; Jundor drmy and Navy, 10 8t Famea's Bireet;
Junior United Service, 11 Charles Street (2000 members); Naval and Military,
01 Pigeadilly (2000 members); New Oxford and Combridge, (8 Pall Mall:
New University, 07 Bt. James's Streety Oxford and Cambridge, TL-T6 Pall
Mall; United Service, 116 Pall Mall; 1600 members (members must not hold
lower vank than major in the srmy or commender in the navy); United
University, 1 Suffolk Street.

Literary, Dramatie, Artistic Olubs, ete. — Arts Club, 17 Hanover Byuare,
— Athenaeum (tub, 107 Pall Mall, the club of the fiteradi ; 1200 members, (Dis-
tinguished strangers visiting London may be elscted honorary members
of the Athepmum during their temporsry residence in London.) — duthers’,
8 Whiteball Court, 8.W.: Beausort, 32 Dover Bt., W.3 Burlington Fine Aris
(b, 17 Savile Rowy Crichion, 10 Adelphi Terrace {proprietary); Garrick
Club; 13 wnd 10 Garrick Ftreef, Covent Garden, for lterary men snd sctors
%ﬂ) members) 5 Grem Room, 20 Bedford Street, Covent Gardens; Hogarth,

Dover Bt.; Press Clud, 107 Fleet Streaty Savage Ciub, 0 Ada.li:hi Terrace.

Spnrﬁngscluhn. — Alpine Club, B 5t, Martin’s Place, Trafslgar Square;
Badminton, 98 Piceadilly (1000 members; sporting and conching); Turs Club,
AT Olarges Street, Picondilly ; Victoria, 18 Wellington Strest, Strand. — Hur-
Yingham Club, see p, 837, — Comp. pp. 46-19,

Hocial and General Clubs. — Atbemarle, 13 Albemnrla Street, fur ladies
and gentlemen (700 membera); drthur's, 89 8t. Jumes's Streeiy Bachelors’,
8 Hamilton Plage: Boodle's, 18 8t. James's Street (ehiefly for country gen-
tlemen); Cigar Club, Ba Waterloo Place (1000 members); Cily of London,
19 01d Broad Sireet, Citys Cocoa Tree, 61 8t, James’s SBtreet; German Athe-
maaum, 98 Mortimer Streets Gresham, 1 Gresham Place, Gitfr; (froavenor,
1406 New Bond Strest {30(!5 membera)s Junior Athenaenm, 116 Piceadilly 5
Junior Travellers, 1 Gruftpn Streel; Mariborough, 62 Pall Mall 3 Natimal,
1 Whitehall Gardensy New Travellers, 97 Piceadilly; Oriental Club, 18 Han-
over Squarve; Oriesns Ciub, 29 King Btreet, St. Jamea's (see alsn p. 838);
Raleigh Club, 16 Regent Streel; Si. George's Olub, 4 Hanover Squarc; Sawile
Ciub, 107 Piceadilly; Scoftish Ciub, 39 Dover Street, Piecadillyy Thatched
Houge Club, 86 5t. James's Streets Travellers, 106 Pall Mall (300 members;
cavh member must have travelled at least 500 miles from London); Uniden
Ciish, Trafalgar Square, corner of Cockspur Btrest: Wellington, 1 Groavenor
Place; White's Club, Bt. James's Strest; Whitehall Club, AT Parliament
Street; Windham Chud, 13 8t. James's Square,

Ladies® Olubs. — Adlxandra, 12 Grosvenor Street Eﬁﬂ_memheﬂ}r New
Semerville, 231 Oxford Streel; Ladies' Undversity Club, b1 New Bond Street;
Lndieg Victoria, 16 Holles Street (a residential club); Pioneers', 22 Braton
St. 3 Weiters'; Norfolk House, Norfolk Street, Strand. — The Atbemarl: (see
above) and the Denfzon, 16 Buckingbam Strest, Strand (fir social discue-
sions), are for ladies and gentlemen.

The Royal Colonial Institute, Northumberland Avenue, founded in 1863
for the purpose of ‘providing o place of meeting for all gentlemen con-
nected with the Colonies and British India’; and the fmperial Institute
(p. 232) offer many of the advantsges of a good elab.
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23. Preliminary Ramble,

Nothing is better caleulated to afford the traveller some insight
into the labyrinthine topography of London, to enable him to
ascertain his bearings, and to dispel the firat oppressive feeling of
solitude and insignificance, than a drive through the principal
quarters of the town.

The outside of an omnibus affords & much better view than a
cab (fares, see p. 28), and, moreover, has the advantage of cheap-
ness, If the driver, beside whom the stranger should sit, happens
to be obliging (and 4 small gratuity will generally make him so),
he will afford much useful information about the buildings, monu-
ments, and other sights on the ronte; but care should be taken
not to digtract his attention in crowded parts. Even without such
assistance, however, our plan of the city, if carefully consulted,
will supply all necessary information, If ladies are of the party, an
open Fly (see p. 28) is the most comfortable conveyance.

Taking Hyde Park Corner, at the W. end of Piccadilly, as a cou-
venient starting-point, we mount one of the numerous omnibuses
which ply to the Bank and London Bridge and traverse nearly
the whole of the guarters lying on the N. bank of the Thames.
Entering Piccadilly, we first pass, on the right, the Green Park,
beyond which riges Buckingham Palace (p. 268). A little farther to
the ., in the distance, we desery the towers of Westminster Abbey
(p. 200) and the Houses of Parliament (p. 191). In Regent Street
on the right, at some distance off, rises the York Column (p. 227),
Pagsing Piccadilly Cirous with the Shaftesbury Memorial (p. 232),
we drive to the right through the Haymarket, mear the end of
whieh, on the left, is the theatre of that name (p.40). We now
come to Trafalgar Square, with the Nelson Monument (p. 150) and
the National Gallery (p. 162). On the right, in the direction of
Whitehall, we observe the old statue of Charles I, Pagsing Charing
Cross, with the large Charing Cross Hotel (p. 6) on the right, we
enter the Strand, where the Adelphi, Lyceum, Gaiety, and other
theatres lie on ourleft, and the Savoy, Terry’s, and Strand theatres on
onr right (pp. 40, 44). On the left is Sonthampton Street, leading to
CoventGarden (p.186), and on the right Wellington Street, with Som-
erset House (p. 146) near the corner, leading to Waterloo Bridge
(p-147), Near the middle of the Strand we reach the chureh of St.
Mary le Strand (p. 145), and farther on is St. Clement Danes (p.146).
Ou the left we see the extensive new Law Courts (p. 144). Passing
the site of Temple Bar (see p. 148), we now enter the City proper
(p. 67). On the right of Fleet Street are several entrances to the
Temple (p. 141), while on the left rises the chureh of St. Dunstan
in the West (p. 138). At the end of Farringdon Street, diverging
on the left, we notice the Holborn Viaduct Bridge (p. 94); on
the right, in New Bridge Street, is the Ludgate Hill Station. We
next drive up Ludgate Llill, pass St.. Paul's Cathedral (p. 81) on



76 23. PRELIMINARY RAMBLE.

the left, and turn to the left to Cheapside, noticing the monument
of Sir Robert Peel (p. 91), a little to the N. of which is the General
Post Offiee (p. 91). 1In Cheapside we observe Bow Church (p. 101)
on the right, and near it the Guildhall (p. 101) at the end of King
Strect on the left. Quitting Cheapside, we enter the Poultry, in
which the Mansion House (p. 104) rises on the right. Opposite the
Mansion House is the Bank of England (p. 104), and before us is
the Royal Exchange (p. 106), with Wellington’s Statue in front.
We then drive through King William Street, with the Statue of
William IV., observing the Monument (p. 112) on the left

We now quit the omnibus, and, after a walk across London
Dridge (p. 111) and back, pass throngh part of Gracechurch Street
on the right, and follow Fenchurch Street to the station of the Lon-
don and Blackwall Railway. A train on this line carries us to
Blackwall, whence we ascend the Thameg by one of the Greenavich
Steamers, passing London Docks (p. 129), St. Katherine's Docks
(p. 123), the new Tower Bridge (p. 128), the Tower (p. 120), the
Custom House (p. 143), and Billingsgate (p. 114), to London Bridge.
Here we may disembark, and take an omnibns back to Hyde Park
Corner, or, continning in the same boat, may pass under the Can-
non Street Station Railway Bridge, Southwark Bridge (with St
Paul's rising on the right), the Chatham and Dover Bridge, and
Blackfriars Bridge. Between Blackfriars Bridge and Westminster rans
the Victoria Embankment (p. 115). On the right are the Temple
(p. 141) and Somerset House (p. 146). The steamer then passes
under Waterloo Bridge (p. 147), beyond which, to the right, on the
Embankment, stands Cleopatra’s Needle (p. 116). We alight at
COharing Cross Pier, adjacent to the Charing Cross Railway Bridge, and
re-embark in a Chelsea Boat, which will convey us past Montague
Honse (p. 191), New Scotland Yard (p. 191), Westminster Bridge,
and the Houses of Parliament (p. 191), behind which is Westmin-
ster Abbey (p. 200). On the left is the Albert Embankment, with
St. Thomas's Hospital (p. 310); and, farther on, Lambeth Palace
{p. 310) with the Lollards’ Tower, and Lambeth Bridge. We then
resch Vauxhall Bridge. From Vauxhall the traveller may walk or
take a tramway car to Victoria Station, whence an omnibus will
convey him to Oxford Street.

In order to obtain a view of the quarters on the right (8.) bank
of the Thames, or Surrey side, we take a light-green Atlas omnibus
(mot a City Atlas) in Regent Circus, Oxford Street (Plan R, 23)
and drive through Regent Street, Regent’s Quadrant, Piceadilly
Cireug, Regent BStreet (econtinued), Waterloo Place (with the
Crimean Monument and the York Column), Pall Mall Easf, and
Charing Cross to[right) Whitehall. Here we observe, on the left, White-
hull Benqueting Hall (p. 189), and on the right the Admiralty, the
Horse Guards (p. 190), and the Government Offlees. Our route next
lies throngh Parliament Street, beyond which we pass Westminster
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Abbey (p. 200) and the Honses of Parlinment (p. 191) on the right.
The omnibus then crosses Westminster Bridge, with the Victoria Em-
bankment on the left, and the Albert Embankment and St. Thomas's
Hospital on the right.. Traversing Westminster Bridge Road, we
ohserve, on the right, Christchurch and Hawkstone Hall. In
Lambeth Road we perceive the Church of St. George's, the Roman
Catholic Cathedral of Southwark, and, opposite to it, Bethlehem Hos-
pital. On the W. side of St. George's Cirons, with its obelisk, rises
the Blind Asylum. A little to the 8. of this point, we arrive at the
Elephant and Castle (on the right), where we alight, to resnme our
journey on a blue Waterlooomnibus. This takes us throngh London
Road to Waterloo Road, to the right of which are the Surrey Theatre
(Blackiriars Road), Magdalen Hospital, and the Victoria Musie
Hall (p. 43), and on the left the South Western Railway Station.
We then cross Waterloo Bridge, drive along Wellington Street, pass—
ing Somerset House, and turn to the left into the Strand, which
leads us to Charing Cross. — Our first curiosity having thus been
gratified by a general survey of London, we may now devote onr
attention to its collections, monnments, and huildings in detail.

24, Disposition of Time.

The most indefatigable gight-seer will take at least three weeks
to obtain even a superfieial acquaintance with London and its ohjects
of interest. A plan of operations, prepared beforehand, will aid him
in regulating his movements and economising his time. Fine days
should be spent in visiting the docks, parks, gardens, and environs,
Exeunrsions to the conntry around London, in particular, should not
be postponed to the end of one’s sojourn, as otherwise the setting
in of bad weather may altogether preclude a visit to the many
beautiful spots in the neighbourhood. Rainy days had better be de-

voted to the galleries and museums.

The following lis! ghows the days and hours when the various ecllec-
tons and other sights are accepaible. In winter (Ocl. to April inclusive)
the collections close at the ecarlier hours shown in the following iables
in summer at the later hours. The early forenoon and late after-
noon hours may be appropriately spent in visiting the prineipal churches,
many of which are open the whole day, or in walking in the parkse or in
the Zoological and the Botanical Gardens, while the evenings may be
devoted to the theatres. The best time for n promenade in Regent Sfreet
or Hyde Park s between D and 7 o’cloek, when they both pregent a
remarkably buay and afiractive scema, When the traveller happens to be-
near London Bridge (or the Tower Bridge) he ghonld take the opportunity
of erossing it in order fo obtain a view of the Port of London and its
ndjunets, with ite sea- going vessels arriving or departing, the innumerable
river eraft of all sizes, and the vast traffic in the docks. A trip to Graves-
end (see p. 360) should by all means be taken in order to obiain a proper
view of the shipping, no other port in the worlddpreannﬁng sach a sight.

The following data, though earefully revised down to 1804, are Hille
to uent alterstion. The traveller s, therefore, ded to It
ome of the principal London newspapers with regard to the sights of the
Way, Our list does not inelude parks, gardens, and other places which,
on all week-days ot least, are open to the public gratis.
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Sunday Monday Tuesday | Wednesday
Charlerhonse (p. 98) . . . . . — 10-4, 5, 6 10-4, 5, 6 104, D, 6
Ohelsen Hospital (p, 804) . . . || services | 104,27 | 104,27 | 104,27
*(rysial Paloce (p. 817). . . . — 10 11 dusk | 10 411 dusk | 10 4§11 dusk
*Dulwich Gallery {p.824). . . -5 10-4, 5,6 10-3, B, 6 104,56, 8
Flaxman Gallery (p, 235). . . — —_ — —_
*Foundling Hospital (p. 236) . 11-1, 5-6 10-4 - —_
Greenwieh Hogpital (p. 818), . 2.4,6,6 104, 5,6 10-4,0, 0 10-4, 6,6
Guildhall, Picture Gallery
o 2 LR i R L 3-8 104,56 10-4, & 10-4, 6
—, Museum (p. 163} . . . . . — 10-4, 5 10-4, 5 104, 5
*Humpion Court Palace (p. 828) 24, 6 10-4, 8 10-4, 6 10-4, 6
Impérial Institute (p. 28 , . = 10.80-41 10.90-11 10.30»11
°Kew Gardens (p. 831) . , . . 18 12-6 12-6
Monument (p. 412) . . . . . . 8-8, 0-4 B-f, 84 B 3 9-4
Mugeum, Bethnal Green (p. 181) — 10-10 10-4, 6, 6 !0-!, n, 6
- ¢ 10-4,5; 6 | 10:4,5,6 104, 5, 6
—, **British (p-2UY . . . . . — 8-10p.m, 8.10 810
—, Genlogical {p. 230} . . . . _ 1040 10-5 105
—, “Natursl History (p.283) . — 104, 5,8 10-4, 5, 6 10-4, 5, 6
—, Parkes (p,288) . . . ... — 10-8 10-8 10-8
—, Soane (p. 186). . .« . . . = ! 146 1.5
—, **Sonth Kensington (p. 285) — 10-10 10-10 10-4, 5, 8
—, United Service (p. 180) . . — 11-4,6 114,56 11-4, 5
**National Gullery (p. 159) . . — 104, 5,6, 7 | 10-4, 5,8, 7 | 10-4,56,6,7
**National Portrait  Guallery
[0 7 RS PR T sha gt - 10-10 10-4, 86, 6 10-4, 5, 6
*Parlfament, Houses of (p. 181) — — — —
Royal Academy, Summar Ex-
ME TR T =0 5 o gy 2 87 87 81
—, Winter Exhib. (p. 239) . . 9 tin dusk | 9 tin dusk | 9 4ill dusk
—, Gibson and Diploma Gul.
(e BI SUTL VI SRV - 114 11-4 114
Royal College of Surgeons
0 ) RN ey S e g - 115, 124 | 14-5, 124 | 115, 12
=:8t, Paul's Gathadral (p. 81) || services 9-5 9-b 95
Soeiety of Arta (p. 118). - 104 10-4 —
South London Fine Art Gnl-
lery (p. B09) . 3-5, 7-9.80 | 8-5,7-9.80 | 8.5,7-9.80 | 3-5,7-9.80
“Pemypla Chureh (p. 144) - services | 104,24 | 104,24 || 104,24
“Tower (p. 120}, .+ » o on» - 10-4, B {0-4 10-1
**Westmingter Alley (p. 200) || services | 0till dusk | 9 6Ll dusk | 9§11 dusk
*Zoologieal Gardens (p, 287) . | (ses p.238) | O till dusk | Otill'dusk | 9 till dusk
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I Admissipn free except when other-

Thuarsday Friduy Baturday | rise atetad:
105, 5,6 | 104,58 | 10-3,5,0 [ Great Hall closed 8.
104,27 | 104,27 | 401,27
40 ti11 dusk | 10431 duak: | 10 {ill dusk | Adm, 1.5 on Saf. sometimes 2a. fid.
10-4,5,6 | 104, 5,6 10-4,'7 || Open on Sun, in summer only.
— —_ 104 May-Aung, inclusive,
— —_ — Donation expested.
10-4,6,6 | 10-4,6,6 | 104,56,8
10-4, 6 10-4, b 104,56 osed on slternate Sundays,
10-4, 6 10-4, b 104, 5
10-4, 6 - 104, 8
10.80-11 12-10 10.80-11 Adm, 15, Free on Frid,
126 126 12-6
8-, 9-4 8-6, 9-4 86,91 | Adm. Bd.
10-10 10-4, 6, 6 10-10 Adm. Bd. on Wed.; other days free.
10-4,5,8 | 104,5,6 | 104,56
8-10 8-10 8-10
10-6 — 1040 Cloged from 10th Aug. to 10th Sepl.
10-4, 6,6 | 20-4,5.6 | 104,5,68
10-6 10-8 10-8
11-5 i1-b6 —_ From March to Aung, inclusive; from
Sept. to Feb. on application,
104,5.6 | 10-4,5,6 1010 Adm. 6d. on Wed., Thurs, , Frid.;
other days [ree.
11-4, 5 — 11-6 On application,
11-4, 6, 6,7 | 114,56, 6,7 | 10-4, 5,6, 7| Adm. 64. on Thurs. & Frid. ; ofher
days free,
1040 104, 5, 6 1010 Adm. 6d, on Wed.: other days free,
— — 10-3.80 Tickets gratis,
BT 87 B8-7 From 1st Mon. in May to 1st Mon,
in Aug, Adm. 1s
0 till dusk | 9 till dusk | 9 till dusk || From 4st Mon. in Jan. to 1st Mon.
in Mar. Adm. ls.
114 11-4 11-4
12-4,5 - - By special permission.
05 9-b 95
0-4 10-4 16-4
3-5,7-9.30 | 8-B,7-8.80 | 3-5,7-9.30
10-1, 24 10-1, 24 =
10-4 10-4 10-4, 8 || Adm. free (Armoury and Crown Jew-
elsbd, enoh, except on Mon, & Sat.).
9 till dusk | 9 till dusk | 9 till dusk || Adm. to chapels 6d.; free on Mon,
& Tues.
0 il dusk fill dusk | 9 Hll dugk | Adm. is; on Mon. Od
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25. Books relating to London.

The following are some of the best and latest works on London
and its neighbourhood, to which the visitor desirous of further in-
formation than can be obtained in a guide-book may be referred.

Walks in London, by dug. J. €. Hare; 2 vola., fllus.: Oth ed., 1884,

London (Historic Towns Seriea), by W. J. Laftie; 1886,

In and out of London, by W. J. Laftie; illustrated; 1876.

Round ahout London (12 miles), by o Fellow of the Society of Andi-

uoies; Ath ed. TiB887.

A History of London, by W. J. Loftie; 2 vols., illustrated: 2nd ed..
1884, with appendix.

i'..lnnﬂnn, by Walley Besant (1308).

Northern Heights of London, by Wi, Hoieitf; illustrated; 1869,

Thorne's Hondbook to the Environs of Londons 2 vols., 1877,

Memorials of London and London Life in the 1Bth, 1dth, and 15th
Centuries, hy H. T. Riley; 1863,

Knight's Londony 2 vols.s illustrated.

Casgell's 01d and Few London, hy W, Therabury and E. Waelford;
6 vols., illustrated; dth ed., 1837,

Cassell’s Oreater London (10 miles), by E. Walford; 2 vols., illuatrated.

Dickens's London, by 7. E. Pemberton; 1876,

Thackeray's London, by W. H. Rideiny; 1885,

0l London Street Ories nnd the Cries of To-day, by 4. W. Tuer;
illustrated; 1885,

Literary Londmarks of London, by Laurence Hution; ith ed., 1883,

The Highway of Letters (Fleet Birect), by Thomas Avcher; illustrated;
2493,

Memorable London Houses, by Wilmot Harrison (1980,

London in the Jacobite Times, by Dr. Deran; 2 vols., 1877,

The Romance of London, by J. Timbs; 1865,

Curiogitica of London, by J. Timbs; 1878,

Clubs and Club Life ‘n London, by J. Timbs; illusirated.

Huunted Londen, by . ?‘hﬂrﬂzmr‘y edited by E. Walford.

The Town, by Leigh Hunt; illuatrated; lust ed., 1893

The 01d Court Suburb (Kensington), by Leigh Humiy 1860.

Baunter through the West End, by Leigh Huni; 1881,

Pickens's Dictionary of London (15.) and Dictionary of the Thames (12.).

Massey's Streets of London (1s.) is intended to help the traveller in
ascertaining the poaition of any sireet in London.

Whitaker's Almanack (15, and 2s. 6d.) gives & larvge amount of useful
nformation in a condensed form,



I. THE CITY.
1. St. Paul's Cathedral.

The City, already noticed in the Introduetion as the sommereial
centre of London, has sometimes also been not unaptly termed its
capital. In the very heart of it, conspicuously situated on a slight
eminence, stands London’s most prominent building, *St, Paul's
Cathedral (P1. B, 39; 11[).

Home authorities maintain that in pagan times a temple of Diana
oecupied the site of St. Paul’s, but S8ir Christopher Wren rojected this
idea. Still the spot must at least have heen one of sgme sanotity, to judge
from the cinerary urns and other vessels found here, and Wren was of
opinion, from remaing disepvered in diggix:lg] the foundations of the present
edifice, that there had been a church on this spot built by Clristians in
tha time of the Romans, and demolished by the Pagan Saxons, It is
believed to have been restored by Ethelbert, King of Kent, sbout A.D,
B10. Thig building was burned down in 961, snd rebuilt within' a yeoar,
It was again destroyed by fire in 1087, but a new edifice was af once
begun, though not completed for about 200 years. This church, Old 5t
Paul's, was ft. long (30 {t. longer than Winchester cathedral, now the
longest church in Englund), and in 1340 was furnished with  timber spire,
covered with lead, ft, high aceording to Wren's estimate, thousgh earlier
authorities state it to have been 020 ft. in height (ie. 8 ft. higher than
Cologne Cathedral), The spire was in_!urad by lighining in 1445, but was
restored, and it continned standing 1111 1661, when it fell & prey to the
flames, The church itself was damaged by tiltu fire, snd fell into & very
dilapidated condition, The 8.W, tower was called the Lollards’ Tower
(comp. p. 810), Before the building of the Lady Chapel in 1225 the ehoir
was adjoined by the church of Si, Faith, the name of which was after-
warde applied to the erypt benerth the cathedral-choir, which was used
by the congregation un the demolition of their church. Near the cathedral
omee atood the celebrated Cross of Si. Panl (Powle's Cross), where sermona
were preached, papal bulls promulegated, heretica mude to recant, and witehes
to confess, nnd where the Pn]}e‘a condemnatitm of Luther was proclaimed
in the presence of Wolaey. The eross and adjacent pulpit were at length
removed by order of parliament in 1643, The platform on which the cross
stood was discovered in 1870, at & depth of about B ft., by workmen
engaped in loying out the gnrden on the N2, side of the chureh (comp,. Plan).

The subierrancan portions of the half-ruined chureh were nsed as work-
shops and wine-cellars. A theaire was erected against one of the outer
walls, and the nave was converted into a publie promenade, the once
famous Paul's Walk. The Protector Somerset (in the reign of Hdward V1)
went go far 88 to employ the stones of the ancient edifice in the con-
atruction of his palace (Somersel House, p. 146). In the relgn of Charles L
an extensive restoration wad undertaken, and s beautiful portico built by
tnigo Jopes. The Civil War, however, put an end to this work. After
the Restoration, when the church was about to be repaired, its remaing
ware destroyed by the Great Fire of 1666 (p. 118), though the ruinons nove
wag used for service until 1678, — Among the numerous historieal remi-
misgentes attaching to Old St. Paul's, we may mention that it was the
burial-place of a long series of illustrions persons, and the scene of Wy-
cliffe’s citation for heresy in 1837, and of the burning of Tyndale's New
Testament in 1527. — The form of Tillingham in Hssex has belonged to
Bt. Paul's since the Tth cent., representing perhaps the mogt ancient tenure
in the country.

The present church, designed by Sir Christopher Wren, and

begun in 1675, was opened for divine service in 1697, and com-
Baepexek, London, 9fh Edit, 6
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pleted in 1710. It is interesting to notice that the whole build-
ing was completed by one architest, Sir Christopher Wren, and by
one master mason, Thomas Strong, under one bishop, Dr. Compton.
The greater part of the cost of construction (TA7,9542.) was defrayed
by a tax on coal. 8ir Christopher Wren received during the huild-
ing of the cathedral a salary of 200/ a year.

The church, which resembles St. Peter’s at Rome, though much
smaller, is in the form of a Latin cross, It is 500 ft. in length and
118 ft. broad, and the transept is 250 ft. long. The inner dome is
220 ft., the outer, from the pavement to the top of the eross, 364 it.
in height. The diameter of the drum beneath the dome is about
412 ., of the dome itself 102 ft. (37 ft. less than that of St. Pe-
ter's at Rome). In the original model the plan of the building was
that of a Greek cross, having over the centre a large dome, sup-
ported by eight pillars; but the court party, which was favourable
to Roman Catholicism, insisted, notwithstanding Wren's oppo-
gition, on the erection of the ecathedral with a long nave and an
extensive choir, suitable for the Romish ritual.

The church is so hemmed in by streets and houses that it is
diffioult to find a point of view whence the colossal proportions of
the building can be properly realised. The best idea of the ma-
jestic dome, allowed to be the flnest known, is obtained from a
distance, e.g. from Blackfriars Bridge. St. Paul's is the third largest
chureh in Christendom, being surpagsed only by 8t. Peter's at Rome
and the Oathedral of Milan,

Exrerior. It is interesting to note the union of clasgic details
and style with the essentially Gothic structure of St. Paul's. It
has aisles lower than the nave and surmounted by a triforium, just
a8 in regular Gothic churches. But the triforinum, though on a large
soale, is not shown from the nave; while the lowness of the aisles
i8 concealed on the outside by masking-walls, g0 as to preserve the
classieal appearance and cover what would be, in a Gothie church,
the flying buftresses. The West Fapade, towarda Ludgate Hill, was
brought better to view in 1873 by the removal of the railing which
formerly surrounded the whole church. In front of it rises a Statue
of Queen Anne, with England, France, Ireland, and America at
her feet; the present statue, by Belt, erected in 1886, is a replica
of the original by Bird (1712). The fagade, 180 ft. in breadth,
is approached by a flight of 22 marble steps, and presents a double
porfico, the lower part of which congists of 12 coupled Corinthian
pillars, BOft. high, and the npper of 8 Composite pillars, 401t
high. On the apex of the pediment above the second row of
pillars, which contains a relief of the Conversion of 8t. Paul by
Bird, rises a statue of St. Paul 10 ft. in height, with St. Peter
and St. James on his right and left. On each side of the fagade is
a eampanile tower, 222 ft. in height, with statues of the four Evan-
gelists at the angles. The one on the N. gide contains a fine peal of
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12 bells, hung in 1878, and the other containg the largest bell in
England (‘Great Paul’), hung in 1882 and weighing more than 16
tons. Each arm of the transept is terminated by a semiciroular por-
tico, adorned with five statues of the Apostles, by Bird. Over the
5. portivo is a pheenix, with the inscription ‘Resurgam’, by Cibber ;
over the N, portico, the English arms. In reference to the former
it is related, that, when the pogition and dimensions of the great
dome had been marked out, a labourer was ordered to bring a stone
from the rubbish of the old cathedral to be placed as a guide to the
masons. The stone which he happened to bring was a piece of a
gravestone with nothing of the inscription remaining save the one
word ‘Resurgam’ in large letters. This incident was regarded as a
favourable omen, and the word accordingly adopted as a motto. At
the E. end the church terminates in a circular projection or apse.
The balustrade, about 9 ft. high, on the top of the N. and 5. walls
was erected contrary to the wishes of Wren, and iz considered by
modern architects a mistake. A drum in two sections, the lower
embellished with Oorinthian, the upper with Composite solumns,
bears the finely-proportioned double Dome, the outer part of which
consists of wood covered with lead. The Lantern above it is support-
ed by a liollow cone of brickwork resting upon the inner dome, On
the top of the lanternis a ball, surmounted by a cross, the ball and
cross together weighing 8960 pounds. The ball is 6ft. in diameter,
and can hold ten or twelve persons.

The church is open daily from 9 am. to 5 pom. The usnal ExTrazcEs
are on the W. and N. The monuments may be inspected, free of charge,
at any time, except during divine service, which takes place daily at
10 a.m. (choral) and 4 p.m. (choral) in the choir, and on Sundaya sl 8 a.m.,
10.80 a.m. (fine musie¢); 3.15 p.o., and T pon, On week-days daily services
are ulso held at 8 aum, and 8 p.m. in the chapel in the crypt; and Holy
Communion is celebrated at 8 a.m. and a short sermon preached at 116 p.m.
in the N.W. chapel. The choir is closed except during divine service,
but between 11 and 1 and between 2 and 3,80 (free) the verger admits
vigitors who wait at the gate of the N. ambulatory. Ticketa admitting
to the Library, Clpck, the Whispering Gallery, and the Stone Gallery
(Bd4.) and to the *Crypt and Vaults (6d.) are obtained in the 8, transept.
Tickets admilting to the Golden Gallery (ls.) and to the Ball (1a) are
obtained from the keeper in the Stime Gallery,

The IxTerIOR i8 impoging from the beauty and vastness of its
proportions, but strikes one as bare and dark. Though it is evi-
dent from the care with which the carved stone enrichments are
executed that Wren did not contemplate decorating the entire in-
terior in the rich style of the Italian churches of the day, it is prob-
able that he intended some portions to be adorned in colour. But
with the exception of Thornhill's grisailles (see below), practically
nothing was done in this direction until about 1860, when a Decor-
ation Completion Fund was founded, mainly through the exertions
of the Dean Milman (p. 8Y), for the embellishment of the interior
with marble, gilding, mosaies, and stained glass. The decoration
of the dome was completed in 1863-94, and the embellishment of
the choir (see p. B6) wus begun in 1891. The dome is adorned
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with elght seenes from the life of 8t. Paul in grisaille by Thornhill,
restored in 4854, but hardly visible from below (zee p. 89). The
eight large mosaice in the gpandrile of the dome, executed by Sal-
viati, represent St. Matthew and St. Johin, designed by &. F. Watts,
St. Mark and 8t, Luke, by Britten, and Isaiah, Jeremiah, Ezekiel,
and Daniel, by A. Stevens. In the niches above the Whispering
(Gallery are marble statues of the Fathers of the Church. The Organ,
which is one of the finest in Great Britain, is divided into two
parts, one on each eide of the choir, with conneeting mechanism
under the choir flooring. The builder, My, Willis, in constructing
it, used some of the pipes of the old organ by Father Smith or
Schmits, which dated back to 1694, Above the N. door i8 the tablet
in memory of Sir Christopher Wren, with the inseription contain-
ing the celebrated words, ‘Lector, si monumentum requiris, cirewm-
spiee’. This tablet formerly stood at the entrance to the choir.

The numerous monuments of celebrated Englishmen (chiefly
naval and military officers), which make the church a kind of
national Temple of Fame (though second to Westminster Abbey,
p. 200), are very rarely of artistio value, while many are remarkable
for egregiously bad taste.

The Grann Extraxce (W.) is a fayourable point for a survey
of the whole length of the nave. The N.W. or Morning Chapel, to
the left, is handsomely decorated with marble. The mosaiv, repre-
senting the Risen Saviour, was executed by Salviati, and commem-
orates Archdeacon Hale. The stained-glaszs window is a memorial
of Dean Mansel (1868-T1). Then to the left, in the N. Amim: —

L. The Crimean Cavalry Monument, in memory of the officers
and men of the British cavalry who fellin the Orimean war (1854-56).

L. Major-General Sir Herbert Stewart, who died in 48856 of
wounds received at'the battle of Abu-kru, Egypt; bronze medallion
and reliefs by Boehm.

L. Major-General Charles George Gordon, killed at Khartoum in
1885; sarcophagns-tomb, with hronze effigsy by Boehm,

R., beneath the central arch of the aisle: *Monnment to the
Duke of Wellington (d. 1852), by Stevens. The bronze figure of
Wellington rests on a lofty sarcophagus, overshadowed by a rich
marble canopy, with 12 Corinthian columns. Above is a colossal
group of Valour overcoming Cowardice. This imposing monument
still wants the equestrian effigy with whieh the seulptor intended it
to be crowned. Though originally designed for its present position,
this monument stood in the Consistory Court (p. 83) until 1893,

L. Lord William Methourne (d. 1848) and Lord Frederick Mel-
bourne (d. 1853), by Marochetti. Two angels guard the closed en-
trance to the tomb, — On each gide is a brass plate, on which are
inacribed the names of the officers and orew (484 in number) of
the ill-starred line-of-battle ship Captain, which foundered with
all hands off Cape Finisterre on Tth Sept., 1870.
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In the N. TRANsEYT : —

L. SirJoshua Reynolds (d. 1792), the celebrated painter, statne
by Flagman. Upon the broken column to his left is a medallion-
portrait of Michael Angelo.

L. Admiral Lord Rodney (d. 1792), by Rossi. At his feet, to
the left, is History listening to the Goddess of Fame (on the right),
who reconnts the Admiral's exploita.

L. Lieutenant-General Sir Thomas Picton (killed at Waterloo
in 1815), by Gahagan, In front of his bust is a Goddess of Victory
presenting a erown of laurels to a warrior, upon whose shoulder
leans the Genius of Immortality.

R. Admiral Eayl St. Vincent (d. 1823), the victor at Cape St.
Vincent; statue by Baily.

L. General William Franeis Patrick Napier (d. 1860), the his-
torian of the Peninsular War, by Adams.

L. Sir Charles James Napier (d. 1853): statue by Adams, ‘a
prescient General, a beneficent Governor, a just Man' (comyp. p. 150).

R. Admiral Lord Duyncan (d. 1804), who defeated the Dutch
in the naval battle of Camperdown ; statue by Westmaeatt.

L. General Sir William Ponsonby (d. 1815), ‘who fell glor-
ionsly in the battle of Waterloo’, by Baily; a nude dying hero,
erowned by the Goddess of Victory, with a falling horse in the rear.

L. Admiral Charles Napier (d. 1860), commander of the Eng-
lish Baltic fleet in 1854, with portrait in relief, by Adams.

L. Henry Haollam (d. 1859), the historian ; statue by Theed.

L. ®Dr. Samuel Johnson (d. 1784), statue by Bacon.

We have now arrived at the entrance to the Cmorr (adm., see
p. B4), the most conspieuous object in which is the Reredos, an
elaborate white Parian marble struecture in the Italian Renaissance
style, designed by Messrs. Bodley & Garner and unveiled in 1888.
The sculptures, by Guellemin, represent the chief events in the life
of Christ; at the top are statues of the Risen Saviour, the Virgin
and Child, 8t. Paul, and St. Peter. Thea Choir-stalls are by Grin-
ling Gibbons, and some of the iron work by Tijou (p. 300).

The vaulting and wallg of the choir are now being decorated in glass
mosaic from designs by W. B. Richmond. On the central panel on the
roof of the apse is Christ enthroned ; to the right and left are Recording
Angels. On the panels below the stome ribs of the roof in the apse and
the adjoining bay are six figures of Virtues, eis. (beginning to the N.),
Hope, Fortitude, Charity, Trath, Chastity, and Justice. The upper windows
of the Apse represent the Four and Twenty Elders of the Revelation, with
angels, In the adjoining bay are panels with Noah's Bacrifice (8.) and
Melehisedoch blessing Abrahsm (N.); the larger panels shove thess re-
present the Sea giving np its Dead. — Of the choir proper only the epstern-
mast bay has its decoration complete. On the saucer-dome is the Creation
of the Birds; on the four pendentives are Angel-messengers, with extended
arms; in the spacea between fhe clerestory windows are (N, side) the
Dalphic and Persian Sihyle and (5. side) David and Solomons and on the
4pomdrels of the arches are Angels with the Instrnments of the Passion.

a domes of the other two bayd of Lhe choir are to exhibit the Creation
of the Fishes and the Creation of the Beasts.
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The Apse, belind the new reredos, has recently been fitted up
as the Jesus Chapel, with a reredos bearing a copy of the Doubting
of 8t. Thomas, by Cima da Conegliano, in the National Gallery
(p- 461). In front is the recumbent marble statue of Canon Liddon
(d. 1890), designed by Bodley & Garner.

There are no monuments in the N, ambulatory, butalong the S,
wall of the ambulatory are the following: —

Reginald Heber, Bishop of Calontta (d, 1826); a kneeling fignre
in episcopal robes, by Chantrey. The relief on the pedestal repre-
sents the prelate confirming converted Indians.

John Jackson, Bishop of London (d. 1884); by Woolner.

Charles J. Blomfield, Bishop of London (d. 1857); sarcophagus
with recumbent figure, by G. Richmond.

Henry Hart Milman, Dean of St. Paul's (d. 1868); sarcophagus
and reoumbent figure, by Williamson, — On the wall at each end
of this monument are fragments of stone believed to have belonged
to the Temple at Jerusalem.

Dr. Donne, the poet, Dean of St. Panl's from 1624 till his death
in 1631, a sculptured figure in ashrond, in a niche in the wall, by
Nicholas Stone (the only uninjured monument from old St. Panl's).

Leaving the passage round the choir, we pass, at the entrance,
on the left, a handsome pulpit of coloured marbles, erected to the
memory of Caplain Fitsgerald. Close by is the enfrance to the Crypt
(see p. 89). Then —

In the 8. Traxstrr: —

L. John Howard (d. 1790), the philanthropist ; statue by Bacon.
On the seroll in the left hand are written the words ‘Plan for the
improvement of prisons and hospitals’; the right hand holds a
key. He died at Cherson in the 8. of Russia, while on a journey
which he had undertaken ‘to ascertain the ecanse of and find an
effloacious remedy for the plagne’. This monument was the first
admitted to St. Paul's.

L. Admiral Earl Howe (d. 1799}, by Flazman. Behind the
statue of the hero is Britannia in armour; to the left Fame and
Vistory ; on the right reposes the British lion. — Adjoining —

L. Admiral Lord Collingwood (d. 1810), Nelgon's companion
in arms (p. 59), by Wesimaeott.

L. Joseph Maliord William Turner (d. 1851), the celebrated
painter; statue by Macdowell.

Opposite the door of the 8. transept, in the passage to the nave;
against the great piers: —

L. *Admiral Lord Nelson (d. 1805), by Flazman. The want
of the right arm, which Nelson lost at Cadiz, is concealed by the
cloak ; the left hand leans upon an anchor supported on a coiled up
cable. The cornice beara the inseription ‘Copenhagen — Nile —
Trafalgar’, the names of the Admiral’s chief victories. The pedestal
is embellished with flgures in relief representing the German
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Ocean, the Baltic Sea, the Nile, and the Mediterranean. At the foot,
to the right, conches the British lion ; while on the left is Britannia
inciting youthful sailors to emulate the great hero.

R, Murquis Cornwallis (d. 1805), first Governor-General of
India, in the dress of a knight of the Garter; at the base, to the
left, Britannia armed, to the right two Indian rivers, by Rossi.

In the 8. transept to the W. of the door: —

‘L. Sir Astley Paston Cooper (d. 1842), the surgeon, by Baily.

L. Lieutenant-General SirJohn Moore (d. 1809), by the younger
Bacon. The general, who fell at Corunna, is being interred by
allegorical figures of Valour and Victory, while the Genius of Spain
erects his standard over the tomb.

L. Lieutenuni-General Sir Rulph Abercromby (d. 1801), by
Westmacott. The general, mortally wounded, falls from his rearing
horse into the arms of a Highland soldier. The sphinzés at the
sides are emblematical of Egypt, where Sir Ralph lost his life,

L. Sir William Jones (d. 1794), the orfentalist, who, in Dean
Milman’s words, “first opened the poetry and wisdom of our Indian
Empire to wondering Europe’; statue by Bacon.

In the 8, Amsre: —

L. Thomas Fanshaw Middieton (8. 1822), the first English
bishop in India, by Louth, The prelate is represented in his robes,
in the aot of blessing two young heathen converts.

A little farther on is a recess, formerly nsed as the Ecclesiastical
or Consistory Court of the Diovese,” The bas-reliefs on the walls,
referring to Wellington (comp. p. B9), are by Calder Marshall (E.
end) and Woodington (W. end). The wooden sereen between the
chapel and the nave was carved by Grinling Gibbons.

At the end of the nave is the Crimean Monument, to the memory
of theofficers of the Coldgtream Guards who fell at Inkermanin 1854,
a relief by Marochetti, with the eolours of the regiment hung above.

In the 8. aisle, near the 8, transept (P1. a}, is the entrance to the
Urerr Panrtsofthe church (admission, see p. éif]l. Ascending about
110 steps, we reach a gallery (above the 8. aisle), a room at the end of
which contains theLibrary (12,000 volumes; portrait of the founder,
Bishop Compton; autographs of Wren, Laud, Oranmer, ete.). The
flooring consists of artistically executed mosaie in wood. The large,
self-supporting, winding staircase, called the Geometrical Staircase,
is interesting only on account of its age. The Great Bell (cast in
1716 ; 88 steps) and the large Clock (constructed in 1708 ; 13 steps
more), in the N.W. tower, scarcely repay the fatigne of ascending
to them. The minute hand of the clock is nearly 10 ft. long.

The Whispering Gallery, in the interior of the cupola, reached
by a fiight of steps from the library (260 steps from the floor of the
church), is remarkable for a eurious echo, which resembles that of
the Salle d'Echo in the Conservatoire deg Arts et Métiers at Paris.
A glight whisper uttered by the wall on one side of the gallery is
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distinetly audible to an ear near the wall on the other side, a dis-
tance of 108 ft. in a direct line, or 180 ft. round the semicircle.
This is the best point of view for Thornhill’z ceiling-paintings, and
from it we also obtain a fine survey of the interior of the church.

The subjects of Thorohill's paintings sre as follows: — 1. Conversion
of Bt. Paul; 2. Blymas the sorcerer; 3. Paul at Lystra; 4. The Gaoler
at Philippi; 5. 8t, Paul preaching at Athens; 6. Books of magic burned
at Ephesus; 7, Si. Paul Lefors Agrippa; 8. Shipwreck st Malia. f

From this point a flight of 118 steps leads to the *Stone Gul-
lery, an outer gallery, encloged by a stone parapet, which runs
round the foot of the outer dome. This gallery commands an ad-
mirable view of the city. The survey is still more extensive from
the outer Golden Gallery above the dome and at the foot of the lan-
tern, to which a winding staircase ascends in the inside of the roof.
The Ball (p. B4) on the lantern is 45 ft. higher (616 steps from the
tesselated pavement of the chureh).

At the 8, end of the transept is the door leading down into the
*Crypr (P1. b). To the left is a chamber lighted by four candel-
abra of polished gramite, in the centre of which stands the sar-
cophagus of Wellington (d. 1852), consisting of a huge block of
porphyry, resting on a granite base. Adjacentis the sarcophagus of
Sir Thomas Picton (see p. 86), who fell at Waterlooin 41815, Farther
on, exactly under the centre of the dome, is the black marble gar-
cophagus of Nelson (d. 1803), containing an inner coffin made of
part of the mainmast of the French flag-ship L'Orient, which was
blown up at Aboukir. This sarcophagus, said, but probably er-
roneously, to be the work of Torregiano (p. ‘2!6]. was originally
ordered by Card. Wolsey for himself (comp. p. 328). The smaller
sarcophagus on the 8. is that of Nelson's comrade, Admiral Colling-
wood (d. 1810), while on the N. is that of the Earl of Northesh
(d. 1831). At the extreme W. end of the crypt is the hearse used
at the Duke of Wellington's funeral, with ite trappings. It was
cagt from guns eaptured in the victories of the ‘Iron Duke'.

The orypt also contains memorials to the Rt. Hon, Williom
Dalley (4. 1888), Chief Secretary for New South Wales; Lord Na-
pier of Magdala (d. 1890) ; Sir Bartle Frere; and George Cruilshank.

In a straight direstion from the staireage, at the foot of which
are busts of Sir John Macdonald (18156-1891), premier of Canada,
and 8ir Harry Parkes (4. 188D), we rench the vanlts, whieh contain
busts and fragments of monuments from the earlier huilding (i.e.
prior to 1666). The flooring consists of memorial slabs of cele-
brated artists and others. Among these are John Rennie, builder of
Waterloo Bridge; Robert Mylne, who built several other London
bridges ; Benjomin West; Sir Joshua Reynolds ; Sir Thomas Law-
rence; Sir Edwin Landseer ; John Opie; J, M. W. Turner (buried,
at his own dying request, near Reynolds); Edgar Boehm (4. 1890);
Thos. Newton, Dean of the Cathedral; and Dean Mitman. Sir Chri-
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stopher Wren, the architect of 8t. Paul's, and his wife, Samuel
Johnson, William Babington, Sir Astley Cooper, Sir William Jones,
and Canon Liddon slso repose here. A space at the E. end of the
erypt, used as a morning chapel, possesses a fine mosaic pavement,
exeseuted by female conviets from Woking.

In May an annual festival is held in St. Paul's for the benefit
of the sons of deceased clergymen. Adm. by tickets, procured at the
Corporation House, 2 Bloomsbury Place, Bloomsbury Square, W.0.

The Charity School Festivals, formerly held in St. Paul's, but
diseontinued for some years, are to be resumed.

The elerical establishment of the eathedral congists of the Dean,
four Canons, 30 Prebendaries, 12 Minor Canons, and 6 Vicars Choral,
Sydney Smithand B, H. Barham, author of the ‘Ingoldsby Legends’,
were cations of 8t. Paul's, — For a full aceount of this noble chureh,
gee Dean Milman's ‘Annals of 8t. Paul's’.

The street round the cathedral, called St. Paul's Churchyord,
has been much improved by the removal of the railings before the
western front of the Cathedral, which has widened the street and
facilitated the passage of pedestrians, as well as given a better view
of the building. On the three other sides the church is still sur-
rounded by high and heavy railings, but the stone walls supporting
them have recently been lowered with advantage to a height of
eighteen inches. In the 16th cent. St. Paul’s Churchyard was
open to Paternoster Row, with a few intervening buildings, all
belonging to the precincts. These disappeared in the Great Fire.

Celebrated coffee-houses in the Ohurchyard, where anthors and
booksellers nsed to meet, were St. Panl's Coffes-House, near the
archway leading to Doefors’ Commons; Child's Coffee-House, a
great resort of the clergy and liferati; and the (Jueen's Arms Ta-
vern, often visited by Dr. Johnson. Among the famons eighteenth
century publishers of St. Panl's Churchyard may be mentioned
Johnson, Hunter, Newbery, and Rivington. For Newhery, the
site of whose shop (rebuilt in 1885), is at the corner next Lndgate
Hill, Goldsmith is said to have written ‘Goody Two Shoes’, amongst
other books.

2. General Post Office. Christ's Hospital. Newgate.
Holborn.

Paternoster Row. Peel's Statue. Central Criminal Court. St. Se-
pulehve's, Holborn Viaduct.

Leaving 8t. Paul's Churchyard, on the N. side of the chureh,
we enter Paternoster Row (so called from the prayer-books form-
erly eold in it), the chief seat of the publishers and booksellers.
To the W., in Stationers’ Hall Court, off Ludgate Hill, is situated
Stationers' Hall, the gnild-house of the booksellers and stationers,



2. GENERAL POST OFFICE. 91

This company is one of the few London guilds the majority of whose
members actunlly practise their nominal craff, The gociety lost its mon-
opoly of publishing almanacks in 1771, but still earries on this businesa
extensively, The company distinguished itself in 1831 by printing a Bible
with the word ‘not! omitted in thé geventh commuondment. Every work
published in Great Britain must be registered at Stationers’ Hall to secure
the copyright. The hall contnins portraits of Richardson, the novelist
(Master of the Company in 1764), and his wife, Prior, Btecle, Bunyan, and
otherss also West's painting of King Alfred sharing his loal with the pil-
grim 5t. |'Jubh‘be'.t't1 and & stpined-gless window in memory of Caxton,
placed here in 1804,

At the E. end of Paternoster Row, at the entrance to Cheapside
(p. 100), rizes the Statue of Bir Robert Peel (d. 1800), by Behnes.

Immediately to the N., on the E. side of St. Martin's le Grand,
is the General Post Office East (Pl. R, 39, and [II; comp. p. 53),
built in the Ionie style in 1825-29, from designs by Smirke. In this
building, 890 ft. in length, Letters and Newspapers are dealt with
and all the ordinary business of a postal-telegraph office carried om.
Parcels are received here, but are at onee sent on to the Parcel Post
Office at Mount Pleasant, Farringdon Road. To the S. of the portico
i# the ‘Poste Restante’ Office. Thisis the headquarters of the London
Postal District, and the vast City correspondence is all dealt with
here. The Returned Letler Office is in Moorgate Street Buildings,
off Moorgate Street, where boards are exhibited with lists of persons
whose addresses have not been discovered.

PostaL Trarric, The number of leiters delivered b Postin the United
Kingdom in 1874 was 962,000,000, in 1876 it was L019,000,000, and in
1882-98 no less than 1.780,500,000, or 46 letters per head of population.
Besides letters, 259‘006!,&\6] book-packels and mewspopers, and 79,000,000
post-cards, wera delivered in l£ 3 208,000,000 newspapers and book-
packets, and %,ﬁﬂ,m‘zﬂast-cmda. in 18765 and B8,000,000 nawsgnpefs
and hook-packets, and A00,000 post-cards, in 1892-83. About 20-25 per
went of the letters and other postal packets received from nhroad come
from or are addressed to the United States. In the same period the
Parcel Post forwarded 52,370,000 parcels. The suma of money sent by post-
affice orders, notwithstanding the universal practice of transmitting money
Ly cheque, and fhe limifation of the orders to ten pounds, are very con-
siderable. Thus in 1874 there were issued 156,100,562 inland post-office orders
répresenting a sum of 26,206.4411, The introduction of postal orders diverted
part of this stream of money, and in 1892-83 the number of post office orders
was 8,068,082, worth 24,618.809!, In thatl year 58‘590\303 postal orders were
also issued, amounting in value to 21,345,1531. The Post Office Savings
Banks, established in 1861, hold at present about 76,600,000 on deposit.
The profite of the English Post Office Department in 1892-93 amounted
to 2825, T66L.

Opposite to the General Post Office East stands the General
Post Office West, containing the Administrative Offices and the
Telegraph Department. This imposing building was erected in 1870~
T3 at a cost of 485,000, The large Telegraph Instrument Galleries
measuring 300 by 90 ft., sheuld be visited (admission by reque-
from a banker or other well-known citizen). They contain H00 ins
struments with their attendante. On the sunk-floor are four steam-
engines of 50 horse-power each, by means of which messages are
forwarded through pnenmatic tubes to the other offlees in the City
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and Strand district. The number of telegrams conveyed in the year
ending 31st March, 1803, was 69,007,848,

The vast and ever-growing business of the General Post Office
found itself straitened for room even in these huge buildings, and
the General Post Office North was built in 1890-94 to the north of
Angel Street. The building is designed in the elassic style by
Tanner, and will accommodate the Central Savings Bank, the Office
of the Postmaster General, and the staffs of the General Secretary,
the Solicitor, and the Receiver and Accountant General of the
post-office. The eite, from which numerous buildings were re-
moved, cost 326,000

To the N. of the Post Office lies Aldersgate Street (p.100), alittle
to the E. of which is Monkwell Street (reached by Faleon Street
and Silver Street), containing the Barber-Surgeons’ Court Eoom.
Among the curiosities preserved here are a valuable portrait of
Henry VIII, by Holbein, and one of Inigo Jones by Van Dyek, —
Milton once lived in Aldersgate Street, and afterwards in Jewin
Street, a gide-gtreet on the right,

To the W. of the General Post Office is NeweArs Strent, a
graat omnibus thoroughfare, leading to Holborn and Oxford Street.
This neighbourhood was long the quarter of the butchers. In Panyer
Alley, the first eross-lane to the left, once inhabited by basket-
makers, is an old relief of a boy sitting upon a ‘panier', with the
ingeription :

‘When ye have sought the vity round,
Yet still this is the highest ground.
Augnst the 27th, 1685,

Farther on, opposite the site of old Newgate Market, ie a pasgsage
on the right leading past Christ Church, the burial-place of Richard
Baxter (d. 1691), to —

Christ’s Hospital (Pl. R, 39; I1T), a school for 1200 boys and
100 girls, founded by Edward VL., with a yearly income from land
and funded property of about 60,0001, not all of which, however, is
devoted to educational purposes. It occupies the site of an ancient
monastery of the Grey Friars, founded in the 13th cent., and once
the burial-place of many illustrious persons. The general govern-
ment of the school is in the hands of a large ‘Court of Governors’,
consisting of noblemen and other gentlemen of position; but the
internal and real management is conducted by the President, Trea-
surer, and ‘Committee of Almoners', fifty in number. The original
costume of the boys is still retained, consisting of long blue gowns,
yellow stockings, and knee-breeches. No head-covering is worn
even in winter. The pupils (Blue Coat Boys), who are admitted
between the ages of eight and ten, must be the children of parents
whose income i3 insufficient for their proper education and main-
tenance. They are fltst sent to the preparatory sehool at Hertford,
whenoe they are transferred according to their progress to the city
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establishment. Their education, which is partly of a commercial
nature, is completed at the age of sixteen. A few of the more
talented pupils are, however, prepared for a uniyersity career,
and form the two highest classes of the school, known as. the
Grecians and Deputy-Grecians. There are also io King's Boys,
forming the mathematical school founded by Charles IT. in 16792,
The school possessed many ancient privileges, some of which it
still retains. On New Year’s Day the King's Boys used to appear at
Court; and on Easter Tuesday the entire school is presented to the
Lord Mayor, at the Mansion House, when each boy receives the gift
of a eoin fresh from the Mint. A line in the pwimming-bath marks
the junction of three parishes. In the Hall, which was erected by
Shaw in 1825-29, the head-pupils annually deliver a number of
public orations. The ‘suppings in public’ on each Thursday in
Lent, at T p.m., ave worth attending (tickets from governors), Among
the pictures on the walls are the Founding of the Hospital by
Edward V1., aseribed to Holbein; Presentation of the King's Boys
at the Court of James IL., a very large work by Verrio; Portraits
of the Queen and Prince Albert, by Grant. Among the celebrateda
men who were educated here we may mention William Camden,
Stillingfleet, Middleton, Dyer, SBamnel Richardson, 8. T. Coleridge,
Charleg Lamb, Leigh Hunt, and Sir Henry Sumner Maine (d. 1888).

Congiderable changes have been introduced into the manugement of
the school by a recent scheme approved by the Charity Commissioners.
The number of boarders i8 to be reduced, that of day-scholurs is to be
largely increased, while the number of girls in the school at Hertford is
alzo to be enlarged. It is proposed also to remove the principal gehoal
from London to some place in the vicinity.

Opposite Ohrist's Hospital is Warwick Lane, leading from New-
gate Street to Paternoster Row (p. 90). On the wall of the first
house on the right is a curious relief of 1668, representing Warwick,
the ‘King-maker’. Farther on is the Cutlers’ Hall, built in 1857,

At the W. end of Newgate St., at the corner of Old Bailey, stands
Newgate Prison (P1. R, 35; LI), once the principal prison of Lon-
don, now used as a temporary house of detention for prisoners
awaiting trial at the Old Bailey Court. The present building,
which was begun in 1770 by George Dance, was partly destroyed
in 1780, hefore its completion, by the Gordon rioters, but was
restored in 1782. The principal fagade, looking towards the
Old Bailey, is 300 ft. in length. The interior was rebuilt in
1858 on the separate cell system. Permission to inspect the prison,
which has accommodation for 192 prisoners, is granted by the
Secretary of State for the Home Department, the Lord Mayor, and
the Sheriffs. The public place of execution, which was formerly at
Tyburn near the Marble Arch (p. 271), was from 1783 i1l 1868 in
front of Newgate. The condemned went to the scaffold through the
small door, next the governor's house, on the W. front. Among the
famous or motorious prisoners once conflned in old Newgate were
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George Wither, Daniel Defoe, Jack Sheppard, Titus Oates, and
William Penn. 0Old London Wall had a gateway at the bottom of
Newgate Streat.

Adjoining Newgate is the Central Criminal Court, consisting of
two divisions ; vis, the Old Court for the trial of grave offences, and
the New Court for petty offences. The trials are public, but as
the eourts are often erowded, a fee of 1-Ds., according to the interest
of the case, must generally be given to the door-keeper to secure a
good seat. At great trials, however, tiekets of admisgion are ugually
isgued by the aldermen and sheriffs.

No. 68 Old Bailey, near Ludgate Hill, was the hounse of the
infamous thief-catcher, Jonathan Wild, himself hanged in 1725.

A little to the W. of Newgate beging the *Holborn Viaduet
(Pl. R, 85, 363 II), a triumph of the art of modern street-building,
designed by Haywood, and completed in 1869. Its name is a
reminiscence of the ‘Hole-Bourne’, the name given to the upper
course of the Fleet (p. 137), from its running through a deep
hollow. This structure, 460 yds. long and 27 yds. broad, extending
from Newgate to Hatton Garden, was constructed in order to over-
come the serious obstruetion to the traffie between Oxford Street
and the City caused by the steep descent of Holborn Hill., Ex-
ternally the viaduet, which is construeted almost entirely of iron,
is not visible, ag rowe of new buildings extend along either side.
Beneath the roadway are vaults for commercial purposes, and
subways for gas and water pipes, telegraph wires, and sewage,
while at the sides are the cellars of the houses. At the E. extrem-
ity, to the right, stands St. Sepulchre’s Church, with its square tower,
where a knell is tolled on the oceasion of an execution at Newgate.
At one time a nosegay was presented at this church to every erim-
inal on his way to execution at Tyburn. On the 8. gide of the
choir lie the remains of the gallant Captain John Smith (d. 1631),
‘Sometime Governour of Virginia and Admirall of New England’.
The first line of the now nearly illegible epitaph runs thus: —

‘Here Hes one conguer'd that hath conguer’d kings!”

Roger Ascham, authorof “The Scholemaster’ and teacher of Lady
Jane Grey, is algo buried here.

Obliquely opposite, to the left, is the Hotborn Viaduct Station
of the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway (p, 34), and near it
ate the Imperial Hotel and the Holborn Viaduet Hotel (p. 9). The
iron *Bridge over Farringdon Street (which traverses Holborn Valley,
p- 137) is 39 yds. long and is supported by 12 columns of granite,
each 4 ft. in diameter. On the parapet are bronze statues of Art,
Seience, Commerce, and Agriculture ; on the corner-towers, statues
of famous Lord Mayors. Flights of steps descend in the towers to
Farringdon Street.

To the left, beyond the bridge, are the City Temple (Congrega-
tional church; Dr. Joseph Parker; see p. 51) and St. Andrew's
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Church, where Lord Beaconsfield was christened, the latter erected
in 1680 by Wren. Nearly opposite the clinrch is the entrance to Ely
Place, formerly the site of the celebrated palace of the bishops of
Ely, where John of Gaunt, brother of the Black Prince and father
of Henry IV., died in 1399. The chapel of the palace, known as
*Ely Chapel (St. Etheldreda’s; see p. 52), escaped the fire of 1666
and has been recently restorad. Tt is « good specimen of 14th cent.
architecture and retains its original osken roof. The noble E. and W.
windows are splendid examples of tracery, and the former is filled
with fine stained glass. The crypt is also worth visiting, and the
quaint cleister, planted with fg-trees, forms a strangely quiet nook
amid the roar of Holborn. A little farther on is Holborn Circus,
embellished with an Egquestrian Statue of Prince Albert, by Bacon,
with allegorical figures and reliefs on the granite pedestal. The new
and wide Charterhouse Street leads hence in a N.E, direction to
Smithfield (p. 97) and the Farringdon Street Station of the Metro-
politan Railway (p.36). On the W. side of the Circus begins Hol-
born, leading to Oxford Street and Bayswater; ses p. 235. On the
N. gide of Holborn are the Black Bull and the Old Beil, two survivals
of the old-fashioned inns, with galleried court-yards, and Furnival's
Inn, formerly an inn of chancery (comp. p. 139), entirély rebuilt
in 1818. OCharles Dickens was living at Furnival’s Inn when he
began the ‘Pickwick Papers’. Leather Lane, on the 8. side of Furni-
val's Inn, is largely inhabited by Italians of the poorer classes. In
Brook Street, to the N. of the inn, is the house in which Chatter-
ton killed himself in 1770. On the opposite slde of the street are
Barnard’s Inn and *Staple Inn, two quaint and picturesque old
inng of chancery (comp. p. 139), celebrated by Dickens, The hall
of Staple Inn has been recently restored.

3. 8t. Bartholomew's Hospital. Smithfield,
8t. Giles, Cripplegate. Charterhouse.

8t. Bartholomew’s Hospital (PL. R, 40; II), in Smithfleld, to
the N. of Ohrist's Hospital, is the oldest and one of the wealthiest
benevolent institutions in London. In 1123 Rahere, a favourite of
Henry 1, , founded here a priory and hospital of St. Bartholomew,
which were enlarged by Richard Whittington , Lord Mayor of Lon-
don. The hospital was refounded by Henry VIIL on the suppression
of the monasteries in 1547. The present larze quadrangular edifice
was erected by Gibbs in 1730-33, and has two entrances. Above
the W. gate, towards Smithfield, built in 1702, is a statue of
Henry VIII., with a sick man and a cripple at the sides. An in-
seription on the external wall commemorates the burning of three
Protestant martyrs in the reign of Queen Mary (p. 97). Within
the gate is the church of St. Bartholomew the Less, originally bullt
by Ralere, but re-erested in 1823. The hospital enjoys a yearly



96 3. ST. BARTHOLOMEW'S CHURCH.

revenue of 50,000, and contains 667 beds, in which about 6000
patients are annually attended. Relief is also given to about 18,000
ont-patients and about 142,000 casusl patients, Cases of accident
are taken in at any hour of the day or night, and receive immediate
and gratuitous attention. The Medical Sehool connected with the
hospital is famous. It has numbered among its teachers Harvey, the
discoverer of the ecireulation of the blood, Abemnethy, and other
renowned physicians, The lectures are delivered in the Anatomical
Theatre, built in 1542, There are also Museums of Anatomy and
Botany, a well-furnished Library, and a Chemical Laboratory. The
medical school has recently been rebuilt and enlarged.

The great hall containg a few good portraits, among which we
notice an old portrait of Henry VIIL. (not by Holbein); Dr. Rad-
cliffe, physician to Queen Anne, by Kneller; Perceval Pott, for
49 years surgeon to the lustitution, by Sir Joshua Reynolds ; Aber-
nethy, the physician, by Sir Thomas Lawrence. The paintings on
the grand staircase, the Good Samaritan, the Pool of Bethesda,
Rahere as founder of the Hospital, and a Sick man borne by
monks, are the work of Hogarth, who executed them gratuitously,
and was in return made a Governor for life.

The neighbouring *Chureh of §t. Bartholomew the Great, chiefly
in the Anglo-Norman style, restored in 1560-69 and again in 1886
et seq., merits aftention (generally open). With the exception of the
chapel in the Tower (p. 126), which is 20 years earlier, this is the
oldest church in the City of London. Like the Hospital (p. 95) it
was founded by Rahere in 41123, sixty years before the foundation
of the Temple Church (p. 144).

The existing church, consisting merely of the chuir, the crossing, and
one bay of the nave of he original Priory Ohurch, is mainly pure Nor-
man work as left by Rahere. Other portions of the church were alienated
or destroyed by Henry VIII, From Smithileld we pags through an arched
gateway, with fine dog-toothed moulding, which formed the entrance
either to the nave or to an inner court, now the graveyurd. Here may
be seen some remaing of the B.E, plers of the nave, which was somewhat
later than the choir. In the 1dth cent. the apsidal end of the choir was
replaced by a square ending, with ome large window, the jambs of which
gtill remain, The eclerestory wad rebuilt at the same time wnd a fine
Lady Chapel thrown out to the H, of the high-altar., This chapel was
long oged ag a fringe manufuctory, being mutilated almost beyond recog-
nition, but was repurchased in 1556 for 66001. Prior Holton made farther
alterations in the 16th cent. and his rebus (a ‘bolt' through a ‘tun’) may
be seen at the hase of the beautiful oriel on the 8. side of the ¢hoir and
on the doorway at the B, end of the 8. ambulatory. The present apse
was built in the recent restoration, and has restored the choir to something
of its original beauty. The blackemith’s forge which occupied the N.
transept has recently been removed and the transept has been restored.
Funds, however, are still needed to plete the tion of the church
(photographs of the church sold by the verger, prices 6d.-2s.: description
of the echurch 1s.).

The Tombs are worthy of attention. That of the founder, on the N.
gide of the sanctuary, with its rich canopy, is much later than the effigy
of Ruhere resting upon it. In the B. ambulatory is the handsome tomb,
in alabaater, of 8ir Walter Mildmay (d. 1681}, Chancellor of the Exchequer
to Queen Elizabeth and founder of Emmanuel College, Cambridge. Many
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of the epitaphe are curlona. At the W. end of the chureh is a tasteful
onken screen, erected in 1839,

Among the notable men who have lived in Bartholomew Cloas are
Milton, Franklin, Hogarth (who waa baptized in the existing font), Dr.
Caius, and Washington Irving.

The adjoining market-place of Smithfield (Pl. R, 36, 40; II), a
name said to have been originally Smootli-field, was formerly a
tournament ground, and lay outside the walls of London. Here
Bartholomew Fair, with its revels, was held for many ages. Sham-
fighte, tilts, tricks of aerobats, and even miracle-plays were
exhibited. Wat Tyler was slain here in 1381 by the then Lord
Mayor, Sir William Walworth; and bere in the reign of ‘Bloody
Mary’ many of the persecuted Protestants, ineluding Rogers,
Bradford, and Philpot, suffered death at the stake, while un-
der Elizabeth several Nonconformists met with a similar fate,
Smithfleld was the place of public execution hefore Tyburn, and
in 1305 witnessed the beheading of the Scottish patriot, William
Wallace. Subsequently, during a long period, Smithfield was
the only eattle-market of London. The space having at length
become quite inadequate, the cattle-market was removed to Copen-
hagen Fields (p. 25) in 1800, and in 1862-68 the *London Central
Meat Market was erected here. The building, designed by Horace
Jones, is in a pleasing Renaissance style, with four towers at the
corners. 1t is 630 ft. long, 245 ft. broad, and 30 ft. high, and
covers an area of 31/5 acres. The roof is of glass and iron. A broad
earriage-road interseets the market from N. to S.

Below the bullding is an extensive Railway Depdt, belonginz to the
Great Western Co., and connected with several underground railways,
from which the meat is conveyed o the market by a lift. In the centre
of Smithfield is a amall garden, with a handsome fountain, The road
winding round the garden lends down to the subterranésn trea below the
market, which is a sufficiently enrious specimen of London underground
life 10 repay the descent.

Tao the W, of the Meat Market is the now Markel for Pork, Pouliry,
and Provigions, which waa opened for business in 1576, It is by the same
architest snd in the same style 88 the Meat Market, and measures 2060
246 ft. Btill farther to the W. (om the E. side of Farringdon Street) stunds
another market, erocted in 1855 a5 a lish-market ai & cost of L0002,
opposite which, on the W.,is a Fruit and Vegelable Market, completed in
iglfﬂ. A mew Fish Market was opened in |83 in Snow Hill, to the B.
Smithfleld Market affords o sight not easily poralleled, and deserves a visit.

Charterhouse Street, a broad and handsome thoroughfave, leads
to the W. from Smithfleld to Holborn (p. 94).
 Alittle to the B. of Smithfield is the church of 8t. Giles (P1.
it. 407, Cripplegate, built in 1545 (approached by an archway in
Red Cross Street).

It contains the tomba of John Milton (4. 1674), who wrote ‘Paradise
Lost' in a house in this parish, now pulled down; Foxe (d. 1087), the
martyrologist; Frobisher (d. ll’ﬁi), the voyager; and Speed (d. 1620), the
topographer, Oliver Oromwell was mareied in (his church (Ang. ﬁ_%nd
1&0), and the parish registor contains an entry of the burial of Diniel
Defoe (d. 1731). Milton i3 commemoratéd by & good bust, by Bacon, and
a4 tained-glass window hag been érected to his memory, Comp, J. J, Badde-
ley’s *Church snd Parish of 8t. Giles® (1B55).

Bawprker, London. Hth Edit. T
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In the churchyard 42 an old bastion 'of London Wall, and elose by,
in London Wall, is & small part of the churehyard of 8t. Alphage, con-
taining annther large and interésting fragment of the old wall (p. 6.

To the E. of 8t. Giles, running N. from Fore Street to Uhiswell
Btreet, is Milton Street, better known as the ‘Grub Street’ of Pope
and his contemporaries.

To the N.E. of Smithfleld we traverse Charterhouse Square
to the Charterhouse (corrupted from Chartreuse), formerly a
Carthusian monastery, or priory of the Salutation (whenee the name
of the Salutation Tavern in Newgate Street), founded in 1371 on
the site of a burying-fleld for persons dying of the plagune. After
its dissolution by Henry VIIL in 15637, the monastery passed through
various hands, ineluding those of Lord North and Thomas Howard,
Duke of Norfolk, who made it the town-house of the Howards,
Queen Elizabeth made a stay of five days at the Charterhouse await-
ing her coronation, and her successor James I. kept court here for
several days on entering London. The property was purchased in
1611 by Thomas Sulton, a wealthy merchant, for his ‘Hospital’, i.e.
a school for 40 *poor boys' and a home for B0 ‘poor men’. A curfew
tolled every evening at 8 or 9 o'cloek proclaims the number of the
‘poor brethren’. These are not former pupils of the school; the
fietitious instance of Thackeray's Col. Neweome, who was both a
pupil and a poor brother, is said to be entirely without precedent
in the real history of the institution. The sehool was transferred
in 41872 to Godalming in Surrey, where large and handsome build-
ings were ersoted for it. The part of the property thus vacated
was sold to the Merochant Taylors’ Company for their ancient school,
now containing 500 boys. The Charterhouse School, which is at-
tended by 440 boy¢ besides 60 on the fonndation, boasts among ite
former scholars the names of Barrow, Lovelace, Steele, Addison,
Blackatone, Wesley, Grote, Thirlwall, Leech, Haveloek, and Thack-
eray. Visitors are shown over the buildings by the porter any day
except Sun.; but the Great Hall is closed between 3 and 4. Vis-
itors may attend service in the chapel on Sun. at 41 and 4.

The ancient buildings dafe chislly from fhe early part of the 18th
cent., but have heen modified and added to by Lord North, the Duke of
Norfolk, and others. The Great Hall is congidered one Of the finest spe-
cimens of a 16th cent. room in London. The Greaf Stairease and the
Great Chamber upstiirs are, with the exception of the W. window of the
latter, just as the Duke of Norfolle left them three esntarles ago. Part
of the original Chapel (1371) remains, but it was altersd by the monks
about 1500 and greatly enlsrged by the Trustees of Thomas Button in
16432, when it received its prasent Jacobean appearance. It is upproached
by a eloisier with memorials of Thackeray, Leech, Haveloek, John Hnl-
inh,, ete., and contains a fine slabaster monnment of Sutton (1611) and the
monuments of the first Lord Ellenborough by Chuntrey snd of Dr, Raine
by Plaxman. The aliarpiece is a copy of Francia’s Pleth in the National
Gallery (?. 168; No. 180). The initinls of Prior Houghton, who wia heid
of the priory at the dizsolulion may be seen on a wall of the Washhowuse
Courf, The two quadrangles in which the Pensjopers and some of the
officinla reside were built about 1825-30,

The ifaster's Lodge contains several portraits: Sution, the founder of
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the institution; Charles II,; George Villiers, second Duke of Buckingham
(one of Anallers best portraits); Duke of Monmouth; Lord Chancellor
Shaftesburys Lord Chancellor Somers; Willism, Earl of Craven; Arch-
bishop Sheldon § Talbot, Duke of Shrewebury: and the fine portrail of
Dr. Burnet, also by Eneller.

A little to the W. of the Charterhouge is St. Jolhn's Lane, in
which is situated St. John’s Gate (Pl. R, 36), an interesting relie
of an old priory of the knights of 8t. John, with lateral turrets,
ereoted in the late-Gothic style in 1604, by the grand-prior Docuwra,
On the N. side of the gateway are the arms of the priory and of
Docwra; and on the 8. side those of England and of France. The
knights of Bt. John were suppressed by Henry VIIIL., restored by
Mary, and finally dispersed by Elizabeth. The roome above the gate
were once occupied by Cave, the founder of the ‘Gentleman’s Ma-
gazine’ (1734), to which Dr. Johnson contributed and which has a
representation of 8t. John's Gate on the cover; they now contain some
interesting historical relics. The building is now ocoupied by the
Order of 8t John, a benevolent association engaged in ambulance
and hospital work, ete. The Norman erypt of St, John's Church is
part of the old priory church. In the little graveyard are buried the
grandfather and other relatives of Wilkes Dooth, the murderer of
President Lincoln, — Clerkenwell Road runs to the W. from the
N. end of St. John's Lane to Gray's Inn Road with Gray's Inn. The
considerable district of Clerkenwell, now largely inhabited by wateh-
makers, goldsmiths, and opticians, derives its mame from the
‘Clerks’ Well' once situated here, to which the parigh clerks of
London annnally resorted for the celebration of miracle plays, ete.

Clerkenwell Road is continued to the E. by Old Street, from
which, on the right, diverges Bunhill Row, with the Bunhill Fields
Cemetery (P1. R, 40, 4%), once the chief burialplace for Noneon-
formists, but now disused. It containg the tombs of John Bunyan
(d. 1638), Daniel Defoe (d. 1781), Dr. Isaac Watts (d. 1748).
Sugannah Wesley (d.1742; the mother of John and Charles Wesley),
William Blake (d. 1827), Henry, Richard, and William Cromwell, ete,

A Tittle to the W. of this cemelery is the Friends' Burial-Ground, with
the grave of George Fox, founder of the Bociely of Friends or Quakers.

Immediately to the 8. of Bunhill Fields are the headquarters and
drill-gronnd of the Honourable Artillery Company, the oldest mili-
tary body in the kingdom.

The H. A, Q.. aa it is generally called, received its charter of incor-
poration, under the {itle o% the Guild or Fraternity of 8t. George, from
Henry VIII. in 1587, and ft= rights and qﬂvilegu have bheen eonfirmed by
upwards of 20 royal wareants, the last dated Mareh 1830, The officers of
the Trained Bands and the City of London Militia were formerly always
selected from membera of this Compeny. 8ince 1600 the Captnin-Gengral
ant Colomel has always been either the King or the Prince of Wales, The
Company , which has cecupied its present ground since 1042, consista of
light eavalry, a battery of field artillery, and & battalion of infantry., Itis
the only volunteer ¢orps which ineludes horse-artillery. Since 1883 the H
A. €. takes précedence next after the regular forces, The Ancient and
Honourable Artillery Company of Boston (Muss.), the oldest military hody

7‘
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in America, was founded in 1638 by some members of the H. A, €, who
had smigrated. The two corps are associated on the friendlicst terms.
Bee the History of the Company, by Lt Col. Raikes.

In City Road, facing the E. entrance of Bunhill Fields, is Wes-
ley's Chapel (P, R, 44), adjoined on the 8. by his house. Wesley
is buried in the graveyard behind the chapel, and in front of it is his
Statue, unveiled on the centenary of his death (March, 1891). In
Castle Street, the first strest renning E, to the 8. of the chapel, is
the AHan Wesleyan Library (p. 10), containing one of the flnest
collections of Biblical and theologival works in England. In Blom-
fleld Street, London Wall (Pl. R, 435, 44), is the Musewn of the
London Missionary Society (open 10 to 3 or4 on Tues, Thurs., & Sat.).

In Curtain Road, resched vii Castle Street and Berutton Street, is
the Chureh of St James, which probably stands on or near the gite of
the old Curtain Theatre, where, aceording to tradition, *Hamlet' was firat
performed. It ia not unlikely that Shakspeare netéd here in his own
plays, To commemorate this association a stained-gluss window was erected
in 1886 at the W. end of the chureh by Mr. Btanley Cooper.

To the 5.K. of the Charterhouse, is the Aldersgate Street Station
(Metropolitan; p. 36). In Aldersgate Street, which leads hence to
St. Martin's le Grand and St, Panl's (p. 81), the house of the first
Earl of Shaftesbury (p. 306) is still standing.

4., Cheapside. Guildhall, Mansion House.

St. Mary le Bow. Gresham College. Goldsmiths' Hall. Mercers'
Halt, Armourers’ Hull. St. Stephen's, Walbrook.

From 8t. Paul's Churchyard (p. 90), Cheapside (PL R, 39, and
Lil; from the Anglo-Saxoneyppan, “to buy’, ‘to hargain’), beginning
at Peel’s Statue (p. 91), Tuns to the E. and is continued to the Man-
sion House (p. 104) by the Poultry. Cheapside, one of the busiest
streets in the city, rich in historical reminiscences, is now lined with
hand some shops. Its jewellers and mercers have beenfamous from a
time even earlier than that of honest John Gilpin, under whose wheels
the stones rattled *as if Cheapside were mad’. Cheapside Crogs, one
of the memorials erected by Edward 1. to Queen Eleanor, stood here,
at the end of Wood St (p. 101), till destroyed by the Puritans in
1643 ; and the neighbourhood was frequently the scene of eonflicts
between the apprentices of the various rival guilds. To the right
and left diverge several cross-streets, the names of which probably
preserve the position of the stalls of the different tradespeople in
the far back period when Cheapside was an open market.

From the W. end of Chieapside, Foster Lane, behind the General
Post Office, leads to the N, to Goldsmiths’ Hall, re-erected in the
Renaissancestyle by Hordwickin 1830 (visitors must be introduged by
& member). Chief objects of interest in the interior: Grand Stair-
case, with portraits of George IV., by Northeote; William IV., by
Hayter; George I1I. aud his consort Charlotte, by Ramsay; in the
Committee Room (first floor), the remains of 4 Roman alter found
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in digging the foundations of the present hall; portrait of Lord
Mayor Myddelton, who provided London with water by the con-
struction of the New River (1644), by Jansen; portrait of Lord
Mayor 8ir Martin Bowes ( 1545}, with the goblet which he
bequeathed to the Goldsmiths' Company (out of which Queen Eliza-
heth is said to have drunk at her coronation, and which is atill
preserved ) ; portraits of Queen Victoris, by Hayter; Prince Albert,
by Smith; Queen Adelaide, by Shee; busts of George I11., George
IV,, and William IV., by Chantrey; statues of Oleopatra and the
Sibyl, by Story. — The Company, incorporated in 1327, hae the
privilege of assaying and stamping most of the gold and silver man-
ufastures of England, for which it receives a small percentage.

To the left, a little farther on in Cheapside (No. 148), is Sad-
diers’ Hall, with a fine large hall and a good zateway. Near the
corner of Wood Street, on the left, still stands the tree mentioned
by Wordsworth in his ‘Poor Susan'. Between Friday Street and
Bread Street, on the right, once stood the Mermaid Tayern t, rendered
famonus by the social meetings of Shakspeare; Beaumont, Fletcher,
Dr, Donne, and other members of the club founded here by Ben
Jongon in 1603. John Milton was born in Bread Street (left) in 1608,
and Sir Thomas More (b. 1480) in Milk Street, on the opposite side.

On the right (8.) side of Cheapgide, farther on, is the church of
8t. Mary le Bow, or simply Bow Church (5o named after an earlier
church on the same site borne by stone arches), one of Wren's best
works, with a tower 230 ft. high. The tower, at the top of which
is & dragon is Y {t. long, is especially admirable; ‘no other modern
stoeple’, says Fergusson, ‘can compare with this, either for beauty
of outline or the appropriateness with which classical details are
applied to so novel a purpese’. The church has a fine old Norman
orypt. Persong born within the sound of Bow-bells are popularly

called Cockneys, i.e. true Londoners.
A curious ol rhvining couplet foretold that: —
When the Exchange grasshopper snd dragon from Bow
Shall meet — in London shall be mueh woe."

This improbable meeting actually took plaee in 1832, when the two
vanes were pent to the sume yard for repairs,

The cocleaipsiicnl Cowurs of Arches fnkes its name from having origin-
ally met in the vestry of this ¢hureh.

To the E. of 5t. Mary le Bow, Queen Street, on the right (8.),
leads to Southwark Bridge (p. 120); while King Street, on the left
(N.), leads to the Guildhall ( P1. R,39; LL1), or Conncil-hall of the sity.
The building waas originally evected in 1411-81 for the sittings of the
magistrates and munieipal corporation, which had formerly been held
at Aldermanbury, It was seriously injured by the great fire of 1666,
but immediately restored, The unpleasing front towards King Street
was erected in 1789 from designe by the yonnger Danee, and va-

4 Some anthorities belleve thia stood fo the N. of Cheapside, ad-
Jjoining Saddlers’ Hall,
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rious improvements were effected in 1865-68, including the con-
struction of a new roof. Ahove the porch are the arms of the city,
with the motto, Domine dirige nos. The Great Hall (open to visit-
ors), 163 ft. long, 48 ft. broad, and 5D ft. high, is now used for
various munieipal meetings, the election of the Lord Mayor and
members of parliament, and public meetings of the citizens of Lon-
don to consider questions of great soelal or polifical interest. The
open timber roof is very handsome. The stained-glass window
at the E. end was presented by the Lancaghire operatives in ae-
knowledgment of the City of London's generosity during the Cotton
Famine; that at the W. end is a memorial of the late Prince Con-
sort. The two colozsal and fanelfnul wooden flgures on the W. gide,
carved by Saunders in 1708, are called Gog and Magog, and were
formerly carried in the Lord Mayor's procession. By the N. wall are
monuments to Lord Chatham, by Baeon; Wellington by Bell;
and Nelson, by Smith. On the 8. wall are monuments to William
Pitt by Bubb, and Lord Mayor Beckford by Moore (bearing on the
pedestal the mayor's famous address to George I1L, which some
writers affirm was never actually delivered). — Every 9th of Novem-
ber the Lord Mayor, on the oceasion of his accession to office,
gives a great public dinner here to the members of the Cabinet,
the chief oivie dignitaries, and others, which is generally attended
by nearly 1000 guests. The speeches made by the (Jneen’s Ministers
on this and other eivie occasions are scanned attentively, as often
possessing no little political significance. The expense of this
banquet Is shared jointly by the Lord Mayor and the Sheriifs.

To the N. of the Great Hall is the Common Couneil Chamber,
erected from the plans of Sir Horace Jones in 1885. Tt contains
a statue of George ITI. by Chantrey, and in the passage leading
to it are busts of Derby, Palmerston, and Canning, The Aldermen’s
Room containg a eceiling painted by Thornhill, and stained - glass
windows exhibiting the arms of various Lord Mayors, The inter-
esting old Crypt of the Guildhall, borne by clustered columns of
Purbeek marble, i3 now, with the poreh, almost the sole relis of the
original ediflce of 1411-31.

Tag Fass Limeany oF tas Corroration or tae O1ry or Lonnox
(open daily, 10-9; on Sat. in summer 10-6) contains in its hand-
some hall, built in the Tudor style in 1871-72, above 70,000 volu-
meg, including several good specimens of early printing, and a large
and valuable collection of works on or connected with London, its
history, antiquities, and famous citizens. The speecial collections in-
glude the library of the old Dutch chureh in Aunstin Friars (p. 106;
with valuable MS8. and original letters of Reformers), a carefully
selected Hebrew library (new eafalogue), ete. It also possessesa very
Qine eollection of maps and plans of London, and a series of English
medals. In 1893 the Library, Reading Room, and Museum were
visited by 300,445 persons, On the right is the Reading Room. In
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to the museum 18 an interésting collection of aneient chrinometers,
clocks , watches, and watch-movements, made by members of the
Clockmakers' Company, whose library is also deposited at the
Guildhall.

The *Musenm (adin, see p. T8), on the sunk {loor, containg a eollee-
tion of Roman entiquities found in London: & group of the Dess Matres,
found at Crutehed Friars; hexogonal fuperal eolumn, from Ludgate Hills
Roman tesselated pavement, from Bucklersbury (1860): sarcophagus of the
4th eent., from Clapton; statue of o Boman warrior and some architgctural
antiguitiea found in a bastion of the old Romon wall in Bishopsgates; a
curious sollection of old London shopsizns (17th cent.), including that of the
Boar's Head in Easteheap (mentioned by Bhukspeare); a large eolleetion of
smaller antiquities, terracotta figures, lamps, vases, dishes, thlata, trinkets,
%mum, pins, needles, ete. Thers are algo two genlptured glabs from Nineveh.

wo glass-cnacs in the centre contain sutographs, including a very valuabla
one of Shakspeare, dated 10 Mar., 1618 (purchased for ld-L’? 1) also those of
Cromwell, Wellington. snd Nelson. In two other cases are impressions of
the great seals of England from 767 down to the present time,

The Corporation Art Gallery (adm., see F 78), on the right ol the
entrance to the Guildhall, eontains the chief historieal portraits and other
paintings belonging to the Corporation, eollected here from the old couneil
chamber and committee-rooms, and also o number of paintings by Sir Join
tiibert, presented by the artiat, and a few other recent donatinng. Among
the busts are those of Cobden, élndar.onu. Beaconsfield, Granville Sharp (by
Ohantrey), and Nelson. Loan exhibitions are oceasionally held,

The numerous pigeons (fed daily about 11 a.m.) which congregate in
thi nooks and erannies of the Guildhall, or fiy abodt the yard, will remind
the traveller of the famous pigeons of St. Mark at Venice.

Brewers” Hall, in Addle Lane, to the N, of the Guildhall, has
an ancient kitchen and a curiously decorated leaden eistern. —
At the corer of Basinghall Street, to the E. of the Guildhall,
stands Gresham College, founded by Sir Thomas Gresham (p. 106)
in 1679 for the delivery of lestures by seven professors, on law,
divinity, medicine, rhetorie, geometry, astronomy, and music.

The lectures wera delivered in Gresham's house in Bishopsgate Street
until 1848, when the present hall was erected out of the accumulated
eapital, The lscture theatrs can hold 500 persgna. According to Gres-

ham’s will, the leetures were to he delivered in the middle of the day,
and in Latin, but the speakers now deliver their courses of four lestures

anch in English, at § p.m. (free).

From Gregham College we return to Cheapside by Ironmonger
Lane, in which i the entrance to Mercers’ Hall, the guild-house
of the gilk mercers, rebuilt in 1884, the fagade of which is in
Cheapside. The interior (otherwise uninteresting) contains por-
traits of Dean Colet, founder of 8t. Paul's School, and 8ir Thomas
Gresham, founder of the Exchange, as well as a few relies of Sir
Richard Whittington. The chapel, which is adorned with modern
frescoes of Becket's Martyrdom and the Aspension, cecupies the site
of the housge in which Thomas Becket was born in 1119, and
where a hospital and chapel were erested to his memory about the
year 1190. Henry VIII. afterwards granted the hospital to the Mer-
wvers, who had been incorporated in 1393,

Old Jewry, to the E. of Mercers' Hall, derives its name from
the synagogne which stood here prior to the persecution of the
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the room at the top of the staircase Jaws in 1291. On its site, close
to the Bank, now stands the Grocers' Hall, the guild-house of the
Grocers, or, a5 they were once called, the ‘Pepperers’, with a fine
stainod-glass window. This company is one of the oldest in London.
At No. 26 01d Jewry are the headquarters of the City Poliee. Old
Jewry is continued towards the N. by Coleman Street, in which, on
the right, is situated the Armourers’ Hall (P1. R, 39; 111), founded
about 1450, and spared by the fire of 1666, It contains an inter-
esting and valuable eollection of armour and old plate.

The continuation of Cheapside towards the E. is called the
Povnrry, once the street of the poulterers, at the farther end of
which, on theright, rises the Mansion House ( PL.R,39; 11T, the offl-
cial residence of the Lord Mayorduring his year of office, erected by
Dancein 1739-52. Lord Burlington sent in a design by the famous
Italian arehiteet Palladio, which was rejected on the naive
question of one of the aldermen — ‘Who was Palladio — was he a
freeman of the eity? The building is preceded by a Corinthian
hexastyle portico. The tympanum containg an allegorical group
in relief by Sir Robert Taylor.

In the interior, to the left of the entrance, is the Lord Mayor's police-
eourd, open to the public daily from 12 to b, The long suite of state
and reception rooms arve only shown by the special permigsion of the
Lord Mayor. The principal room i8 the Egypfian Huall, in which the
Lord Mayor gives hig han(uets and balls, eaid to be a reproduction of
the hall described undér that name by Vitrnvius. It contains several
pieces of modern English seulpture: “Caractacus and the nymph Egeria,
hy Faley; Genius and the Morning Star, hy Baily; Comus, by Lough;
Griseldn, by Marshall.

The interior of 8t. Stephen's Church, Walbrook, belind the
Mansgion House, with its graceful dome supported by Corinthian
columns, is considered one of Wren's masterpieces. Altarpiece
by West, Stoning of St. Stephen. Walbrook leads direct to Cannon
Street Station (p. 37).

Queen Vietoria Street, 1/3 M. in length, one of the great modern
improvements of London, constructed at vast expense, leads directly
from the Mansion House to Blackfriars Bridge (see p. 117).

5. The Bank of England. The Exchange.

Stock Exchange. Merchant Taylors” Hall. Crosby Hall. St. Helen's
Church, Cornhiti. Leadenhall Markei. St. Andrew's Undershaft.
Corn Exchange. Toynbee Hall, People’s Palace.

The space (PL R, 39, 43 ; II1) enclosed by the Mansion House,
the Bank, and the Exchange, is the centre from which radiate the
most important streets of ‘the City'. It is also the chief point of
convergence of the London omnibns traffle, which during business
hours is enormous.

Opposite the Mangion Houge, and bounded on the 8. by Thread-
needle Street, on the W. by Prinee's Street, on the N. by Lothbury,
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and on the E. by Bartholomew Lane. stands the Bank of England
(PL R,39.43; [11), anirregular and isolated building of one story, the
W. part of which was designed by Sir John Soane in 1788, The
external walls are entirely devoid of windows, the Bank being, for
the sake of seeurity, lighted from interior sourts. The only attrac-
tive portion of the architecture is at the N.W. angle, which was
copied from the Temple of the Sibyl at Tivoli. The edifice covers
an area of about four acres.

The Bank was founded in 1691 by William Paterson, a Scots-
man, It isa joint stock bank, and was the first of the kind estab-
lished in the kingdom. Having exelusive privileges in the me-
tropolis, sesured by Royal Charter, it continued to be the only
jolnt stoek bank in London till 1834, when the London and West-
minster Bank, soon to be followed by many others, was established.
The Bank of England is still the only bank in London which
has the power of issning paper money. Its original capital was
1,200,0000., which has since been multiplied more than twelve-
fold. It now employs 900 persons at salaries varying from H0L. to
1,2002. (in a1l 210,0002.). The vaults usnally contain about 20 mil-
lion pounds sterling in gold and silver, while there are over
20 millions of pounds sterling of the Bank’s notes in eireulation.
The Bank receives 200,000f. a year for managing the national debt
(now amounting to about 670,000,0001.), besides which it carries
on buginess like other banke in disconnting bills, receiving deposits,
and lending money. Itis bonnd to buy all gold bullion brought
to it, at the rate of 3. 17s. 9d. per oz. The average amount of
money negociated in the Bank per day is over 2,000,000t

The business offices of the Bank are open to the publio daily
from 9 to 3; the Printing, Weighing, and Bullion Offlces are shown
only by the gpeecial order of the Governor or Deputy-Governor, to

whom an introduction must be obtained.

The account-books of the Bank are ruled and cut in the Ruling Room,
and hound in the Binding Room. The Bauk also containg a general Print-
ing Koom, nnd n gpecial Bank-note Printing Room, whers 15,000 new hank-
notes are produced daily. Many notes of 1000(. are printed. 4nd cases
have besn known of the issue of notes for as large sums as BOOOOL or
100,000i. The Bank pays above 70,000, annually to the Stamp Office for
atnmps on notes; and it is estimated that its losses, from forgeries, ete.,
have amounted at times to more than 40,000, annually. The note print-
ing-press is exceedingly interesting. In the Old Note Office the halves of
old bank-notes are kept for a period of ten years. All notes paid into
the Bank are at omce cancelled, so that in some cases the active life of n
hank-note may not be longer than a single day. The cancelled notes,
however, aro kept for ten years, in case they may be required as festi-
mony in a court of law., Every month the notes received in the corre-
rgumi‘!ng month ten years ago are burned: and the furnace provided for

is purpose, Bft. in )l:ei;ht and 10ft. in diameter, is eaid to be completely
filled om each oecagion. The stock of paid notes for five years amounts
to abgut 80 millions; if the notes wers joined end to énd they would form
a ribhon 13,000 M. long, while their superficisl extent would almost
equal that of Hyde Park. The Bank-Note Autngrcpﬁ Books contnin tho
signatures of various royal and disling P iy A bank-note
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for 1,000,0004. is also exhibited to the corious visitor. The Weighing Of-
fice containg p machine for weighing sovereigna (33 per minufe), which
throwa thoge of full weight into one compartment and the light ones into
another. The Buflien Office is the tressury for the precious metsls. The
Bank is protected st night by a small garrison of soldiers.

In Post Office Court, Lombard Btreet, is the Bankers Clearing Houss,
a nseful institution through which bankers obtain the amount of cheques
and bills in fheir hands withoul the trouble of collecting them at the
various banlks on which they are drawn. The bills and cheques received
by the wvarions bankers during the day are here cumfnretl, and the
difference setfled by a cheque on the Bank of England. Tha amount
changing hands here is enormous, renching in the year ending Dac. 31st.,
1892, the sum of B,A51,562,0004. {1,513,9&3&&)3. less tham in 186K).

In Capel Court, opposite the Bank, is the Btock Exchange,
the headquarters of the Stoek-brokers (about 1300 in number) and
Stoelk-jobbers (abont 2000), each of whom pays a large entrance fee
and an annual subseription - of 30 guineas. Strangers aré not ad-
mitied. The Stock Exchange (familiarly known in the City as ‘the
house') has recently been much enlarged.

In Throgmorton Street, to the N. of the Stock Exchange, is the
Drapers’ Hall, containing a portrait of Nelson by Sir Williom
Beeehey, anda pieture of Mary, Queen of Scots, and her gon James 1.,
attributed to Zuechero. Adjoining is' the Drapers’ Garden, con-
taining one or two old mulberry-trees.

The Dutch Church in Austin Friars, behind the Drapers' Hall,
dates from the 14th cent, and is one of the few ecelesiastical adi-
flees which oscaped the fire of 1666. It containg numerons more
or less interesting graves of the 14-16th centuries.

The Royal Exchange (P1. R, 43; I17), built in 1842-44 by Tite,
a guocessor to the first Exchange erected in 1664-T0 by SirThomas
Giresham, 18 preceded by a Corinthian portico, and approached by
u broad flight of steps. The group in the tympanum is by Wesé-
maeott: in the centre is Commerce, holding the charter of the Hx-
change in her hand; on the right the Lord Mayor, munisipal
offloials, an Indian, an Arab, a Greek, and a Turk; on the left
English merchants, a Chinese, a Persian, a Negro, eto. On the
architrave below i¢ the inseription: ‘The Earth is the Lord's and
the fulness thereof’,

The interior of the Exchange forms a guadrangular covered
court surrounded by ¢olonnades. In the centre is a gtatue of Qneen
Vietoria, by Lough; in the N.E. and 8.E. corners are statnes of
Queen Elizabeth, by Watson, and Charles TI, The walls of the
tolonnades bear the armorial bearings and products of the different
epuntries of Europe and Amerioa, in encaustic painting, The
tesselated pavement of Turkey stone is the original one of Gresham’s
Exchange, openad by Queen Elizabeth on June 23rd; 1671, The
chief business honris from 3.30 to 4.30 p.m., and the most im-
portant days are Tuesdays and Fridays. On the E. side rises a
campanile, 180fi. in height, On the front (I.) of the tower is a
statue of Sir Thomas Gregham, and at the top is a large gilded
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vane in the shape of a grasshopper (Gresham’s erest). The shops on
the outside of the Exchange greatly disfigure the building., Nearly
opposite the Exchange is No. 15 Cornhill, ocenpied by Messra.
Birch, econfestioners, and gaid to be the oldest shop in London.

At the E. end of the Exchange a staircase, adorned with a
statue of Prince Albert by Lough, ascends to Lloyd's Subscription
Rooms, the central point of every kind of business connected with
navigation, maritime trade, marine insurance, and shipping intel-
ligence. ‘The vestibule is adorned with a statue of Huskiszon by
Gibson. On the wall is a tablet to the ‘Times’ newspaper, erected
in recognition of the public service it rendered by the exposure of a
fraudulent financial conspiracy of gigantic character. The flrst room
is used by Underwriters; the second is the Reading-room, containing
a series of huge ledgers in which the most detailed information
ag to the merchant-shipping of the world is carefully posted from
day to day; the third or ‘Captains’ Room’ is a restaurant accessible
only t0 members of “Lloyd’s’ and their friends.

Tn front of the Exchange is an Equestrian Statue of Wellington,
by Chantrey, erected in 1844, beside which is a handsome fountain
with a female figure. On the S.E. side of the Exchange is a statue
(erected in 1882) of Sir Rowland Hill, the inventor of the cheap
postal system. Behind the Exchange, in Threadneedle Street, is
a statue, in a sitting posture, of Peabody (d. 1869), the American
philanthropist, by Story, erected in 1871 by public subseription.

Geerge Péabody, an American merchant, who carried on an extensive
business snd sglent much of his time in London, gave ai different times
upwards of half a million of money for the erection of anitabls dwellings
for the working classes of the metropolis, The propérty id mianaged by
p body of trustees. The number of persons sccommuodated in the Peabody
Buildings is about 20,000, each faumily paying an average weekly rent of
about 4s. 94d., which ineludes the use of baths and wash-houses. The eapital
of the fund now amounts to about 1,.410,0000. Mr. Pesbody declined a
baronetey offered by the Queen, bul accepted a miniaturs portrait of Her

Majesty. He spent and bequeathed still larger sums for educational and
benevolent purposes in America, the grand tofal of his sifts amonnting to

nearly 2,000,000, sterling.
I'arther along Threadneedle Street, beyond Finch Lane, is the

Merchant Taylors' Hall, the largest of the London Companies' halls,
erected, after the Great Fire of 1666, by Jarman (admission on
application to a member). The company was incorporated in 1466.
The handgome hall contains gome good portraits: Henry VIIL, by
Paris Bordone ; Duke of York, by Lawrence; Duke of Wellington,
by Witkie; Charles I. ; CharlesIL.; James IT.; William ITL.; Queen
Anne; George ITI. and his consort; Lord Chancellor Eldon, by
Briggs ; Pitt, by Hoppner. There is algo a valuable collection of old
plate. The small, but interesting Crypt was spared by the Fire.
Threadneedle Street ends at Bishopsgate Street Within, in
which, near the point of junction, stands ®Crosby Hall, built
in 1466 by Alderman Sir John Crosby, and once oceupied by
the notorious Duke of Gloncester, afterwards Richard 1II. The
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building subsequently belonged to Sir Thomas More, and it is
mentioned by Shakspeare in his ‘Richard I11." For a long time
it was neged for the reception of ambassadors, and was considered
the finest house in London. During the Protectorate it was a prison;
and it afterwards became in turn a meeting-house, a warchonse, and
a concert and lesture room. It has been lately restored, and is now
nged ag a restaurant (p. 14). Orosby Hall deserves a visit as
being one of the few existing relics of the domestic arohitecture
of medizval London, and the only one in the Gothic style. The
present street front and many parts of the interior do not belong
to the ancient structure. The Bangueting Hall has a fine oaken roof.

8t. Helen’s Church, near Crosby Hall, called by Dean Stanley
the “Westminster Abbey of the Ulty', onee belonged to an ancient
nunnery and dates originally from 1145-50. Among other old
monuments, it contains those of Sir John Crosby and Sir Thomas
Gresham (see p. 103). The Latin inscription on the tomb of Sir
Juliug Ciesar (d. 1636), Magter of the Rolls in the reign of Jameg 1.,
is to the effect that he had given his bond to Heaven to yield up
his soul willingly when God should demand it. His monument, in
the Chapel of the Holy Ghost, ig by Nicholas Stone. Over the
pieturesque ‘Nuns' Gate' is a resent inseription to Alberico Gen-
tile, the Italian jurist, and professor of civil law at Oxford, who
was buried near it. A stained-glass window was erected in 1884
to the memory of Shakspeare, who was a parishioner in 1598
and is rated in the parish books for BL 13s. 4d. See ‘Annals of
St. Helen's, Bishopsgate', by Rev. J. E. Coz, D.D. (1876). — In
St. Helen's Place is the modern Hull of the Leathersellers, a com-
pany incorporated at the end of the 14th century. The building is
eracted over the old erypt of St. Helen's Nunnery.

The Nativnal Provincial Bank of England, 112 Bishopsgate
Street, is worth visiting for the beautiful interior of its large hall,
4 remarkable specimen of the Byzantine-Romanesque style, with
polished granite columns and polychrome decoration.

Dishopsgate Street Within is continued to the N. by Bishopsgate
Street Without (i.e. outside the walls), passing (on the left) Liver-
pool Street (Station, see p. 32), Shoreditoh, the continuation of
Bishopsgate Street, leads to the chief goods depdt of the Great
Eastern Railway, beneath which a fish, fruit, and vegeiable market
was opened in 1832. To the E. lies Spitalficids (p. 67), beyond
which is Bethnal Green (p. 67). At No, 204 High Street, Shore-
ditch, is the Standard Theatre (PL. R, 44), u characteristio ‘East End’
place of amusement (see p. 42). The Britannia Theatre (P1. B, 44),
in Hoxton Street, lies to the N.W., in the crowded district of Hox-
ton, Shorediteh High Street is continued due N. by Kingsland Road
to Kingsland and to Dalston, where the German Hospital is sitn-
ated. Sgill farther to tho N. are Stoke Newinglon and Clupfon,
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In Cornhill, the street which leads to the E. straight past the
S. side of the Exchange, rises on the right (8.) 8. Michael's
Chureh, witha large late-Gothic tower, built by Wren, and restored
by Sir G. G. Seott. Farther on is 8t. Peter's Church, which accord-
ing to a groundless tradition was originally built by the ancient
Britons. Gray, the poet (1716-71), was born in the honse which
formerly occupied the aite of No. 41 Cornhill.

In Leadenhatl Street, which continues Cornhill, stande, on the
right and near the corner of (racechnrch Street, Leadenhall
Market, one of the chief marts in Lendon for poultry, game,
and hides (seep. 26). Farther on, to the left, is the small church of
8t. Andrew Undershaft (i.e. under the maypole, ag the maypole
which used to be erected heré was higher than the tower of the
church); the turreted late-Gothic tower dates from 1582, At
the end of the N. aisle is the tomb of Stow, the antiguary (d.
1605). Btill fartheron, on the same side, is the Church of St
Catherine Cree, with an interior by Inigo Jones, being the sue-
cessor of an older ehureh in which Holbein (d. 1543) is said to have
been interred. The character of the services held here by Archbyp.
Laud in 1634 at the consecration of the church formed one of the
charges in his trial. The old House of the East India Company, in
which Charles Lamb was a elerk, stood at the corner of Leaden-
hall Street and Lime Street. The New Zealand Chambers (No. 34),
nearly opposite 8t. Andrew Undershaft's. are one of Norman Shaw's
reproductions of mediwval architesture, Leadenhall Street is joined
at its T, end by Fenchurch Stroet (see below).

Lombard Street and Fenchurch Street, forming a line on the S,
nearly parallel to Cornhill and Leadenhall Street, are also among
the busiest thoroughfares of the eity. Lombard Street has been for
ages the most noted street in London for banking and finance, and
has inberited its name from the ‘Lombard’ money dealers from
Genoa and Florence, who, in the 14th and 15th centuries, took the
place of the discredited and persecuted Jews of ‘Old Jewry' as
money lenders. Fenchurch Street reminds us by its mame of
the fenny character of the distriet when the old ehurch was built
(drained by the little stream of ‘Lang bourne' running into the
‘Walbrook”) 4. On the N. side of the street is the Elephant Tavern
(rebuilt), where Hogarth lodged for some time, and which was
once adorned with several of his works. Adjacent is the Iron-
mongers’ Hall, whose company dates from the reign of Edwaxd 1V,
with an interesting interior, portraits of Izask Walton and Admiral
Hood, ete. Fenchurch Street is oonnected with Great Tower Street
by Mincing Lame (8o called from the ‘minechens', or nuns of St.
Helen's, to whom part of it belonged), which is the central point
of the colonial wholesale trade. The fine Tower of All Hallows

+ Mr. Loffie thinks ‘fen’ may e a corruplion of the Anglo-Saxon foin
(Hay), w8 ‘groce’ in Gracechurch Street is of grass
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Staining in this lane is one of the oldest of the relics which have
survived the Great Fire, The Clothworkers' Hall, in the same
street, dates originally from the 1Dth eentury. A little to the E.,
in Mark Lane (originally Mart Lane), is the Corn Exchange (P1.
R, 43; IIT), and near it is Fenchurch Street Station (for the railway
to Blackwall, p. 34). On the . side of Mark Lane is Hart Street,
with the Church of St. Olave, interesting as having survived the
Great Fire, and as the church once frequented by Samuel Pepys
(4. 1703). The picturesque interior contains a number of curious
old tombs, inclnding those of Pepys and his wife. A bust of Pepys
wag placed on the 8. wall in 4884, Many persous who died of the
plague in 1665 are buriedin the churchyard. In the samestreet onece
stood a monastery of the ‘Crossed Friars'; a reminiscence of whom
still exists in the adjoining street of Crutehed Friars, — From the
Junetion of Fenchureh Street and Leadenhall Strest, Aldgate High
Street runs E. to the Aldgate Station of the Metropolitan Railway.

On the E. margin of the City proper lie WaiteesArEn, a district
thiefly inhabited by artisans, and Houspsorrem, the quarter of Jew
brokers and second-hand dealers, whence the Minories lead south-
wards to the Tower and the Thames., In the Minories rises the old
Chureh of the Trinity, once belonging to a Minorite nunnery, -and
containing the head of the Duke of Suffolk (belieaded, 1604) and
several curiong old monuments.

The main thoroughfare traversing this E. London distriet is
Whitechapel Road, continued by Mile End Road, leading to Bow
and Stratford (¢omp. p. 342). To the left, about 1/y M. beyond Ald-
gatz Station (p. 36), diverges Commercial Street, in which stands
8L Jude's Church (P1. R, 47 111), containing copies of four of the
principal works of Mr. G, F. Walts, finished off by that artist
himself (‘Love and Death’, ‘Messenger of Death’, ‘Death crown-
ing Innocence’, ‘The Good Samaritan’). The exterior is adorned
with a fine mosaic after Watts.

Adjoining the church is Toynbee Hall, named afler Arnold Toynbes,
who died in the prime of youth (in 1883), while actively engaged in
lecturing on politieal eponomy to the working-men of London. The hall,
which is a ‘hall' in the academie gemse, comtaina roome for about 20
residents, chiefly Oxford and Cambridge gradoates desirous of sharing
ihe life and experiences of the E. end poor. It also contains drawing,
dining, veading, and lecture rooms, a library, ete., in which numergus
social meetings are held for the people of the neighbourhood. The warden
ig the Rey. Canon 8. Barnett, vicar of St. Jude's. Those fnterested in work
of this kind should write to the gaeretary for cards of sdmission, Toynbee
Hall is also onme of the centres of the ‘University Extension Lectures®
#chieme, — Oxford Houte, Mape St., Bethnal Green Road, snd Mapsfield
Houge, 143 Bukinf Road, Canning Town, are similar institutions,

A Loan Exhibition of Pictures, established by Mr. and Mrs, Barnetf in
1880, §s held for a forinight or three weeks every Enster (10-10; free) in
the schoolrooms adjoining Bi. Jude's, It generally contsins some of the
hest works of modern English artists, and now ranks among the artistic
‘eyents’ of the year, E

In Mile End Road, about !/y M. farther on, is the People's
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Palace for East London, a large fustitution for the ‘recreation and
amusement, the intellectunl and material advancement of the vast
artiean population of the East End’. Its form was suggested by the
‘Palace of Delight' described in Mr. Walter Besant's novel, *All
Sorts and Conditione of Men'; and the nucleus of the 100,000
required for its erection was furnished by an endowment of My,
J. F. Bayber Beaumont (d. 1841). This has been largely supple-
mented by voluntary public subscriptions, including 60,0001, from
the Dropers’ Company, The large *Queens’ Hall, opened by (Jueen
Victoria in May, 1887, is adorned with statues of the queens of
England, ete.,, by F. Verhevden. When complete the Palace will
comprise technical and trade gchools, a reference library, reading-
rooms, a covered garden and promenade, an open-alr garden and
recreation ground, swimming-baths, gymnasia, schoolé of cookery
and needle-work, ete. 'Several of these have already been erecteil.
Exhibitions, converts, and entertainments of various kinds are held
here; and the evening classes are attended by about 3000 students.

6. London Bridge. The Monument, Lower Thames
Street.
Fishmongers' Hall. St. Magnus the Martyr's. Billingsgate. Custom
House, Coal Exechange. -

King William Strest, a wide thoroughfare with handsome build-
ings, leads 8.K. from the Bank to London Bridge. Immediately on
the left, at the corner of Lombard Strect, s the church of St, Mary
Woolnoth, erected in 1716, by Humwksmaor. 1t tontaing a tablet to
the memory of Newton, the friend of Cowper the poet, with an
epitaph by himself. Newton’s remains, however, were removed
to Olney in 1893, Fartheron, at the point where King William
Street, Gracechurch Streef, Eastcheap, and Cannon Street (p. 119)
converge, on a gite once occupied by Falgtaf's ‘Boar’s Head Tavern’,
riges the Statue of Willinm IV., by Nixon, Adjacentare the Monu-
ment Station of the Underground Railway (p. 87) and the City Ter-
minug of the Electric Railway (p. 148). To the left, in Fish Street
Hill, is the Monument (see p. 112). On each side of the first areh
of London Bridge, which erosses Lower Thames Street (p. 113), are
flights of stone steps descending to the street below.

London Bridge (P1. R, 42; III), until a century ago the only
bridge over the Thames in London, and etill the most important,
eonnécts the City, the central point of business, with the Borowugh,
on the Surrey (8.) side of the river (see p. 307).

The Saxons, and perhaps the Romans before them, erected various
wooden bridges over the Thames near the site of the present London
Bridge, but these were all at different periods carried away by
floods or destroyed by fire. At length in 1176 Henry I1. instructed
Peler, chaplain of the church of 8t. Mary Cole, to congtruet a stone



112 6. THE MONUMENT.

bridge at this point, but the work was not completed till 1208, in
the reign of Henry's son, John. A chapel, dedicated to 8t. Thomas
of Canterbury, was built upon the bridge, and a row of houses
sprang up on each side, so that the bridge resembled a continuous
atréet, It was terminated at both banks by fortified gates, on the
pinnacles of which the heads of traitors used to he exposed.

In one of the houses dwelt Sir John Hewitt, Lord Mayor in the time
of Queen Elizabeth, whose danghier, according to the romantic story,
fell into the river, and was rescued by Edward Osaborne, his apprentice. The
brave and fortunate youth afterwards married the young lady and founded
the family of the present Duke of Leeds.

The present London Bridge, 33yds. higher up the river than
the old bridge (removed in 1832), was designed by John Rennie,
a Seottish engineer, begun in 1825 under the superintendence of
his sons, SirJohn and George Rennie, and completed in 1831, The
total outlay, ineluding the cost of the approaches, was about
2,000,000, The bridge, 9281t. long and 54 ft. broad, is borne by
five granite arches, of which that in the centre has a span of 152 ft.
The lamp-posts on the bridge are cast of the metal of French cannon
captured in the Peninsular War.

It is estimated that 15,000 vehicles and about 100,000 ped-
estrians cross London Bridge daily, a fact which may give the
stranger some idea of the prodigions traffio carried on in this part of
the gity. New-comers should pay a visit to London Bridge on a week-
day during business honrs to see this busy scene and hear the almost
deafening noise of the traffie. Stoppages or ‘blocks’ in the stream
of yehicles, of course, sometimes take place; but, thanks to the
skilful management of the police, such interruptions are seldom of
long duration. One of the polire regulations is that slow-moving
vehicles travel at the sides, and quick ones in the middle. London
Bridge divides London into ‘above’ and ‘below’ bridge: Looking
down the river we survey the Port of London, the part immediately
below the bridge being called the Pool. To this portion of the
river sea-going vessels of the largest size have access. Onthe right
and left, as far as the eye can penetrate the smoky atmosphers, are
seen forests of masts ; while high above and behind the houges on both
banks riges the rigging of large vessels in the various docks. Abave
bridge the traffis is carried on chiefly by penny steamboats and coal
barges. Among the buildings visible from the bridge are, on the
N. gide of the river, the Tower, Billingsgate Market, the Custom
House, the Monument, St. Paul's, a great number of other
ghurches, and the Cannon Street Station, while on the Surrey gide
lie 8t. Saviour's Church, Barclay and Perking's Brewery, and the ex-
tensive double station of the South Eastern and Brighton Railways.

An admirable survey of the trafflc on the bridge as well ag on the
riveris pbtained from The Monument (P1. R, 43; 111), in Fish Street
Hill, a little to the N. This consists of a finted column, 202 ft,
in height, designed by Wren, and erected in 1671-77 in com-
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memoration of the Great Fire of London, which, on 2-7th Sept.,
1666, destroyed 460 streets with 89 churehes and 13,200 houses,
valued at 7,330,000, The height of the column is said to equal
its distance from the house in Pudding Lane in which the fire broke
out. A winding staircage of 345 stepa (adm. 3d.) ascends the column
to a platform enclosed by an iron vage (added to put a stop to sui-
cides from the monument), above which rises a gilt nrn with blaz-
ing flames, 42 ft. in height. The pedestal bears inseriptions and
allegorical reliefs.

The Uity and Bouth London Electric Railway passes under the Thames
just above London Bridge by means of two separate tunnels for the ‘np’
and *down" trafflé, This underground electric railway, 3y milea in length,
runa from the City Terminus close to the Monument (Pl B, 433 JII) to
Stockwell (PL G, 82), with intermediaie stations at the Borough, Elephant
and Castle, New Street (Kennington), and Kennington Oval, a1l on the Sur-
rey side of the river. The entire journey is performed in 1/ he., by teains
rinning every § minutes, a uniform fare of 24. for any distance being
paid on entering the stations. At each station powerful hydraulic lifis
eonvey the passengers between the girects and the platforms, while there
are also broad and ponvenient stairéases. This, the first electric railway
in London, wes opened for fraffic in Nov. 1880, having taken shout four
years to construet, The total cost waa 200,0000, per mile. An extension
to Clapham Common and Wandsworth is proposed.

Immediately to the W. of London Bridge, at the lower end of
Upper Thames Street, stands Fishmongers’ Hall, a guild-house
erected in 1834 on the site of an older building. The Company of
TPistimongers existed as early as the time of Edward I. Tt originally
consisted of two separate trades, that of the Sali-Fishmongers and
that of the Stoek-Fishmongers, which were united to form the pre-
sant body in the reign of Henry VIII. The guild is one of the
richest in London, possessing an annual revenne of 20,0000, In
politics it has usually been distinctively attached to the Whig party,
while the Merchant Taylors are recognised as the great Tory eom-
pany. On the landing of the staircase is a statue of Lord Mayor
Walworth (a member of the company), who glew the rebel Wat
Tyler (p. 97). Among the objects of interest in the interior are the
dagger with whieh that rebel was slain; a riehly embroidered pall
used at Walworth's funeral; a chair made out of part of the first
pile driven in the comstruetion of Old London Bridge, supposed to
have been submerged in the Thames for 600 years; portraits of
William II1. and his queen by Murray, George I1. and his consort
by Shackleton, and Queen Vistoria by Herbert Smith.

Lowsn Tmamus StREeT runs eastwards from London Bridge to
the Custom House and the Tower. Chaucer, the ‘father of English
poetry’, is said to have lived here in 1379-85. Close to the bridge,
on the right, stands the handsome church of 8t. Magnus the Mar-
tyr, with a cupola and low spire, built by Wren in 1676. It con-
taing the tomb of Miles Coverdale, Bishop of Exeter, author of the
first complete printed English version of the Bible (1635).

Farther to the E., on the Thames, is Billingsgate (so called

Baenekenr, London. 9th Edit. 8
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from a gate of old London, named, as tradition says, after Belin, a
king of the Britons), the ohiel fish-murket of London, the bad lan-
guage uged at which has become proverbial. In the reign of Eliza-
beth this was a market for all kinds of provisions; but gince the reign
of William I11. it has been used for fleh only. Fish has been landed
and sold here from time immemorial, though now a considerable
part of the fish-supply of London comes by railway. In the reign
of Edward I. the prices of flsh were as follows: soles, per doz.,
3d, ; oysters, per gallon, 2d. ; four whitings 1d. ; four best salmon
Ds.; eels, per quarter of a hundred, 2d.; and so on. The best
flsh iz bought at the beginning of the market by the regular
fishmongers, After them come the costermongers, who are said to sell
a third of the fish consumed in London. Billingsgate wharf is the
oldest on the Thames. The present market, with a figure of Britannia
on the apex of the pediment, was designed by Sir Horace Jones, and
opened in July, 1877, The market beging daily at 5 a.m., and is
one of the sights of London (see p. 25).

Adjacent to the fish-market is the Custom House, built by
Laing in 1814-17, with an imposing fagade towards the Thames,
AB0 ft. in length, by Sir B. Smirke. The customs-dues levied at the
port of London amount to above 10,000,000L a year, exceeding
those of all tha other British sea- Eorts put together. The London
Custom House employs more than 2000 officials; in the Long Room
(190 £t. in length by 66 in breadth) no fewer than 80 clerks are at
work. Conflscated articles are stored in a warehouse reserved for this
purpose, and are disposed of at guarterly sales by auction, which
take place in Mark Lane, and yield B0U0L per anmum. Attached
to the Custom House is a Museum containing curious contrivances
for smuggling, ete. Between the Custorn House and the Thames
is.a broad quay, which affords a fine view of the river and ghipping.

The Coal Exchange, opposite the W. wing of the Custom House,
ereoted in 1849 from plans by Bunning, is in the Italian style, and
has a tower 106 ft. in height. Adjoining it on the E. is a hypo-
caust, or stove of masonry belonging to a Roman bath, discovered
whan the foundations were being dug (shown on application to
one of the attendants). The eireular hall, with glass dome and
triple gallery, is adorned with frescoes by F. Sang, representing
the formation of coal and process of mining. The flooring is in-
laid with 40,000 pieces of wood, arranged in the form of a
mariner's compass. The sword in the municipal coat-of-arms is
gaid to be formed of the wood of a mulberry-tree planted by Peter
the Great in 1698, when he was learning the art of ship-building
at Deptford. — The amount of coal annually consumeéd in Londen
alone at present averages upwards of 6,000,000 tons (comp. p. 70).

Lower Thames Street debouches at its E. end upon Tower Hill
(p- 127). — The Tower, ses p. 120.
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7. Thames Embankment. Blackfriars Bridge. Queen
Victoria Street. Cannon Streef.

Clespatra’s Needle. Times' Publishing Office. Bible Society.
Heralds' College. London Stone. Southwark Bridge.

The *Vietoria Embankment, which leads from Westminster
Bridge (P1. R, 29; /V) towards the E. along the N. bank of the
Thames as far ag Blackfriars Bridge (Pl. R, 35; 11), offers a pleasant
approach to the City and the Tower to those who have already ex-
plored the Strand and Fleet Street. The embankment wag con-
structed in 1864-70, under the supervision of Sir Joseph W. Ba-
salgelte, chief engineer of the late Metropolitan Board of Works
(p: T0), at a vost of nearly 2,000,000 It is about 2300 yds. in
length, and consists of a macadamised carriage-way 64 ft. wide;
with a foot pavement 16 ft. broad on the land-side, and one 20 ft.
broad on the river-side. The whole of this ares was once coverad
by the tide twice a'day. Itis protected on the side next the Thames
by a granite wall, 8ft. thick, for which a foundation was made by
sinking iron eylinders into the river-bed as deeply as possible and
filling them with conerete. [nder the Embankment run three
different tunnels. On the inland side is one traverged by the Metro-
politan Distriet Railway, while on the Thames side there are two,
one above the other, the lower containing one of the prineipal in-
teroepting sewera (p. 70}, and the upper one holding water and gas
pipes and telegraph wires. Rows of trees haye been planted along
the sides of the Embankment, which in a few years will afford a
shady promenade. Atintervalsare large openings, with stairs lead-
ing to the floating steamboat piers (p. 38), which are constructed
of iron, and rise and fall with the tide. Part of the land reclaimed
romn the river has been converted into tastefulf gardens.

The principal approaches to the Vietoria Embankment are from
Blackfriars Bridge and Westminster Bridge (p. 199), from Charing
Cross (p. 161), and from Arundel, Norfolk, Surrey, and Villiers
Streets, all leading off the Strand.

Beginning at Westminster Bridge (p. 199) we see St, Stephens
Club to the left, and a little farther on pass New Seotland Yard
(p. 191) and Montague House (p. 181). Immediately above Charing
Cross Bridge rises a lofty block of buildings containing the National
Liberal Club (p. T4). The public gardens in front of these are
embellished with bronze statues of Genmeral Outram, Sir Bartle
Frere, and William Tyndale, the translator of the New Testament.
Below the bridge is another publie garden, with statues of Robert
Raikes, the founder of Sunday schools, and Eobert Burns, and with
a memorial fountain bearing a hronze medallion of Henry Faweett,
M. P. The ancient level of the river is indicated by the beautiful
old * Watergate of York House (p. 145), a palace begun by Inigo

8.
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Jones for the first Duke of Buckingham (in the N.W. corner of
this garden), Above is the Adelphi Terrace (p. 148). On the right
of the Embankment, by the Adelphi Steps, rises Cleopatra’s Needle
(Pl. R, 30; II), an Egyptian obelisk erected here in 1878.

This famons obelisk wae preésented tp the English Goyvernment by Mo-
hammed Ali, and bropght to thia conntry by the private munificence of
D, Erasmus Wilson, who gave 10,0008, for this purpose. Prnpnrl){ speaking
Uleopatra's Needle iz the name of the companion obelisk now in New York,
which stond erect at Alexandria il its removal, while the one now in
London lsy prostrate for many years. Both monoliths were originally
brought from Heliopolis, which, as we are informed by the Flaminian
Obelisk at Rome, was full of obelisks, The ingeviption on the London
abelisk refers ty Haliopolis sy the ‘house of the Pheenix’. The obelisk,
which is of reddish granite, measures 681/2ft. in height, and is 8 ft. wide
at the base, Its weight is 180 toms. The Obelisk of Luxor at Paris is
T8 ft. in height, and weighs 240 tona,

The pedestal of grey grunite is 18%/s ft. high, including the steps. The
inseriptions on it are as follows. E. Face. Mhis obelisk, guarried at
Syene, was erected af On (Heliopolis) by the Pharach Thothmes 111, shout
1600 B.C. Lateral inscriptions were added nearly two centuries later by
Rameses the Grest. Hemoved during the Greek dynnsty to Alexandria, the
roysl eity of Cleopatra, it was there erected in the Sth yesr of Augnstus
Ceanr, B.C, 20", — W, Face. ‘This obelisk, prostrate for centuries on
the sands of Alexundria, was presented to the British nation A. D. 1819
by Mohammed Ali, Viceroy OlPEgy'pI-: & worthy memorial of our distin-
guished counfrymen, Nelson and Abercromby’. — N. Face. ‘Through the
patriotic zeal of Erasmus Wilson, F. R, 8., this obelisk was brought from
Alexundria encased in an iron cylinder, It was abandoned during a storm in
ihe Bay of Biseay, recovered, and evected on this spot by Jobn Dixon CL.E.,
in the 42pd year of the reign of Queen Victoria, 1878, — River Face,
added at the suggestion of the Queen. *Willinm Asken, Jumes Gardiner,
Jose‘{r‘h Benbow, Michael Burns, William Donald, William Patan, per-
ished in a bold attempt to suceour the erew of the obelisk ship ‘Cleo-
putra’ during the storm, October 1dth. 18377,

Two large bronze Sphinzes, designed by Mr. G. Vulliamy, have been
placed at the buse of the Neddle,

Above Waterloo Bridge, at the back of the Savoy (p. 148), are
the Savoy Hotel, and the Medical Examination Hull. 'I'he latter,
a building of red brick and Portland stone in the Italian style,
crected in 1886, contains a statue of the Queen by Williamson, un-
voiled in 1889, Below the bridge are the river-facade and terrace
of Somerset House (p. 146). Farther on, near the Templa Station,
is a statne of Jsambard Brunel; and in the adjoining gardens are
statues of W, . Forster, erected in 1890, and of Joln Stuart Mill,
erected in 1878. Behind Forster's statue is the tasteful Office of
the London School Board, the weekly meetings of which are held
here on Thureday at 3 p.m, (public admitted to the gallery; p. 70).
Then follows the Temple (p. 141), with its modern Gothic Library
and its Gardens. Farther to the E. is the new Gothic building of
Sion College and Libravy (see p. 16), opened in 1886. At the E.
end of the Embankment, separated from Blackfriare Bridge by the
Royal Hotel (p. T), is the handsome new City of London Seliool,
completed in 1883. To the N., in Tudor Street, is the Guildhatll
School of Music, a building in the Italian style, erected by the
Corporation of London in 1886 at a cost of 22,0001
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The Albert Embankment(P1.6G,29, R,29; IV), completed in 1869,
extending along the right bank of the Thames from Westminster
Bridge to Vauxhall Bridge, a distance of abont 4/ of a mile, has
a roadway B0ft. in breadth, and cost above 1,000,0002. Adja-
cent to it rises the new Hospital of St. Thomas (p. 310). — The
Chelsea Embankment, on the left bank, between the Albert Sus-
pension Bridge and Chelsea Hospital (p. 304), was opened in 1873.

Blackfriars Bridge (Pl. R, 34, 35; 11), an iron structure, built
by Cubitt, and opened in 1869, ocoupies the site of a stone bridge
dating from 1769, the piers of which had given way. The bridge,
which consists of five arches (the central having a span of 1851t.)
supported by granite piers, is 1272ft. in length, including the
abutments, and 80ft. broad. The cost of construction amounted to
320,0000. The dome-of 8t. Paul's is seen to the greatest advantage
from this bridge, which also commands an excellent view otherwise.
Just below Blackfriars Bridge the Thames is crossed by the London,
Chatham, and Dover Railway Bridge. On the right bank of the
river is the spacions Blackfriars Bridge Station.

The hridge deriyes its name from an ancient Monpstery of the Black
Friars, situnted on the bank of the rviver, and dating from 1276, where
several parliaments once met, snd where Cardinals Wolsey and Cam-
peggio pronounced sentence of divoree against the unfortunate Gueen
Catharine of Aragon in 1520 (*King Henry VL' ii. 4). Shakspeare
once lived at Blaekfriars, and in 1599 acted nt a thenlre which formerly
oecupied port of the site of the monastery, and of which the name
Playhouse Yard is still a reminiscence. In 1507 Ben Jonssm was also a
resident here.

In New Bridge Street, which leads straight to the N. from Black-
friars Bridge, immediately to the right, is the Blackfriars Station
of the Metropolitan District Railway (p. 87); and farther on, beyond
Queen Victoria Street (zee below), is the large Ludgate Hill Station
of the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway (p. 34), opposite
which, on the left, the prison of Bridewell (so called from the
old ‘miraculous’ Well of St. Bride or St. Bridget) stood down to
1864. The site of the prison was once occupied by Bridewell
Palace, in which Shakspeare lays the 8rd Act of his ‘Henry VIIL.'
New Bridge Street ends at Ludgate Circus, at the E. end of Fleet
Street (p. 137%, the prolongation to the N. being called Farringdon
Street (see p. 94). To the K., opposite Fleet Street, diverges Lud-
gate Hill, leading to St. Paul's Cathedral, and passing under the
viaduet of the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway (p. 34).

(vess Vicrorra Sreeer, a broad and handsome thoronghfare,
leads straight from Blackiriars Bridge, towards the E., to the Mansion
House and the Bank. To the right, at its W. end, is the large 8t
Paul’s Station of the London, Chatham, and Dover Railway. In
Water Lane, tothe left, stands Apothecaries’ Hall, built in 1670,
and pontaining portraits of James I., Charles 1., and others. The
company, most of whose members really are what the name im-
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plies, grants licenses to dispense medicines and to give medical
advice; and pure drugs are preparad in the chemical laboratories
it the back of the Hall. On the left gide of Queen Victoria Street,
farther on, is the Office of the Times (P1. R, 35; II), a handsome
building of red brick. The tympanum bears an allegorical device
with allusions to times past and future. Behind the Publishing
Office, in Printing Homse Square, is the interesting Printing
Offiee. Tickets of admission are issmed on written application to
the Manager, enclosing a note of introdnotion or reference. Visitors
ghould be careful to attend at the hour named in the order, when
the second edition of the paper is being printed. No fewer than
20,000 copies can be struck off in an hour by the wonderful
mechanism of the Walter press, and perhaps 50,000 are issued
daily, The continuous rolls or webs of paper, with which the
machine feeds itself, are each 4 miles in length, and of these 28
to 30 are used in one day. The finished and folded copies of the
Times are thrown out at the other end of the machine. The type-
getting machines are also of great interest. The official who con-
ducts visitors round the works explains all the details (no gra-
tuity). The Times celebrated its centenary in 1884,

Printing House Square stands on & corner of old London which
for many ages was occupied by frowning Norman fortresses. Part
of the castle of Montflichet, a follower of the Congueror, is said to
have stood here; and the ground between the S. side of Queen
Victoria Street, or Earl Street, and the Thames was the site of
Baynard's Castle (mentioned in ‘Richard IIT'.) with its extensive
precinets, which replaced an earlier Roman fortress, and probably
a British work of defence. Baynard’s Castle was presented by Queen
Elizabeth to the Karls of Pembroke, and continued to be their resi-
dence till its destruction in the Great Iire+.

Farther on in Queen Victoria Strect is the church of St Ann
Blackfriars, adjacent to which, on the E., rises the large building
occupied by the British and Foreign Bible Society, erected in
1868. The number of Bibles and Testaments issued by this im-
portant society now amounts to about four millions a year, printed
in 820 different langnages and dialects. The total number of copies
issued since its foundation in 1804, is nearly 140,000,000, The
annual income 0f the society from subseriptions and the sale of
Bibles is over 280,000, Visitors (daily, except Sat. and Mon.) are
shown the library containing an extensive and probably unigque
eollection of Bibles in different languages. The board-room con-
tains a portrait of Lord Shaftesbury, by Milleis; and on the stair-
case is a large painting by E. M. Ward: Luther's first study of

+ This §s the ordinary aceount, but it is disputed by Mr. Loftie; who
maintaina that the later house known as Baynard's Castle did not oceupy
the site of the original fortress of fhat name, Bee his ‘London’ (in the
‘Historic Towns Series'; 1837).
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the Bible. — Farther E., on the same side of the street, are the
large buildings of the Savings Bank Department of the Post Office.
To the N,, beyond Knightrider Street, lies Doctors’ Commons,
where marringe licences are still issued at No. & Dean’s Court.
The Doctors' Commons Witl Office was removed in 4874 from St
Bennet's Hill to Somerset House, in the Strand (see p. 1486).

To the left, farther on in Queen Victoria Street, is Heralds’ Col-
lege, or the College of Arms (rebuilt'in 1683), formerly the town
hounse of the Earls of Derby. The library containg a number of inter-
esting objects, including a sword, dagger, and ring belonging fo
James IV, of Seotland, who fell at Flodden in 1513 ; the Warwick roll,
a geries of portraits of the Earls of Warwiok from the Conquest to the
time of Richard TI1. (executed by Rous at the end of the 15th cent. );
genealogy of the Saxon kings, from Adam, more eurious than trust-
worthy, illustrated with drawings of the time of Henry VIIL; por-
trait of the celebrated Talbot, Earl of Shrewsbury, from his tomb
in old 8t. Paul's. The college also contains a valuable treasury of
genealogical records.

The office of Earl-Marshal, president of Heralds' College, is hereditary
in the person of the Duke of Norfolk. The college consists of three
kingg-at-arms, Garter, Clarencienx, and Norroy — six heralds, Lancaster,
Bomerset, Richmond, York, Windsor, and Chester — and four pursuivants,
Rouge Croix, Blue Mantle, Porteullis, and Rouge Dragon. The main
object of the corporation is to make out and preserve the pedigrees and
armorial bearings of noble and grent families. It grants arms to fami-
lies recently risen to position and distinction, and determines doubiful
quegtions respecting the derivation and value of srms, Fees for a new
cont-of-arma 100, 10s. or more: for searching the records 11,

A little farther on, (Queen Victoria Street intersects CANNox
Srarer, which is the most direct route between St, Paul's Church-
yard and London Bridge, and Queen Street (p. 101), leading from
Cheapside to Southwark Bridge (p. 120). Cannon Street, which is
Yy M. long, was constructed at & cost of 589,4701,, and opened in
1604, This street contains the Cannon Street (p. 87) and Mansion
House (p. 87) stations of the Metropolitan District Railway, and
also the extensive Cannon Street Station, the City Terminus of the
South Eastern Railway (p. 33; hotel, see p. 6). Opposite the last
«stands the church of 8t. Swithin, popularly regarded as the saint of
the weather, into the wall of which is built the London Stone, an
old Roman milestone, supposed to have been the milliarium of the
Roman fornm in London, from which the distantes along the
various British high-roads were reckoned. Against this stone, which
is now protected by an iron grating, Jack Cade onee struck his staif,
exclasiming ‘Now is Mortimer lord of the city’. In St. Swithin's
Lane stands the large range of premises known as ‘New Court',
oceupied by Messrs. Rothschild. — Close by is Salters’ Hall, and
near it was Salters’' Hall Chapel, begun by the ejected minister
Richard Mayo in 1667, and long celebrated for its preachers and
theological disputations. — Down to 1803 the Steel Yard, at one



120 7. SOUTHWARK BRIDGE.

time a factory or store-house of the Hanseatic League, established
in 1260, stood on the zite now oseupied by the Cannon Street Ter-
minus. — Adjacent to the station, on the W., is Dowgate Hill,
with the Hall of the Skinners, who were incorporated in 1327. The
court (with its wooden porch) and interior were built soon after the
Fire; the staireaseand the wainseoted ‘Cedar Room' are interesting.
Oannon Siréet ends at the Monument, beyond which it is con-
tinued by Eastcheap and Great Tower Street to Tower Hill (p. 127).
Southwark Bridge (Pl. R, 88; HI}, erected by John Rennie in
1815-19, at a cost of 300, 0001 , is 700 fb. long, and eonsists of
three iron arches, borne hy stone piers. The span of the central
arch is 2401t., that of the side ones 210 ft. The traffle is compar-
atively small on account of the inconvenience of the approaches,
but has of late greatly increased. In Southwark, on the 8. bank,
lies Barelay and Perkins's Brewery (p. 308). The river farther down
iz crossed by the imposing five-arched railway bridge of the South
Egstern Railway (terminus at Cannon Street Station, p. 119).

8. The Tower,
Trinity House. Tower Subway. Royal Mint. Tower Bridge.

The Tower (P1. R, 46; IIT), the ancient fortress and gloomy
state-prison of London, and historically the most interesting spot in
England, is an irregular mass of buildings erected at various per-
iods, surrounded by a battlemented wall and a deep moat, which
was drained in 1843. It stands on the bank of the Thames, to the
E. of the City, and outside the bounds of the amcient eity-walls.
The present external appearance of the Tower is very unlike what
it originally was, perhaps no fortress of the same age having
undergone greater transformations. It is possible, though very
doubtful, that a fortification of some kind stood here in Roman
times, but the Tower of London properly originated with William
the Oonqueror (see p. 64). Though at first a royal palace and
stronghold, the Tower ia best known in history as a prison. It is
now a government arsenal, and is still kept in repair as a fortress,
The ground-plan is in the form of an irregular pentagon, which
covers an area of 18 acres, and is enclosed by a double line of pir-
cnmvallation (the outer and inner ballium or ward), strengthened
with towers. The square White Tower rises conspieuously in the
centré. A broad quay lies between the moat and the Thames. The
Tower is conveniently reached by the Underground Railway to
Mark Lane Station (PL. R, 42; III).

The Tower (adm., see p. 78) is provided with four entranees,
viz. the Iron Gate, the Water Gate, and the Traitors’ Gate, all on
the side next the Thames; and on the W., the prineipal entrance,
or Lions' Gate, so called from the royal menagerie formerly kept
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here. (The lione were removed to the Zoological Gardens in Re-
gent's Park in 1834.) To the right is the Ticket Office, where
tickets are procured for the Armoury (6id.) and the Orown Jewels
(6d.). Free days should be avoided on account of the crowd.
Really interested visitors may sometimes obtain an order from the
CUonstable of the Tower admitting them to parts not shown to the
general publie, The quaintly-attived Warders or Beef-eaters, offi-
cially designated Yeomen of the Guard, who are stationed at diffe-
rent parts of the building, are all old soldiers of meritorious serv-
ice. The term Beef-eater is commonly explained as a eorruption
of Buffetiers, or attendants at the royal Bujfet, but is more pro-
bably a nickname bestowed upon the ancient Yeomen of the Guard
from the fact that rations of beef were regularly served out to them
when on duty. The names of the different towers, gates, ete., are
now indicated by placards, and the most interesting objects in the
armouries aldo bear inscriptions, The Guides to the Tower (1d, and
Gd.; both by W. J. Loftie) are almost unnecessary, except to those
who take a special interest in old armour.

To the left of the entrance, opposite the Ticket Office, is a
Turkish cannon, presented by Sultan Abdul Medjed Khan in 1857,
A stone bridge, flanked by two towers (Middle Tower and By-
ward Tower), leads across the moat (whieh can still be flooded by
the parrison) into the Oufer Bail or anterior court. On the left is
the Bell Tower (P1. 4), adjacent to which is a narrow passage,
leading round the fortifications within the outer wall. Farther on,
to the right, is the Traitors’ Gate (P1. 6), a double gateway on the
Thames, by which state-prisoners were formerly admitted to the Tow-
er; ahove it is 8t. Thomas's Tower (P1. D). A gateway opposite
leads under the Bloody Tower (p. 120) to the Imner Bail. In the
eentre of this court, upon slightly rising ground, stands the square
*Wurrs Towsg, or Keep, the most ancientpart of the fortress, erected
by William the Congueror in 1078, on a site previonsly occupied
by two bastions built by King Alfred in 885 (perhaps on a Roman
foundation; ecomp. p. 120). Tt measures 116 ft, from N. to 8. and
96 ft. from E. to W., and is 92ft. high. The walls are 13-151t.
thicks, and are surmounted with turrets at the angles. The armoury
and military stores to the 8. were removed in 1882-3, so as to
leave an unimpeded view of this ancient keep. Among the many
important seenes enacted in this tower may be mentioned the
abdication of Richard 11, in favour of Henry of Bolingbroke in 1399 ;
and it was here that Prince James of Scotland was imprisoned in 1405,
We first ascend & steircase passing through the wall of the White
Tower (10 1t. thick). 1t was under this stairease that the bones of the
two young prinees murdered by their uncle Richard I1T. (see p. 120)
were found. On the first floor are two apartments, said to have been
those in which Sir Walter Raleigh was confined and wrote his His-
tory of the World ( 1605-17; closed). The *Chapel of 8t. John, on the
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second floor, with its massive pillars and cubical capitals, its wide
triforium, ite apse borne by stilted round arches (somewhat re-
sembling those of St. Bartholomew's, p. 96), and its barrel-vaulted
ceiling, is oneof the finest and best-preserved specimens of Nor-
man_ architecture in England. On the same fioor are the Bangquet-
ing Hall; and another room, both containing part of the collection
of arms and armour (see below), On the upper floor is the Council
Chamber, in which the abdication of Richard II. took place.

The *Cornserron or Ounp Aryouvr, formerly in the so-called
Horse Armoury, and now in the two upper floors of the White Tower,
though not equal to the best Continental collections of the kind, is
yet of great value and interest. The main portion of the collection
is in the Council Chamber, including a series of equestrian figures
in full equipment, ag well as numerous flgnres on foot, affording
a faithful picture, in approximately ehronclogioal order, of English
war-array from the time of Edward L. (1272)down to thatof James II.
(1688). In the Norman period armour consisted either of leather,
cut into small pleces like the scales of a fish, or of flat rings of
steel sewn on to leather. Chain mail was introduced from the East
in the time of Henry 111, (1216-1272). Plates for the arms and legs
were introduced in the reign of Edward II, (1307-1327), and com-
plete suits of plate armour came into use under Henry V. (1418-22).

The glass-cases contain various smaller objects of interest.

Among the c¢hief objects in the Council Chamber and the smaller
room o the E. of it are the following: — Equestrinn figure of (ueen
Elizabeth, Suit ofarmour (shirt of mail), dating from the time of Edward 1.
(1272-1307). Buit of the time of Henry VI. (1422-61). Tonrnament suit of the
time of Edward IV. (1461-83), Knight's guit of the time of Richard TII.
(1433-85), worn by the Marquis of Waterford at the Eplinton Tonrnament
in 1839. Buit of Burgundion armour, Henry VIL (1485-1508); adjacent o
second suit of the same pariod. Suit of richly ddmascensd armour, worn
by Henry VIIL (1509-47). ‘Suit worn by Charles Brandon, Duke of Snffolk
(1020). Suit of Edward Clinton, Earl of Lineoln 3 )

Brown guit, with the arms of Burgundy and Granada, Edward VI,
(1647-568). Buit of heavy armour of the time of Queen Mary, said to have
helonged to Francis Hastings, Earl of Huntingdon (1655). Suit actually
worn by Robert Dudley, Earl of Leicester (1080), the favourite of Queen
Elizabeth; the armonr laeu.rq his initials and crest. — Magnificent suif,
of German workmanship, said to have been presented by the Emgperor
Maximilian to Henry VIII on his marrisge with Catharine of Aragon.
Among the nnmerous ornuments inlaid in gold, the rose and pomegranate,
the badges of Henry and Catharine, are of frequent recurrence; the
other cognisances of Henry, the portcullis, flenr-de-lys, and dragon, and
the initials of the royal pair connected by a true-lover’s knot, also appeur.
On the armour of the horse are engraved stenes of martyrdom. Adjacent
is & helmet with ram's horns and & mask, also presented by Maximilian
to Henry VIII. — BSuit of Sir Henry Lee, Master of the ouries 1o
Queen Elizabeih (1670). Suit of Robert Deversux, Earl of Essex, worn by
the King's-chumpion at the coronation of George L Tournamentsuit, James 1.
(1605}, Plain suit of armour of the same period. Suit of armour worn by
Charles I, Suit, richly inlaid with gold, belonging to Henry, Prince of Wales
(1612), eldesi son of James I. Beside if, Charles 1., as Prinee of Wales, on
foot, with a pago bearing the ehanfron or head-pieca of the horse-armour.

lF‘x:.l.‘n guit of plate srmour, dating from the first half of the 17th century.
Fine suit of Italian armour, said to have belonged to Count Oddi of
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Padun (1650 ; unmounted Agnre). Suit of bright armonr, siudded with brass.
Pikemen of the 17th century. 8uit of George Monk, Duke of Albemarle
(1669), Suil of knigh! of the time of Charles . Mounted figure with slight
suit of armonr that belonged to James IL, (1688), after whose time armour
was Taraly worn.

Interapersed among the equestrian figures are numerous weapons of
the periods illustrated by the suita of armour; weapons used by the rebels
at Sedgemoonrs asgegaia from Caffraris; two drums faken at Blenheim;
execution-axe of the King of Oude; arbalast or crossbow ; ancient matehlocks
and fowling-piecas, some of them breech-loaders; Chinese arms; chain-mail
of the Norman periods drms and armour from China, Persia, Japan, and
Afrieay the block on which Lord Lovat, the last person heheaded in Eng-
land, sulfered the penalty of high treason on Tower Hill in 1747 5 a head-
ing-axa, said to be that by which the Harl of Essex was decapitated.

The glass-cases contain Etruscan, Roman, British, Anglu-gnxun, and
ofher arma and armoury a complete puit of ancient Greek armonr, dis
coyered in a tomb at Cummey a spear-head found on the Ela_-in of Marathon ;
a yery interesting eollection of 0ld weapong, ancient and Norman helmets.
early fire-arme, ete.; two English Jong-bows of yew, reécoversd in wgd
from the wreck of the ‘Mary Roese’, after having been submerged for almost
B0D yearss Indian battle-sxes, gung, and accoutrements ; acimitar with jade
Lilt; sword with hilt of lapis lazulis a bit of leather seale-armour; re-
volvers of the 16-1Tth cent., with beautifully inlaid stocks; Asiatic suits of
armour; sword, helmet, snd saddle of Tippo Sshib, Sultan of Mysore,
cngtureﬁ at Beringapatam in 1799; helmet brought from Otaheite by Capt.
Cook in 1774,

The contents of the two rooms on the second floor include the uniform
worn by the Duke of Wellington as Consiable of the Tower; the cloak
on which General Wolfe died before Quebec in 175695 maodels of the Towers
prmé in use by various foreign nations abont 1840; two chased brass guns
made for the Duke of Gloucester, son of Cueen Anne, vwhao died in 1700
at the age of eleven: & copy of the shield st Windsor ascribed to Oellini;

art of the pump of the ‘Mary Rose’, sunk in 16455 guns from the ‘Mary

03¢'; ‘& collestion of instromenis of torture; Indian arms pnd armour,
The walla and ceilings are adorned with trophies of srms, skilfolly arranged
in the form of stars, flowers, coats-of-arms, and the like.

At the foot of the staircase by which we leave the White Tower are
some fragments of the ald State Barge of the Master-General of the Ord-
nanee (broken up in 1859), with the arma of the Duke of Marlborough
and other decorationg in carved and gilded oak.

Outside the White Tower i8 an interesting collection of old
cannon, someof very heavy calibre, chiefly of the time of Henry V111,
but one going back to the reign of Henry VI. (1422-61).

The large modern buildings to the N. of the White Tower are
the Wellingion or Waterloo Barracks, erected in 1845 on the site
of the Grand Storehonse and 8mall Armoury, which had been de-
stroyed by fire in 1841, The armoury at the time of the eonfla-
gration contained 150,000 stand of arms.

The Croww JewsLs, or Regalia, formerly kept in the building
erected in 1842 at the N.E. eorner of the fortress, are now in the
Record or Wakefleld Tower (see p. 125). During the ¢onfusion that
provailed after the execution of Oharles I. the royal omaments and
part of the Regalia, including the ancient crown of King Edward,
were gold. The erowns and jewels made to replace these after the
Restoration retain the ancient names. The Regalia now consist of
the following artieles, which are preserved in a glass-case, protected

by a strong iron cage: —



8. THE TOWER. 125

St, Edward's Croten, executed for the coronation of Charles IL, and
used at all sub t tions, This was the crown stolen in 1671
by Col Blood and his accomplices, who overpowered and gagged the
keeper. The bold robbers, however, did not suceeed in escaping with
their booty. Queen FVicloria’s Crows, muade in 1888, a masierpiece of
the modern goldsmith’s art. It is adorned with no fewer than 2733 dia-
mondsd ; the uneut roby (“spinel’) in front, said to have been given to the
Black Prinee in 1387 by Don Pedro of Castile, was worn by Henry V. on
his helmet at the battle of Agineonrt. It also contains a large sapphire.
The Prifice of Wales's Crown, of pure gold, without precious stones. The
Queen Consort’s (yown, of gold, set with jewels. The Queen’s Crown, a
golden circlet, embellished with dismonds and pearls, made for Quecn
Maria d'Este, wife of James II. St Edward's Staff, mode of gold, &t/ £
lomg and about 90 1bs, in weight. The orb at the top 4 asid to contain a
piece of the trus cross. The Royal Scepire with the Cross, 21t 8in. long,
richly adorned with precious atones. The Sceplre of the Dove, or Rod of
Eguity. Above the orb is a dove with outspread wings., CQueen Viclo-
ria’s Scepire, with richly gemmed cross. The Jeery Scepire of Queen
Maria d'Este, surmounted by a dove of white onyx. The Sceptre of
Queen Mayy, wifo of William III, The Orbs of the King and Queeén.
Model of fhe Koh-i-Noor (Mountain of Light), one of the largest dinmonds
known, weizghing 162 carats. The original, now ai Windsor Castle, was
formerly in the possession of R;ﬁhieet Bingh, Rajah of Lahore, and came into
the hands of the English in 1 on their evnguest of fhe Punjib. The
Curtana, or pointless Sword of .‘Ieln'cy, The Swords of Justice. The Coyo-
nation Bracelats. The Royal Spurs. The Coronation (il Vessel or dmpulla,
in the furm of an eagle. The Spoon belonging to the ampulla, thought
to be the only relic of the aneient regalia. The Salt Cellar of Stats, in
the form of a model of the White Tower. The silver Baptismal Font for
the royal children, A silver Wine Fountain piven by the Corporation of
Plymouth to Charles 1I. Gold Basin used in the distribufion of the Queen’s
alms on Maundy Thursday. The cases af the side contain the insignia
of the Orders of the Bath, Garier, Thistle, 8. Michael and 8, Gaorge, and
Star of India; salso the hcfnria Cross.

The total value of the Regalia is estimuted at 8,000,000,

The twelve Towsns of the Inner Ward, at one time all used as
prisons, were afterwards employed in part for the custody of the
state archives. The names of several of them are indissolubly as-
sosiated with many dark and painful memories. In the Bloody Tower
(P1. 7) the sons of Edward IV. are eaid to have been murdered,
by order of Richard IIL. (comp. pp. 121, 217); in the Bell Tower
(Pl.4) the Princess Elizabeth was eonfined by her sister Queen
Mary ; Lady Jane Grey is said to have been imprisoned in Brick
Tower (Pl 12); Lord Guildford Dudley, husband of Lady Jane
Girey, was confined, with his father and brothers, in Beauchamp
Tower (P1. 8); in the Bowyer Tower (P1. 11), the Duke of Ola-
rence, brother of Edward IV., is popularly supposed tp have heen
drowned in a butt of malmsey; and Henry VI, was commonly he-
lieved to have been murdered in Record ( Wakefield) Tower ( P1. 16).
The Salt Tower (P1. 15) contains a curious drawing of the zodiae,
by Hugh Draper of Bristol, who was eonfined here in 1561 on a
charge of sorecery. — The Beauchamp Tower, built in 1199-1216,
sonsists of two stories, which are reached by a parrow winding
staircase, The walls of the room on the first floor are covered with
inseriptionie by former prisoners, including these of the Dndley
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family, That of John Dudley, Earl of Warwick, eldest brother of
Lord Guildford Dudley, is on the right side of the fire-place, and
is a well exeeuted family coat-of-arms with the following lines: —

*Yow thst these beasts do wel behnld and se,

May deme with ease wherefore here made they be
Withe borders whersin . . . ..., ..

4 brothers® names who list to serche the grovnd'.

Near the recess in the N.W. corner is the word IAN= (repeated
in the window), supposed to represent the signature of Lady Jane
Grey #s queen, but not inseribed by herself, Above the fire-place
is 2 Latin inscription left by Philip Howard, Earl of Arundel, eldest
son of the Duke of Norfolk who was beheaded in 15673 for aspiring
to the hand of Mary, Queen of Seots. The earliest inseription is
that of Thomas Talbot, 1462. The inscriptions in the upper cham-
ber are less interesting.

At the N.W. corner of the fortress rises the chapel of St. Prren
Ap Vincura (P1. 17; interior not shown), erected by Edward I.
on the site of a still older chureh, re-erected by Edward III.,
altered by Henry VIII., and restored in 1877. Adjoining it is a
small burial-ground.

‘Im truth, there i& no sadder spot on earth than this little cemetary.
Denth is there associated, not, as in Westminster Abbey and 8i. Paul’s,
with gening and virtue, with public veneration and with imperishable
rengwn i not, as in our humhblest churches and churchyards, with every-
thing that is most endearing in social and domestic charities; but with
whatever is darkest in homan nature and in buman destiny, with the
savage triumph of implacable enemies, with the inconstancy, tha ingrat-
itnde, the cowsrdice of friends, with all the miseries of fallen greatness
and of blighted fame’. — Macaulay.

The following celebrated persons are buried in this chapel: Sir
Thomas More, beheaded 153D; Queen Anne Boleyn, beheaded
1686; Thomas Oromwell, Harl of Eggex, beheaded 1540 ; Margaret
Pole, Conntess of Salisbury, beheaded 1544 ; Queen Catharine How-
ard, beheaded 1542 ; Lord Admiral Seymour of Sudeley, beheaded
1549 ; Lord Somerset, the Protector, beheaded 1552 ; John Dudley,
Earl of Warwick and Duke of Northumberland, beheaded 1553 ;
Lady Jane Grey and her husband, Lord Guildford Dudley, beheaded
1504 ; Robert Deverenx, Harl of Essex, beheaded 1601; Sir
Thomag Overbury, poisoned in the Tower in 1643 ; Sir John Eliot,
died ag a prisonerin the Tower 1632 ; James Fitzroy, Duke of Mon-
mouth, beheaded 1685 ; Simon, Lord Fraser of Lovat, beheaded
1747. The exeeutions took place in the Tower itself only in the
cases of Anne Boleyn, Catharine Howard, the Countees of Salisbury,
Lady Jane Grey, and Devereux, Earl of Essex; in all the other in-
stances the prisoners were beheaded at the public place of execution
on Tower Hill (see p. 127),

The list of those who were eonfined for a longer orshorter period
in the Tower comprises a great number of other celebrated persons :
John Baliol, King of Seotland, 1296 ; William Wallace, the Scottish
patriot, 1305 ; David Bruce, King of Seotland, 1347; King John of
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France (taken prisoner at Poitiers, 1307); Duke of Orleans, father
of Louis XII. of Franee, 141D; Lord Uobham, the most distin-
guished of the Lollards (burned as a heretic at St. Giles in the
Fields, 1410); King Henry VI. (who is said to have been murdered
in the Wakefleld Tower by the Duke of Gloucester, 1471); Aune
Askew (tortured in the Tower, and burned in Smithfield as a
heretie, 1546); Archbishop Cranmer, 1553 ; Sir Thomas Wyatt
(beheaded on Tower Hill in 15654); Earl of Southampton, Shak-
speare’s patron, 1562; Sir Walter Raleigh (see p. 123; beheaded
at Westminster in 1618); Earl of Strafford (beheaded 1641);
Arxchbishop Laud (beheaded 1643); Viscount Stafford (beheaded
1680); Lord William Russell (beheaded 1683); Lord Chancellor
Jefireys, 1688 ; Duke of Marlborough, 1692, eto.

On Tower Hill, N.W. of the Tower, formerly stood the scaflold
for the exeention of traitors (see p. 126). William Penn (comp.
p. 128), was born, and Otway, the poet, died on Tower Hill, and
here too Sir Walter Raleigh’'s wife lodged while her unfortunate
hugband languished in the Tower. On the N, side riges Trinity
House, a plain building, erected in 1793 from designs by Wyalt,
the fagade of which is embellished with the arms of the corporation,
medallion portraits of George ITI. and Queen Charlotte, and several
emblems of navigation. This building is the property of ‘The
Master, Wardens, and Assistants of the Guild, Fraternity, or Bro-
therhood , of the most glorious and undividable Trinity’, a com-
pany founded by Sir Thomas Spert in 1515, and incorporated by
Henry VIII. in 1629. The society consists of a Master, Deputy
Master, 31 Elder Brethren, and an unrestricted number of Younger
Brethren, and was founded with a view to the promotion and en-
couragement of Engligh navigation. Its rights and duties, which
have been defined by various acts of parliament, comprise the regu-
lation and management of lighthouses and buoys round the Pritish
coast, and the appointment and lisensing of a body of efficient
pilots, Two elder brethren of Trinity House asaist the Admiralty
in deeiding all cases relating to collisions at sea. Its surplus funds
are devoted to charitable objeets connected with sailors. The in-
terior of Trinity House contains busts of Admirals 8t. Vincent,
Howe, Duncan, and Nelson ; and portraits of James 1. and his con-
gort Anne of Denmark, James II., and Sir Franeis Drake. There
iz also a large pieture of several Elder Brethren, by Gainsborough,
and a small eollection of models. The Duke of York, son of the
Prince of Wales, is the present Master of Trinity House, while the
Prince of Wales himself and Mr. W. E. Gladstone are ‘Elder
Brethren’. The annual income of Trinity House is said to be above
300,000¢.

At the end of Great Tower Street, to the W. of the Tower, is
the churoh of Al Hallows, Barking, founded by the nuns of Barking
Abbey, and containing some fine brasses. Archbishop Laud was
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buried in the graveyard after his execution on Tower Hill (1643),
but his body was afterwards removed to the chapel of St. John's
College, Oxford, of which he was an alumnus. The parish register
records the baptism of William Penn (Oct. 23rd, 164%). The Crar’s
Head, opposite the church, is said to oceupy the site of a tavern
frequented by Peter the Great (see p. 140).

On the 8. side of Great Tower Hill i3 the Tower Bubway, a tunnol
constructed by Barlow in 1870, passing under the Thames, mi leading to
Tooley Sirest (corrupled from BL Olave Bireet) on the r)ifht (Southwark)
bank. This gloomy and unplessant possage consists of an iron tube
400 yds. long and 7 fi. in diameter, originally traversed by a tramway-car,
but now used by pedestrians only. A winding staircase of 98 steps descends
tn it on each side (Y2d.). The subway was made in less than a year, at
a cost of 20,0008

On the E. gide of Tower Hill stands the Royal Mint, erected in
1811, from designs by Johnson and Smirke: on the site of the old
Cistereian Abbey of St. Mary of the Graces (see p.200), and s0 ex-
tensively enlarged in 1881-82 as to be practically anew building. The
Magtership of the Mint (an office abolighed in 186Y) was once held
by Sir Ieaae Newton (1699-1727) and Sir John ¥F. W. Herschel
(1850-55). Permission to visit the Mint is given for a fixed day by
the Deputy-Master of the Mint, on a written application stating
the number and addresses of the intending visitors. The various
processes of coining are extremely interesting, and the machinery
used is of a most ingenions character. In 1832 fourteen improved
presses were introduced, each of which can stamp and mill 120
coing per minute. The cases in the waiting-room contain coins and
commemorative medals, including specimeng of Maundy money, and
gold pieces of 2i. and HI., never brought into general cireulation.
Among the other objects of interest is a skeleton cube, each side
of which is 833/gin, in length, showing the size of a mass of stand-
ard gold worth 1,000,0001,

In 1893 the value of the moig{\: coined at the Mint was 10,780,6231.,
including 6,808,260 scverai;éus; 4,426,625 half-sovereigns; 497,840 erowna;

9,600 Balf-crownss 1,660,403 foring; 7,080,070 shillings, 7,350,819
sixpences; 3,016, 269 threepences; 5,161,737 pence; 7,220,344 hnlf-pence;
and 8,904,820 farthings; besides Manndy money, value 3864, and coloni
money, value 325,668, In 1B84-08 there were coined hers 40,748,181 sov-
m‘eig?a. ET,B?E,i-"A'T,hal{-scvereigna, 20,860,186 half-crowns, 14,566,960 forins,
51,127,560 shillings, ete.; of copper or bronwe coins, most of which were
made by contract at Birmingham, nearly 220,000,000 were issued. The
average annunl value of the evinage issued by the Mint in 1583-92 was
5,’1’1&,?709:. The average profit of the Mint is sbout 111,600, — There are
branches of the Mint ai Melbourne snd Sydney in Australia; and there
are minis also at Caleutta and Bombay.

Immediately below the Tower the Thames is spanned by the
huge *Tower Bridge (Pl. R, 46; III), begun by the Corporation in
1886 and opened on 30th June {1894, This bridge, designed by Sir
Horace Jones and Mr. Wolfe Barry, comprizes a permanent footway,
142 ft. above high-water leval, reached by means of lifts and stairs
in the supporting towers, and a carriage way, 291/a ft. above high-
water, the central span of which (200 ft. long) is fitted with twin

-
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bageules or draw-bridges, which can be raised in 11/s min. for the
passage of large vessels, The basecules and footway are borne by two
massive Gothic towers, rising upon huge plers, which are connected
with the river-banks by permanent spans (270 ft, long), suspended
on massive chains hanging between the central towers and smaller
castellated towers on shore. The substantial framework of the
bridge, including the central towers, which are cased in stone, is
of steel. Including the approaches, the hridge is 1/ M, long, and
has already cost over 4,000,000%., though the 8. approach (to be
made by the County Council) is not yet made.

9. The Port and Docks.

8t, Katherine's Doeks. London Docks. Thames Tunnel. Commerecial
Docks. Regent’s Canal. West and East India Docks. Millwall Docks.
Vietoria and Albert Docks.

One of the most interesting sights of London is the Port,
with its immense warehouses, the centre from which the commerce
of England radiates all over the globe. The Port of London,
in the wider sense, extends from London Bridge to a point 61/, miles
down the river, but as actually oceupied by shipping may be said
to terminate at Deptford, 4 miles from London Bridge. Immediately
below London Bridge begins the Pool (p. 112), which is held to
end at Limehouse Reach. Ships bearing the produce of every nation
under the sun here disgharge their cargoes, which, previous to their
sale, are stored, free of customs, in large bonded warehouses mostly
in the Docks. Below these warehouses, which form small towns
of themselves, and extend in long rows along the banks of the Tha-
mes, are extensive cellars for wine, oil, ete., while above ground
are huge magazines, landing-stages, packing-yards, cranes, and
every kind of apparatus necessary for the loading, unloading, and
custody of goods. The docks are not municipal or public property,
but are owned by various private joint-stock dock-companies.

To the E. of the Tower, and separated from it by a single street,
called Little Tower Hill, are 8t. Katherine’s Docks (P1. R, 46; 1I1),
openedin 1828, and covering anarea 0f24 acres, on which 1250honses
with 11, 300 inhab. formerly stood. The old St. Katherine’s Hogpital
once stood on this gite (comp. p. 244). The engineer was Telford,
and the architect Hardwick. The docks admit vessels of 700 tons.
The warehouses can hold 110,000 tons of goods. Bt. Katherine's
Docks are now under the same management as the London Docks.

St. Katherine’s Steamboat Wharf, adjoining the Docks, is
mainly used ss a landing-stage for steamers from the econtinent.

London Docks (PI. R, 50), lying to the E. of St. Katherine's
Docks, were constructed in 1800 at a cost of 4,000,000¢., and cover
an area of 120 acres. They have four gates on the Thames, and
contain water-room for 300 large vessels, exclusive of lighters. Their

Bagpyxer, London., 9th Edit, 9
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warehouses can store 220,000 tons of goods, and their cellars
70,000 pipes (8,316,000 gallons) of wine. The Tobaceo Dock and
Warchouses (the Queen’'s Warehouse) alone cover an area of O seres
of ground. At times, particulsrly when adverse winds drive vessels
into the Thames, upwards of 3000 men are employed at these
doeks in one day. Every morning at 6 o'elock, there may he seen
waiting at the principal entrsnce a large and motley crowd of
labourers, to which numerous dusky visages and foreign costumes
impart a curious and picturesque air. The capital of the London &
St. Katherine's Docks Co. amounts to 13,000,000f. The doorin
the E. angle of the docks, inseribed ‘To the Kiln', leads to a furnace
in which adulterated tea and tobaceo, spurious gold and silver wares,
and other confiscated goods, are burned. The long chimney is jest-
ingly called the Queen’s Tobaeco Pipe.

Nothing will convey to the stranger a better idea of the vast
activity and stupendous wealth of London than a visit to these
warehouses, filled to overflowing with interminable stores of tea,
coffee, sugar, silk, tobaceo, and other foreign and colonial produets;
to these enormous vaults, with their apparently inexhaustible
quantities of wine; and to these extensive quays and landing-
stages, cumbered with hnge stacks of hides, heaps of bales, and
long rows of casks of every conceivable deseription.

Permisgion to vigit the warehouses and vaults may be obtained
from the secretary of the London Dock Company, at 109 Leaden-
hall Street, I.0. Those who wish to tagte the wines must procure
a tasting-order from a wine-merchant. Ladies are not admitted
after 1 p.m. Visitors should be on their guard agsinst the in-
sidious effects of ‘tasting’, in the heavy, vinous atmosphere.

St George Street, to the N. of the docks, was formerly the noto-
rious Rateliff Highway. Swedenborg (1685-1772) is buried in a
vault beneath the Swedish Church in Prince’s Square (PL R, b1).

To the 8. of the London Doeks, and about 2 M. below London
Bridge, lies the quarter of the metropolis called 'Wapping, from
which the Thames Tunnel leads under the river to Rotherhithe
on the right bank. The tunnel was begun in 1824, on the plans
and under the supervision of Sir Isambard Brunel, and completed
in 1843, after several accidents occasioned by the water bursting
in upon the works. Seven men lost their lives during its con-
struetion. It consists of two parallel arched psssages of magonry,
14 ft. broad, 16 ft. bigh, and 1200 ft. long, and cost 468,000L.
The undertaking paid the Thames Tunnel Company so badly, that
their receipts scarcely defrayed the cost of repairs. The tunnel was
purchased in 1860 by the East London Railway Company for
200,000¢., and is now traversed daily by about 40 trains (terminus
at Liverpool Street Station, p. 32). — A Steam-Ferry (1d.) crosses
the Thames between Wapping and Rotherhithe.

At Rotherhithe (see p. 68), to the E. of the tunuel, are situsted
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the numerons large basins of the Surrey and Commercial Docks
(Bl R, B3, ete.), covering together an ares of abont 350 aeres,
and uhwﬂy used for timber. On the N. bank of the river, to the
I, of Wapping, lie Shadwell and Stepney. At Limehouse, oppo-
gite the Commercial Docks, is the entrance to the Regent'’s Canal,
which runs N. to Victoria Park, then turns to the W., traverses
the N. part of London, and unites with the Paddington Canal,
which forms part of a continngng water-route ss far ag Liverpool.
The West India Docks (Pl. R, 62, ete.}), nearly 300 aeres in area,
lie between Limehouse and Blackwall, to the N, of the fsle of Dogs,
which is formed here by a sudden bend of the river. They can
contain at one time as many as 460 West India merchantmen.
Several of the chief lines of steamers load and discharge their car

goes in these doeks. The three principal hasing are called the
Import Doek, the Export Dock, and the South Dock. Thesmaller East
India Docks (Pl. R, 70, T1) are ot Blackwall, a little lower down.
Bome of the chief lines of sailing-ships use these. The Millwall
Docks, 100 acres in extent (30 water], are in the Isle of Dogs, near
the West India Docks. On the S, bank, opposite the Isle of Dog.,
ligs Deptford, with the Corporation Murket for Foreign Catile. Still
lower down than the Xast India Docks, between Bow Creek, North
Woolwich, and Galleon’s Reach, lie ﬂw magnificent thoris. and
Albert Docks, 29/g M, in length, lighted by electricity and provided
with every convenience and accommodation for sailing vessels and
steamers of the largest size. The steamers of the Peninsnlar and
Oriental, the Anchor, the National, and other important com-
panies, put in at these docks, The Hydraulie Lift, for supporting
vessels when undergoing repair, is worthy of inspection. The
Vietoria Doek Co. has been amalgamated with the London and
St. Katherine’s Pocks Co., which has constructed a special railway,
extending to Galleon's Reach and bringing the docks into direct
connection with the Great Eastern Railway. The East and West In-

dia Dock Co. have built large new docks at Tilbury (p. 344).

A new Tusnel is being moade by the County Council beneath the Thames
at Blackwall, cloge to the Bast India Doeks. The length of the tunnel
Eirupu.r will be 1483 yds., of which 4(d yds, will be under the river, and the
smeter 24 £i., or 0ifs 1. lurger than any other construction of the kind.

10. Bethnal Green Museum, National Portrait
Gallery. Victoria Park.

The Bethnal Green Museum (1, B, 52), a branch of South Ken-
sington Museum, opened in 1872, ocenpies a red brick building in
Vietoria Park Square, Cambridge Road, Bethnal Green. It was
established echiefly for the benefit of the inhabitants of the poorer
East End of London. The only permanent contents are collections
of apecimens of food and of animal and vegetable products, but loan

g
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collactions of varions kinds are also always on view. Admission, see
p. T8 (catalogues on sale). The number of visitors in 1888 was
910,644, and in 1893 it was 691,074, the great superiority in the
former year being due to the temporary exhibition hers of the
(Queen’s Jubiles Presents.

The Musenm may be conveniently resched by an Uld Ford omnibus
from the Bank; by the Metropolitan Eailway to Aldgate, and thence by
a Well Street tramway-car (s red car; fare 24.), which passes the Museum
or by train from Liverpool Street Station to Cambridge Heath (about every
10 min. ; through-booking from Metropolitan stations). In returning we may
traverse Victorin Park to the (20 Min.) Victoria Purk Sistion of the N.
London Railway, whence there are trains every Vs hr. to Broad Street, City.

The space in front of the Museum is adorned with a handsome
majolica *Fountain, by Minton(1862). The interior of the Musenm,
entirely constrneted of iron, congists of a large central hall, sur-
rounded by a double gallery. To the right and left as we enter are
busts of Garibaldi and Cromwell.

The extengive and well-arranged Collection of Articles used for
Food occupies the N. side of the lower gallery. It comprises speci-
mens of various kinds of edibles, models of others, diagrams, draw-
ings, and so forth. On the B. side is the collestion of Animal Pro-
duets, largely consisting of clothing materials (wool, silk, leather, ete.)
at different stages of their manufacture. The area of the central hall
is occupied by a Collection of Works of Ornamental Art in gold, sil-
ver, bronze, and ¢hina, French furniture, ete., lent by Mr. and Mrs.
Massey-Mainwaring and others. On screens round the hall is the
Diron Collection of water-colours and oil-paintings, bequeathed to
the Muegenm in 1885. The former include examples of De Wint,
Cooper, Birket Foster, David Cox, ete.; the latter are less inter-
esting. Here too are exhibited an alto-relievo of Mrs. Siddons
(d. 1831), by Campbell, and a bust of Mrs. Jameson (d. 1860), the
writer on art, by Gibson, both belonging to the National Portrait
Gallery (see below). The flooring of the central hall consists of a
mosaic pavement formed from refuse chippings of marhle, executed
by female convicts in Woking Prison. The N. and 8. basements
are oceupied by a collection of sketehes by Geerge Cruikshank, the
caricaturist, by part of the Dixon Collection, and by various pic-
tures, ete., on loan. In the N, basement is a plain refreshment-room.

The upper gallery, well lighted from the roof, now contains
(until the completion of the new building heside the National
Gallery, see p. 162) the **National Portrait Gallery (formerly
at South Kensington), a highly valuable series of orirginal por-
traits and busts of celebrated natives of Great Britain and Ire-
land. The director of the gallery is Mr. George Seharf, C. B., who
has prepared an excellent eatalogue (1888; 1s.). The pictures are
arranged spproximately in historical sequence, beginning at the
E. end of the 8. Gallery. The outsides of the screens facing the
central hall, however, are hung in both galleries with modern por-
traite. In the E. gallery are two recumbent flgures, electrotype
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casts of the originals in Gloucester Cathedral: on the right, Ed-
ward IL (d, 4327), a good plece of Gothic work; on the left,
Robert, Duke of Normandy, surnamed Curthose, eldest son of
William the Conqueror. Here also are various statues and busts.
In the W. Gallery is a series of electrotypes of English sovereigns,

Beveral painu.nga be.longi.ng to the National Portrait (Gallery are al
present deposited in the National Gallery (see p. 1563).

POoRTRAITS OF THE PraxTAGeNeT Prrrop (1154-1485). The
portraits, executed at a later period, are of little artistic value. The
best i that of Rickard 111, (d. 1483), in the act of putting a ring
on his finger, probably by a Flemish artist. Facsimile of an an-
cient diptyeh representing Richard IL (1366-1400), at the age of
fifteen, kneeling before the Virgin and Child (Arundel Society pub-
lieation)., Portrait of Geoffrey Chaucer (1340-1400). Tracings of
the portraits of Edward II1. and his family on the E. wall of St.
Stephen's Chapel, Westminster (date, 13566), now destroyed.

Portratrs oF THE Tupor Pmrrop (1485-1603). Henry VI
(d. 1509), a work in the upper German style, painted, according
to the Latin inscription, for Hermann Rinck (restored); Cardinal
Wolsey, a crude performance, probably after an Italian original;
several portraits of Henry VIII,, nearly all after Holbein; Queen
Mary L, at the age of 28, before her accession; *Thomas Cranmer,
Archbishop of Canterbury (1489-1556), by Gerbarus Flicius; *8ir
Thomas Gresham (1519-1579), founder of the Royal Exchange,
by 8ir Anthony More, a pupil of Schoreel ; Peter Martyr Vermilius
of Florence (d. 1562), preacher of the Reformation at Oxford, by
Hans Asper of Ziirich; Sir Henry Unton (d. 1596), a curious
work with scenes from his life, by an unknown painter; portraits
of Raleigh, Burleigh, Camden, and George Buchanan; several
portraits of Queen Elisabeth and Mary, Queen of Seots; also the
so-called Frazer-Tytler portrait of the latter, now accepted as Mary
of Lorraine, her mother.

PorTrATTS 0F THE STUART PRRton (1603-1649). Earl of South-
ampton (d. 1624), the friend and patron of Shakspears, by Mierevelt;
oil-portrait of Shakspeare (the Chandos portrait), with an engraving
from the first folio edition of the plays(1623) ; Guy Fawkes and other
conspirators of the Gunpowder Plot, engraving with good portraits
taken from life; Ben Jonson (d. 1637); Children of Charles I.,
early copy of a well-known pioture by Van Dyck; *Endymion
Porter, confidant of Charles I. (1587-1649), by Dobson ; James L,
in the royal robes, by Van Somer; Lord Bacon (1661-1626), by
Van Somer; James VI. of Scotland at the age of eight, by Zuechero;
Elisabeth, Queen of Bohemia (d. 1662), by Mierevelt; Jnigo Jones,
the architeot 6&1573‘1652)‘ by Old Stone, after Van Dyck; W. Dob-
son (1610-1646), a follower of Van Dyck and the first native Eng-
lish portrait-painter of any eminence, by himself; Michael Drayton,
the poet (d. fGS:l); Sir Kenelm Digby (. 1665), by Van Dyck.
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Porrpares of taE CommonweaLTH (1649-1660) Axn T Ruren
or Cmanyes II. (1660-856). Among the best portraits of this perfod
are those of Harrington (d. 1677), the author, by Honthorst; Zho-
mus Hobbes, the philosopher (d. 1679), by J. M. Wright, and
*(ueen Elisubeth of Bohemia (d. 1662), at the age of forty-six, by
Honthorst. The portraits of Nell Givynne, Mary Davis, the actress,
La Belle Homilton, and other beauties by Sir Peter Lely, are in-
ferior in art value to the *Portraits of the Duke of Buckingham
(d. 1687) and the Countess of Shrewsbury by the same artist. Por-
traits of Cromwell, Milton (a painting by Van der Plaas and an
engraving from the life by Faithorne), Cowley, Suekling, Andrew
Mayrvell, Ireton, Monk, and Somuel Butler ave also exhibited here.

Ponruares or Tas wrrens of Jasmes I, Winnran III., Axp
Quesy Axwg (1680-1714). The best portrait in this section is
that of *Sir Christopher Wren, the architect of St. Paul's Cathedral
(1637-1723), by Sir Godfrey Kneller, a pupil of Rembrandt. Among
the ather portraits are the Seven Bishops, Waller, the poet, Locke,
the philosopher, the Duke of' Marlborough, Duchess of Marlborough,
Viseount Torvington (d. 1783), Lord Chancellor Jeffreys, and the
flrst ‘Duke of Bedford (d, 1700), by Kneller. Henry St. John, Vis-
count Bolingbroke, the statesman (1678-17561), by H. Rigand ; Mait.
Prior (1664-1721), the poet, by Rickardson ; Joseph Addison (1672-
1719), two portraits, by Kuneller and Dahl; Sir Isaac Newton (1642-
1727), by Vanderbank; Jonathan Swift (1667-1745), by C. Jexyas.

Aswe approach our own times the portraits become much more
numerous, ‘and it must sulfflea to give here a mere selection of those
most interesting from their subject or treatment.

Porrearrs or tae Blenreents Cuntury. Several portraits of
Cardinal York (1720-1807), including one of him when a child by
*Largillitre ; Charles Edward Stuart (1720-38), the Pretender, por-
traits by Largillidre and Batoni; Simon Fraser, Lord Lovat (p. 126),
by Hogarth; Wm, Hogarth (169T-1764), the painter, by himeelf;
Alexander Pope(1688-1744), in erayons, by Hoare; Pope and Martha
Blount, by Jervas; Bishop Berkeley (1684-1753), by Smibert; Jumes
Thomson (d. 1748), the poet, by Paton; Hindel (d. 1759}, by Hud-
son ; Tsaae Watls (d. 1745), the hymn-writer, by Kneller; * W, Pul-
teney, Earl of Bath (1682-1764), by Reynolds, vigorously handled;
General Wolfe (1726-59), by Highmore; Samuel Richardson
(d. 1761), by Schaak; Peg Waffington (1720-1760), the actress,
painted as she lay in bed paralysed, by A. Pond; Sir Joshua Rey-
nolds (1723-1792), when a young man, by himself; Oliver Gold-
amith (1728-1?74%, by a pipil of Reynolds, a portrait familiar from
numerous engravings; David Garriek (d. 1779), by Pine; Bdmund
Burke (4. 1797), by Reynolds; Sir Wm. Blaekstone (1723-80), the
lawyer, by Reynolds; Witliam, Dulke of Cumberland (4. 17653, by
Reynolds; Sir William Chambers (d. 1796, the architect of Somerset
House, by Reynolds, somewhat pale in tone; Admirval Viscount Kep=
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pel (1727-1782), by Reynolds; Sir William Hamilton (1740-1803),
the diplomatist and antiquary, by Sir Joshua Reynolds, and another
by Allan (1775); Lord Clive (d. 1774), by Dance; Lord Chancellor
Thurlow (1732-1806), by Phillips; William Piit, first Earl of
Chatham (d. 1778), by Brompton; *Charles James Fox (1794-1806),
by Hickel; Queen Charlotte, wiie of (feorge II1., by Allan Ramsay ;
Benjamin Franklin (1706-1790), by Baricolo; George Whitefield (.
1770), by Woolaston; Robert Burns (d. 1796), by Nasmyth, well
known from engravings; Captain Cooke (d.1779), by Webber; two
portraits of Johin Wesley (1703-1791), one by Hone representing him
at the age of 63, the other by Hamilton at the age of 85 ; John Wilkes
(d.1797), drawing by Earlom ; R, B.Sheridan (d. 1316), by Russell.
PorrrATrs or THe Nixgreexta Oextory, Warren Hastings
(1733-1848), by Sir Thomas Lawrence ; Francis Hornen( LTT8-1817),
the politician and essayist, one of the founders of the ‘Edinburgh
Review', by Sir Henry Raeburn ; *James Watt (1736-1819), by C. J.
de Breda; Sir Walter Seott (d. 1832), by Groham Gilbert; Scott,
in his study at Abbotsford, with his deerhound Maida, by Sir Wm.
Allan, the last portrait he sat for; another by Landseer; Lord Byron
d. 1824), in Greek costume, by T. Phillips; Sir Wiiliam Herschel
1788-1822), by Abbott; J. Flarman (4. 1826), by Romney; W.
Witberforee, the philanthropist (d. 1833), by Sir T. Lawrence (un-
finished) ; Joln Keats (d. 1821), by Hilton, and another by Severn';
John Philip Kemble (1757-1826), the tragedian, as Hamlet, by
Sir Thos. Lawrence; 8. T. Coleridge (d. 1534), by Allston ; Emma,
Lady Hamilton (4. 1815), by Romney; Sir Philip Franeis (d.
1818; supposed anthor of the ‘Letters of Junius’), by Lonsdale;
Sir James Maekintosh (d. 1832), by Lawrence; Wm, Blake (d. 1827),
the poet and painter, by Phillips. Dr. Jenner (d. 1823), the discoy-
erer of the protective properties of vaccination, by Northeoto; in
front lies his work, ‘On the Origin of Vaccine Inoculation’ (1801),
with a cow's hoof as letter-weight. Lord Nelson (d. 1805), by L. J.
Abbott and H, Fiiger of Vienna (two portraits) ; *Jeremy Bentham,
the economist and political writer gd. 1832), by T. Frye and H. W.
Pickeregilly George Stephenson (1781-1848), the first to apply the
locomotive engine to railway trains, and constrnetor of the first
railway (from Manchester to Liverpool), opened in 1830; Kev. Ed.
Irving (1792-1834), fonnder of the Irvingite or Catholic Apostolic
Ohureh, drawing by Slater; Chas. Lamb (4. 1834), by Hazlitt;
Thos. Camphell (d. 1844), by Lawrence; Mrs. Siddons (d. 1831),
by Lawrence, and snother by Beechey; James Hogg, the ‘Ettrick
Shepherd’ (d. 1833), by Denning; Sir David Wilkie (d. 1841), by
himself; Benjomin West (d. 1820), by Stuart; Leigh Hunt (d.
1809), by Haydon; Admiral Sir John Ross (1777-1856), the arctie
navigator, by J. Green; William Wordsworth (1770-1800), by H.
W. Pickersgill; Samuel Rogers, the poet (1762-18560), charcoal
drawing by Sir T. Lawrence; (Queen Vietoria, after Angeli; the
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late Prince Consort (d. 1861), by Winterhalter; Professor Wilson
‘Christopher North; d. 1854), by Gordon; Rev. F. D. Maurice (d.
B72), by Hayward ; *Thomas de Quincey (1785-1859), by Sir John
Watson Gordon; Cobden (d. 1867), by Dickinson ; John Gibson the
seulptor (1791-1861), by Mrs. Carpenter; M. Faraday (d. 1867), by
Phillips; Charles Dickens(d. 1870), by Ary Schefler; Lord Macaulay
(d. 1859), sketeh by Grant; W. 8. Landor (d. 1864), by Fisher;
Douglas Jerrold (d. 1857), by Macnee ; W. M. Thackeray (d. 1863),
by Lawrence ; Daniel Maclise (d. 1870), by Ward ; E. B, Browning,
the poetess (d. 1861), a chalk drawing by Talfourd ; Geo. Grote, the
historian of Greece (1794-1871), by Stewardson; George Eliot (Mrs.
Cross; d. 4880), by Sir F. Burton ; Sarah Austin, the novelist; Da-
niel O'Connell (d. 184T), by Mulrennin ; Sir Fr. Chantrey (d. 1841),
by himself; Lord Stratford de Redeliffe (1788-1880), by G. F. Watts;
Adelaide Procter (1820-1864), by Mrs. Gaggiotti Richards; Robert
Owen, the socialist (d. 1868); Johin Bright (d. 1889), hy W.W. Ouless,
At the E. end of the N. Gallery are the following large pie-
tures: The First House of Commons after the Reform Bill of 1832,
with 320 portraits, by Hayter (key below); Convention of the Anti-
Stavery Society in 1840, by Haydon, with portraits of Olarkson,
Fowell Buxton, Gurney, Lady Byron, etc. In the B. gallery is a
photograph of the House of Commons in 1793, from the original
picture by Anton Hickel, now in the National Gallery (p. 1563).
Among the most interesting of the busts and statues inter-
gpersed among the pietures are the following. Sitting figure of
Francis Bacon, Baron Verulam (1061-1626); bronze busts of
Charles I. and Oliver Cromuwell ; terracotta *Bust of Thomas Carlyle
‘(31796-1881), by Boehm; a small marble bust of Thackeray (1811~
3), by Barnard; an electrotype mask of Keats, from a mould taken
during life; sitting statuette of the Earl of Beaconsfield (1804-1881),
by Lord Ronald Gower; busts of W. Hogarth (1697-1764), by Rou-
biliae; Thackeray, by Durham; Charles James Foz (1749-1806),
by Nollekens; John Hampden (1094-1643); Garriek (1716-1779);
William Pitt (17569-1806), by Nollekens; Lord George Bentinck
(1802-1848), by Campbell ; Thomas Moore (d. 1852), by O. Moore;
Lord Jeffrey (4. 1850), by Park; Porson (1759-1808), by Ganga-
relli; Dr. Thomas Arnold (1795-1842), by Behnes; John Wesley
(1703-4791); Lord Chancellor Eldon (1751-1838), by Tatham; Sir
Thos. Lawrence (d. 183[‘?, by Baily ; Wim, Etty (d. 1849), by Noble;
Benjamin West (d. 1820), by Chantrey; Sam. Lover (d. 1868), by
Foley; George Stephenson (d. 1848), by Pitts ; John Rennie(d. 1821),
the engineer, by Chantrey ; Chas. Knight (d.1873), by Durham ; Sir
Robert Peel (d. 1850), by Noble; Cobden (d. 1865), by Woolner;
and Lord John Russell (d. 1878), by Francis. — The glass-cases
contain interesting Autographs, Miniatures, Medals, ste.
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The large building in Green Street, to the S. of the Museum, is
a Lunatic Asylum, — From Old Ford Road, which diverges to the
E. immediately to the N. of the Musenm, Approach Road, in which
is the City of London Consumption Hospital, leads to the N.E. to
Victoria Park (Pl. B, 05, b8, 09). This park, covering 290 acres
of ground, laid out at a cost of 130,000L., forms a place of recrea-
tion for the poorer (E.) guarters of London. The eastern and
larger portion is unplanted, and is used for cricket and other games.
The W. side is prettily laid out with walks, beds of flowers, and
two sheets of water, on which swans may be seen disporting them-
selves, and pleasure boats hired. Near the centre of the park is the
Vietoria Fountain, in the form of a Gothic temple, erected by Baro-
ness Burdett Coutts (comp. p. 26) in 1862. The park also sontains
open air gymnasinms. The most characteristic times to see Victoria
Park are on Sat. or Sun. evenings or on a public holiday. On the
N.W. side of the park, near Hackney Common, is the large and
handsome Hospice for the Descendants of French Protestants. —
Victoria Park is most easily reached by the North London Railway;
trains start from Broad Street Station, City (p. 33), every /g hr.,
and reach Vietoria Park Station, at the N.E. extremity of the park,
in 19 min. (fares 6d., 4d., 3d. ; return-tickets 9d., 6d., bd.); stations
Shorediteh, Haggerston, Dalston, Hackney, Homerlon, Victoria Park.
Beyond Victoria Park the train proceeds to Old Ford, Bow, South
Bromley, Poplar, and Blackwall (p. 131).

11. Fleet Street. The Temple. Chancery Lane.
Royal Courts of Justice.

St. Bride's. Church of 8t. Dunstan in the West. New Record Office.
Temple Church. Lincoln’s Inn. Gray's Inn. Temple Bar.

Fleet 8treet (Pl R, 30; II), one of the busiest streets in London,
leads from Ludgate Circus to the Strand and the West End. It derives
its name from the Fleet Brook, which, now in the form of a main
sewer, flows throngh Holborn Valley (p. 94) and under Farringdon
Street, reaching the Thames at Blackfriars Bridge. On the E. side
of the brook formerly gtood the notorious Fleet Prison for debtors,
which was removed in 1844, Prisoners condemned by the Star Cham-~
ber were once confined here, and within its precinets were formerly
celebrated the clandestine ‘Fleet marriages’ (see ‘The Fleet: its
River, Prison, and Marriages’, by John Ashton; 1888). Its site (in
Farringdon Street, on the right) is now occupied by the handsome
Gothie Congregational Memorial Hall, begun in 1862, and so named
in memory of the 2000 ministers ejected from the Church of England
by Charles I1.'s Aet of Uniformity, 1667. The site of the Hall cost
nearly 30,000i., and the total amount expended on land and build-
ing has been 95,460:.
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Fleet Street itsell contains few objects of external interest,
though many literary associations cluster ronnd its conrts and
bywnys. It is still celebrated for its newspaper and other printing
and publishing offices. To the left, but not visible from the street
(entrance in St. Bride's Passage, adjoining the offlee of Punch)
is Bt. Bride’s, a church built by Wren in 1703, with a hand-
some tower 223 ft. in height. In the central aisle ig the grave of
Richardson, the author of *Clarissa Harlowe' (d. 1761), who lived
in Salisbury Square in the neighbourhood. The old charch of
St. Bride, destroyed in the Iire, was the burial-place of Sackville
(1608), Lovelace (1658), and the printer Wynkin de Worde, In
a house in the adjacent churchyard Milton onee lived for several
years, Shoe Lane, nearly opposite the church, leads to Holborn; while
a little farther on, on the same side, are Balt Court, where Dr, John-
son spent the last years of his life (1776-84), and where Cobbett
afterwards toiled and fumed ; Wine Office Court, in which iz gtill the
famous old hostelry of the Cheshire Cheese, where Johnson (whose
chair is shown here) and Goldsmith so often dined, and Boswell 5o
often listened and took notes; Gough Square, at the top of the Court
(to the left), where Johnson laboured over his Dictionary and other
works (house marked by o tablet) ; and Crane Court, once the home
ot the Royal Society, ita president being Sir Isase Newton, and now
the seat of the Seottish Corporation, whose ancient Hall, burnt
down in 1877, is replaced by a modern erection of 1879-80, On the
other side is Bouyerie Street, leading to what was once the lawless
Alsatia, immortalised by Seott in the ‘Fortunes of Nigel'. In the be-
ginning of 1888 a part of the ancient monastery of Whitefriars was
diseovered in thisstreet, includinga fragment of a stone towerof great
thickness and strength. Fetter Lane (p. 139), and Chancery Lane
(p. 189) farther to the W., on the N. side, also lead to Holborn. At
the eorner of Chancery Lane is a handsome Branch of the Bank of
England. Izaak Walton, the famous angler, once occupied a shop as
a hosier (1624-43; comp. p. 139) on this site. Close to it is a quaint
old house with bow windows (No, 184), onve oceupied by Drayton,
the poet (d. 1631). Between Fetter Lane and Chancery Lane rises
the church of 8t. Dunstan in the West, erected by Shaw in 1833,
with a fine Gothie tower. Over the E. door is a statne of Queen Iiliza-
beth from the old Lud-Gate, once a city-gate at the foot of Ludgate
Hill. The old elock of St. Dunstan had two wooden giants to strike
the hours, which still perform that office at St. Dunstan's Villa, Re-
gent's Park (p. 237). Near St. Dunatan's Church, at No. 183 Fleet
Street, was Cobbett’s book-ghop and publighing office, whers he is-
sued his ‘Political Register'; and on the opposite side, now No. b6,
was the housge of William Hone, the free-thinking publisher of the
‘Every-day Book’. Opposite Fetter Lana is Mitre Court, with the
tavern onee frequented by Johnson, Goldsmith, and Boswell.
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Ferrer Laxa (P, R, 85, 36 I7) is said to derive its name from
the ‘faitours’ or beggars that once infested it. To the left, a few
yards from Fleet Street, is an entrance to Clijford’s Inn. Farther on
is the New Record Office (Pl. R, 30 II), for the custody of legal
records and _state papers, a fire-proof edifice in the Tudor style,
erected in 1851-66 by Sir J. Pennethorne. A latge addition (to be
finished in 1895) is at present being erected with a fagade towards
Chancery Lane. The necessary works have mueh altered this qnarter
of legal London,

The interior confaina 142 rooms, hetwean the rows of which on each
floor run narrow passages paved with briek, Each room or compartment
is about 25 ft, long, 17 ft. broad, and 153/ ft, high. The fogr, door-poste,
window-frames, and ceilings are of iron, and the ghelves of slate, 8inge
the eompletion of the strugfure, the state papers, formerly kept in the
8tate Paper Offlce, the Tower, the Chapter House of Westminster Abbay,
the lplls Chapel in I’.‘.hnnocrg Lane, at Carlton House, and in the State
Paper Office in 81, James's Park, have been deposited heére. Here, too.
aré proserved the Domesday Boek, in two purchiment volomes of ﬂiﬂ'ﬁmn%
sizes, contnining the results of a atatistion] survey of England made in
1086 by order of William (he Congueror; the deed of resignation of the
Heottish throne by David Bruce in favour of Edward IL ; & charter granted
by Alphonzo of Casfile on the marriage of Edwnrd I. with Eleanor of
Castiley the treaty of pence betwoen Henry VIIL and Francis L., with a
gold seal said to be the work of Benyenuto Cellini; warious deeds of
surrender of monasteries in England and Walea In favour of Henry VIIL,
and on innumerable quantity of othep records, The business hours are
from. 10 p.m. to 4 p.m, (on Sat, 2 p.m.), during which the Search Rooms
are open to the public. Deeuments down to 1760 may he inspected gratis;
the charge for cnpyiq? is Bd.-1s. (according to date) per folio of 72 words,
the minimum charge being 2s.

The Moravian Chapel, opposite the Record Office, esoaped the
great dive in 1660, In Tleur-de-Lis Court, ofi Fetter Lane, is New-
ton Hull, the mesting-place of the Positivists under Mr. F'rederic
Harrison (meetings on Sun. at 7.30 p.m.). In Breams Buildings,
which runs from Fetter Lane to Chancery Lane, is tho Birkbeck Liter-
ary and Secientific Institute, a kind of evening college.

Chancery Lane (Pl. R, 32,31, 30; II) leads through the quarter
chiefly ocenpiad by barristers and solicitors, Izaak Walton oceupied
a shop on the right mear Orown Court, after removing from Fleet
Street (p.138). On the vight is Serjeants’ Inn opening into Clifford’s
Inn(p. 140), Farther up are the new buildings of the Becord Office
(p. 139), on the site of the Rolls Buildings. The former Court of
the Master of the Rolls has been taken down, but the Master's former
residence and the Rolls Chapel are preserveld. In the latter (service
on Sun, at 11 aum,) is a remarkably flne monument to Dr, John
Young, Master of the Rolls, by Torregiano (1516). Visitors on week-
days apply to the policeman at the entrance from Chancery Lane. To
the barristers belong the four great Inns of Court, viz. the Temple
{Inner and Middle) on the 8. of Fleet Street (see p. 141), Lincoln’s
Inn in Chaneery Lane, and Gray's Inn in Holborn., These Inns are
oolleges for thestudy of law, and possess the privilege of calling to the
Bar. Each iz governed by its older members, who are termed Benchers,
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Formerly subsidiary to the four Imns of Court were the nine Inns o{
Chancery, which now, however, have little beyond local connesiion wit

them, and are let out in ehambers to solicitors, barristers, and the gen-
eral public. Thege are CHford's fnn, Clement's Inn, and Lyon's Inn (now
the site of the Globe Theatre), attached to the Inner Temple; New Jun
and Strand Inn, to the Middle Temple; Furnival's fon and Thavies Inn,
to Linc¢oln's Inn; Staple fan nnd Barnard's Ian (p. 90), to Gray's Inn.
Serjeanis’ inn, Chancsry Lane, was originally set apart for the use of the
gerjeants-at-law, whose name is derived from the ‘fratres servientes' of the
old Enights Templar; bui the building is now used for other purposes.

Lincoln's Inn (P1. R, 31, 32; II), the third of the Inns of Court
in importance, is sitnated without the City, on a site once occupied
by the mansion of the Earl of Linecoln and other houses. The
Gatehouse in Chancery Lane was built in 15618 by Sir Thomas
Lovell, whose coat-of-arms it bears, Ben Jonson is said to have been
employed as a bricklayer in constructing the adjacent wall about
a ecentury later (1617); but the fruth of this tradition may well
be doubted, since in 1617 Jonson was 44 years old and had written
some of his best plays. The Chapel was erected by Inigo Jones in
1621-23, and contains good wood-carving and stained glass. Like
the Round Chureh of the Temple, this chapel was once used as a
consultation room by the barristers and their clients.

The New Huall, the handsome dining-hall of Lincoln’s Inn, in
the Tudor style, was completed in 1845 under the supervision of
Mr. Hardwick, the architect. It conteins a painting by Hogarth,
representing Paunl before Felix, a large fresco of the School of Legis-
lation, by G. F. Watis (1860), and a statue of Lord Eldon, by West-
maeott, The Library, fonnded in 1497, is the oldestin London, and
contains 25,000 vols. and numerous valuable MSS.; most of the
latter were bequeathed by Sir Matthew Hale, a member of the Inn.
Among its most prized econtents is the fourth volume of Prynne's
Records, for which the society gave 3351 — The revenue of this inn
amounts to 35,529, Sir Thomas More, Shaftesbury, Selden, Oliver
Cromwell, William Pitt, Lord Erskine, Lord Mansfield, and Lord
Brougham were once numbered among its members. Thurloe, Orom-
well's secretary, had chambers at No. 24 Old Square (to the left,
on the gronnd-floor) in 1645-59, and the Thurloe papers were after-
wards discovered here in the false ceiling. Among the preachers of
Lincoln’s Inn were Usher, Tillotson, Heber, and Frederick Denison
Maurice. — The Court of Chancery, or, more correcily, under the
Judicature Act of 1873, the ‘Equity Division of the High Court
of Justice', formerly held some of its sittings in Lincoln's Inn. Lin-
eoln’s Inn Fields, see p. 183.

Chancery Lane ends at Holborn, at a point a liftle to the N. of
which is Gray’s Inn (PL R, 32; /7)), which formerly paid a ground-
rent to the Lords Gray of Wilton and has existed as a school of law
since 1371, The Elizabethan Hall, built about 1560, contains fine
wood-earying, During the 17th cent. the garden, in which a number
of trees were planted by Lord Baeon, was & fashionable promenade;
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but it is not now open to the publie. The name of Lord Bacon is
the most eminent among those of former members of Gray's Inm.,
Comp. ‘Chronicles of an Old Inn', by Andrée Hope. — Gray’s Inn
Road, an important but unattractive thoronghfare to the E. of Gray's
Inn, runs to the N., passing the Royal Free Hospital, {rom Holborn
to Euston Road (King's Cross Station, p. 32).

The Temple (PL R, 36; IT), on the 8. side of Fleet Street,
formerly a lodge of the Knights Templar, — a religious and mili-
tary order founded at Jerusalem, in the 12th century, under
Baldwin, King of Jerusalem, to protect the Holy Sepulehre, and
pilgrims resorting thither, and called Templars from their original
designation as ‘poor soldiers of the Temple of Solomon’ — became
erown-property on the dissolution of the order in 1343, and was
presented by Edward II. to Aymer de Valence, Earl of Pembroke.
After Pembroke's death the Temple came into the possession of the
Knights of St. John, who, in 1346, leased it to the students of
common law. From that time to the present day the building, or
rather group of buildings, which extends down to the Thames, has
continued to be a gchool of law. Down to the reign of James 1, it
had to pay a tax to the Crown, but in 1609 it was declared by
royal deeree the free, hereditary property of the corporations ot the
Inner and the Middle Temple. The revenue of the Inner Temple
amounnts to 25,6761, , that of the Middle Temple to 12,2401

The Inner Temple is 8o called from its position within the
precinets of the City; the Middle Temple derives its name from
its situation between the Inner and the Outer Temple, the last of
which was afterwards replaced by Exeter Buildings. The name Outer
Temple is now appropriated by a handsome block of offices and
chambers directly opposite the new Law Courts (p. 144), Middle
Temple Lane separates the Inner Temple on the east from the Middle
Temple on the west. The Inner and the Middle Temple posgess in
ecommon the *Temple Church, or 81, Mary’s Church, situated within
the bounds of the Inner Temple, Adm., see p. 75; visitors knock
at the door; if the verger is not in the ehureh, the keys may be ob-
tained at the porter's lodge, at the top of Inner Temple Lane.

This ¢hurch is divided into two sections, the Round Church and
the Chpir. The Round Chureh, sbout 58 ft. in diameter, a Norman
edifice with a tendency to the transition style, and admirably en-
riched, was completed in 1185, The choir, in the Early English
style, was added in 1240. During the Protectorate the eeiling-
paintings were white-washed ; and the old ¢hurch afterwarde became
o dilapidated, that it was necessary in 1839-42 to subject it to a
thorough restoration, a work which cost no less than 70,000f. The
lawyers used formerly to receive their clients in the Round Chureh,
each occupying his particular post like merchants ‘on change'. Thg
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incumbent of the Temple Church is called the Master of the
Temple, an office once filled by the ‘jndicious Hooker', a bust of
whom is placed in the 5.E. corner of the choir.

A handsome Norman archway leade into the interior, which is
a few steps below the level of the entrance. The choir, at the end
of which are the altar and stalls (during divine service open to
members of the Temple ecorporations and their families only), and
the Round Church (to which the public is admitted) are both
borne by quadrangular elustered pillars in marble. The ceiling is
a fine exapmle of Gothic decorative painting, carefully restored
on the originul lines. The pavement consists of tiles, in which
the lamb with the cross (the Agnus Dei), the heraldic emblem
of the Templars, and the Pegasus, the arms of the Inner and
Middle Temple respectively, continually recur. Most of the stained-
glass windows are modern. In the Round Chureh are nine ¥ Monu-
ments of Templurs of the 12th and 13th centuries, consisting
of recumbent figures of dark marble in full armour, One of the
four on the S, side, under whose pillow is a slab with foliage
in relief, is said to be that of William Marghal, Earl of Pembroke
(d. 1‘21&], brother-in-law of King John, who filled the office of
Regent during the minority of Henry 111, The detached monument
on the 8. wall, resembling the other eight, is that of Robert de Ross
(d. 1227), one of the Barons to whom England owes the Magna
Charta (p. 193). The monuments are beautifully exeented, but owe
their fresh appearance to a ‘restoration’ by Richardson in 1842, In
a recess to the left of the altar is a black marble slab In memory of
Joln Selden (d, 1664), ‘the great dictator of learning to the English
nation'; and to the right of the allar is a fine recumbent effigy of a
mitred ecclesiastie, discovered in the wall of the church during the
regtoration in 1840. The triforinm, which encircles the Round
Church, contains some uninteresting old monuments, but is not
ugw open to the public. On the stair leading to it is a small peni-
tential cell, prisoners in which could hear the service in the church
by means of slits in the wall,

Oliver Goldsmith (d. 1774), author of the *Viear of Wakefield’,
is buried in the Churchyard to the N. of the choir. — See ‘The
Temple Church and Chapel of St. Anu', by H. T. Baylis, Q. C.
(London, 1893).

The Temple Gardens, once immediately adjacent to the Thames,
hut now separated from it by the Vietoria Embankment, are
open to the public on days and hours determined from time to time
by the Benchers (ascertainable by enguiry at the gates or lodges).
The gardens are well kept, but are becoming more and more cir-
enmseribed by the erection of new buildings. Here, aceording
to Shakspeare, were plucked the white and red roses which were
assumed as the badges of the honses of York and Lancaster, in the
long and bloody eivil eontest, known as the ‘Wars of the Roses.
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Plantagenel, Great lords, and genilemen, what menns this silence?
) Dare no man answer in a case of trath?
Sufrolk. Within the Temple hall we were too loud:
The garden here i8 more convenient.

Plantagenel, Sineo yr‘m are t:)ng.ne_.—ﬁéd ‘and g0 loath to speal,
In dumb signiflcants prodlaim your thoughts:
Let bim thut is a frue-born gentleman,
And stands upon the honour of his birth,
I he supposé thiat I have pleaded truth,
From off this brier pluck s white rose with me.
Somerset. Let him that is no coward, nor no flatterer,
But dare maintain the party of the truth,
Pluck o red rose from off this thorn with me,
Warwiet, "7 " 'Thigbrawl to-day,
Grown to this faction in the Temple Garden, |
Shall gend, between the red rose and the whate,
A thousond sounls to death and deadly night.
Henry VI, Part I; Act 1. Se. 4,

The Temple Gardens are famous for their Chrysanthemums, a
brilliant show of which is held in Novemiber. The figure of a Moor
(Italian ; 17th or 18th cent.), bearing a sun-dial was brought hither
from the garden of St. Clement's Inn.

The fine Gothic *Haxxy of the Middle Temple, built in 1572, and
uged as a dining-room, is notable for its handsome open-work ceiling
in old oak. The walls are embellished with the armorial bearings of
the Knights Templar, and five large full-length portraits of princes,
ineluding an equestrian portrait of Charles I. The large windows
contain the arms of members of the Temple who have gat in the
House of Peers. Shakspeare’s “Twelfth Night' was acted in this hall
during the dramatist's lifetime (Feb. 2nd, 1601-2), — The Library
(30,000 vols.) is preserved in a modern Gothie building on the side
next the Thames, which contains a hall 85 1t. long and 62 ft. high.
— The new Inner Temple Hull, opened in 1870, is a handsome
structure, also possessing s fine open-work roof. — Oliver Gold-
smith lived and died on the second floor of 2 Brick Court, Middle
Temple Lane; Blackstone, the famous commentator on the law
of England, lived in the rooms below him ; and Dr. Johnson oeen-
pied apartments in Inner Temple Lane, in a house now taken down.

At the W, end of Fleet Street rises the Temple Bar Memorial,
with stutnes of the Queen and the Prince of Wales at the sides and
sarmounted by the City Griffin and arms. This was erected in 1880
to mark the site of Temple Bar, a gateway formerly adjoining the
Temple, between Fleet Street and the Strand, built by Wren in 1670,
Tts W. side was adorned with tatues of Oharles I, and Charles IT., its
E, side with statues of Anne of Denmark and James L The heads of
oriminals used fo be barbarously exhibited on iron spikes on the top
of the gate. When the reigning sovereizn visited the City on state
occasions, he was wont, in accordance with an ancient custom, to
obtain permission from the Lord Mayor to pass Temple Bar, The heavy
wooden gates were afterwards removed to relieve the Bar of their
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weight, as it had shown signs of weakness; and the whole erection
was finally demolished early in 1878, to permit of the widening
of the street and to facilitate the enormous traffie. In Dec., 1888,
the gate was re-erected near one of the entrances of Theobalds Park,
Waltham Oross, Herts, the seat of Sir H. B. Meux (see p. 338).

Adjoining the site of Temple Bar, on the 8. side of Fleet Street, stands
the large, new building of Child's Bank, which was in high repute in the
time of the Stuarts, and is the oldest banking house in London but one
Dryden, Pepys, Nell Gwynne, and Prince Rupert were early customers of
this bank. The Child family is still connected with the business, Next
door to this house was the ‘Devil’s Tavern', noted as the home of the
Apollo Club, of which Ben Jonson, Randolph, and Dr. Kenrick were
frequenters. The tavern was in time absorbed by Child’s Bank, which
also used the room over the main arch of Temple Bar as a storshouse.

Immediately to the E. of Temple Bar, on the N. side of the
Strand (p. 145), rise the Royal Courts of Justice, a vast and
magnificent Gothic pile, forming a whole block of buildings, with
a frontage towards the Strand of about 500 ft. The architect was
Mr. G. E. Street, who unfortunately died shortly before the com-
pletion of his great work; a statue of him, by Armstead, has heen
placed on the E. side of the central hall. The Courts were formally
opened on Dec. 4th, 1882, by Queen Victoria, in presence of the
Lord Chancellor, the Prime Minister, and the other chief dignitaries
of the realm. The building cost about 760,000L and the site about
1,450,0002. The principal internal featnre is the large central hall,
238 ft. long, 48 ft. wide, snd 80 £t. high, with a fine mosaic flooring
designed by Mr. Street. The building contains in all 19 court-
rooms and about 1100 apartments of all kinds. When the courts
are sitfing, the general public are admitted to the galleries only,
the central hall and the court-rooms being reserved for members
of the Bar and persons connected with the cases. During the
vacation the ecentral hall is open to the publie from 11 to 3, and
tickets of admission to the conrts may be obtained gratis at the
superintendent's office.

For about a century and a half after the Norman Conquest, the
royal court of justice followed the King from place to place; bui ome
of the articles of Magna Charta provided that the Common Pleas, or that
branch of the court in which disputes between subjects were settled,
ghould be fixed at Westminster., The Court of King's Bench seems to
have been alap held here from the time of Henmry III. The Court of
Chancery sat regu]nr!g in Westminster Hall from about the reign of
Henry VIII., but'was afterwards removed to Lincoln's Inn., This separation
of common law and equity proved very inconvenient to the attorneys
and others, and the Woestminater courts became much too small for the
business carried on in them. It was accordingly resolved fo build a
large new palace of jusiice to receive all the superior courls, and the
gite of the present Law Courts was fixed upon in 1867. The work of
building actually began in 1874. The Judicature Act of 1873 obliterated
the distinction between common law and equity, and united all the
superior tribunals of the country into & Supreme Court of Judicature,
subdivided into & court of original jurisdiction (the High Court of Justice)
and a court of appellate jurisdiction (the Court of Appeal).



II. THE WEST END.

12. Strand. Somerset House. Waterloo Bridge.

8t. Clement Danes. The Roman Bath. King's College. 8t. Mary
le Strand. Savoy Chapel, Savoy Palace. Society of Arts. National
Life Boat Institution. Eleanor's Cross,

The Strand (Pl. R, 26, 31, and II'; so named from its skirting
the bank of the river, which is now concealed by the buildings), a
broad street containing many handsome shops, is the great artery
of traffic between the City and the West End, and one of the busiest
and most important thoronghfares in London. It was unpaved
down to 1532, and sbout this time it was described as ‘full of pits
and sloughs, very perilous and noisome'. At this period many of
the mansions of the nobility and hierarehy stood here, with gardens
stretching down to the Thames (comp.p. 115). The names of several
streets and houses still recall these days of bygone magnificence, but
the palaces themselyes have long since disappeared or been converted
to more plebeian nses. Ivy BridgeLane and Strand Bridge Lane com-
memorate the site of bridges over two water-courses that flowed into
the Thames here, and there was a third bridge farther to the E. The
Strand contains a great many newspaper offices and theatres.

Just beyond the site of Temple Bar (p. 143), to which its name
will doubtless long attach, on the (N.) right, rise the new Law
Courts (p. 144). The church of Bt. Clement Danes, in the centre
of the Strand, was erected in 1688 from designs by Wren. The
tower, 115 ft. in height, was added by Gibbs in 1719, Dr. John-
son msed to worship in this chureh, a fact recorded by a tablet on
the back of the pew. The church is said to bear its name from
being the burial-place of Harold Harefoot and other Danes. Wych
Street, in which the Olympie Theatre (p. 41)is situated, leads from
this point to Drury Lane. At the entrance of this street is Clement's
Inn (p. 140), now connected with the Temple, and named after St.
Clement’s Well, once situated here, but removed in 1874. — In
Neweastle Street, a little to the N., is the Globe Theatre (p. 41).

Essex Street, Arundel Street, Novfolk Sireet, and Surrey Street,
diverging to the left, mark the spots where stood the mansions of
‘the Earls of Essex (Queen Elizabeth's favourite), Arundel, and
Surrey (Norfolk) respectively; and they all lead to the Thames
Embankment. Peter the Great regided in Norfolk Street during his
vigit to London in 1698, and William Penn once lived at No. 21 in
the same gtreet, George Sale (1680-1736), the translator of the

Baepgkeg, London. Oth Edit, 10
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Koran, as well as Congreve (d. 1729), the dramatist, lived and
died in Surrey Street. Beyond Burrey Street, on the left, is the
Strand Theatre [p 40), nearly opposite which is the Opéra Comique
(p- 41). At No. 5 Strand Lane, the nartow opening to the left
of the Strand Theatre, is an ancient Roman Bath, about 13 ft.
long, 6 ft. broad, and 4!/y ft. deep, one of the few relics of the
Roman period in London. The bricks at the side are laid edge-
wise, and the flooring econsists of brick with a thin coating of
stugeo. At the point where the water, which flows from a natural
spring, has washed away part of the stuecco covering, the old pave-
ment below is visible. The clear, eold water probably flows from the
old “Holy Well', sitnated on the N. side of the Strand, and lending
its name to Holywell Street (behind the Opéra Comigue), which
is chiefly oceupied by book-shops of a low class, The Roman an-
tiquities found here are preserved in the British Museum (p. 268).
Close by, on the right of the passage, is another bath, said to have
been built by the Earl of Essex about 1588; it is supplied by a
pipe from the Roman bath. At No. 36 Holywall Street is a survivor
of the ancient signs with which every shop in London used to be
provided (a crescent moon with a face in the centre). To the N. of
Holywell Street i Wyeh Street, with an entrance to New Inn (p. 140)
and the Olympic Theaire (p. 41).

King’s College, the large pile of huildings adjoining Strand
Lane on the W., built by Smirke in 1828, forms the E. wing of
Somerset House (gee below). It includes a Sehiool for boys as well
a8 a College with departments for theology, literature, medicine, ste.
The Museum contains a collection of models and instroments, in-
cluding Babbage's calenlating machine.

In the Strand we next reach, on the N. gide, the ehurch of
Bt. Mary le Btrand, built by Gibbs in 1717, on the spot where
stood in olden times the notorions Maypole, the May-day and Sun-
day delight of youthful and other idlers. It was called St. Mary's
after an earlier church which had been demolished by Protector
Somerset to make room for his mansion of Old Somerset House
(see below). Thomas Becket was rector of this parish in the reign
of King Stephen. — Drury Lane, a street mueh in need of im-
provement, and containing the theatre of the same name (p. 40),
leads N. from this point to Oxford Street and the British Museum.

Farther on, on the 8. side of the Strand, rises the stately fagade
of Bomerset House (P1. R, 31 ; 17), 160 ft. in length. The present
large, quadrangular building was erected by Sir William Chambers
in 1776-86, on the site of a palace which the Protector Somerset
began to build in 1549. The Protector, however, was beheaded
(p. 126)) before it was completed; and the palace fell to the Crown.
1t was afterwards the residence of Anme of Denmark, consort of
James 1., of Henrietta Maria, the queen of Charles ., and of Catha-
rine of Braganza, the neglected wife of the second Charles. Inigo
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Jones died here in 16562. The old bunilding was taken down
in 1766, and the present edifice, now ocenpied by various public
offices, erected in its stead. The imposing principal fagade to-
wards the Thames, T80 ft. in length, rises on a terrace 60 ft.
broad and DO ft. high, and is now separated from the river by
the Vietoria Embankment. The quadrangular court contains a
bronze group by Bacon, representing George III. leaning on &
rodder, with the Engligh lion and Father Thames at his feet. The
two wings of the building were erected during the present cent. :
the eastern, containing King's College (p. 153), by Smirke, in
1828; the western, towards Wellington Street, by Pennethorne, in
1854-56. The sum expended in constructing the latter alone
was 81,000L. ; and the cost of the whole building amounted to
500,000, At Somerset House no fewer than 900 officials are em-
ployed, with salaries amounting in the aggregate to 275,0008. The
building is said to contain 3600 windows. The public offices
established here include the Audit Office; the Inland Revenue
Office, in the new W. wing, containing the presses for stamped
paper, postage stamps, ete.; the Office of the Registrar-General of
Births, Deaths, and Marriages ; the Admirally Register; and Doetors’
Commons Will Office ( Prevogative Court), trangferred hither from
Dostors' Commons, Bennet's Hill (p. 118), in 1874, This last de-
partment is the great repogitory of testamentary writings of all
kinds. The Department for Literary Enguiry in the Central Hall
isopen daily from 40 a. m. to 3 p. m. Here may be seen an interesting
collection of wills, including those of Shakspeare, Holbein, Van
Dyek, Newton, and Samuel Johnson. The will of Napoleon I., ex-
ecuted at St. Helena, used to be kept here, but was handed over
to the French in 185%. Visitors are allowed to read copies of wills
previous to 1700, from which also pencil extracts may be made. For
* showing wills of a later date a charge of 1s. is made. A fee of 1s. is
also charged for searching the calendars. No extracts may be made
from these later wills, but official eopies may be procured at 8d.
per folio page.

On the W, side of Somerset House is Wellington Street, lead-
ing to *Waterloo Bridge. This bridge, one of the finest in the
world, was built by John Rennis for a company in 1811-17, at a
cost of over 1,000,000 Tt is 460 yds. long and 42 ft. broad, and
resta upon 9 arches, each of 120 ft. span and 3D fi. high, and
borne by granite buttresses. It commandg an admirable view of the
W. part of London between Westminster and St. Paul's, of the
‘Thames Embankment, and of the massive but well-proportioned
fagade of Somerset House. In 1878 the bridge was sold to the
Metropolitan Board of Works for 475,000Z and opened to the public
toll-free. — Waterloo Bridge Road, on the 8. side of the river, leads
to Waterloo Station (p. 34).

On the N. side of the Strand we next observe several theatres,

10+
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including the Gaiety (p. 40) and the Lyceum (p. 40). Beyond
these, between Burlelgh Street and Exeter Street (commemorating
Exeter House, the residence of Queen Elizabeth’s Lord Chancel-
lor), is Exeter Hall, marked by its Corinthian portico, and eapable
of containing H000 persons. It is the property of the Young Men's
Ohristian Association and used for the advoecacy of religious and
philanthropic movements (the large annual ‘May Meetings' of va-
rious religions socleties being held here).

To the left is Savoy Street; leading to the Savoy Chapel, de-
dicated to St. John the Baptist, and built in the Perpendicular
style in 1505-11, during the reigns of Henry VII. and Henry V111,
on the site of the ancient Savoy Palace.

The Ehail;:i]i which is one of the Chapels Royal, was seriously injured
by fire in , but restored at the expense of Queen Victoria. The
handsome wooden ceiling i8 modern. Bishop Gavin Douglas of Dunkeld
(d. 1522), the poetical translator of Virgil, is buried in the chancel (with
brasg), and George Wither (d. 1667), the %oet, was slso buried hers, Fine
stained glass. Bavoy Palace was first built in 1245, and was given by
Henry IIL fo Peter, Count of Bavoy, the nncle of his queen, Eleanor of
Provence, The captive King John of Fronce died here in 1864, and
Chaucer was probably married liere when the Enlwe-wu oecupied by John
of Gaunt, It lay between the present chapel and the river, but has entirely
disappeared. At the Bavoy, in the time of Cromwell, the Independents
adopted a Confession of Faith, and here the celebrated ‘Savoy Con-
forence' for the revision of the Praver Book was held, when Baxter,
Calamy, and others rep ted the No f jata. The G chapel
which used fo stand contiguous to the Savoy Chapel was removed in
widening Bavoy Street, which now forms a thoroughfare to the Thames
Embankment. The French Protestants who conformed to the English
church had & chapel here from the time of Charles 11, till 1737, Ses
Memorials of the Savoy, by the Rev. W. J. Loftie (Maemillan ; 1878).

Farther on, to the left, is Terry’s Theatre (p. 41), beyond which
Beanfort Buildings leads to the Savoy Theatre (p. 40).

At No. 18 Oecil Street, to the left, Sir W. Congreve (d. 1828),
the inventor of the Congreve Rocket, resided and made his experi-
ments, firing the rockets across the Thames.

A little to the N. of this part of the Strand lies Covent Garden
Market (p. 186). On the right, between Southampton Street and
Bedford Street, is the Vaudeville Theatre (p. 41); beyond it, the
Adelphi Theatre (p. 40). In Bedford Street is a store of the Civil
Serviee Supply Association (p. 26).

To the 8. of the Strand, opposite the Adelphi Theatre, is the
region known as ‘the Adelphi’, built by four brothers called Adam,
whose names are commemorated in Adam St., John St., Robert 8t,,
James 8t,, and William St., and in the Adelphi Terrace. InJohn St.
riges the building of the Society of Arts (Pl K, 30; IT), an association
established in 1754 for the encouragement of arts, manufactures, and
commeree, which took a prominent part in promoting the Exhibitions
of 1851 and 1862. Thelarge hall (open daily, 10-4, except Wednes-
days and Saturdayg) containg gix paintings by Barry (1777-83), re-
presenting the progress of civilisation. No. 14'in the same streetis
the headquarters of the Royal National Life Boat Institution,
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founded in 1824 and supported entirely by voluntary contributions,
This society now possesses a fleet of 311 life-hoats stationed
round the British coasts, and in 1893 was instrumental in saving
598 lives and 27 vessels. The total number of lives saved through
the agency of the Institution from its foundation down to 1889
was above 37,850, The expenditure of the society in 1803
was 83,0350, The average cost of establishing a life-boat station
i8 40501, and the annual expense of maintaining it 704, — Adelphi
Terrace, overlooking the Thames and the Embankment, contains
the house in which David Garrick died in 1779 (tablet). Nos. 6
and 7 in this terrace are oeceupied by the Savage Club; and No. b
by the Royal Statistical Society. On the right, where King William
Street joins the Strand, stands the Charing Cross Hospita.',,-_aml in
ng William Street are the Ophthalmic Hospital and Toole's The-
atre ( p. 41). A little farther on, in the Strand, on the ﬂght hand,

is the Lowther Arcade (p. 24), and on the left is Coutts's Banl, a
very noted flrm, at which the royal family has banked for naarly

years.

At the W. end of the Strand, on the left, is Charing Cross
Station (with a large Hotel, '5 6), the West End terminus of the
South-Eastern Railway (p. 382), built by Barry on the site of
Hungerford Market, where the mansion of 8ir Edward Hungerford
stood until it was burned down in 1669, In front of it stands a mod-
ern copy of ¥leanor's Cross, a Gothic monument erected in 1291 by
Edward 1. at Charing Cross, near the spot where the coffin of his
eonsgort was set down during its last halt on the way to Westminster
Abbey. The original was removed by order of Parliament in 1647,
The river is here crosged by the Charing Cross Railway Bridge, on
one side of which is a foot-way (freed from toll in 1878). — To
the E. of the station is Villiers Street, which descends to the Em-
bankment Gardens (p. 115) and to the Charing Cross Station (p. 32
of the Metropolitan Railway. — Benjamin Franklin lived at No.
Craven Street (denoted by a memorial tablet), to the W. of the station.

13, Trafalgar Square.

Nelson Column. St. Martin's in the Fields. Charing Cross.

*Trafalgar Square (Pl. R, 26; 11, IV), one of the finest open
places in London and a great centre of attraction, is, so to speak,
dedicated to Lord Nelson, and commemorates his glorious deathat the
battle of Trafalgar (22nd Oct., 1805), gained by the English fleet over
the eombined armaments of France and Spain, By this vietory Na-
poleon’s purpose of invading England was frustrated. The ambitions
Emperor had assembled at Boulogne an army of 172,000 infantry
and 9000 cavalry, and also 2413 transports to convey his soldiers to
England, but his fleet, which he had been building for many years
at an enormons cost, and which was.to have covered his passage of
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the Channel, was destroyed by Nelson at this famous battle. The
Admiral is, therefore, justly revered as the saviour of his country.

In the centre of the square rises the massive granite Columm,
145 ft. in height, to the memory of the hero. It iz a copy of
one of the Corinthian columns of the temple of Mars Ultor, the
avenging god of war, at Rome, and is crowned with a Statue of
Nelson, by Baily, 17 ft. in height. The pedestal is adorned with
reliefs in bronze, cast with the metal of captured French cannon.
On the N. face is a scene from the battle of Aboukir (1798); Nel-
son, wounded in the head, declines to be assisted out of his tum
by a enrgeon who has been dregsing the wounds of a common sailor,
On the E. side is the battle of Copenhagen (1801); Nelson is re-
presented as sealing upon a cannon the treaty of peace with the
conquered Danes. On the 8. is the death of Nelson at Trafalgar
(22nd Oet:, 1805); beside the dying hero is Oaptain Hardy, com-
mander of the Admiral's flag-ship. Below is Nelson's last com-
mand : ‘England expects every man will do hig duty’. On the W.
gide is a representation of Nelgon receiving the sword of the Span-
ish commander after the battle of 8t, Vincent (1797).—Four colossal
bronze lions, modelled by Sir Edwin Landseer (d. 1871) in 1867,
couch upon pedestals running out from the eolumn in the form of a
oross. — The monument was erected in 1843 by voluntary con-
tributions at a total cost of about 45,0001,

Towards the N. side of the square, which is paved with asphalt,
are two fountains. A Statue of Sir Henry Havelock, the deliverer of
Lucknow (d. 1857), by Behnes, stands on the E. (Strand) side of
the Nelson Column, and a Statue of Sir Charles James Napier, the
conqueror of Seinde (d. 1853), by Adams, on the other. The N.E.
corner of the square is occupied by an Equestrian Stalue of George IV.,
in bronze by Chantrey. Between the fountaing i€ a Statue of Gen-
eral Gordon (d. 1885), by Hamo Thorneyeroft, erected in 1888,

On the terrace on the N. side of the square rises the National
Gallery (p.102), adjoined by the National Portrait Gallery (p. 1562).
Near it, on the E,, is the church of 8t. Martin in the Fields,
with a noble Grecian portico, ereeted in 1721-26 by Gibbs, on the
site of an earlier ohurch. Nell Gwynne (d. 1687), Farquhar the
dramatist (d. 1707), Roubiliac the sculptor (d. 1762), and James
Smith (d. 1839), one of the authors of ‘Rejected Addresses’, were
buried in the churchyard. The bells are still rung once a week,
in terms of a legacy left by Nell Gwynne.

Adjoining Morley’s Hotel, on the E.side of the aquare, is the build-
ing of the Royal Humane Society, founded in 1774 for the rescue
of drowning persons. This valnable society poseesses a model house
on the N. bank of the Serpentine in Hyde Park, containing models
of the best appliances for saving life, and apparatus for aiding
bathers and skaters who may be in danger. It also awards prizes
and medals to persons who have saved others from drowning.
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Down to 1874 Northumberland House, the noble mansion of the
Duke of Northumberland, with the lion of the Percies high above
the gates, rose on the 8.E. side of Trafalgar Square. It was purchas-
ed in 1873 by the Metropolitan Board of Works for 497,000L., and
was removed to make way for Northnmberland Avenue, a broad new
street from Charing Cross to the Thames Embankment (comp. p.
115). The Grand Hotel (p. 6) occupies part of the site. Two other
large hotels, the Hitel Métropole and the Hbtel Victoria, have been
built on the opposite side of Northumberland Ayenue. Next door
to the Grand Hotel is the Constitutional Club, a handsome building
of red and yellow terracotta in the style of the German Renaissance,
erected in 1886, At the corner of Northumberland Avenue and
‘Whitehall Place, facing the Thames, is the magnificent new build-
ing of the National Liberal Club, opened in 1887. One of the
most attractive features of this imposing edifice is the spacious
flagzed terrace overlooking the Embankment Gardens and the river,

On the W. side of Trafalgar Square, between Cockspur Street
and Pall Mall East, is the Union Club (p. 74 ), adjoining which is the
Royal College of Physicians, built by Smirke in 1825, and containing
a number of portraits and buste of celebrated London physicians.

Charing Cross (P1. R, 26, and IV; probably so called from the
village of Cherringe which stood here in the 13th cent.), on the 8.
side of Trafalgar Square, between the Strand and Whitehall, is the
prineipal point of intersection of the omnibus lines of the West End,
and the centre of the 4 and 12 miles eireles on the Post Office Di-
rectory Map. The Eguestrian Statue of Charles I, by Le Sueur, which
stands here, is remarkable for the vicissitudes it hag undergone. It
wag cast in 1633, but had not yet been erected when the Civil War
broke out. It was then sold by the Parliament to a brazier, named
John Rivet, for the purpose of being melted down, and this worthy
sold pretended fragments of it both to friends and foes of the
Stuarts. At the Restoration, however, the statue was produced
uninjured, and in 1674 it was erected on the spot where Eleanor’s
Cross (p. 149) had stood down to 1647, In Harishorn Lane, an
adjoining street, Ben Jomgon, when a boy, once lived with his
mother and her second husband, a bricklayer.

Cmaring Cross Roan (Pl R, 27), a great and much needed
thoroughfare from Charing Cross to Totienham Court Road, cuts
through a number of low streets and alleys to the N. of St, Martin's
Ohureh, At the 8. end of this street, to the left, is the new National
Portrait Gallery (p. 1562), and to the right are a new Savings Bank,
the St, Martin's Vestry Hall and Public Library, and the Garrick The-
atre (p. 41). Farther up are some large blocks of Industrial Dwel-
lings, and the Welsh Presbyterian Chapel (on the left). The road
then expande into Cambridge Cireus, in which is the handsome
fagade of the Palace Music Hall (p. 42), erected ag the Royal Eng-
lish Opera House in 1891, In the seotion of Charing Oross Road to
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the N, of the Circus is the church of 8t. Mary the Virgin, Soho, on
the site of the first Greek church in London (1677), part of which
is still standing (see Cireek inseription over the W. door). The
church, which was afterwards occupied by a French congregation,
tontains some old stained glass and a good Crucifixion, in marble,
by Miss Grant. — SEAFTESBURY AVENUE, another wide street open-
ed in 1886, rung from Piccadilly Circus, past the Lyric and the
Shaftesbury Theatres (p.41), to meet Charing Cross Road at Cam-
bridge Circus, and is prolonged to New Oxford Street opposite Hart
Street, Bloomsbury.

14, The National Gallery,

Among the buildings round Trafalgar Sqnare the principal in
point of gize, although perhaps not in architectural merit, is the
**National Gallery (Pl. R, 20; IT), sitnated on a terrace on the N.
gide, and eracted in 1832-38, at an original costof 36,0001, on the
site of the old King’s Mews. The building, designed by Wilkins, isin
the Grecian style, and has a fagade 460 ff. in length. The Gallery
wag considerably altered and enlarged in 1860; an extensive ad-
dition (including the central oefagon) was made by Mr. E. M.
Barry in 1876 ; and five other rooms, ineluding a gallery 851t. long,
were opened in 1887. At the back of the National Gallery the new
National Portrait Gallery (p. 132) has been erected, with a fagade
towards Charing Cross Road, and will probably be opened in 1894

The nueleus of the Nationnl Gallery, which was formed by Act of Par-
fiament in 1824, consisted solely of the Angerstein collection of 38 pictures.
It has, however, been rapidly and greatly extended by means of dona-
tions, legacies, and purchases, and is now composed of some 1400 pictures,
about {100 of which are exhibited in the 22 rooms of the Gallery, while
the others ars lent to provincial collections. Among the most {important
additions have been the collections presented or begueathed by Robert
Vernon (1847), J. M. W. Turner (1856), and W: Ellis (1576G); and the
Peel collection, bought in 1871, For a long period part of the building was
oceupied by the Royal Academy of Arts, which, however, was ramoved
to Burlington House (p. 220) in 18689, The National Collection las since
been wholly re-arranged, and i8 now entirely under one roof. (This is, of
course quite distinet from the national eollections at South Kensington.)
— In 1893 the National Gallery was visited on the free days by 456.748
persons, being a daily average of 2351, and on the pay-days (Thurs. and
Frid.) by 83,976 persons, hesides 20,830 students.

From the number of artists rep ted, the collection in the Nationsl
Gallery is exg¢eedingly valuable to students of the history of art. Thae
older lalian masters are especially important. The catalogues prepared by
Mr. Wornum (d. 1877}, the late keag;r of the Gallery, and re-issued with
eorreptions and additions by Sir F. W, Burton in 1SBBy[Furaign Sehools 1s.,
abridgment Gd.y British School 6d.), eomprise short biographiea of the
different artists. The 'Pall Mall Gazetie Guide to the National Gallery® (0d.;
#old ontside the doors) contains a descriptive catalogue and a scheme for
studying the gallery in o series of twelve ‘half-holiday visits®. Mr. E. T\ Cook’s
‘Popular Handbuok t0 the National Gallery® (Macmillan & Co., 3rd ed, 1891)
ingludes an interesting collection of notes on the pictures by Mr. Ruvkin and
others, See also Dr. J. P, Richler's ‘Italinn Art in the National Gallery'
(1889). Each picture is inseribed with the nsme of the painter, the year of
his birth and deatli, the sehool to which he helungs, and the subject repre-
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sented. The present directoris Mr. E. J. Poynter, R. A., and the keeper and
socretary is Mr. Charies FEasiloke. — Photographs of the paintings, by
Morelli, are sold in the gallery at prices ranging from 1s. to 10s. Those
tauken by Braun 4 Cfe., of Dornach and Paris, and by the Berlin Photo-
grophic o, are, however, better; the former (B-v'l'b.) may be obtained ot the
Autotype Fine Art Gallery, T4 New Oxford Street, while the latier (1s.6d.
ench, 15s. per dozen) are sold by J. Gerson, b Rathbone Place, Oxford Street.

Admission to the Gallery, zee p. T8. — Thursday and Friday
are stndents’ days. The Gallery is closed for eleaning on the Thurs-
day, Friday, and Ssturday before Baster Sunday, Sticks and um-
brellas are left at the entrance (no charge).

The pictures are arranged in schools, with as close adherence
as possible to & chronological order. The main staircase facing us
as we enter ascends to Room 1., in which begins the series of Ttalian
works. The staircase to the left leads to the Modern British Schools;
that on the right to the Older British and the French Schools.

The Hall contains a marble statue of SirDavid Wilkie (d. 1841),
with his palette let into the pedestal, by Joseph; busta of the paint-
ers W. Mulready (d. 1863) and Th. Stothard (d. 1834), by Weekes;
and busts of Samuel Johnson (by Baily, after Nollekens), Canning
‘also by Baily, after Nollekens), Bewick (by Gibson), and Newton

by Baily, after Koubiliac). On the walls are two large landscapes

with cattle by James Ward, the Battle of the Dorodino by Jones,
a forest-scene by Salvator Rosa, and a cast of a bust of Mantegna by
Sperandio. At the top of the staircase to the right are busts of
Wellington by Nollekens and Soott by Chantrey; at the foot, busts
of Marquis Wellesley by Bacon and Grace Darling by Dunbar,

To the left is & staircase deseending to a room confaining water-colonrs
by De Wint, Cattermole, etc., erayon studies by Gainsborough, drawings by
Wi, Blake, ete. In snother room are Wafercolour Drawings from paint-
ings by early llalian and other masters, published and lent by theArundel
Bociety. Other rooms contain copies of paintings by Velarguer at Madrid
and by Hembrandl at 8t. Petershurg.

To the right is a flight of stepa (with o bronze bust of Napoleon @l the
top) descending 1o the collectiom of Twrner's Waler-Colours (catologue by
Ruskin, le), Another room, through which we pass to reach the Turner
Collection, containg sev-
eral paintings belonging 1 Y
to the National Portrait I o X
Gallery (p. 132). Among L : P
these are two large fpm’nl- Y et
inga: The House of Com- poud Yo E
mons in 1793, by Karl
Anfors Hickel (presanted
by the Emp. of Austria I ml' g W s X
in 185), and  fne *Work 1 I 1
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by Marcus Gheeraedts, B&rmnﬁng a group of eleven statesmen, sssembled
af Somerset Honse in 1604 to ratify a comnmercial treaty hetween England,

Spain, and the Netherlands. Among the single poriraits, which hmluﬂ.a
specimens of Lely, Gainsborough, Dobsom, Richmond, and others, is one of
George Washington, by Gilbenl Stuari.

The Vesrisune oF THE MAIN STATROASE is roofed by a glass
dome and embellished with marble columns and panelling, of green
‘cipollino’, ‘giallo antico’, ‘pavonazzetto', ete. Here are hung
several large paintings of the British School. To the left (W.):
1372. John J. Halls, Admiral 8ir George Cockburn ; T89. Thomas
Gainshorough (one of the most eminent of English portrnit-pamtexs
d, 1788), Family group ; 1146. Sir Henry Rueburn (Scottish School ;
d. 1823), Portrait of a lady; 308. Gainsborough, Musidora {from
Thomson's ‘Summer”) ; 1228, Fuseli (d. 1825), Titanta and Bottom ;
1394, Ford Mador Brawn, Ohrist washing Peter's feet. To the right
{E.): 1396. Romney. Portraits ; *143. Reynolds, Equestrian portrait
of Lord Ligonier; 681. Reynolds, Capt. Orme; 684, Gainsborough,
Dr. Schomberg; 144. Sir Thomas Lawrence (d. 1830), Banqami.n
West, the pnj.ntor 677, Sir Martin Shee (d. 1850), Portrait of the
actor Lewis as the Marquis in the ‘Midnight Hour'. — In the North
Vestibule (ses Plan) are: in the centre, an antique head of the
Dying Alexander, in porphyry; to the right, three frezcoes (Nos. 766,
T6T, 1245) by Domenico Venesiano (d. 1461), and an Angel adoring

(No. 9272 by Fil. Lippi; to the left, three fragments of frescoes
{Nas 1216-1216 b) by Spinello Aretino (Tuscan School; d. 14107,
and eleven interesting Greek portraits of the 2nd and 3rd cent. from
mummies found in the Fayoum. [A mummy with a portrait of this
kind may be seen at the British Musenm; p. 258.

Room I, lighted from above, is devoted to the Fromewxrtinm
Scmoon. — To the left: 248. Fil. Lippi, Vision of St. Bernard ;
1160. Attributed to Pontormo (Carucei; d. 1567), Portrait; 592,
Ascribed to Filippino Lippi, Adoration of the Magi, in the manner
of Botticelli; 17. A. del Sarto snhcol iece), Holy Family; *1282.
Jacopo Chimenti da Empoli (10 54-1648) San Zenobio restoring a
dead ehild to life; 1143. Ridolfo Ghirlandajo (son of the more
famous Domenico G}m:hndsqu ; 1483-1061), Christ on the way to
Golgotha; 809, In the manmner of Michael Angelo, Madonna and In-
fant Christ, with John the Baptist and angels (unfinished); 727,
Pesellino (d. 1457), Trinita; 798 Michael Angelo Buonarotti (1475-
1664), Entombment (unfinished and youthful work; in tempera,
on wood ).

#296. School of Verrochio, Virgin adoring the Infant Christ,

with angels.

This pni.nﬂnf is executed with great earefulness, hut the conception
of the forms proportions is hardly worthy of a master of the first
rank. such as Verroechio, to0 whom some critios asaign the worlk.

1323. Bronsino, Piero de’ Medici; 1194, Marcello Venusti
(follower of Michael Angelo; d. ca. 1670), Jesus expelling the
money-changers from the Temple; 8, After Michael Angelo, A dream
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of human life; *593. Lorenso di Credi (Florence, pupil of Ver-
rocchio at the same time as Leonardo da Vinei; d. 1637), Madonna
and Child, — *292, Pollajuolo, Martyrdom of St. Sebastian.

This pieture was painted in 14756 for the altar of the Pueei chapel,
in the church of Ban Sebastiano de’ Servi at Florence, and according to
Vnaari i8 the artist's masterpiece. The head of the zaini, which iz of
great beauty, is the portrait of a Cappeni.

648. Credi, Virgin adoring the Infant (in his best style); 781.
School of Verroechio, The archangel Raphael and Tobias; *293. Fi-
lippino Lippi (pupil of Botticelli; d. 15604), Madonna and Child,
with 88. Jerome and Dominic, an altar-piece with predella (rich
landscape); 1035, Franciabigio (d. 1624), A Enight of Malta.
1181. Pontormo, Joseph and his Brethren ; according to Vasari, the
boy seated on the steps, with a basket, is a portrait of Bronzino. 650.
Brongino, Portrait; 1124, Filippino Lippi (school-piece), Adoration
of the Magi.

#1093, Ascribed to Leonardo da Vinei (14562-1549), Madonna
and Child, with John the Baptist and an angel, resembling ‘La
Vierge aux Rochers'in the Louvre, bonght from the Karl of Suffolk
in 1881 for 9000¢.

670. Bronsino, Enight of St. Stephen; 649. Ascribed to Pon-
tormo, Portrait of a boy, in the style of Bronzino (probably a youth-
ful work of the latter); *690. Andrea del Sarto (the greatest master
of the school; 1486-1531), Portrait, a masterpiece of chiarosouro;
698. Piero di Cosimo (pupil of Cosimo Rosselli and teacher of A,
del Sarto; d. ea. 1621), Death of Procris, in a beantiful landscape.
— 681. Bronsino, Venug, Cupid, Folly, and Time, an allegory.

‘Bronzino painted a picture of remarkable beauty, which was seni
into France to King Franecis. In this picture was pourtrayed a nmaked
Venns together with Cupld, who was kissing her. On the one side were
Pleasure and Mirth, with other Powers of Love, and on the other Deceit,
Jealousy, and other Passions of Love." — Vasari,

*015, Sandro Botticelli (d. 1510), Mars and Venus; 895. Piero
di Cosimo, Portrait of a warrior; 589, Sehool of Fra Filippo Lippi,
Madonna and Child, with an angel.

On a SorsEn: 270. School of Botticelli; Madonna and Child, a
eircular pieture in a fine old frame; 928. Pollajuclo, Apollo and

Daphne.

Room II. Sienese anp oTHER Tuscanw Masters. To the left:
246. Girolamo del Pacchia (d. after 1535), Madonna and Child;
b94. Benosso Goszoli (school-piece), Rape of Helen; Duecio di
Buoninsegna (founder of the school of Siena ; d. about 1339), 1140.
Ohrist healing the blind, 1139. Annunciation; 1317. Early Sienese
School, Marriage of the Virgin; 1199. Florentine School of the
15th cent., Madonna and Child, with John the Baptist and an angel;
218, Baldassare Péruzsi (Sena; d. 1637), Adoration of the Magi;
1834, Bernardino Fungai (d. 1618), Virgin and Child surronnded
by eherubim; 227. Rosselli (school-piece), Various saints (nsmes
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on the original frame). — 283. Benosso Gossoli (pupil. of Fra
Angelivo; d. 1498), Virgin and Child enthznnek with saints.

“T'he original contract for this picture, dated 28d Oct. 1461, s still
proserved. The figure of the Virgin is in this contract specially directed
to be made similar in mode, form, and ornements to the Virgin En-
throned, in the picture gver the high-altar of S8an Mareo, Florence, by
Fra Giovanni (Angelico) da Fiesole, and now in the Academy thers'.—
Catalogue.

#663. Fra Angelico da Fiesole (d. 1455), COhrist with the banner
of the Resurrection, surrounded by a erowd of saints, martyrs, and
Dominicans, ‘so beautiful’, says Vagari, ‘that they appear to be truly
beings of Paradise’; 586. Ascribed to Fra Filippo Lippi, Madonna
enthroned, — *566. Dueeio di Buoninsegna, Madonna and Child.

‘A gennine pleture, which illustrates how well the master could
vivify Byzantine forms with tender faeling’.

582. Fra Angelico (school-pieoe), The Magi; 1155, Matteo di
Giovanni de Siena (4. 1493), Assumption, the Virgin throwing
down her girdle as a proof to the insredulous St. Thomas; 1330.
Buoninsegna, Tranefiguration; 14147, Ambrogio Lorensetti (Siena;
d. ca. 1348), Heads of saints (a fragment of a freseo); 900, Ben-
venuto da Siena (¢, 1520), Madonna and Child.

Room III. Frorewtine Scmoons. To the left: T82. Botticelli,
Sschoal-piece}, Madonna and Child; *B668. Fra Filippo Lippi (d.

4967), Annunciation, painted like No. 867 for Cosimo de' Mediei
and marked with his erest; 598. Filippino Lippi (%), St. Francis
in glory; 916, Botticelli (school-piece), Venus and Cupid; *588.
Paolo Ueeello (d. 1479), Cavalry engagement at 8. Egidio (14186),
one of the earliest Florentine representations of a seoular subject;
1198, Tuscan School, Amor and Castitas; 1230. Domenico del Ghir-
tandajo (1449-90), Portrait of a lady ; 1033, Filippino Lippi (more
probably Botticelli; comp. No. 592), Adoration of the Magi; 626.
Botticelii, Young man; no number, *Dom. Ghirlandajo, Portrait of
a lady (“the lovely Benei’ of Longfellow ; lent by Mr. Henry Willett),

#1034, Botticelli, The Nativity, to the left the Magi, to the
right the Shepherds, in front shepherds embraced by angels.

The subject i3 conceived in & manner highly mystical and symbolical.
At the top of the picture is a Greek inseription to the following effect:
‘This picture I, Alessandro, lpuintoﬂ. at the end of the year 1500, in the
(froubles) of Italy in the half-time after the time during the fulfilment
of the eleventh of 8t. John in the second woe of the Apocalypse, in the
loosing of the devil for three years und o half, Afterwards he shall be
chained and we shall see him trodden down ss in this pieture’,

1299, Dom. Ghirlandajo (¥), Portrait of a youth (school-piece,
much restored). — 1426, Botticelli, Assumption of the Virgin,

In the e¢entre of the upper part of the picture is the Virgin, kneeling
before the Baviour, while around are ¢yeles or tiers of angels, apostles,
spints, and geraphim. Below are the apostles gathered round the tomb
of the Virgin, with portraits of the Palmieri, the donors of the altar-
giace. The pieture was probably executed by s pupil from & cartoon by
pD;IlI-?a)rlii. n the background are Florence and Fiesole, with the Villa

alminri,

*667. Fra Fitippo Lippi, 88, John the Baptist, Francis, Lawrence,
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(Cosmas, Damianus, Anthony, and Peter the Martyr, sitting ona
marble bench (painted for Cosimo de’ Mediei, 1266-1336); 226.
School of Botticelli, Madonna and Child, with John the Baptist and
angels, with a rose-hedge in the background; 1301. Florentine
Sehoot, Head of Savonarola.

Room1V. Earny ITanzax Scmoon. Thepictures inthisroom are
mainly of historieal interest. Neither Giotto (1266-1338), the chief
founder of Italian painting, nor his pupils are represented by authen-
tigated works, but there are several fine works of the 14th century.

‘The early efforts of Cimabue and Giotto are the burning messages of
propheey, delivered by the stammering lips of infants’. — Ruskin,

To the left: School of Taddeo Gaddi (d. after 1366), 2185,
216, Baints. 5L, Emmanuel (Greek priest; Byzantine School),
88. Cosmas and Damianus (one of the earliest pictures in the Gal-
lery in point of artistic development); B73-D7H. Andrea Oreagna
{ Florentine School ; d. 13763, Three small pictures belonging to the
large altar-piece, No. 569 ; 276. Ascribed to Giotto (d. 1336), Heads
of Apostles; DG9. Oreagna, Coronation of the Virgin, with saints
(large altar-piece from the church of San Pietro Maggiore in Flor-
ence; school-piece); TO1. Justus of Padua (School of Giotto; d.
1400), Coronation of the Virgin, dated 1367 (a small triptyeh, of
cheerful, goft, and well-blended colouring); 67, Segna di Buona-
wentura (Sienese School; ca. 1310), Ohrist on the Cross; 576-D78.
Orcagna, Three other pictures belonging to No. 569 ; 580a, 570 a.
Terminal panels of 580 and 579 (see below); HE8, School of Giotio
(ra. 1330), Coronation of the Virgin; B79. School of Taddeo Gaddi,
Baptism of Christ; B6b. Giov. Cimabue (b. 1240; Tuscan School),
Madonna and Child enthroned ; 531, Spinello Aretino, John the Bap-
tist, with 88. Jehn the Evangelist and James the Less; 564, Mar-
garitone (d. 1293), Virgin and Child, with scenes from the lives
of the saints; B70-072. Orcagna, Trinity, with angels adoring, be-
longing to No. 589; 1406, Fra Angelico (school-piece), Annun-
ciation ; B80. Jacopo di Casentino (d. ca. 1390), St. John the Kvan-
gelist lifted up into Heaven.

Room V. Scuoors or Furara axp Bonoeya. To the left:
Cosimo Tura (Ferrara; 1420-98), 778. 8t. Jerome in the wilderness;
772, Madonna and Ohild, with angels; 597, Fr. Cossa (end of 16th
cent.), St. Hyacinth ; 82. Mazsolino da Ferrara (1480-1528), Holy
Family, — *4149. Ereole di Giulio Grandi (Ferrata; d. 1081), Ma-
donna enthroned, with John the Baptist and St. William; the
throne is adorned with sculptural panels (a masterpiece). — Ben-
venuto Tisio, surnamed Garofalo (d. 1669), *81, Vision of St. Au-
gustine; 170. Holy Family; *671. Madonna and Child enthroned,
surrounded by 85. William, Clara, Francizs, and Anthony (altar-
pieces, destitute of the charm of colouring seen in his smaller
works). — 590. Mareo Zoppo, Dead Christ, with John the Baptist
and Joseph of Arimathea; T70. Giovanni Oriolo (Ferrara; d. after
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1461), Leonello d'Este, Marquis of Ferrara (d.44560); 1427, Ercole
di Roberto Grandi (d. before 15618), Last Supper; 638, Fr. Francia,
Madonna and Ohild, with saints; *629. Lorenso Costa (teacher of
Francia; d. 4535), Madonna enthroned, dated 1505.

Francesco Francia gRaiboHni, early school of Bologna, also a

ldsmith; d. 15647), 638. Madenna and Child with two saints,
79.1¥érgin enthroned and St. Anne, *180. Pieta (the lunette of
No. A :

'I‘hes?! two pictures are the finest speci of the school in the col-
lection,

774, Bono di Ferrara (15th cent.), St. Jerome in the desert;
169, Massolino (Ferrara; d. 415630), Holy Family; 762. Dalmasio
(end of the 14th cent.), Madonna and Child; 641. Massolino, The
Woman taken in adultery; 669. Ortolano (Ferrara; d. ea. 152D),
88. Bebastian, Rochue, and Demetrius; 1234, Dosso Dossi(?), Al-
legorical group; 1247. Ercole di Roberto Grandi, Israelites gather-
ing mamma.

Room V1. Umsrrax Scnoon. To the 1éft: 912-914. Pinturicchio
(Umbrian school-piece), Illustrations of the story of Griselda (the
last in Boccacelo’s Decameron).

Melozso da Forli (d. 1494), 766, Musie; 755. Rhetorie (similar
representations at Berlin); 1304. Umbrian Sechool (16th cent.),
Marcus Curtius(?); T08. Bernardino Pinturicchio (d. 1613), Ma-
donna and Child; 14103, Fiorenso di Lorenso (end of 15th eent.),
Madonna and saints (lueid colouring); 249. Lorenso dg San Seve~
rino (second half of the 15th cent.), Marriage of St Catharine;
769. Fra Carnovale (ca. 1480), St. Michael and the serpent; 1107.
Niceold da Foligno (Alunno; end of the 15th cent.), The Passion,
a triptych; 1064, Umbrian Sechool, Our Lord, 8t. Thomas, and
St. Anthony of Padua, the Donor kneeling to the right; 920. After
Raphael, Madonna and Child, old copy of the Bridgewater Ma-
donna; *288. Perugino (Pietro Vannucei, the master of Raphael ;
d. 1523), Madonna adoring the Infant, with the archangel Michael
on the left and Raphael with Tobias on the right (a masterpiese);
693. Pinturicchio, St. Catharine of Alexandria; 1220. L'Ingegno,
Madonna and Ohild; 1032. Lo Spagna, Agony in the Garden.

#4213, Raphael (Sansio ; 1483-15620), Vision of aknight (a youth-
ful work, as fine in its execution as it is tender in its conception).

This little gem reveals the infl of Raphael's early ter Ti-
moteo Viti, without a trace of the later manner learned from Perugino.
The original *Cartoon hangs beneath.

‘Two allegorical female figures, representing respeectively the noble

ambitions and the joys of life, appear to a young knight lying asleep
beneath & laurel, und offer him Dhis choiee of glory or pleasure’. — Passavant,

94171, Raphael, Madonna degli Ansidel, bought from the Duke
of Marlborough in 1884 for 70,0001, the largest sum ever given

for a pieture.
This Holy Family was painted by Raphael in 1506 for the chapel of
the Ansidei family in the Servite church at Perngia, In 1761 it was




14. NATIONAL GALLERY. 159

urchnged by Lord Robert Spencer, brother of the third Dulke of Marl-
orough, The two figures flanking the Virgin arve those of John the
Baptist and 8t Nicholas of Bari, the lniter represented in his epis-
copal robes. ‘The small round loaves at his feet refer to his resene of
the town of Myra from famine, In the background ia a view of the
Tuscan hills, From the canopy hangs s rosary. — This great work, the
mogt important example of Buphael in the country, was executed under
the influgnce of Perugino snd is in admirable preservation,
*744. Raphael, Madonma, Infant Clirist, and St. John (the

‘Aldobrandini® or ‘Garvagh Madonna’).

“The whole has a delicate, harmonious effect, The flesh, which is
yellowish in the lighta, and lightish brown in the shadows, agrees ex-
tremely well with the pale broken rose-colonr of the under garment, and
the delicate bluish grey of the opper garment of the Virgin. In the
seams and glorfes gold is used, thonpgh very delicately. The execution
is particularly eareful, and it is in an excellent state of preservation’. —
Waagen, ‘Treasures of Ari in Greéatl Britain',

This work belonga to Baphael’s later period, and pome authorities be-
lieve he painted it with the aid of his pupils.

*{68. Raphael, St. Catharine of Alexandria, painted in the
master's Florentine period.

‘In form and feeling no picture of the master approaches nearer to it
than the Entombment in the Borghese Palace, which isinseribed 1507."— W,

181. Perugino, Madonna and Child; 764. Giovanni Santi (Um-
brian painter and poet, Raphael's father; d. 1484), Madonna;
#10TH. Perugino, Virgin and Ohild, with 88. Jerome and Franeis
(of the artist’s later period; 27. Raphael, Pope Julius II. (an old
copy of the original in Florence); 696, Palmeszano (p‘ﬂ:il of Me-
lozzo; d. after 15637), Entombment. Signorelli (d. 1623), *1128.
Ciroumeision, a dramatic composition (the fizure of the child has
been altered by Cl;i%ai-nting); 1133, Adoration of the Holy Child
(school-piece? , BAT. Unlknown (15th cent.), St. Catharine,
St. Ursula; 908, Piero della Francesea(ca. 1460), Natvity (injured) ;
914, Pinturicchio, Return of Ulysses, or Lueretia and Collatinus
(fresco from Siena, about 1600); 1218, 1219. Francesco Ubertini.
surnamed Baechieca (Florence; d. 1667), History of Joseph; 768.
Aseribed to P. della Francesca (), Portrait of a lady. Piero della
Franceseo, 665, Baptism of Christ; 585, Portrait. 910, Ascribed to
Signorelli (more probably by Genga da Urbino), Triumph of Chas-
tity, a fresco; 282, Lo Spagna (? more probably by Bertucei of
Faensa, a contemporary belonging to the Eclectic School), Madonna
and Child enthroned. \

Temporarily placed on Sorsexs in this room are: 1316, Moroni,
Ttalian nobleman ; 1315, Velasques, Admiral Pulido Pareja; *1314.
Holbein the Younger, The Ambassadors.

These three pictures. were purchased from Lord Radnor in 4800 for
56,0000, The so-ealled *Ambassudors’, the only example of Holbein (1497-
1543) in the Gallery, was long thought to repregent Sir Thomes Wyalt (on
the left) and Leland, the antiquary (on the right); bnt it is supposed that
the fizure on the left is Jean de Dinteville, French ambassador in London
in ., and that the other is the contemporary poet Nicholas Bourbon.
The eurious object in the foreground is the distorted projection of a
skull, a8 will be seen when viewed disgonally from the rfghl.
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Room VIL. Vensriax Anp Beescran Scmoors. To the left:
*735. P. Moranda (Cavaseola ; the most important master in Verona
before Paolo Veronese; d, 1622), St. Rochus with the angel, an
excellent specimen of his work; *626. Moretto (Alessandro Bon-
vieino, the greatest painter of Breseia; d. sbout 1560), Madonna and
Child, with saints; Montagna (?), 802, 10958, Madonna and Child ;
*T48. @irolamo dai Libri (Verona; d. 1566), Madonna and Child,
with St. Anne, clear in colour and harmonious in tone, heralding
the style of Paolo Veronese; 1023. Giambattista Moroni (portrait-
painter at Bergamo, pupil of Moretto; d. 1578), Portrait of a lady.
Above, P. Veronese, 1325, Respect, 1324, Scorn, 1318, Unfaithful-
ness, 1326. Happy union, a series of allegorical groups from a eeil-
ing decoration. *16. Tintoretto (Jacopo Robusti, Venice; d. 1694),
St, George and the Dragon (an early work); 287. Bart. Vene-
siano (rare Venetian master, first half of the 16th cent.), Portrait,
painted in 1530 (rich in colour); 585, Venetion School, Portrait; 26.
Paolo Veronese (4. 1588), Consecration of St. Nicholas; 1041. Paolo
Veronese(?), St. Helenay 34, Titian ( Tizsiano Vecellio; 1477-1576),
Venus and Adonis (an early copy of the original in Madrid); *1022.
Moroni, Nobleman : 224, Titian, The Tribute Money (school-piece).
— #4. Titian, Holy Family, with adoring shepherd.

This brilliantly coloured pieture is an early work of the master and
is painted in the manner afterwards adopted by his pupil Palma Vecchio,

¥1. Sebastian del Piombo (of Venice, follower of Michael Angelo;
d, 15647), Raising of Lazarus.

“The transition from death to life is expressed in Lararus with won-
derful epirit, and at the same time with perfect fidelity to Seripture.
The grave-clothes, by which his face is. thrown into deep shade, vividl
excite the idea of the night of the grave, which but just before envelope
him; the eye looking eagerly from beneath this shade upon Christ his
Redeemer, shows us, on the other hand, in the most siriking contrast,
the new life in its most intéllectual organ. This is also expressed in the
whole figure, which is actively striving to relieve itsell from the bonds
in which It wes fast bound', — W,

The picture was painted in 1517-19 in competition with Raphael’s
Eﬂﬂl&lﬂm&ﬂun.- The figure of Lazarus is quite in the spirit of Michael

gelo.

20. Sebastian del Piombo, Portraits of the painter with his seal
(“piombo”) of office in his hand, and Cardinal Ippolito de’ Medici,
painted after 1581; *B3D0. Titian, Madonna and Child, with SS.
John the Baptist and Catharine (the latter probably the portrait of
an aristooratic lady); 1025. Moretto, Portrait of an Italian noble-
man (1526). — *35. Titian, Bacchus and Ariadne, painted in 1523
for Alphonso, Duke of Ferrara.

*Thig is one of the pictures which once seen can mever be forgotten
s e . Righ hnmn&{ of drapery tints and soft modelling, depth of shade
and warm flesh gombine to produce a highly coloured glow: yet in
the midet of this glow the form of Arisdne seems incomparably fair,
Nature was never reproduced mors kindly or with greater exuberance
than it is in every part of this picture. What splendour in the eontrasts
of eolonr, what wealth and diversity of scale in air and vegetation; how
infinite ia the space — how varied yet mellow the gradstions of lght
and ghade!' — C. & C. :
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24, Sebastion del Piombo, Portrait ol a lady, as St. Agatha;
#{081. @igvanni Girolamo Suvoldo (Brescia, about 1480-1548),
Mary Magdalen going {0 the Sepulchre (similar picture at Berlin);
816. Cima da Conegliano (Venice, contemporary of Bellini; d, 1603),
Chirist appearing to 8t. Thomas; 1309, Bernardine Lieindo (Venice;
flor. 1524-44), Portrait of a young man; 599, Basaiti(¥), Infant
Christ asleep in the lap of the Virgin, with a pleasing landseape
in the baskground (a good work of the echool of Giov. Bellini); 234,
Catena (Trevigo, d. 1531 at Venice; a follower of Giov. Bellini),
Warrior adoring the Infant Christ; 932, Ialion School, Portrait of
a man; 1203, Giovanni Busi, surnamed Cariani (pupil of Palma
Veochio; d. ca. 1641), Madonna with saints.

270, Titian, Ohrist and Mary Magdalen after the Resurrestion
{(*Noli me tangere’). .

A youthful work of the master. The slenderness of the fgures, which
are conceived in a dignified but someéwhat mundane spirit, and the siyle
of the landscape reveal the influence of Giorgions,

#B697. Moroni, Portrait of a tailor (‘Tagliapanni'), a masterpiece
praised by contemporary poets; 277, Jueopo Bassano (Jucopo da
Ponte; d. 1692), Good SBamaritan. 632,633, Giralamo da Santacroce
(Venetian School; about 16301), Saints; 623, Girolamo da Treviso
(a follower of Raphael; d. 1544}, Madonna and Child (mentioned
by Vasari as the painter's masterpiece); 636, Palma Vecehio (d.
1528 pupil of Titian), Portrait of Ariosto. '

#280. Giovanni Bellini, often shortened into Giambellino (1430~
1646 the greatest Venetian painter of the 15th eent., degeribed hy
Mr. Ruskin as ‘the mighty Venetian master who alone of all the
painters of Ttaly united purity of relizious aim with perfection of
artigtical power’), Madonna of the Pomegranate.

*300. Cima da Conegliano, Madonna and Child ; 1105. Lorenso
Lotto, The apostolic prothonotary Juliano; *777. Paolo Moranda,
Madonna and Child, with John the Baptist and an angel, a master-
piece of this ‘Raphael of Verona'; 1128, Venetion School  16th cent.),
Venus and Adonis; T00. Vittore Carpaccio (Venice, contemporary
of Giov. Bellini; d. after 1522), Madonns and Child, with the
Doge Giovanni Mocenizo in aderation; 689. Lotto, Porfraits of
Agostine and Niesold della Torre (1515); T42. Moroni, Lawyer:
1202. Bonifacio Veronese (d. 1540), Madonnaand Child, withsaints ;
1243. Gentite Bellini (4. 1D07), Portrait of a mathematician; ¥268.
Puaolo Veronese, Adoration of the Magi, painted in 1573 for the
church of 8t, Sylvester at Venive. Giovanni Bellini, *726. Christ
in Gethsemane, an early work revealing the influence of Mantegna,
who has treated the same subject (ses No. 1447); 812, Death of
St, Peter Martyr (a late work), 694, Cafena, St. Jerome in his stndy;
1180. Ascribed to Tintoretlo, Christ washing the feet of his dis-
ciples; 3. Titian, Concert (an early work); *1047, Lotto, Family
group; "209. Moretto, Count Sciarra Martinengo Cesaresco; 674,

Bagoexer, London, 8th Edil. 11
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Paris Bordone (Treviso, ocelebrated for his female porfraits; d.

1571), A lady of Genoa.

1343, Tintorettn, Origin of the Milky Way, from the decoration
of a eeiling.

Jupiter, descending throngh the air, bears the infant Hereules towards
Juno, while the milk escaping from the ULreasts of the ﬁudduu resolyes
itself Into fhe comatellation known as the Via Lactea or Milky Way.

#2904, Paolo Veronese, Family of Darius at the feet of Alexander
the Great, bought for 13,6601 3

‘In excellent condition; perlups the only existing oriterion br which
to egtimate the gennine original colouring of Paul Veronese. It is re-
markable how entirely the genius of the painter precludes eriticiam on
the guaintness of the treatment. Both the incident and the personages
are, as in a Spaniah play, romantically teavestied” — Rumohr (MB. notes).

Mr. Buskin ealls this picture *the most presions Paul Veronese in the
world® ... ‘The possession of the Pigani Veronese will happily enable the
English public and the Engligh artist to comvince themselvés how sincer-
ity smd simplicity in stat ts of fact, power of draughtmanship, and
joy in eolonr, were nesociated in a perfect balance in the vreal workmen
in Venice'.

1024, Moroni, ltalian ecclesiastic; 32, School of Titian, Rape
of Ganymede; 1377, Giovanni Girolamo Savoldo, Adoration of the
Shepherds; 178, Bassano, Portrait of a nobleman; 637. Paris Bor-
done, Daphnis and Chloe; *297. Il Romanino (Girolamo Romani,
Brescia, o rival of Moretto; d. 1600}, Nativity (an altar-piece in
five compartments ).

On Scesens: 631, Fronesseo Bissolo (d. about 1530), Portrait
of a woman; 1810. Sehool of Bellini, Ecce Homo; 736. Bonsig-
nori (Verona; d, 1619), Portrait of a senator, dated 1487; 1178.
School of Giorgione, Subject unknown; 634. Cima da Conegliano,

Madonna and Child.

#289. Afier Giorgione (Giorgio Barbarelli, s fellow-pupil of
Titian under Giov. Bellini; d. 4544), Knight in armour.

A glightly altered and admirable repetition of the knight in Giorgions's
altar-piece at Castelfranco. Mr. Buskin speaks of the original altar-piece
at Castelfranco as one of the twa best pictures in the world.

T76. Vittore Pisano of Verona, often ealled Vittore Pisanello
(founder of the Veronese school, painter and medallist; d. 1451,
88. Anthony and George, with a vision of the Virgin and Child in
a glory above.

In the frame are inserted costs of two of Pisano's medals. The one nbove
ropresents Leonello d'Este, his patrony the other, the painter himself.

*284. Marco Basaili (Venetian School; ca, 1520), St. Jerome
reading; 695. Andrea Previtali (d. 1528), Monk adering the Holy

Child.

*1B9. Giov. Bellini, The Doge Leonardo Loredano.

This masterly portrait is remarkable alike for its drawing. its colour-
ing, and its expression of charactor. Loredano, who held office from 1601
to lDﬂl. was one of the most powerful of the Venetian Doges, His face
is that of a born rulér — ‘fearless, faithfol, patient, impenetrable, im-
placable — evary word o fate’ (Rusking. ,

808. Giovanni or Gentile Bellini, St. Peter Martyr (with vary

delicate gradations in the flesh tones); 97. School of P. Veronese,
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Rape of Europa; 1424, Venetion School (45th cent. ), Portrait of a
young man. Aseribed to Fronceseo Mantegna (son and pupil of
Andrea; b. about 1470), 41100. Regurrection of Ohrist; 1881. Holy
Women at the Sepulehre; 639, Christ and Mary Magdalen in the
Garden. 1160, Venetian School of the 15th cent., Adoration of the
Magi; 1120, Cima da Conegliano, St. Jerome in the wilderness (on
anel ).

: 673, Antonello da Messina (said to have imported painting in oil
from Flanders into Italy; d. after 1493), Salvator Mundi, 1465,

‘The earlicst of his pictures which we now possess. It is a solemn
but not an elevated masks half Flemish, half Italian’. — €. & O,

1441, Antonello da Messina, Portrait of a young man (painted
in 1474); 1186. Crucifixion (in & mountainous landscape). 1208.
Flemish Master, Mountain scene; 1239, 1240. Girolamo Mocetto
(Venite, painter and engraverj oa. 1490-1515), Massacre of the
Tunocents; 1233, Giovanni Beilini, Blood of the Redeemer (an
early, symbolical work, reealling the fancies of medimval mysti-
cism); 4298, Venetian School, Landscape (in & fine old frame),

Room VIII. Papvaxw anp Earuy Venerray Scmoors. To the
left: Carlo Crivelli (d. ca, 1495: Venice), 602. Dead Christ sup-
ported by angels; 907. S8. Catharine and Mary Magdalen; 739,
Annuneiation, dated 1486 (the heads are pleasing and the motions
graceful); 788, Madonna and saints (large altar-piece in 13 sec-
tions, painted in 1476

724, Carlo Crivelli, Madonna snd Child with 88. Jerome and

Sebastian.

This picture is known, from the swillow introdnced, as the ‘Madonna
della rondine’. ‘It may bo sald of the predella, which repregents 51, Oatharine,
St. Jerome in ihe wilderness, the Nativity of owr Lovrd, the Mariyrdom
of 8t, Sebastian, and 81, George and the Dragon, that Crivelll never con-
centraied so much péwer on any small composition’. — € & O,

T49. Niceolp Giolfino (Verona; ca. 1465-1520), Portraits; 906.
Crivelli, Madonna in prayer; 904 Gregorio Schiavone (the ‘Slavo-
nian, a native of Dalmatia; ca. 1470), Madonna and Child; 284,
Bartolommeo Vivarini [ Venive: end of the 15th vent.), Virgin and
Ohild, with 88. Paul and Jerome; 144D, Andrea Mantegna (d.
1508; Sehool of Padua), Samson and Delilah (on the tree 8 carved
the motto ‘foemina diabolo tribue assibus est mala peior); 807.
Crivelli, Madonna and Child enthroned; 803. Mareo Marsiale
(Venetian painter; flourished ca, 149015107, The Circumcision
(1600), with fine portrait-heads; 4417, Mantegna, The Agony in
the Garden, an early work, from the Northbrook Gallery (compare
No. 726, by Bellini); 804, Mureo Marsiale, Madonna and Ohild
(1507): Antonio Vivarini, T68. 88, Peter and Jefome, 1284, 88,
Francis and Mark,

*002. Andrea Mantegna, Trinmph of Scipio, or the reception
of the Phrygian mother of the gods (Cybele) among the publicly
recognised divinities of Rome,

pIe
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In obedience to the Delphie druele, the ‘worthiest man in Rome' wa
selected to receive the godda&s, and the choice fell npon Publins Corne-
lins Beipio Nasica (B.C. 204), The picinre was painted for a Venetian
nableman, Francesco Cornara, whose family elaimed to bo desgended from
the Romun gens Cornelin. 1t was finished in 1508, a few manthin before
the painter’s death, and is ‘a tempers', in ¢hisroscuro. It is mot so im-
poriant & work of Mantegna s the series at Hampton Court (p. 352), bui
also exhihits Mantegna's wonderful fecling for the antique and his slars
in ‘that sincere passion for the ancient world which was the dominating
intellectual impulie of his aze.

1425. Ascribed to Mantegna, Two allegorical figures of the Sea-
sons, in grisaille; ®274, A, Mantegna, Virgin and Child, with St.
John the Baptist and the Magdalen (conscientiongly minute in
execntion and of plastic distinetness in the outlines); G668, Cri-
velli, The Beato Ferretti.

Central Octagon. Vanrous Scuoons. To the left: 778, Mantino
da Udine, surnamed Pellegrino da San Dandele (Friuli, pupil of
Bellini; abont 1540), Madonna and Child; 4135, 1186, Veronese
Sehogl (156th cent.), Legend of Trajan and the widow ; 1241, 1242,
Dom. Morone(d. ca. 1508), Fétes at the wedding of Gianfrancesco 11,
(Gonzaga and Isabella d'Este; 1244, Michele da Verona (. after1523),
Coriolanus meeting Volumnia and Veturia; 1102, Pietro Longhi
iVenetian genre-painter, sometimes called the ‘Ttalian Hogarth’;

T02-1762), Andrea Tron, procurator of the church of 8¢, Mark ; 41,
Ascribed to Busi (Cariani), Death of Peter Martyr; 1241, Pedro
Campana (a native of Flanders, who studied in Italy and executed
hig best work in Sevilla; d. at Brussels in 1570 or 1580), Mary
Magdalen led by Martha to hear the preaching of Ohrist (exeented
in Venice for Cardinal Grimani); 1241, Pedro Compoiia, Christ
preaching; 272, Unknown Italien Master, An Apostle; 931. Vero-
nese, The Magdalen laying aside her jewels.

Ox A Staxn: 630, Andrea Sehiovene, Madonna and Child en-
throned, with gaints.

A number of paintings, chiefly recent acquisitions, are tem-
porarily hung in this room, some on screens. Among these are:
Dugyster, 1387, Players at hackgammon, 1386, Soldiers quarrelling;
1002, Walseappetle, and 1001, Jan van Huyswm, Flowers; 28D,
Franceseo Morone (early Veronese painter; d. 1628), Madonna and
Child; 1885, G. Terburg, Portrait; 1887. Jan van Aach (¥), 01d
woman sewing; 202, Breenberg, Finding of Moses. Also landscapes
by 8. van Ruysdael (No. 1344), Roghman (1840), Delker {‘1341%.,
Nie. Berclem (78), J. van Ruysdael (TA6, 44), Wouwerman (1340),
A, van de Velde (1348), J. de Wet (1342), Avércamp (1348), 1. van
Ostade (18317), M. Ryckaer! (1863), F. de Moucheron (1352), Also,
B. Fabritius, 1339, Nativity of St. John, 1383. Adoration of the
Shepherds; 1320, 1321. Com. Janssens, Portraits; 1343, Unknown
Arlist, Amsterdam Musketeers on parade ; 1386, Liberale da Vero-
na; Death of Dido.

In the centre of the Octagon is a piece of seulpture by Gibson
(d. 4666), representing Hylas and the nympla,
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Room IX,, adjoining Room VII. Lonsanp Semoorns, Tothe left:
806. Boceaceis Boccaccine (Cremona; d. after 1518), Procession to
Calvary. Ambrogio Borgognone (architect and painter, Milanese
Sehool; cn. 1465-1623), 1410. Virgin and Child; 1077, Christ
bearing the Cross, Virgin and Child, Agony in Gethsémine, a
triptyeh, one of the master's earlier works; 298. Marriage of St,
Catharine of Alexandria, to the right St. Catharine of Siena, 286,
Franceseo Tacconi (Cremona; d. after 14907, Virgin and Ohild
enthroned (the only signed work of this master extant); 729. Vin-
censo Foppa (d. 1492), Adoration of the Magi; 700. Lanini (d. ca.
1578), Holy Family, with Mary Magdalen, Pope Gregory, and St.
Paul (dated 1543); #15. Bernardino Luini (of Milan, pupil of
Leonardo da Vinei), Christ disputing with the Doctors; 1062, Lom-
hard School, Portrait of a young man; *15, Correggio (Antonio
Allegri; 4. 1534), Eece Homo; *23. Correggio, ‘La Madonna della
Cesta', or ‘La Vierge au Panier'; 33. Parmigiano (Francesco Maria
Mazsola; d, 1640), Vision of Bt. Jexrome; T6. After Correggin,
Christ's Agony in the Garden; 1300. Mitanese Sehoot, Virgin and
Child. — *10, Correggio, Mercury instrueting Cupid in the pre-
sence of Venus, of the master’s latest period.

This picture hass passed through the hands of numercns owners,
chiefly of royal blood. It was bought by Charles I. of England with the
regt of the Jnke of Mantua's collection in 1830, From England it passed
to Bpaln, Noples, and then to Viennu, whers it was purchased by the
Marquia of Londonderry, who sold it to the National Gallery. It has
suffered considerahle damnge during ifs wanderings.

Mp. Huskin, who describes Correggio ns “the cuptain of the painter’s
art ag such, the magter of the art of laying colour so a8 to be lovely',
couplas thia Eit-tlu’o with Titinn'g' Bacchus (p. 161), as one of the two
paintings in the Gallery he would lsst part with,

#1144, Giov. Antonio Bassi, surnamed Sodoma (Siena, pupil
of Leon. da Vinei; d. 1549), Madonna and Ohild, with St
Catharine of Siena, St. Peter, and a monk. Andrea dua Solario
(Milan; d, after 1515), *123. Venetian senator (recalling Anton, da
Messina), #734. Portrait, a work of much power and finish (1506).
1201, 1200. Macrino d'Alba (ca. 1500), Saints; 779, 780. Ambrogio
Borgognone, Family portraits, painted on two fragments of a silken
standard , attached to wood; *728. Giow. Ant. Boltrafflo (pupil of
Leonardo at Milan; d. 1516), Madonna and Child (an effective,
thongh simple and quiet composition, suffused in a cool light);
11562, Martino Piagsa (16th cent.), John the Baptist; 1149. Marco
da Oggionno (Milanese Sehool, pupil of Leonardo; d. 1549), Ma-
donna and Child; 219, Lombard School (16th cent.), Dead Christ.
T08. Altobello Melone (Cremonn; 10th cent.), Olrist and the Dis-
ciples on the way to Emmaus,

Visitors who wiah fo muake an unbrokén survey of Italisn art should
::col:v ﬂusa on to R. XIIL (p; 173), containing works of the later Italinn

1ois,

Room X. Durcm anp Fremism Scrooons. Besides works of
Rubens and Van Dyek, the chiefs of the Flemish school of the
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17th eent., this room containg good examples of Rembrandt, their
great Duteh contemporary, prineipally of his later period. His
pupils, Nicolas Maas or Maes and Pieter de Hooghe, are also well
represented. The small pietures by Flemish masters of the 10th
cent., though neither usually of the first elass, nor always to be
attributed to the painters whose names they bear, are yet of great
interest, ag affording a varied survey of the realistic manner of the
school.

To the left: 202, Melchior d'Hondecoeter (animal-painter at
Utreeht; d. 1605), Poultry (‘this cock was Hondecoeter's favourite
bird, which he is said to have tanght to stand to him in a fixed
pogition as a model”); *1248. Bart. van der Helst (one of the best
Duteh portrait-painters; b. at Haarlem in 1641 or 1612; d. 1670),
Portrait of a girl (dated 1645); 240. Nicholas Berchem (Haarlem ;
1620-1683), Crossing the ford. W. van de Velde (Amsterdam, the
greatest of marine-painters, in the service of Charles IL ; 1633-
1707), 149. Calm; 150. Blowing fresh. 140. Bart. van der Helst
(4. 1670), Portrait of a lady; *77D. Rembrandt van Ryn (Harmenss
or Hermansgoon, Amsterdam; 1607-69), 0ld lady (1634); 1311,
J. Beevstraaten, Winter-scene, with castle; 289, Van der Neer (d.
ca. 1690; Amsterdam), River by moonlight; 237, Rembrandt, Por-
trait of o woman (one of his latest works, dated 1666): 1252, Frans
Snyders (animal and fruit painter; Antwerp, 1579-1657), Fruit;
1222, Hondecoeter, Foliage, birds, and insects; 1015, Jan van Os
(1744-1808), Still-life; 95-{ Cornelis Huysmans (1648-1727; Ma-
lines and Antwerp), Landscape; 203. . van Herp, Conventual
charity ; *63. Albert Cuyp (Dort; 1605-91), Landscape with cattle
and figures(with masterly treatment of light and great transparency
of shadow); 981, W. van de Velde, Storm at sea; 1168. Van der Viiet
(Delft; d. 1642), Portrait of a Jesuit; 38, Pefer Paul Rubens (Ant-
werp ; 1077-1640), Rape of the Sabine women; 162. Van der Neer,
Bvening scene, with figures and cattle by Cuyp, whose name is in-
soribed on the pail.

*B72. Rembrandt, His own portrait (1640).

‘If Rembrandt has often chogen to :re&‘resent himgelf in more or less
eeceniric costumes; he has heére preferred to pose 68 o man of quiet and
dignified simplieity. ... The portraiil is admirable in design and tone.
A delicale and warm lichi shines from above on part of the forehead,
cheek, and nose, snd imparts o golden hue to the sghirt collar, while a
stray beam brings the band into like prominence. The execution is ex-
cellent, the eilect of light delicate and vigorous'. — Vesmaer.

*U3. Rembrandt, Portrait of a man, dated 1607,

“This picture is one of those darkly coloured pieces which Rembrandt
meant to be strongly lighted. The head plone is in the full light, the
hands are in the half-Jight only. The most eonspicuous colours are vivid
brown and red. The fentures, with the grey besrd and mousiache,
though heavily paintéd. are well defined, and Took almost ag if chiselled
by the brush, while the effect is enmhanced by the greemish tint of the
colonring, The face, and the dark eyes in porticular, sre full of ani-
mation, The whole work is indeed n marvel of colouring, expression, and
poetry’. — Vosmaer.
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49, Sir Anthony van Dyck (1599-1641), Portrait; B4, Rem-
brandt, Jewish merchant.

#4472, Van Dyek, Oharles 1. mounted on a dun horse and
attended by Sir Thomas Morton.

This flne gpecimen of Van Dyek was acqnired at the sale of the
Blenheim Collection in 1884 for 17,0001, It was originally in Somerset
House and was sold by Cromwell for 1501, The great Duke of Marl-
borongh discovered and bought it at Munich.

679, Ferd. Bol (pupil of Rembrandt; d. 4681), Astronomer
(1662); #1247, Nicolas Maes or Maas (1632-1693; fignre-painter
at Dort, a pupil of Rembrandt), The card-players (an exceedingly
graphie group of life-size figures); 732. A, van der Neer, Canal
scene (daylight scenes and canvases of g0 large a size as this were
rarely executed by Van der Neer); 190. Rembrandt, Jewish Rabbi.
— *52. Van Dyek, Portrait.

This portrait is generally gaid to represent Gevartins, the friend of
Rubens; and some suthorities mnintain, with great probability, that it
was painted by Bubens, and not by Van Dyck.

4. Pieter Neeffs (d. ca, 1680; Antwerp), Interior of a Gothic
churchy 146. A. Storck, Shipping on the Maes. — 194, Rubens,
Judgment of Paris.

Repetitions on a smaller seale exist in the Louvre and at Dres-
den, The London picture, though possibly not painted entirely by
I{n‘mmf own hand, was certainly executed under his guidance and super-
Vision.

901. Jan Looten (Duteh landscape-painter in the style of Van
Everdingen; d. about 1681), Landscape. — *45, Rembrand?, The
Woman taken in adultery, dated 1644,

‘The eolpuring of the ‘Woman taken in adultery’ is in admirable
keeping. A subdued light, an indescribable kind of glow, illumines {he
whole work, and pervades it with o mysterions harmony. The idea of
the work is most effectively enhanced hiy the magic of chiarpscuro. ...
The different Hghts, the gtronzest of which iz thrown on the yellow robe
of the woman, on t’hu group on the stairs, and on the gilded altar, are
united by moans of very skiliul shading. The whole of the hackground
in bathed in dark but warm shades’. — Vosmaer, r

1437, Duteh Sohool, Portrait of a boy; *66. Rubens, Autumnal
landscape, with a view of the Chiteau de Stein, the painter's house,
near Malines; 166. Rembrandt, Capuchin friar; %47, Rembrandt,
Adoration of the Shepherds (1646} ; Y20, Roelandt Savery (Courtrai,
landseape and animal painter ; long at the courtof Emp. Rudelph I1.;
d. 1639), Orphens. ;

289. Gerrit Lundens (1622-77; Amsterdam), Amsterdam Mus-
keteers.

“This picture, although but a greatly reduced copy of the renowned
work hy ﬁe.mlmmdt in the State Muceum at Amsierdam, has a unique
interést ng representing the pristine condition of ita great original before
it was mutilated on all four sides and shorn of some of its figures . ., .
in order to suit the picture to the dimensions of & room fo which it was
at that time (early parct of last century) removed’. — ﬁﬂm‘al Catalogue,

238. Jan Weeniz the Younger (Amsterdam, d. 1719), Dead game;
*207. Nicholas Maas; The idle servant, a masterpiece, dated 1666 ;
“7194. P. de Hooghe (1632-81), Courtyard of & Dutch house; 68D,
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Hoblema, Landseape ; J. van Ruysdael, 986, Water-mills, (628, *627,
Landseapes with waterfalls; 209. Jan Both (Utrecht, painter of
Italian landscapes in the siyle of Olinde; d. after 1662}, Land-
scape, with figures by Poelenbuyy ; 0. Anthony van Dyels, Emperor
Theodosins refuged admission to the Church of 8. Ambrogio at Milan
by St. Ambrose (copied, with slight alterations, from Rubens's pie-
ture at Vienna)y 1096, Jan Weenin, Hunting-seene; 1063, Emanuel
de Witte (d, 1692; Amsterdam), Interior of a church ; *680, Van Dyck
{after Rubens), Mirdculous Draught of Fishes. David Teniers the
Younger (genre-painter in Antwerp, pupil of A. Brouwer and
Rubens; 1610-94); “805. 014 woman peeling a pear; 817, Chitean
of the painter at Perek, with portraits of himself and his family,
986, Ruysdael, Water-mille; 187, J. van Goyen, Winter -scene;
1289, A, Cuyp, Landscape with cattle; Rubens, 59. The brazen ser-
pent, 274, Horrors of War, coloured sketoh for a large picture now
in the Pitti Palace at Florence; 242, Tenjers, Players at trie-trac
or backgammon; 157, Rubens, Landscape; 1008. Pieter Potter (?
father of Paul Potter; d. 1595), Stag-hunt; 71. Jan Both (d.
16562; Utrecht, visited Rome), Landscape with figures: 67. Rubens,
Holy Family; 1327. J. van Goyen, Winter-scene; 57. Rubens, Con-
vergion of St. Bavon; 1012, Matthew Merian (b. at Bile in 1624,
d. 1687; painted portraits at Nuremberg and Frankfort), Portrait
of a man,

#378. Rubens, Triumph of Julins Cwmsar, freely adapted from
Mantegna's famous cartoons, now in Hampton Court Palace.

The Flemigh painter gtrives to add richness to the scene by Bacechan-
alian riot und the sensuality of imperial Home. His elephanis twist their
frunks, and tenmpet to the din of eymhbals; negroes feed the flaming
candelabra with scattered frankinéense; the white oxen of Clitumnus are
Ingded with gaudy flowers, wmnd the dancing maidens are dishevelled
Mmnads, Bui the rhythmic procession of Mantegra; modalated to the
gounds of flutez and soft recorders, carries our imagination back to the
best days and strength of Rome, Iis priests and generals, eaptives and
chorle women, are as litfle Gregk as they are mugern. In them awakes
to o new life the spirit-quellidg enersy of the Republic. The painter's
severs taste keeps out of sight the insolence mnd orgies of the Empire;
lie conceives Rome ps Shakespeare did in ‘Curiolanns (Symonds).

1060, Bakhuizen, Shipping; T37. Ruysdael, Landscape with
waterfall; 46, Rubens, Peace and War (presented by the painter to
Oharles L in 1630); 8565. Corn. van Poelenburg (d. 1667 ; Utrecht,
imitator of the Roman Sehool), Ruin, with women bathing ; 1061,
Egbert van der Poel (d. 1664 ; Delft), View of Delft after the ex-
plosion of o powder-mill in 1654; 970. Gabriel Metsu (Amsterdam;
1630-67), The drowsy landlady; *963. Isaae van Ostade (landscape
and figure painter, pupil of his elder brother Adrian; d. 1649),
Frozen river (glowing with light, very transparent in eolour, and
delicate in treatment); 1006. Nie. Bevehem, Landscape; 1007, Jun
Wils, Rocky landseape; 125, Jueoh Huysman, Portrait of Izaak
Walton; 212, Thos. de Keyser (Amsterdam ; about 1660), Merchant
and clerk ; *757. Rembrand! (¥), Christ blessing little children ; 1224,
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A. de Pape(d.1668), Interior; 4258, Jan Janss van de Velde (a rare
Amsterdam painter; ca, 1640-56), Still-life; 1266, Herman Steen-
wyek (Delft), Still-lifes 486, Van Dycl, Study of horses; 223. Bak-
fhuizen, Duteh shipping; 1305. . Donek, Portraits ofJan van Herns-
beeck and hiswife; 1004. IV, Berchem, Ttalian landscape; 221, Rem-
brandt, The artist at an advanced age; 1060, Philip Wowwerman
(Haarlem; 1619-68), Vedettes, an carly work; 1564, Teniers the
Younger, Musical party; 1090, Jan Lievens (1607-2 1668), Porteait;
*797. Attributed to A. Ouyp (in the style of Lis father Jacoh Ger-
ritz Quyp, an eminent portrait-painter, and perhaps by him), Por-
trait, dated 1649; 956. Jan Bath, Italian ecene; fODO. Bakhuizen,
Shipping; 168. Teniers, Boors regaling; *1277. Nie. Maas, Por-
trait (dated 1666),

On Screexs: 1390. J. ven Ruysdael, View near Sclieveningen
(569, Rottenhammer (1564-1623), Pan and Syrinx; 187. Rubens,
Apotheoeis of Willism the Silent, of Holland; 1009, Paut Fotler,
The old gray hunter; 199. Godfried Schaleken (Dutch genre-paint-
er, famed for his candle-light effects, and a pupil of Gerard Dou;
d. 1T06), Lesbia weighing jewels against her dead sparrow (Ca=
tullus, Carmen iii); 192, Gerard Dou (Leyden ; 1613-16%5), Por-
traft of himself.

*896. Gerard Terburg or Tey Borch(Deventer, the greatest Dufoh
painter of conversation pieces; d. 1681), Peace of Milnster.

‘This picture represents the Plenipotentiaries of Philip IV, of Spain
and the Delegates of the Duteh United Provinces ngsembled in the Rath-
haus st Minster, on the 16th of May, 1648, [or the purpose of ratifying
and confirming by oath the Treaty of Peace belween the Spaninrds and
the Duteh, signed on the 30th of Janusry pravious’. (Cafaiogue). 1t
35 ome of the mosters very finest works.

1132, Hendvick Steenwyck the Younger (b. at Frankfort, worked
at Antwerp and at London, where he supplied architectural back-
grounds to Van Dyck's portraits; 1580-1653%_ Interior; 1445, Gerard
Dou, Portrait of Anna Maria van Schurman; 451. J. van Goyen,
River-gcene; 1883, Jan Venmeer of Deift, Young lady at a spinet;
12564, 1024, Fr. Huls, Portraits; 1293. J. M, Molenaar, Musical
party ; *1114-1118. Gonsales Coques (Antwerp, d. 1684), The five
senses, allegorical and finely executed half-lengths. M. Sorgh
(Rotterdam, pupil of Teniers the Younger; d. 16582), 1056. Man
and woman drinking, 1055. Card-players. 1011, Cogues, Portrait;
085, K. dw Jerdin, Sheep and goats; 1382, €. Netscher, Portrait
of George, firet Earl of Berkeley (7); 994. Jan wan dey Heyde
(architectural and landscape painter at Amsterdam, 1637-171%2),
Street; 1243, Duteh Schoot, Portrait; 106, Teniers the Younger, The
misers; 1312, Jun Victors or Vietoors (b. at Amsterdam in 1620),
The village cobbler.

Room XI. Eariy GErMAN axp Fremiss dcuoons, ete. The
names of the artists are in many cases donbtful.

To the left: 1094, 1281, Sir Anthony More or Moro (b. at Utrecht
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in 1642, painted portraits in England), Portraits; 708, Flemish
School (15th cent.), Madonna ; 4184, Nicolas Lucidel (ca. 1527-90;
b. in Hainault, painted portraits at Nuremberg), Jeanné d'Archel
(formerly aseribed to More); 245, Hang Boldung Grien (4. 1542
German seliool), Senator (with the monogram of Albracht Diirer,
probably forged); 1232, Heinrich Aldegrever (Westphalian Sthool,
imitator of Diirer; 16th cent.), Portrait; 706, Master of the Lyvers-
berg Passion (Cologne; 45th cent.), Presentation in the Temple;
204. Cranach (German School; d. 1563), Young lady; 664. Roger
win der Weyden the Eider (d. 1464), Deposition in the Tomb; 295,
Quintin Matsys (d. 1531), Salvator Mundi and Virgin Mary, re-
plicas of two plotures at Antwerp; 687. William of Cologne gearly
Cologne painter; 14th cent.), St. Veronica with her napkin: *044.
Marinus de Zeeww or Van Romerswale (d. ea. 1670 ; a follower of
(). Matsys), Two bankers or usurers in their offlce, one inserting
items in a ledger, while the other seems to recall with diffienlty the
particnlars of some business transactions 654, Sehool of Roger van
der Weyden, Mary Magdalen ; 1082. Patinir, Visitation ; 658, Flemish
Master of the 15th cent., Portraits ; 260. Meister von Lieshorn (16th
cent.), Sainte; 607, Jae. Cornelissen (Amsterdam; d. ca. 1560),
Duteh lady and gentleman, with their patron-saints, Peter and Paul;
709. Early Flemish School, Virgin and Child; 605. Bernard van Orley
(d. 1542), Reading Magdalen ; T48. Henrik met de Bles (*Henry with
the forelock’ ; Flemish painter of the 16th cent.), Mt, Galvary; 1086,
Early Flemish School, Christ appearing to the Virgin after his Re-
surrection.

*707. Master of the 8t. Bartholomew Altar, 88. Peter and
Dorothy, parts of an altar-piece in Munich; 774, Flemish School
of the 15th cent., Virgin and Ohild enthroned ; *668. Early German
Sehool (formerly ascribed to Martin Schongauer), Death of the Vir-
gin; *1045. Gheerardt David (early Flemish painter of Bruges; d.
1523), Wing of an altar-piece, representing Canon Bernardino di
Salviatis, a Florentine merchant in Flanders, with §8. Martin, Do-
natian, and Bernardinoe of Siena, a masterpicce; T19. Henrik met
de Bles, Mary Magdalen; Ti1. Aseribed to Roger van der Weyden,
Mater Dolorosa.

*686. Hans Memling or Memiine (early Flemish master of Bruges;
d. ca. 1495), Virgin and Child enthroned.

This is the only authentie work of this master in fhe gallery, and is
marked by his peculinr tenderness of coneeption and vividness of tinis.

720. J. van Schoreel or Scorel (2 d. 1562), Rest on the Flight into
Egypt; *222. Jan van Eyck (d. 1440 ; founder of the early Flemish
Sehool), Portrait of a man.

‘This is & panel in which minute finish is combined with delicata
modelling and strong relief, and a brown depth of eolour’. — Crowe
and Cavalcaseile, ‘Early Flemish Painters'.

*186. Jan van Byck, Portraits of Giovanni Arnolfini and Jeanne

de Chenany, his wife.
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‘In no gingle inftance has Jolin van Eyek expressed with more per-
feetion, by the ald of ecolour, the sense of depth and stmosphere; he
nowhere blended colours more earefully, nowhere produced more teans-
parent shadows. ... . The finish of the parts is marvéllouws, and the
preservation of the picture perfect’. — € & O,

‘Without a prolonged examination of this pieture; it is impossible
to form an idea of the art with which it has been executed. One feels
tempted to think that in thip little panel Ven Eyck has get himgell to
accumulate all manner of difflculties, or rather of impossibilities, for the
mere plessure of overcoming them. The perspective, both lineal and
aérial, is 80 ably treated, and the truthfnlness of colouring is go grent;
that all the detsils; even those reflested in the mirror, seem perspicuous
and essy ; and instead of the fatigne which the examination of so laborious
and complicated a work might well oceasion, we feel nothing save plessurs
and admiration'. — Reiset, *Gazette des Beaur Arts’, 1878 (p. 7).

The signature on this picture is “Johannes de Eyek fuit hic' (‘Jan van
Eyek was here'). The inscription on No. 222 ia equally modest: *Als ich
lcan' (*As 1 can’).

#290. Jan van Byek, Portrait of a man, dated 1432,

‘The drawing iz careful, the painting blended to a fault’. — 0. & C.

T2, Roger wan der Weyden, Lece Homo; T47. Attributed to
Memling, St. John the Baptist and St. Lawrence, ‘very minutely
and delicately worked’; 70D. Stephan Lochner (early master of Co-
logne, about 1440), SS. Matthew, Catharine of Alexandris, and
Johny T83. Flemish School, Exhumation of St. Hubert; T22. Sigis-
mund Holbein (), Portrait of a woman; 1280, Flemish Master of
the 15th cent., Christ appearing to Mary after the Resurrection;
T10. Hugo van der Goes (?), Portrait of a monk, a ‘vivid and truth-
ful portrait’ ; *656. Jan Mabuse (Jun Gossaert; early Flemisgh por-
trait and historieal painter; d.15632), Portrait, drawing and colonr-
ing alike admirable; 946, Mabuse, Portrait; *943. Flemish Sehool,
Portrait of o man, dated 1462 ; 1042. Catharine van Hemessen (por-
trait-painter at the Spanish court; 16th cent.), Portrait of a man
with fair hair,

On Scrumns: 262, Atiributed to the Meister von Liesborn, Oru-
cifixion; 1464, German Sehool (15-16th cent.), Entombment; Fle-
mish School (1B6th cent.); 708, Madonna, 696. Portrait. — 253,
Attributed to the Meister von Werden, Mass of St. Hubert; T17.
Patinir, St. John on Patmos; T14. Engelbertss, Mother and Child.
— 1287, Dutoh Sehool, Interior of 'a gallery of art,

‘We now again pass through Room X. in order to réach —

Room XII, Prrn Cornrerron. This is a collection of Flemish
and Duteh cabinet-pieces, ehiefly works of the very first rank,

819. Bakhuizen, Off the month of the Thames; W. van de Velde,
872. Shipping, 876. Gale; *834. P. de Hooghe, Dutch interior
(broad, full, sunlight effect); 818, Bakhuizen, Ooast-scene; 865. Jun
van de Cappelle (marine-painter of the 17th cent., at Amsterdam
under the inflnence of Rembrandt), Coast-scene.

*8T3. W. van de Velde, Coast of Scheveningen.

“T'he numerous figares are by Adrisn van de Velde, The unfon of
these two great maosters makes this one of the mogt charming pictures of
the Duateh school’. — W,

#8064, Gerard Terburg, Guitar lesson.
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‘Terburg muy be econsidersd as the ereator of whal are called con-
versation-pieces, and is at the same time the most eminent master in
that line. In delicacy of execution he is inferior o none; nsy in s
certain deli¢ate blending he is superior toall. But none can be sompared
to him in the mogieal harmony of his silver tones, ond in the gradations
of the aérial perspective'. — W.

868, Rubens, Trinmph of Silenns; *839. Metsu, Music-lesson ;
884, Wynants, Landscape, with flgures by A, van de Velde, — #8052,
Rubens, Portrait, known as the ‘Chapeau de paille'.

*The chief charm of the c¢elebrated *Chapean de Paille’ (¢hapean de
poil) consists in the marvellous trinmph over o great diffieulty, that of
painting & head entirely in the sbadow cast by the hat, and yet in the
clearest and most brillisnt tones’. — ‘Kugler’, edited by Crowe.

#856. Jan Steen (painter of humorous conversation-pieces;
Delfi and the Hagne; d. 1679), The music-master (an early and
very carefully finished work).

#8690, A, van de Velde, Frost-scene.

SAdmirably drawn, toudhed with great spirit, and of o vary plensing,
though, for the subject, perhops too warm o tone’, — W,

820, Jun Hackaert (Amsterdam, 17th cent.), Stag-hunt; *B70,
871. W. van de Velde, SBea-pieces; *840. Paul Potter (The Hague;
1620-54), Landscape with cattle; 833, Meindert Hobbema (Amster-
dam, pupil of Ruysdael; 1638-1709), Forest-scene. — *B68, A, van
de Velde, Ford.

‘“The compogition s very tusteful, and the contrast between the con-
centrated mags of light and the clear half shadow, which is repeated in
soft broken tones upon the horizgon, is very attractive’. — W

526, K. du Jardin, Fignres and animals reposing. — *830.
Pieter de Hooghe, Conrt of a Duteh house, 1698,

‘Exeites o joyful feeling of snmmer. In point of fulness and depth of
tome and execution one of the best pictures of the master’. — W,

876. W, van de Velde, Lizght breeze; 882, Wouwerman , Lands-
cape; 827. K. du Jardin, Fording the stream, dated 1657.

*830. Hobbema, The Avenne, Middelharnis.

From simple and by no mesns beanliful materials a picture is formed
which, by the feeling for nature and the power of art, makes a striking
impression on the intellizent spectator. Such da; 1ght [ have neyer
before seen in any picture. The perapective ig admirable, while the
gradation. from the fullest bright green in the foreground, isao delicately
observed, that it may be considered a masterpicce in this respect, and
is, on the whols, one of the most original works of art with which I am

acqguainted’. — W.

866, Van der Heyde, Street in Cologne, with figures by A. van
de Velde; 880. Wouwerman, On the seashore, selling fish (sup-
posed to be his last work); 828. Dujardin, Landscape, with cattle.
— B4, Adrian van Ostade (Agure-painter at Haarlem, pupil of
Frans Hals; d. 1685), The alchymist.

‘“The effect of Hight in the foreground, the predominant golden tone
of extraordinary brightness and clearnésa, the execution equally carefil
and spirited, snd the contrast of the deep cool chiaroseuro in the back-

ground have a peculinr charm'. — W,
828, K. duJardin, Landscape ani cattle; 874, W. van de Velde,

Jalm at sea.
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883, Wynants (d. ca. 1680), Landscape, with accegsories by

Lingetbach (dated GbBP.

“This landscape has, in a rare degree, that serene, cool freshness of
tone, which so ndmln‘ﬂy expresges the character of northern scenery,
and in which Wynants is quite unrivalled’, — W,

“832. Hobbema, Village, with water-mills (in a warm, summer-
like tone), — *822. Cuyp, Horseman and cows in a meadow.

'Of exquisite harmony, in 4 bright cool light, unususl with him®. — W,

867. Adrian wan de Velde (brother of Willemi and pupil of
Wynants at Haarlem ; 1639-72), Farm cottage; 861. Tenicrs, River-
seene; *836. Phil. de Koninok (pupil of Rembrandt; d. 1680), Land-
seape, flgures by A. van de Velde; 841, Willern van Mieris (d. 1747),
Fish and poultry shop (41743); 860, Rembrandt, Portrait. — #8205,
Gerard Dou, Poulterer’s shop.

‘Besides the extreme finish, in which he holds the first place, it
surpagses many of his othor pictures in its unugual clesrnesg snd in 1he
agreeable and spirited heads’. — W. :

578, Wouwerman, ‘La belle laititre’.

“This picture combines that delicate ftone of his second period with
the great foree which he adopted especially toward the end of it. The
effect of the dark flgures rélieved against the landscape is extroordi-
nary. — W.

860, Ruysdael, Landscape with a waterfall. — *847. Isaac wvan
Ostade (d. 1649), Village-scene in Holland.

“This delicately drawn picture combines the greatest solidity with
the most apirited execution, and the finest impasto with the greatest
glow snd depth of tone, Padl Potter himaelf could not have painted the

grey horse better’, — W. y )
*879. Wouwerman, Interior of a stable (very delicately finished).

— 831. Hobbema, Ruins of Brederode Castle.

‘Strongly illumined by a sunbeam, and reflected in the dark yet clear
water which surrounds them'. — W,

820. Bérchem, Landscape, with ruin; 881, Wouwerman, Gather-
ing faggots; 802, Teniers, The husband surprised; 8b4. Ruysdael,
Forest-scene; 823, Cuyp, River-scens, with vattle; 843, Caspar Net-
scher (pupil of Terburg, settled at the Hague; d. 1684), Children
blowing soap-bubbles (1670); 863, Teniers, Dives in torment; 401,
David Teniers the Elder (pupil of Rubens, and also of Elshaimer at
Rome; d. 1649), Playing at bowls; 1003. Jan Fyt (animal-painter
at Antwerp in the time of Rubens; d. 1661), Dead birds; 957. Jan
Both, Cattle and fignres; 205, J. W, E. Dietrich (German School,
court-painter at Dresden; d. 1774), Itinerant musicians; 964. Van
der Cappelle, River-scene; 962, A, Cuyp, Cattle and figures; 961,
Cuyp, Cattle and figures; 982. A van de Velde, Landscape; 1294
W. van de Poorter, Allegorical subject; 965. Van der Cappelle,
River scene; 949. Teniers the Elder, Rocky landscape; 999. G.
Schaleken, Candle-light effect; 984, A. van de Velde, Landscape;
977, W. van de Velde, Sea-piece; 1010. Dirk van Decien (archi-
teetural painter in Zeeland; 17th cent.), Extensive palatial build-
ings of Renaissance architecture, with figures by A. Palamedess;
969. A. van der Neer, Trost-svene; T98. Philip de Chompaigne (d,
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1674); Three portraits of Uardinal Richelieu, painted as a guide in
the execntion of a bust (over the profile on the spectator's right
ate the words, ‘De ces deux profiles ce oy est le meillenr’); 991,
Ruysdael, Prostrate tree; J, van der Heyden (d. 1712), 993. Land-
scape, 992, Gothic and classic buildings; 1047, Unknown Flemish
Muaster, Landscape (signed D. D. V., 162:2); 978. W, van de Velde,
River-scene; 1006. Berchem, Landscape; 980. Willem van de Velde
the Younger, Dutch vessels saluting; 960, Teniers, Conversation ;
979, W. van de Velde, Shipping; 973. Jan Wouwerman (landseape-
painter at Haarlem ; wrongly sseribed to Wynants), Sandbank in a
viver; 975. Philip Wouwerman, Stag-hunt.

*54. Rembrandt, Woman bathing, dated 1654,

‘Her eyes ore cast down, her head inclined. Is she hesitating to
enter the water in which she is mirrored? , . . . The charm and value
of this painiing lie in the brillant touch snd impasto, the warm and
foreible colonring, ths middle tints, and the admirable modelling’, —
Vosmeaer, ‘Rembrandt, sa Vie ¢ des Fupres.

983, Adrian van de Velde, Bay horae, cow, and goat; 43. Rem-
hrandt, Degcent from the Cross; *159. Mags, The Dutch housewife,
dated 16565 ; 974, Philip de Koninck, Hilly, wooied landscape, with
a view of the Scheldt and Antwerp Cathedral; *045, Hobbema,
Forest-landscape, of peculiarly clear ehiaroscuro; 988. Ruysdael,
01d oak ;*1563. Maas, Oradle. Van der Cappelle, 966. River-scene,
967, Shipping. 1013. Hondecoeter, Geese and ducks, Ruysdael,
#300. Landscape, an extensive flat, wooded country (a che/-d'cuvre);
987. Rocky landscape. — 952, Teniers the Younger, Village féte,
dated 1643,

‘An admirable original repetition of the masterly picture in the pos-
segsion of the Duke of Bedford, though not equal to the Bedford picture
in delieacy’. — W.

960. Ouyp, Windmills; 958. Jan Both, Outside the walls of
Rome. — *976. Philip Wouwerman, Battle,

‘Foll of animated action, of the ulmost transparency, and exacuted
with admirable precision’, — W.

959. Jan Both, River-scene; 1288, B. van der Neer, Frost-scene ;
974. Wynants, Landscape; 211. J. van Huchtenburgh (d. 1733),
Battle; B77. Vun Dyck, His own portrait; 134, Cornelius Gerrits
Delileer or Decker, Landscape; 1074. Dirk Hals (younger brother of
Trans; d. 1656), Merry party; 1278. Hendrik Gerrits Pot (d. ca.
1666), Convivial party. _

On Sorerws: 953. Teniers, The toper; 1014. A, Elsheimer,
Martyrdom of St, Lawrence; 972, Wynants, Landscape; 968.
Gerard Dou, The painter’s wife; @. Schalcken, 998, The duet, 997,
01d woman ; *838. Gabriel Metsu (painter of interiors at Amster-
dam; d. after 1667), The duet.

) t'P'a.iptsd in the warm, foll tone, which is especially valpable in his
1otares., — .
2 21. Gonzales Cogues, Family portraits; amply justifying the
artist’s claim to be the ‘Little Van Dyek’, — *844. Netscher, Ma-
ternal instruction,
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‘The ingenupus expression of the children, the delicacy of the hand-
ling, the striking eifoct of light, and the warm deep harmony render
this one of the most pleasing pictures by Netscher'. — W.

Above the cupbosrd ot the back there hangs a small eopy of Hu-
beng’ ‘Brazen Serpent’ in this eolleetion (No. 59, see p. 168).

1292, Jun van Bylert, Family group: T96. Van Huysum, Flow-
ers; 84D, Netscher, Lady at a spinning-wheel (finished with great
delicacy; B10. Frans van Mieris (. 1681), Lady feeding a parrot
(these two figures, of the same size and in the same dress, afford
an interesting comparison of the workmanship of the two masters);
867-560. Teniers, The seasons. — *BAB. Isage van Ostade, Canal
soene in winter.

‘The great truth, sadmirable treatment, and fresh feeling of a winter's
day render it one of the chefs-d’ouvire of the master’. — W.

*824. A. Cuyp, Ruined castle in a lake (‘gilded by the most
glowing evening sun’).

Several other Duteh paintings, chiefly landscapes, are tempor-
arily hung in the Central Octagon (p. 164).

Room XIII, Larsr Itavrax Scmoon. What is known as the
Leleotic or Academic School of Painters arose in Italy with the
foundation of a large academy at Bologna by the Carracei in 1589,
Its aim was to combine the peculiar excellences of the earlier
masters with a closer study of mature. The best representatives of
the school are grouped together in this room, which alse contains
examples of the later Venetian mastars.

Annibale Carracei (younger brother of Lodovieo, and founder
along with him of the Bolognese Academy; d. 1608), 93. Silenus
gathering grapes; 94, Bacchus playing to Silenius, quite in the
style of the ancient fregcoes. 225, Jacopo Bassano (Venetian painter
of the late Renaigsance ; d, 1597), Christ driving the money-changers
out of the Temple; 624, Ascribed to Giulio Remano ERoman School,
pupil of Raphael; d. 1546), Infancy of Jupiter; 135. Canaletto,
Landscape with ruins; 1004 Francesco Guardi (architectural and
landscape painter, closely allied to Canaletto ; d,1793), View in Ve-
nive; 1107, Bernardo Cavallino (Naples; d. 1654), Nativity; 48.
Domenichino (Domenico Zampieri; d. 1641), Tobias and the Angel;
22. Guercino EGIomnni Franeeseo Barbieri; d. 1666), Angels weep-
ing over the dead body of Christ (a good example of this painter, re-
sembling Caravaggio in the management of the light, and recalling
the pictureof the same subject by Van Dyek in the Antwerp Musenm);
214. Ascribed to Guido, Coronation of the Virgin; 198. Ann. Car-
racci, Temptation of St. Anthony, unattractive; 160. Pietro Fran-
cesco Mola (1612-08), Repose on the Flight into Egypt; 11. Guido
Reni Ed. 1642), 8t. Jerome; 936. Ferdinando Bibiena (Bologna;
1607-1743) , Performance of Othello in the Teatro Farnese at
Parma.

*042. Canaletto (Antonio Canale, of Venice; d. 1768). Eton
Oollege in 1746, with the Thames in the foreground.
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This picture was painted during the artizt’s visit to England in 1746-8,
perhaps, a8 Mr. Cook pointa out, in the same year (1747) that Gray published
his well-known ‘0ide on a distant Prospeet of Hion College’.

Pietro Longhi (see R, VIII, p. 164), 1100. Domestie gronp,
1134, Fortune-teller, 1101. Masked visitors at a menagerie; 93%.
Sualvator Rosa (Neapolitan landscape- painter; d. 1673), River-
goene, — 937, Canaletto, Seucla di Ban Roceo, Venice.

The picture represents ‘the ceremony of Giovedl SBanto or Maundy
Thursday, when the Doge and officers of state with the fraternity of St
Rock went in procession to the church of 8i. Mark io worship the
miraculons blood’. — Catalogue.

940, Canaletto, Ducal Palace and Column of St. Mark, Venlee;
1333. Tiepolo, Deposition from the Oross; 20, Anm. Carracei, St,
John in the Wilderness; 939. Canalefto, Piazzetta of Bt. Mark,
Venice; 1208. Salv. Rosa, Landscape; 210, Guardi, Piazza of
8t. Mark, Venice; 861. Seb. Ricei, Venus asleep ; 85. Domenichino,
8t. Jerome and the Angel; 934. Carlo Dolei (Florentine painter of
saered subjects; d. 1686), Virgin and Child ; 196. Guido, Susannah
and the Elders (‘a work’, says Mr. Ruskin, ‘devoid alike of art and
decency’) ; *84. Salv. Rosa, Meroury and the woodman; 77. Domen-
ichino, Stoning of 8t. Stephen; 9. Ann. Carracei (%), Christ appear-
ingto St, Peter after his Resurreciion (the diffleulties of foreshortening
have been only partly overcome); 7. Domenichino, Landscape with
Bt. George and the Dragon; 200. Sassaferrato (Giov: Batt. Salvi;
d, 1685), Madonna in praver(primitivein colouring, common in form,
and lighted for effect); 1951.) Quido Reni, Lot and his daughters;
163. Canaletts, Grand Canal, Venice; 138, Pannini (Roman School;
d. 17684), Ancient rains, — 740. Sassoferrato, Madonna and Child.

The composition is not by Sassoferrato, but i8 from an earlier
etohing by Cnv. Ventura Salembeni (4. 1614). See Catalogie.

28. Lodovieo Carracei (d. 1619, Busannah and the Elders;
#0643, Giulio Romano (ageribed by Mr. Crowe to Ginlio’s pupil,
Rinaldo Mantovane), Capture of Carthagena, and the Moderation
of Publiug Cornelins Seipio, colouring and drawing both excellent.
— *0iB. Annibale Cuyracei, Landscape with fignres.

“Under the influence of Titian's landscapes and of Paul Bril, who was
40 justly esteemed by him, Annibale acuired that grandeur. of compogi-
tion, and benufy of outlines, which hnd so great sn influence upon
Clinde and Guspar Poussin.® — W,

944, Canalefto, Grimani Palace, Venice; 177. Guido Reni,
Mary Magdalen; 174, Carlo Muratta (Roman painter; d. 1718),
Portrait of Cardinal Cerri; 172, Caravaggio (Michaelangelo Amerighi,
founder of the naturalisti¢ school of Naples; d. 1600), Chrigt and
the Disciples at Emmaus; 127, Canaletto, View of the Souola della
Oarita, now the Accademia delle Belle Arti, Venice; 63, Annm.
Carracei, Landscape. — 29. Baroceio (Federigo Baroeci, a follower
of Correggio; 1625-1612), Holy Family (‘La Madonna del Gatto’,
so0 called from the cat introduced).

‘The chief intention of the picture is Joln the Baptist ns o child,
who tenses & cat by showing her & bullfineh which he holds in his hand,
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The t?i_rgln. Christ, and Jpseph seem wmnch amused by this ecrusal
aport. —

933, Padovaning, Boy with a bird; 271, Guido Reni, Evee Homo;
70. Padovanino (Alessandro Varotari, of Venice ; d. 16560), Cornelia
and her children (children form this artist’s favourite subject}); #644.
Ascribed to Rinaldo Mantovano, Rape of the Sabine women, and Re-
conciliation between the Romans and Sabines (these pictures recall,
inmany respects, Raphael’s frescoes in the Vatican); 6Y. Pietro Fran.
Mola, 8t, John in the wilderness; 1059, Canaletio, Church of St.
Pietro di Castello, Venice ; 83. Ann. Capracei, Erminia taking refnge
with the shepherds (from Tasso); 988. Canaleito, Regatta on the
Canale Grande, Venice; *191. Guido Reni, Youthful Christ embrac-
ing St, John, a very characteristic work, and the best pisture by
Guido in this collestion ; 1058. Canaletto, Canal Reggio, Venice.

On Screrns: (iuseppe Zais (Venetian; d. 1784), 1296, Land-
scape, 1207, River-scene. — 1048. Unknown Iltatian Master (16th
cent)., Portrait of a cardinal; 1192, 1193. Tiepolo, Sketches for
altar-pieces.

Boom XIV, Frexcu Scmoon. The French landscape-painter
Claude Lorrain, who is represented in this collection by several
fine examples, is chiefly eminent for his skill in aérial perspestive
and his management of sunlight. Salvator Rosa and the two
Pougsins lived and painted at Rome contemporaneously with him
(17th cent.). Nicolas Pongsin, more famed as a painter of fizures
than of landscapes, was the brother-in-law of Gaspar Poussin
(properly Gaspar Dughet), a follower of Claude.

On each gide of the doorway hang a large landscape by Claude
and one by Turner. To the right, as we enter from Room XIII.:
#12. Claude (4. 1682), Landscape with figures (with the inseription
on the pieture itself, ‘Mariage d'lsac avee Rebeea'), a work of
wonderfully transparent atmosphere, resalling in its composition
the celebrated picture ‘Il molino’ (the mill) in the Palazzo Doria
at Rome, painted in 1648; ®479, Turner, Sun rising in a mist, —
To the left: 498. Turner, Dido building Carthage. (Theee two
pictures were bequeathed by the artist on condition that they shonld
be hung beside the Clandes.)

This pictura (No. 408) is not considered a favourable specimen of Tuor-
ner, whoge ‘ove for colour unaceountably fails him' (Ruskin). Mr. Ruskin
comments on the ‘exquigite ehoice’ of the group of children sailing toy-
boats, as expressive of the ruling passion, which was o be the source of
Carthage's future greatness,

The vigitor will gearcely meed to be referred to ‘Modern Painters’
(Vol. 1), for Mr. Ruskin's elogquent comparison of Turner with Claude
and the niher landscape-painters of the old siyle and for his impassioned
championship of the English master.

*14, Claude, Embarkation of the Queen of Sheba (1648).

“The effect of the morning sun on the sea, the waves of 'which run
high, and on the masses of building which adorn the shore, produecing
the most striking contrast of lHght and shade, is sablimely poetical'. — W.

Then, to the left: 1090, Frangois Boucher (1754—1770], Pan

Bagperxn, London. Oth Edit, 12
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and Syrinx; 91. N. Poussin, Sleeping Venus surprized by satyrs;
86. Guspard Poussin (properly G. Dughet; d. 1675), Land-storm;
286. €. J. Vernet (grandfather of Horace Vernet; d. 1789), Castle
of Sant’ Angelo, Rome. Claude, *1018, Classieal landscape, dated
1673 ; 2. Pastoral landscape with figures (reconeiliation of Oepha-
lus and Proeris); *30. Embarkation of 8t. Ursula. 95. @, Poussin,
Landecape with Dido and Aness, with sky much overcast; 65.
N. Poyssin (d. 1665), Cephalus and Aurora; 1319, Claude, Land-
seape with figures; 903. Hyaeinthe Rigaud (portrait-painter under
Louis XIV. and Louis XV.; d. 1743), Portrait of Cardinal Fleury;
b. Claude Lorrain, Seaport at sunset. — *62. N. Poussin, Baccha-
nalian dance.

This is the best example of Nicholas Poussin in the gallery. The
composition i3 an imitation of an ancient bas-relief.

#4049, Jean Greuse (painter of fancy portraits; d. 1805), Head
of a girl looking up; 61. Claude, Landscape; 16D. N. Poussin,
Plague among the Philistines at Ashdod. — *31. @. Poussin, Land-
scape, with Abraham and Isaac.

“This ip the finest picture by Poussin here. Seldom; perhaps, have the
chirms of o plain, as contrasted with hilly forms oyergrown with fhe richest
farests, heen so well understood nnd go happily united as here, the effact
being enhanced by a warm light, broken by shadows of elouds'.— W,

2006. Greuse, Head of a girl ; 8, Claude Lorrain, Landscape with
gosts, — 40. N, Poussin, Landscape, with Phocion.

According to Mr, Ruskin, this is ‘one of the finest landscapes that an-
cient art has produced, — the work of o really great nnd intellectual mind’,

4. N, Poussin, Bacchanalian festival ; faﬁf}?'. Cavalling, Nativity;
68, 98. @. Poussin, Landscapes; 50. Claude, Landscape, with death
of Prooris; 1154, Greuse, Girl with a lamb; 161. . Poussin, Italian
jandscape; *6. Claude, Landseape with flgnres (David and Sanl in
the Cave of Adullam?); 1159. G, Poussin, The Calling of Abraham;
BY. N. Poussin, Nursing of Bacchus.

Ox Bersess: 101-104. Nicolas Laneret (painter of ‘Fites Ga-
lantes’; d. 1743), Ages of man; 1020. Greuse, Girl withan apple;
12068, J. B. 8. Chardin, Still-life; 1190, Aseribed to Fr. Clouet
(eourt-painter to Franecis 1.3 b. about 1510, d. before 1574), Por-
trait of a boy; 660. Clovet, Portrait of a man; Simon Marmion,
1303, Choir of angels, 1302, Soul of 8f. Bertin borne to heaven.

Room XV. Seanisx ScHooL,

To the left: Velasques (d. 1660), *232. Adoration of the Shep-
lerds (early work, under the influence of Spagnoletto); 1122,
Domenico Theotocopuli (d. 1620), surnamed I Greeo, A Cardingl ;
*74, Bartolome Esteban Murillo (influenced by Velazquez and Van
Dyck; d. 1682), Spanish peasant boy; 1129, Velasques, Philip IV,
(bonght at the Hamilton sale for 63004 ); 41291, Juan de Valdes Leal,
Assumption of the Virgin; *197. Velasgues, Philip IV. hunting the
wild boar; *1706. Murillo, St. John and the Lamb; 1229. Morales
(1609-86; surnamed ‘the Divine' from his love of religious sub-
jects), Holy Family, a highly finished little work, recalling the
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Flemish manner; Muritlo, 1286, Boy drinking, 12567. Birth of the
Virgin; 1308. 7. B. del Maso, Portrait.

Velazques, *T45. Philip 1V., 1375. Christ at the house of Martha,
#1148, Scourging of Ohrist. *13. Murilio, Holy Family; 230, Zur-
daran (d. 1662), Franciscan monk. Ribera, 235. Dead Christ, 244.
Shepherd; Velasques, T41. Dead warrior, 1376. Sketch of a duel
in the Prado.

Room XVI (adjoining R. XIV). Orpsr Brirtsn Scuoorn. To
the left: Thomas Gainsborough (comp, p. 164), 760. Orpin,
Parish Clerk of Bradford, Wiltshire; 109. The watering-place;
*B83. Mrs. Siddons, 1384. Wilson, Sons of Frederick, Prince of
Wales, with their tutor. — Sir Joshua Eeynolds, portrait-painter
and writer on art, founder and fixst president of the Royal Aca-
demy (1723-92), 889, His own portrait, 307. Age of Innoecence,
886. Admiral Keppel, #1259. Anne, Countess of Albemarle, 890,
George IV, as Prince of Wales, 189, Heads of angels, 305, Por-
trait, 830, The snale in the grass. — 1402, 1403, Henry Morland,
The laundry-maid ; Gainsborough, 925, Landscape, 1044, Porfrait;
Reynolds, 107, The banished lord , 162, Infant Samuel, 892, Ro-
binetta, a study of the Hon. Mrs. Tollemache, painted about 1786 ;
T2, J. Wright of Derby , An experiment with the air-pump. —
Reynolds, 306. Portrait of himself; 887, Portrait of Dr. Johnsons
891, Lady and child. — 1497, Zofany, Portrait of David Garrick;
1865, Reynolds, Lady Cockburn and children; 675. Gainsborough,
Study of a head ; *312. Romney (1784-1802), Lady Hamilton as a
bacehante; Reynolds, 79, The Graces decorating a terminsl figure of
Hymen (portraits of the daughters of Sir. W. Montzomery), 888,
James Boswell, the biographer of Johnson; 1068. Romney, The
parson's daughter. Reynolds, 106, *754. Portraits; 111, Lord Heath-
field, the defender of Gibraltar in 1779-83.— There are also several
other portraits in this and the following room by different hands.

Room XVII. Oupmr Britisa Scmoon. To the lefi: William
Hogarih(d.1764), 1161, Miss Fenton, the actress, as ‘Polly Peachuny
in the ‘Beggars' Opera'; *1046. Sigismonda mourning over the heart
of Guiseardo; 1162, Shrimp girl. 809, Gainsborough; The watering~
place; 304, 1280, 1064, 267, 303, 302, 1071, 108, 110. Wilson (d.
1782), Landseapes; 1374, Hogarth, The painter's servant. Samuel
Seott (d. 1772), 314. 014 Westminster Bridge in 4745, 813. 014
London Bridge, 1223. Portion of Westminster Bridge, 1328, West-
minster from the river. 1046, Sir Peter Lely (d. 1680}, Portrait.
Hogarth, 1153. Family group; 113-118. Marriage & la mode (in
1760 Hogarth received only 1101, for the series, which when sold
again in 1794 realised 1381L). #1249, William Dobson (1610-46;
the ‘English Van Dyck'), Endymion Porter, Groom of the Bad-
chamber to Charles I; 1224, Hudson (d, 1779), Scott, the painter;
67D, Hogarth, Portrait of his sister; 316. Loutherbourg (d. 1812),
Likein Cumberland; 1076. Unknown, Portrait, supposed to be the

408
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poet Gay; 112. Hogarth, Portrait of himself; 1281. Franeis Cotes
(d. 4770), Portrait of Mrs. Brocas; 1174, Gainshorough, Sketeh for
No. 109 (p. 179).

To reach the next room, we cross the main staireaze,

Room XVIIIL. BrrrseSosoon. In the doorway, to the left, John
Constable’s palette is shown under glass, To the left: *1242, Aler.
Nasmyth (1768-1840; a painter of portraits and landscapes at Edin-
burgh ; father of Patrick Nasmyth), Stirling Castle.

Bir David Wilkie describes Alex., Nasmyth as ‘the founder of the
landseape school of Scotland, and the first to enrich his native land with
the representation of her romantic scenery’. -

1080. George Morland (d. 1804), Interior of a stable (17911;
374, Bonington (d.1828), Column of St. Mark at Venice; 880, 381.
Puirick Nasmyth (1786-1881), Landscapes; T87. John 8. Copley
(b. at Boston, Mass., in 1737; d. 1815), Siege and relief of Gi-
braltar, John Constable (one of the greatest English landscape-
painters, who has exercised great influence on the modern French
school of landscape; 1776-1837), 1065. Corn-fleld, 1066, Barnes
Common, 1285, Houee in which the artist was born, 1237, View
on Hampstead Heath, 1245, Church-porch at Bergholt, Suffolk.
1069. Thos. Stothard (1756-1884), Nymphs discovering the nar-
vissus - flower; 1440, Witliam Blake (1757 -1827), The Spiritual
Form of Pitt guiding Behemoth (an ‘iridescent sketeh of enigmatic
dream’, symbolizing the power of statesmanship in controlling brute
foree) ; #1037, Crome(“Old Crome’ of Norwich, d. 1821), Slate quar-
ries. Constable, 1244, Bridge at Gillingham, 1236. View on Hamp-
stead Heath, 1276. Harwich. Stothard, 1070. Cupids, 318. Wood-
land dance, 319. Cupid and Oalypso. 1208. Opie (d. 1807), William
Godwing 926. Crome, Windmill; 1392. J. Z. Bell, Cardinal Bour-
ehier urges the widow of Edward IV, to let her son out of prison;
839, Crome, Mousehold Heath , near Norwich ; 41467, Opie, Portrait,
supposed to be Mary Wollstonecraft (Mrs. Godwin). Sir Thomas Law-
rence (d, 1830), 129. John Angerstein (p. 150), 1238, Sir Samuel
Romilly, 1163. Stothard, The Canterbury Pilgrims; 788. John Cop-
ley, Death of Major Peirson; 1477, P. Nasmyth, Landscape ; 1248,
Constable, House at Hampstead ; 1164. Blake, Procession from Cal-
vary; Stothard, 322. Battle, 1185, Nymphs and satyrs, 820, Diana
bathing ; 1067. @. Morland, Quarry; Gainsborough, 1271, Portrait,
80. The market cart, *311. Rustic children; 548. Callecil, Dutch
coast; 1089. Thos. Barker (1769-1847), Landseape; 1179, P. Nas-
myth, Landseape. Copley, 100, Last public appearance of the Earl
of Chatham, who fainted in endeavouring to speak in the ITouse
of Peers on April 7th, 1778, and died a month later; 1072, 1073,
Studies for No. 100. 3821. Stothard, Intemperance (Cleopatra and
Mark Antun?; 310. Gainsborough, Watering-place; 1158. James
Ward (d. 1859), Harlech Castle,

On sereens: 1240, Rossetti, The Aununciation; Lewis, Edfou in
Upper Egypt.



14, NATIONAL GALLERY. 181

Room XIX. Brrrisu Scuoorn. To the left: T85. Sir Thos. Law-
rence, Mrs. Siddons; 1286, Horace Vernet, Napoleon I.; 13856, A. L.
Egg, Beatrix knighting Esmond (from Thackeray's ‘Esmond’) ; 1307.
Sir Thos. Lawrence, Miss Carcline Fry; 304, G. 8. Newton, Dutch
girl at a window; 438, John Linnell, Woodcutters; 1184 @. Lanee,
Fruit; 1483. P. Nasmyth, Landscape; 4349, 13850. Sir Edwin
Landseer, Studies of lions; Constable, 1275, View at Hampstead,
*4273. Flatford Mill, 1272. Cenotaph erected in memory of Sir
Joshua Reynolds in Coleorton Park, Leicestershire; 1384, P, Na-
simyth, View in Hampshire; 1301, G. Morland, Village inn; 1395.
Sir Chas. Easilake, Portrait; 1283, Gainsborough, Dedham; 893,
Sir T. Lawrence, Princess Lieven; 1380, G. B. Willeock, Near
Torquay; 1379. 7. Wondman, Rat-catcher; B63. Thos. Seddon
(a pre-Raphaelite; d. 18566), Jernsalem and the Valley of Jehosha-
phat; 1250. Daniel Maclise (1811-70), Oharles Dickens; 363,
Newton (d. 1830), Yorick and the Grisette; 917. T. 8. Good
(d. 1872), No News; 600, Dyckmans (b. 1811), Blind beggar; 1306.
Barker, Landscape.

Boom XX, Mopery Brrvisu SBcmoorn. To the left: 394, Wil-
liam Mulready (1786-1863), Fair time; 607. Sir Edwin Landseer
sd. 1873), Highland dogs; 439. J. Linnell (d. 1882), Windmill;

181. Mulready, Sea-shore with boys bathing; 1182. C. B. Leslie,
Seene from Milton's “‘Comus’; 462. J. F. Herving (d. 1860), The
scanty meal; 407, €. Stanfield (d. 41867), View in Venice; 44%2.
Landseer, Hunted stag; 614. W. Etty (d. 1819), The bather; 4086.
Stanfield, Lake of Como; 1441. J. 8. Cotman (d. 1842), Wherries
on the Yare; #4226, Londseer, A distinguished member of the Ro-
yal Humane Society; 395, Mulready (d. 1863), Crossing the ford ;
1186. J. Glover (d. 1849), Landseape, with cattle; 448. G. Lanee
(d.4864), Fruit; 409. Landseer, King Charles spaniels; 431, FB.
M. Ward (d. 1879), Disgrace of Lord Clarendon; 393. Mulready,
The last in; 8B9. Etty, Lute-player; 414, Landseer, Highland
music; 426. Webster, The truant; 403. Churles Leslic (d. 1859),
Unele Toby and Widow Wadman in the sentry-box (from ‘Iristram
Shandy'); 444, A. @. Egg (d. 1863), Scene from the ‘Diable Boi-
teux’; 404, Stanfield ; Entrance to the Zuyder Zee; *604. Landseer,
Dignity and Impudence; 408, Charles Landseer (d. 15879), Clarissa
Harlowe in the spunging-house; 1040, W, J. Miiller (d. 1845),
Landscape; 410. Landseer, High Life and Low Life; 423. Daniel
Maclise, Malvolio and the Countess; 427, Webster, Dame-school ;
450. Fred. Goodae'l, Village holiday; 645. W, P. Frith, Derby Day;
818. Clays, Duteh boats in the roads of ¥lushing; 1205. F. L.
Bridell (d. 1863), Chestnut woods above Varenna, Lake Como;
241, Sir David Wilkie (d. 1840), The Parish Beadle; 4183. Thos.
Pliiltips (d. 1845), 8Bir David Wilkie; 840. €. Pougsin, Pardon Day
in Brittany. Constable, ¥130. Corn-fleld, *1207. Hay-wain, *327.
Valley Farm. 124, John Jackson (d.1831), Rev. Wm. Holwell Carr;
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898. Sir Chartes Eastlake (1. 1865), A Greek girly 1265, 7, Hol-
tand (4. 1870), Hyde Park Gorner in 1825; 446. J. C, Horsley, The
P'ride of the Village (from Irving’s ‘Sketch Book’). Sir David Wilkie
(1786-1841), 99, Blind Fiddler, 122, Village Festival. 4563, Aler.
Praser (4. 1865), Highland cottage; 420, J. B. Herbert, Sir Thomas
More and hie dangliter in the Tower observing monks led to exe~
cution; 347. Stathard, Greek vintage; 1175, James Ward, Regent's
Park in 1807 ; 1204, James Stark (d. 1869), Valley of the Yare, near
Norwich. Wilkie, 821. Blindman’s Buff (sketeh); 828, The first
ear-ring,

On Screexs: *12TY. Dante Gabriel Rossetti (the leader of the
pré-Raphaelite movement in English art; 4828-82), ‘Beata Beatrix’
(a portrait of the artist’s wife, painted some time after her death);
the words at the foot of the frame were quoted by Dante from Jere-
miah to indipate the grief in Florenee on Deatrice's death, the date
of which (June 9th, 41290) is given at the top, — 1898, Sir Chas.
Fuastlake, Ippolita Torelli.

Room XXI. Drrrisa Scwoon of THE 19th orxtury., To the left;
402. Leslie, Sancho Panza in the chamber of the Duchess; 231,
Wilkie, Portrait of Thomas Daniell, R. A,; 620. Lee (d. 1879),
River-stene, the cattle by Cooper; *432. E. M. Ward, The South
Sea Bubble; 120. Sir William Beechey (d. 1839), Nollekens, the
seulptor: *350. Etty, ‘Youth on the prow and Pleasure at the helm’
(Gray). Sir E. Landseer, 600, Defeat of Comns, 603. Sleeping
bloodhound (painted in four days), *608. ‘Alexander and Dio-
genes’. 922, Lawrence, Portrait of a child; 1142, Ceeil Lnwson
(d. 1882), The Augnst moon ; *621. Rosa Bonheur, Horse-fair; 416.
Pickersgitt (d.1875), Robert Vernon (p. 162). Ary Scheffer (d.1868),
1170. 88. Angustine and Moniea, 1169, Mrs. Robert Hollond, who
sat for St. Moniea in No. 1470. 397. Eastlake, Christ lamenting over
Jerusalem ; 401. David Roberts (avchitectural painter; d. 1864),
Chancel of the church of St. Paul at Antwerp; *1209. Fred. Walker

d. 4875), The vagrants; B00. Landseer, Shoeing the bay mare;

14. Glays, Dutch shipping. Sir Edwin Landseer, 413. Peace, 414,
War; 900. John Hoppner (d. 1810), Countess of Oxford ; 399, Sir
Chas. Eastlake, Escape of the Carrars family from the Duke of
Milan in 1389 ; 428, B. Redgraye (d. 1888), Country cousins; 437.
Danby (d. 1861), Landscape; 609. Sir E. Landseer, The Maid and
the Magpie; BOD. Thos, Damiell, View in Dengal; *430. E. M.
Ward, Dr. Johnson in Lord Chesterfleld’s ante-room; 1029, Linton
(d. 1876), Temples of Pestum; *422. Maglise, Scene from Hamlat;
340, Sir A. Callcott, Dutch peasants returning from market, 346, En-
trance to Pisn; 898, Sir Chas, Eastlake, Byron's dream ; *894. Wilkie,
John Knox preaching before the Lords of the Congregation in 1509,
after his return from an exile of 13 years; 1081. Poole (d. 1879),
YVision of Ezekiel; 616. E. M. Ward, Jameg IL, receiving the news
of the landing of William of Orange; 1408. Opie, Portrait; 1352,
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John Jackzon, Salvator Mundi. — On Scmzexs: 7. 8, Good, 919,
Study of a boy, 378. The newspaper; Wilkie, 330. Landscape, 329,
Bagpiper. — 1225, T. Webster (d. 1886), His father and mother;
1412, Linnell, Portrait; 1088, Mulready, Snow-seene; 1178, P. Na-
amyth, Landscape; 1407, W, Dyee, Pegwell Bay; 442. Geo. Lance,
Little Redeap; 1388. George Mason, The cast shoe.

Room XXII contains an admirable collection of paintings by
J. M. W. Turper 51775-1861), the greatest English landseape-
puinter (comp. p. 177), chiefly bequeathed by the artist himself.
To the left: *528, Burial at sea of Sir David Wilkie; H34, Ap-
proach to Venice; *530. Snow-storm, steamboat off a harbour making
signals; 472. Calaiz pier, English packet arriving; 470. Tenth
plague of Egypt; 476. Shipwreek ; 488, View of London from Green-
wich; 813. Fishing-boats in a breeze; 480. Death of Nelson; 493.
The Deluge; 481, Doat's crew recovering an anchor at Spithead;
488, Apollo slaying the Python; 477. Garden of the Hesperides;
513, Viszion of Medea; 516. Childe Harold's Pilgrimage; 473, Holy
Family; *497. Crossing the brook; 512. Caligula’s palace and bridge
at Baijwe; BBB. Fire at sea (unfinished); 4068. Portrait of himself;
#538. Rain, steam, and speed, the Great Western Railway; 501,
Shipwreek at the mouth of the Meuse; 520: Apollo and Daphne;
H06. Dido directing the equipment of the fleet at Carthage; #5602,
Richmond Hill; 508, Ulyases deriding Polyphemus; 505. Apollo
and the Sibyl, Bay of Baim; 474. Destruction of Sodom; *492.
Frosty morning; 495. Apuleia in search of Apuleius; HDY. Pet-
worth Park; *5356. The ‘Sun of Venice’ putting to sea; *5624. The
‘Fighting Temeraire’ towed to her last berth to be broken up (one
of the most frequently copied pietures in the whole Gallery];
486. View of Windsor; 545, Queen Mab's Grotto; 623. Agrippina
landing with the ashes of Germanicus, — On Scrurws: 870, Turner,
Grand Canal at Venice; Turner’s palette, with an autograph letter.
— 1891, F. D. Walker, The Harbour of Refuge; 369, Turner, Prince
of Orange landing at Torbay.

15. Royal College of Surgeons. Soane Mussum,
Moral Hall. Covent Garden Market. St. Paul’s. Garvick Club.

Lincoln’s Inn Fields (Pl R, 81; II), to the W. of Lincoln's
Inn (p. 140), are surrounded by lawyers' offices and form the Jargest
square in London. Before their enclosure in 1735 they were a
favourite haunt of thieves and a resort of duellists. Lord William
Russell (p. 127) was executed here in 1683,

On the 8. gide of Lincoln’s Inn Fields rises the Royal College
of Surgeons, designed by Sir Charles Barry, and erected in 1830.
It contains an admirable musenm, Visitors are admitted, throvgh
the personal introduction or written order of a member, on Mon,,
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Tuoes., Wed., and Thurs, from 11 to 4 in winter, and from 11 to 5
in summer, The Museum is elosed during the month of Septem-
ber, Application for orders of admission, which are not transfer-
able, may be made to the secretary.

The nueleus of the museum consists of a collection of 10,000
anatomical preparations formed by John Hunter (d. 1793), which
was purchased by Government after his death and presented to the
College. Tt is divided into two chief departments, viz. the Physio-
logical Series, containing specimens of animal organs and forma-
tiong in a normal state, and the Pathological Series, containing
similar specimens in an abnormal or diseased condition. There are
now in all about 23,000 specimens. A Synopsis of the Contents
ig sold at the Mugeum, price 6d. ¥xtended catalogues of the dif-
ferent departments are also distributed throughout the Museum for

the use of visitors.

In the centre of the WesTERy Museuy, the room we first enter, is hung
the gkeleton of a Greenlond whale; a marble gtatne of Hunter by Waekes,
erected in 1864, stands in the middle of the floor at the 8. énd of the
hall. The Wall Cases on the pight side contain Egyptian and other
mummies, an admirable and extensive collection o 8 skulls of the
different nations of the earth, deformed skeletons, abnormal bone forma-
tions, and the like. The Floor Cabinets on the right contain anatomical
preparations illpstrating normal homan snatomy, and alse additional
apeeimeng of diseased and injured bones, including some skulls and hones
injured by gun-shot wounds in the Crimean war. The- Arst five Floor
Cabinets on the feft contain a eollection illustrating the zoology of the
invertebrates, such as zoophytes, shell-fish, crabs, and beetles. In the
sixth cabinet are cagts of the interior of cranin. The 'Wall Cases on this
gide hold vegetable fossils, human cranin, snd human skeletons. In the
casg ot the upper end u} the room i the pkelston of thé Irish giamt
Byrne or O"Bryan, T{t. Tin. high; adjoining it, under s glags-shade, is that
of the Sicilian dwarf, Caroline Crachami, who died sl the age of 10 yesrs,
20in. in height. Under the same shade are placed wax models of her
arm and fopt, and beside it s a plaster cast of her face.

The Mippre Museusm forms the palieontological section, where the
antediluvian skelstons in the centre are the most interesting objects.
Skeletin of a gizantic stag (erroncouzly called the frish Elk), dug up from
a bed of shell-marl beneath a peat-bpg at Limerick; giant armadilloes
from Buenos Ayres; giant sloth (mylodon), also from Buenos Ayres; a
cast of the Dinornis giganteus, an extinet wingless bird of New Zealand;
the lhuge megatherium, with the missing parts supplied. In the Wall
Cnges is'a number of amaller skeletonk and fossils. The Floor Cabinet
containg in one of its trays gpecimens of the bair and dkin of the great
extinet elephant or mammoth, of which thére are gome fossil remains
in one of the cases. ;

The EasTery MusEum contains the osteological series. In the centre
are the skeletons of the large mammalis: whalesa (incloding a sperm-
whale or cachalot, B0 ft. long), hippopotumus, giraffe, rhinccercs, ele-
phant, ete. The elephant, Chunee, was exhibited for many years in Eng-
land, but becoming unmanageable had at last to be shot. The poor animal
did not sugcumb till more than 100 bullets had been fired into ita body. The
akeleton numbered 4506 A. is that of the first tiger shot by the Prinee of
Wales in India in 1876, The gkeleton of *Orlando’; o Derby winnér, and
that of a favourite deerhound of Sir Edwin Landseer, are also exhl’hned
here. The Cages round the room contain smaller skelstons.

Round ench of the rooms run two galleries, in which are kept numer-
owg preparations in spirit, ete,, including the diseased infestinea of

—

T W
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Napoleon 1. The galleries of the Western Museum are reached by a
staircase at the 5. end of the room, those of the Enstern by a staircase ai
the E. end of the room. The gallories of the Middle Room are entered
from those of either of the gthers. A room, enlered from the staircase
of the Eastern Museum, eontsins a eollection of surgical instruments.

The Musenm is conspicuous for its admirable organisation and
arrangement. The College also possesses a library of about 40,000
volumes. The Council Room contains a good portrait of Hunter by
Reynolds and geveral busts by Chantrey.

At No. 13, Lincoln's Inn Fields, N. side, opposite the College
of Burgeons, is 8ir John Soane’s Museum (Pl. B, 31 ; IT), founded
by Sir John Soane (d.1837), architect of the Bank of England,
During March, April, May, June, July, and August this interesting
epllection is open to the publicon Tues., Wed., Thurs., and Frid.,
from 11 to 5. During the recess visitors are admitted by tickets
obtained from the curator, Mr. Wyatt Papworth, The collection,
which is exceedingly diversified in character, ocoupies 24 rooms,
some of which are very small, and is most in geniously arranged,
every corner being turned to account. Among the contents, many
of which offer little attraction, are a few good pictures and a number
of euriosities of historieal or personal interest. A General Deserip-
tion of the contents, price Gd., may be had at the Musenm,

The Dixixe Room axp Liprany, which the wisitor flrst enters, are
decorated somewhat after the Pompeian style. The ceiling paintings are
bty Henry Heward, R. A., the principal subjects being Phosbus in his ecar,
Pandora among the gods, Epimethens receiving Pandora, and the Opening
of Pandora’s vase. On the walls are Reynolds’ Snnke in the grass, & replca
of the picture at the National Gallery, and & porirait of Sir John Scamne,
by Lawprence, The Greek painted fictile vase st the N. end of the room,
21%, 8 in, high, the vase and chopine on the E. side, and a Franch clock
with a small orrery all deserve notice. A glazed case on a table contains
a fine illuminated M3, with a frontispiece by Giulio Clovio.

We now pasgs throogh two diminutive rooms into the Moseos, con-
taining numeroua Marbles ete. To the right is the PICTURE GALLERY. &
room measuring 13 4t, 8 in. in lengih, ft. 4 in breadth, and 19 ft. 6
in. in height, which, by dint ofingenious arrangement, can accommodate
48 many pictures as a gallary of the same height, 40 {t. long and 20 fi,
broad, The walls are covered with movable shutters, bung with picturea
on hoth sides. Among these are: Hogarth, The Rake's Progress, a gale-
brated series of eight pictures, and the Klection (four pictures); Canaletio,
The Rialto at Venice, and The Pinzza of St. Marks; Study of & head
from one of Raphael’s large cartoons, perhaps by Giulio Romano, — When
the last shutter of the 8, wall is opened we see into o well-lighted recass
with & eopy of a nymph by Westmacott, and into o small room u‘lle&
the Monk's Parloir (see below).

From fhe hall with the columns we descend into a kind of crypty
where we thread our way to the left throngh numerous statuss, both
originals and casts, and relics of ancient art, t0 the SEPULCHRAL CHAMBER,
which containg the most interesting object in the whole eolléction. This
is an Egyptian sarcophagas, found in 1817 by Belzoni in a tomb in the
valley of Bibin el-Mulllk, near the ancient Thebes, and consisting of
one bloek of alabaster or arragonite, 9t & in. long, 3 ft. B in. wide,
and 2 ft. 8 in. deep at the head, coversd both internally and externally
with hierug]{p]ﬂcs snd figurea; it is 2y inches in thigkness, The hiero-
glyphies are interpreted as referving to Seti 1., father of Bamses the Great,
On the 8. side of this, the lower part of the Museum, is the MoxuaaNy
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Court, with an ‘architectural pasticcio’, showing varipus styles, in the
‘centre..

The Mosg’s Palnoig (see above) contains objects of medimval art,
some Peruvian antignities, and tow fine Flemish wood-carvings. The
rpoma on the groomd-floor (fo which we now re-ascend) are filled with
statuary, architectural fragments, terracottas, snd models, among which
some fine Roman portrait-busts may be noticed. Behind the cast of the
Apollo: Belveders is un additional pieture-gallery, containing specimens
of Conaleite (*Port of Venice), Turmer (*Adm, Tromp's barge entering the
Texels Kirkstall Abbey), Calcolt, Eastiake, ele. Adjonining this iz a recess
with portraite of the Boano family, works by Ruysdael ond Wattean (Les
Noces), ete, In the Brrampast Hoom are some choice illuminated MSS.,
and an inlaid pistol which once belonged to Peter the Great. This room,
for ita arrangement, mode of lighting, the use of mirrors, ete,, is, perhaps,
unigue in London.

The Drawine Roous, on the first floor, contain a carved ivory and
gilt table and four chairs from the palace of Tippoo Sahib at Sering-
apatam; a collection of exquisitely delicate minisiure paintings on silk,
by Labelle; a small bul ehoice collectlon of antique gems, chiefly from
Tarentum ; mony drawingd and paintings ; and various arehitectoral designs
by 8ir John Soane. In the gluss-cases in the middle of the second room
arg exhibted the first three follo editioms of Shakspeare, an origingl MS,
of Tagso’s ‘Gernsalemme Liberata', and two sketoh-bopoks of Sir Joshun
Reynolds, ete, On stands in these rooms are cork models of Pompeit,
aneient temples, ete.

The Liszary contains large collections of valuable old books, draw-
ings, and MBS, which nre apcessible to the student. — A large variety
of ancient painted glass has boen plazed in the windows throughout the
museum.

In Duke 8t., running to the W. from near the 8. W. corner of
the square, is the Sardinia Catholic Chapel (P1. R, 81; IT), oppo-
site which Benjamin Franklin once lodged. A little to the B.I. is
the large King's College Hospital, behind which is the squalid neigh-
bourhood of Clare Market.

Great Queen Street, containing Freemasons' Hall and Freemasons’
Tavern, runs to the 8.W. from the N.W. corner of Lincoln's Inn
Fields. Beyond Drury Lane (p. 146) it is continued by Long Aere,
with numerous coach-builders’ establishments. To the left (8.) of
Long Acre diverges Bow Street, in which is the Royal Italian Opera,
Covent Garden, adjoined by the Floral Hall, now used ag'a foreign
fruit wholesale market. Nearly opposite is the New Bow Streel Fo-
Lice Court, the most important of the 14 metropolitan poliee eourts
of London. At the corner of Bow Strest and Russell Street was Will's
Coffee House, the resort of Dryden and other literary men of the
17-18th centuries.

Russell Street leads heuce to the L. to Drury Lane Thealye
{p. 40), and o the W, to Covent Garden Market (Pl. R, 31; II),
the property of the Duke of Bedford, the principal yegetable, fruit,
and flower market in London. It presents an exceedingly pietur-
esque and lively scene, the best time to see the vegetalile market
being about G o’cloek on the mornings of Tuesdays, Thursdays, and
Saturdays, the market-days (comp. p. 26). The show of fruit and
flowers is one of the finest in the world, presenting a gorgeous
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array of colours and diffusing a delicious fragrance; it is seen to
full advantage from T to 10 a.m. The Easter Eve flower-market is
particularly brilliant,

The neighbourhood of Covent Garden is full of historic mem-
ories. The name reminds us of the Convent Garden belonging
to the monks of Westminster, which in Ralph Ages's Map of Lon-
don (1560 is shown walled around, and extending from the Strand
to the present Long Acre (p. 186), then in the open eountry. The
Bedford family received these lands (seven acres, of the yearly value
of B1. Bs. 8d.) as a gift from the Crown in 1552, The square wae
planned by Inigo Jones; and vegetables used to be sold here, thus
perpetuating the associations of the ancient garden. In 1831 the
Duke of Bedford erected the present market buildings, which have
recently been much improved, though they are still quite inadequate
for the enormout business transacted here on market-days. The
neighbouring streets, Russell, Bedford, and Tavistock, comme-
morate the family names of the lords of the soil. In the Covent
Garden Piazzas, now nearly all oleared away, the families of Lord
Crewe, Bishop Berkeley, Lord Hollis, Earl of Oxford, Sir Godfrey
Kueller, Sir Kenelm Digby, the Duke of Richmond, and other
diztingnished persons used to reside. In this square wag the old
‘Bedford Coffee-house’, frequented by Garrick, Foote, and Ho-
garth, where the Beef-Steak Club was held ; and here was the not
over savoury ‘Old Hummums Hotel. Here also was ‘Evans's' (8o
named from a former proprietor), a house once the abode of Sir
Kenelm Dighy, and long noted as a place for suppers and evening
entertainments. It is now oconpied by a club.

The neighbouring chureh of 8t. Paul, a plain building erected
by Inigo Jones at the beginning of the 17th cent., containg nothing
of interest. It was the first Protestant church of any size erected
in London. In the churchyard are buried Sumuel Butler (d. 1680,
the author of ‘Hudibras’; Sir Peter Lely (Vandervaes, d. 1680),
the painter; W. Wycherley (d. 1715), the dramatist; Grinling
Gibbons (d. 1721), the carver in wood; T. A. Arne (d. 1778), the
composer; John Woleot (Peter Pindar; d. 1819); the author; and
Kynaston, the actor.

Between Covent Garden and the Strand is old Maiden Lane,
where Andrew Marvell, the poet, and Turner, the painter, onee
resided, and where Voltaire lodged for some time.

The Garrick Club, 13 and 15 Garrick Street, Covent Garden,
founded in 1881, possesses an important and valuable collection of
portraits of celabrated English actors, shown on Wednesdays only,
to vigitors accompanied by a member.
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16. Whitehall,
United Service Museum. The Horse Guards. The Government Offices.

The broad street leading from Trafalgar Square, opposite the
National Gallery, tothe 8., towards Weatminster, i called Whitehall
(PL R, 265 IV), after the famous royal palace of that name for-
merly situated here, of which the banqueting hall only now remains.

At the beginning of the 15th cent., the Ohief Justiciary, Hubert
de Burgh, who resided here, presented his house with its contents
to the Dominigan monks of Holborn, who afterwards sold it to
Walter Gray, Archbishop of York, Thenceforward it was the Lon-
don residence of the Archbishops of York, and was long known
a8 York House or York Palace. On the downfall of Wolsey, Arch-
bishop of York, and favourite of Henry VIII., York House became
erown property, and received the name of Whitehall: —

‘Bir, you
Must no more call it York-place, that is past;
For, since the cardinal fell, that title's loat;
"Tis now the king's, and call’d — Whitehall’.
\Hen, VIIL iv. 6.

The palace was greatly enlarged and beautified by its new
owner, Henry VIII., and with its precincts became of such extent
as to reach from Seotland Yard to near Bridge Street, and from the
Thames far into St. James's Park, passing over what was then the
narrow sireet of Whitehall, which it spanned by means of a beau-
tifnl gateway designed by Holbein.

The bangueting-hall of old York House, built in the Tudor
atyle, having been burned down in 1615, JamesI. conceived the idea
of erecting on its site a magnifleent royal residence, designed by
Inigo Jones. The building was begun, but, at the time of the
hreaking out of the Civil War, the Banqueting Hall only had been
eompleted. In 1691 part of the old palace was burned to the ground,
and the remainder in 1697 ; s0 that nothing remained of Whitehall,
except the new hall, which is still standing (on the E. side of
Whitehall ; see p. 189).

The reminiseences of the tragic episodes of English history
transaoted at Whitehall are mmech more interesting than the place
itself. It was here that Cardinal Wolsey, the haughty, splendour-
loving Archbishop of York, gave his costly entertainments, and
here he was disgraced. Here, too, Henry VIII. became enamoured
of the unhappy Anne Boleyn, at a ball given in honour of the fickle
and voluptuous monarch; and here he died in 1547. Holbein, the
famous painter, occupied rooms in the palace at that period, It
was from Whitehall that Klizabeth was carried ag a prisoner to the
Tower, and to Whitehall she returned in triumph as Queen of
England. From an opening made in the wall between the upper
ani lower central windows of the Banqueting Hall, Charles I. was
led out to the seaffold erected in the street close by. A little later
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the Protector Oliver Cromwell took up his residence here with his
secretury, John Milton, and here he died on 3zd Sept., 1658. Here
Charles II., restored, held a profiigate court, one of the darkest
blots on the fame of England, and here he died in 1685. After the
destruetion of Whitehall Palace by fire in 1697, 8t. James's Palace
became the Toyal residence.

The Banqueting Hall, one of the most splendid spesimens of
the Palladian style of architecture, is 111ft. long, 5L/ ft. wide,
and BO/y £t high. The ceiling is embellished with pistures by
Rubens, on canvas, painted abroad, ata cost of 30004, and sent
to England. They are in nine sections, and represent the Apo-
theosis of James I. in the centre, with allegorical representations
of peace, plenty, ete., and scenes from the life of Charles I., the
artist’s patron. Van Dyck was to have executed for the sides a
geries of mural paintings, representing the history and ceremonies
of the Order of the Garter, but the scheme was never carried out.
George 1. converted the banqueting-house into a Royal Chapel,
which was dismantled in 1890, and in 1894 the United Service
Mugenm (see below) was removed hither (adm., see below). The base-
ment floor or erypt, previously subdivided into dark cellars, was at
the same time restored and provided with a concratefloor, while the
wood of the oaken pews was ueed to panel the bases of the walls
and piers.

Adjoining the Banqueting Hall on the 8. are the new bulldings of
the Royal United Serviee Institute, which was founded in 1830 and
possesses an interesting collestion of objects connected with the mil-
itary and naval professions, and a library., The institntion numbers
about 4600 members, each of whom pays an entrance fee of 10
and a yearly subseription of the same amount or & life-subseription
of 10¢. Admission, by order from a member or on application to the
secretary, daily, except Sundays and Fridays, 11-0 in summer, 11-4
in winter, Soldiars, suilors, and policemen in uniform are admitted
without orders.— The new buildings contain a large Lecture Hall,
Library, Smoking Room; ete., while the United Serviee Museum is
accommodated in the Banqueting Hall (see below). — Until 1894
the Institute occupied a building in Whitehall Yard, now Horse
Goards Avenue, to the N. of the hall.

The BasqueTineg Harn containg o large *Model of the battle of Water-
lpo, by Captain Siborne, in which 190,000 ﬂsures are represented, giving
one an admirable idea of the disposition and movements of the forces un
the eventful day; relics of Napoleon and Wellington; tha skeleton of
Napoleon's charger, Marengos; the sknll of Shaw, the Lifezuardsman, and
numerous memorials of Waterloo. Hamilton’s model of Sebastopol, show-
ing the position of the troops; a model of the battle of Trafalgar, showing
the British fleet breaking the enemy's line; and a model of the battle of
Sadowa, besides numerons models of war-veszels of various dates; are also
placed here. — The rest of the collection , plaged partly in this hall and
parily in the Basewmuyr, includes weapons and martial equipments from

Ameries, Africa, the South Sea Islands; ete.; o Furopean Armoury, con-
taining specimens of the armour and weapons of the different European
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nations { an dsiatic Armowry, with Indian guns-and srmour, ete. ; & Naval
Colleation, including models of different kinds of vessels, ships' gear, ma-
rine machinery, and the like, including an ingenious little model of a
ghip, execnted by a French prisoner-of-war; relies of Franklin’s expedition
to the N, pole, and others of the Royal George, sunk at Spithead in 1782,
cases containing the swords of Cromwell and General Wolfe, o midship-
man’s dirk that belonged to Nelsons the pistols of Sir Ralph Aherurumby,
Bolivar, and Tippoo Sahib; relica of Sir John Moore; personal relics of
Drake. "Nsiaun, Captain Cook, and other famous seamen ; and numerous
other inferesting historieal relics; models of ordnance and specimens of
ghot and shells; model steam-engines ; military models of varions kinds:
siege-operations with trenches, lines, batteries, approaches, and walls in
which o breach has been effested; fortifications, pioneer instruments,
ety uniforms and equipments of soldiers of different countries, fire-arms
and portions of Are-arms at different stages of their manufactore; trophies
from the Crimean War and from the last compaign in China, ete.

In Whitehall Gardens, at the back of Whitehall, stands a bronze
statue of James IL., by Grinling Gibbons, erected in 1686.

Whitehall and the neighbourhood now eontain various publie
offices. Near Charing Crogs, to the left, iz Great Seotland Yard,
onee the headquarters of the Metropolitan Police (comp. p. 194).
Seotland Yard is said to have belonged to the kings of Scotland
(whenee its name) from the reign of Edgar to that of Henry I1. At
a later period, Milton, Inigo Jones, Sir Christopher Wren, and
other celebrated persons resided here. Opposite, on the right side
of Whitehall, is the Admiralty, behind which, facing St. James's
Park, large new offlces are now approaching complation. Below the
Admiralty is the Horse Guards, the office of the sommander-in-
chief of the army, an inconziderable building with a low clock-
tower, ereeted in 17563 on the site of an old Tilt Yard. It derives
its mame from its original use as a gunard-honse for the palace of
Whitehall. Two mounted Life Guards are posted here as sentinels
every day from 10a.m. to 4 p.m., and the operation of relieving
gnard, which takes place hourly, is interesting. At 11 a.m, the
troop of 40 Life Guards on duty is relieved by another troop, when
a good opportunity is afforded of seeing a number of these fine s0l-
diers together, The infantry sentries on the other side of the Horse
Guards, in St. James's Park, are also changed at 11 a.m. A pas-
sage, mueh frequented by pedestrians, leads through the Horse
Guards into 8t. James’s Park, but no carriages exeept those of
royalty and of a few privileged persons are permitted to pass.

The Treasury, 2 building 100 yds. in length, situated between
the Horse Guards and Downing Street, originally erected during
the reign of George I. and provided by Sir Charles Barry with
a new fagade; is the office of the Prime Minister (First Lord of the
Treasury) and also contains the Education Office, the Privy Council
Office, and the Board of Trade. The Offics of the Chancellor of
the Exchequer oceupies a separate edifice in Downing Street,

To the 8., between Downing Street and Charles Street, rise the
new Public Offices, a large pile of buildings in the Italian style
constructed in 1B68-73 at a cost of H00,000L., from designs by Sir
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@. G. Scott (d. 1878). They comprise the Home Office, the Foreign
Office, the Colonial Office, and the India Office. None of these of-
fices ave now shown to visitors, — The effect of the imposing fa-
pade towards Parlinment Street (the southern prolongation of White-
hall) has been greatly enhanced by the widening of the street to
80 yds., whereby, too, a view of Westminster Abbey from White-
hall is disclosed; but the removal of the W. side of Parliament
Strest will be necessary for the full realisation of this effect.

The modern edifice on the E. side of Whitehall opposite the
Treasury, in the Franco-Secottish Renaissance style, iz Monfague
House, the mansion of the Duke of Buceleueh, containing a splendid

collection of miniatures and many valuable pictures.

Nuo. 2 Whitehall Gardens, to the N. of Montagne House, was the home
of Benjamin Disraeli (Lord Beaconsfleld) in 1875-5. No. 4 was the town-
house of Bir Bohert Peel, whither he was earried to die after falling from
his horse in Constitution Hill (June 20th, $850).

Derby Street, on the . side of Parliament St., leads to New
Seotland Yard, on the Vietoria limbankment, the headquarters of
the Metropolitan Police since 1891, The turretted building, in the

Scottish baronial style, was designed by Norman Shaw.

17. Houses of Parliament and Westminster Hall,
8t. Margaret's Church. Westminster Bridge.

The *Houses of Parliament, or New Palace of Westminster (Pl.
R,20; IV), which, together with Westminster Hall, form a aingle
pile of buildings, have been ereeted since 1840, from a plan by Sir
Charles Barry, which was selected as the best of 97 sent in for
competition. The previous edifice was burned down in 1834. The
new building is in the richest late-Gothic (Tudor or Perpendicular)
style, and covers an area of 8 acres. It contains 11 courts, 100 stair-
cages, and 1100 apartments, and has cost in all'about 3,000,000L
Although so eostly a national structure, some serions defects are
observable; the external stone is gradumally crumbling, and the
building stands on so low a level that the basement rooms are
said to be lower than the Thames at high tide, The Cloek Tower
(St. Stephen's Tower), at the N. end, next to Westminster Bridge,
is 318ft. hizh; the Middle Tower is 800 ft. high; and the 8. W.
Vietoria Tower, the largest of the three, through which the Queen
enters on the opening and prorogation of Parlisment, attaine a
heizght of 340 ft. The large clock hag four dials, each 93 ¢, in dia-
meter, and it takes five hours to wind up the striking parts. A
light in the Cloek Tower by night, and the royal standard flying
from the Victoria Tower by day, indicate that the *House’ is sitting.
The great Bell of the Olock Tower, popularly known as ‘Big Ben’
(named after Sir Benjamin Hall, First Commisgioner of Works at
the time of its erection) is one of the largest known, weighing no
less than 18 tons. Tt was soon found to have a flaw or erack, and its



192 17. HOUSES OF PARLIAMENT.

tone became shrill, but the erack was flled open, so as to prevent
vibration, and the tone became quite pure. It is heard in calm
weather over the greater part of London. The imposing river front
(E.) of the ediflee is 940 ft. in length. It is adorned with statues
of the English monarchs from William the Congqueror down to
Queen Vietoria, with armorial bearings, and many other enrichments.

The impresgion prodnced by the interior is in ite way no less
imposing than that of the exterior. The tasteful fitting-up of the
different rooms, some of which are adorned down to the minutest
detnils with lavish magnificence, is in admirable keeping with the
office and dignity of the building.

The Houses of Parliament are shown on Saturdays from 10 to 4,
(no admission, however, after 3.30.) by tickets obtained gratis at
the entrance, We enter on the W. side by a door adjacent to the
Victoria Tower (publie entrance also through Westminster Hall),

Police-constables, stationed in each room, hurry visitors through the
building in & mosi uneomfortable fashion, searcely giving time for more
than a glance at the ohjects of interest. The erypt is not now shown.

Handbook 1a. (unnecessary)
Ageending the staircase from the entrance door, we firet reach

the Norman Porch, a small square hall, with Gothie groined vault-
ing, and borne by a finely clustered central pillar. We next enter

to the right) the Quesx's Rosmve Room, a handsome chamber,

O ft. in length, the chief feature in which iz formed by the fresco
paintings by Mr. Dyce, representing the virtues of chivalry, the sub-
jeots being taken from the Legend of King Arthur. Above the fire-
place the three virtues illustrated are Courtesy, Religion, and
Generosity; on the N. side are Hospitality and Meray. The flne
dado panelling with carvings illustrative of Arthurian legends, the
rich eeiling, the fireplace, the doors, the flooring, and the state chair
at the B, end of the room are all worthy of notice. Next comes the
RoxAxL or Vicronia Gatiery, 110 ft. long, through which the Queen,
igsuing from the (Jueen’s Robing Room on the 8., proceeds ingolemn
procession to the House of Peers, for the purpose of opening or
proroguing Parliament. On these occasions privileged persons are
admitted into this hall by orders obtained at the Lord Chamber-
lain's Office. The pavement consists of fine mosaie work; the ceil-
ing is panelled and richly gilt. The sides are adorned with two large
frescoes in water-glass by Maclise; on the left, Death of Nelson at
Trafalgar (comp. p. 149), and on the right, Meeting of Bliicher and
Wellington after Waterloo.

The Prixos's Cmameer, the smaller apartmententered on quit-
ting the Vietoria Gallery, is a model of simple magnificence, being
decorated with dark wood in the style for which the middle ages
are famons. Opposite the door is a gronp in marble by Gibson,
representing Quesn Victoria enthroned, with allegorical fignres of
Clemency and Justice. The stained-glass windows on the W. and
E. exhibit the rose, thistle; and shamroek, the emblems of Eng-
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land, Scotland, and Ireland. Above, in the panels of the hand-
some wainscot, is a series of portraits of English monarchs and
their relatives of the Tudor period (1485-1603).

These are as follows, beginning to the left of the entrance door:
1. Louis XII of Franee; 2. Mary, danghter of Henry VIL of England and
wife of Lounis; 3. Charlés Brandon, Duke of Suffalk, Mary's second hus-
band 3 4. Marquis of Dorset; 5, Lady Jane Greys; 8. Lord Guildford Dud-
ley, her busband s 7. James IV, of Scotland ; 8. Queen Margaret, daughter
of Henry VIL of England and wife of Jamea (through this princess the
Stuarts derived their title fo the English throne); 9. Earl of Angus, set-
ond husband of Margaret, and Regent of Seotland ; 10, James V.5 11. Mury
of Guise, wife of Jumes V., and mother of Mary Stuart; 12, Queen Mary
Stuart; 13. Francis IL. of France, Mary Stuart’s firat husband; 14, Lord
Darnley, her second hushandy 16. Henry VIL; 16. Elizabeth, danghfer of
Edward IV., and wife of Henry (this marringe put an end to the Wars of
the Roses, by uniting the Houses of York and Lancaster); 17. Arthur,
Prince of Wales; 1B. Catharine of Aragon; 18. Henry VIIL; 20, Anne
Boleyn; 21. Jane Seymonr; 22. Anne of Claves; 28, Catharine Howard;
24, Catharine Parr; 25, Edward VL; 26 C}neen Mary of England; 27,
Philip of Spain, her husband; 28. Queen Klizabeth,

Over these portraits rung a frieze with oak leaves and acorns
and the armorial bearings of the English sovereigns since the Con-
quest; below, in the sections of the panelling, are 12 reliefs in
oak, representing events in English history (Tudor period).

Two doors lead from this room into the *Houvss or Prrrs, which
is gumptuounsly decorated in the richest Gothie style. The oblong
chamher, in which the peers of England sit in conneil, is 90 ft. in
length 46 ft. broad, and 45t high. The floor is almost entirely oc-
eupied with the red leather benches of the B50 members. The twelve
fine stained-glass windows contain portraits of all the kings and
qneens of England since the Conquest, Atnightthe Houseis lighted
from the outside through these windows. Eighteen niches between
the windowa are oceupied hy statues of the barons who extorted
the Magna Charta from King John. The very handsome walls and
ceiling are decorated with heraldic and other emblems,

Above, in recesses at the upper and lower ends of the room, #are six
fraacoes, the firat attempts on o large scale of modern English s.r". in this
department of painting, That on the wall above the throne, in the centre,
reprosents the Baptism of King Ethelbert (about 598), by Dyee; to the
left of it, Edward IIL inveasting his son, the ‘Black Pringe', with the
Order of the Garter; on the right, Henry, son of Henry IV., scknow-
ladging the authority of Judge Gascolgne, who had committed the Prince
to prison for striking him, both by Cope. — Opposite, at the N. end of
the chamber, three symbolical pictures of the Spirits of Religion, Justics,
and Chivalry, the first by Horsley, the other two by Muclise.

At the 8. end of the hall, raised by a few steps, and covereil
with a riehly gilded canopy, isthe magnificent throne of the Queen.
On the right of it is the lower throne of the Prince of Wales,
while on the left is that intended for the sovereign’s consort, At
the sides are two large gilt candelabra.

The ecelebrated woolsack of the Lord Chancellor. a kind of
cushioned ottoman , stands in front of the throne, almost in the
centre of the hall. — At the N. end of the chamber, opposite the
throne, is the Bar, where offieia]l communications from the Com-
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mons to the Lords are delivered, and whare law-suits on final
appeal are pleaded. Above the Bar are the galleries for the re-
porters and for strangers. Above the thronue on either side are seats
for foreign ambassadors and other distingnished visitors,

From the House of Lords we pass into the Prrns’ Lossy,
another rectangular apartment, riehly fitted up, with a door on
each side. The brass foliated wings of the southern door are well
worthy of examination. The corners contain elagant eandelabra of
brass. The encaustic tiled pavement, with a fine enamel inlaid
with brass in the centre, is of great beauty. Each peer has in
this lobby his own hat-peg, ete., provided with his name.

The door on the left (W.) side leads into the Prrrs' Romiva
Roowm (not always shown), which is decorated with frescoes by Her-
bert, Two only have been finished (Moses bringing the Tables of
the Law from Sinai, and the Judgment of Daniel).

The door on the N. side opens on the Prurs’ Corrmon, the way
to the Central Hall and the House of Commons. This corridor is em-
bellished with the following eight frescoes (beginning on theleft): —

1. Burial of Charles I (beheaded 1649); 2. Expulsion of the Fellows
of a sollege at Oxiord for refusing to subgeribe to the Covenant; 8. Defence
of Basing House by the Cavaliers againsi the Roundheads; 4. Charles I.
ereoting his standard at Nottingham; §. Speaker Lenthall vindicating
the rights of the Honse of Commona against Charles I, on his attempt to
arrest the five members ; . Departure of the London train-bands to the relief
of Gloueester; 7. Embarkment of the Pilgrim Fathers for New Hngland ;
8. Lady Ruasell taking leave of her husband before his execution.

The spacions *OenrtRAL HAny, in the middle of the building,
is ootagonal in shape, and richly decorated. It iz 60ft. in diameter
and 7D ft. high. The surfaces of the stone-vaulting, between the
masgsive and richly embosged ribs, are inlaid with Venetian mosaics,
representing in freaquentrepetition the heraldie emblems of the Eng-
lish erown, viz. the rose, shamrock, thistle, porteullis, and harp.
Lofty portalg lead from this hall into (N.) the Corridor to the House of
Commons ; to(W.) St. Stephen’s Hall; to(F.) the Waiting-Hall (see
p-195); and (S.) the House of Peers (see p, 193). Above the last
door is a representation, in glass mogaie, of St. George, by Poynter,
Here, too, are statues of Lord John Russell (d. 1878) and Lord
Iddesleigh (d. 1887).

The niches at the pides of the portals bear statues of Engligh sover-
aigns. At the W. door: on the left, Edward 1., his consort Eleanor, and
Edward II.; on the right, Isabella, wife of King John, Henry III., and
Eleanor, his wife. At the N, door: on the left, Isabella, wife of BEdward 11.,
Henry IV., and Edward ITL ; on the right, Richard IL, his consort, Anne
of Bohemia, and Philippa, wife of Edward IIL. At the E. door: on the
left, Jane of Navarre, wife of Henry IV., Henry V., and his wife Catha-
ring; on the right, Henry V1., Margaret, his wife, and Edward VL. A{ the
§ .door: on the left, Elizabeth, wife of Edward 1V,, Edward V., and Rich-
ard I1.; on the ri l’:t, Anne, wife of Richard I1I., Henry VIL,, and his con-
sort Elizabeth. 'I%hn niches in the windows are filled with similar statues.

Round the handgome mosaic pavement rums the ingeription (in
the Latin of the Vulgate), ‘Except the Lord keep the house, their
labour is but lost that build it'.
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A door on the E. side of the Central Hall leads to the Hatx or
THE PoRTs, also called the Urrer WarTING Havry (not always shown)).
It containg the following freseoes of seenes from English poetry : —
Grigelda's first trial of patience, from Chauncer, by Cope; 8t. George
conquering the Dragon, from Spenser, by Watls; King Lear
diginheriting hiz daughter Cordelia, from Shakspeare, by Herbert;
Satan touched by the spear of Ithuriel, from Milton, by Horsley ;
St. Ceeilia, from Dryden, by Tenniel; Personification of the Thames,
from Pope, by Armitage ; Death of Marmion, from Seott, by Armitage ;
Death of Lara, from Byron, by W. Dyce.

Beyond the N, door of the Central Hall, and corresponding with
the passage leading to the House of Lords in the opposite direction,
is the Commons' Corrimor, leading to the House of Commons. Tt
ia also adorned with 8 frescoes, a8 follows (beginning on the left): —

1. Alige Lisle eoncealing fugitive Cavaliers after the batile of Sedge-
moor; 2. Last sleep of the Duke of Argyll; 8. The Lords and Commons
delivering the crown to Willam and Mary in the Banqueting Hall;
4. Acquitial of the Seven Bishops in the reign of James II. (eomyp,

. 187)s 5. Monk declaring himself in favour of & free parliament;
E. ‘Lan&ing of Charles IT1,; 7. The executioner hanging Wi_wgart'a ook
round the neck of Montrose; B. Jane Lane helping Charles II. to escapo.

We next pass through the Commons’ Losey to the —

Hovse or Commoxns, 7D ft. in length, 405 ft. wide, and 41 ft.
high, very substantially and handsomely fitted up with oak-panel-
ling, in'a simpler and more business-like style than the House of
Lorda. The present eeiling, which hides the original one, was con-
strueted to improve the lighting and ventilation. The members of
the House (670 in number, though seats are provided for 476 only)
enter either by the public approach, or by a private entrance through
& side~door to the E. of Westminster Hall and along an arcade
between this hall and the Star Ohamber Court. The twelve stained-
glass windows are adorned with the armorial bearings of parliament-
ary boroughs. In the evening the Honge iz lighted through the
glass panels of the ceiling. The seat of the Speaker or president
is at the N. end of the chamber, in a straight line with the woolsack
in the House of Lords. The benches to the right of the Speaker
are- the recognised seats of the Government Party; the ministers
occupy the first bench. On the left of the Speaker are the members
forming the Opposition, the leaders of which also take their seats
on the first hench.

In front of the Speaker's table is the Clerks’ table, on which Hes
the Mace. The Reporters” Gallery is aboye the speaker, while above
it again, behind an iron grating, are the seats for ladies.

At the 8. end of the House, opposite the Speaker, are the
galleries for strangers. The upper, or Strangers’ Gallery, can be
vigited by an order from a Member of Parliament. To the lower,
or Speaker's Gallery, admiggion is granted only on the Speaker's
order, obtained by a member. The row of seats in front of the
Speaker's Gallery is appropriated to members of the peerage and

13+
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to distinguished strangers, The galleries at the sides of the House
are for the use of membere, and are deemed part of the House.

The seats underneath the galleries, on a level with the floor of
the House, but outside the bar, are appropriated to members of
the diplomatie corps and to distinguished strangers.

Permission to be present at the debates of the Lower House
pan be obtained only from a member of parliament. The House of
Lorde, when sitting as a Court of Appeal, is open to the public; on
other oceasions a peer's order is necessary. On each side of the
Houge of Commons is & “Division Lobby', into which the members
pass, when a vote is taken, for the purpose of being counted. The
fAyes’, or those who are favourable to the motion, retire into the W.
lobby, to the right of the Speaker; the ‘Noes', or those who vote
againgt the motion, retire into the E. lobby, to the Speaker's left,

Returning to the Central Hall we pass through the door at
its western (right) extremity, leading to Sr. Srepmen's HALL
which is 70 ft. long, 30 ft. broad, and DD ft. high. It occupies
the gite of old 8t. Stephen’s Chapel, founded in 1330, and long
used for meetings of the Commons. Along the walls are marble
statues of celebrated English statesmen: on the left (8.),
Hampden, Selden, Sir Robert Walpole, Lord Chatham, his son
Pitt, and the Irish orator Grattan; on the right (N.], Lord Claren-
don, Lord Falkland, Lord Somers, Lord Mansfleld, Fox, and Burke.
The niches at the sides of the doors are oceupied by statues of
Englizh govereigns. By the . door: on the left, Matilda, Henry 11.,
Eleanor; on the right, Richard Ceur de Lion, Berengaria, and John.
By the W. door: on the left, William the Congueror, Matilda, Wil-
Tiam IT; on the right, Henry I. Beauclerc, Matilda, and Stephen.

A broad flight of steps leads hence through St. Stephen's
Porch (62 ft. in height), passing a large stained-glass window, and
turning to the right, to Westminster Hall,

The present Westminster Hall is part of the ancient Palace of
Westminster founded by the Anglo-Saxon kings, and occupied by
their suceessors down to Henry VIII. The hall was begun by
William Rufus, son of the Conqueror, in 1097, continued and
extended by Henry ITI. and Edward I., and almost totally destroyed
by flre in 1291, Edward II. afterwards began to rebuild it; and
in 1398 Richard II. caunsed it to be remodelled and enlarged,
supplying it with a new roof. It is one of the largest halls in the
world with a wooden ceiling unsupported by columns. Its length is
200 ft., breadth 65 ft., and height 92 ft. The oaken roof, with its
hammer-beams, repaired in 1820 with the wood of an old vessel in
Portsmouth Harbour, is considered a masterpiece of timber archi-
teeture, both in point of beanty and constructive skill.

Westminster Hall, which now forms a yestibule to the Houses
of Parliament, is rich in interesting historical associations. In
it were held some of the earliest English parliaments, one of
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which declared Edward II. to have forfeited the erown; and
by a curious fatality the first secene of public importance in
the new hall, as restored or rebuilt by Richard I1., was the
deposition of that unfortunate monarch. In this hall the English
monarchs down to George IV. gave their coronation festivals;
and here Edward III. entertained the captive kings, David of
Seotland and John of France. Here Charles I. was condemned
to death; and here, a few years later (16563), Cromwell, wear-
ing the royal purple lined with ermine, and helding a golden
speptre inone hand and the Bible in the other, was saluted as Lord
Protector. Within eight years afterwards the Protector's body was
radely dragged from its resting-place in Westminster Abbey and
thrust into a pit at Tybumn, while his head was exposed with those
of Bradshaw and Ireton on the pinnacles of this same Westminster
Hall, where it remained for 30 years. A high wind at last carried
it to the ground. The family of the sentry who picked it up after-
wardg sold it to one of the Russells, a distant descendant of Crom-
well, and it passed finally into the possession of Dr. Wilkinson, one
of whose descendants, at Bevenoaks, Kent, is said now to possess it.
There is some evidence, however, that the Protector's body, after
exhnmation, was buried in Red Lion Square, and that another, sub-
stituted for it, was deprived of its head and buried at Tyburn.

Many other famous historical characters were condemned to
death in Westminster Hall, including William Wallace, the brave
champion of Scotland’s liberties ; Sir John Oldcastle, better known
as Lord Cobham ; Sir Thomas More; the Protector Somerset; Sir
Thomas Wyatt ; Robert Devereux, Earl of Estex ; Guy Fawkes; and
the Earl of Strafford. Among other notable events transacted at
‘Westminster Hall was the aoquittal of the Seven Bishops, who had
been committed to the Tower for their opposition to the illegal
dispensing power of James I1.; the condemnation of the Seottish
lords Kilmarnock, Balmerino, and Lovat; the trial of Lord Byron
(grand-uncle of the poet) for killing Mr. Chaworth in a duel ; the
condemnation of Lord Ferrars for murdering his valet; and the ac~
quittal of Warren Hastings, after a trial which lasted seven years.

The last public festival held in Westminster Hall was at the
coronation of George IV., when the King's champion in full armour -
rode into the hall, and, according to ancient custom, threw his
gauntlet on the floor, challenging to mortal combat anyone who might
dispute the title of the sovereign. The ceremony of swearing in
the Lord Mayor took place here for the last time in 1882, and is
now performed in the new Law Courts (p. 144).

On the E, side of the hall are placed the following marblestatues
(beginning from the left): Mary, wife of William IIL, James 1.,
Charles 1., Charles I1.. William IIL., George 1V., William IV.

From the first landing of the staircase lealing to St. Stephen's
Hall & narrow door to the left (E.) leads to St. Sterusy's Cryer
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(properly the Chureh of St. Mary's Undercroft; not now shown), a
low vaulted structure supported by columns, measuring 90 ft. in
length, 28 ft. in breadth, and 20 ft. in height. It was erected
by King Stephen, rebuilt by Edwards I1. and IIL., and, affer
having long fallen to deeay, has recently heen thoroughly restored
and richly decorated with painting and gilding. St. Stephen's Clois-
ters, on the E. side of Westminster Hall, were built by Henry VIII.
and have been lately restored. They are beautifully adorned with
carving, groining, and tracery, but aré not open to the public. The
other multifarions portions of this immense pile of buildings include
18 or 20 offisial residences of various sizes, libraries, committee
rooms, and dining, refreshment, and smoking rooms. The number
of statues; outside and inside, is about five hundred.

On the W, side of Westminster Hall, and to the N. of the
Abbey, stands 8t, Margaret’s Church (Pl R, 25 ; IV), which, down
to 1858, used to be attended by the House of Commons in state on
four days in the year, as then prescribed in the Prayer Book. It
was erected in the time of Edward I. on the site of anm earlier
ehureh built by Edward the Confessor in 1064, and was greatly
altered and improved under Edward I'V. The stained-glass window
of the Crueifixion at the E. end was executed at Gouda in Holland,
and is said to have been a gift from the town of Dordrecht to
Henry VII. Henry VIIIL. presented it to Waltham Abbey. At the
time of the Commonwealth it was concealed, and after various
vicissitudes it was at length purchaged in 1758 by the church-
wardens of 2t. Margaret's for 4001., and placed inits present position.
William Caxton, whose printing - press was set up in 1476-77 in
the almonry, formerly standing near the W. front of Westminster
Abbey, was buried here in 1491, From the fact of a chapel existing
in the old almonry, printers’ work-shops and also guild-meetings
of printers are still called ‘chapels’. Sir Walter Raleigh, who was
executed in front of the palace of Westminster in 1618, was buried
in the chancel. The chureh, the interior of which was restored in
1878, is open daily, 9-1 and 2-4.80, except Sat. afternoon (entr.
by the I, or vestry door, facing Westminster Hall), The present in-
cumbent of St. Margaret's is the eloquent Canon Farrar, who also
preaches frequently in Westminster Abbey.

At the E. end of the 5. aisle ia a stained-glass window placed here
biy the printera in 1852 in memory of Caxton, containing his portrait, with
the Venerable Bede on hia right snd Erasmus on his left. On a tablet
below the window is a verse by Tennyson, referring to Caxton's ‘motto,
“Figt lux’. Adjacent is a brass memorial of Raleigh. The large and hand-
some window over the W. door was put up by Americans to the memory
of Sir Walter Raleigh in 18824 it contains portraits of Raleigh and several
of his distinguished eontemporaries, and also scenes connected with the
life of Releigh and the colonisation of America, The poetic inseription
on the Raleigh window was written by Mr. J. Bussell Lowell. There are
also windows in the 8. wall in memory of Lord and Lady Hatherley, Sir
Thomas Erskine May (d. 1886), the great authority on Constitutional Law,
ele,, and also one erected in 1887 in memory ‘of Queen Vietorin’s Jubilee,
with an inscription by Browning. The window at the W. end of the 8.
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aisle commemorates Lord Frederiek Cavendish, assassinated at Dublin in
1882, At the W, end of fhe N. aisle is a inl window (erected by
Mr. G. W. Childs) fo John Milton, whose second wife gnd infant child
are buried liere and whose banns are in the parish registers the in&cr{g
tion is by Whittier. In the N. wall are windows to Mr. Edward Lloyd (184
189!]] printer an uh].inh?.r with a verse by Sir Edwin Arnold; h} Ado-
mu Blake (d. 1631 c.hiu founder of England's naval supremacy’, who
was buried in St lhu'gsrats churchyard after being exhumed from West-
minster Abbey; and to Mr. W. H, Smith (d. 1851), leader of the Hause
of Commong under Lord Salishury’s ministries.” Besides Raleigh and Cax
ton, the church shelters the remains of Skelton (d. 1529), the =atirist, nd
James Harrington (d. 1677), author of ‘Oceana’., Spme of the old monu
ments are interesting.

In Old Palace Yard, to the 8., between the Houses of Parlia-
ment and Westminster Abbey, rises an Equestrian Statue of Richard
Coeur de Lion, in bronze, by Marochetti. Farther on are the Vie-
toria Tower Gardens, abutting on the Thames, and affording a fine
view of Westminster Bridge,

To the N. of 8t. Margaret's, in Parliament Square, is & bronze
Statue of Lord Beaconsfield (d. 1881), in the robes of the Garter,
by Raggi, unveiled in April, 1883. To the right opposite the
entranee into New Palace Yard, stands the bronze Statue of the Earl
of Derby (d. 1869), in the robes of a peer, 10 ft. high, by Noble,
erected in 1874. The granite pedestal bears four reliefs in bronze,
representing his career as a statesman, A Iittle farther to the
nght is a bronze statue of Lord Palmerston (d. 1865), and on the

N. side of the squmare is that of Sir Robert Peel (d. 1850). On
the W. side of the square is the bronze Statue of Canning (d.
1827), by Westmacott , near which, at the corner of Great George
Btreet, iz a handsome Gothic fountain, erected in 1863 as a
memorial to the distinguished men who brought abont the abolition
of slayery in the British dominions.

The visitor should not quit this spot withont a glance at King
Street, the only thoroughfare in earlier times from Whitehall to
Westminster. At-the N, end, demolished to make room for the new
Government Offices, stood Holbein's great gate (p. 188), Bpenser, the
poet, spent his last days in this street, and he was carried hence to
Westminster Abbey. Cromwell’s mother lived here, often visited
by her affectionate son; so did Dr. Sydenham, Lord North, Bishop
Goodman, and at one time Oliver Uromwell himself. Through this
street, humble as it now looks, all the pageants from Whitehall
to the Abbey and Westminster Hall passed, whether for burial
coronation, or state trials. Parliament Street was only opened in
1732, long after Whitehall had ceased to be a royal residence; and
was carried through the old privy garden of Whitehall. — No. 17
Delahay Street was the residence of Judge Jeffreys (d. 1689).

“*Westminster Bridge (P1. R, 29 IV), erected in 1856-62, by
Page, at a cost ol 2560,000L., on the site of an earlier stone bridge,
is 1160 ft. long and 85 ft. broad (carriage~way D3 ft., side-walks
ench 10 ft.). Tt consists of seven iron arches borne by granite
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buttresses, the central arch having a span of 120 ft., the others of
114 ft. The bridge is one of the handsomest in London, and affords
an admirable view of the Houses of Parliament. It was the view
from this bridge that suggested Wordsworth's fine sonnet, beginning
‘Earth has not anything to show more fair’. Below the bridge, on
the left bank, is the beginning of the Victoric Embankment (p. 115);
above, on the right bank, is the Albert Embankment, with the
extensive Hospital of St. Thomas (p. 310).

18, Westminster Abbey.

Westminster Column, Westminster School, Westminster Hospital.
Royal Aquarium.

On the low ground on the left bank of the Thames, where
Westminster Abbey now stands, once overgrown with thoms and
snrrounded by water, and therefore ealled Thorney Isle, a church
is said to have been ereeted in honour of St. Peter by the Anglo-
Saxon king Sebert abont 616. With the church was connected
a Benedictine religions honse (monasterium, or minster), which, in
reference to its position to the W. of the Cistercian Abbey of St.
Mary of the Graces (Eastminater; see p. 128), was called **West-
minster Abbey (Pl. R, 25; IV).

The church, after having been destroyed by the Danes, appears
to have been re-erected by King Edgar in 885. The regular establish-
ment of the Abbey, however, may be ascribed to Edward the Confessor,
who built a chureh here which seems to have been almost ag large
as the present one (1049-65). The Abbey was entirely rebuilt
in the latter half of the 13th cent. by Henry ITI. and his son Ed-
ward 1., who left it substantially in its present condition, though
important alterations and additions were made in the two succeed-
ing centurivs. The Chapel of Henry V1L was erected by that monareh
at the beginning of the 16th cent., and the towers were added by Sir
O. Wren and Hawkesmore in 1722-40. The fagade of the N. transept
was restored from designs by 8ir G. G. Scott. Atthe Reformation the
Abbey, which had been richly endowed by former kings, shared in
the general fate of the religious houses ; its property was confiseated,
and the church converted into the eathedral of & bishoprie, which
lasted only from Dec., 1640, to March, 1560. Under Queen Mary the
monks returned, but Elizabeth restored the arrangements of Henry
VIIIL,, and conveyed the Abbey to a Dean, who presided over a chap-
ter of 12 Canons. — The title Archbishop of Westminster, recently
ereated by the Pope, is not officially recognised in England.

‘Westminster Abbey t, with its royal burial-vaults and long series
of monuments to celebrated men, is not unreasonably regarded by
the English as their national Walhalla, or Temple of Fame ; and in-

+ The hest guide to Westminater Abbey is the Deanery Guide (llustrated)
of the Pall Mall Gazetie (price 64.).
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terment within its walls is eonsidered the last and greatest honour
which the nation ean bestow on the most deserving of her offspring.
The honour has often, however, been conferred on persons nnworthy
of it, and even on children.

“The spaciousness snd glonm of this vast edifice produce a profound
and mysterious awe. We step cantiously and softly about, as if fearful
of disturbing the hallowed silence of fthe tpmbi while every footfall
whigpers along the walls, and chatters smong the sepulchres, making us
more sensible of the quist we have interrupied. It seems as if the awiul
naturs of the place preases down upon the soul, and hushes the beholder
into nojseless reverence, We feel that we are surrounded by the con-
gregated bomes of the great men of past times, who have filled history
with their deeds, and the earih with (heir renown’. — Washington Irving.

The church is in the form of a Latin eross. The much admired
chapel at the E. end is in the Perpendicular style. The other parts
of the church, with the exception of the unpleasing and incongruous
W. towers by Wren, and a few doubtful Norman remains, are Early
English. The impression produced by the interior is very striking,
owing to the harmony of the proportions, the richness of the colonr-
ing, and the beauty of the Purbeck marble columns and of the tri-
forium. In many respects, however, the effect is sadly marred by
restorations and by the egregionsly bad taste displayed in several of
the monuments. The choir extends beyond the transept into the
nave, from which it is separated by an iron sereen. In front of the
altar is a curious old mosaic pavement with tasteful arabesques,
brought from Rome in 1268 by Abbot Ware. The fine wood-work
of the choir was executed in 1848. The organ wag entirely rebuilt
by Mr. Hill in 1834, and stands at the two extremities of the
screen between the choir and the nave. The very elaborate and
handsome reredos, erected in 1867, is chiefly composed of red and
white alabaster. The large figures in the niches represent Moses,
St. Peter, 8t. Paunl, and David. The recess above the table con-
tains a fine Venetian glass mosaic, by Salviati, representing the
Last Supper. In the 8. bay of the sanctuary is a portrait of
Richard 1I. on panel, formerly in the Jernsalem Chamber, the
oldest contemporary representation of an English sovereign.
Behind it is some old tapestry from Westminster School, with the
names of Westminster scholars painted on its ends. The Abbey,
or, ag it is officially termed, the Collegiate Church of 8t. Peter,
is now decorated with upwards of 20 stained-glass windows.

The total length of the church, inelnding the chapel of Henry VII.,
is 513 ft. ; length of the transept from N. to 8., 200 ft. ; breadth of
nave and aisles, 75 ft.; of transept, 80 ft.; height of the church,
102 ft., of towers, 225 ft. :

The Abbey is usually entered by the door (Solomon’s Porch) in
the N. transept, near 8t. Margaret's Church. The nave, aisles, and
transept are open gratis to the public daily (Sun. excepted), except
during the honrs of divine service, till 4 p.m. in winter and 6 p.m.
in summer. Daily service at 8.30 (8 on Sun.), 10, and 3 o’clock.
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In summer there is a special Sunday service in the nave at Tp.m.
A charge of bd. (except on Mon. and Tues.) is made for admission to
the chapels, which are only shown to visitors accompanied by a ver-
ger. Parties thus condueted start about every !/ghr. from the 8. gate
of the ambulatory. Visitors are cautioned against aceepting the nse-
less services of any of the numerous loiterers outside the ehurch.

The following list of the most interesting monuments which
do not invariably imply interment in the Abbey, beging with the N,
transept, and continues through the N. aisle, the 8. aisle, and the
8. transept (Poets’ Corner), after which we enter the chapels.

N. TRANSEPT.

On the right, William Piit, Lord Chatham, the statesman
(. 1778), a large monument by Bacon. Above, in a niche, Chatham
is represented in an oratorical attitude, with his right hand out-
stretehed ; at his feet are gitting two female fignres, Wisdom and
Courage; in the centre, Britannia with a trident; to the right and
left, Earth and Sea. — Opposite —

L. John Halles, Duke of Neweastle (d. 1711); large monnment
by Bird, in a debased style. The sarcophagus bears the semi-re-
eumbent figure of the Duke; to the right is Truth with her mirror,
on the left, Wisdom ; above, on the columns and over the armorial
bearings, Genii. — Adjacent —

L. *George Canning, the statesman (d. 1827); statue by Chan-
trey. — Adjacent, his son —

L. Charles John, Viscount Canning, Governor-General of India
(4. 1862), statue hy Foley.

Olose by is their relative, Viscount Stratford de Redeliffe (d.
1880), long British ambassador in Constantinople ; statue by Boelm,
with an epitaph by Tennyson.

L. Sir John Maleolm, General (d. 1533), one of the chief pro-
moters of the English power in India; statue by Chantrey.

Adjacent, Lord Beaconsfield (d. 1881), statue by Boehm.

R. Lord Palmerston, the statesman (d. 1865); statue by Jack-
#om, in the costume of a Knight of the Garter. — Adjoining —

R, William Bayne, William Blair, and Lord Manners, naval
officers who ‘were mortally wounded in the course of the naval en-
gagements under the command of Admiral Sir George Brydges
Rodney on the 9th and 12th of April, 1782, by Nollekens.

L. Wiltiam Cavendish, Duke of Newcastle (d. 1676), and his
wife ; a double sarcophagus, with recumbent flgures in the costume
of the period, under a rich canopy. — Adjacent —

L. *8ir Peter Warren, Admiral (d. 1752), by Roubilize. Her-
cules places the bust of the Admiral on a pedestal, while Navi-
gation looks on with mournful admiration. — Opposite —

R. Robert, Marquis of Londonderry and Viscount Castlereagh,
the statesman (d. 1822); statue by Thomas. The seroll in his hand
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bears the (now searcely legible) inscription, ‘Peace of Paris, 1814°.
Next to it —

L. *William, Lord Mansfield, the statesmanand judge (d. 1793),
by Flazman. Above is the Judge on the jndicial bench, in his
official robes; on the left is Justice with her scales, on the right,
Wisdom opening the book of the law. Behind the bench is Lord
Mansfield’s motto: ‘uni mguus virtuti’, with the ancient represen-
tation of death, a youth bearing an extingunished torch, — Opposite,
by the railing of the ambulatory —

L. Sir Robert Peel, the statesman (d. 1850); statue by Gibson.

Henry Gratian (4. 1820), Charles Fox (p. 200), snd the two Fitle nre
all buried in this transept. It was the proximity here of the graves of
Fox and the younger Fitt (p.206) that suggested Scoti's well-known lines: —

:Uro_? upon Fox's grave the tear,
Twill trickle to his rival’s bier’.
W. Ay or N, Traxsser,

R. George Gordon, Earl of Aberdeen, the statesman (d. 1860);
bust by Noble.

R. *Elisabeth Warren (d. 1816), widow of the Bishop of Bangor,
by Westmaeott. The fine monument represents, in half life-size,
a poor mother sitting with her child in her arms, in allusion to
the benevolence of the deceased. — Adjoining —

R. 8ir George Cornewall Lewis, statesman (d. 1863); bust by
Weekes. — Adjacent —

R. Sir Eyre Coote, General, Commander-in-Chief of the British
forces in India (d. 1788); colossal monument by Banks, erected by
the East India Company. !

R. Francis Horner, Member of Parliament (d. 1817); statue by
Chantrey. — Opposite —

L. Sir John Balehen, Admiral, who in 1744 was lost with his
flag-ship and crew of nearly 1000 men in the English Channel;
with a relief of the wrecked vessel, by Scheemalkers.

R. General Hope, Governor of Quebee (d. 1789, by Bacon; a
mourning Indian woman bends over the sarcophagus, — Above —

R. Warren Hastings, Governor-General of India (d. 1818);
bust by Bacon. — To the left —

Rishard Cobden, the politician and champion of free-trade
(4. 1865); bust by Woolner. — Above —

Sir Henry Maine, professor of jurisprudence and the ‘friend of
India’ (d. 41888), marble medallion by Boehm, —

R. Earl of Halifaw, the statesman (d. 1771); bust by Bacon,

At the end of the passage, in three niches in the wall above,
separated by palm-trees, is the monument of — .

Admiral Watson (d. 1707), by Seheemakers. The Admiral, in
a toga, is sitting in the centre, holding a palm branch. On the
right the town of Calentta on her knees presents a petition to her
conqueror. On the left is an Indian in chains, emblematical of
Chandernagore, also conguered by the Admiral.
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N. A=z,

On the left. Sir Thomas Fowell Bucton (d. 1845), Member of
Parliament, one of the champions of the movement for the abol-
ition of slavery, by Thrupp. — Close by, W. E. Forster (d. 1886),
M. P. and edunecationalist; medallion portrait head, — Farther on —

L. Balfe (d. 1870), the composer, medallion by Mallempre.

L. Hugh Chamberlain, physician (d. 1728), by Scheemakers and
Delvaws ; recumbent flgure upon a sarcophagus; on the right and
lef*, two allegorical flgures, representing Health and Medicine.

R, Tablets to Charles Burney (d. 1814), the historian of musie,
and John Blow (d. 1708), the composer and organist. — Then —

R. Witliam Croft, organist of the Abbey (d. 1727), with a bust.
On the floor are the tombstones of Henry Purcell (d. 1695), organist
of the Abbey, and W. Sterndale Bennet (d, 1870), the composer.

L. *8ir Thomas Stamjord Rafftes, Governor of Java and founder
of the Zoological Society (d. 1826; comp. p. 237), sitting figure,
by Chantrey. :

L. * William Wilberforce (d. 1833), one of the chief advocates
for the emancipation of the slaves; sitting figure, by Joseph.

R. *George Lindsay Johnstone (d. 1815); fine monument by
Flaxman, erected by the sister of the deceased. On a sarcophagus,
with a emall medallion of the deceased, is a mourning female figure.

L. Lord John Thynne, D. D., Sub-Dean of the Abbey (d.
1881}, recumbent figure by Armstead.

To the left, at the end of the choir: —

Sir Isaae Newton (d. 1726), by Rysbrack. The half resumbent
fizure of Newton reposes on a black sareophagus, beside whieh are
two small Genii unfolding a seroll. Below is a relief in marble, in-
dicating the labours of the deceased. Above is an allegorieal figure
of Astronomy upon a large globe.

Charles Darwin (4. 1882), the eminent naturalist, and Sir John
Herschel (d. 1871), the astronomer, are buried within a few yards
of Newton's tomb (memorial slabs in the floor). — The window
above is a memorial of Robert Stephenson (d. 1859), the engineer.

In the N. aisle, farther on: —

R. Richard Mead, the physician (d.17564), with bust, by Sehee-
makers. — Above, in the window: —

*Spencer Perceval, Chancellor of the Exchequer and First Lord
of the Treasury, who was murdered at Weetminster Hall in 1812,
by Westmacott. Recumbent flgure npon a sarcophagus; at the
head a mourning figure of Strength, and at the foot Truth and Mod-
eration. The bas-relief above represents the murder; the second
figure to the left ig that of the murderer, Bellingham.

R. Mrs. Mary Beaufoy (d. 1708); group by Grinling Gibbons.

R. Robert Killigrew, General, killed at Almanza in Spain in
1707, by Bird. — In front of this monument Ben Jonson is buried
(p. 210), with the words ‘O Rare Ben Johnson!’ cut in the pave-
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ment. The stone with the original inseription is now built into the
wall close to the floor beneath Killigrew's monument. Close by,
under a modern brass, lies John Hunter (d. 1793), the celebrated
surgeon and anatomist, brought here in 1859 from St. Martin’s in
the Fields. — The window above was erected to the memory of
Tsambard Brunel (d. 1859), the engineer.

R.,above, Sir Charles Lyell, the geologist (d. 1875), bust by Theed.

R. *Charles James Foz, the famous statesman (d. 1806), by
Westmacott. The figure of the deceased lies on a comch, and is
supported by the arms of Liberty; at his feet are Peace, with an
olive braneh, and a liberated negro slave.

We have now reached the Belfry Tower, called by Dean Stanley
the ‘Whig Corner’.

R. *Captain Montagu (d. 1794), by Flazman. Statue on a
lofty pedestal, crowned by the Goddess of Victory.

R. Sir Jumes Mackintosh, the historian (4. 1832); bust by Theed.,

R. George Tierney, the orator (d. 1830); bust by Westmaeotl.

R. Marquis of Lansdowne (d. 1863); bust by Boehm.

R. Lord Holland, the statesman (d. 18407); large monument, by
Baily. Below is the entrance to a vault, on the steps to which on
the left the Angel of Death, and on the right Litersture and
Seience are posted.

R. John, Earl Bussell (d, 1878), bust.

R. Zachary Macaulay (d. 1838), the father of Lord Macaunlay,
and a noted advoeate for the abolition of slavery; bust by Weekes

Having now reached the end of the N. aisle, we turn to the
left (8.), where on the N. side of the principal (W.) EXTRANCE, &t
the end of the nave, we observe the monuments of —

Antony Ashley Cooper, Earl of Shaftesbury (d. 1880), a marble
statue by Boehm, and —

Jeremiah Horrocks, the astronomer (d. 1641). Above the door
is the monument of —

* Williom Pitt, the renowned statesman (d. 1806), by Westma-
cott. At the top stands the statue of Pitt as Chancellor of the
Excheqner, in the act of speaking. To the right is History listen-
ing to his words; on the left, Anarchy in chains.

On the 8. side of the door is the monument of Admiral Sir
Thomas Hardy (4, 1732), by Cheere.

R. James Cornewall, Oaptain (d. 1743), by Tayler. At the foot of
a low pyramid of Sicilian marble is a grotto in white marble, with a
relief of the naval battle of Toulon, where Cornewall fell. The mon-
wment terminates above in a palm-tree with the armorial bearings.

S. Aisig,

In the baptistery at the W. end: —

James Craggs, Secretary of State (d. 1721); statue by Guelphi,
with inseription by Pope.

William Wordsworth, the poet (d. 1850); statue by Lough.
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Rev, John Keble (d. 1866); bust by Woolner.

The baptistery also contains busts, by Wonlner, of the Rev.
Fred. D. Maurice (d. 1872) and the Rev. Charles Kingsley (4. 1875),
one of Matthew Arnold (d. 1888) by Bruce Joy, and a bronze me-
dallion of Professar Henry Fawcett (d. 1884), by Alfred Gilbert, with
a row of small allegorical figures, The stained-glass windows were
placed here by Mr. George W. Childs of Philadelphia in memory of
(feorge Herbert (d. 1632) and William Cowper (d. 1800).

‘We now continue to follow the 8. aisle. Slab on the floor:
Bishop Atterbury (d. 1732). To the right, above the door leading to
the Deanery, is the Abbot's Pew, a small oaken gallery, constructed
by Abbot Islip in the 16th century.

On the right: William Congreve, the dramatist (d. 1728), by
Bird, with a medallion and a sarcophagus of Egyptian marble. The
monument was erected by Henrietta, Duchess of Marlborough.

R. William Buckland, the geologist (d. 1856), bust by Weekes.

R. Lord Lawrence (d. 1879), Governor-General of India; bust
by Woolner. — Above the door to the cloisters (see p. 223) —

*@eorge Wade, General (d. 1748), by Roubilizo. The Goddess
of Fame is preventing Time from destroying the General's trophies,
which are attached to a column.

R, Sir James OQutram, General (d. 1863); bust by Noble. Below
are Outram and Lord Clyde shaking hands, and between them is
(teneral Havelock. At the sides are mourning figures, representing
Indian tribes. — Above, ocenpying the whole recess of the window —

R. William Hargrave, General (d.4750), by Roubilice. The
General iz degoending from his sarcophagus, while Time, represent-
ed allegorically, conguers Death and breaks his arrow. —

Adjacent is a tablet recording the burial in the Nave of Sir William
Pomple (d. 1699) and his wife, Dorothy Osborme (1. 1695).

Sidney, Earl Godolphin (d. 1712), Lord High Tressurer, by Bird.

R. Colonel Townshend, who fell in Canada in 1759, by Eek-
stein. Two Indian warriors bear the white marble sarcophagus,
which is adjoined by a pyramid of coloured Sicilian marble.

R. John André, Major, executed in America as a gpy in 1780.
Sarcophagus with mourning Britannia, by Van Gelder. On this mon-
ument is a wreath of autumn leaves, a gift from America. — Oppo-
gite, in the nave, by the end of the choir: — :

James, FEarl Stanhope, ambassador and minister of war (d.
1720), by Rysbrack. — Then, returning to the 8. aisle: —

L. Thomas Thynn, murdered in Pall Mall in 1682 by assassing
hired by Count Koningsmarck, whose object was the hand of
Thynne's wife, a wealthy heiress, by Quellin. The relief on the
pedestal is a representation of the murder,

R. Dr. Isaac Wails, the famous divine and hymn-writer (d.
1748), with bust by Banks.

R. Jolin Wesley, founder of the Methodists (d. 1791), and
Charles Wesley (4. 1788), by Van Gelder, relief by Adams-Acton.
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R. Charles Burney, philologist gd. 1818); bust by Gahagan.

L. Thomas Owen, judge (d. 1598); an interesting old painted
monument, with a life-size recumbent figure leaning on the right
arm. — By the adjoining pillar —

L. Pasquale Paoli the well-known Corsican general (d. 1807),
formerly buried in old St. Paneras Churchyard, but transferred to
Corsiea in 1889 ; bust by Flazrman. — Opposite —

R. Sir Cloudesley Shovel, Admiral (d. 1707), by Bird, recumbent
figure under a canopy. — Ahove —

Sir Godfrey Kneller, the painter (d. 1723), by Rysbrack; bust
under a canopy. The monument was designed by Kneller himself,
who is the only painter commemorated in the abbey. He was
buried in his own garden, at Kneller Hall, Twickenham.

Here is a door leading to the E, walk of the cloisters and to
the chapter-house (p. 223).

L. Sir Thomas Richardson, judge (d. 1634), old monument by
Le Soeur.

L. Dr. Andrew Bell, the founder of the Madras system of edn-
cation (d. 1832), with relief representing him examining a class
of boys, by Behnes.

In the middle of the nave lie, amongst others, Dawid Living-
stone, the celebrated African traveller (d. 1873), Sir Charles Barry,
the architect (d. 1860), Robert Stephenson, the engineer (d. 1858,
Lord Clyde (d. 1863), Sir James Outram (d. 1863 ; the ‘Bayard
of India'), Sir George Pollock (4. 1872), Lord Lawrence (d. 1879),
Sir G. G. Scott, the architect (d. 1878 ; with a brass by Street), and
G. E. Street (4. 1881), the architect of the New Law Courts.

We now turn to the right and enter the —

8. Trawsspr anp Porrs’ CORNER.

On the right: George Grote (d. 1871) and Bishop Thirlwall
(d. 1875), two historians of Greece who now share one grave, Grote's
bust is by Baecon.

R. William Camden, the antiquary (d. 1623). Above —

David Garrick, the famous actor (d. 1779) ; large group inrelief,
by Webber. Garrick is stepping out from behind a eurtain, which
he opens with extended arms. Below are the comic and the tragic
Muge. — Below —

Isaae Casaubon, the scholar (d. 1614). On this stone, near the
foot, is the monogram I.W., scratched here by Izaak Walton in
1658. — Above —

John Ernest Grabe, the Oriental scholar (d. 1711); sitting
fizure by Bird. — Several uninteresting monuments; then —

fsaae Barrow, the scholar and mathematician (d. 1677).

Joseph Addison, the essayist (d. 1719; p. 210); statne by
Westmacott. On the base are the Muses in relief.

Lord Maeaulay, the historian (d. 1869); bust by Burnard.
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W. M. Thackeray, the novelist and humorist (d. 1863); hust by
Marochetti. — Above —

George Frederick Hindel, the eomposer (d. 1759), the last work
from the chisel of Roubiliae; life-size statue surrounded by musie
and instruments; above, among the clonds, a heavenly choiry in
the background, an organ. — Below, Jenny Lind Goldschmidt, the
singer (d. 1887); medallion portrait-head, by Birch.

Sir Archibald Campbell, General (d. 1791), by Wilton. — Below,
to the right —

James Stuart Mackensiz, Lord Privy Seal for Scotland (d. 1800);
medallion-portrait, by Nollekens. — By the 8. wall: —

*John, Dulke of Argyll and Greenwich (4. 1743); a large monu-
ment by Roubitize. On a black sarcophagus rests the half-resumb-
ent, life-size flgure of the Duke, supported by History, who is
writing his name on & pyramid. On the pedestal, to the laft, Elo-
quenee; to the right, Valour.

Above the doorway of the chapel of 8t. Blaise (p. 224): —

Oliver Goldsmith (d. 1774), buried at the Temple (p. 142);
medallion by Nollekens. — Then —

John Gay, the poet (d. 1732), by Rysbrack. A small Genius holds
the medallion. The irreverent inseription, by Gay himself, runs: —
‘Life is a jest ;and all things show it :

I thought so onee, but now I kmow it'.

Nicolas Rowe, the poet (d. 1718), and his only daunghter, by
Rysbrack. Above, the medallion of the daughter. — Then —

James Thomason, the poet of the ‘Seasons’ (d. 1748); statue hy
Spany. — Adjacent —

* William Shakspeare (d. 1616), designed by Kent, and executed
by Scheemakers. The figure of the Poet, placed on a pedestal re-
sembling an altar, is represented with the right arm leaning on
o pile of his works; the left hand holds a roll bearing the titles of
his chief writings. On the pedestal are the masks of Queen Eliza-
beth, Henry V., and Richard III.

Above, Robert Burng (d. 1796), bust by Steell.

Robert Southey, the poet (d. 1843), bust by Weeles.

8. T, Coleridge, the poet (d, 1834), bust by Hamo Thornyeroft.
— Then, opposite Addison’s statue —

Thomas Campbell, the poet(d. 1844) statue by Marshall. — The
grave of Charles Dickens (d. 1870) is between the statues of Ad-
dison and Campbell, and is surrounded by the tombs of Hindel,
Sheridan, and Cumberland. Garriek, Dr, Johnson, and Macaulay
are also buried here,

Passing round the pillar we now enter the —

E. Amsir or TaE Ponrs' Conxun,
On the right. Granwville Sharp (d. 1813), one of the chief ad-
vocates for the abolition of slavery, medallion by Chantrey.— Above:
Bagpexrr, London, Oth Edit, 14
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Charles de St. Denis, Seigneur de St. Evremont, author, French
Marshal, afterwards in the service of England (d. 1703), bust. —
Below —

Matthew Prior, politician and poet (4, 1721), large monument
by Rysbrack. In a niche is Prior's bust by Coyzevor (presented by
Louis X1V, of France); below, a black sarcophagus, adjoined by two
allegorical figures of (r.) History and (1.) Thalia. At the top are two
boys, with a toreh and an hour-glass. — Then —

William Mason, the poet (d. 1797); medallion, mourned over
by Poetry, by Baeon. — Over it —

Thomas Shadwell, the poet (d. 1692), by Bird. — Below —

Thomas Gray, the poet (d. 1771); medallion, held by the Muse
of poetry, by Baecon. — Above —

John Milton(d. 1674 ; buried in 8t. Giles's Church, Cripplegate),
bust by Rysbraek (1737). Below is a lyre, round which is twining
a serpent with an apple, in allnsion to ‘Paradise Lost'. — Below —

Edmund Spenser (d. 15698 ; buried near Chancer), ‘the prince of
poets in his tyme', ag the inseription says ; a simple, altar-like mon-
ument, with ornaments of light-coloured marble above. — Above —

Samuel Butler, author of ‘Hudibras' (d.1680), with bust, — Then :

Ben Jonson (d. 1637), poet-laureate to James I., and contem-
porary of Shakspeare ; medallion by Rysbrack (1737); on the pede-
stal the inscription, ‘O rare Ben Johnson!' (eomp. p. 205). —

Michael Drayton, the poet (d. 1631), with bust.

Barton Booth, the aetor (d.1733), an ancestor of Edwin Booth,
with medallion, by Tyler.

John Phillips, the poet (d. 1708); portrait in relief.

The tomb of Genffrey Chaucer (d. 1400), the father of English
poetry, is on the same gide, close by, and congists of an altar-sareoph-
agns (supposed to be from Grey Friars OChurch, p.92) nnder a canopy
let into the wall {date, 15666). The tomb was erected by Nicholas
Brigham (d. 15668), who is said to have removed Chancer’s remaing
from the cloister. — Above it is a fine stained-glags window, erect-
ed in 1868, with scenes from Chaucer's poems, and a likeness of
the poet.

Abraham Cowley, the poet (d. 1667), with urn, by Bushnell.

Robert Browning, the poet (d. 1889), is buried directly in front
of Cowley's monument; and side by side with him lies Lord
Tennyson, poet laureate (d., 1892).

H, W. Longfellow, the poet (d. 1882), bust by Brock.

John Dryden, the poet (d. 1700); bust by Scheemakers.

Archbishop Tait (d. 1883); marble bust by Armstead (at the
entranee to the choir-ambulatory).

Robert South, the preacher (d. 1716); statue by Bird.

Richard Busby (d. 1695 ; see p. 224); statue by Bird.

In front of Dryden’s tomb is a blue slab in the Noor, believed
to commemorate Robert Hawle, murdered in the choir in 1378 by the
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followers of John of Gaunt. The church was closed for four months
until the ontraged privileges of sanctuary were again confirmed to
it. — In the ecentre of the 8, transept is a white slab, eovering the
remains of ‘Old Parr' (d. 1635), who is said to have reached the age
of 152 years.

To the left of the entrance to the ambulatory is an old altar-
decoration ofthe 13th or 14th cent., below which is the 01d monument
of the Saxon king Sebert (d. 616) and his wife Athelgoda (d. 615).

We now repair to the *Crarsrs, which follow each other in the
following order (starting from the Poets’ Oorner).

1. Cmapnn or St. BENEDICT.

1. Arehbishop Langham (d. '137?.-) ; with recumbent figure.

2. Lady Franees Hertford (d. 1598).

3. Dr. Goodman, Dean of Westminster (d. 1601).

4. A son of Dr. Spratt.

*5. Lionel Cranfield, Earl of Middlesex (4. 1645), Lord High
Treasurer in the time of James I., and his wife.
6. Dr. Biil(d. 1661 ), first Dean of Westminster under Elizabeth.

) SR ey [ T T

e
| : |

Near this is the tomb of Ann of Cleves (4. 1057), fourth wife
of Henry VIII,

I1. Cmaren or Sr. Epmuxp, King of the East Anglians.

*{, John of Eltham, second son of Edward I1., who died in1334
in his nineteenth year. Sarcophagus with life-size alabaster figure.

2. Earl of Stafford (d. 1762) ; slab, by Chambers.

3. Nicholas Monk (d. 1661), Bishop of Hereford, brother of the
famous Duke of Albemarle (p. bt 5); slab and pyramid, by Woodman.

4. William of Windsor and Blanche de la Tour (d. 1340),
children of Edward III., who both died young ; 'small sarcophagus,
with recumbent alabaster figures 20in. in length.

5. Duchess of Suffolke (d. 15568), granddaughter of Henry VIIL.
and mother of Lady Jane Grey; recumbent figure. ;

6. Franeis Holles, son of the Earl of Olare, who died in 1622,
at the age of 18, on his return from a campaign in Flanders, in
whieh he had greatly distingnished himself; sitting figure, by Stone.

7. Lady Jane Seymour (4. 1560), danghter of the Duke of
Somerset.

14%
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8. Lady Katharine Knollys (d. 1568), chief Lady of the Bed-
chamber to Queen Elizabeth, niece of Anne Boleyn, and grand-
mother of the Queen’s favourite, the Earl of Essex.

9. Lady Elisabeth Russell (d. 1601), a handsome sitting figure
of alabaster, in an attitude of sleep. The Latin inscription says,
‘she sleeps, she i8 not dead’.

10. Lord Joln Russell (d. 1584), and his son Franois; sarco-

phagns with a recambent figure, resting on the left arm, in offleial
robes, with the boy at the feet.
11. Sir Bernard Brocas of Beaurepaire, Chamberlain to (Jueen
Anne, wife of Richard 1I., beheaded on Tower Hillin 4399; an
interesting old monument in the form of a Gothic ehapel, with re-
cumbent figure of a praying knight; at the feet; a lion,

12. Sir Humphrey Bourgchier, partisan of Edward V., who fell

\ |—1[ . | 15 1

Chapel of St. Edmund.

on Easter Day, 1471, at the battle of Barnet Field. Altar monnment,
with the fignre of a knight, the head resting on a helmet, one foot
on a leopard, and the other on an eagle,

13, Sir Richard Pecksall (d, 1571), Master of the Buekhonnds
to Queen Elizabeth; canopy with three niches.

*14. Edward Talbot, Earl of Shrewsbury (d. 1617), and his wife;
figures lying under a eanopy on a slab of black marble with a
pedestal of alabaster.

15. William de Valence, Earl of Pembroke, who fellat Bayonne
in 1286; recumbent wooden flgnre, overlaid with metal, the feet
resting on a lion.

16. Robert de Waldeby, Archbishop of York (d. 1397), once an
Amngustinian monk and the companion of Edward the Black Prince
in France, tutor to Richard II.; medimval monument, with en-
graved figure.

7. Eleanora de Bohun, Duchess of Gloucester, Abbess of Bark-~
ing (d. 1399), one of the most interesting monuments in the Abbey.
Her husband was smothered at Calais between two feather-beds by
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order of Richard T1., his nephew. She is represented in the dress
of a nun of Barking. The inseription is in old French.

18. Mary, Countess of Stafford (d. 1693), wife of Lord Stafford,
who was beheaded on Tower Hill in 1680.

19. Dr. Ferne, Bishop of Ohester, Grand Almdner of Charles 1.
(d. 1861).

Edward Dulwer Lytton, the novelist (d. 1873), and Lord Her-
bert of Cherbury (d. 1678) are buried under slabs in this ehapel.

I11. Cmarsn oF St. Niononas, Bishop of Myra.

1.5 s.';zdy Cecil , Lady of the Bedehamber to Queen Elizabeth
d. 1691).
: 2. LadyJane Clifford, daughter of the Duke of Somerset (d.1679).

3. Countess of Beverley; small tombstone with the inseription,
‘Kapérance en Dieu (d. 1812), by Nollekens.

4. Anme, Duchess of Somerset (d. 1687), widow of the Protector

Chapel of 8t. Nicholas.

(beheaded on Tower Hill in 15562, see p. 126), and sister-in-law of
Jane Seymonr, third wife of Henry VIII. ; recumbent figure.

5. Westmoreland Family. — Above —

B. Baron Carew (d. 1470) and his wife, medimval monument,
with kneeling figures.

7. Nicholas Bagenall (d. 1687), overlain by his nurse when
an infant,

*B. Lady Mildred Burleigh (d. 1588), wife of Lord Burleigh, the
famous minister, and her daughter Anne. Lady Burleigh, says the
epitaph, was well versed in the Gireek sacred writers, and founded
& scholarship at St. John's College, Oxford. Reeumbent figures,

9. William Dudley, Bishop of Durham (d. 1483).

10. Anna Sophia Harley (d. 16017, the infant daughter of a
French ambasgador,

11. Lady Ross (d. 1691); medieval monument.

12. Marchioness of Winchester (d. 1586'.

18, Duchess of Northumberland (d. 1776), by Read.
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14. Philippa de Bohun, Duchess of York (d. 1431), wife of
Edward Plantagenet, who fell at Agincourtin 1415, 0ld monument
with effigy of the deceased in long drapery.

*16. Sir George Villiers (d. 1600) and his wife (d. 1632), the
parents of the Duke of Buekingham, favourite of James I.; mon-
ument with recumbent fignres, in the centre of the chapel, by
Stone, — The remains of Katherine of Valois, wife of Henry V.
(d. 1437), lay below this tomb for 350 years (comp. p. 218).

16. Sir Humphrey Stanley (d. 1505).

Opposite us, on leaving this chapel, under the tomb of Henry V.,
is a bronze bust of Sir Robert Aiton, the poet (1570-1638), executed
by Farelli from a portrait by Yan Dyek. Aiton was secretary of two
(ueens Consortand a friend of Jonson, Drummond, and Hobbes. The
earliest known version of ‘Auld Lang Syne' was written by him.

IV. A flight of twelve black marble steps now leads into the
*#CmarEL oF HuNry VI, a superb structure erected in 1502-20
on the gite of an old echapel of the Virgin Mary. The roses in the
decoration of the filne brass-covered gates are an allusion to the
marriage of Henry VIIL., founder of the Tudor family, with Eliza-
beth, daughter of Edward 1V., which united the Houses of York
and Lancaster, and put an end to the Wars of the Roses (comp.
p. 142). The chapel consists of naye and aisles, with five small
chapels at the E. end. The aigles are entered by doors on the right
and left of the main gate. On the left stands the font. The chapel
contains about 100 statues and fizures. On each side are carved
choir-stalle in dark oak, admirably designed and beautifully exe-
cuted ; the gquaint carvings on the ‘misereres’ under the seats are
worthy of examination. Each stall is appropriated to a Knight of
the Order of the Bath, the lower seats being for the squires. Each
seat bears the armorial bearings of its ocenpant in brass, and above
each are a sword and banner.

The chief glory of this chapel, however, is its fan tracery ceiling
with its fantastic pendentives, each surfsce being covered with rich
fret-work, exhibiting the florid Perpendicular style in its ntmost
luxuriance. The airiness, elegance, and richness of this exquisite
work can scarcely he over-praised. The best survey of the chapel
is gained either from the entrance door, or from thé small chapel
at the opposite extremity, behind the monument of the founder,

whose portrait is to be seen in the stained-glass window above.

“On entéring, the eye ia astonished by the pomp of architecture, and
the elaborate beauty of sculptured defail. The wvery walls nre wrought
into universal ornament, incrusted with tracery, and scopped into niches,
crowded with the sfatues of saints and martyrs. Stone seems, by Lhe
cunning labour of the chisel, to have been robbed of its weight and density,
suspended aloft, us if by mogic, and the fretted roof achieved with the
wonderful minateness and airy security of a cobweb.' — Washinglon Irving.

We first turn our attention to the S. aisle of the chapel, where
we observe the following monuments:

*1. Lady Margaret Douglas(d.1577), danghter of Margaret, Queen
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of Seotland, great-granddaughter of Edward IV., granddaughter of
Henry VII., niece of Henry VIII,, cousin of Edward VI., sister
of James V. of Beotland,
motherof Henry L. of Scot-
land (Lord Darnley), and
grandmother of James VI,
Her seven children kneel
tound. the sarcophagus;
the eighth figure is her
grandson, King James.

2. Mary, Queen of Scots,
beheaded in 1587, an
inartistic monument by
Stone (.1607), represent-
ing a reeumbent figure
under a canopy, in a pray-
ing attitude. The remains
of the Queen are buried in
a vault below the monu-
ment. Adjacent, on the
wall, hangsa photographic

copy of the warrant issued :
by James I. in 1612 for f/
the removal of his mo- 7

ther's body from Peter-
borongh Cathedral to Westminster Abbey,

3. Margaret, Counless of Richmond, mother of Henry VII. (d.
15609); recumbent metal effligy, by Torregiano.

4. Lady Walpole (d. 1787), first

wife of Sir Robert Walpole, executed

by Valori after an ancient statue of | b

Livia or Pudicitia in the Villa Mattei, 3 South

Rome, and brought from Ttaly by her Aisle of

son, Horace Walpole. —1 o l?m )
b. George Monk, Duls of Albemarle e

(d. 1670), the restorer of the Stuarts, 3 4 l%ru&ﬁ

by Seheemnakers. Rostral column, with
life-size figure of the Duke. In Mounk's
vanlt, which is in the N. aisle, are also
buried Addison (d. 1719; p. 208) and
Secretary Craggs (d. 1721).

In the vaultin front of it are hurieq Botrance.
Charies 1., William I1I. and Queen |
Mary his wife, and Queen Anne and
her consort Prince George of Denmark. We now enter the nave,
which contains the following monuments (beginning from the chapel
on the left) : —
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1. George Villiers, Dule of Buckingham, the favourite of JamesT.
and Oharles I., murdered in 41628 by the fanatic Felton, and his
consort. The monument i of iron. At the feet of the recumbent
effigies of the deceased is Fame blowing a trumpet. At the front
corners of the sarcophagus are Neptune and Mars, at those at the
back two mourning females, all in a sitting posture. At the top,
on their knees, are the life-gize ¢hildren of the deceased.

2. Joln Sheffield, Duke of Buckinghamshive (d. 1724), and his
wife, by Sclieemakers. The figure of the Duke is half-recumbent,
and in Roman costume. At his feetis the duchess, weeping. Above
is Time with the medallions. Anne of Denmark (d. 1618), consort
of James I, is interred in front of this monument,

*3. Dule of Montpensier (d. 1807), brother of King Louis Phi-
lippe, recumbent figure in white marble, by Westmaeott. Dean
Stanley (d. 1881 ; recumbent statue by Boehm), and his wife, Lady
Augusta Stanley (d. 1876), are buried in this chapel.

4. Esmé Stuart, who died in 1661, in his eleventh year; pyr-
amid with an urn containing the heart of the deceased.

In the E. chapel were interred Oliver Cromwell and some of
his followers, removed in 1661,

5. Lewis Stuart, Duke of Richmond (d. 1623), father’s cousin and
friend of James I., and his wife. Donble garcophagus with re-
cumbent figures. The iron canopy is borne by figures of Faith,
Hope, Charity, and Wisdom. Above is a flne flizure of Fame,

*6. Henry VIL. (4. 1509) and his wife Elisabeth of York (d. 1502);
metal monument, by Torrégiano. 1t occupies the centre of the
eastern part of the chapel, and is enclosed by a tasteful chantry of
brags, On the double sarcophagus are the recumbent figures of the
royal pair in their robes. The compartments at the sides of the
tomb are embellished with saered representations. — James I.
{d. 1625) is buried in the same vault as Henry VII.

George I1. and a number of members of the royal family are
interred , withonut monuments, in front of the tomb of Henry VII.
Also Edward VI (d. 1503), whose monument by Torregiano was
destroyed by the Republicans, and is replaced by a modern Renais-
sance altar (No. 7 in plan, p. 215). The marble frieze and two of
the columns, however, belong to the original. To the left is the tomb
of Elizabeth Claypole (d. 1658), second daunghter of Oliver Cromwell,
marked by an inscription in the pavement. — Adjacent is an old
pulpit of the Reformation period, probably the one in which Cranmer
preached the coronation and funeral sermons of Edward VI

The monuments in the northern aisle of this chapel are not less
interesting than those in the southern.

*1. Queen Elisabeth (d. 1603), by Stone. Here also is comme-
morated Elizabeth's sister and predecessor Mary (d. 1558), who is
buried beneath.
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2. Sophia, daughter of James I., who was born in 1607, and
died when three days old. Bmall recumbent figure in a eradle.
3. Edward V. and his brother, the

Duke of York, the sons of Edward IV, , |
murdered in the Tower when chil-
dren, by Richard III., in 1483, Some | —
bones, supposged to be those of the un- ‘ 2 | 1
fortunate boys, were found in a chest
below a staircase in the Tower (see
p. 122); and bronght hither. Small | E
sareophagus in a niche. M;:aﬂ:)f
A, Mary, danghter of James I., |the Cha-| 4
who died in 1607 at the age of two | ‘pel of 5
years. Small altar-tomb. %‘,’f‘l‘j’ |

5. George Saville, Marquis of Hali-
fax, Lord Keeper of the Privy Seal Entram
during several reigns (d. 1695). I g

6. Charles Montague, Earl of Hali= |
faz, Lord High Treasurer (d. 1745).

— The earl was the patron of Addison (d. 1719; p. 215), who
is commemorated by a slab in front of this monument.

After quitting the Chapel of Henry VII. and descending the
steps, we see in front of us the Chantry of Henry V. (p. 248), with
its finely seulptured areh, over which is represented the coronation
of that monareh (1413). A slab on the floor marks the vault of
the FEarls of Clarendon, inecluding the distinguished historian
(a. 1674).

V. Cumarry or Sr. Pavn.

1. Sir Rowlond Hill (1795-1879), the originator of the system
of penny postage; bust by Keyworth.

2. Sir Henry Belasyse (d. 1717), Lieutenant-General and Gov-
ernor of Galway. Pyramid by Selheemalkers.

3. SirJohn Puckering (4. 1098), Keeper of the Great Seal under
Queen Elizabeth, and his wife. Recumbent figures nnder a canopy.

4. Sir James Pullerton (d. 1630), First Gentleman of the Bed-
chamber to Charles I,, and his wife. Recumbent marble fizures.

5. 8ir Thomas Bromley (d. 1587), Lord Chaneellor under
Queen Elizabeth. Recumbent figure; below, his eight children.

6. Sir Dudley Carleton (4. 1634), diplomatist under James 1.3
semi-recumbent figure, by Stone.

7. Countess of Sussex (d. 1689); at her feet is a porcupine.

8, Lord Cottington, statésman in the reign of Charles I, (d.
1662), and his wife. Handsome black marble monument, with
the recumbent figure of Lord Cottington in white marble, by Fanelli,
and, at the top, a bust of Lady Cottington (d. 1633), by Le Soceur.

#). James Watt (d. 1819); the improver of the steam-éngine;
colossal figure in a sitting posture, by Chanirey.
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*10. Sir Giles Daubeney (d. 1607), Lord-Lientenant of Calais
under Henry VII., and his wife. Recumbent effigies in alabaster,
painted.

11. Lewis Robsart (d. 1431), standard-bearer of Henry V.3 an
interesting old monument, without an effigy.

®

@
)

Chapel of 8¢, Paul.

This chapel containg an ancient stone coffin found in digging
the grave of Sir Rowland Hill.

To the right, on leaving this chapel, is a monument to William
Pulteney, Earl of Bath (d. 1764), by Wilton; and beside it another
to Rear-Admiral Charles Holmes (d. 1761}, also by Wilton. Op-
posite is a sereen of wrought iron executed by an English black-
smith in 1293,

*VI. Cuarnn or St. Epwarp tas Conrrssor, forming the end
of the choir, to which we ascend by a small flight of narrow steps.
(The following chapel, No. VII., is sometimes shown before this.)

1. *Henry II1. (d. 1272), a rich and artistic monument of por-
phyry and mosaie, with recumbent bronze effigy of the King, by
William Torel (1290).

2 Queen Eleanor, first wife of Edward I. (d. 12907, by Torel. The
inseription is in quaint old French: — ‘Tei gist Alianor jadis reyne
d’Angleterre, femme & Rey Eduard Fiz', Recumbent meta] efflgy.

3. Chantry of Henry V. (d. 1422), On each side a life-size
figure keeps guard by the steps. The recumbent effigy of the King
wants the head , which was of solid silver, and was stolen during
the reign of Hanr) VIII. In 1878 the remains of Katherine of Va-
loig (d.1437), queen of Henry V. (the ‘beantifu] Kate'of Shakspeare's
‘Henry V.") were re-interred in this chantry, whence they had
been removed on the building of Henry VII.'s. Chapel. On the
bar above this monument are placed the saddle, helmet, and shield
«aid to have been nsed by Henry V. at the battle of Agincounrt.

4. Philippa (d. 1369), wife of Edward IT1., and mother of four-
teen children. She was the danghter of the Count of Hainault, and
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was related to no fewer than thirty crowned heads, statuettes of
whom were formerly to be seen grouped round the sarcophagus.

b. Edward III. (4. 1377),
recumbent metal figure on a O
sarcophagus of grey marble. )

This monument was onee sur-
rounded by statuettes of the
King's ehildren and others.
The pavement in front of it
dates from 1260 oQo

6. Margaret Woodville (d.
1472), a daughter of Ed-
ward IV., who died in in-
faney. Monument without an
effigy.
7. Richard II., murdered
on St. Valentine's Day, 1399,
and his queen. The wooden
canopy bears an old and cu-
rious representation of the

Saviour and the Virgin. 7
8. The old Coronation

Chair, of oak, made by Ed-
ward 1., and —

9. The new Coronation E
ﬁ?::-:: ?;?ée E}igai?]ﬁ;qg;}f Chapel of 8t. Edward the Confessor,
on the model of the old one, and last used by Queen Adelaide in
1831. The former contains under the seat the famous Stone of Seone,
the emblem of the power of the Scottish Princes, and traditionally
gaid to be that onee nsed by the patriarch Jacob a3 a pillow. It is
& piece of sandstone from the W. coast of Scotland, and may very
probably be the actual stone pillow on which the dying head of St.
Columba rested in the Abbey of Iona, This stone was brought to
London by Edward 1. in 1297, in token of the complete subjugation
of Seotland. Every English monarch since that date has been erown-
ed in this chair. On the coronation day the chairs are covered with
gold brocade and taken into the choir of the Abbey, on the other
side of the partition in front of which they now stand. Between the
chairs are the state sword and shield of Edward 111, (d. 1377).

The reliefs on the soreen separating Edward’s chapel from the
choir, executed in the reign of Edward1V., represent the principal
events in the life of the Confessor.

10. Edward 1. (d. 1307), a simple slab without an effigy. The
ingeription is: — ‘Eduardus primus, Scottornm malleus, hic est
(here lies Edward 1., the hammer of the Scots), The body was
recently found to be in remarkably good preservation, with a
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crown of gilded tin on the head; and a copper gilt sceptre in the
hand.

*{1, Edward the Confessor (d. 1066), a large medimval shrine,
the faded splendour of which is still traceable, in spite of the
spoliations of relic-hunters. The shring was erected by order of
Henry I11. in 1269, and ¢ost, according to an authentic record,
2051, 4s. 8d.

12. Thomas of Woodstock, Duke of Gloucester, murdered at
Calais in 1397.

15. John of Waltham (4. 1395), Bishop of Saligbury, recumbent
metal effigy.

Opposite the Chapel of Edward the Confessor is the entrance
to the Chapal or Sheine of St. Erasmus, a picturesque archway,
borne by clustered columns, dating from about 1484, Passing
through this chapel, we enter the —

ViI. CuArgL oF 81. JoHN THE BAPTIST.

1. Sir Thomas Vaughan (d. 1488), Lord High Treasurer of
Edward IV. Old monument, with a brags, which is mueh defaced.

2. Oolonel Edward Popham (d. 1651), offieer in Cromwell's
army, and hiz wife. Upright fignres.

8. Thomas Carey, sonof the Earl of Monmouth, Gentleman of
the Bedchamber to Charles I., who died in 1648, aged 33 years,
from grief atthe misfortunes of his royal master.

4. Hugh de Bohun and his sister Mary (d. 1300), grandehildren
of Edward I.; tombstone of grey marble.

T i)

Chapel”of St. John the Baptist.

5. Henry Carey, Baron Humsdon, cousin of Queen Elizabeth
(d. 1596). Rich canopy without an effigy.

6. Countess of Mexborough (d. 1821), small altar-tomb.

7. William of Colchester, Abbot of Westminster (d. 1420); a
medi@val stone monument with the recumbent figure of the pre-
late, his head supported by angels, and his feet resting on a lamb.

Above this monument is a slab with a mounrning Genius by
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Nollekens, erected to the memory of Lieut, Col, MacLeod, who fell
at the siege of Badajoz, at the age of 26,

8. Thomas Ruthail, Bishop of Durham under Henry VIIL, who
died in 1024, leaving great wealth, Medimval recumbent figure.

9. Thomas Millyng, Abbot of Westminster (d. 1492); canopy
without a figure.

10. G. Fascet, Abbot of Westminater (d, £500).

A slab in front of this tomb, with an inscription by Dean Stan-
ley, marks the resting-place of the third Earl of Essex (d. 1646),
the only prominent Parliamentarian in the Abbey not disinferre
at the Restoration, i

14, Mary Kendall (d. 17107} ; kneeling female figure.

12. Thomas Ceeil, Earl of Exeter (d. 1622), Privy Couneillor
under James I, and his wife. His wife lies on his right hand;
the space on his left was destined for hissecond wife, who, however,
declined to be buried there, as the place of homour on the right
had already been assigned to her predecessor.

VIII, The small Caarss or Assor Istip exhibits the rebus of its
founder, ‘I slip’, in several parts of the carving. The tomb of Abbot
Islip (d. 1632), destroyed by the Roundheads, is now represented
by & kind of table by the window. The chapel also contains the
tomb of Sir Christopher Hatton(d. 16197, nephew of the famous Lord
COhangellor, and his wife. — A room above this chapel (adm. 3d. on
Mon, and Tues., on other days 6d.) contains the remains of the
curious Waz Effigies which were once used at the funerals of per-
sons buried in the Abbey. Among them are Queen Elizabeth (re-
stored in 1760), Charles I, William ITI. and his wife Mary, Queen
Anne, General Monk, the Duchess of Buckinghamshire, the Duch-
ess of Richmond (comp. p. 330), William Pitt, Earl of Chatham,
and Lord Nelson. The last-mentioned two are not funeral-flgures.

In the ambnlatory, near the chapel of Edward the Uonfessor, is
the ancient monnment of the Knight Templar, Edmund Crouchback
(. 1296), second son of Henry II1., from whom the House of Lan-
caster derived its claims to the English throne. On the sarcophagus
are remains of the figures of the ten knights who aceompanied
Edmund to the Holy Land. Adjacent is the monument of another
Knight Templar, Aymer de Valence (d. 1323), Earl of Pembroke
and cousin of Kdward I, who was assassinated in Framce. The
beautiful effigy of Aveline, Countess of Laneaster (d. 1273), fivst
wife of Edmund Cronchback, on an adjoining monument (seen
from the choir), merits notice.

‘T'o the right is a large marble monument, executed by Wilton,
to General Wolfe (buried in 8t, Alphage's, Greenwich), who fell in
1759 at the capture of Quebeo. He is represented sinking into the
arms of a grenadier, while his right hand is pressed on his mortal
wound ; the soldier is pointing out to the hero the Goddess of Fame
hovering overhead. At the side is 8 monrning Highlander.
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Opposite is the monument of John, Farl Ligonier and Viscount
of Inniskilling, Field-Marshal (d. 1770), by Moore.

IX. Cuarers or St. Joun THE EVANGELIST, ST. MICHAEL, AND
8r. Axprew, three separate chapels, now combined.

1. 8ir John Franklin (d. 1847), lost in endeavouring to discover
the North Wast Passage, by Noble. Inscription by Tennyson.

2. Earl Mountrath (d. 1771), and his wife ; by Wilton. An angel
points out to the Connt emptess they sa&; Iiési%a h;(r husl;nrﬁ:ls.is}

. Earlof Kevrry(d. ;
3% 186 T SRR X (5) | snd his wife}: a mas;gle bt

@ phagus with an earl’s eoro-

net, by Buckham. Altar-tomb.

by 4. Telford, the engineer

(d. 1834); huge statue by

™| Baily.

D. John Kemble (4.1823),

| the actor, in the character of

Cato; statne by Flavman,

— 6. Dr. Baillie (d. 1823);

bust by Chantrey.

7. (above) Susannah Da-
vidson, daughter of a rich
: merchant of Rotterdam (d.
— 1767), by Hayward. Altar-
—{ tomb with head.

8. Mrs. Siddons, the fa-
14| mons actress (d.1881); statue
by Chantrey, after Reynolds's
1 picture of her as the Tragie

Muse.
v i 9. Sir James Simpson (d.
b I 15| 1870), the discoverer of the

« value of chloroform as an an-
[ ] msthetic; bust by Brodie.
#10. Lord Norris (d. 1601),
son of Sir Henry Norris who was executed with the ill-fated Anne
Boleyn, with his wife, and six sons. The recumbent fignres of Lord
anid Lady Norris are under a catafalque; at the sides are the life~
size kneeling fizures of the sons. On the 8. side of the canopy is a
reliel of warlike scenes from the life of the deceased mobleman,
At the top i3 a small Goddess of Fame.

11. Mrs. Kirton (d. 1603); tablet with inseription, sprinkled
with tears represented as flowing from an eye at the top.

12. Sarah, Duchess of Somevset (d. 1692). The Duchess is
represented leaning on her arm, looking towards the angels, who
are appearing to her in the elouds. At the sides are two poor boys
bewailing the death of their benefactress.

10

r

B
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*18. J. Gasenigne Nightingale (d. 1752), and his wife (4. 1784);
group by Roubiline. Death, emerging from a tomb, is launching his
dart at the dying lady, while her husband tries to ward off the attack.

14. Lady St. John (d. 1614), with an effigy.

15. Admiral Pocock (d. 1793); sitting figure of Vietory with
medallion, by Baeon.

16. Sir G. Holles, nephew of Sir Franeis Vere (d. 1626), by Stone.

*17. Sir Franeis Vere (d. 1608), officer in the service of Queen
Elizabeth. Four kneeling warriors in armonr support a black marble
glab, on which lies the armonr of the deceased.

This chapel also contains tabletz or busts in memory of Ad-
miral Kempenfelt, who was drowned with 900 sailors by the sink-
ing of the ‘Royal George’ in 1782 (commemorated in Cowper's
well-known lines); Sir Humphry Davy (d. 1829), the natural
philosopher; the learned Dr, Young (d. 1829), and others,

Beyond this point we dispense with the services of the guide.

A door in the 8. Aisle, adjacent to the angle of the Poets’ Corner,
leads from the abbey to the beautiful Crorsrers, dating in their
present form from the 13-16th cent., though they include work of as
early as the 11th century. The cloisters may also be entered by a
passage in the N.E. corner of Dean's Yard (p. 224). They contain
the tombs of numerous early ecclesiagtics connected with the abbey,
and many other graves, including those of Betterion, the actor (d.
1740), Mrs. Bracegirdle, the actress (d. 1748), Aphra Behn, the
novelist (d. 1689), Sir Edmond Godfrey (murdered 1678), Dr. Bu-
chan, author of ‘Domestic Medicine’ (d. 1800), ete.

F'rom the E. walk of the cloisters we enter the *Onaprar HousE,
an octagonal room with & central pillar, built in 1260, and from
1282 to 1647 used for the meetings of the Honse of Commons, which
Edward VL., in the latter year, appointed to take place in St, Ste-
phen’s Chapel, Westminster Palace. The Chapter House was after-
wards used as a receptacle for public records, but these were removed
in 1865 to the New Record Office (p. 139).

In the vestibule, to the lefi, is a Roman sarcophagns. The stained-
glass window, on the right, commemoraies James Russell Lowell, poet and
esaayist (d, 1§91]. — On the wall of the Chapter House are remaina of &
mural painting of Christ surrounded ‘h{ the Christian virtues. The old
tiled pavement iz well executed. The Chapter House, which has recently
heen ably restored, eontains a glass-case with fragments of sculpture, coins,
keys, ete., found in the neighbourhood; and snother case with ancient
doguments relating to the Abbey, including the Great Charter of Edward
the Confessor (1063). The stained-gma windows were erected in memory
0f Dean Btanley : the H. window by the Queen, that adjoining on the 5.
by American admirers, and the rest hy public subseription.

Adjoining the chapter-house is the Chapel of the Pyx (shown by
special order only), which was once the Treasury of the Kings of
England, The pyx (i.e. the box in which the standards of gold and
silver are kept) has been removed to the Mint (p. 128).

Opposite the entrance to the Chapter House 1s a staircase
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ascending to the Muniment Room, or Archives of the Abbey, and
to the Triforium, which affords a fine survey of the interior.

The room. called the Chapelof St. Blaise, between the 8. transept
and the Chapter House, has a lofty groined roof.

In the Jerusalem Chamber, to the S.W. of the Abbey (shown
on application at the porter’s lodge), are frescoes of the Death of
Henry IV, and the Coronation of Queen Vietoria, some stained
glass aseribed to the period of Henry I11., and busts of Henry 1V.
and Henry V. Itdatesfrom 1376-86, and was the scene of the death
of Henry IV.

King: Henry. Doth any name particular belong
Unto the lodging where 1 first did swoon?
Warwick, "Tia called Jernsalem, my noble Lord.
King. Laud be to GD(U even there my life must end.
It hath been hegied to me many years,
I ghonld not ie ut in Jermaalem
‘Which vainly I snpposed the Hnly Land: —
But bear me to that chambery there I'll e
Tn that Jernsalem shall Harry die.
Shakspeare, King Himyy IV.. Parl IT; Act iv, Sc. 4.

It probably derived its name from tapestries or pictures of the
history of Jernsalem with which it was hung. The Upper House
of Conyocation of the Provinee of Canterbnry now meets here.

The adjoining Abbol's Refectory or College Hall, where the
Westminster college boys dine, containg some ancient tapestry and
stained glass. The Lower House of Convocation also meets here.

For fuller information the curieus reader is referred to Dean
Stanley’s ‘Memorials of Westminster Abbey' and Bir G. G, Secott’s
‘Gleanings from Westminster Abbey’.

To the W. of Westminster Abbey rises the Westminster Column,
a red granite monument 60 ft. high, designed by Sir Gilbert Seott, and
erected in 1854-59 to former scholars of Westminster School who
fell in the Crimea or the Indian Mutiny. At the base of the column
couch four lions, Above are the statues of Edward the Confessor
and Henry II1. (chief builders of Westminster Abbey), Queen Eliz-
abeth (founder of Westminster School), and Queen Vietoria. The col-
umn is surmounted by & group of St, George and the Dragon, Itis on
or near the site of Caxton’s house (the ‘Red Pale’), in the Almonry.

An archway, passing under the new house to the 8. of the column,
leads to the Dean’s Yard and Westminster School, or St Peter's
College (Pl. R, 205 V), re-founded by Queen Elizabeth in 1560,
The school consists of 40 Foundationers, called Queen's Seholars,
and about 180 Oppidans or Town Boys, Among the celebrated men
educated here were Dryden, Locke, Ben Jonson, Cartwright, Bentham,
Barrow, Horne Tooke, Cowley, Rowe, Prior, Giles Fletcher, Churchill,
Cowper, Southey, Hakluyt the geographer, 8ir Chris, Wren, Warren
Hastings, Gibbon, George Herbert, Vineant Bourne, Dyer, Toplady,
Charles Wesley, George Coleman, Aldrich the musician, Elmsley the
seholar, Lord Raglan, J. A. Froude, and Earl Russell. Richard Busby
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(p-210) was head-master here from 1638 to 1685, A comedyof Ter-
ence is annually performed at Christmas in the dormitory of the
Queen’s Scholars by the Westminster boys, with a prologue and
epilogue alluding to current events. The old dormitory of the Abbey
is now used as the great school-room, while the school-library and
class-rooms occupy the site of the medieval Misericorde, of which
considerable remaine are still traceable. The old tables in the dining-
hall are said to be made from the timbers of the Armada. The stair-
case of Ashburnham House (ineluded in the school-buildings) and
the school-gateway are by Inigo Jones. — On the 8. side of Dean's
Yard the Church House, the ecclesiastical memorial of Queen Vie-
toria’s Jubilee. is now in course of erection.

The Royal Architeetural Museum, No, 18 Tufton Street (adm.
daily 10-4, Sat. 10-6, free), to the S. of Dean's Yard (whence a
passage leads), sontaing Gothie, Renaissance, and Classie carvings
(mainly easts).

Westminster Hospital (P, R, 25; IV), in the Broad Sanctuary
(formerly a sacred place of refuge for eriminals and political of-
fenders), to the N.W. of the Abbey, was founded in 1719, Mr.
Henry Hoare, banker, of Fleat Street, being a leading promoter, It
was the first of the now numerous hospitals of London supported
by voluntary contributions. It eontains beds for 200 patients. —
To the E. of the hospital is Westminsier Guildhall or Sessivns-
House, built in 1805,

The Royal Aquarium, in Victoria Street, to the W. of the hos-
pital, a handsome red brick edifice, with an arched roof of glass
and iron, was opened in 1876. The cost of the building, which is
600 ft. in length, was nearly 200,0004. It inclndes a few fish-tanks,
a summer and winter garden, a theatre (see p. 44), concert-hall,
reading-room, picture-gallery, and restaurant; and aerobatic and
spectacular performances and musie-hall entertainments of all kinds
are given here.

In Caxton Street, to the N. of Victoria Street, near 8t. Jomes's
Park Station (p. 37), is the Westminster Town Hall, a handsome
Jagobean building of red brick.

19. Pall Mall and Piccadilly.

Waterloo Place, York Column, Marlborough House. 8t. James's
Styeet. Burlington House. Geological Museum. Leicester Square.

Pall Mall (PL. R, 22, 26; IV), the centre of elub-life (see p. T4),
and a street of modern palaces, derives ite name from the old
game of pail mail (from the Italian palla, ‘a ball’, and malleo, &
mallet; Freneh jew de mail), introduced into England during the
reign of Charles I., a prepursor of the modern croquet. In the 16th
and 17th centuries Pall MaH was a fashionable suburban promenade,
but about the end of the 17th cent. it began to assnme the form

Baepexer, London. Oth Edit. 16
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of a street. Among the many celebrated persons who have resided
in this street may be mentioned Marshal Schomberg, the seion of
a noble Rhenish family (the Counts of Schinburg), who fell at the
Battle of the Boyne (1690). Gainsborough, the painter, died in
4788 in the house which had once been Schomberg's (house next
the War Offiee). Dodsley, the publisher, carried on business in Pall
Mall under the sign of ‘Tully’s Head’, bringing out, among other
works, Sterne’s “I'ristram Shandy’, and the ‘Annual Register'.

The eastern portion of the street, between Cockspur Street and
Trafalgar Square, is called Pall Mall East. Here, nearly opposite
the ¢orner of the HaymarksT (where Addison once resided), is a
bronze statue of George II1., by Wyatt, erected in 1837. On the N.
side of Pall Mall East stands the United Universily Club (entrance
from Suffolk Street); farther to the W., at the left corner of Hay-
market, is an arcade above which rose Her Majesty's Theatre or
Opera-house, demolished in 1803, Farther to the N., on the right
side of the Haymarket, is the Haymarket Theatre (p. 40). Then in
Pall Mall, to the left, at the corner of Waterloo Place, is the United
Service Club.

To the N. of Waterloo Place (PL. R, 26, IV) is Eegent Street
(p. 232), leading to Piccadilly. In the centre of the place is the
*UrmeAN MoNumanT, erected, from a design by Bell, to the memory
of the 2162 officers and soldiers of the Guards, who fell in the
Russian war. On a granite pedestal is a flgure of Vistory with
laurel wreaths; below, in front, three guardsmen ; behind, a trophy
of guns captnred at Sebastopol. On the sides are inscribed the
names of Alma, Inkerman, and Sebastopol. —In the 8. part of the
place or square are five monuments. In the centre is an equestrian
statue of Lord Napier of Magdala (1810-1890), by Boehm, To the
left is that of Colin Campbell, Lord Clyde, Field-Marshal (d. 1863),
the conqueror of Lucknow, by Muarochetti, consisting of a bronze statue
on a cireular granite pedestal, at the foot of which is Britannia, with a
twigof laurel, gitting ona lion couchant. Adjacentis a similar monu-
ment (by Boehm) to Lord Laswrence (d. 1879), ruler of the Punjib
during the Sepoy Mutiny of 1857 and Viceroy of India from 1864 to
1869, erscted in 1882 by his fellow-subjects, British and Indian, —
To the right, opposite, is the bronze statue of Sir Jokn Franklin, by
Noble, erested by Parliament ‘to the great arctic navigator and his
brave companions who sserificed their lives in completing the dis-
covery of the North West Passage A. D, 1847-48". On the front of
the pedestal i a relief in bronze, representing the interment of the
relics of the unfortunate Franklin expedition; on the sides are the
names of the ecrewes of the ships Erebus and Terror. On the right of
this statue is a bronze flgure of Field - Marshal Sir John Fox Bur-
goyne (d. 1871), on & pedestal of light-coloured granite, by Bogim.

The broad flight of steps at the 8. end of Waterloo Place,
known as Waterloo Steps, descends to St. James's Park. At the top
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of the steps rises the York Column, a granite eolumn of the
Tusean order, 124 ft. in height, designed by Wyatt, and erected
in 1833. It is surmounted by & bronze statue of the Duke of York
(second son of George IIL.), by Westmaentt. A winding staircase
ascends in the interior to the platform, which affords an admirable
#*View of the W. portions of the great eity (closed at present). —
To the W. of the column, in Carlton House Terrace, is Prussia
House, the residence of the German ambassador.

Carlton House, the site of which is oceupied by Waterloo Plage, wns
built in 1708 for Henry Boyle, Lord Carlton, and was bought in 1732 by
the Prince of Wales. It was afterwards the residence of thePringe-Regent
(later George IV.), but was pulled down in 1837, It: columns are now
#aid to adorn the facade of the National Gallery (p. 1562).

Farther on in Pall Mall (8, side) is a series of palatial elub-
houses; the oldest of which dates from 1829 (see also pp. 74, T5).
At the corner on the left is the Athenaeum Club (with frieze);
then the Travellers' Olub (with its best fagade towards the garden),
Reform Club, and Carlton Club (with polished granite pillars; an
imitation of Sansovino’s Library of 8t. Mark at Venice). A little
farther on is the War Office, in front of which is a bronze statue of
Lord Herbert of Lea (d. 18617, once War Secrotary, by Foley.

Opposite, on the right side of the street, are the Junior Carlton
Club and the Army and Navy Club. Sz, Jamus's Square, which
is reached at this point, contains the London Library (p. 16), the
mansions of the Duke of Norfolk, the Earl of Derby, the Bishop of
London, and other members of the aristoeracy, and i8 embellighed
with an Eyuestrian Statue of William [11,, in bronze, by Bacon.

Farther on, at the W. end of Pall Mall, are the Oxford and Cam-
bridge Club, the Guords' Club, and the New Oxford and Cambridge
Club on the left, and the Marlborough Club on the right. Marl-
borough House (Pl. R, 22; IV), on the B. side of Pall Mall, was
erected by Sir Christopher Wren, in 1710, for the first Duke of Marl-
borough, who lived here in such a magnificent style as entirely to
eclipse the court of ‘Neighbour George’ in St. James's Palace. In
1817 the house was purchased by Government 28 a residence for
Princess Charlotte and her husband Prinee Leopold of Saxe- Co-
burg. The prineess died the same year, but Leopold (d. 1865)
continued to reside here till he acsepted the throne of Belgium in
1831, The house was afterwards occupied by the Queen Dowager
Adelaide, subsequently used as a picture-gallery, and is now the
regidence of the Prince of Wales,

To the W. of Marlborough House, and separated from it by a
narrow ecarrisage-way only, is 8t. James's Palace (p. 266).

In Sz. James's STRERT, which here leads N. to Piccadilly, are
sitnated the Thatehed House Club, the Conservative Club, Arthur's
Club, Brooks's Club, New University Club, White's Club (the bow
awindow of which has figured in so many novels), Boodle's Club, the
Cocoa Tree Club, the Junior Army and Navy Club, the Devonalire

i0*
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Club (formerly Crockford’s, notorious for its high play under the
Regeney), and others. In St. James's Place, to the left, is the
honse (No. 22) oceupied by Samuel Rogers, banker and poet, from
4800 till his death in 1805, and the ecene of his famous literary
breakfasts. To the right, in King Street, is St. James's Theatre
(p.40). Willis's Restaurant, a little farther along King Street, occu-
pies the site of rooms which were down to 1863, under the name
of Almaek's (from the original proprietor, 1765), famous for the
aristoeratic and exclusive balls, also called Almaek’s, which were
held in them, King Street also contains Christie and Manson's
Auction Rooms, celebrated for sales of valuable art-collections.
The chief soles take place on Saturdays, during the Season,
Picoadilly (P1. R, 18,22; I, IV), extending from Haymarket to
Hyde Park Corner, ig nearly 1 M. in length. The eastern portion,
with its handsome shops, is one of the chief business streets of
the West ind. The western half, which is bordered on the 8. by
the Green Park (p. 270), contains a number of aristocratic and
fashionable residences, and the Jsthmian (No. 150), the Naval and
Military (94), Badminton (100), St. Jamed's (106), Savile (107),
New Travellers' (No. 97), and Junior Athenaeum (116) elubs.
Turning into it to the right, we first notice, on the right side, a
fow yards from the corner of 8t, James's Street, the Egyptian Hall
(p.43). On the opposite side are Old and New Bond Streets (p. 234),
leading to Oxford Street. Between Old Bond Street and Sackville
Street rises New Burlington House (Pl R,22; I'), to the W. of
which is the Burlington Areade (p. 24). 01d Burlington House, built
in 1695-1743 by Richard, Lord Burlington, with the assistance of
the architect Kent, was purchased by Government in 1854 for the
sum of 140,0008. along with its gardens, on which various new edi-
fices have been built. The ineongrnous top story and the present
fagade of the old building are also new. Nearest Piccadilly is a
handsome building in the Italian Renaissance style, completed in
1872 from designs by Banks and Barry, and oceupied by several
learned soecieties, to whom the rooms are granted by Government
rent-free; in the B. wing are the Royal, Geological, and Chemical
Societies, and in the W. the Antiguarian (with a collection of palnt-
ings, chiefly old portraits), Astronomical, and Linnae !
The Royal Society, or Academy of Science, the most important
of the learned bodies of Great Britain, was founded in 1660, and
received its charter of incerporation from Charles IT. three years
later. As early as 1645, however, its germ existed in the meeting
of a few men of learning, far from the turmoil of the Civil War, to
disenss subjects relating to the physical and exact seiences, The
first number of its famous Philosophical Transactions appeared in
16656. It now comprises about 520 members (ineluding 50 foreign
members), each of whom is entitled to append to his name the let-
ters I, R, 8. (Fellow of the Royal Society). The Library of the society




19. AUADEMY OF ARTS. 229

consists of about 50,000 vols. and 5000 MSS. The rooms contain
portraits and busts of celebrated Fellows, including Sir Christopher
Wren, Sir Isaac Newton, Robert Boyle, Halley, Sir Humphry Davy,
Watt, and 8ir William Herschel; also a teleseope which belonged
to Newton, and the MBS, of his ‘Philosophie Naturalis Principia
Mathematica’; and the original model of Davy's safety lamp,

The Copley Medal and two Royal Medals are awarded sonuslly by the
gociety for scientific eminence, and the Davy Medal for chemical investi-
gution. The Bumford and Darwinian Medals are’ swarded biénnially for
investipations im light and heat and in biology respectively., Hesides the
Transactions, the gociety also izsues fts Procaedings annually, and & Ca-
talogus of Seientific Papers published in all parts of the world.

An arcade leads through the building into the inner court. On
the N. side iz the exhibition building of the Royal Academy of
Arts (founded in 1768), in the Renaissance style, erected by
Smirke in 1868-9. At the top of the fagade are 9 statues of cele-
brated artists: Phidias, Leonardo da Vinei, Flaxman, Raphael,
Michael Angelo, Titian, Reynolds, Wren, and Wykeham. The Ex-
hibition of the Royal Academy (transferred in 1869 from Trafalgar
Square to Piceadilly), whiech takes place here every year from May
to the beginning of August, attracts immense numbers of visitors
{(admission 1s., catalogue 1s.). It comsists of paintings and senlp-
tures by modern (mainly) British artists, which must have been
finished during the previous year and not exhibited elsewhere
before. The ‘Private View' of the Exhibition, held by invitation of
the Academicians before it is thrown open to the public, is always
attended by the créam of society and is one of the events of the
London Season. The ‘Academy Dinner’ held about the same time
ig also a highly important social function. The Academy organises
every winter an exhibition of works of old masters belonging to
private individuals. — A stairease in the eorner to the right ascends
to the Giesony and Drrnoma Garnmnies (open daily 11-4, free),
which contain some valuable works of early art, the diploma pic-
tures presented by Academicians on their election, and the Gibson
eollection of sculpture. Among the ancient works are: *Mary with
Jesus and St. John, a relief by Michael Angelo; *Madonna, Holy
COhild, St. Anne, and 8¢, John, a celebrated cartoon by Leonardo da
Vinei, executed in 1503 for the church Dell'Annunziata at Flor-
ence; Copy of Leonardo’s Last Supper, by his pupil Mareo da
Oggionno, from which Morghen's engraving was taken; Woman at a
well, ascribed to Giorgione but considered by Frizzoni to be an
early work of Seb. del Piombo ; portrait by Giorgione. The diploma
works inelude good specimens by Reynolds and Wilkie. The Li-
brary, on the first floor, eontains a fine collection of books and prints

At the back of the Academy, and facing Burlington Gardens, is
London University (Pl. R, 22; 1), founded in 1836, another Re-
naissance structure, erected in 1869 from designs by Pennethorne.
London University (not to be confounded with University College
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in Gower Street) i8 not a teaching establishment but an examin-
ing board, granting degrees iu arts, science, medivine, snd law,
to candidates of either sex wherever educated.

The effective facade is decornted with s series of statues. Above the
portico are those of Milton, Newton, Harvey, and Benihsm (as represent-
atives of the four Faculties), by Durham; over the cornice in the centre
Pluto, Archimedes, and Justinian, by Woodingfon, and Galen, Clegero, ami
Aristotle, by Westmacott; in the W, wing, Locke, ﬁnuun, snd Adam Smith,
by Pheed, wnd Hums, Hunter, and 8ir Humphry Davy, by Noble; in the
E. wing, Galileo, Laplace, and Goethe, by Wyon, and Cuvier, Leibnits,
and Linnsud, by Maedowdll. The inlerior contuins a spacious leeturs
room, & number of other spartments, in which the gradustion examina-
tiuns take $Inee twice annually, and o valuable library, A marble status
of Queen Victoris, by Boeln, wes erected here in May, 1858,

Close by, at 1 Savile Row, to the N.E., is the Royal Geograph-
ical Society. Richard Brinsley Sheridan died at 14 Savile Row in
1816. — In Albemarle Street, to the W., beyond Bond Street
(p. 234), are the Royal Imstitution, founded in 1799 for the pro-
motion and teaching of scienee, with library, reading-room, and
weekly leotnres from Christmas to Midsummer; and the Royal
Asiatie Sociely (No. 22), with a library (open 11-4, on Sat. 11-2).

On the N. side of Piceadilly, a little beyond Burlington House,
is the Albany, let outin chambers, and numbering Canning, Byron,
and Macaulay among quondam residents. Byron passed the first
part of his married life at 139 Piccadilly, where his daughter Ada
was born in Dae., 1815.

8t. James’s Church (Pl. R, 22; I), adjoining Princes’ Hall
(p. 4) on the 8. side of Piceadilly, built by Wren in 1682-84, and
considered (as to the interior) one of his finest works, containg a
marble font by Grinling Gibbons, who also executed the handsome
foliage gver the altar. The stained-glass windows, representing the
Passion and other secenes, are modern. The vestry is hung with
portraits of former rectors.

The Museum of Practical Geology, erected in 1850, is a little
farther to the E. Itis open daily, Fridays excepted, from 10 to b
(in winter 10-4), and on Mondays and Saturday till 10 p.m. ; it is
elosed from 10th August to 10th S8eptember. The building contains,
besides the geologieal museum, a lecture-room for H00 hearers, and
8 library. Entrance by Jermyn Street (Nos. 25-32).

The Haru eontaing busts of celebrated geologisis: on the right, Mur-
chison, Greenough, De Ja Beche, Castletown, William Smith, and Jukes
(behind); on the left, Buclkland, Playfair, Hall, Sedgwick, and Hufton;
at the pillars near the entrance, Queen Vietoria and Princs Albert. At
the upper end I8 a colossal copy of the Farnese Hercules in Portland
limestone. Then English, Ivish, and Scoteh granite; alabaster; Portland
limestone from the m.m& of Portland , nenr Weymouth in Dorsetshire ;
Darbyshire, Staffordshire, and Irish marbles ; auriferous guartz ; malachite;
a large block of solid eopper; and numerous varieties of limestone, These
wre partly in the rough, and partly polished and cut in the shape of
large cubes, squares, tahlaln, or short eolumng, Also terracotte statuettes,
copies of ancient statnes, vases, and pieces of tesselated pavement. The
mosaic pavement in the middle of the hall deserves notice.

On the Fmsr Froor we. first observe a large vase of Biberian avan-
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turing quartz, a gift from the Emperor of Russing o geological model of
London and its vieinity; a steel salver, inlaid with gold, presented by
the Russian Administration of Mines fo 8ir Roderick Murchison, On the
8. side is a collection of porcelain, glass, enamels, and mosaies from the
earliest period down to the present day, Then, in table-cases at the aides
of the room, iron, steel, and copper, at different stages of their manufasture,
We notice in a case on the right (E.) side a penny rolled out into o strip of
eopper, 10yds, long. The eases in the form of a horse-shoe in the middle
of the room contain the collection of non-metallic minerals: here are
seen all kinds of crystallisations, particularly of precious stones, from
quartz nodules withr{ri.llinnt eryatals in the interior up to the most ex-
quisitely polished jewels. Models of the largzest known dinmonds, such
a8 the Koh-i-npor and the Regeni Diamond, are also exhibited in these
onses. The metalliferons minerals, or ores, occupy the wall-cases. Other
eabinets ave filled with agatea, some of which are artificially coloured
with oxide of iron, and the precious metals, including a model of o huge
nugget of pare gold.

In the other parts of the saloon and in the adjoining apartments are
exhibited geological relief-plans and models of mines, metallurgical pro-
cesges, and various kinds of machinery. The two upper galleries, run-
ning round the hall, chiefly contain fossils, which are of little interest
to the ordinary visitor.

On the N. side of Piecadilly, opposite the Geological Museum,
is 8t. James's Hall (p. 44), which has another entrance in the
Regent Quadrant (p. 232). We next reach Piccadilly Cireus (p. 232),
and then, on the right, the Criterion Theatre (p. 41) and the Hay-
market (p. 226). At this point Piccadilly proper comes to an end.
Coventry Street, its eastern prolongation, containing the Prince of
Wales Theatre (p. 41), leads on to Leicester Square (P1. R, 27; 1),
a guarter largely inhabited by French residents, and adorned in 1874
with flower-beds and a marble statue of Shakspeare, in the centre,
bearing the inseription, ‘There is no darkness but ignorance’; at the
base are four water-spouting dolphins. The corners of the garden are
embellished with marble busts of Reynolds, Hunter, Hogarth, and
Newton, all of whom lived in or near the square. After the revoeation
of the Ediot of Nantes (1685) this neighbourhood became a favourite
resort of the more aristoeratic French Protestant exiles. Leicester
House and S8avile House, onee gitnated in the square, were oceupied
by members of the royel family during the first half of last century;
and Peter the Great was entertained at Savile House by the Marquis
of Carmarthen (1698). Down to the beginning of the present cen-
tury the open space in the centre was a frequent resort of duellists.
— The Athambra Theatre (p. 42), on the E. side of the square, was
burned down in 1882, but was rebuilt in 1883-84. The site of
Savile House, on the N. side of the square, is oconpied by the Em-
pire Theatre (p. 42).

The line of Coventry Street is continued on the other side of
the gquare by Oranhourne Street, in which is Daly's Theatre (p. 41),
leading to Charing Cross Road (p. 2534).
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20. Regent Street. Oxford Street. Holborn.

All Saints’ Church. University College. St Paneras’ Church.
Foundling Hospital.

Regent Street (Pl. R, 23, 26; I), one of the finest streets in
London, and containing a large number of the best shops, was laid
out by Nash in 1813, for the purpose of connecting Carlton House
(p. 227), the residence of the Prince Regent, with Regent's Park.
It is 1 M. in length, and extends from Waterloo Place, Pall Mall
(p: 226), across Oxford Street, to Portland Place. To the right (E.), at
the corner of Charles Street, stands the Junior United Service Club,
and on the same side is the Raleiyh Club. Jermyn Street (with the
Geolagical Museum, p. 230) is a little farther on. The street then
reaches Regent Cireus, Piccadilly (see p. 231; known as Piccadilly
Cireus ), whence Piceadilly leads to the W., Coventry Street to the
E., and the wide Shaftesbury Avenue (p. 1562) to the N.E. The
triangle in the centre of the Circus is occupied by a Memorial
Fountain to Lord Shaftesbury (d. 1885), by Alfred Gilbert, A. R. A,
unveiled in 1893. Beyond the Circus Regent Street describes a
curve to the W,, forming the so-called Quadrant, On the left is
the entrance to St. James's Hall (see p. 231). Vigo Street, at the
end of the Quadrant, leads on the left to London University (p.229).
Farther on, to the left, we pass New Burlington Street, Conduit
Street, and Maddox Street.

Between Hanover Street and Prince’s Street we observe the col-
onnade of Hanover Chapel. Hawover Sauars, on the left, is em-
bellished with a bronze statue of William Pitt (d. 1806), by
Chantrey. On the E. side of the square is the St. George's Club, oceupy-
ing the site of the long popular Hanover Square Coneert Rooms ; on
the W. side, the Oriental Club; and at the N.W. angle, in Tenterden
Street, the Royal Academy of Musie. In George Street, leading out
of the square on the 8., is §t. George’s Church, built by James, with
a classic portico, and three stained-glass windows, made in Malines
about 1520 and brought to England early in the present century,
It is the most famous church in London for fashionable weddings.
Lady Mary Wortley Montagu died in George Street in 1762.

The intersection of Regent Street with Oxford Street (see p. 233),
which extends for a long distance in both directions, iscalled Regent
Cireus, Oxford Street, or simply Oxford Cireus. Margaret Street,
the second eross-street beyond Oxford Street, leads to the W. (left)
to OaveEnvise Squarm, which contains an equestrian statue in
marble of the Duke of Cumberland (the vietor at Cullodenin 1746),
by Chew, and a bronze statue of Lord George Bentinck (d. 1848), by
Campbell. Harcourt House, on the W. side of the square, is the
mansion of the Duke of Portland. Lord Byron was born in 1788 at
24 Holles Street, between Cavendish Square and Oxford Street;
the house, however, has sinve been rebuilt. He was baptised in Old
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Marylebone Church, at the top of Marylebone High Street (Pl R,
20), where Charles Wesley was buried in 1788, This was the old
church (rebuilt in 1741) which figures in the ‘Rake’s Marriage’ by
Hogarth (see p.179). — In Margaret Street, to the E, (r.) of Regent
Street, is All Saints’ Church (Pl. R, 24; 1), built by Butlerfield in
1850-09 , in the Early English style, lavishly decorated in the in-
terior with marble and gilding. The E. wall of the choir is frescoed
by Dyce in the style of early Christian art. — At No. T4a. Margaret
Street, is the Parkes Museum of Hygiene (adm., see p. T8).

The Polytechnic Young Men's Christian Institute, between Ca-
vendish Square and Regent Street, has occupied since 1882 the old
Polytechnic Institution. The Institute has numerous technical and
other classes, reading-rooms, a gymnasinm, etc. On the opposite
side of the street is a similar institution for young women. Farther
on, on the right side of Regent Street, are St George's Hall (p. 45)
and the handsome Queen's Hall (p. 44). The latter has accom-
modation for 8000 persons; the ceiling is painted by Carpégat.

At the N. end of Regent Street is Langhum Place, with All
Souls’ Church, erected by Nash. The large building on the other
side is the Langham Hotel (p. 6). TFrom this point PorTrAND
Pracs, one of the widest streets in London (120 {t.), leads to Park
Creseent, Park Square, and Regent's Park (p. 237).

Oxford Street (Pl. R, 19, 23, 27, I, I1), the principal artery
of traffic between the N.W. quarter of London and the City, extends
from the Marble Arch (at the N.E, corner of Hyde Park, p. 271) to
Holborn, a distance of 1!/3 M. The E. portion of this imposing
street contains a number of the most important shops in London,
and presents a scene of immense tralfio nnd aetivity ; while the W.
end, with the adjoining streets and squares (particularly Grosvenor
Square and Berkeley Square on the 8. and Portman Square on the
N.), comprises many aristocratic residences, FEdgware Hoad, which
begins at the W. end of Oxford Street (see PL R, 15), follows the
line of the old Roman road to St. Albans. Portland Street and Or-
chard Street lead to the N. (left) to Pertman Square, with the town
residence of the Duke of Fife. The ‘Blue Stocking Club’ met at Mrs.
Montagu's (d. 1800) in the N.W. corner of the square. From the
N.E. corner Baker Street runs due N, to Baker Street Station (Me-
tropolitan), at the corner of Marylebone Road. Lower Berkeley
Street yuns to the K. from Portman Square to Manchestéer Square
(Pl R, 19; 1), with Hertford House (p. 278). Adjacent, at 13
Mandeville Place, is T'rinity College, an incorporated institution
for the study of music and arts. — Many of the houses in Gros-
venor Sgquare and Berkeley Square (with its plane-trees) still have
bits of fine old iron-work in front of their doors, with extinguishers
for the links or torches formerly used. Horave Walpole died at 11
Berkeley Square in 1797; Clive committed suicide at No, 45 in
1774, No. 38, now the town-house of Lord Rosebery, was the house
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from which the daughter of Mr, Child, the banker, eloped with
the Harl of Westmorland in 1782, and was afterwards the residence
of their daughter Lady Jersey (d. 1867) and her husband. At the
foot of South Audley Street, which runs to the 8. from the S.W.
corner of Grosvenor Square, is Chesterfleld House (PL R, 48; IV),
with a fine marble staircase and the library in which the‘Chester-
field Letters' were written. In Brook Street, which runs E. from
Grogvenor Square to Hanover Square (p. 282), is a house( No. 20) dis-
tinguighed by a tablet indicating that Hindel used to live here.

New Bond Street (PL R, 23; 1), which diverges to the right (8.)
from Oxford Street, farther on, is continued by Old Bond Slreet to
Piccadilly (p. 228). This thoroughfare contains numerons attract-
ive and fashionable shops, the Grosvenor Club (No. 135), and sev-
eral piotura-galleries (comp. p. 40). — Hanover Square, Cavendish
Sguare, Regent Street, and Oxford Ciyeus, see p. 232. In Oxford
Street, on the left, farther on, i8 the Princess’s Theatre (p. 40),
nearly opposite which is the Pantheon, which has successively been
a coneert-room, a theatre, and a bazaar, and is now the extensive
wine warehouse of Messrs. Gilbey. Then on the right (No. §8) is
the Soho Baspar (p. 24), with an exit at the other end to Somo
Sauars, On the N. side of this square is the new French Protestant
Chureh, one of the best examples of terracotta architecture in Lon-
don; and on the E. side is the new Roman Catholic Chureh of
8t. Patrick.

Oxford Street proper ends at Tottenham Court Eond, which rons
to the N. to Euston Road, and Charing Cross Road (p.251), leading
to the 8. to Charing Cross.

The eastern prolongation of Oxford Street, extending to Holborn,
and called New Oxford Street, was laid out in 1849 at a cost of
280,000L. through the ‘Rookery of St. Giles’, one of the most dis-
reputable quarters of London. No. 75, to the right, belonging to
Messrs. Pears, has a vestibule in the style of a Pompeian room,
adorned with seulptures. On the left, at the corner of Hart Street,
is Mudie’s Library (p. 16). A little to the 8. of New Oxford Street,
in High Street; is the church of 8t, Giles-in-the-TFields, the third
church on this site, completed in 1734. Chapman, the. translator
of Homer (tombstone against the exterior 8. wall, erected by Inigo
Jomes), Shirley, the dramatist, and Andrew Marvell are buried here.
To the E. in the churchyard is the square tomb of Pendrell, who
helped Charles II. to safety after the battle of Worcester, with a
quaint epitaph, deseribing him as ‘Unparalleled Pendrell’. The
British Museum (p. 242) lies in Great Russell Street, which runs
off Tottenham Court Road, a little to the north. There are eeveral
sguares at a short distance from the strest, among the chief of
whieh are, to the W. of the British Museum, BrproRv SQUARE;
to the E., Broomsrury Squarwk and Russeryn Squanm, the one con-
taining a statne of Charles James Fox (d. 1806}, and the other one of
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Franeis, Duke of Bedford (4. 1802), both by Westmacott. In Blooms-
bury Square are the new buildings of the College of Preceplors,
opened in 1888,

Gfower Street, which leads to the N. from Bedford Square, con-
tains University College (P1. B,28), founded in 1828, chiefly through
the exertions of Lord Brougham, for students of every religious de-
nomination. A long flight of steps leads to the dodecastyle Corinthian
portico fronting the main edifice, which is 400 ft. in length and
gpurmounted by a handsome dome. It containg numerous lecture-
rooms, a laboratory, the Slade School of Fine Art, and a musenm
with original models and drawings by Flaxman (d. 1826), the cele~
brated geulptor (open to visitors in the summer months, Sat. 10-4).
The new laboratories, ete., built next the street in 1892, somewhat
mask the view of the main edifice. The subjects studied at the
college comprise the exact and natural seiences, the clagsical and
modern languages and literatures, history, law, and medicine. The
building also contains a well-known school for boys. The whole is
maintained without aid from Government. The number of profes-
sors is abont 40, and that of students about 1600, paying nearly
30,0001, in fees. In Gower Street, opposite University College, and
conneeted with it as a clinical establishment, stands the University
College Hospital, where about 40,000 patients are annunally treated
by the medical professors of the college.

Close by, in Gordon Square, is the Catholic Apostolic Church,
built in 1850-54,0ne of the largest eoslesiastical edifices in London.

The Ixterior i5s a fine example of modern Gothic (Early Euglish),
though unfinished towards the W. The Choir, with ita graceful triforium
and diapered spindrils, i8 very rich. The most beauliful part of the
church is, however, the Inglish Chapel, to the E. of the chancsl, with
its polychrome painting, staiped-glass windows, and open srcade with fine
carving (particularly on the three archea to the 8. of the altar). In the
Morning Chapel, to the 8. of the chancel, ig 'the aliar formerly used by
the Rev. Edward freing (d.1884), the founder of the CatholicApostoiic Chureh,

Next this church is University Hall (containing Dr. Williams’
Library, p. 16); a kind of Unitarian ‘University settlement’ (warden.
Rev. P. H. Wicksteed).

At the N. end of Gower Street ia the Gower Street Station (Me-
tropolitan; p. 36). Thence Enston Road runs to the E. to Euston
Bguare Station, terminus of the London and North Western Rail-
way (p. 82), the entrance-hall of which contains a coloseal statne
of George Stephenson, by Baily. Farther to the E. is the 8t. Pan-
eras Station, terminus of the Midland Railway (p. 82), with the
terminus hotel; a very handsome building inan ornate Gothio style,
by Sir G. G. Seott. Adjacent is the King's Cross Station, terminus
of the Great Northern Railway (p. 32).

Bt. Pancras’ Church (P1. B,28), in Euston Square, was built by
the Megsra. Inwood in 1819 at a cost of 76,6790, It is an imitation
of the Erechthenm at Athens; while its tower, 168 ft. in height, is
a double reproduction of the so-called Tower of the Winds.
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Old 8t, Pancras® Church (Pl B, 27), with its historical churchyard, is
situated in Old 8t Pancras Road, next to the Workhouse. Parl of the
churchyard, with the adjecent 51, Giles burying ground, has been eonverted
into publie gardens. A monument was erected hers in 1579 by the Baroness
Burdeti-Coutts to those whose graves were distarbed in the procesd.

To the N. of King's Cross le the populous but comparatively uninterest-
ing districts of Bomers Towsw, Camory Towy, Kesrisn Tows, Isuiveron,
Higusury, and Horroway. In Great College Btreet, Camden Town, is
situated lfw Royal Veterinary Coilege (Pl. B, 23), with a museum to which
vigitora are admitted daily (9 to 5 or §) on presenting thelr cards. Charles
Dibdin (d. 1814), the writer of nautical songs, is buried in St. Martin’s
Burial Ground, Camden Street (now a public recrention-ground), o little
to the N.W. of the Veterinary College. He is commemorated by a naw
HSeandinavian cross. The Royal Agricwltural Hall (p. 44) is in Liverpool
Road, Islington (Pl. B, 85), and the Grand Theatrs (p. §2) is close by, in

h Street. A little to the N.E., in Canonbury Square (Pl B, 88), ia
*Canonbury Tower, an interesting relic of the country-residence of the
Priors of 5t. Bartholomew. The tower was probably built by Prior Bolton
{p. 96), thonph vestored at a later date, and containg a fine carved oak
room, Oliver Goldamith occupied rooms in the tower in 1762,
~ The enstern prolongation of New Oxford Street is High Holborn
(Pl. R, 32, and I7; so called from the ‘Hole Bourne', or Fleet Brook,
which onece flowed through the hollow near here), a street which
survived the Great Fire, and still contains a considerable number
of old houses. Milton once lived here, and it was by this route that
condemned eriminals nsed to be conducted to Tyburn. The inereas-
ing traffle indicates that we are approaching the City. On the right
are geveral side - streets, leading to Lincoln's Inn Fields (with the
Soane Museum, ete., see pp. 183-186). Red Lion Street on the
left, continued by Lamb's Conduit Street, leads to Guilford Street,
on the N. gide of which atands the —

Foundling Hospital (Pl. R, 32), a remarkable establishment
founded by Captain Thomag Coram in 1739 for ‘deserted children’.
Since 1760, however, it has not been used as a foundling hospital,
but as a home for illegitimate children, whose mothers are known.
(Neither in London nor in any other part of England are there any
foundling hospitals in the proper sense of the term, such as the
*Hospice des Enfants Trouvés' in Paris.) The number of the ehildren
i3 about 500, and the yearly income of the Hospital, 18,0001.

In the Board Room sand the Seerefary’s Reom are a number of pictures,
chiefly painted about the middle of last century, They include the fol-
lowing: Hoparth, *March to Finchley, and Finding of Moses; portraits b
Ramaay, Reynolde, and Shacklefon; views of the Foundling Hospital an
8t. George's Hospital by Wilsen; view of the Charterhouse by Gainas-
borosyh, The Board Hoom also contains s good portrait of Coram by
Hogarth, Most of the pictures were presented to the institution by the
artisis themselves. (The success with which the exhibition of thege pic-
tures was attended is said to have led to the firit exhibition of the Royal
Academy in 1760.) The hospital algo possesses Haphael’s cartovon of the
Massacre of the Innocents, a bust of Hindel and some of his musicel M3S,,
o collection of coing or tokens deposited with the children (1741-8(), ete.
The Chapel i8 adorned with an altarpiece hty West, répresenting dl\rlut
blessing little children; the organ was a gifi from Hindei. Divine ser
viee, at which the children are led in singing by trained voives, is per-
formed on Bundays at 11 a.m, and B p.m. The Ho’sgiitnl is ghown to t-
ors on Bundays, after morning service, and on Mondays from 10 to 4.
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dathar bl

The attendants are forbidden to accept grat but a
the funds of the institution is expected Emm the visitor on lzaving or in
the church-offertory.

To the E. of LincoIn's Inn are Chancery Lane (p. 139) on the

right (after which we are in the City), and Gray's Inn Road (p.141)
on the left. Then Holborn Viaduet, Newgate, eto., see pp. 93, 94

21. Regent's Park,

Zaological Gardens. Botanie Gardens. Primrose Hill.
Lord's Cricket Ground.

Regent’s Park (Pl B, 15, 16, 19, 20) was laid out during the
last years of the reign of George 1I1., and derives its name from
the then Prince Regent, afterwards George IV. It occupies the site
of an earlier park called Marylebone Park. The name Marylebone
ig gaid to be a corruption of Mary on Tyburn (Mary-le-bourne),
Tyburn being a small brook, coming from Kilburn and flowing into
the Thames. It erossed Oxford Street a little to the E. of the
Marble Arch and flowed throngh St. James's Park, leaving its mark
upon Brook Street, Grosvenor Square, and notably upon ‘Tyburn',
that melancholy old place of execution sitnated abont the lower
corner of Edgware Road, It has also given its name to Tyburnia,
the quarter of London sitnated to the N. of Hyde Park.

In the time of QJueen Elizabeth, Marylebone Park was filled with
deer and game. Under the Commonwealth the land was-cleared of
the woods and used as pasturage. Afterwards trees were again
planted, footpaths constructed, and a large artificial lake formed.

The Park, which is one of the largest in London, embraces 472
acres of ground, and extends from York Gate, Marylebone Road, to
Primrose Hill. Within its precinocts are situated several private
residences, among whieh is St. Dunstan’s Villa with the clock and
the antomatic fignres from the chureh of St. Dunstan’s in Fleet Street
(seep. 188). The gardens of the Zoological Society (founded by Six
Humphry Davy and Sir Stamford Raffiee in 1820) oceupy a large
gpace in the N. part of the Park, which also containg the gardens
of the Botanical Society and the Towopholite (Archery) Society. The
Park is surrounded by a broad drive known as the Outer Cirele. In
summer a band generally plays in the Park on Sun. afternoons in
the Kiosk a little to the 8. of the Zoological Gardens (PL. B, 20).

The **Zoological Gardens are bounded on the N. by the Regent's
Canal and interseeted by the Outer Circle, which here runs parallel
with the canal. They are thus divided into two portions, which,
however, communicate with each other by means of a tunnel
constructed nndor thedrive. The principal entrance is in the Outer
Cirele (the Main Entrance in the Plan) ; ingress may alzo be obtained
from the Broad Walk, at the S.E. angle of the gardens (see Pl.,
South Entrance), or from Albert Road, Primroge Hill, on the N. side
of the canal (North Entrance, near No. 43 ¢n the Plan), The Main
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Entrance is about 3/y M. from the Portland Road Station of the
Metropolitan Railway, from which the 5. Entrance is a little less re-
mote, while both gates are abont #/g M. from the Chalk Farm Station
of the North -Western and North London Railways, The Baker Street
Station (Metropolitan) is about 8y M. from the 8. entrance, which
is only 300 yds. from Gloncester Road, where omnibuses {rom all
parts of London pass at frequent intervals, The North Entrance is
1/a M. from Chalk Farm and 3/ M. from 8t. John's Wood Road
(Metropolitan Railway), and is passed by Camden Town and Padd-
ington omnibuses. (Carriages may not drive along the Broad Walk.)

The Zoological Gardens are open daily from 9 a.m. to sunset,
admission 1s., on Mondays 6d., ehildren half-price exeept on Mon-
days#; on Sundays only by order obtained from a member. The total
number of visitors in 1893 was 662,649, The band of the Life
Guards usnally plays here on Saturdays in summer at 4 p.m.

Many of the animals conceal themselves during the day in their
holes and dens, under water, or among the shrubbery ; the best time
to visit them, accordingly, is at the feeding-hour, when even the
lethargic carnivora are to be seen in a state of aetivity and ex-
citement, The pelicans are fed at 2, 30, the otters at 3, the eagles
at 3. 30 (except Wednesdays), the beasts of prey at 4 (in winter,
Nov.-Feb., at 3), the seals and sea-lions at 4.3% (in winter at 3.30),
and the diving birds in the fish-house (P1. 37) at 12 and B p.m.
The snakes receive their weekly meal on Friday, but visitors are
not admitted to this curious spectacle without the express per-
mission of the Director of the Gardens.

Those who have not time to explore the Gardens thoroughly had
better follow the route indicated on the plan by arrows, so as fo
see the most interesting animals in the shortest possible time,
avoiding all nnneeessary deviations.

On entering from the Outer Circle (Pl,, Main Entrance), we
turn to the righty and first reach the Western Aviary (Pl 1), which
is 170 ft. long, and contains 200 different kinds of birds, chiefly
from Australia, the Indian Archipelago, and South America. Then,
passing the Crows (PL 1a) and the Cranes and Storks (P1. 2), we
reach, on the left, the —

*Monkey House (Pl. 3), which always attracts a erowd of amused
gpectators. The unpleasant odour is judiciously disguised by num-
erous plants and flowers. The bats are also kept here.

We next return (to the right) to the Storks and Cranes (P1. 2)
and Emeus (PL. 4), by which we pass to the left, and then take
another tuming on the right leading to the Rodents (P1. 6), Swine
(P1.T), and Southern Ponds for Water Fowl (P1. D ; about H0 different
kinds). We then proceed to the left, along the other side of the
Southern Ponds and past the Sheep Sheds (P1.8), to the Sea-Lions'
Pond (P. 9). To the right is the Sheep Yard (9 A), built in 1886
for the Burvhel, or blue wild sheep, from the Himalayas. To the
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S.E. of this point are the Wolves' and Foxes' Dens (Pl 9B). We
now continue our walk (see Plan) to the large *Lion House(Pl. 10),
which is 230 {t. long and T0 ft. wide. In addition to its living
oscupants it contains a bust of Sir Stamford Raffies (d. 1826), the
first president of the Zoological Sooiety.

‘We now retrace our steps, and pass along the open-air enclosures
at the back of the Lion House to the Anfelope House (Pl. 11).
Issuing thence, we proceed straight on, past the Bear Pit (Pl 14),
to the southern front of the dens formerly oceupied by the lions
and tigers, but now containing Hyenas and Bears (Pl. 12 and 13).
The terrace above affords a view of the bear-pit and the pond for
the Polar Bears (Pl. 132). We next turn to the right, and pass
throngh the archway near the Camels (P1. 16). Then, leaving the
Clock Tower on the right and the Eagle Owls (Pl. 15) on the left,
and passing more Water Fowl (P1. 17) on the left, and the Eastern
Awiary (P1. 19) on the right, we reach the pavilion of the *Peli-
eans (P1. 18).

From the pelicans we retrace our steps to the vicinity of the
Olock Tower, and bear to the left to the Northern Pond (P1. 207,
which contains more water-fowl, By continuing to the left we reach
the Owls® Cages (P1.21), at the back of which is the Liumas’ House
(PL. 22). This should not be approached too elosely on assount of
the unpleasant expectorating propensities of its inmates. A litile
farther on is the pond containing the Mandarin Ducks (Pl. 23).
Between the two, on our left, is the entrance to the tunnel, which
we pass in the meantime. Opposite; on the right, are the Otters
(P1. 24) and the Kites (P1. 20); to the N.E., on the left, lies the
Civet House (P1.26). We now turn to the right and proceed to the
sputh.

We first reach, on the left, the Small Mammals (P1. 27; the
house may be entered), on the right the Ducks (P1. 20}); then, on
the left, the Flying Squirrels (Pl. 28) and the Racoons (Pl. 30),
near which is the refreshment room (see p. 240). Continuing in a
straight direction past the Vultures(P1. 31) and another small aviary
containing Bateleur Eagles, we reach the 5. Entrance, which we
leave on the left. Nearthe entrance is the new Deer House (Pl. 32),
behind which are the Cattle Sheds (Pl. 34; containing, amongst
other specimans, the bison, vape buffalo, zebu, and gayal). Opposite
the Deer House are aviaries containing Pheasants and Peacocks
(PL. 31a). We now turn to the left, and after a few paces reach
the new *Reptile House, to the E. of the Lion House. This con-
tains an extensive collection of large serpents, lizards, alligators,
and erocodiles, At this peint we turn back and walk straight on,
past the front of the Cattle Sheds, to the Three Jsland Pond (Pl 36),
stocked with water-fowl, among which are specimens of the black-
necked swan. The path leading first to the left and then to the
right, passing (opposite) more Water Fowl (Pl 35), leads to the
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*Fish-House (P1. 37), containing a fine collection of fish and small
aguatio birds. The *Refreshment Rooms (P1. 38, 39) here afford a
welcome opportunity for a rest.

From the Refreshment Rooms we proceed towards the N.W.

ast the Eagles’ Aviaries (P1. 40), having on our left the Rails (P1.
Ei), and pass through the tunnel leading into the N. section of the
gardens. Here we first go straight on, across the canal-bridge, on the
other side of which are the Northern Aviary (Pl 42; for birds of
prey); the Tortoise House (P1, 43); and the new *Inseectarium
(PL. 44), containing insects, land-crustaceans, chameleons, toads,
tree-frogs, terrapins, electric eels, and birds of paradise. Between
the tortoise~-house and the insectarium ig the North Entrance, op-
posite which are paddocks containing Japanese and Azis Deer.

We now recross the bridge and turn to the left to the Small Cats'
House (P1. 44a) and Lecture Room (P1. 45), the latter adorned with
water-colour sketohes of animals. Adjoining the Lecture Room are
the Marsupials' House (P1. 46), containing the great ant-eater, the
*Sioths’ House (Pl. AT), and a Kangaroo Shed (P1, 48). The Slaths’
House contains some of the most interesting immates of the Gar-
dens, in the form of specimens of the anthropoid or manlike apes,
pending the erection of a special house for these animals. Oppo-
site are another Kangaroo Shed (Pl. 49) and the Wombat's House
P’:‘L 50%. Here we turn to the right and pass the Brush Turkeys
Pl. 01) and the Markhore Howse (P1. 52) on the right, and a small
Befreshment Stall (P1. 53) on the left. Opposite this stall is the
Parrot House (P1. 54), containing about ninety different species of
that gaudy and harsh-voiced bird, next to which is the new *Ele-
phant and Rhinoceros House (P1. 56), containing the African and
Aslatie varieties of these animals.

No. 7 contains deer belonging to the old world; No. 59 is the
Superintendent’s Office. The Moose-Yard (No, b9a) contains monse~
deer and rein-deer from Labrador. Proceeding in a straight direc-
tion, we reach the *Hippopotamus and Brazilian Tapir (PL 60).
The Giraffe-House (PL 61) at present contains Indian cattle and a
large ostrich, the last giraffe having died in 1892. Beyond are the
Zebras (Pl 62) and Cassowaries (Pl 63), the house of the latter
conteining also an Apteryxz or Kiwi. Returning along the 8. side
of these houses, we reach, on the left, the Gaselles (Pl 64) and the
Beavers (P1. 58). A little way beyond the Beaver House we reach
the Exit; which takes ns into the Outer Cirele,

Part of the southern portion of Regent's Park is oconpied by the
Botanie Gardens (Fl. B, 20), which are cireular in shape, and are
enclosed by the drive ealled the Inner Cirele. Large flower-shows
take place here on three Wednesdays in May and June, which are
largely attended by the fashionable world (tickets of admission sold
at the gate). On otheroccasions the gardens are open daily (Sundays
and Wednesdays excepted) to anyone presenting an order of ad-
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mission given by a Fellow of the Betanical Society. Strangers are
generally admitted on application to the officials, The Mnseum and
the collestions of sea-weeds and orchids are very interesting.

On the E. side of the Park stands 8t. Katherine's Hospital, with
its chapel. This building was erected in substitution of one which
formerly stood on the site of 8t. Katherine's Docks (p. 129). The
property was purchased by the Dock Company from the Hospital
trustees for a very large sum, part of which was laid out in the con-
struetion of the new eluster of buildings in the Park. The Hos-
pital was originally intended for the shelter and succour of ‘six poor
bachelors and six poor spinsters’; but is now the Central House for
Nurses for the Poor, maintained by the Jubilee gift of the women
of England to the Queen, The incomeis about T000L. a year. Sev-
eral old monuments from the original hospital are preserved here.

To the 8. of Regent's Park runs the Maryrerons Roan, con=-
taining the imposing premises of Madame Tussaud's well-known
waxwork exhibition (adm., see p. 43), which are close to the Baker
Street station of the Metropolitan railway. The large building op-
posite Mme. Tussaud's is the Marylebone Workhouse (sce P1. R, 20).

The summit of Primrose Hill (Pl. B, 14; 207 ft.), an eminence to
the N. of Regent's Park, from which it is separated by the canal and
a road, commands a very extensive view. On the . and 3., as {ar
a§ the eye can reach, mothing is seen but the roofs and spires of
the stupendous city of London, while on the N. the green hills of
Hampstead and Highgate form the pisturesque background of a
landegoape which contrasts pleasantly with the dingy buildings of
the metropolis. At the 8. base of the hill there is an open-air
gymnasium; a refreshment-room has also been opened. A ‘Shak-
speare Ouk’ was planted on the 8. slope of the hill in 1864, on the
tereentenary celebration of the great dramatist’'s birth.

To the N.W. in Finchley Road, near the Swiss Cottage Station
(Metropolitan), stande New College, for the education of ministers
of the Cengregational Body, Among ils past professors have been
gome men of considerable note. It containg a good theological
library. The building was erected about 25 years ago in the midsy
of what was then green fields, and is admired for its styleand pro-
portions. — Farther out in the Finehley Road (beyond Pl. B, b)
is the new Huackney Congregational College, erected in 1887 at a
sost of about 23,000

Lord’s Cricket Ground (Pl. B, 12; p. 47), in 8t John's Wood
Road (Metropolitan station, see p. 80), to the W. of Regent's Park,
is thronged with a large and brilliant erowd of spectators on the
ogeasion of the prineipal cricket matehes, particularly when Cam-
bridge is disputing the palm of yietory with Oxford, or, better still,
Eton with Harrow; and it then presents a characteristic and impoa-
ing spectacle, which the stranger should not fail to see. Admission
on ordinary days fd.; during great matehes, which are always ad-

Bagpeger, London, 9th Edit. 16
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vertised beforehand, 1s. or 25, 6d. The ground was purchased by the
Marylebone Oricket Club for a large sum, to prevent it from being
built upon. The new Pavilion was built in 1891, The ground is well
supplied with luncheon-bars; and there s also a telegraph-office.

22. The British Museum,

The nuecleus of the now vast contents of the **British Museum
(P1. R, 28; IT) was formed by the library and eollection of Sir Hans
Stoane (d. 17563), who in his will offered them to the State for the
sum of 20,0000, (said to have been 80,0007, less than their value).
An Aot of Parliament was at once passed for the acceptance of the
offer, and the collections, along with the Harleian MSS. and the
Cottonian Library, were deposited in Montague House, which was
hought for the purpose. The presentation by George IT1. of a collection
of Egyptian antiquities in 1801, and the purchase of the Townley
Marbles in 1805 and the Elgin Marbles in 1816, made such additions
to the original contents that a new wing had to be built for their re-
ception. The Museum continued to increase, and when George IV.
presented it in 1823 with the King's Library, collected by George
111., old Montague House was felt to be quite inadequate for its
purpose, and a new building, designed by Sir Robert Smirke and
completed by his younger brother Sydney Smirke, was erected on its
site between 1823 and 1852. The new Reading Room (see p. 265)
was added in 1857, and since 1879 a new gallery for the Manso-
lenm marbles and the entire “White Wing', on the S.E. side (p. 264)
have been erected from a bequest by Mr. William White. The con-
tents of the British Museum are at present arranged in seven sec-
tions, each under the special superintendence of an Under Librarian
or Keeper. These sections are as follows: Printed Books (Maps and
Plang), Manuscripts, Prints and Drawings, Egyptian and Assyrian
Antiquities, British and Medizval Antiguities and Ethnography,
Greek and Roman Antiquities, and Coins and Medals. The Natural
History sections are now at 8. Kensington (see p. 278). Wherever
it is practicable, the names are attached to the different objects.
For a thorough study of the collections the excellent official cata~
lIngues are indispensable; for a hasty visit the following directions
may suffiece. Courses of lectures on the various antiquities of the
Museum are delivered here by experts from time to time. — The
number of vigitors to the British Mugeum in 1893, exclusive of

readers and students, was 538, 560.

The Musgeum is open free on every weck-iay from 10 a.m. till 4, B,
or 6 p.m. according to the season; and the variouns sections are open also
from 8 to 10 p.m, as follows: on Mon. and Frid. the Egyptian, Assyrian,
Bemitje, Religious, and American Collections: on Tues. and Thurs, the
MSS,, King's Library, Poreelain and Glass, Printa and Drawings, and the
Prehistoric, Ethnographical, and Medimval Collections; and on Wed. and
Sal., the Greek and Homan Collectiops, The general public sre not ad-
mitted to the British, Medirval, and Ethnographical departments ov o tha
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rooms in the White Wing on Tues. and Thurs., these days being reserved
for stndents; but strangers will obtuin admission to the closed sections
without djfﬂ’culty. The Museum is shut on Good Friday and Christmas
Day. — Sticks and nmbrellas are left in the hall. Catalogues may be ob-
tained in the hall, or from the attendants in the varions sections. Those
offered for sale outside are not trustworihy. Good photographs of several
of the most interesting drawings and aeuiptmaa in the Museum may be
purchased in the chief Hbrarian’s office.

The Prinerean Fagans, townrds(8,) Great Russell Street, with
two projecting wings and a portico in the eentre, iz 370 ft. in
length. In front it has an Tonio ecolonnade of 44 columns, The
pediment above the Portico, which i8 borne by two rows of eight
¢olumns, is adorned with sculptures by Westmacott: on the right,
Progress of the Human Raece; on the left, allegorical fignres of
Mathematies, the Drama, Poetry, Musie¢, and Natural Philosophy.

The Exteancs Harn, whieh in 1877 was enlarged by an ex-
tension towards the N., measures 62 ft. in length. The ceil-
ing is embellished with encaustic painting. The statue of Shak-
speare on the right, at the entrance to the library, chiselled by
Roubiliao, was presented by Garrick, the actor. Beside it is a bust
of Sir A. H. Layard (d. 1894). On the W. side of the hall is the
prineipal staircase, ascending to the first floor. To the left of itisa
busat of the Duke of Marlborough, by Rysbrack, to the right, a bust of
the Earl of Chesterfleld. By the door leading into the seulpfure room
is a statue of Mrs. Damer, the sculptress, by Westmacott. Various
Buddhist soulptures from the Punjab and Amravati in South India,
dating from the 4thecent. A,D., are also exhibited on the staircase.

The Room or INscrierions lies to the N. of the entrance-hall,
To the right and left, as we enter, Greco-Roman statues of *Thalia,
muse of comedy, and Ariadne. This room contains a representative
series of Greck and Roman inseriptions, round the walls, and also
the following seulptures :

To the left: Statue of Marcus Aurelius, in civil costume, from Egypt;
marble vase with Bacchic relief; Bust of Antisthenes; Bust of Anacreon 8;) 5
below, Busts of a Greek philosopber and of Periander; Female statue, in
rough workmanship; 19. Hadrian in military costume (legs and arms re-
stored). In the eentre of this part of the room: ®Greek eratera from the
Villa of Hadrian, round the ugper part of which are reliefs of Satyrs
making wine; on pedestals round the last, four cinerary urns. — To the
right: Unknown figure in mﬁ]mr& costume, from Egypt; *Marble puters,
with ‘o relief of a Maenad, from Hadrian's Villa; Bust of Meliodorus (73
Demosthenes; Votive reliefs of articles of the toilety above, Busts of
Diogenes (?) and Hippocrates (¥); then Busts of Epicurus and Euripides
(above)y Bust of Cornelins Lentulus Marcellinus, propritor of Cyrene;
Antoninus Plug; Unknown Greek philosopher; Statue of a Boman poet (%)
9. Unknown statue in clvil costume. In the centre: ®*Equestrian statue,
restored as Calignla; on pedestals round the last, two bases for ecan-
delabra; 066, Mithras sacrificing a bull; b4, Group of two dogss 80. Sphinx.

From the Hall we flrst turn to the right into the Library, and
enter the room which contains the collection of 20,240 vols. be-
queathed to the Museum by Thomas Grenville.

The glass-cases contain a chronological series of IWuminated MSS.
from the 10th to the 1B8th century. Osise I (to the left). Greek MSS. of
10-18th cent.: MSS. illuminated by English artists, 10-11th cent. — Casw 11.

16*
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MSB. of 12-18th cent,: Paalters; 17. Diurnale; “18, Roll with outline tinted
drawings from the life of 8. Guthlae of Croyland, — Cases I11 & 1V, MSS.
of 14th cent.: copies of the Apocalypse; breviary; summaries of ancient
higtory in French. — 88, Duranduns de Divinis Officiia; 89, Latin poems by
Petrarch’s futors 40. Latin treatise on virtues and viees; 41. Dante’s Di-
vine Comiedy with miniatures; French religious hooks. — Case V. English
and French MBS, of 1Gth cent.: 48. Homan de la Rose; §2. French ro-
mances, presented by Talbot, Earl of Shrewsbury, to Marcaret of Anjou,
consort of Henry VI ; 00. Froissart’s Chroniele, — Casg V1. French, Englizh,
and Ttalian MSS, of the 151 cent,: 87, Lectionary, with portrait of Sifer
Was, the illuminator; eopies of Hours of the Virgin. — Casg VIL MBS.
of 18th and 16th cent. : bg Plutarch's Lives; 84. Splendor Solis, an al-
chemical work; Books of Honrs. — In the lower divisiong of Cases I, 1V,
V, and VII are large MBS. chiefly of the 15th cextury. — Casg VIIT, he-
tween Cases 11 and II1, contains specimens of Bindings of MSS. of the
10-16th centuries.

We next enter the hall containing the Manuscripts, the cases in

which are fllled with numerous interesting antographs and treasures

of 4 kindred nature.

Case I (on the left, divided into § seetions) eontains sntograph writ-
ings of celebrated men, English and foreign, including Luther, Culyvin,
Melanclithon, Erasmus of Botterdam; Archbishop Cranmer, Sir Thopas
More, Bir Francis Drake, Sir John Hawkins, Sir Walter Raleich, Sir
Philip Sidney, Francis Bacon, Prince Rupert of the Palatinate, Sir Isase
Newton, Michael Angelo, Albert Diirer, Rubens, Rembrandt, Van Dyek,
Galileo, Moligre, Voliaire, Prior, Bwift, Addison, Stesle, Dryden, Pope,
Washington, Napoleon I,

Caug I is oocupied with nuto%mphs of English Sovereigns: Richard IL,
Henry IV., Henry V., Henry VI., Edward IV, Fdward V., Henry VI,
Henry VIIL, Catharine of Arragon, Anne Boleyn, Edward Vt.. Jane Grey,
Queen Mary, Quegn Elizabeth, James L., Charles L, Oliver Cromwell,
Charles I1., James I1.,, William III., Queen Anne, George I, George 1L,
George 111, George IV., William IV., and Queen Vietoria (peneil signa-
ture writlen at the age of four years).

Casg IIT (nt right angles to the last case) containg sutogreaphs of
British Statesmen and Commandera: Wolsey, Borghley, Birafford, Hamp-
den, Marlborough, Bolingbroke, Sir Robt. Walpole, Chatham, Clive,
‘Warren Hestings, Burke, Pitt, Fox, Nelson, Wellington, Peel, Palmerston,
Earl of Derby, Benjamin Disraeli, Genoral Gordon.

In the small triangular casse between the last two i3 a Commentary on the
Decretals of Pope Innocent IV, in the state in which it was left after a fire
at Aghburnham House, Westminster, in 1781. Beyond Case 110 is Cage G,
containing o volume of the UCodex Alexandrinus and the books of Genesis
and Exodus according to the Syrisc Version, The former, dating from the
Bik ¢ent,, ranks with the conlemporary Codex Binaiticus at Bi. Peters-
burz and the Oodex Vaticanus at Rome a3 one of the three oldest Greek
MBS, of the Bible. The Syriac MS., from the Nifrinn desert, Eeypt , was
written st Amid in the year of the Greeks 776, A.D. 464, and is believed
to be the oldest dated MS. of any entire books of the Hible now extant.

The series is continued in TasLe-Oase IV, at the 8, end of the room,
containing historica]l autographs: Declaration signed by B bishops
(1538} 5 letter of Perkin Warbeck, the pretended son of Edward IV, 5 auto-
graphs of several English sovereigns, Claverliouse, "Junius’, Wilkes, Alger-
non Sidney, Oliver Cromwell;® efo, — Tasre-Case V contains Literary
Dramatic, and Mosical Autograpbs: Camden, Dr. Donne, Jeremy Taylor,
E’epis, George Fox, Whilelield, Richard Baxier, Weslay, Richa T,
Gioldsmith, Sterne, Johnson, Boswell, Garrick, S8arah Siddons, Eembhle,
Eean, Wilkis, Flaxman, Turner, Gray (‘Elegy’), Burns, Keats, Bhelley,
Coleridge, Wordsworth, Lamb, Sydney Smith, Hpod, Lytton, Dickens (Jast
letiar he wrote), Carlyle, Browning, Hundel, Beethoven, Haydn, Schubert,
Mendelsaohn, Goethe, Schiller, g .

We now retrace our steps to the door by which we entered; and
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begin our examination of the cases on the right aide. The first gix frames
eontain royal documents (charters, grants, ete.) from the Oth to the
14th cent. including an sutofype copy of Magna Charta (1215); doen-
ments of Richard Coenr-de-Lion, Henry I, Henry I, Edward the Con-
faasor, Canute the Dane, the Saxon King Edgar, éte.

Case VI containg autograph writings of Bobert Burns (Autobiography),
Walter Scott (‘Kenilworth’), Torquato Tasso (“Torismonda’), Sterne, Locke,
Jean Jaoques Boussenu, Pope, Milton, Samuel Johnson, Chatterton, Defoe,
Bouthey, Coleridge, Byron, Ben Jonson, and Lord Macaulay ; Milton's copy
of the Bible (in the triangular part of the case); some textds of Seripturs
in the handwriting of Edward VL ; the prayee-book of Lady Jane Grey; &
book of prayers copied out by Quneen Elizabeths will of Mary, Quéen of
Seots: note-hook of the Duke of Monmouth; original M55, of Oharles L,
James L, and Fredarickfthe Great. —In the small adjoining Oasel isa copy
of Wyeliffe's Bible (14th eent.), with lluminations. — Case H, against the
opposite pilaster, containg an illominsted copy of the Vulzate (5i0), Ad-
jacent, on the pilaster, are an sutograph of Edmund Spenser; the deed of
sale of ‘Paradise Lost', with Milton’s signature; and an antotype facsimile
of Shakspeare’s will. — Casz K, against the N.E. pilaster; confains a
double roll of the Pentateuch, on goalskin (14th eent.).

Cases A-F, in the middle of the room, eontain Eunropean and Oriental
M38., arranged to show the progress of the art of writing. A. Greek
MSS., séome on papyrus, B,0. Latin MB8S., incloding illuminated Gospels,
Pgalters, and Hours. D. English MS8S.: & unique c¢opy of Beowulf; on
vellum (ca. 1000 A.D.); Anglo-Baxon Chronicle to 1080; Pilers Flowman
(before 1400) 5 poem by Doeleve, with & portrait of Chancer on the margin
(early 15th cent). E.F. Sanskrit, Pal, Cingalese, Avalic, Perslan, and
other Oriental M38., some of which are of enormous value, — A ceniral
case gontaing chronologically arranged M8, sourses of English history,
shewing how the history wis recorded before fhe invention of printing:
2. Bede's Ecclesinatical Historys; 3. Anglo-Saxon Chronicle; 4. Waee's Ro-
man de Rous 12, Matthéw Paris; ete.

At the entrance to the King's Library are two gliss-casea (N and )
with impregsions of the Great Seals of the Brifish sovereigns (eft) and of
various baronial and ecclésinstical seala (right).

In frames attached to the wainscot sre exhibited several Deeds and
Papyrd, four of the latter, In Coptie, relating to the monastery of St. Phoeb-
ammon, neir Hermonthis, Ezypt,

To the 8, E. of the Manuseript Saloon is the MSS, Room for
Students. The door to the E. opens on the corridor leading to the
Newspaper Reading Room and to the staircase ascending to the
Print Department (see p. 264). — On the N. it is adjoined by the
King's Library, a collection of 80,000 vols. made by George III.
and presented to the nation by George IV., and arranged in a hall
built expressly for the purpose, which extends along the whole
breadth of the building. The eollection is remarkable for the beanty
and rarity of the works contained in it. Changes in the arrange-
ments are ot infrequent, and temporary exhibitions illustrating
special periods are held here from time to time.

Twenty-iwo cases arranged on gach side of the hall contain Lypo-
graphical specimens in illustration of the history of printing, in chrono-
logical order,

Cases [and 11 contain o eolleetivn of *block-books', {.e, hooke printed
from carved blocks of wood. Among them are several specimens of the
Biblia Pauperum; Defensorium inviolate Virginitatis beatee Marite Vir-
ginia (1470); Ars moriendi; Templstiones Demonis; Mirabilia Bomee;
fome old German calendars, including that of Regiomontanus priated at
Nnrnmhaxf in 1474, the earliest known; Planetenbuech, or book of the
planets (1470), ete.
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Cases 11 and IV are occupied by the earliest Germun printed books,
including the Mazarin Bible, the first printed Bible, prinied by Guten-
berg and Fust (Mayence, 1&55; a copy of this Bible was sold in 1873 for

1.); the first psalter, printed on parchmenti in {467 by Fust and
Schaffer (the first printed book bearing a date); Bible printed by Fust
and Scheeffer in 1462 (the frst printed Bible bearing a date); Deecretum
Gratiani, printed at Strasshurg by Eggesteyn in 1471) ; Latin Bi‘hls,’ printed
gt Bamberg in 1460; the first German Bible (printed at Strassburg about
Casg V gontaing early German and Duteh books: Steinheewel's German
Chroniele (Ulm, 1473); Bynaert die Vos (Gouda, 1478), the firat printed
edition in any langusge,

Case VI eontains examples of Italian typography: Ciearg, De Oratore
iSubiscn 1465), the Arst work printed in Ifaly; Livy, prinied a1t RBome in

460 by Schweinheim and Pannartz, on vellumj Petrarch (Fano, 3

Lactantins, printed at Subiaco by Sehweinheim and Pannartz in 1460
Civero, Tusenlans Questiones (Rome, 1469); the first printed edition of
Dante (Foligno, 1472)5 Virgil, by Aldus (Venice, 1601); Tacitus, by Da
Spira (Venice, 1469); Cicero, Epistolle Familiares, on vellum [Venice,
1469) ; Ovid (Bologna, 1471).

Casg VII contains Italian and French printing: Valturius de re mil-
itari (Verona, 1472); Lascaris, Greck Grammar (Milan, 1478), the first
printed Greek work; /Esop (Milan, 1450); Barsizins, Libsr epistolarnm
(Paris, 1473), the first book printed in France; L'Art et Science de Rhé-
torigue, eopy belonging to Henry VII (Paris, 1403),

Case VIII are specimens of Enpglish printing: Recuyell of the
Historyes of Troye, by Le Fevre, printed ahroad by Caxton about 1475
(the first book printed in English); the original French of the same work,
also printed by Caxton (the flrst book printed in French); The Game and
Playe of the Chesse, printed by Caxton about 14755 The Dietes or Sayengis
of the Philosophres, printed by Caxton at Westminster in 1477 (the first
book })rinhtd in England); 8. Bonaventura, Speculum vite Christi, printed
on vellum by Caxton in 14835 Prayer-book, printed by Caxton ai West-
minster in fiﬂﬂ (unigue); the first printed edition of Chaucer’s Canter-
bury Tales, by Caxton, about 1478; *The Book of 8t, Albans', & book of
the chase, printed at the Ahbey of 5t. Albans in 1486,

Cask IX contains early speclmens (in several instances the first) of
Spanish, Portuguese, Blavonic, Oriental, Ameriean, Bouth African, and
Augtralian printing.

In Casi X are examples of Colophons and early Titlé-pages.

Case XI contains specimens of éarly printed music.

Case XII exhibits portraits of printers and bibliographers,

Case XIII containg specimens of fine and sumptuous prioting:
Theuerdank, composed by Melehior Plinzing on the marriage of the Em-
Eemr Maximilian with Mary of Burgundy, and printed at Naremberg by

cheensperger in 1607; Petrarch, on vellnm, printed by Aldus (Venice,
1501), onece the property of Ieabal?in Gonzaga, Countess of Mantua; Dante,
printed in 1502, aleo by Aldus at Venice, and the first book which bore
the anchor, the distinguishing mark of the Aldine Press; Horace, first
edition, from the Aldine prese (Venice, 1501); Anacreon, grinted in capi-
tals (1781); Horace, printed in mieroscopic e (Paris, Dvdot, 1828); Ho-
mer's Odyssey, in very small type (London .

Case X1V sontains works {llustrated with wood-cuts and engravingg.
Ariosto (London, 1681), with engravings; Book of the Passion (Wittenberg,
1521), illustrated by Cranach; old playing-cards (Amman, Nuremberg, [588)5
firet and gecond editions of Holbein's Dance of Death (Lyons, 1638 and 1689);
Breydenbach's Journey to the Holy Land (Mayence, 1488), illustrated.

In Case XV are specimens of illuminations and sumptoons printing :
Euelid, printed by Ratdolt (Venice, 1452); Martial, Aldus (Venice, 1601);
Boceacein, Verard (Paris, 1483); Breviaries, missals, and houra; Virgil,
printed by Aldus on vellnm (1501); Aulus Gellins, Noctes Attiem, um
vellum (Florence, 1518).

Casz XVI containa books bearing the autographs of the suthors or
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early owners: Wittenbarg Bible of 1641, with Luther's signature; aunto-
graphs of Calvin, Lord Bacon, Mei&m‘_ht!hcn, Michael Angelo, Tasso. Vol-
taire, Ben Jonson, Lord Burghley, Bentley, Newton, Coleridge, Napoleon L;
proot-sheets of Bcotts *Woodstock', with notes and corrections by the
author. — A Case placed here containg specimens of recent acquisitions
by the library (changed from time to time). The case opposite contuins
gelections from the Orlental Looks and MSS.

Casga XVII and XVIII are sssigned to typographical and literary
curinsities: Broadsides and proclamations; the first edition of the Book
of Common Prayer (1548); first editions of several of Shakspoare's works;
also of Cervantes, Milton, Defoe, and many others. In Case XVIII are
Luther's 83 Theseg against the Indulgence of 1617, beside which is one
of the Papal Indulgences sold by Tetzely above, Official duplicats of Lin-

coln’s proclamation against slavery.
Casg XIX has specimens of Chinese, Japanese, and Corean printing;

and Casgs XX, , and XXII, exsmples of Japanese block -printing

in colours.
At the N, end of the ball a series of six cases are filled with boand

books, many of which are very beautiful specimens of the nrt of hook-
binding, including some by Grolier. Another series (1 to 8) exhibits a

eollection illustrating the hiatory of slphabata.
Qaseg XXIIl contains a facsimile (by Rev, F. T. Havergal) of the
Mappa Mundi in Hereford Cathedral (1200-1810; se¢ Baedeker's Great

Britain ).
Casgs XXIV-XXVII contain good relief maps of Palestine, Moni

Blane, the Western Alps, Mi. Vesuvius, and Mi. Etna.
Two other cates contain specimens from a colleéetion of postage-stamps

bequeathed by T. K. Tapling, M. P., in 1891,
In the lower poriions of several cases are placed the B020 vols. (bound

in about 1000) of the Chinese Encyclopedia, o reprint of standurd Chinese

works exeputed in the 18th century.
Near the middle of the hall stand a large celestial globe by Coronelli

(Paris, 1603), the constellations on which are very finely engraved, and
o model of the ingenious hanging press smployed in the museum-Jibrary
to etonomize space.

At the end of the King's Library is a staircage, leading to the
collections of oriental art and ethnography (ecomp. p. 268). In the
meantime, however, we retrace our steps to the entrance hall, and
pass out of it, to the left, into the *Soulpture Gallery. The first
room we enter is the —

Roman @Gallery. On the lelt side are Roman antiquities
found in England. The compartments below the windows con-
tain rough-hewn sartophagi, while by the intervening pilasters
are specimens of old Irish characters (Oghams). Above, on the
walls to the right and left, are fragments of Roman mosaic pave-
ments, discovered in England. On the right (N.) side of the room
is ranged a collection of Roman portrait busts and statues (the
numbering begins at the W. end of the gallery): 2. Julius Camsar;
3. The youthful Augustus; 4. Augustus; B. Tiberius; 7. Drusus;
8. Calignla; 47. Iconie female figure; 10, Claudius; 11. Nero;
12. Otho; 14. Domitia; 15. Trajan (of Greek marble); 17, 18.
Hadrian; 20. Antinous, favourite of Hadrian; 21. Julia Sabina,
Hadrian’s consort; 23. Statue of Hadrian in civil costume; *24.
Antoninus Piug; 25, 26, 27. Marcus Aurelius; 28. Faustina, his
consort; 20, 80. Lucius Verus; 32. Lucilla; 83. Commodus; 34.
Crispina, consort of Commodus; 35. Pertinax; 36. Septimius Se-
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verus; 16. Tconie female figure; 37, Caracalla; 38. Julin Mamaa,
vonsort of Alexander Severus; 39, 40. Gordian and Sabinia, his
wifa; 44. Otacilia Severa, consort of Philip the Elder; 42. Herennia
Etruseilla, consort of Trajan. — We next reach the —

First Greco-Roman Room. This and the two following rooms
contain sculptures, exeouted in Italy, but echiefly by Greek artists
or from Greek models; also perhaps a few Greek originals.

L.: b00, Athlete, from Vaison, believed to be a copy of the
Diadumenos of Polycleites (another copy stands to the right of the
entrance); 117, Bust of Homer; 119. Bust of an unknown Greek
poet; 112. Statue of Diana; 113, Bust of Diana; *{14. Apollo
Citharedus (replica of the statue in the Capitol at Rome); 115.
Bust of Apollo; 116. Statue of Venus; 111, Head of Junoy *118.
Dancing Satyr (from the Palazzo Rondanini at Rome); 109, Satyr
playing with the infant Bsechus (from the Palazzo Farnese at
Rome); Head of Venus, with remains of flesh colour on the face
and neck ; 122, Head of Jupiter; 16. Head of Athena; 141, Head
of Minerva; 124. Jupiter; Statue of Dionysos (Indian Bacehus),
from Posilippo; Canephora,

Second Greeco-Roman Room. In the recess on the left: #1386,
The Townley Venus, found at Ostia; opposite, *250, Discobolus,
or the ‘quoit-thrower’ (ancient copy of the statue by Myron). Round
the room are several heads: 166. Muse; 139, Bearded head (known
as Diomedes); Aphrodite(?); Alexander the Great; Apollo (¥):
*Apollo Musegetes; Apollo Ginstiniani %Iate—t{omanesqua replico of
the head of the Apollo Belvedera); #1541, Head of a hero (Greek
ariginal), restored by Flaxman.

Third Greeco-Roman Room. On the right (N.) side: *141,
Colossal head of Hercules; 143. Sleeping Cupid, with the at-
tributes of Hereules: 142. Hercules resting; 144. Hercules sub-
dning the Cerynaan stag (archaic relief); 145, 146, Cupid bending
his bow; 147. Relief of a youth holding a horse; 148. Endymion
agleep; **149. Teonic female bust (the so-called Clytie), perhaps of
Antonia (b. 36 B.C.), daughter of Mark Antony; 187, Atys; 120,
Barbarian captive; Dacian prisoner (from a group); 503. Head of
an Amazon; 780, Two youths on horseback; 152. Erato (2); Disoo-
bolus; 161. Ieonic head; 157. Relief of centanr carrying off a wo-
man; 140. Bust of Bacehus; 195. Head of Eros; 201. Oupid or
Somnus (fountain figure); 168, Apotheosis of Homer, relief with
thie name of the soulptor, Archelaus of Priene (found at Boville,
of the time of Tiberius); 160. Head of woman in Asiatio costume;
43, Barbarian chieftain (?); 162. Youth in Persian costume, restored
as Paris; 127, Jupiter, as ruler of the celestial and infernal worlds
(arms restored); 163. Mithras sacrificing a bull; 164, Term, found
near Tivoli; 160. Aet@on devoured by his dogs (from Lanuvium);
166, Head of Bappho (?); Ganymede (head restored); Bust of Her-
mes; 37. Baechus (herma); 774, Relief, Vietory saorificing to
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Apolle, — West side: *171, Mercury; *Boy extracting thorn from
his foot, found on the Esquiline Hill (marble, under glass), —
South side: Head of Diana (archais); 35, Head of Mercury from
Tivoli; 176, Reliaf, Bacchus visiting Icariug; Two archaistic heads
of Dionysos; Head of athlete; Disna (archaistic statue); 179, Part
of & Baochic Thiasus; 852. Basrelief of Mercury; 131, Jupiter Se-
rapis; 164, Heroie head; 103. Head of Minerva; 172, Torso of Ve-
nus; Cupid's head; 183, 190. Faune; 477, Midas(?); 183, 184,
Satyrs; 185, Venus (from Ostia); above, Head of Diana; 178, 8a-
tyr, freely restored ; Discus with relief of Apollo and Artemis slay-
ing the children of Niobe; 189. Bacchus and Ambrosia; 186, Part
of a gronp of two boys quarrelling at play: 191. Relief of Ariadne
(? Penelope; from Cuma); 198, Youthful Bacthus; 192, Water
nymph; 195, Bacchie relief with two sitting satyrs; 196. Girl
playing with astragali; 195, Oupid on a dolphin, in green basalt,
from Egypt; 128. Minerva (helmet and drapery restored in bronze);
182. Satyr; 188, Ceres; 199, Head of youthful Hercules; 775, Re-
lief representing Apollo, Latona, and Diana, with three wor-
shippers; 130. Statue of the triple-bodied Hecate; 202. Head of
Venus; 204, 12. Heads of Hercules.

The door on the right leads into the Archaio Room ; the stair-
case at the extrenie end descends to the —

Greco-Roman Basement RBoom, which contains Greek and Ro-
man scufpliures of various kinds: sarcophiagi, reliefs, vases, foun-
tain basing, candelabra, table supports, animals, ete. The floor is
decorated with a mosaie from a Roman villa at Halicarnassus; 40 ft.
long and 1815 ft. broad, at the upper end of which is represented
Amphitrite with two Tritons. On the E. wall ig a mosaic from
Carthage of a colossal head of a marine deity. Adjacentare two
sacrificial groups in marble, and & relief of two gladiators strugg-
ling with a bull. — The annexe contains the heavier objects be-
longing to the Etrusean collection (p. 261), other senlptures, and
miscellaneous objeots.

The door on the right in the Third Greco-Roman Room leads
into the —

Archaie Room, which chiefly c¢ontaing archais remaing from
Asia Minor and the Peloponnesus. At the W. end of the room are
ten sitting figures, of very early date (580-520 B.C.), which, with
the lon and the sphinx near the N, wall, onee formed part of the
Sacred Way leading to the Temple of Apollo at Branchidm. Ona
lofty pedestal by the W. wall is a east of a statue of Nikd (Vietory)
by Paionios (from Olympia); at each side a east'of a metope from
the temple of Zeus at Olympia, Opposite the Niké: ®Reliefs from
the ‘Harpy Tomb' at Xanthus (at the sides sacrifieial scenes; at
the ends forms Itke sirens, bearing away small figures intended
to represent departed souls, whose gestures indicate that they are
trying to propitiate their captors and gain their compassion). On
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the N. and S. walls are archaic marble friezes from Xanthus in
Lycia, above which sre imitations of the pediments of a temple
containing easts of the pediment sculptures found in Egina in 1814
(originals in Munich)., On the E. wall are plaster casts of four
metopes from Selinus in Sieily. By this wall also are fragments
from the older temple of Diana at Ephesus (S.E. eorner); from
Mycenz (N.E. corner); and from the temple of Apollo at Nau-
kratie. Ona pedestal, under glass: Stone statuette of a hunter from
Naukratis. Among the other worksare: *206. Apollo, known as the
Strangford Apollo; 205, 207. Other archaic figures of Apollo;
208. Archaistic head of Apollo; 96, 97. Female torsos from Xanthus;
154, Female torso from Attica; 207, Tablet from Myocene.

The Greek Ante-Room, a small chamber to the N,, containg,
on the right, a sitting figure of Demeter (Ceres); on the left,
*209. Apollo, & celebrated archaic work from the Choisenl-Gouffier
collection, Beside the latter are two archaie heads copied from the
same original as the statne. Here also are glase-cases with two
swine (sacred to Proserpine), statuettes, small heads, and sculp-
tured fragments from Cyrene and Priene.

The Ephesus Room contains fragments of the celebrated Temple
of Diana, found by Mr. J. T. Wood in the course of excavations at
Ephesus in 1869-74. The remains consist chiefly of the drums and
capitals of columns, and fragments of bases and cormices. Among
them is the lowest drum of a eolumn with life-size reliefs of Her-
mes, Vigtoria, and a warrior. In this room are placed casts of the
Olympian Hermes by Praxiteles and the Venus of Milo (Louvre).
To the right iz the lower half of a statne of Lucius Verus from
Ephesns, proved by the inseription to have been erected before
A.D.461. We now reach the —

**Elgin Room, containing the famous Elgin Marbles, being
the remains of the sculptures executed by Phidias to adorn
the Parthenon at Athens, and considered the finest specimens of
the plastic art in existence. They were brought from Athens in
1804-3 by Lord Elgin, at that time British ambassador at Con-
stantinople, at a cost of 70,000¢., and sold to the English Govern-
ment in 1816 for half that sum. The Parthenon, the Temple of
Pallas Athena on the Acropolis of Athens, was built by Ietinos,
about B,O. 440, in the time of Pericles, the golden age of Athens
and of Hellenic art. It was in the Doric order of architecture, and
ogeupied the site of an earlier temple of Athena, which had been
destroyed in the Persian war. It was adorned with sculptures
under the supervision of Phidias. A statue of Athena, formed of
gold and ivory, stood in the interior of the cella. The sculptures

reserved here consist of the frieze round the exterior of the cella,
O metopm, and the relies of the two pediments, unfortunately in very
imperfect preservation. The figures of the deities represented are
most nobly conceived, admirably executed, and beautifully draped.
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The remaing of the E. PEpimesT, representing the Birth of Athena
who, ascording to Greek mythology, issned in full srmour from the h
of Zeuns, are arranged on the W. (left) side of the room.

In the left angle of the tympanum woe observe two arms and a mufil-
ated human head, in front of which are two spirited horses’ heads, also
considerably damaged. These ars considered to rep t & group of
Helios, the god of the rising sun, sscending in his chariot from the
depths of the ocean, his ountstretched arms grasping the reins of hia
steeda. Nexi comes Tl‘heaeua (or Hercunles?), who, leaning in & half re-
enmbent posture on & rock covered with a lion's hide, seems to be greet-
ing the ascending orb of day. This figure, the only one on whieh the
head remaing, is smong the best preserved in the two pediments. Next
to, Theseus is a group of two sitting female figures in long drapery, who
turn with an appearance of lvely %ntereﬂt towards the central group —

erhaps the Attic Honrs, Thallo and Auxo (or Ceres and Prosarpine?).
'hen comes the erect female fgure of Iris; messenger of the gods,
whose waving robes betoken rapid motion; the upper part of her body
is turned towards the central group, and she seems to have barely wait-
ed for the birth of the Goddess before starting to communicate the glad
tidings to the inhabitants of earth.
he central group, which probably represented Minerva surrounded by
the goda, is entirely wanting, The space cecupied by it, indicated hers by
an opening in the middle of the seulptures (partly filled by & Doric cap-
ital from the Parthenon), must have measured ft. in length.

Next comes, on the right, a torso of Vietory. Then a noble group of
two sitting female forms, in the lap of one of which reclines o third fe-
male, probably representing Aglaurcs, Herse, and Pandroses, the three
daughters of Ceorops (or perhaps the three Fates). Adjacent, in the angle of
the tympanum, the torso of Selene (the goddess of the moon), as a chariotéeer,
and by her pide the head of one of her coursera. This portion of the friezs
is thought to have shown the Mopn sinking into the ses at the approsch
of Day. The horse's head is in good preservation.

The remaing of the Wgsr PeEpimexnT are on the opposite side of
the room. They apre by no means so well preserved as those from the
East Pediment, and we can only form an fdea of their meaning and
conneetion from a drawing exeented by the French painter Carrey in
1674, which contains several groups that are now wanting, The sub-
Jjeot of the soulptures is the Strife of Minerva and Neptune for the soil
of Athens. By a stroke of his trident Neptune caused a salt-spring to
gush forth from the soil, but his gift was outdone by that of Minerva,
who produced the plive-tree, and was adjuodged the possession of the city.
The moment chosen for reprezentation is that, after the deeision of the
contest, when the two deities part from each other in anger. In the left
angle we observe the torso of a recumbent male figure, probably the
river god Cephissus. Next to it is o east of & group of two fgures (the
prizinal isin Athens), angposed to be Ceerops, the first king of Attics, and
his daughter; the male fgure is in a pemi-recumbent posture, propped
upon his left arm, the femnle kneeling beside him has her right arm round
his neck. Next, the torso of a man, perhaps Hermes. The relics of the
central up are excesdingly scanty, Of Minerva only the upper part of
the head, the right shoulder with part of the armour, and & piece of the
@gis are preserved, The eyes, which were made of eoloured gems, are
lost. The cheeks, on cloge examination, still show traces of painting,
A much mu.iimtmi torso, consisting of the shoulders alone, is all that re-
mains of the rival deity, Neptune. The proporiions of theae two statues,
which, as the central figures, oeoupied the highest part of the tympanum,
are on @& much Jarger scale than those of the othars.

Next comes a famale torso, perhaps Amphitrite; then the lower part
of a sitting female form, probably Lencothen; then the csst of a semi-re-
cumbent male fignre, perhaps.he viver god Iissus. Lastly, at the end of
the tympanum, is the torso of a recumbent female form, supposed to re-
present the nymph Callirrhiog,

Around the whole of the hall, at s height of about 412 ft. from the
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round, we vhserve the **Faigze (abont 176 yds, long), which ran round
he outside of the cella (or inner sanciuary) under the colonnade enclosing
the Parthenon, It forms a sonnectéd whole, and refregents chiefly in
very low relief, the festive pr i which d to the Acropolis
at the end of tha Panathenwa, for the ose of presenting to the
Goddess a peplos, or robe, woven and embroidered by Athenian yvirging.
The prissts with sacrificial bulls and horses, the virgins, the warriors
on horseback, on foot, ond in chariots, and the thromging worshippers
of 411 kinds are executed with admirable taste and skilll %‘he slabs are
arranged as for as possible in their original order, the points of the
eompass being indiested above them. ‘On the east side, the side of
entranee, Phidias arcanged an august assembly of the gode, in whode
presence the peplos is delivered to the guardisns of the temple (dlabs
numbered 17-55‘ Thess are attended by officials and heralds, followed
by traing of noble Attic maidens. Thea procession is confinned along the
north and south sides, proeeeding in both towards the entranee poreh,
as thongh on the west gide it had been divided into two. Bulls and
Iambe for sacrifice follow with their leaders, interspersed with groups of
men snd womeny some besring gifts in baskets and beautiful vessels on
their shonldera, To these are added players on the Tate and cithern, who
march in front of & train of men snd chaviots, probsbly the vietors in
the contests, The procession is terminated om the two long sides by
Athenian youths on horgeback, and on the west side we find others atill
engaged in preparations, in bridling, restraining, and mounting horses’. —
Zilbke, History of Seulpture. — Most of the pleces of this frieze are but
slightly damaged, while some of them are perfectly preserved. A few of
the slabs are merely casts of portions of the frieze at Parls and Athens.

Above the friege on the W. wall of the room are 15 *Merorm and
casta of four othera from the Parthenon, being the sculptures which filled
the interyvals between the triglyphs of the external frieze. They repre-
gent the battle of the Centaurs and Lapithm, snd are execufed in much
higher relief than the sculptures of the inner frieze; some of the fgures
are almost entirely detached, being connseted with the background or
the adjoining flaures at a few isclated points only,

On the E. wall are plagter casts from the external friese of the Temple
of Theseus at Athens, rap ing battle 5 partly of the contests of
the Gréeks with the Centaurs, and three metopm from the same temple
with seulptures of the feats of Theseus.

Among the numerons other sculptures in the Elgin Room are
casta of two marble chairs from the theatre of Dionysos at Athens
(one on each side of the entrance); a head of Pericles (apparently a
Roman copy of a Greek original) ; a head of Hera from Agrigentum ;
a head of /Esculapius. Towards the N. end of the room is an Ionis
column from the Erschtheum (Bth cent. B.C.), which is the purest
existing type of the Tonic style, Near it (in the corner) is a colossal
owl. Farther on are one of the besutiful *Canephors from the
Erechtheum; a colossal sitting fignre of Dionysos from the Olioragio
Monument of Thrasyllos at Athens; a draped *Torso of /Esculapius
from Epidaurog; a statue of a youth, probably Eros, from Athens;
fragments of columns from the Temple of Diana at Ephesus; the
capital of & Doric column from the Propyl®um, the magnificent
entrance to the Acropolis. On the E. wall are parts of & frieze from
the monument of Thrasyllos,

This room also contains a model of the Acropolis and another
representing the Parthenon as it appeared after its bombardment
by the Venetian General Morosini in 1687. We now enter the —
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Phigaleian Room, containing the marbles from the Temple of
Apollo at Phigaleiain Arcadia. Round the walls are arranged twenty-
three glabs from the frieze adorning the interior of the cella. Those
on the W. wall represent the contest of the Contaurs and Lapitha,
the others, battles between the Greeks and the Amazons. Other
fragments from this temple are exhibited in two glass cases in the
middle of the rogm, on either side of a *Bull from the top of a
sepulchral stele at Athens.

On the wall, in the S.W. angle, are four reliefs and the cast
of a fifth from the frieze of the temple of the Wingless Victory at
Athens, These represent the Athenians fighting with Greek and
Asiatic foes. Near the centre of the W wall, above, are casta from
the balustrade of this temple: to the left, *Victory fastening her
sandal,

The fnest of the Greek Sepulchral Stelae are also placed in this room.
To the left of the entrance, Btele from Rhodes with a family group. of
the four tombstones let into the E. wall the finest are that on which an
athlete is represented handing his sirigil to his slave, and that (fo the
right} representing an athlete standing alone. On the floor below, fablet
conmemorating the vietory of a citharist; tablet in memory of those who
had fallen in battle. On the W. wall, curious relief of a physicion and

tient; stele of Xanthippus, who is represented holding a votive foot.
gaide the N. and W. walls are sepulchral urns.

We return to the Elgin Room, and by the door in the centre of
the E. side, reach the —

Nereid Room, containing the seulptures from the so-valled
Nereid Monument at Xanthus in Lyeia. In the centre is a model of
the monument, by Fellows, and on the 8. wall of the room is a
‘restoration’ of one of the sides of the monument, Eight Nereids,
some much mutilated, stand in this room, On the walls are frag-
ments of four friezes that adorned the building. The broad frieze,
supposed to have encircled the base, represents a battle of foot-
soldiers, some of whom are clad in Asiatic dress; the otlier narrower
friezes bear scenes of war, hunting, banqueting, and sacrifice. On
each side of the door on the N. wall, is a lion from the monument,
and above the doorway is the E. pediment of the same.

We now deseend the steps on the laft to the Mausoleum Room,
added in 1882, containing remains from the **Mausoleum at Hali-
carnagsus, discovered by Newton in 1857,

This celebrated monument (whenee the modern generic term
‘maugolenm’ is derived) was erected by Artemisia in B.0O. 352, in
honour of her husband Mausolus, King of Caria, and was reckoned
among the Seven Wonders of the World., The tomb stood upon a
lofty basement, and was surrounded by 36 Ionic eolumns. Above
it was a pyramid rising in steps (24 in number), surmounted by a
colossal statue of Mausolus. The monument wes in all about 140 ft.
in height, and was embellished by a number of statues, lions,
and other pieces of seulpture. In the centre of the room are a
®Statue of Mausolus (restored from 77 fragments) and a female
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figure (Artemisia) found under the ruins of the pyramid, grouped
along with a wheel (largely restored) and fragments of one of the
colossal horses of the chariot of Mausolus, so0 as to suggest their
position in a chariot. In the 8.W. corner of the ropm is a well-
preserved *Column from the colomnade, with fragments of the
architrave. On the E. wall are seventeen slabs of a frieze (zoopho-
rus) from the Mausolenm, representing the contests of the Greeks
with the Amazons, and above are fragments of another frieze, in
bad preservation, representing races and the battle of the Greeks
with the Centaurs. At the N.E. end of the room is a reproduction
of the cornice of the Mausoleum. Among other fragments are a
female torso; eight lions; fragment of an equestrian figure in Per-
sian garb ; part of a colossal ram ; fragments of eolumns. The room
algo contains, in the N.W. corner, a number of marbles from the
Temple of Athene Polias at Prieng, including the dedication of the
Temple by Alexander, a colossal arm, hand, foot, and female head,
and a draped female torso. On either gide of the steps at the 3, end
ig a Lycian Tomb, adorned with seulptures of martial scenas.

The Mausoleum Annexe, which opens off the Mausolenm room
near the N. W, angle, contains Greeco-Roman sepulohral and votive
reliefs, sarcophagi, altars, stelm, ete.

On the 8, wall: Slab with the nine Muses; another with Apollo,
Minerva, and the Muses, the latter each with a Siren's feather on her
head, Un the W. wall: Poet reading beside a Muse holding a mask, On
the N. wall: Labours of Hercules and 8lah with portrait heads of a Boman
and his wife, erected by two of their freedmen,

We now return across the N, end of the Mausolewm Room to
the Assyrian and Egyptian collections, which, next to the Elgin
Room , are the most important parts of the British Musenm. The
**Aggyrian Gallery comprises three long narrow rooms, called the
Kouyunjik Gallery, the Nimroud Central Saloon, and the Nimroud
Gallery; the Assyrian Transept, adjoining the last of these three;
the Phoenician Boom and Assyrian Basement Boom; and finally a
room (p. 259) on the second floor. Ifs contents are chiefly the yield
of the excavations of Sir H. A, Layard in 1845-54 at Kouyunjik,
the ancient. Nineveh, and at Nimroud, the Biblical Calah, but in-
clude the collection made by Mr. George Smith in Mesopotamia,
as well a8 contributiong from other sonrces.

The Eouyunjik Gallery contains bas -reliefs dating from B.C.
721625, and belonging to the royal palace of Sennacherib (d. B.O.
681) at Nineveh, afterwards occupied by Sennacherib’s grandson,
Assurbanipal or Sardanapalus. The older reliefs, dating from the
time of Sennacherib, are execnted in alabaster, the others in hard,
light-grey limeatone,

We begin our examination at the 8.W. corner. No. 1. Esarhaddon,
cast from a bas-relief cut in the rock, st the mouth of the Nahr el-Kelb
river, near Beirdt; 2, Galley with two hanks of oars; *8, Colossal face; 4-8,
Row of frnimant! (;girer part damaged), representing Sennaeherib’s advance

against Babylon 7. Retnrn from battle. with captives and syoﬂ 1819,
Procession of warriors ; 20-28. Siege of a fortificd town (on slab No. ﬁ is the
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city itself, while 27-29 represent the triumph of the vietors). *Nos. 56-43.
Series of large reliefs, which decoratad the walls of & long passage between
the palace and the Tigris; on one side, descending the slope, are 14 horses,
held by attendants; on the other, ascending, servants with dishes for a
feast. The figures, rather under life-size, are beautifully designed. No. 44.
Monumental tablet; 45-50. Trinmph of Sardanapalus over the Elamitea
(in limestone, wellfpreser‘ved]. Nos. 51-62. Removal of & winged bull on a
sledge by means of wooden rollers and levers; to the right, eonstruction
of 8 lofty embankment. Nos. 63-56. Similar scenes In botter preservations
B7-69. Sennachierib besieging o city situated on n river (quaintly repre-
sented), and receiving the spoil and prisoners; 60. Figure with the head
of ‘& lion, bearing o knife in the right hond, which is held up.

The glass-cases in the middle of the hall contain some of the most
intéresting of the cuneiform tablets and eylinders from the library enlarged
by Sardanapalus at Nineveh, ineluding, historical, geograpliecal, philolo-

eal, official, and legal documents of great value, Other tablets bear prayers,
ncantations, omena, ete. The entire collestion of cuneciform tableta in
the Muscum exceeds 60,000, of which aliout one-third come from Kou-
yunjik. — We now enter the —

Nimroud Central Baloon, containing the seulpturés (dating
from B.C. 880-630), discovered by Sir A, H, Layard at Nimroud,
on the Tigris, situated about 18 M. below Nineveh. They are from
the palace built by Esarhaddon, the successor of Sennacherib, but
some of them are of a much earlier date than that monarch, whe
used the fragments of older buildings. The reliefs on the left are

from a Temple of the God of War.

We begin to the left of the entrance from the Eouyunjik Gallery.
Large relief, representing the evacuation of & conquered eity ; below, the
triumphal procession of Eing Tiglath-Pileser II1. in his war-chariot. Co-
lossal head of & winged man-headed bull; opposite, another similar, hut
amaller head. At the central pillars, two statnes of the god Nebo. Then,
biack marble obelisk, sdorned with five rows of reliefs; the cuneiforin
inseriptions record events in the history of Shalmaneser ‘lI. Opposite, in
theé middle of the room, scated statue of Shalmaneser IL, in black basalt
(about 860 B.C.). At the entrance to the Nimroud Gallery, on the right,
& eolossal winged “Lion; on the laff, a colossal winged bull, both with
humnn heads. Then bas-reliefs, evacnation of a eonguered town and other
seenes from the campaigns of Tiglath-Pileser. Monolith (figure in relief)
of Samesi-Ramminu, son of Bhalmaneser II. (B.C. 825-812); monolith of
Shalmaneser (B.C. 850), At the entrance fo the Kounyunjik Gallery, a eolos-
sal lion from the side of a doorway (B.O. 830).

Nimroud Gallery. We bLegin af the 8.W. corner. The slabz on the
W, side are arranged as they originally stood in the palace of Assur-Nasir-Pal
(885-860 B.C.) at Nimroud. Nos, 216 are martial and hunting-scenes in the
life of Agsur-Nasir-Pal. On the E. side of the gallery are colossal bas-
reliefa; 18, Winged figure with ibex and ear of corn; 18. Foreigners bring-
ing apes as tribute; 20. King Assur-Nasir-Pal in a richly embroidered
dress, with sword and sceptrs ;3 °21-26, The ling on his throne surrounded
by attendants and winged figores with mystic offerings; 28, 29, Winged
figure with a thunderbolt, chasing a demon; 38. Lion hunty 37-41. Re-

resentation of religious service. The slabs with the larger reliefs bear
E:.Bnript‘lnns running horizontally across their centres. The glass-cases in
the middle of the room contain bronze dishes with engraved and chased
dacorations, admirably exeented, other bronze articles of different kinds,
weights in the form of lions conchani, weapons, domestic utensils, ete.
Cases F, G contain o collection of ivory *Carvings, some with Egyptian
figures, Hetween the cases (from 8. to N.), part of & broken obelisk of
Assur-Nasir-Pal; statue of that king on its original pedestal ; inseribed
limestone altar and coffer; monolith of Assur-Nasir-Pal (B.C. Bél}], — The
door in the N, W. corner of this room leads into the anteroom of the —
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Aggyrian Basement, which consists of a large glass-roofed hall,
nsed chiefly as a lecture-room, with a gallery or halcony round it.
On the walls of both hall and baleony are reliefs from Nimroud and
from Kouyunjik, excavated by Messrs. Rassam and Loftus. These
reliefs, belonging to the latest period of Assyrian art, are through-
ont superior to those in the upper rooms, both in design and exe-
cution. We enter the gallery to the left of the entrance.

On the B. wall: 83-63. Assurbanipal (B68:628 B.C.) hunting lions. —
B. or end wall: 103-117. Hunting seenes. — W, wall: 118, 110, Assurbani-
pal offering libations over dead lions; 63, Guards; 64-09. Attendants with
heud Hons and hunting-gear; T0-72. Laden mules; 73, 74, Atlendunts with
hunting-gear; 13, 15, Soldiers; 19, W) Scldiers and captives; 24-24. As-
sault on the ¢ity of Lachishy 25, 28, Prisoners and booty from Lachish:
27-32. Sennacherib (T05-841 B.C.) hefors Lachish; 17, 18, Mythologieal sub-
jectsy 649, Tiglath-Pileser 1I1. (T45-727 B.C.) receiving the submission of
a foe; 861. Bieze of a city by Tiglath-Pileser 111, — We have now reached
the anteroom again, which contains inscriptions -and reliefs of mytholog-
fcal sulijects, — We descend the stairense to the basement proper, and
turn to the right to enter the hall,

On the B wall: Mythological reliefs and cuneiform inseriptions ; 98, 98,
Bervanis and warrfors; 121. Assarbanipal and his wife banqueting in an
arhour; 192, Servanis earrying a dead lion: 124, Musiciana; 83-87. A=sur-
banipal's war against the Arvahinns; B8, War against the Eibiopians, —
B. or end wall: Large reliefs of the capture of a city in Susionn and the
reception of captives. — At this end of the room is a glass-case confain-
ing the bronze banda: that ndorned the gates of Tell-Balawat, with reliefs
rogording the victories of Shalmoneser iI. — W, wall: 83-04, War agpinst
the Babylonians; 12, 14. Musicians; 0-11, 16. Warriors; 1-8. Scenes of war;
Bringing home the heads and spoil of wnr};nred enamies; Warriors pre-
paring their repast. 018. Royal chariot of Tiglath-Pileser III. — High up
on the N. wall is & piece of pavement from the pulace of Surdannpalus.
By the door is a cast of the Sarcophagus of Eshmunizir (cs. B.C. 360;
original in the Louvre).

The Nimroud Gallery is adjoined on the 8. by the Assyrian
Transept, which in its western half is a continuation of the Nim-
rond Gallery (monuments from the time of Assur-Nasir- Pal),
while the eastern part contains anfiguities from Khorsabad (about
B.0. T20), from the exeavations of Messrs, Rawlinson and Layard.

In the middle of the W, side is the monolith of Assur-Nasir-Fal, with
4 portrait in rellef. In front of it is an altar, which stood at the door of
the Temple of the God of War. Af the sides are fwo colossal winged
*Lions, with human heads and three horns, from the sides of o doorway.
To the right of the entrance from the Nimroud Gallery is a torso with
inscriptions; to the left, upper part of a broken obelisk (B.0. 1100). On
the wall are reliefs and insuriptguns from the palace of the Persian kings
ut Persepolis (B.C. 600) and casts of Pehlevi inscriptions from Hadji Abad
(near Persepolis). — In the E. or Khaorsahad section, two colossal animals
with human heads; adjacent to whith are fwo colossal human figures.
Within the recess thus formed are fragments of bas-reliefs from the same
E‘hce, some with traces of colour, and jnseribed tablets from Kounyunjik.

o the right, opposite the window, a relief of & hunting-gedne in bluck
marble, the only slab obtained at Eboraabad by Sir Henry Layard.

The collection of *Egyptian Antiquities fills three halls on the
grounid-floor; and four rooms in the npper story. The antignities,
which embrace the period from B.C. 3600 to A.D. 850, are ar-
ranged in chronological order. The Southern Gallery, which we
enter first, is devoted to antiquities of the latest period.
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Bouthern Egyptian Gallery. Section 1: monuments of the period of
the Roman dominion. Seotion 2: time of the Ptolemies. In the middle
is the celebratcd ‘Stone of Rosetta’, a tablet of black basalt with a friple
ingeription. It was found by the French nsar the Rosetis mouth of the
Nile, but passed into the possession of the English in 1802, One of the
ingeriptions is in the lhieroglyphie or sacred charvacter, the second in
the enchorial, demotie, or popular character, and the third in Greek.
1t was these inscriptions which led Young snd Champollion to the dis-
covery of the hieroglyphic language of uncient Egypt. The remaining
part of the gallery containa monuments from the 30th to the 19th Dynasty
(beginning about B.C, 1830). To the laft, sareophages of Paammetichus
an official of the 18th Dym,(¥); to the right, ssrcophagus of a priest ot
Piah; to the right, sarcophagus of Hanata, a temple official of the 26th
Dyn., apon it his statue which was found inside; to thaleit, sarcophagus
of King Nectanebus I, (about B.C. 878), with reliefs; to the right, saren-

hagus of n priest of Memphiss right and left, two obeliska ercetéd by

ectanebus I, before the fample of Thoth at Memphis. — To the left,
mummy-shaped sarcophagus from Thebes (26ih Dyn.); to the right, “Sar-
eophagus of the Queen of Amasis IL (from Thebes); to the left, green
granite garcophagus of a royal seribe, with reliefs; to the right, parl of a
seated colossus of Osorkon 1L (22nd Dyn.ﬁeﬂidn it, its head, — To the
left, granite column from Bubastis, with palm-capitaly to the right, status
of the Niles to the left, Apries; hetween them is a colossal scarabmms in
granite; to the right, granite ¢olumn from Heraeleopolis; right and left,
two sitting figures of the goddeas Sekhet or Bast (with the head of a cat)
— To the right, sitting figures of & man and 8 woman, in sandstones to
the left, King Menephtal IL on his theone. Between the columns atl the
entrance tp the Central Saloon: on the right, wooden statue of a king of
the 18th Dyn.; on the left, wooden statue o} Ramses II. — The

Central Egyptian Baloon chiefly containg antiguities of the times
of Ramses the Great, the Seapstris of the Greeks, In the middie are &
eolossal fst from one of the ataines in front of the temple of Ptah at Mem-
phis, and a geanite lion, from Benha el-Asal;y to the left, two eolossal
hends;, the one n ¢ast from a figure of Ramses at Mitrahineh, the other
in granite from the Memnoniam ai Thebes. To the right, o statue of the
king in black basalt. Between the eolumns, at the entrance to the Northern
Grallery : on the right, granite statue of REamses IT., from Thebes; to the Jeft,
o wooden figure of King Seti 1.

To the B, of the Central Egyptian Saloon, opposite the entrance

to the Nereid Room (p. 263), is the Refreshment Room (poor).

Korthern Egyptian Gallery, chiefly containing antiquities of the time
of the 18th Dynasty, nnder which Egypt enjoyed its greatast prosperity.
On the left and right, stafues of King Horus in black granite, and two
Hons in red granite (from Nubia). In the centre i8 a eologsal ram’s head
from Karnak. To the righi and left are sitting fgures of King Ameno-
phis III., in black granite, from Thebes. On the lafi is a tablet recording
the Ethiopian conquests of Amenophis ITI. Opposite is a colossal head of
Amenophis IIT., ¢alled by the Greeks Memnon (B.0. 1600); De Quincey
spealks of this head ng uniting ‘the expressions of ineffable benignity with
infinite duration’, On the left, ¢olumn with o capital of lotus leaves, &‘0 the
right and left are two colossal heads, found near the ‘Voeal Memnon®, at The-
bes, Heveral repetitions of the statue of the goddess Bast, which is distin-
guished by the cat’s head (in aceéordance with the Ezyptian custom of repre-
senting deities with the headas of the animals sacred to them). Black granite
figure of %ﬂcm Mauntemua seated in a boat, In the middle is the colos=al
head of King Thothmes IIL, found st Karnak, adjoining which on the
right 4 one of the arma of the sumeé figure. On the right is & monument,
the foor sides of which are covered with figures of Thothmes IIT, and
gods, To the left, small sandatone figure of an Egyptian prinoe:

The shelves beneath the windowa of the Egyptian galleries contain
Atele, inseribed tablets, funeral jars, ete. Below are larger slabs (some
with the inseriptions picked out in red for the convenlence of visitors),

Baspgxes, London, Bth Edit. 17
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wall-paintings; ete. Smaller an!i%n.itiea and fragments are ranged beside
the walls (many under glass), — The —

Northern Egyptian Vestibule contains antiquities of the perfod em-
braced by the firat twelve dynasties, and particularly that of the fourth
dynasty (abont 8000 B.C.), when Egypt enjoyed a very high degree of
civilisation, Above the door is a plaster ¢ast of the head of the northern
tolossal figure of Bamses at Abu-Bimbel (Upper Egypt).

Opposite the Northern Vestibule is a staircase leading to the
Ureer Froor. On the wall of the staircase are Mosaics from Hali-
carnassus, Carthage, and Utica, The ante-room at the top of the
stairs contains glass-cases with Cyprian soulptures (p. 260), To the

left are four rooms filled with emaller Egyptian antiquities.

First Egyptian Room containg a *Oollection of mummies and mummy-
eages or coffing, from about B. €. 3.00 to the Roman period. The wall-
cases, beginning to the left of the entrance, contain the coffins. Cass 1.
Fragments of ¢offin of King Mycerinus, of the 4th Dyn. (abrut B,C. 3600),
In the top of the standard-case immed}nmly opposite are the portions of
the body found with this coffin. — Cases #-7. Colfin: of the 18th D{n
(B.C. 1600). In Case T iz a fragment of the alabaster uucaghngus of Kin
Seti I. — Case §. Coffin of the 20th Dyn. Cases 9-20. Cofling of the %ng
and 26th Dyn, (B.C. Y00-660). Cases 22-38, Later Coffine, Tlg mummy in
Case 87 is zaid to hove onee been in the possession of Nell Gwynne, —
The standsrd cases A to B, in the centre of the room, contiin mummies,
tho oldest being nearest the door. — On the walls of the room are casts
and paintings. In a glass-case below the windows is & hieroglyphie pa-

yrus of Netchemet, a queen of the 2ist Dynasty, with chapters and
lustrations from the Book of the Dead. Adjacent are photozraphs of gome

of the roval mummies discovered in 1882 al Der el-Bihri (see Haedeker's
Upper Lgypt).

Becond Egyptian Room, The Standard-Cases 8-FF and the Wall-cuses
1-78 eontain the conbinustion of the eollection of mummies and mummy-
cases. In wall-cases 2, 8 are two Portraits of Greeco-Egyptian ladies, which
are the oldest known portraits on wood, in case 3 if 8 mummy of a
Griveo-Heyptinn ehild (A.D. 100), with portrait and wrappinus., — Wall-
Cagas 17-29, Uahabti figures in limestone, marble, steatite, wood, ete., which
were buried with the mummies to cerve the deepased in the lower world.
—  Wall-Oases 39-33. Canopio jars, in which were interred the embalmed
intestines of the mummies. — Wali-Cases 34-24, Painted wooden figures of
Ptalh-Sokar-Ogiris. a triad connected with the future life, — On the wind-
ow-wall are frames containing sepulchral tablets.

Third Egyptian Room. Wann.Oases, Cases 45-53. Mummies of animals,
Cazes 54-37. Pillowa or heid-reats in wood and clay; ehesta to hold can-
opic jara (see above). Case 55. Sepulchral boxes in the shape of temples.
Cases 59-80 eontain an extensive collection of small figures of Egyp-
tian gods in various materials, and of the animals sagred to them. Above
cases 65-T5 are two ends of a shrine from a sacred boat, and fgures of
Osiris, Chnemu, and Anubis. — Case §1. Terra-cotia cones, bearing the
names of kings and high officials (chiefly from Thebes), Cuases §2-85. Bep-
ulehral boxes and tablets (B.C, 1400-200). Cages 86-57. Mummies of animala g
ahove cnses B2-00 are terra-coita jars each containing an ibis-mummy. —
Tapre-Casgs. Case 4. Writine-apparatus and maferials ; wax-tahlets, ost-
rata or pot-sherds ugsed for writing on. Case B. Armour and weapons: No.

95, Bronze cylinder bearing the name of Pepi I. (B. 0. 3283), perhaps the
most ancient bronze nrticle extant. In the lower part of the ease are a
rope-ladder, crocodile-akin armour, and flints, — Cage ¢. Wiz found in
a temple at Thebes (about B.C. 1600); reed wig-box; toilet articles. An
adjoining case containg some beautiful specimens of Egyptinn metal-work «
No. 20TTa. Bronve statuette of Nectanebus 11,5 B. Bilver ligure of Amen-Ba
Bfa, Gold fgure of Chonsu. Stands 0., H. Models of obelisks, Cagse E.
Food and fruits found in tombs. Case ¥, Tools and implements. Case @.
Shoes and fandals, Case K. Spinning implements and weapons in woud:
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No. 20648. Box of flint-headed arrows. Below are speclmens of ancient
Egyptian and Coptic linen. Cose [, Sepulchral tablets in wood. Case he-
tween G and L. Models of boats used to transport the hodies across the
Nile. — Beneath the windows is a long frame containing a facsimile of
the Book of the Dead. Between the second and third window: hangs a
specimen of coloured worsted work.

Fourth Egyptian Room. Warr-Cases. Cases 100-1056. Bepulchral
veasels, in alabaster, variegated marble, and stone, Cases 106-113, Egyptian
earthenware (B. C. 17(0-40%! Cases 114-118. E‘g;ylptia.n orcelain. In the
lower part of the cases, glazed tiles from Tell el-Yehfldiyeh, Cases 720-253.
Earthenware (B. C. 000-100): No. 23850 (case 128), neck of a wine-jar, sealed
with the seal of Aahmes IL (B.C.0572). Caass 134-137. Painted earthen-
ware ete, of the Greek period. Cuse 198, Bricks, stamped with the names
of kings. Cuses 138-144. Figures of gods, men, and animals; terrncoibn
and poreelain lamps ete, (Grieco-Roman perfod), Series of sunk reliefs in
sandstone from Piolemaie temples. Cases 743-15¢. Domestic articles.
Cages 151-155. Chairs and seats of various kinds, Cases 154-162. Por-
trait and volive Dgures of kings, priests, ladies, eto. Cuses 163-167. Sepul-
chral vessels, — TapLe-Oases. Case 4. Musical instroments, spoons, ivory
ornaments, glass bottles and vases.  Case B. Beads in pnrﬂe‘!n&n and glass;
modern forgeries of Egyptian antiquities, Case ¢. Bronzes, toys, draughts-
men, dice, ete.  Below, models of a eranary, houses, potter's yard, boat-
cabin, efe. Case 0. Scarabs and eylinders, used as amulets, in stealite;
stone, carnclian, poreelain, ete. Case B, Toilet ariicles; vessels for hold-
ing cosmetics, perfumes, ete, Case F. Scarabs in stone and porcelaing
rings. — Case & “Throne, with gilded reliefs, from Thebes (Grees-Boman
period)s ivory and wooden draughtsmen; draught-board; blue poreclain
beads. Coase H. Scaralis in basalt, stone, porcelain, ete. § poreelain *Utehats’,

. oF symbolic eyes of the sunjy rings; beads; crowns. Casd 1. Jewellery,
Casa K, Miscellaneous poreelnin nrhulcs. Case 1. Dompestie furniture,
Cass M., Antiquities of late perivda: terracottas of Grieco-Roman periody
ivury ornaments, leaden weights, ete. Coptic crosses, bells, ete.; moulds,
bronse stamps, silver and bronse articles, Case &, Gnostie gems, engraved
with mpgic furmulte, gods, demons, animals, ste. — The casts on the N,
and 8. wallg are of sculptures in the roek-temple of Bt el~Walli in Nubia.

Babylonian and Assyrian Room. To the left: 507. Black basalt lgure
of King Gudea of Babylon (about B. O, 2500); 99. Boundary-stone (B. O,
1820), Pier-case A. Gate-sockets and boundary-stones; Table-case B, Terra-
cotty comes, slone tablits, ete., with inscriptions; bronse figures; stone
eylinder-seals (Impressions, see Case C.)5 beneath, fragments of statues from
Nimroud ; cedar-beam from Nimroud. Tabls.case ¢. Barrel-eylinders with
higtorical inseriptions; clay-tablets with business-menioranda, lists, efe.
Pier-case ). Glazed earthenware, chiefly of the Parthian period (about
B. ©.'200); alabaster vases and Hgures, lamps, terracotia coffing, Table-
cases E, [f. Gems and senls swith Pehlevi inscriptions. Table-case @,
Neeklnees, from Nimroud, Table-cases F, H, Important historieal collection
of indseribed slabs, bricks, eylinders, efe. In Cade F. alap small antiquities
in wvarious materialsy in Case H, glags-ware from XNimroud. —  Wall-
cases 48-45. In-eribed bricksy 29-52. Glazed and painted bricks; 54, Bowls;
84-78. Terracotta vessels of the Parthian periody 74-84, Bronzes, ete.

We have now reached the American Room of the Ethnogra-
phisal Department (see p. 264). It is adjoined by a Staircase de-
scending to the King’s Library (p. 245). The Szoonp Norta GAL-
LBRY, consists of a series of smaller rooms parallel with those
just deseribed. The first three (from this end)) are ocoupied by col-
levtions illustrating Religions of the East and Early Christianity ;
the three following and the antechamber contain the Phoenician
Antiquities.

Religious Collections, Room 1. Eariy Cumstrasirr. Wall-Cases 1-13,
Latin Christionity. Bronge lamps; silver spoons, chalices, and patens; in

L
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cages T, 8. *Bilyer Tressure found at Home in 1783, incluﬂ.!ﬂ§ large silyer
bridal-cagkei; ivory carvings; terracotia lamps. — Cases 14, 10, Greek
Chureh. Bmall enamelled ironsy iron erown. Cases 16-20. Abyssindan Church,
Silk altar-cloth; gilt and brass crosses; silver palens, chaliced, lampa.
— Opses 24-28. Coptie Church. *Cedar door-panels; wood-carvings; grave-
stons from Upper Egypt; limestone fragments with writings in Greek
and Coptie. In the lower part of Case 28 are so-called Gnostio articles,
of uncertnin date, — The Table Coses contain smaller objects, of great
inftersst and beauty,

Room I, Easteps RBericroxs. Wall-Ouses 1-20. Brafimanism or Hindoo
Mythology, — Oases 23, 24, Nepod. — Oases 26-20. Java, — Case 27. Ueylon.
— Case 30. Baji (Asiatic Archipelago). — On the lower shelves of Cages
30-46 and the upper shelves of Cases 30, B1. Jainism, — Cages 52-34,
Juidaism, — Cases 85-97. falamism. — Cnses 35-40. Shintofsm, In the gliss-
case in the eentre of the room, opposite, i the model of a Shinto temple.
— Cases 42, 48. Taoism. — Caaes 44,45, Comfucianism, — Casca 47, 48
Shamanism. — Al the E. end of the room is an upright glass-case contain-
ing a model of a sacred ear for Vishou (7), from the Carnatic; two table-
cases in the centre contain Indian grants of land inseribed. on coppes-
plates ; and in an upright case at the W, end s a.copy of the Ade Grani’h, or
sacred book of the Sikhs, with the parapharnalia of the priest who reads it,

Hoom IIl. Buppmss, Wall-Cases 1-18. Japan. — Cages 19-22, Thibel.
— Opses 2327, Chine. — Quses 23-40, Burma and Sigm. — Oases 46-58.
India and Ceylon. — Cages 00-TB. Ancient Jndia. — At the E. end of the
room, under glass, is & machine vsed in Japan to exorcise the 103 demons
that tempt the human hesrt to sing in the eentres of the room are a Bur-
mese and two Chinese bells, and table-cases with Indian antiquities,

Phoenician Antiquities. This collection embraces inscriptions,
caryings, gravestones, and other monuments from Phoenicia, Pa-
lestine, Carthage, and Cyprus, arranged clironologically under these
headings. In Case 29, in the first room, is a cast of the Moabite
Stone, which was discovered by the Rev. F. Klein in the land of
Moab in 1868, The inseription gives an account of the wars of
Mesha, king of Moab, with Omri, Alab, and Ahaziah, kings of
Terael. Soon after Mr. Klein had obtained an impression of the
stone, the latter was brokenin pieces by the Arabs; most of the frag-
ments have, however, been recovered and are now in the Louvre.

The ante-room at the W, end of the Second North Gallery is at
the head of the staircase descending to the Egyptian galleries
(p. 2b6). We here enter the rooms to the left, which contain the
#Collection of Vases and other small objects of Hellenic art.

Firgt Vase Room. The arrangement of the painted terracotta vases
in the eazes of this room affords anm instructive survey of the develop-
ment of the arl of vase-painting. To the left: Cases 1-1. Archaic potlery
from Oreek islands (pre-Mycenw period). Cases 5-18, Mycenw period (from
Rhodes ote.). Cages 13-19. Vases from Rhodes and Athens with geometrie

afterns: Cases 2023, Transition perind, Cases 24-28. Vases from Oyprus
n the later ppometric stvle, Cases 27-20, Moulded ware, from Ialy, Urete,
and Rhodes, Cases 30-32. Black ware (Buechero nero) from Egypt, Crete,
and Ttaly. To the right of the entrance: Cases 83-36. Vases with animal-
frieves and geometric patterns. Dasea 87-45. Polyehrome ware, in the Fi-
kellura style, ete. Cases 46-51, Vases ornamented in the style of Oriental
embroidery, from Rhodes and Italy. Cases G2-58. Puttery from Corfn. Cases
59-84, Specimens of earliest Italian ware. — The two huge vases in the
centro of the room are also from Khodes. The two smaller vases to the
right, with dark figures on a whits ground, are interesting examples of
the first attempts to combine fgurs-puinting with the clder geometrical
ronamentation, Table-case A contains archaie jewellery and weapons from

o
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Rhddes; archaie stone Ggures ete. Above, Pheenician and Oriental pottery.
Talble-case B, small terracotta figures; ahova archaic Aryballi (perfume or
oil-holders), chiefly from Rhodes. '%nhim:aae 0. Arcliaic antiquities in
pottery and bronee, from Rhodes ; Grieco-Ezyplinn work in poréelain, glass,
anid lvory. Above, model of n primitive Italian hut. Table-case D. Arehniec
Rhodian pottery s larse painted coffin in terracotta,

Becond Vase Room. The vases in this room, also of the avchaic
period, are almost entirely of Greek design and fabrie, and are in most
‘¢ases adorned with bLlack figures on a red ground, Cssed 7-15 contiin
‘the oldest vases and also terracotta fgures, Cases 22, 23, 28 contain vases
with black figures on a white ground. The finest vases are in the middle
of the room. The —

Third Vase Room containa the red-figure vased of the Dhest period,
sdorned with human and animal forms., To the right are several large
vases adorned with groups of great beauty.

Fourth Vase Room. (ases [-18 contain vages dating from the elosa of
the best period. In the other veses are vases of the period of the decline
of the art (end of 4th and beginning of the 3rd cent, B.C.). In the centre
of the room sre several lorge Oraters and a series of fon Panbellenic am-

horm. Tn table-case B are Rhyta (drinking-vessels) ending in animals®
eads. Table-case E. Fragments of mounlded reliefs, efo. — The —

*Bronze Room coniaing Greek and Roman bronzes. Cabinet 1-8, Cande-
labra, lamps, tripods, ete. Cabinet 10, 11. Strigils and bathing implements.
Cabinst 42-19. Armoury tools. Oubinels 20-80. Vessels of various kinds;
weapons ; mirrors. Cubinets BI-48. Rich collection of bronze statuettes
(ehiefly Roman or Greco-Roman), arranged according to the different groups
of gods and heroes: 81, 32, Venus and Cupid; 33-85. Jupiter, Pluto, Heente,
Neptune, Minerva, Mars, Vulgan, Apollo, and Disnas; 56-89. Bacchus, Sile-
nns, ete. s 40, 41, Hercules and Mercury; 42, 4. Heroes (Atys, Harpogrates),
Cabinets 4447 sontaln o selection of larger bronzes: *Venus puiting on her
sandals, from Patras; *Youthful Bacchus; Apollo with the chlamysy Jupiter
in a sitﬁu%{postm‘a. with sceptré and thunderbolt (from Hungary)s busts
of Lucins Verns and Clsudiusy Meleasger. Cabineta 45, 49. Statuettes of
Furinne, Vietory, the Seasons, ete.; b0-53. Figures of Lores and notors,
allegorical lamps, and other objects; 51, 65. Roman chair of state (bi-
gellinm) inlaid with silver, flzure-head of an ancient galley, tripods, ete;
*68-60. Candelabra and lamps. — On a cirenlar {able In the centre of the
ropm is & “Head of a goddess. of heroic #ize, from Armenia. — Case B
eontaing geveral fine works: *Boy playing at morra, from Foggia; Bilenus
carrying a ensk; Hergnlas, from Bavay in France; *Philosopher (7), found
at Brindisi (identieal with a statoe in the Villa Borghese); *Statuetie of
Pomona; *Winged head (perhaps of Hypnos, the god of sleep), Perogias
head of & man, from Cyrene; bromze disk; Mercury with wallet and en-
ducens, fuund ut Huig in France, — To the rizht of the entrance is a
small ease with *Bronzes from Paramythin in Epiras (dth cent. B.0.):
Dione (¥); one of the Dinseuri; Venus; Jupiter with his left hand ont-
stretehed ; Jupiter with his right hand outstretehed; Apollo bending his
how. To the left of the entrance is a small case with seleet Greck bronzes,
including a mirror, with an alto-relief of Venns and Adonis ai the foot
{Loerl). — Table-ease A containg the bronszes of Siris, two shoulder-pieces
of Greek armonr, from )m%nn Grieeia; mirror-cases, richly ornsmented,
— The following are exhibited singly in small ¢ases: Hergules with the
apples of the Heaperides, from Phomieiny *Marayns; lez of o colossal figure,
apparently a warrior, from Magna Greeein, Also, Apolls, & life-sized figure.
— The other table-cases eontain wespons, knives, fignres of animals, bra-
celets, brooches, fibule, armiets, pins, locks, keys, and other amall bronze
articles,

We next reach the — .

Etrusean 8aloon, which centains archaic brongzes, works in terracotta,
pottery, burial urng, ¢igts, and reliefs, Most of the Etrnscan suﬂ:nilmgi
and other heavy objects are now placed in the buemenlg] see p. 248, Many
of the finest bronges are in the large detached Case B, including a '*Lebes’,
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with an engraved frieze representing Hercules driving away the oxen of
Cacus; ot the bhack are chariot races and mock combafss on the 1id, Her-
cnles earrying off Auge (or Ploto and Pruse?ina?}; round the rim are
four mounted Amagons (from Capua). Female figure in long drapory, from
HSessn; "Amphors, the handles cum’;}mued of meén bending backwards, with
sirens at their feet, from Vulel; Herenles taming the horses of Diomede,
from DPalestrina; Ceras sitfing in a waggon, from Amelis, in Etruris;
Pelens strogeling with Atalents, also from the 1id of acist. Noteworthy
hironzes in other eases are a sirigil, with a handle formed of a fignre of
Aphrodite; Etrusean helmet with inseription, belonging (o Hisro L, King of
Syracnse, from Olympin (B. 0, 474); *Cist with engraved frieze, represent-
ing the speriflce of eaptive Trojans at the funsral pile of Patroclus, and a
Satyr and Meenad on the Hd, from Palestring, To the left of the entrance
i# o lorge terracotta sarcophagus, with life-size male and famale figures, mo-
delled In the round; the contents of the inseriptions have recently raized
puspiclon that this is o modern fmpostore. In a large cnze on the other
gide: Barcophazus cover, with the half-réenmbent figure of o woman hold-
ing a mirror. The same case contains several eists, urns, and other figures.
Tn the right, Cists with fuperal and feasting scenes, In low relief. — To
the left 18 o ease with arms and armour, — Bome of the wall-cazés to the
leéft contain bronzes. Table-cass F contains ornmmented bronge vose-han-
dlgs. Case G. Hand mirrors and mirror-cases. Csse K. Roman silver
viages and dishes, found in Franee, including a fine *Sflver Service
(ministerinm) of the 3rd cent. A, DI, Oase M. Ingeriptions npon lead,
lnen, efc.; inseribed slog-bolta, plummets, nails, ete. — In wall-cases
128455 are antiquities from the Polledrara Tomb, near Vulei (es. B.C,
B810). — On the W, gido of the room is the entrance to the new Coin and
Medal Department (not vet opened). Cases 31-50, on either side of this
door, eontain w eollection of gold and silver ecoins, from 700 B.O. fo the
Roman Empire, arranged chronologieally and geographieally, — The 8.
sevtion of the Etruscan saloon, containing Roman mossics, terracotta re-
liefs, et¢,, may be regarded as an annexe of the Terracottn Room (see helow).
Among the objects exhibited here are six mural paintings from the tombs
of the Nasone#, near Rome. In the 8.E. corner, adjoining the entrance to
the Medal Room, i a mummy from the Fayim, with a portrait on panel
(eomp. p. 164},

Medal and Gold Ornament Rooms (closed, admission by ringing the bell),
The eollection of medals, gold ornaments, coins, eameos, and gema pre-
perved here g very complete and extremely valnable, being probably the
fngst in Europe, The famons **Portland Vase is also kept here (Case B),
It was exhibited to the publie down to 1840, when it was hroken to pieces
by a madman named Lloyd. Tt was afterwards, however, skilfally recon-
sirncted. The vase, which is abont 1 ft. in height, is of dark blue glass
adorned with beantifully cut réliefs in opague white glass, and was found
in a tomb at Rome in the early pari of the 1Tth ¢entury. It came for
& time into the poasession of Prince Barberini, whence it is alao called
the “‘Barberini Vase®, and iz now the prr:}:nrl}* of the Duke of Portland.
The subject of the reliefs in a matter of dispute; some authorities main-
tnin that they represent the metamorphosis of Themis into a snake; others
Alcestis' delivery from Hades:; the Museum Guide deseribes them as the
meeting of Peleus and Thetis, and Thetis consenting to be the wife of
Pelens. The bottom, which has been detached, is adorned with a bust
of Paris. — Case T coniains a highly valuable Gold Cup, acquired in
1802, decorated with translucent enamels in relfef.

The next room contains the Terracotta Antiquities. (The num-
bering of the cases begins at the end farthest from the Etruscan
Room,) To the right are the Greek and Graeo-Phanician Terra-
tottas, to the left are the Grmoo-Roman Terracottas. Probably the
most generally inferesting are the exquisite little figures from Ta-
nagra (Cases 16-22; to the right).

b—;
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Table-ense € contains tarracoita bowls: on the top, a large dskos, or
vase shaped like a wine-skin, Table-case L ¢ontains lamps. Table-case
B, Grotesque figures and magks; terracotta moulds. Table-case A. Terra-
cotta jointed dolls; on the top, a sepulchral urn.

The Central Baloon, at the top of the Great Staircase, contains

the Prehistoric Antiquities.

The numbering of the cases besins in the inner (N.) part of the saloomn,
to the left, The wall-oases and tahle-cases in this portion contain illustra-
tions of the Stone and Bronze Ages in Gréat Hritain and the Continent,
the exhibits being arranged geographicslly. Cases 20-30 contain the Greenwell
Colleetion of Antiguitics from British Barrows. — The wall-cases in the
outer (8.) part of the room illustrate the Palmolithic Stone Ape in Great
Britain and the Continent (Cases 51-60), the stone age in Africa (61-62),
Jate Celtic antiquities (B0-74), the stone snd bronze ages in Japan (77-T5),
and India (70-63). In the tnble-cases are flint arrow-heads and bone imple-
ments s and articles from Swiss lake-dwellings.

The rooms oceupied by the Anglo-8axon and Anglo-Roman An-
tiquities are entered from the 8.1, corner of the Prehistoric Saloon.

Anglo-Baxon Room. In the wall-cases are the antiguities found in
England, consisting of cinervary wrns, swords and knives (some inseribed),
runio casketis of whale's bone, a runic cross, silver ornsments, hronze
artieles, ete. In Cnges 23-26 is & collaction of gureign Toutonic antiguities
of gimilar date, the most noticeable of which are the contents of o Li-
vonian grave. In the cenlre cased are Ornaments, weapons, and three
matrices of seals (the only Anglo-S8axon seals extant).

Anglo-Roman Room. The series beging with four lesnden coffing and
numerous smaller objects found in graves, including the contents of the
four large sarcophagi in the Roman Gallery on the ground-floor, and several
cists of marble, lead, snd glags. Tomb of tiles, Vessels of glass, pewler
and metal. Bronze ligures, among which are three of Mars, several gomi
statuettes found in the valley of the Thames, sud & fine fzure of an archer.
Then silver votive ornaments. Senlptures, including a figure of Luaa, the
finest piece of Roman seulpture found in Britain, Building-materials,
tiles, Lricks, drain-pipes, The 8, side of the room is devoled to pottery
and ot the K. end is a mosaic pavement found on the removal of the oid
East India House in Leadenhall Street, In the middle of the room are o
colossal bronze Dust of Hadrian from the Thames valley, & fine fAgure of
an emperor from Buffolk, and an interesting hronze helimet, Tha table-
cases contain brooches, trinkets, moulds for ¢oins, and implemenis of
yarious kinds.

The Medizeval Room, paraliel with the preceding and entered
from the Prehistoric Saloon, contains the medimval objects, except-

ing the glass and pottery.

Medimval Room. Casesi-8. Armsandarmour 7-10, Oriental and Venetinn
‘metal-work; 11, 12. Eunropean metal-work; 13-18. Asirolabes and clocks,
ineluding a time-picee in the form of & ship, mude for the emperor Ru-
dolph II. (1576-1612); 17-20. Limoges enamels; above, ornaments worn by
Druse women on their heada; 21, 22, Paintings from 8t, Stephen's Chapel
at Westminster (1356); 28-30. Ivory, bone, and wood earvings; a set of
%‘nals from a Coptic church mear f}niro; caskets of ivory, wood, and

tather; 31, 82, Monuments] brasses and stome slabs. Table-case A con-
tains historical relies, ineluding an ivory hat which belonged fo Queen
Elizabeth; the punch-bowl of Roberi Burns, the Lochbuy brooch, and
quadrants belonging to various English monarchs, In Table-case B nre
objests illustrating magie, talismans, locks and keys, spoons, knives, and
n hox of trenchers. Table-cases O, DD : Matrices of English seals and signet
'rin%'s. Table-gase E: Enamels, including a plnlﬁ.w ragresanting Henr{ af
Blois, Bishop of Winchester and brother of King Stephen (11539-1146)
table-case F: Carvings in ivory, rock-erystal, mother-of-pear], and other
materints, Table-case G : Watches, nstrolabes, compasses, Tuble-case H :
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Chamberlains’ keysy portraits on presged horn and torfoiseshell; collec-
tion of papal rings., Table-cnse K: Watches, Table-case L: Objects used
in games; curions set of chessmen of the 13th cent., from the island of
Lewis in the Helrides, made of walrus tusk.

The Asiatic Baloon (srrengement unfinished). Cases 11-16. Japanese
bronzes; 16-18. Corean pottery; 27-45. Japancse potlery ; 48-80. Japunese
Earcclajn; 01, Fiamese and Burmese pottery; 02-84. Chinese potlery; 65-

. Chinese poreelain. — Cases Y7-104. Chinese jade and metal figures; 102-
108. Chinese wearing apparel; 107-118. Chinese fgures and implementss
116, Ivory and ebony cabinet, ehony figures. — The detached cnses contain
Japanege, Chinese, and Indian antiquities, porcelain, ete. Another cnse
contning a terracotts bust of Mme. du Bumn%e (1766), a plaster cast of Flax-
man’s ‘Shield of Achilles’. dels by Miel 10 (app tly desizns for
the Medicli tomba in S8an Lorenzo, Florence), a lerracotta model by Gio-
vanni da Bologna, and some portrait-medallions in wax.

From the Asiatic Saloon we turn to the right into the new
rooms of the Warrs Burnoine (see p. 242), which containg the
collections of Glass and Potiery and also the Department of Prints
and Drawings. The latter contains an unrivalled collection of
original drewings, engravings, and etchings. Hitherto the use of
this collestion has been practically restricted to students, who
receive tickets on application to the Prinecipal Librarian (see p, 265),
but the spacious new rooms now built for it include a fine Exhibi-
tion Gallery (see below), the contents of which are changed every
thres years, Foreigners and travellers may obtain access to the
Students’ Rooms on giving in their names. Comp. the Handbook to
the ‘Department’, by Lonis Fagan (3s. 6d.).

We first enter the —

English Ceramic Ante-Room, containing pottery and porcelain chiefly
bhonght from Mr, Willett or given by Mr, Franks, To the right on enter-
ing: Wall-tiles from Malvern (1467-8). Cases 1-8 (left), Early E{F‘lish Pot-
tery (11-16th cent)y 8-20. Glaved Ware of the 16-18th cent.; 21-28, Eng-
lish Poitery, chieﬂg from Staffordshire; 27-32. Pavement Tiles (13-16th
cent.)s 38. Fulham 8¢
the last four cwses inferior)y AT-00. Liverpool Tiles, transfer-printed, Ly
Sadler. The table-case containg a collection of so-called ‘Chelsea Toya'.

Glass and Oeramic Gallery, including the valuable Siade Collection
of Glass. Cases 1, 2. English Delft, chiefly made nt Lambeth in the 17-18th
cent.s 8-7. Duteh and German Delft; H-10. Italian Pofterys 11-23. Itallan
Msjnflu- 24-26. Bpamish Pottery; 27-3l. Rhodian and amascus Ware;
82, 33, Persian Pottery; 84, 35. French Pottery; 3745, Antique (lass,
chleﬂg of the Roman period; 48-54. Venetian Glasi; 06-08. German Glass;
b8. Chiness Oliza; 60-84. Oriental Glass; B2. French Glass; 03, English
Glass; B1-66. Wedgwood and other Staffordshire Wares and Bristo]l Delft,
The fahle-cases contain Wedgwood medallions; antique, German, Dutch,
and Flemish glass; English engraved glass: Oriental puttery, ete.

The Print and Drawing Exhibition Gallery is at present occupied by a
splendid series of *Drawings and Sketches by the 0ld Masters, mainly
belonging to the eelebrated eollection of My, John M lcolm, deposited ly
his heirs under the care of the British Musenm, It includes specimens
of Raphael, Michael Angelo, Titian, Leonardo da Vinei, Botticelli, Fra
Angelieo, Antonello da Megsing, Carpaccio, Holbein, Diirer, Claude Lorrain,
Clouet, Ruhensa, Van Dyeck, Cuyp, Rembrandt, Van Ostade, Berghem, ete,

We now return to the Asiatic Saloon and begin our inspection
of the extensive and interesting Ethnographieal Collection, which
is arranged topographically and ocoupies the whole of the East
Garnrny, The Asiatic Seetion is first entered; then follow the

oneware (17th cent.); 35-48. English Porcelain (that in -
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Oceanic, African, and American Sections, each containing a great
variety of objects illustrating the habits, dress, warfare, handicrafts,
ete. of the less civilised inhabitants of the different quarters of
the globe.

On the N. side of the spacious entrance hall, fasing the entrance
door, is a passage leading to the *Reading Room, construct-
ed in 1855-67 at a ocost of 1560,000i; it is open from 9 a.m, to
7 or 8 p.m. (closed on the first four days of March and October,
85 well a8 on Good Friday and Christmas Day). This imposing
circular hall, covered by a large dome of glass and iron (140 ft.
in diameter, or 1 ft. larger than the dome of St. Peter's at Rome,
and 106 ft. high), has ample accommodation for 360 readers or
writers. Around the superintendent, who oocupies a rtaised seat
in the centre of the room, are circular cases eontaining the General
Catalogue for the use of the readers (in about 2000 vols.) and
varioue special catalognes and indexes. On the top of these cases
lie printed forms (white for books, green for MSS.) to be filled
up with the name and ‘press-mark’ (i. e. reference, indicated in
the catalogne by letters and numerals, to its position in the book-
cases) of the work required, and the number of the seat chosen by
the applicant at one of the tables, which radiate from the centre
of the room like the spokes of a wheel. The form when filled up
i put into a little basket, placed for this purpose on the counter.
One of the attendants will then proeure the hook required, and
send it to the reader's seat. About 20,000 vols. of the books in
most frequent request, such as dictionaries, encyclopmdias, hi-
stories, periodieals, ete., are kept in the reading-room itself, and
may be used without any application to the library offieials; while
coloured plang, showing the positions of the varions categories of
these books, are distributed throughount the room. Every reader
is provided with a chair, a folding desk, a small hinged shelf for
books, pens, and ink, a blotting-pad, and a peg for his hat. The
reader will probably find the arrangements of the British Museum
Reading Room superior to those of most public libraries, while
the obliging civility of the attendants, and the freedom from
obtrusive supervision and restrictions are most grateful. The
electric light has been introduced into the Reading Room and
Galleries, — In the year 1858, the first after the opening of the
New Reading Room, the number of readers amounted to 190,400,
who eonsulted in all 877,897 books or an average of 3000 a day.
In 1893 there were 194,102 readers, or 645 per day. A Description
of the Reading Room may be had from the officials (1d.),

Persons degirous of using the Reading Room must send a written
application to the Prineipal Librarian, specifying their names, rank
or profession, and address, and enclosing a recommendation from
soma well-known householder in London, The spplicant must
not be under 21 years of age, The permission, which ia granted
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usually for eix months at a time, is not transferable and iz subject
to withdrawal,! The Reading Room tickets entitle to the use of the
new Newspaper Room (eomp. p. 245), It is possible for strangers to
get permission to use the Reading Room for a single day by per-
sonal application at the office of the Principal Librarian, to the left
of the First Greco-Roman Room. Tiekets for visitors to the Reading
Room are obtained on the right side of the entrance hall. Visitors
are not allowed to walk through the Reading Room, but may view
it from the doorway. — The Libraries contain a collestion of hooks
and manuseripts, rivalled in extent by the National Library of Paris
alone, The number of printed books is about 1,600,000, and it in-
creases at the rate of about 30,000 volumes per annum,

23. 8t.James's Palace and Park. Buckingham Palace,

The site of 8t. James's Palace(Pl. R, 22; IV), anirregular briek
building at the 8. end of St. James's Strest, was originally oceupied
by a hospital for lepers, founded previously to 1190. In 1532 the
building came into the possession of Henry VIIIL., who erected inits
place a royal palace, said to have heen designed by Holbein. Here
Queen Mary died in 1568. COharles I. slept here the night before
his execution, and walked across St, James's Park to Whitehall
next morning (1649). The palace was considerably extended by
Charles I., and, after Whitehall was burned down in 1691, it
became the chiel residence of the English kings from William III.
to George IV. In 1809 a serions fire completely destroyed the
eastern wing, so that with the exception of the interesting old brick
gateway towards St. James's Street, the Chapel Royal, and the old
Presence Chamber, there are (ew remains of the ancient palace of
the Tudors. The state rooms are sumptuously fitted up, and contain a
number of portraits and other works of art. The initials HA above
the chimney-piece in the Presence Chamber are a reminiscence of
Henry VIII. and Anne Boleyn. It is diffieult to obtain permission
to inspect the interior. The guard is changed every day at 10.45
a.m., when the fine bands of the Grenadier, Coldstream, or Scots
Guards play for !/g hr. in Friary Court, the open court facing Marl-
borongh Honse. Though St. James's Palace is no longer the residence
of the sovereign, the British court is still officially known as the
‘Court of St. James's.

On the N, side, entered from Colour Court, is the Chapel Royal,
in which the Queen and some of the highest nobility have seats.
Divine service is celebrated on Sundays at 10 a. m., 12 noon, and
5.80p.m. A limited number of strangers are admitted to the two
latter services by tickets obtained from the Lord Chamberlain; for
the service at 10 no ticket is required. — The marriage of Queen
Vietoria with Prince Albert, and those of some of their daughters,
were celebrated in the Chapel Royal.
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Down to the death of Prinee Albert in 1861, the Queen's Lerder and
Drowing Rooms were always leld in St James's Palace. Singe then, how-
ever, ¢ drawing-rooms have taken place ot Buckingham Palaes, but
the levdes are still held here, A levie differs from & drawing room in
this respeect, that, at the former, gentlemen only are presented to the
gsovereign, while at the latter it iz almost entirely ladies who are intro-
duced. Hichly dressed ladies; gentlemen, magnificont in gold-lnced uni-
forms; lackeys in gorgeons liveries, knee-breeches, silk stockings, and
powdered hair, and besring enormous bouguets ; well-fed coachmen with

¥ curled wigd and three-cornered hats; splendid carriages and
liorses, which dash along throvgh the denzely packed masses of specta-
tors; ond a mounted band of the Life Guards, playing in front of the
ace: — puch, 80 fur as can be scen by the spectators who erowd the
adjoining streets, windows, and baleonies, are the chiaf ingredients in
the aupust ceremony of'a ‘Queen’s Drawing Room’. A notice of the draw-
ing-room, with the names of the ladies presented, appesrs néxt day in
the newspapers,

In the lile of a young English lady of the higher ranks her present-
ation at Court is an epoeh of no little importance, for after altending
ber fvst drawing-room, she is considered ‘out’, snd énters on the round
ﬂf hillilfle, eoncerts, and other gaieties, which ut’ten play ao large o partin

ar (-1

On the W, side of St. James's Palave lies Clarence House, the
London residence, since 1874, of the Duke of Edinburgh, who
sneceeded his uncle as Duke of Saxe-Coburg-Gothain 1893, —
Marlborough House, on the E, side of the palace, see p. 227,

8t. James’s Park (Pl R, 21, 22, 25, 26; IV), which les to
the 8. of 8t. James's Palace, was formerly a marshy meadow,
belonging to St. James's Hospital for Lepers. Henry VIII., on the
conversion of the hospital into a palace, caused the marsh to be
drained , surrounded with a wall, and transformed into a deer-park
and riding-path. Charles I1. extended the park by 36 acres, and
had it laid ont in pleasure-grounds by Le Notre, the celebrated
French landseape gardener, Its walks, etc., were all constrnoted
primly and neatly in straight lines, and the strip of water received
the appropriate name of ‘the canal’. The present form of St. James’s
Park was imparted to it in 1827-29, during the reign of George1V.,
by Nash, the architect (p. 268). Its beautiful clumps of trees, its
winding expanse of water enlivened by water-fowl, and the charming
views it affords of the stately buildings around it, combine to make
it the most attractive of the London parks. In 1857 the bottom of
the lake was levelled so as to give it a uniform depth of 3-4 ff.
The suspension bridge, across the centre of it, forme the most direoct
eommunication for pedestrians between St. James's Street and
Westminster Abbey.

The broad avenune, planted with rows of handsome trees, on the
N. side of the park, is called the Malt, from the game of *paille
maille’ onee played here (comp. p. 225). At the E. extremity, near
Carlton House Terrace, is the flight of steps mentioned at p. 226,
leading to the York Column (p. 227). — Birdeage Walk, on the 8.
side of the park, is 80 named from the aviary maintained here as
early as the time of the Stuaris.
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At the E. end of Birdeage Walk is Storey's Gate, leading to Great
Gleorge Street and Westminster. In Petty France, now York Street, to
the 8. of Birdeage Walk,  Milton onee had a house. — A battalion
of the Royal Foot Guud.a is quartered in Wellington Barracks, built
in 1834, on the 8. side of Birdeage Walk; the interior of the small
chapel is very tasteful (open Tues., Thuss. , & Frid., 11-4). The
Government Offices (p. 1%0], the India and Foreign Offizes, and
beyend them the Horse Guards and Admiralty, lie on the E. side of
St. James's Park. In an open space called the Parade, between the
park and the Admiralty (new buildings, see p. 190), are placed a
Turkish cannon captured by the English at Alexandria, and a large
mortar, used by Marshal Sonlt at the siege of Cadiz in 1812, and
abandoned there by the French. The carriage of the mortar is in the
form of a dragon, and was made at Woolwich.

Buckingham Palace (P1. R, 21; IV), the Queen’s residence,
rises at the W. end of St. James's Park. The present palace ocoupies
the site of Buckingham House, erected by John Sheffield, Duke of
Buekingham, in 1703, which was purchased by George ITI. in
1761, and oceasionally ocenpied by him. His successor, GeorgeIV.,
caused it to be remodelled by Nagh in 1825, but it remained empty
until its ocenpation in 1837 by Queen Vietoria, whose town resi-
dence it has since continued to be. The eastérn and prineipal
fagade towards St. James's Park, 360 ft. in length, was added by
Bioye in 1846 ; and the large ball-room and other apartments were
subsequently construeted. The palace now forms a large quadrangle.
The rooms oecupied by Her Majesty are on the N. side.

A portico, borne by marble columns, leads out of the large conrt
into the rooms of state. We first enter the Sculpture Gallery, which
is adorned with busts and statues of members of the royel family
and eminent statesmen. Beyond it, with a kind of semicireular
apse towardsthe garden, is the Library, where deputations, to whom
the (Jueen grants an audience, wait until they are admitted to the
royal presence, The eeiling of the magnificent Marble Stairease, to
the left of the vestibule, is embellished with frescoes by T'ownsend,
representing Morning, Noon, Evening, and Night.

On the first floor are the following rooms : Green Drawing Room,
00ft. long and 33 ft. high, in the middle of the E. side; *Throne
Room, Bé ft. in length, sumptnously fitted up withred striped satin
and gilding, and having a marble frieze running round the vaulted
and richly decorated ceiling, with reliefs representing the Wars of
the Roses, executed by Baily from designs by Stothard; Grand
Saloon ; State Ball Room, on the 8. side of the palace, 110ft. long
and 60 ft. broad ; lastly the Picture Gallery, 1801t. in length, con-
taining a choice, though not very extensive eollection of paintings.

Prorure GancekY. The enumerstion begins to the right.  Carracci,
Christ in the Garden; °182. Frans Hols, Portrait of a man, dated 1656,

180. Dujardin, Three peasants by o wally 172, ¢, Sehalcken, Girl with a
eandle; °U7), Rembrand?, Portrait of hxmaalf, 170, Teniers, Scholars nt

Ty
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tabley 171. Dufardin, Shepherd boy and eattle; 1T8. Teniers, Peasants
dancing (dated 1845); *168. A. Cuyp, Evening scene, with fignres; 165.
N. Berchem, Shepherdess wading throngh a river (166003 ®161. Rembrandt,
Lady with a fan (dated 10641), the counterpart of a picture in Brussels;
*163. Rubens, The Faleoner; =159, fsage van Osfade, Scens in a village
streety 167. Jan Steen, Card-players. — *154. Rembrandt, Adoration of the
Magi (dated 1657), & celebrated work.

‘The impasto of the light on this pleturs is remarkably beld; being
of & beautiful golden tone, rich and mellow’. — Fosmaer.

*156. Van Dyock, Madopna ond Child with 8t. Catharine; 152, 4. van
Ostnde, Boors talking (1650)5 *140, Rubens, Landscape; 160, Rubens, St
George nnd the Dragong 147, A, van Ostade, Boors smoking (1660); "148.
Metsu, Lady with n champagne glass; 145, Van Dyek, Charles I, on horse-
back; 141, F. Mieris, Woman sgelling grngga (dated; erroneously aftributed
to G. Dou)y 180. A. Cuyp, Cavalier; 140. Cuyp, Hoarbour; 136, Pieter de
Hooghe , Woman spinning; “13. Claude Lorrain, Europa; 132 Matsu,
Concert; 183, A, van de Velde, Scens on the beach {dated 16668); *129,
Hobbema, Ml (dated 16860); 181. Rembrandt, Portrait of an old mon,
=128, Rubens, Pythagoras (the frult by Sayders); 115, Wowwerman, Horse-
fairy 110. Cujip; Lady and gentleman rviding in o woods 116. Rubens, Pan
and Syrinx; 113, Paul Potter, Cattle (dated 1640); 108, Teniers, Rocky
landécape; 107. Jan Steen, Violinist and card players; 104. W. van de
Valdd, Calm (1859)5 *108, J. Steen, Woman pulling on her stoekings (1663);
106, duw. Grey horses 100, J. van Ostade, Village street (dated 1643).

‘We now pass into the Disrse Room, which contains o serles of por-
traita of English sovercigns, several being by Gainsborough, In an ad-
Joining room is Sir Frederick Leighton’s Procession in Florence with the
Madonna of Cimabue. We then refurn to the —

Pierurr GaLnenry, and examine the works on the opposite wall, 08
A, van der Werff, Lady in a swoons 91, Backliuisen, Rough sea; 02, Teniers,
Camp scene (dated 1647): B3, Berchem, Shepherds at a ford; 89, Cuyp,
Stag-hunt; 98, Teniers, Peasants dancingy *B. A. Cuyp, Dueks on a lake;
83, Jan Steen, Interior; *Bl. A. van de Velde, Cattle pasturing; 52. Cupp,
Cattle and shepherds by o canal; 72. Aszcribed to Rubens, The 'l’anaionnr
John of Oldenbarneveld visited by his son after his condemnations; !
A, van de Valde, anisu})e with shepherds (1658); B8, Paul Poiter, Ca-
valier in front of a hut (1661); *6. J. Steen, Family scene; 62. Hobbema,
Landscapes; *60. J. van Rupsdael, Evening scene with windmill, s master-

tece; OT. Wouworman, Hey harvest; 54. 4. van Ostade, Reading the papers
1650); D6. J. Sieen, Brawl of peasanis beside a canal (1672); *52. 4. van
dg Velds, Hunting in a foresty 50. Van Dyck (?), Three cavaliers, a
gketeh for the finished picture in the Berlin Museum; 01, Fan Dyek,
Virgin and Child; 48. 4. van Ostade, Pepsants sitting round the fireg
*45. N. Maes, Girl in a listening sttitude stealing down & winding stair-
tase (of a radiant golden tone). — *°41, Rembrandi, ‘Noli me tangers®
(morning light: dated 1688). .

Rembrandt’s friend, Jeremias de Decker, dedicated s sonnet to the
praige of this picture.

"*40, Terbury, Lady writing a letter, with an attendant, the chef-
d'geuvre of this grest master of seencs of reflned domestic life; “84
Rubens, Assumption of the Virgin, sketch for the picture i Brusselss;
20, A. van Ostade, Family scepe (1665); 28. W. van de Velde, On the
beach ; *80. Rembrand{, Burgomasier Pancras and hls wife, painted in
16855 26. F. Mieris, Boy bBlowing soa.p-buhh]aa (1663); 22. P. de Hooghe,
Card-players (1658). one of the arfist's musterpieces; 23, Cuyp, Evening
scepe; 18, Dow, Mother nursing her child, very minute in the details;
148, P. Potter, Farm scene (dated 1645). — “fo. Rembrandf, A ship-builder,
deeupied in making a drawing of & ship, 15 interrupted by his wife, who
has 1]‘1&{ come into the room with a letter (dated 1&).

The momentary nature of the simple action, the truth of the heads,
the wonderfnl elearness of the full bright sunlight, and the conselentious
execntion, render the picture extremely attractive’. — Waagen. It waa
purchased by George 1V,, when Prince of Wales, for 5000
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T. Teniers, Pénsants dancing; 2. 4. van Ostade, Backgammon players
(1670); “Z¥tian, A summer storm amid the Venetinn Alps, an effeciive
randering of unnsmul nataes] phenomena (piinted sbouot 1534).

Permission to visit the Picture Gallery may sometimes be ob-
tained (during the Queen’s absence only) from the Lord Chamber-
lain on written application.

The Gardens at the back of the Palace confain a summer-house
decorated with eight frescoes from Milton's ‘Comus’, by Landseer,
Stanfleld, Maelise, Eastlake, Dyce; Leslie, Uwins, and Ross.

The Royar Mews (so0 ealled from the ‘mews’ or coops in which
the royal falcons were once kept), or stables and coach-houses (for
40 equipages), entered from Queen’s Row, to the 3. of the palace,
are shown on application to the Master of the Horse. The magni-
fleent gtate carriage, designed by Sir W. Chambers in 1762, and
painted by Cipriani (eost T660L. ), iz kept here.

To the N., between Buekingham Palace and Piccadilly, lies the
Grery Park, which is 60 acres in extent. Between this and the
Queen’s private gardens iz Constitution Hill, leading direct to Hyde
Park Corner (p. 2T1). Three attempts on the life of the Queen
have been made in this road.

. 24, Hyde Park. Xensington Gardens and Palace.
Holland House.

Park Lane, a street about /g M. in length, connecting the W.
end of Piecadilly with Oxford Street, forms the eastern boundary of
HydePark (PL. R, 14, ete.), which extends thence towards the W.
as far as Kensington Gardens, and covers an area of 390 agres.
Before the dissolution of the religious houses, the site of the park
belonged to the old manor of Hyde, one of the possesgions of West-
minster Abbey. The ground was laid out as a park and enclosed
under Henry VIII. In the reign of Elizabeth stags and deer were
still hunted in it; while under Charles I1. it was devoted to horse-
races, The latter monarch algo Taid out the ‘Ring', a kind of eorso,
about 300 yds. in length, round an enclosed space, which soon
became a most fashionable drive. The fair frequenters of the Ring
often appeared in masks, and, under this dizguise, nsed so much
freedom, that in 1695 an order was issued denying admission to all
whose features were thus concealed.

At a later period the park was neglected, and was frequently
the seene of duels, one of the most famons being that between Lord
Mohun snd the Duke of Hamilton in 1712, when both the prinei-
pals lost their lives, TUnder William IT1. and Queen Anne a large
portion of the park was taken to enlarge Kensington Gardens;
and, finally, Queen Caroline, wife of George I1., caused the Ser-
pentine, a sheet of artifieial water, to be formed. The Serpentine
was originally fed Dy the Westbourne, a small stream coming
from Bayswater, to the N.; but it is now suppled from the Thames.
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Hyde Park is one of the most frequented and lively scenes in
London. It is surtounded by a handgeme and lofty iron railing,
and provided with nine carriage-entrances, besides a great number
of gates for pedestrians, all of whichare shut at midnight. On the S,
side are Kensinglon (ate and Queen’s Gate, both in Kensington
Gore, near Kensington Palace; Prince's Gate and Albert Gate in
Knightsbridge; and Hyde Park Corner at the W. end of Piceadilly.
On the B. side are Stanhope (Jate and Grosvenor Gate, both in Park
Lane. On the N. gide are Cumberland Gate, at the W. end of Ox-
ford Street, and Victoria GGate, Bayswater. The entrances most used
are Hyde Park Corner at the 8.E., and Cumberland Gate at fhe
N.E. angle. At the latter rises the Manpis Arcm, a trinmphal
arph in the style of the Arch of Constantine, originally erected by
George IV. at the entrance of Buckingham Palace at a cost of
80,000¢. Tn 18060, on the completion of the E. fagade (p. 208),
it was rempoved from the palace, and in the following year was re-
erected in its present position. The reliefs on the 8. are by Baily,
those on the N. by Westmacott; the elegant bronze gates well
deserve inspection. The handsome gateway at Hyns Parx Cornen,
with three passages, was built in 1828 from designs by Burton.
The reliefs are copies of the Elgin marbles (p. 200). The Green
Parl Arch, opposite, at the W. end of the Green Park (p. 270),
erected in 18406, was removed in 1883, in the course of improve-
ments made at Hyde Park Corner, and has been rebuilt on Consti-
tution Hill. The Equestrian Statue of Wellington, by Wyatl, with
which it was disfizured, has been re-erected at Aldershot Camp,
while another equestrian statue of the Duke, in bronze, by Boehm,
has been erécted in Wellington Place, opposite Apsley Honse. At
the corners of the red granite pedestal are figures of a grenadier, a
Highlander, 8 Welsh fusilier, and an Inniskillen dragoon, all also
by Boehm. Apsley House (p. 377), the residence of the Duke of
Wellington, lies directly to the E. of Hyde Park Corner. The house
next it is that of Baron Rothschild, and that at the W, corner of
Park Lane is occupied by the Duke of Cambridge.

To the N. of Hyde Park Corner rises another monument to the
‘Iron Duke’, consisting of the ¢olossal fizure known as the Statue of
Achitles, which, as the inseription informs us, was erected in 1822,
with money subscribed by English ladies, in honour of ‘Arthur,
Duke of Wellington, and his brave companions in arms’. The
statue, by Westmacott, is cast from the metal of 12 French ean-
non, captured in France and Spain, and at Waterloo, and is a
copy of one of the Dicscuri on the Monte Cavallo at Rome. No
sarts or waggons are allowed to enter Hyde Park, and cabs are
admitted only to one roadway across the park near Kensington
Gardens. The finest portion of the park, irrespectively of the
magnificent gronps of trees and expanses of grass for which HEng-
lish parke stand pre-eminent, is that near the Serpentine, where,
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in spring and summer, during the ‘Season’, the fashionable world
rides, drives, or walks. The favourite hour for carriages is 5-7
p-m., amnd the fashionable drive is the broad, southern avenne,
whieh leads from Hyde Park Corner to the left, past the Albert
Gate. Equestrians, on the other hand, appear, chiefly from 12 to
2 p.m., but also later in the afternoon, in Rotten Row, a track
exelusively rederved for riders, running parallel to the drive on
the N., and extending along the 8. side of the Serpentine from
Hyde Park Corner to Kensington Gate, a distanee of about 11;'-3 M.
The scene in this part of Hyde Pavk, on fine afternoons, is most
interesting and imposing. In the Drive are seen unbroken flles of
elegant equipages and high-bred horpses in handsome trappings,
moving sontinually to and fro, presided over by sleek soachmen and
powdered lacgueys, and oceupied by some of the most beauii-
ful and exquisitely dressed women in the world. In the Row are
numerons lady end gentlemen riders, who parade their spirited
and glosgy steads belore the admiring erowd sitting or walking
at the sides. It has lately become ‘the thing' to walk by the Low
on Sundays, and on a fine day the ‘Church Parade’, between morn-
ing service and luncheon (i.e. about 1-2 p.m.), is one of the hest
displays of dress and fashion in London, — The drive on the N.
side of fhe Serpentine is called the Ladies! Mile. The Coaching and
Four-in-hand Clubs meet here during the season, as many as thirty
or forty drags sometimes assembling, The flower-beds adjoining
Park Lane and to the W. of Hyde Park Corner are exceedingly bril-
liant, and the show of rhododendrons in June is deservedly famous.
At the 8. end of Park Lane is a handsome Fountain by Thorneyoeroft,
adorned with fignres of Tragedy, Comedy, Poetry, Shakspeare, Chan-
cer, and Milton, and surmounnted by a statue of Fame, In Hamil-
ton Gardens, a little farther to the 8., near Hyde Park Corner
(p. 271}, is a statue of Lord Byron (d. 1824), erected in 1870, The
district between Park Lane and Bond Street (p, 234) is known as
Mavyrarr, and is one of the most fashionable in London.

A refreshing econtrast to this fashionable show is afforded by a
seene of a very unsophisticated character, which takes place in sum-
mer on the SBerpentine before 8 a.m. and after 8 p.m. At these
times, when a flag is hoisted, a erowd of men and boys, most of
them in very homely attire, are to be seen undressing and plunging
into the water, where their lusty shouts and hearty laughter
teatify to their enjoyment. After the lapse of about an hour the
flag is lowered, as an indication that the bathing time is over, and
in guarter of an honr every trace of the lively scene has disappeared.
— Pleasure-boats may be hired on the Serpentine.

In winter the Serpentine, when frozen over, is much fre-
quented by skaters, To provide against accidents, the Royal Humane
Society, mentioned at p. 150, has a ‘receiving-house' here, where
attendants and life-saving apparatus are kept in readiness forany
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emergency. The bottom of the Serpentine was cleaned and level-
led in 1870; the average depth in the centre is now 7 ft., and
towards the edges 3 ft. At the point where the Serpentine enters
Kensington Gardens it is crossed by a flve-arched bridge, constructed
by Sir John Rennie in 1826.

On the W. gide of the park is a powder magazine. Reviews,
both of regular troops and wvolunteers, sometimes take place in
Hyde Park. The Park is also a favourite rendezvous of organised
erowds, holding ‘demonstrations’ in favour or disfavour of some
political idea or measure. The Reform Riot of 1866, when guarter
of a mile of the park-railings was torn up and 250 policemen were
seriously injured, is perhaps the most historie of such gatherings.
The wide grassy expanse adjoining the Marble Arch is also the fav-
ourite haunt of Sunday lecturers of all kinds.

To the W. of Hyde Park, and separated from it by a sunk-
fence, lie Kensington Gardens (P1. R, 10, ete.), with their pleasant
walks and expanses of turf (earriages not admitted). Many of the
majestic old trees have, unfortunately, had to'be cut down. Near
the Serpentine are the new flower gardens; at the N. extremity ia
a sitting figure of Br. Jenner (d. 1823), by Marshatl, The Broad
Walk on the W. gide, 50 ft. in width, leads from Bayswater to
Kensington Gore. The Albert Memorial (p. 280) rises on the S.
side. The handsome wrought-iron gates opposite the Memorial were
those of the 8. Transept of the Exhibition Buildings of 1851, which
stood a little to the K., on the ground between Prince’s Gate and
the Serpentine, and was afterwards removed and re-erected as the
Crystal Palace at Sydenham (see p. 313).

Kensington Palace (P1. R, (i), an old royal regidence, built in
part by William 1IL., was the scene of the death of that monarch
and his consort, Mary, of Queen Anne and her husband, Prince
George of Denmark, and of George 11, Here, too, Queen Vietoria
was born and brought up, and here she received the news of the death
of William IV. and her own accession. The interior contains nothing
noteworthy. Kensington Palace was till lately the London re-
sidence of the Princess Louise and her husband the Marquis of
Lorne, and is now occupied by the Prince and Princess of Teck
(the latter first comsin to the Queen), and by various annuitants
and widows belonging to the aristocracy. The palace has a chapel
of its own, in which regular Sunday services are held.

The space to the W. of Kensington Palace is now occupied by rows
of fashionable residences. Thackeray died in 1863 al No. 2 Palace Green,
the second house to the left in Kensington Palace Gardens (P1. R, 8) as
we enter from Kensington High Streat, Among his previous London re-
sidences were 83 8t James's gt—re«ut, 18 (now ?B% Young Strect, Kensington
(where ‘Vanity Fair, ‘Pendennis’, and ‘Esmond’ were written), and 36
Onslow 8quare (re-numbered), Holly Lodge, the home of Lord Maeaulay,
where he died in 1850, iz in a lone leading off Campden Hill Road, a
little farther to the W. The next house i3 drgyll Lodge, the London re-
sidénce of the Duke of Argyll.

Bagpexrk, London, Oth Edit. 18
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Farther to the W., on a hill Iying between Uxhridge Road, on
the N., and Kensington Road on the 8., stands Holland House (Pl.
R, 1), built in the Tudor style by John Thorpe, for Sir Walter Cope,
in 1607, The building soon passed into the hands of Henry Rieh,
Tarl of Holland (in Lincolnshire), son-in-law of Sir Walter Cope,
and afterwards, on the execution of Lord Hoelland for treason, came
into the possession of Fairfax and Lambert, the Parliamentary
generals. In 1665, however, it was restored to Lady Holland.
From 1716 to 1719 it was occupied by Addison, who had married
the widow of Edward, third Earl of Holland and Warwick. The
lady was a relative of Sir Hugh Myddelton (see p. 104). In 1762
it was sold by Lord Kensington, cousin of the last representative
of the Hollands, who had inherited the estates, to Henry Fox,
afterwards Baron Holland, and father of the celebrated Charles
James Fox. Holland House now belongs to Lord Ilchester, a de-
scendant of a brother of Henry Fox.

Since the time of Charles 1., Holland House has frequently
been associated with eminent personages. Fairfax, Cromwell, and
Ireton held their deliberations in its chambers; William Penn, who
was in great favour with Charles 11, , was daily assailed here by &
host of petitioners; and William ITI. and his consort Mary lived in
the house for a short period. During the first half of the 19th cent.
Holland House was the rallying point of Whig political and literary
notabilities of all kinds, snch as Moore, Eogers, and Macaulay, who
enjoyed here the hospitelity of the distinguished third Baron
Holland, The house contains a good collection of paintings and
historical relies. Compare Princess Lichtenstein's ‘Holland Honse',

Along the N, side of Hyde Park and Kensington Gardens runs Ux-
bridga Road, leading to Bayswater and Notting Hill, Near the Marble
Arch (PL R, 15) is the Cemetery of 8t George’s, Hanover Square’ (open
10—&1 on Sun. and holidays 2-4), containing the grave of Laurence Sterns
(d. 17655 near the middle of the wall on the W. side). Mra. Rudelille,
writer of the 'Mysteriesa of Udolpho', is said to be buried below the echa-

pel. The rows of houses on this road, overlooking the park, contain
some of the largest and most faghionable residences in London,

25, Private Mansions around Hyde Park and
St. James’s.

Grosvenor House. Stafford House. Bridgewater Howse. Lans-
downe House. Apsley House. Dorchester House. Hertford House.
Lady Brassey Museum. Devonshire House.

The English aristosrasy, many of the members of which are
enormously wealthy, résides in the country during the greater part
of the year; but it is usual for the principal families to have a
mansion in London, which they occupy during the semson, or at
other times when required. Most of these mansions are in the
vieinity of Hyde Park, and many of them are worth visiting, not
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only on aceount of the sumptuous manner in which they are fitted
up, but also for the sake of the treasures of art which they sontain,
Permission to visit these private residences, for which appli=
cation must be made to the owners, is often diffieult to proeure,
and c¢an in some cases be had only by special infroduction. During
winter it is oustomary to pack away the works of art in order to
protect them against the prejudicial influence of the atmosphere,
~ Grosvenor House (Pl. R, 18; I), Upper Grosvenor Street, is
the property of the Duke of Westminster, and is not open to the
public. The pietures are arranged in the private rooms on the

ground-fioor.

Roowm 1. (Dining Room). To the left: 2. Wesl, Death of General Wolfe
at Quebee in 17695 5. Aert Cuyp, Moonlight scene; 8. Sustermans, Pore
trait of n lady; ﬁ Claude Lorrain, Roman landscape; “17, *11, Rem-
brandt, Portraits of Nicolas Burghem and his wife (dated 1647); 15, Rubens
Loandscape; 18, 19. Cioude, Landscapes; 21. Adrian van de Velde, Hu
with cattle and figures (1668); 23. Rembrandi, Portrait of a man with a
hawk s 2. Wouwerman, Horse fairy; 20, Hogarth, The distressed post; 28,
Claude, Landsenpes 80, Cugyp, Sheep (an early work); “20. Claude, Sermon
on the Mount; "51. Rembrandt, Portrait of s lady with a fan; *34. Berchem,
Large landscaps with peasants dancing (1656); B8. Sustermang, Portrail,

Roox 11. (Saloon), To the left: *730, Rembrandi, The Salutation,

‘A delicate and elevated expression is here united with beantiful
effects of light. This litile gem is distinguished for ita marvellous blending
of warm and cold tints'. — Vesmaer.

Above, Cuyp, River scene; "4, @, Dou, Mother nursing her child;
#5)49, Paul Potler, Londscape near Haarlem {lh&?); 45, N. Poussin, Ohildren
playing; =48, Hobb » Wooded land » with fgnres by Lingelbach;
Andrea del Sarto, Portrait; *58, Murillo, John the Baptist; gﬂ. Canaletto,
Canal Grande in Venice; G6. Parmigiono, Study for the sltarpiece in
the National Gallery (No. 835 p. 163); 67. N. Poussin, Holy Family and
angelas 69, Giulio Romano, 5i. Luke painting the Virgin; *T4 Murillo. Infant
Christ ssleep; **70. Hobbema, Wooded landseape, with fipures by Lingel-
bach (u counterpurt of the picture opposite); 75, Garofole (), Holy Familiy.

Roow 111, (Small Drawing Room). To the left: 92. Van Dyek, Virgin
and Child with St. Catharine; 81, Reynolds, Porlrait of Mrs. Siddons as
the Tragic Muse (1784); 80, Andrea del Sarto, Holy Family; BS. Teniers,
Chiitesu of the painter wiih a portrait of himself; *T7. Gainsborough, The
‘Blue Boy', & fulllength purtrngt of Master Buthall.

Roox 1v. (Large Drawing Room). To the left: *05. Rembrandt (or A.
Brouwer?), Landscape with figures; 112, Pawl! de Koning, Landscape; 110,
(Hovanni Bellini (or, more probably, an early imitator of Lorenze Lotlo), Mu-
donna and saints; 107, School of Bellini, Cireumeision of Christ; 108, fitian (2);
The Woman taken in adultery; *106. Rubens, Portrait of himself and his
firgt wife; Elisabeth Brandt, as Pausind and Glycers (the flowers by Jan
Brueghel): *101, Velargues, Don Bulthszsr Carlos, Prince of Aﬁturfaa, u
sketoh; 99, Poussin, Landscape with figures; 07, Turner, Conway Castle,

Boox v. (Rubens Room). To the left: =113, Tsraelites gathering munna;
*114, Abraham and Melchisedek; *115. The four Evangelists, three of a
series of nine pictures painted by Rubens in Spain in the year 1620,

v1, Conpmmon: 116, Murille, Landscape with Jacob and Laban ; Sketches
of Egyptian scenes.
<3 Vit M?lf-‘li.umf. J'I‘a the left: 119. Fra Bartolommeo (1), Holy Family;

" The Vestibule contains a *Terracotta Bust by Alessandro Viltoria.

_ Btafford House, or Sutherland House (P1. R, 22; IV), in St.
James's Park, between 8t. James's Palace and the Green Park, the
residence of the Duke of Sutherland, is perhaps the finest private man-
18*
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sion inLondon, and contains a good aollestion of paintings, which is
shown to the public on certain fixed days in spring and snmmer.
Application for admission should be made to the Duke’s secretary.

We begin to the right, in the large gallery: 73, Zurbaran, Mudonna
with the Holy Child and J